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NOTE.

For reasons, which it is not necessary to mentio. here, my work
remained in abeyance till I was induced to take it up again in thc
latter part of 1925. I have now completed the first volume which
ends with the fall of the Afghan kings of Delhi.

I must acknowledge here, the cordial co-operation of Mr. Johan
van Manen, the General Secretary of the Asiatic Society of Bengal,
and the help 1 have received from Shams-ul--Ulama Mawlawi Hidavat
Hosain, the Joint Philological Secretary.

B. De.
September 1927.
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PREFACE.

This is a translation of the Tabakat-i-Akbari, of which I have
attempted to make out a correct text, by collating the lithographed
Edition published from the press of Munshi Newal Kishore of
Lucknow, and three manuscripts, two of which were obtained from
the Library of the Asiatic Society of Bengal, and the third from the
Palace Library of the Nawab Bahadur of Murshidabad. I have
referred to the two former ag MS. A and MS. C and to the latter as
MS. B. The lithographed edition and the MSS. vary in many
places. I have adopted the readings which appeared to me to be

the most correct.
B. DEk.
CALCUTTA :

22nd July, 1911.






TABAKAT-I.AKBARI: ENGLISH TRANSLATION.

INTRODUCTION.

The sublimest praise is due to that true King who has placed the
making and unmaking of the government of the world, and the
regulation of the affairs of the human race, in the noble existence of
-just rulers and wise administrators; and has treasured and entrusted
the task of maintaining and enforcing the laws of religion and govern-
ment in the greatness and grace, the generosity and sternness, and
the mercy and wrath of these great men. And may prayers high
ag the throne of God rest on the leaders of the Caravans that follow
the straight path, and guide the foolish wanderers in the darkness of
infidelity to the brilliant spaces of truth, and lead those who wander
in the wilderness of confusion to the haven of fultilment, by the aid
of the glory of the Divine light and the help of the refulgence of the
Divine nature; and specially on that most perfect specimen of
creation, and that final embodiment of Divine aid and inspiration,
whose sublime nature is a part of the Divine light, and whose noble
essence a portion of God’s holiness; of whose light the earth and
the sky are a shadow, and of whose essence all space and creation a
reflection ; and [may similar prayers rest] on those who travel along
the highway of his will, and following him step by step reach the
vantage ground of union.

But, after that, this insignificant particle—Nizamuddin Ahmad,
the son of Muhammad Mukim the Harawi, who is a humble depen-
dent and a faithful adherent of the sublime Court of the great
Emperor, the Sultan of the Sultans of the world, the beneficent
shadow of God, the vicegerent of the Omnipotent, the strength-
ener of the pillars of world-conquest, the founder of the rules for
governing the world, the ruler of the world and of all who inhabit
it, the lord of all time and of all that exists in it, the embodiment
of Divine secrets, the personification of spiritual essences, the most
potent conqueror and the most successful ruler, the lion in the
wilderness of political and religious warfare Abul Fateh Jalaluddin
Muhammad Akbar Badshah Ghazi; may God perpetuate his do-
minion and empire, and fill the table of his justice and benefaction !—
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represents that from his childhood, according to the instruotions
of his worthy father, he occupied himself with the study of historical
works, which brightens the intellect of the studious, and inspires
the intelligent with awe; and by the study of the accounts of the
travellers in the stages of the journey of existence, which is like
a progress of the soul, rubbed off the rust of his nature.

And in this great land of Hindustan, which is a vast continent
containing many climes, and which those who have calculated the
ared of the earth have estimated to contain a fourth part of its
surface, at various times and in different quarters various rulers
have acquired power and dominion, and having styled themselves
Sultans, have ruled the land; and the writers of those periods having
described the conquests and the government of those quarters
have left memorials of them. In this way there are histories of
Dehli, Gujarat, Malwah, Bangalah, and Sind; and similarly separate
histories have been written of all the provinces and parts of
Hindustan. It is wonderful (however) that no history has been
written by any of these writers which contains a complete account
of the events which have occurred in any one of the provinces. Nor
~ has any history been compiled of the whole country of India and
of its capital Dehli, The only work which has acquired any fame
is the Tabakat-i-Nasiri in which Minhaj has given an account of
the period which begins with the reign of Sultan Mu’izzuddin Ghiri
and ends with that of Nasiruddin, the son of Shamsuddin. Again
the period from the reign of Sultan Nasiruddin to that of Sultan
Firoz has been dealt with in the history of Zia Barni. For the
period extending from the reign of Sultan Firoz to the present day, -
during the greater portion of which great disturbances have taken
place in this country, and the people have not.had the good for-
tune to be ruled by any great kings, the humble writer has in spite
of repeated searches only come across fragmentary compilations ;
and has not heard of any history which contains an account of the
whole of Hindustan.

Now that all the Provinces and Divisions of Hindustan have
been conquered by the world-opening sword of His Majesty, the vice-
gerent of God, and the many have been unified into the one, and
even many of the countiies outside of India, which had never been
acquired by any of the former great Sultans have become part and
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parcel of his dominions, and it is hoped, that the seven climes would
become the abode of peace and quiet under the shadow of His
Majesty’s auspicious standard, it came to the dull understanding
of the author, that he should, with the pen of truth and candour,
write a comprehensive history which should present in a clear style,
in its different sections, an account of the Empire of Hindustan
from the time of Sabuktigin which began with the year 367! a.u.,
when Islam first appeared in the country of Hindustan, to the
year 1001 * A.H., corresponding with the thirty-seventh year of the
Divine era, which was inaugurated at the epoch-making accession
of His Majesty, the vicegerent of God; and should embellish the
end of each section with the story of the victories of His Majesty’s
glorious army, which is as it were an introduction to the sublime
chronicle of renown ; then he should give a comprehensive account
of all the victories and events and occurrences of His Majesty’s
reign each in its own place. The details of these events are
contained in the great history called the Akbar-namah, which that
embodiment of all excellence, the learned in all truths and know-
ledge, the personification of worldly and spiritual perfection, the
favoured of his Majesty the Emperor, the most erudite Sheikh '
Abul Fazl who is the preface of all excellence and eminence has
written with his wonder-inscribing pen, and has made a chronicle
for all times.

The names of the Historical works which have been referred
to in the compilation of this work are the Tarikh-i-Yemini, the
Tarikh-i-Zain-ul-Akhbar, the Rauzat-us-safa, the Taj-ul-maasir,
the Tabakat-i-Nasiri, the Khazain-ul-Fatuh, the Tughlaknamah,
the Tarikh-i-Firozshahi of Zia Barni, the Fatuhat-i-Firozshahi,
the Tarikh-i-Mubarak Shahi, the Tarikh-i-Fatuh-i-Salatin, the
Ma’asir-Muhammad-Shalj-Gujarati, the Tarikh-i-Mahmad-Shéahi-
Mandvi, the Tarikh-i-Mahmiid-Shéhi-Khurd-Mandvi, the Tabakat-i-
Mahmud-Shahi-Gujarati, the Tarikhi-Bahadur-Shahi, the Tarikh-i-

1 Sabuktigin became chief of Ghaznin in this year 367 A.B. corresponding
with A.D. 977, but he did not begin to invade Hindustan till ten years after-
wards, A.D. 986-987.

2 8o in MSS. A and C and in the lithographed edition, MS. B gives the
year 1002 A.H. : ‘
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Bahmani, the Tarikh-i-Nasirl, the Tarikh-i-Muzaffur Shahi, the
Tarikh-i-Mirza- Haidar-Kashmiri, the Tarikh-i-Kashmir, the Tarikh-i-
Sind, the Tarikh-i-Babari, the Wakaiat-i-Babari, the Téarikh-i-Ibrahim
Shahi, the Wakaiat Mushtaki, the Wakaiat of His Majesty the
nestling of Paradise, Humayin Badshah, may God illuminate his
tomb !

As this compilation contains sections about all the ruiers of
Hindustan, and the noble section about His Majesty the vice-
gerent of God is at the end of the other sections, it has been called
the Tabakat-i-Akbar Shahi, and it is a beautiful coincidence that the
word Nizam! which contains a reference to the name of the compiler
gives the date of the compilation. It is hoped that this chronicle
of the wonderful events will add to the information of the intelligent
and the welfare of the writer.

The work will comprise one introductory section,' nine sections,
and one conclusion. The introductory section will contain an
account of the Kings of Ghaznin from the commencement of the
reign of Sabuktigin in the year 367 a.H. to the vear 582 A.H., a
period of two hundred and fifteen years with fifteen kings. The nine
sections will be (1) the section about Dehli from the beginning of
the reign of Sultan Mu’izzuddin Ghiri, who first conquered the
territory of Dehli and stationed rulers there, to the auspicious
reign of His majesty, the vicegerent of God, in which there have
been thirty-six Kings, and which began with the year 574 A.H.
and ends with the year 1002 A.H., a period of four hundred and
forty-eight ? years; (2) the section about the Dakin in which there
were thirty-six Kings from the year 748 a.H. to the year 1002 A.H.,
a period of two hundred and fifty-four years; (3) the section about
Gujarat, the Kings of which, sixteen in number, reigned from
the year 793 A.H. to the year 980 A.H., a period of one hundred and
eighty-seven years; (4) the section about Bangalah where there
were twenty-one Kings during a period of one hundred and
mnety-exght. years, from the year 741 aH. to the year 939 A.H.;

I There are slight dlﬁerences in the sequence of the sections e,nd in the
periods during which the kingdoms lasted in the MSS. co}lated and in the
lithographed edition.

2 The number of years from 574 to 1002 comes to 428, but the MSS. as
well a8 the lithographed edition read 448 years,
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(5) the section about Jounpore where there were five Kings during
a period of ninety-seven years; (6) the section about Malwah in
which there were twelve Kings during a period of one hundred and
fifty-eight vears; (7) the section about Kashmir with twenty-six
Kings during a period of two hundred and forty-five years;
(8) the section about Sind with twenty-one Kings during a period
of two hundred and thirty-six years; and (9) the section about
Multan where there were five Kings during a period of eighty
vears. The concluding section will contain a description of certain
peculiarities about Hindustan and various miscellaneous matters.






THE INTRODUCTORY SECTION: CONTAINING AN ACCOUNT OF

THE KINGS OF GHAZNIN.!

The Kings were—

1.

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

Sultan Nasiruddin Sa,bukt.lgm who reigned for
twenty years.

Sultan Mahmfid Yeminuddowlah, who reigned
for thirty-five years.

Sultan Muhammad, son of Sultan Mahmud,
whose reign lasted for fifty days.

Sultan Mas’dd, son of Sultan Mahmud, who
reigned for eleven years.

Sultan Maudud, son of Sultan Mas’ud, whose
reign lasted for nine years.

Sultan Muhammad, son of Maudud, whose
reign lasted for only five days.

Sultan ’Ali, son of Mas’ud, who ruled for only
three months.

’Abdur Rashid, son of Mas’tdd, who ruled
for four years.

Farrukh Nizad, son of Mas’ad, who ruled for
six years.

Ibrahim, son of Mas’dd, who ruled for
thirty years, and according to some, for
forty-two years.

Mas'tdd, son of Ibrahim, who ruled for
sixteen years.

Arslan Shah, son of Mas’ad, who ruled for
three years.

Bahram Shéah, son of Mas’Gd, who ruled for
thirty-five years.

Khusro Shah, son of Ba.hram Shah, who ruled
for eight years.

15. Khusro Malik, son of Khusro Shah, who ruled

for twenty-eight years.

1 The names of the Kings have been given with some differences in the
MSS. collated and in the lithographed edition, MS. B gives an extremely con-
fused and incorrect list, MS. C only contains twelve names.



[. Amir NASIRUDDIN SABURTIGIN.

He was a slave of Turkish descent, belonging to Alb-tigin, who
in his turn was a slave of Amir Mansiir, the son of Nih, the Samani,
who attained to the rank of ! Amir ul Umré in the service of the
latter. During the time when Amir Mansir flourished Amir
Nasiruddin came to Bukhara, in the company of Abu Is-hak, the
son of Alb-tigin; and in his service, attained to the rank of his
agent. When Abu Is-hdk became the govermor of (Ghaznin, as
Deputy of Amir Mansiir, he left the work of the government in
the hands of Amir Nasiruddin, whose rule acquired complete stability
and strength. When Abu Is-hak departed to the other world, leaving
no heir behind him, the army and the people consented to the rule of
? Amir Nasiruddin and swore allegiance to him. He then commenced
the work of government with great energy, and raised the standard
of conquest.

In the year 367 a.n. Tughan, who had been the ruler of the
territory of Bast, but had been dispossessed by a man of the name
of Patiiz, came to Amir Nasiruddin and besought him tor help.
Amir Nasiruddin advanced with his troops, wrested Bast from
Patitiz, and made it over to Tughan; who agreed to pay a large
tribute, and entered into an engagement that he would never stray
from the path of allegiance. He afterwards broke the engagement,
and Amir Nasiruddin dispossessed him of the territory, and left his
own agent there.

As the fort of Kusdar was in the neighbourhood of his territory,
and its ruler asserted his independerce, Amir N asiruddin suddenly
surprised him, and made him prisoner ; but in the end placed him

I According to the Tabakat-i-Nasiri Alb-tigin was the Amir-i-hajib or Lord
Chamberlain of Mansur (see Tab-i-Nas, translation, p. 71).

2 Is-hak was succeeded by Amir Balkatigin, who ruled for ten years
according to the text of the Tabakdt-i-Nasiri. It appears however that Is-hak
died in 3556 A.m, and Balkatigin in 362 A.m., 80 that the rule of the latter
lasted only for seven years. On the death of Balkétigin, Pirey another slave
of Alb-tigin succeeded to the government, but he was deposed in 367 a.u.
when the government passed to Sabulktigin (see Tab-i-NAs. trans., pp. 72-73).
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in the ranks of his servants; and confirmed him in the government
of Kusdar.

After this, with kingly energy and determination, he girded
up his loins for a war of religion, and invaded Hindustan, and
carried away many prisoners of war and other plunder; and
in every country, which he conquered, he founded mosques; and he
endeavoured to ruin and desolate the territories of Raja Jaipal who,
at that time, was the ruler of Hindustan. Jaipal being much
distressed by the invasion of his Kingdom, and the desolation brought
on it thereby, attacked Amir Nasiruddin with a well-equipped army,
in which there were many huge elephants. The Amir advanced
to meet him, and encountered him near the boundary of his own
territory. A bloody battle ensued, in which Amir Mahmid, the son
of Amir Nasiruddin, showed much courage and great heroism.
The two armies remained, confronting each other for some days,
during which, several sanguinary conflicts occurred. They say, that
there was a spring in that neighbourhood, into which if by any
chance any dirt or filth was cast, storm arose and heavy snow and
rain fell. Amir Mahmad ordered that filth might be thrown into
the spring, and when this was done, there was much wind, and a
heavy fall of snow; and Jaipal’s troops, who were not accustomed
to the cold, suffered much distress, and many horses and other
animals died. Jaipal in great distress struck the door of peace,
and it was settled that he should send fifty elephants and much
treasure Lo Amir Nasiruddin; and should leave some of his trusted
followers as hostages; and should take with him some of the
trusted adherents of Amir Nasiruddin; so that he might make over
to them the treasure and the elephants.

When, however, he reached his own country he broke his engage-
ment, and imprisoned the agents of Amir Nasiruddin, in retaliation,
for the imprisonment of the men whom he had left as hostages.
When Amir Nasiruddin heard this, he advanced with his troops,
with the determination of taking a signal revenge. Jaipal sought
the help of the other Rajas of Hindustan, and collecting about a
hundred thousand mounted troops and many elephants, advanced
to meet him, and the two armies met in the neighbourhood of Lam-
ghan, and a great battle took place. Amir Nasiruddin was
victorious; and much booty, in the shape of prisoners of war, and
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elephants, and treasure, fell into his hands. Jaipal fled into Hindu-
stan, and the Lamghén country came into the possession of Amir
Nasiruddin, and his name was inserted in the prayers, and impressed
on the coinage of that country.

After this, he went to assist AmIr Nuh, the son of Mansiir, the
Samani ; and in Khurésan, and in Mawar-un-nahar, he gained many
victories; and in the month of Sh’aban in the year 387 A.H. he said
‘here I am’ to the summons of the great God. The period of his
rule extended over twenty years.

II. SurtaNn MauMOD SABUKTIGIN.

After the death of Sabuktigin, Amir Ismail, who was his eldest
son, sat in his place, and wished to deprive Amir Mahmid of his
heritage, but the latter vanquished him, and succeeded his father.
He marched his armies towards Balkh, and brought the country of
Khurasan under his rule. When he had cleared that country of the
weeds and thorns of his enemies, and the sound of the kettle-drum of
his greatness had spread in all directions, the Caliph of Baghdad,
Al-kadir-Billah Abbasi, sent him a robe of honour, more splendid
than any which had been previously sent by any Caliph to any
Badshah, and conferred on him the title of Amir-ul-millat wa
Yemin-ud-Dowlat.!

In the latter part of Zi-il-k‘ad 390 a.H. the Sultdn went from
Balkh® to Hirat, and from there he went to Sistdn,® and having

1 So in the MSS. and in the lithographed edition, but the name and titles
as given in the Tab-i-Nas. trans., p. 75, are Sultédn ul’8zam Yemin-ud-Dowlah
Niz&muddin Abul K&sim Mahmiid-i-Gh&zi. The titles of Sultan and Yemin-ud
Dowlah he received from the Caliph of Baghdad, when he received the robe of
honour as mentioned below. But according to another version, he was first
addressed as Sultan by Khalaf, when the latter was brought before him. after
he had taken the fortress of Tak in Sijistan by assault. Mahmud, it is said,
was 80 pleased, that he spered Khalaf’s life.

2 In the previous year 369 a.H. Mahmiid fought a battle against ' Abdul
Malik son of NGh 88mé&ni. Shortly after this the 88mani dynasty terminated ;
and the independence of Mahmiid may be dated from this year. Sabuktigin
had made Balkh his capital some time before this; and it was at this time
the capital of Mahmf{id’s dominions. It appears however that he made
Ghaznin his capital soon afterwards, as from 392 a.u. he appears to have started
in his expeditions from Ghagnin, and returned there in the spring.

3 Also called Sijistan. Mahmidd captured the fortress of Tak by assault
and made Khalaf prisoner.
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defeated Khalaf the son of Ahmad, the ruler of that country, brought
him to Ghaznin. From Ghaznin he turned his attention to Hindu-
stan ; seized a few fortresses and returned:

He then entered into an alliance with Ailak Khan,' and it
was settled between them, that Mawar-un-nahar should belong to
Ailak Khan, and all the rest to the Sultan.

In the month of Shawwal 391 a.H. the Sultan again invaded
Hindustan from Ghaznin, and with ten thousand horsemen attacked
Parshavar.* Raja Jaipal with ten or twelve thousand horsemen,
a large number of foot soldiers, and three hundred elephants,advanced
to meet him, and arrayed his troops in the field of battle. The two
armies fought with each other and showed much gallantry, but in
the énd, victory fell to Sultin Mahmad. Raja Jaipal, with fifteen
of his sons and brothers, was taken prisoner, and five thousand of
the infidels were slain in the battle. It is said that Jaipal wore
round his neck a jewelled necklace, which is called a Mala in the
language of Hindustan, which experts valued at one hundred and
eighty thousand Dinars, and there were also necklaces of great value
round the necks of his brothers. This battle took place on Saturday
the 8th Muharram 392 A.H. From that place the Sultan went to
Bahinda," which was the place of residence of Jaipil, and conquered
that country; and in the spring returned to Ghaznin.

In the Muharram of 393 a.1. he again went to Sistan, and
having again defeated Khalaf brought him to Ghaznin. He then
again invaded Hindustan, and with the object of seizing Bhatiah,
he marched through the territory of Multan and encamped in front
of Bhatiah. Bahira, Raja of that place, who was proud of his large
army, the number of his elephants and the strength of his fortress,
left his troops to oppose the Sultdn, and went himself with a few

I'This appears to have taken place in 396 A.H. when Sultan Mahmid sent
an envoy to Ailak Khan, the Turk,son of Baghra Khén, proposing the alliance,
and the division of territory. The S&mani dynasty had now ceased to exist,
the last representative having been put to death.

2 There is much doubt as to whether this is identical with the modern
Peshawar, because the latter city was generally called Bagram up to the time
of Babar and Akbar.

3 'This place has been identified by Major Raverty with Bathinda situated

in the 8.W. corner of Patiala territory. (8ee note 2, p. 76, of his trans. of the
Tabi-Nas.).
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followers to the bank of the Sind or Indus river. When the Sultan
came to know this, he sent some troops to attack the Raja, and the
latter being surrounded by these troops, put an end to his existence
by stabbing himself with his dagger; and his head was brought
to the Sultan. The Sultan put many of his adherents to the sword,
and having acquired much plunder in the shape of prisoners and
elephants, and the delicate products of Hindustan, returned to
Ghaznin. Among the booty, there were two hundred and eighty
elephants.

It is said that as Daud the son of Nasr, the ruler of Multin,
belonged to the sect of the Mulahida, the Sultan was incited by his
zeal for religion to punish him. He therefore advanced towards
Multan ; and with the object of taking him by surprise took a
contrary or roundabout route. Anandpil, the son of Jaipil, who
had to be passed, opposed his march, and the Sultan ordered his
troops to give him battle and devastate and plunder his country.
Anandpil being discomfited fled to the mountains of Kashmir, and
the Sultan marching along the Indus' reached Multan which le
hesieged for seven days. The ruler of Multan agreed to pay an
annual tribute of twenty thousand dirams, and engaged to follow the
dictates of true religion and foreswore his errors. The Sultan
having entered into a treaty with him on these terms returned to
Ghaznin. This happened in the year 396 a.H.

In the year 397 a.H. he was occupied with warfare with the
Turks, as is mentioned in more comprehensive histories, and when
in Rabi‘ul Akhar 398 a.H. he became disengaged from that war with
victory and renown, intelligence was received that Sukhpal, the
grahdson of the Raja of Hindustan, who had been taken prisoner
by Abu ’Ali Simjuri and had accepted Islam at his hands, had taken
the path of recusancy and had fled. Sultdn Mahmid pursued him,
and having captured him put him in prison, and he died in captivity.

In the year 399 A m. the Sultan invaded India again, and
having fought with and defeated Anandpal took thirty elephants
and much other booty from him. He then went to Bhimnagar,? and

! The meaning is not clear. The lithographed edition and MSS. B and C

have o ¥, while MS. A has O 8y, I have adopted the latter reading.
2 The same as Kangra or Nagar Kot.
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besieged it. Those in the fort made their submission and opened the
gates. The Sultan with a few chosen companions went into the fort
and seizing the treasure and the silver, and gold and diamonds, which
had been gathered together from the time of Bhim, returned. He
ordered that some thrones of gold and silver should be placed in front
of his pavilion, and all the treasure should be thrown in an extensive
plain so that the soldiers and the people were struck with wonder
at the sight of them. This happened in the beginning of the year
400 A.H.

Again in the year 401 a.H. the Sultan, defender of the faith,
marched from Ghaznin and took possession of the part of the Multan
territory which he had not previously conquered, and he put most
of the schismatics and heretics who were there to the sword, and he
cut off the hands of some, and ordered others to be imprisoned in a
fort where they died; and this year he took Daud, the son of Nasr.
to Ghaznin and sent him to the fort of (Ghurak, where he was im-
prisoned and where he afterwards died.

The Sultan now received information that there was a city
in Hindustan called Thanessar, and there was a great temple there in
which there was an idol called Jagarsom, whom the people of
Hindustan worshipped. He collected a large force with the object
of carrying on a religious war, and in the year 402 a.H. marched
towards Thanessar. The son ' of Jaipal having received intelligence
of this, sent an envoy and represented through him, that if the
Sultan would relinquish this enterprise, he would send fifty elephants
ag tribute. The Sultan paid no heed to this offer, and when he
reached Thanessar he found the city empty. The soldiers ravaged
and plundered whatever they could lay hands upon, broke the idols
and carried Jagarsom to Ghaznin. The Sultan ordered that the idol
should be placed in front of the place of prayer, so that the people
would trample upon it.

In the year 403 a.H. the Sultan conquered Gharjistan? and

1 The readings vary ; the different readings being *¢ Jaipal,”’ *‘ the son of
Jaipal” and ¢ Naro Jaipal,”” which is probably meant for Trilochanpal the
grandson of Jaipail.

2 The country is called Gharishtdn by some. In the lithographed edi-
tion no name or title of the ruler is given. In MSS. A & B his title is given
as Shar, and in MS. C as Sharki. It would appear from note 5, p. 80, of the
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brought the ruler of that country, who was styled the Shar, prisoner
with hlm, and at the end of that year Abul Fawaris, the son of
Baha-ud-dowla, sought the protection of Sultdin Mahmiid from the
tyranny of his brothers. The Sultan wrote letters to them, so
that peace was established among them.

The same year an envoy came from the ruler of Egypt, who was
called Tharti.! ‘The learned men and the great lawyers told the
Sultdn that this envoy held the tenets of the Karamita.® The
Sultén accordingly ordered him to be denounced and driven out of
his dominions.

In the year 404 A.H. the Sultan marched against the fort of
Nandanah which is situated among the Balnath hills. Naro Jaipal 3
left tried warriors for the protection of the fort, and went himself
into the valley of Kashmir. The Sultan on arrival at Nandanah sur-
rounded the fort and began to run mines and to take all other
measures which were necessary for its capture. The people in the
fort surrendered it, on receiving assurances for their safety. Sultan
Mahmiid entered the fort with a few of his personal attendants, and
took away all the treasures and valuable articles which were there,
*and appointing Sarigh to be the Kotwal or Superintendent of the
fort, turned his face towards the valley of Kashmir, where Naro
Jaipal was. The latter fled from that place also, and the Sultan
entering the valley carried away much booty, in the shape of
prisoners of war and gold, and after converting many of the infidels
to Islam, and laying the foundations of Islam, went back to Ghaznin.

trans. of the Tab-i-Nas. that the particular Shar who was defeated by Mahmud
was named Abu Nagr, the son of the 8har Rashid.

I The lithographed edition calls him Mahéarathi and the three MSS. A, B
and C calls him Tharti, Farti and Niharni.

2 The lithographed edition and MS8S. give different readings. The litho-
graphed edition says waw k»lli' i . MS. A says =l Wb L ade i
MS. B has Cwiladbl 830 9. MS, C tries to simplify matters by saying
0% wlbhe Grade p. ‘

3 8eenote 1, p. 7.

¢ M8, C gives a different reading of the passage. It reads ‘‘ and Jaipal who
had previously been made a prisoner, and was now engaged in company with
the Sultén, in endeavouring to capture the fort, made great efforts to capture
it, and finding a suitable opportunity, and the Sultan’s men negligent, fled
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Again in the year 406 a.H. the Sultan advanced into Kashmir,
and besieged the fort of Lohkot ! which was celebrated for its height
and strength ; but there was much wind and snow, and the winter
became severe, and the Kashmirians received reinforcements, so he
abandoned the siege ; and in the spring returned to Ghaznin.

The same year * Abii-I-Abbas-i-Mamun, the Shah of Khwarizm,
wrote letters to Mahmiid and asked for his sister in marriage, and
the Sultan, according to the request, sent his sister to Khwarizm.
In' the year 407 o.H. a band of low people attacked the Shah of
Khwarizm, and slew him. The Sultin advanced from Ghaznin to
Balkh and from there attempted to invade Khwarizm, and when he
arrived at Hasarband, which is the boundary. of that country, he
sent forward Muhammad the son of Ibrabim Ta’'i, in command of
an advanced guard. When these encamped at a place, and were
engaged in morning prayers, Khamar Tash, the commander of the
army of Khwarizm, came out of ambush, attacked them, and having
slain a large number dispersed the rest. When the Sultan received
this news, he sent a large body of his personal slaves * in pursuit of

from the place. 'The Sultan entering that valley took much booty,” ete., etc..
as in the other MSS., and in the lithographed edition.

1 The name of the fort is variously given. The lithographed edition calls
it u’:—')f %S ; MS. A simply 595, MS. B @S S)’ and MS. C w5 99, Lohkot was
the old name of Lahore, as according to tradition it was founded by Laba or
l.oh, one of the two sons of R@ma. It cannot, however, be said with certainty
that the Lohkot here mentioned is identical with Lahore.

2 According to Raverty (see notes 8 and 9, p. 84 of his trans. of the Tab-i-
Nas.) Abul-’Abbéas-i-Mamun Farighiini ruler of Jurjaniah in Khwarizm was
Mahmud’s son-in-law, and he was murdered by some of his troops in 407 a.H.
It appears that Mahmud’s daughter was married in 387 A.H. to "Ali the son of
Mamun, son of Muhammad Al Farighiini, the Wali or ruler of Jurjiniah. >Ali
died in 390 A ., and was succeeded by his brother Abul ’Abbas. He in the
following year sent an envoy supposed to be Abd Rihén Al Biruni (who has
been so much depended upon for his knowledge of India) asking permission to
marry the lady, his brother’s widow. According to our author he again asked
Sultan Mahmud in 406 A.H. for the latter’s sister as another wife. Khwarizm
was the country lying along the banks of the Oxus or Jihun and extending
to the Caspian Seg,

8 The Court of Sultan Mahmid was guarded by 4000 Turkish youths, who
when they attained unto man’s estate and their beards began to grow were
attached to a separate corps.

2
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Khamar Tash, and they seized him and brought him before the
Sultan. When the Sultan reached the fortress of Hazarasp, the army.
of Khwarizm came and met him in great strength and numbers.
There was a great battle, and finally the army of Khwarizm was
vanquished, and Alptigin ! Bukbari, who was their commander, was
taken prisoner. The Sultan advanced with his army into Khwarizm,
and first sentenced the murderers of Abul-’ Abbas to death; and made
over Khwarizm and Arganj? to his own Lord Chamberlain Altuntash,
after conferring on him the title of Shah of Khwarizm. From
Khwarizm the Sultan came to Balkh and conferred the country of
Hirat on his son Amir Mas’id, and sent Abusahl * Muhammad bin
Husen Rauzani with him as his agent, and he made over Kurkan to
Amir Muhammad and sent Abu Bakr Kuhtani ¢ with him.

In the year 409 a.H. Sultin Mahmiid advanced with his army
with the intention of conquering the country of Kannouj, crossed
seven terrible rivers, and when he reached the boundary of Kannouj,
Korah ¢ the ruler of the country made his submission, besought the
Sultan’s protection and paid tribute. From Kannouj the Sultan
advanced to Baran,® where the Raja, whose name was Hardat, left
the fort in charge of his tribesmen and relatives, and himself went
into seclusion. The garrison, being unable to withstand the Sultan,
paid a tribute of a thousand times thousand dirams, which would be
equivalent to two lakhs and fifty thousand rupees, and thirty
elephants, and thus obtained safety. From that place, the Sultan
came to the fortress of Mahawan, which is situated on the bank of
the Jun (or Jumna), and the ruler of that fort, whose name was
Kulchandra, attempted to escape across the river on an elephant.

L Raverty calls him Nialtigin, but says he has been called Albtigin by
Baihaki (see note 9, p. 84 of his trans. of the Tab-i-Nas.).

2 Arganj was a city in Khurasén.

8 These names are variously given in the lithographed edition, and in the
MSS. collated.

¢ 80 in the lithographed edition and in the MSS.; he was probably how-
ever not the Raja of Kannouj, but of some fort or territory on the way.
The name of the Raja of Kannouj was Rajyapal Parihar, though that name
does not occur in this history. *

6 The modern Buland Shahar. Aoccording to other Wstorians Hardab,
- Hardat of Abdul Kadir-i-Badatni, and Hirdat of the Jami'uttawarikh, was the
Rajo of Mathurah,
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The Sultan’s troops pursued him, and when they‘ came up to him,
he slew himself with his dagger.

When to live, doth add to one’s enemy’s joy,
’Tis better far to die than live.

The fort was captured, and ejghty-five elephants, and plunder
beyond all calculation, fell into the hands of the army of Islam.

From that place, the Sultan advanced to Maturah, which is a
large city containing many temples. It is the birthplace of Kishan
(Krishna) the son of Basdeo, a god whom the Hindus believe to be
the incarnation (literally the place of descent or alighting) of the
great self-existent one. In short, when the Sultan arrived in this
city, no one came forward to give him battle; and the Sultan’s army
completely destroyed the city and burnt the temples, and obtained
boundless wealth. There was one golden idol, which was broken up
under the orders of the Sultan, which weighed 98,300 Miskals ! of
pure gold. They found a precious stone,” the weight of which was
450 Miskals. They say that Chand Ray, who was one of the Rajas
of Hindustan, had an elephant which was of immense size, and was
highly renowned. The Sultan wanted to buy it, and offered a large
price, but could not get it. It so happened that, at the time of the
return of the Sultan from Kannouj, one night this elephant ran
away without its driver, and came to the vicinity of the Sultan’s
pavilion. The latter took possession of it, made great rejoicings
and named it ‘“ the gift of God.”” When he reached Ghaznin, he
had the booty obtained in the expedition to Kannouj counted ; it
amounted to twenty dand 3 or a thousand times thousand dirams,
and fifty-three thousand prisoners of war, and three hundred and ¢ fifty
elephants.

1 A Migkal was the 33;th part of ‘a geer.

2 The precious stone is called a Yakat-i-kuhli A yakdt is either a ruby or
a sapphire ; the adjective means that it was of the colour of kuhl! or collyrium.

8 The meaning is not clear, The lithographed edition reads L& 1> aws
oo (9 ) )l3# (i.e., it came to twenty dand (?) or a thousand times thousand
dirams. MS. A reads o<T @I )4 &3ty =, MS. B has ) 4o )b &) y et
oof Xk and MB. C owf yi3# yb oef ; ot none of which readings are
intelligible,

¢ There is a word & between tlv-:\g and a9 in the lithographed
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It has been handed down, that when the Sultan heard that a
Raja of the name of Nanda ! had slain the Raja of Kannouj, because
the latter had submitted and rendered allegiance to him he formed
a strong resolution to destroy Nanda, and in the year 410 A.H. he
again invaded Hindustan, and when he reached the river Jun, Naro
Jaipal, who had several times fled before his armies, encamped
in front of it now, in order to help and assist Nanda. As the river
was deep no one could cross it without the permission of the Sultan.
But in some unexplained manner, sixty of the personal slaves or
guards of the Sultdn suddenly crossed the river, threw the army
of Naro Jaipal into confusion, and routed it. Naro Jaipal with
some of the infidels escaped. The slaves did not come back to the
Sultan, but attacked the town, which was in the neighbourhood ; and
finding it empty, plundered and ravaged it, and destroyed the idol
temples.

From that place the Sultin advanced towards the kingdom of
Nanda. The latter prepared for battle and collected an immense
army. It is said that this army consisted of 36,000 horsemen,
145,000 foot soldiers, and 390 elephants.” When the Sultan encamped
in front of Nanda’s army, he first sent an envoy to him, and invited
him to submit, and to accept Islam. Nanda refused to place his
neck under the yoke of subjection. After that the Sultan went to
an elevated spot, so that he might look at, and make an estimate
of, the strength of Nanda’s army. Then when he saw what a vast
host it was, he repented of his coming; and placing the forehead of
supplication on the ground of submission and humility, prayed for
vietory and conquest from the Giver of all Mercies. In the night a
great fear fell on the heart of Nanda, and he fled with a few special
companions, leaving the army and all the munitions of war behind.

The next morning, when the Sultar heard this, he mounted his

edition and in MS. A; in MS. B itis &), In MS. C there is nothing between
the two words. I cannot make out the meaning of &ily or vy,

1 The name is so given in the MSS. as well as in the lithographed edition.
The correct name appears to have been Ganda the Chéndel Rija of K&lanjar,
which wes situated in what is now the Banda District. N

2 These numbers are taken from the lithographed edition, but there are
variations in the MSS. MS8. A gives the infantry at 105,000, and all the three
MSS. give the number of the elephants at 640.
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horse, and after having all the places where the enemy might be in
ambush carefully searched, examined the traces of the hostile
army, and when he was satisfied that no deception or treachery
was intended, he stretched out his hand for destruction and plunder.
Immense quantities of booty fell into the hands of the army of
Islam. They also accidentally found five hundred and eighty
elephants belonging to the army of Nanda in a wood, which was
included in the booty.

At the same time intelligence was brought that there were two
valleys called Kirat and Nir, the inhabitants of which were heathens
and had strongholds. The Sultan ordered his troops to be assembled,
and he advanced towards that country, taking with him a large
body of blacksmiths, carpenters and stone-cutters. When he
reached that country he first attacked Kirat ; this is a cold country
in which large quantities of fruit are grown, and the people of the
country worship ! . The ruler of that forest land made
his submission; and all the inhabitants of that country also
attained to the happiness of Islam. Sahib ’Ali ibn Alat Arslan ?
was nominated for the conquest of Nir. He advanced into the
country, conquered it, and laid thefoundation of a fort, and left after
nominating ’Ali ibn Kadr Jiak to be its Kotwal or commandant
Islam spread in that country also, in some cases with the consent of
the people, and in others in spite of their opposition.

In the year 412 a.H. the Sultan invaded Kashmir and laid siege
to the fort of Lohkot.? He remained there for a month, but as,
owing to its strength and inaccessibility, he was unable to take it,
he left the place and advanced towards Lahore and Bakrah.* The

1 What they worship is not clear. The lithographed edition reads o
Oiluyy g0 sy T while the MSS. read oifu )y .

2 This name is differently given in the lithographed edition and in the
MSS. In the formerit is given as I have givenit in the text. In MS. A it is
written Sahib ’Ali ibn Ilar Musalman, MS. B gives it as Sa@hib ’Ali bin Ilar
slan, while MS. C altogether omits the part of the sentence in which his appoint-~
ment is mentioned.

3 This is the fort already mentioned in page 9. The lithographed edition
and MSS. A and B agree in calling it Lohkot, MS. C calls it y§ 334,

¢ The lithographed edition calls this place Bakrah. MS. A calls it Bakor,
and MS. B Bakhrah. MS, C has left out the name altogether.
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troops dispersed themselves among the foot-hills, plundering and
ravaging, and booty beyond all calculation fell into the hands of the
army of Islam. In the beginning of spring, the Sultdn returned to
-Ghaznin crowned with victory and renown.

In the year 413 a.H.he again invaded the kingdom of Nanda, and
‘when he reached the fortress of Gwaliar, he laid siege to it. At the end
-of four days, the commandant of the fort sent envoys, and offering
a tribute of thirty-five elephants, prayed for protection. The Sultan
accepted these terms, and advancing to the fort of Kalanjar, which
has no equal in the whole country of Hindustan for strength and
impregnability, besieged it. The siege lasted for a considerable time,
when Nanda, the ruler of the fort, offered three hundred elephants as
atribute, and begged for safety. When these elephants were let loose
from inside the fort. without any drivers, the Sultan ordered that
the Turks should catch hold of , and mount them. The troops in the
fort were astonished at this spectacle; and felt much awe for the
prowess of the Turks. Nand& then sent some verses, which he had
composed in the Hindi tongue, in praise of the Sultan. The latter
showed them to the eloquent men of Hindustan, and other poets who
were in attendance on him. They all praised them. The Sultan
sent his congratulations, and a mandate conferring the command ot
fifteen fortresses, and other presents in return for them. Nanda
also sent much treasure and precious gems for the acceptance of the
Sultan. From that place the Sultin returned (to Ghaznin) with
victory and triumph.

In the year 414 A.H. the Sultan had a muster taken of his troops:
.and it was found, that over and above the troops that were in
garrison in various parts of his dominion, there were 54,000 mounted
troops and 1300 elephants.

In the year 415 A.H. the Sultan went to Balkh. At the time, the
people of Mawar-un-nahr complained of the oppression of ’Ali Tigin ;
and the Sultdn resolved upon punishing him; and crossed the
Jihun with that purpose. The Sardars of Mawar-un-nahr hastened
.one by one to welcome him, and each according to his rank and
circumstances offered tribute. Yusuf Kadr Khan, who was the
ruler of the whole of Turkistan, also came to welcome him, and met
him in the way of friendship and affection. The Sultén rejoiced at
his coming, and arranged festive meetings; and they sent presents
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to each other. The Sultan sent him the delicate products of Hindu-
stan, brilliant gems, and huge elephants, and they separated from.
each other in peace and good-will. ’Ali Tigin hearing of the-
Sultan’s intentions fled. The Sultan sent men to seize him. They
made him prisoner, and brought him before the Sultan. The latter
ordered him to be imprisoned, and sent him to one of the forts of
Hindustan. He then returned to Ghaznin and passed the winter
there.

Then in accordance with his custom, he advanced with his army
towards Hindustan with the object of the conquest of Somnath.
This is a large city on the shore of the sea, and is a place of worship of
the Brahmans. There were many golden idols in the temple in the
city, and the largest of these idols was called Manat.! I have read
in historical works that before the advent of the last of the prophets,
may God pour peace and blessings on him! this idol was taken
out of the house Ka’aba, and was brought here; bus it appears from
the ancient books of the Brahmans, that this is not so. This idol
has been the object of the adoration of the Brahmans from the time
of Kishan (Krishna), which was four thousand years ago; and
according to the Brahmans, it was here that Kishan disappeared.

In short, when the Sultan reached the city of Nahrwila Patan, he
found it empty. He ordered that grain might be collected, and then
he took the way to Somuath. When he reached Somnith, the
inhabitants shut the gate on his face. After much fighting and
great struggles the fort was taken, and the *methods of plunder
and destruction were carried into effect, and vast multitudes were
killed and taken prisoner. The temples were pulled down, and
destroyed from their very foundations. The idol Somnath was
broken to pieces, and one piece was sent to Ghaznin, and was placed
at the gate of the Jame’ Masjid; and for years it remained there.

The Sultan raised his standard with the intention of returning;
but as Param Deo, one of the most powerful of the Rajas of Hindu-
stan, had to be met on the way, and he did not consider it advisable
to fight with him at that time, under all the circumstances, he turned

1 One of the chief idols of the Pagans of Mecca, before the preaching of
Islam, was named Manat.

2 The phrase is curious o] Jer E')U ey ‘o}l).
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towards Multan by way of Sindh. His troops suffered great priva-
tions enm route, in some places, on account of scarcity of water, and
in others, for want of fodder; but at last, after suffering great dis-
tress and hardship, he reached Ghaznin in the year 417 aA.H.

In this year the Caliph Al-kadir-Billah wrote a letter to the
Sultan ; and sent him the standards of Khurasan and Hindustan and
Nimroz and Khwarizm; and he bestowed titles on the Sultan, and
his sons and brothers, in that letter. The Sultan received the title
of Kahf-ud-dowlah wal Islam (the cave or asylum of the state and of
Islam); Amir Mas’ud that of Shahab-ud-dowlat wa Jamal-ul-Millat
(the bright star of the state and the beauty of religion); Amir
Muhammad that of Jalal-ud-dowlat wa Jamail-ul-Millat (the
greatness of the state and the beauty of religion); and Amir
Yusuf that of ’Azd-ud-dowlat wa Muid-ul-Millat (the strength of
the state and the help of religion) ; and he wrote in the letter, that
he would recognise any of these, whom he might declare to be his
heir and successor. This letter reached the Sultan at Balkh.

The same year the Sultin undertook an expedition to punish
the Jats, who had, at the time of his return from Somnath, be-
haved improperly towards his army, and had caused them much
annoyance. He advanced towards Multan with a large force, and
when he reached Multan ordered that a fleet of one thousand and four
hundred boats should be constructed, and that three very strong iron
bars or branches should be firmly fixed on each boat, one infront and
two on the two sides; so that any thing which might strike against
them would be broken into small bits and would altogether disappear;
and placing twenty men armed with bows and arrows in each boat,
and large flasks of naphtha, he went forward to attack the Jats.
The Jats, being warned (of these prepdrations), sent their wives and
families to the islands ; and thus unencumbered made ready to oppose
him. They had four thousand, and according to another report, eight
thousand boats on the river; and they placed a number of armed
men on each of them, and thus prepared for battle and blood-
shed. When the two armies met each other, there was a great
conflict. Each one of the boats of the Jats, when if came in front of
one of the Sultan’s boats, and struck one of the branches, was rent
asunder, and sank. In this way the whole of the Jats were drowned ;
and those who escaped drowning were cut to pieces. The Sultan’s
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army then fell upon their families, and made them prisoners ; and the
Sultan returned victorious to Ghaznin.

In the year 419 a.H. the Sultan deputed Amir Tus Abul Harb
Arslan to Baward ! that he might go and extirpate the Turkmans.
After much fighting, Amir Tus wrote to the Sultan that it would not
be possible to check the disturbances created by the Turkmans, unless
he came there in person. So the Sultan went and extirpated the
Turkmans. - He then went on to Rei, and without any exertion or any
trouble took possession of buried treasures and wealth, which the
rulers of the country had accumulated in the course of many ages.
There were large numbers of infidels and schismatics in these parts.
Every one who was proved to be one, was sentenced to death. The
countries of Rei and Isfahan were conferred on Amir Mas’ud ; and the
Sultan returned to Ghaznin.

In a short time after this, the Sultan was attacked with a hectic
fever, and the disease became worse daily, and he was able with
great difficulty to show himself to the people, as if he still possessed
his former strength. In this condition he proceeded to Balkh; and
when spring came, he returned to Ghaznin; and there he died of the
same disease on Thursday the 23rd of Rabi’ul Akhar? 421 o.H. May
the mercy of God be upon him. His reign extended over a period
of thirty-five years.

They say, that when he was suffering the agony of death, the
Sultan ordered that all his wealth and the beautiful things which he
had collected should be placed before his eyes. He grieved over his
approaching separation from them, and sighed bitterly, but did not
give the smallest thing to anybody. He led twelve expeditions
into India, and carried on religious warfare.

TII. JavirL-up-Dowranm JAMAL-UL-MILLAT MUHAMMAD THE SON
oF MAHMUD.

At the time that Sultan Mahmid departed from this world
Amir Mahmiid was in Isfahdn® and Amir Muhammad in Gurgan.

I The name of the place is not clear. No name is given in the litho-
graphed edition. MS. A reads like luiy yob. MS. B Luig 3y Loy, MS. C Wyl

2 Major Raverty quoting from the Muk@mat of the Amid Abu Nasgr says
that Mahmud died on Thursday, the 14th Rabi’us Sani 421 a.H.

3 According to the Tab-i-Nags. he was-in ‘Irak, of which he was governor.

3
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1 Amir *Ali bin Ail Arslan, who was related to Sultan Mahmid, sum-
moned Amir Muhammad, and placed him on the throne at Ghaznin.
Amir Muhammad first turned his attention towards the oppressed,
thought carefully about the matter, and endeavoured to increase the
population and the wealth of the kingdom. He also opened the
doors of his treasuries and bestowed riches on high and low. He
appointed Yakub, the son of Yusuf, the son of Nasiruddin, who was
his uncle, to be the commander of his army ; and conferred a robe of
honour on him; and Khwajah * Abu Sahl Ahmad bin al Hasan al
Hamdouri was made minister, and entrusted with all affairs of
government. Cheapness and prosperity appeared in his time; and
merchants came from all directions to Ghaznin; and the people and
the troops lived in all happiness. In spite of this, the hearts of the
people inclined towards Amir Shihab-ud-dowlah Abu Sa‘id Mas’id ;
and after the lapse of fifty days from the death of Sultan Mahmiad,
Amir Ayaz entered into an agreement with the royal slaves or
guards, that they would go to Mas’dd; and they all bound one
another with oaths ; and sent a man to Abu’l Hasan ’Ali bin ’Abdul.
lah who was called ’Ali Dayah, and made him also join them. The
next day the slaves assembled together, entered the stables, and
mounting the horses specially set apart for the Sultan, came out
with much haughtiness, and started towards Bast. Amir Muhammad
sent 4 Sondi Rai Hindu with a large army in pursuit of them; and
when they met, there was a great battle. Sondi Rai and a large
number of the Hindus were killed; and many of the slaves were also
slain and their heads were sent to Amir Muhammad. Ayaz and ’Ali
Dayah marched on with the slaves till they met Amlr Mas’ud at

Major Raverty says he appears to he,ve been at Ha,ma.dan, but one a.uthor at
least says he was in lsfahan. -~

1 Soin the lithographed edition and in MS. A. MS. B has (¢! o sl el
usw)yl and MS. C ullw)t ! le gol.  Fasgih-i calls him 'Ali Kheshawand;
the Tazkirat-ul-Muluk, ’Ali son of Iyal Arslan. He is also called ’'Ali Kurbat
and ’Ali Karim.

2 80 in MS8S. A and B; the lithographed edition has Sahel instead of
Sahl, MS. C gives the name as Khwajah Abu Sahel Ahmed bin Abu’l Hasan
wardi. In the Tab-i-Nas (note 8, p. 89 trans.) he is siniply called Khwajah
Abu Sahl.

% It is curious that there were already Hindu troops in the army, and a
Hindu general was in command of them.
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Nishapur. They did him homage. He was much pleased, spoke
of the fatigue of their journey, and enquired of the state of things
generally.

Amir Muhammad was at Ghaznin, in the enjoyment of pleasure
and happiness. After four months had passed in this way he ordered
that his pavilion should be moved towards Bast; and he started
from Ghaznin with much pomp. When they reached Tiginabad all
the commanders of the army joined together ; and sent a message to
Amir Muhammad telling him, that as all the people wanted to submit
to Amir Mas’iid and do him homage, and it was certain that he
(Muhammad) would not be able to withstand him, it would be better
that he should go and sit in his own place (i.e. seek an asylum
somewhere), and that they should go to him and make excuses to
him for themselves and for him; and he might summon him to his
presence, and he and they might escape with their lives. The Amir
saw no other alternative than to accept this proposal. Then Amir
Yusuf and ’Ali Hajib and other commanders of the army placed
Amir Mubammad in the fort of Zabh.! The whole of the army, with
all the treasure, then marched towards Amir Mas’id, and went to
Hirat. The rule of Muhammad did not extend beyond five months.

1V. ABu Sa’1p Mas’0p BIN YEMIN-UD-DOWLAH SULTAN
MAnMUD.

When Ayaz, the son of Aymak, and 'Ali Dayah went to Amir
Mag’dd in Nishapur, the latter feeling confidence in his powers,
turned his attention to the administration of justice. After a few days,
Abu Sahl Mursil bin Mansur bin Aflaj Gurdaizi brought a standard
from the Amir-ul-Mauminin Al-kadir-Billah; and became the recipient
of many favours and much kindness. Amir Mas’dd then came to
Hirat from Nishapuar. ’Ali Hajib came at this time to Amir
Mas’id, and received various favours. The whole of the army, and
the treasures also now reached Hirat ; and Amir Mas’dd leaving Hirat
went to Balkh; and spent the winter there.

Amir Mas’tid then sent for Abul Kasim Ahmad bin Hasan
Mairaandi, who had been imprisoned in the fort of Kalanjar by

¥ The name of the fort is riot clear; in the lithographed edition it is 63
and in MSS, A, B and C respectively CJ ' @0 and f','
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order of Sultan Mahmud; and made him his minister. He ordered
Mir Jang Mikaill ! to be impaled, and he ordered all who had been
hostile to him, and had sided with his enemies, to be executed; and
having punished Amir Ahmad bin Nialtigin,® who had been the
treasurer of Sultdan Mahmiud, and recovered much wealth from him,
sent him to Hindustan. When he arrived there he revolted.

At this time, Abu Talib Rustam Majd-ud-Dowlah came to Ghaz-
nin from India, under the orders of Amir Mas’id. Amir Husen bin
Ma’dan, who was the ruler of Mekran, complained against his brother -
to Amir Mas’dd, who ordered Mir Tash Fardsh to obtain justice
for him from his brother; and made him the ruler of Mekran.

Amir Mas’@id then came to Ghaznin from Balkh. The people of
the city made rejoicings,® and went forward to meet him, and
built triumphal arches, and scattered dirams and dinars. He then
started from Ghaznin for Sipahan and Rei, and when he reached
Hirat, the people of Sarakhs and Baward complained to him of the
Turkmans. He sent Amir Abu Sa’id ’Abdds bin *Abdul *Aziz with
a large army against them. The latter fought several times with
them. and a large number of men were slain on both sides. Amir
Mas’ad’s troops fought several times, and then returned.

In the year 423 a.H. Khwajah Ahmad bin Hasan* received
orders, and Khwajah Abu Nasr Ahmad bin Muhammad ’Abdus
Samad, who was noted for his ability in state affairs, and his wisdom,
became minister in his place, and going to Khwarizm made that
country prosperous, and then again returned to the service of Amir
Mas’iid. The latter then returned to (GGhaznin.

In the year 424 A.H. Amir Mas’iid invaded India and attacked
the fort of Sarsati, which is situated in one of the Kashmir valleys,

1 The name is given in the text asin MS. A, in MS. B it is Mikal, in MS. C
it is Mikal, and in the lithographed edition Biskal.

2 The name is given as in the text in two out of the three MSS. 1n the
third it is Alptigin. In the lithographed edition it is Malikash.

8 This is the first mention of such rejoicings and triumphal arches, We
will come across many such rejoicings and the erection of arches or ornamental
domes later on. *

4 The meaning is not quite clear. In the lithographed edition and in two
of the MSS. the words are &L c)lﬁ)i. In the third <ol jow yle ;—’
Apparently he was removed.
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and besieged it, and in the end seized it and obtained much booty.
From that place he went back to Ghaznin.

In the year-425 a.H. Amir Mas’dd invaded Amil and Sarf.
‘The people of that country collected together and prepared for a
bloody struggle, and as the army of Ghaznin was victorious, Ama !
Kali Khan the Amir of Tabaristan sent envoys, and agreeing to in-
sert the name of Mas’dd in the Khutba or public prayers, sent his
own son Bahman and his nephew Sharwin the son of Surkhab as
hostages. Amir Mas’iid then turned his face towards Ghaznin, and
when he reached Nishdapur the people complained to him of the
oppression of the Turkmans. Amir Mas’ud sent Ekta’di and Husen
bin ’'Ali bin Mikail with a large force against them. When the army
reached Shunia-Itfak,* the Turkmans came in, and represented that
they were the slaves of the Amir’s threshold, and submissive to his
commands. All that was necessary was, that the boundaries of their
pastures should be defined, in which case they would have no concern
with any one, and no one would, in any way, be molested by them.
Ekta’di spoke harshly to the envoys, and said, ‘* Between us and you
there is no peace except with the sword. If you submit and refrain
entirely from evil deeds, and sending some one to Amir Mas’ad,
bring a letter addressed to me from him, then only will I keep my
hands off from you.”’

When the Turkmans heard this from the mouth of their envoys,
they came forward, and there was a great battle. In theend the
Turkmans were defeated, and fled from the field ¢f battle. Ekta’di
pursued them, and seized their wives and families, and obtained much
plunder. When Ekta’di’s troops were returning, they became dis-
persed in search of plunder; and Daud Turkman coming out of the
rocky defiles attacked them. The battle lasted through two days
and two nights. Ekta’di said to Husen bin *Ali, ‘I cannot maintain
my position.” Husen however stood firm, and went on with the
battle, and was taken prisoner by the Turkmans. Ekta’di escaped,
and went to Amir Mas’ad.

! The name is doubtful. It is not given in the lithographed edition but is
given in all the MSS.
2 This name is given in the lithographed edition as (3] oar&, in MS. A as

(U opim, in MS. B as ke oisw, and in MS. C as 3R odw,
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When Amir Mas’iid arrived in Ghaznin the news of the revolt
.of Ahmad bin Nialtigin reached him. He sent Banth ' bin Muham.
mad Ali, who was the commander of the Hindus, against him; and
when they met, a battle took place; and Banth was slain, and his
army dispersed. When this news reached Amir Mas’iid, he sent
Tilak bin Husen, who was (another) commander of the Hindus, and
he went and fought with Ahmad and defeated him, and he ordered
‘the noses and the ears of such of Ahmad’s soldiers as were captured
to be cut off. Ahmad escaped to Mansurah in Sindh and attempted
to cross the Indus. The river was however suddenly flooded, and
carried him away, and he was drowned. When his corpse was after-
wards thrown up on the bank, his head was cut off and brought to
Tilak, who sent it to Amir Mas’td.

In the year 427 ao.H. the new castle was completed, and a golden
throne adorned with gems was placed in it, and a golden crown
also adorned with precious stones, which weighed seventy maunds,
was hung over it. with chains of gold, and the Sultan held a public
reception, seated on that throne, and with that suspended crown
placed on his head.

The same year he sent Amir Maudiid to Balkh, after conferring
on him a standard and a kettle-drum; and he himself marched into
Hindustan, and when he reached the fort of Hansi, he took it, and
found in it plunder beyond all count; and from that fort he
marched with his army to the fort of Sanipat, and the commandant of
that fort, Danial* Har by name, becoming aware of his approach, tled,
and concealed himself in the jungles. The army of Islam having
captured that fort, pulled down all the temples and obtained an
enormous quantity of booty. Then when they heard where Danial
Har was hid, they marched against him, and he coming to know of
this fled alone ; and all his troops were either slain or taken prisoner.

1 This name is very differently given in the lithographed edition and in the

MSS8. In the former it is gh S0 (o) 3L, in MS. A it is ce=we ! dplo

,in MS. B and C yam> (o4 Kb, Here again we have mention of Hindu

troops, but the names of the commanders are peculiar. It is difficult to say

what Banth means; Tilak is distinctly Hindu, but the names*of the fathers of
the commanders are distinctly Muhammadan.

2 The name in the text is as it ig given in the lithographed edition. In

' M8. A it is Dipal Har, in M8. B Dipal Harmanah, and in MS. C Dipal Haryanah.
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From that place Amir Mas’dd advanced to the valley of Ram; and
when Ram heard of this he sent much tribute, with a message that
as he was old and infirm, he could not come to do homage in person.
Amir Mas’id accepted his excuses and withheld his hand from him.
He then conferred a standard and a kettle-drum on Amir ! Abul
Muhammad son of Mas’ud, and sent him to Lahore, and himself
returned to Ghaznin.

In the year 429 A.H. he went from Ghaznin to Balkh, with the
object of checking the disturbances created by the Turkmans. The
latter, when they heard of this, left Balkh ; and went away elsewhere.
In the meantime intelligence was received that the whole of
Mawar-un-nahr was in a state of turmoil on account of the aversion
which the people felt for Purtikin, who had succeeded Kadr Khan on
the latter’s death.

And Mas‘ad, hoping to acquire the whole country of Mawar-ur-
nahr, advanced into it. The people of the country, who had rebelled
against their ruler, left their homes, and fled ; and no one came
forward to give battle. A few days after this, Khwajah bin Muham-
mad Abdus Samad, Mas‘dd’s minister, sent him a letter; and in-
formed him that Da‘dd Turkman was, with a large force, threaten-
ing Balkh, and he had no such force, and such munitions of war,
that he could hope successfully to oppose Da-uUd. Amir Mas‘ad
immediately returned from Mawar-un-nahr towards Balkh. The
Turkméns turned round and went to Merv. Amir Mas‘lid arrived at
Balkh, and then went to Gurgan in pursuit of Da-dd.* There some
of the people came to him; and complained of the oppression com-
mitted by ‘Ali Tandari.® This man was an impostor, a tyrant, who

I The readings here are various. The lithographed edition has ‘“and the
Amir ul Mauminin conferred, etc., on Abul Muhammad bin Mas’@id and sent
him to Lahore, etc.,”” which is clearly incorrect. MS. A has the reading which
I have adopted, MS. B reads ‘‘and conferring a kettle-drum and a standard
on Aub’l Fawaris and Mas’iid, etc.,”’ while MS. C' has * and gave a kettle-drum
and a standard to Amir Abul Ahmad bin Muhammad.’’

2 According to MS. C Da-dd went to Gurgdn, but Mas‘tid did not go
there in pursuit of him,

8 The name is so given in the lith. ed. MS. A makes it (5538 in one
place and (s)O in another place in the same line. MS. B ma:i{es it (syols
and gsé-\e in the two places. MS. C makes it “;)Mﬂ-l )
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‘had stretched out his arm over all that region. Amir Mas‘dd sum-
moned him, to swear allegiance to him; but he heeded him not;
but went on harassing the people. He took his family and children-
to the fort, which was in that neighbourhood, and prepared to with-
stand a siege. Amir Mas‘iid sent an army against him. The fort
was captured ; and ‘Ali Tandari was brought before Amir Mas‘id ;
and the. latter ordered him to be impaled.

When the Turkmans heard of Amir Mas‘id’s march towards
Merv, they sent envoys; and represented that they were his slaves,
obedient to his commands; that if the boundaries of their pastures:
were defined, their cattle and families would remain in the lands
allotted to them, and they would themselves serve him. Amir
Mas‘did acceded to their prayers, and sent an envoy to Beghu, who
was their leader, so that an agreement might be drawn up, to the
effect that from that time they would refrain from their customary
misdeeds. At the same time, the boundaries of their pastures were
determined. These terms were agreed upon; and then Amir Mas‘ad
turned his face towards Hirat. In the way, a band of Turkmans fell
upon Amir Mas‘id’s army; slew some of the men; and plundered
some things. Amir Mas‘dd sent a detachment in pursuit of them,
who seized and slew them all, and capturing their wives and families
brought them, together with the heads of the slain, to the Amir.
The latter sent all those heads, laden on asses, to Beghu, with the
message that this was the punishment of all those who broke their
engagements. Beghu made his excuses, and said that he know
nothing of these things, and that the Amir had himself done to those
people what he could have himself wished to do. The Amir then
went from Hirat to Nishapiir, and from the latter place to Tus.
Near the latter place a band of Turkm&ns met him, and a battle
was fought, and many of them were slain. At this time intelligence
was brought that the people of Baward had delivered their fort to:
the Turkméans. Amir Mas‘dd attacked the fort, and having captured
it, put the garrison to the sword. He then returned to Nishaptr
and spent the winter there.

When the spring of 430 A.H. came, Amir Mas‘ldd again went
to Baward, with the object of attacking Tughral Turkman. The
latter became aware of this, and went away towards Taran Baward.
Amir Mas‘id turned round and came towards Sarakbs by way of
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Mahnah, and as the people of Mahnah did not pay their tribute, he
had them seized; and ordered many of them to be slain; and the
hands of others to be cut off ; and also had their strongholds de-
molished. From those parts he moved to Didankan.! When he
arrived at this place, the Turkmans came in great numbers from
different directions and surrounded the army of Ghaznin. Amir
Mags‘td arrayed his troops, and made ready for battle. The Turk-
mans met him also arrayed for battle, and a great conflict took
place. In the meantime many of the commanders of the army of
Ghaznin turned round and joined the enemy ; and the AmIr remained
alone in the field of battle. He slew some of the leaders of the Turk-
mans with his sword and lance and mace. Those of the commanders
of the army of Ghaznin who had gone over to the enemy now turned
their backs to the field of battle and fled towards Ghaznin. When
there was no one near Amir Mas‘ud he got out of the battlefield,
through his own courage and prowess; and no one dared to pursue
him. This occurred on the 8th Ramazin in the year 431 a.m.
When Amir Mas‘dd reached Merv, some of his troops rejoined him,
and he came to Ghaznin, from there, by way of Ghur.

He then punished all the commanders who had turned their
backs on the enemy without fighting, such as ¢Ali? Dayah, the great
chamberlain Sipahi and Ekta‘di chamberlain. He ordered them all
to be seized, mulcted, and sent to India, where they were imprisoned
in different forts, and they all died while under imprisonment.
Amir Mas‘ud then determined to take bis troops to India, where he
might gain new strength and again collect a large army, and then
attacking the Turkmans, place their chastisement in the skirts of
time. He sent Amir Maudid as Amir to Balkh and directed
Khwajah Muhammad bin Abdus Samad the Vazir to accompany
hlm and appomted Arhgin 8 Hapb to be his cha.mberlam, and sent

1 The name of thls place is given, as in the bext in MSS A a.nd B In
MS. C it is writton as Yighmar and in the lith, ed. as Damghan. According to
note 3, p. 74 of the Tab-i-Nas. (trans.) it appears that the name has been
variously given in different works, but the correct name is Talkan.

2 The lith. ed. and all the MSS. give the names as given in the text
except that in MS. A we have Muka‘tadi instead of Ekta‘di.

$§ In thelith. ed. Artigin Hajib is said to have been appointed as Vazir,

the words 5l (o>!® being changed to 3 (s\¥; but all the MSS. agree in the
reading as given in the text.
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four! thousand men with him. He also ordered Amir Muhammad
to proceed to Multdn with two thousand men ; and he directed that
the Amir of that province should go to the hilly country of Ghaznin,
so that he might watch the Afghans of that country who were re-
fractory and prevent them from creating disturbances. He also
brought all Sultdan Mahmid’s treasures, which were in different
forts, to Ghaznin, and loading them on camels, started with them
for India. From the way he sent men who brought his brother
Amir Muhammad from the fort of Targhand.* '

When he reached Rabat?® Bariklah, his slaves (or guards)
plundered the treasure laden on the camels. At the same time
Amir Muhammad arrived there ; and the slaves knowing that their
transgression would not be forgiven, unless there was a new Amir,
had no alternative but to go to Amir Muhammad and to accept him
as the Badshah. They, therefore, went in a body and attacked Amir
Mas‘dd. The latter fortified himself in the Rabaf (inn). The next
day the whole army went in a body, and brought the Amir out of
the inn, and seized him and immured him in the fort of Giri,* and
he remained there till the 11th Jamadi-ul-awwal, 432 A.H., when a
false message purporting to come from Amir Muhammad was sent
to the Kotwal or Commandant of the fort to have him killed; and
to send his head to the Amir. According to this message his head
was severed from his body and sent to Amir Muhammad, who
wept much, and severely reprimanded those who had brought this
about.

1 The lith. ed. and MSS. B and C give this number, but MS. A gives only
one thousand.

2 So in the lith. ed. MS. A reads o2y, "B P, C yme. The Tab-i-Nas.
says that Barghand was the name of the fort in which Ibreahim and Farrukh-
zad were kept in imprisonment. Amir Muhammad might have been im-
prisoned in the same fort.

8 Soin MS. B. MS. A reads &K L by, Ms.C &l 4b bly and the lith.
ed. 25 yb bUy, but a fow lines further on it has &KL LUy,  According to the
Tab-i-N&g. trans., p. 95, the correct name of the place is Marigalah. (See note 4
in the same page).

¢ 8o in all MSS. The lith. ed. has (4iri ; see also Tab-i-N&g. trans., p. 95
and note 2 in the same page.
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1V. SuiEAB.UD.DIN! wa Dovurar, wa KurB-UL-MILLAT ABUL
Fater MAuDUD BIN Mas‘Op.

When the news of his father’s murder reached Amir Maudiid
in Bahistan,” he wanted to start for Bariklah to revenge him, but
Abu? Nasgr bin Ahmad bin Muhammad bin Abdus Samad kept him
back from that undertaking, and took him to Ghaznin. The people
of the town all went forward to meet him, joined in the mourning
rites, and took his side. Then with a great army, he advanced upon
his uncle, Amir Muhammad. When he arrived at Dantur,* Amir
Muhammad hastened forward to meet him, and a battle ensued It
lasted the whole day, and when night came on, each side took count of
the enemy and remained in the battle-field. During the night Amir
Maudid sent a messenger to Mir Ajall Sayyad Mansur, who was in
Amir Muhammad’s army, and gained him over; so that at the time
of battle, the next day, Mir Ajall Sayyad Mansur stood on one side
as a spectator, and did not help either of the contending armies.
After much fighting, the victory at last fell to Amir Maudid ; and
Amir Muhammad and his son Ahmad and all the commanders of
his army were taken prisoners; and after much torture were put
to death. Amir Mauddd established a caravansarai and a bazar
at that place, and named it Fatehabad, and ordered that the coffins
of his father and brothers should be brought to Ghaznin from Giri.
This victory took place in the month of Sha‘daban, 432 A.H.

In the year 433 s.H. Amir Maudid was displeased with Khwa-
jah Ahmad Abdus Samad ; and ordered him to be imprisoned in the

1 So in the lith. ed., MS. A omits ‘‘uddin’’ and adds ‘¢ bin Sultan Mah-
mud *’ at the end. MSS. B and C add *‘ bin Mahmud *’ at the end.

2 8o in the lith. ed. and in MS., B. In MS. A it is wl¢ and in MS.
© wlmie.  As mentioned above, Amir Maudiid had been sent to govern Balkh,
just before his father started for India, and according to Major Raverty, he
was at Balkh, when the tidings of his father’s imprisonment and murder
reached him ; (see note 9, p 95 of the trans. of the Tab-i-Nas ).

8 80 in the lith. ed. and in MSS. B and C. In MS. A there is no ‘bin’
before Abdus Samad.

¢ The name of the place is not given in the lith. ed. In the MSS it is
29, ypdws and )% respectively, According to the Tab-i-N&s. the battle
took place at Nagrahdr.
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fort of Ghaznin; and he died in captivity. The Amir then selected
Abu Tahir bin Muhammad Mustaufi to be his Vazir, and the same
year he sent Abu Nasr Muhammad bin Ahmad towards Hindustan,
to fight against Nami Muhammad bin Mahmud; and Nami was
killed in the battle.

In the year 434 o.H. Amir Maudid sent Artigin to Tajaristan ;!
and when he arrived there, he received information that the son of
Da~id Turkman had come to Arhan. He marched against him, but
when he arrived in his neighbourhood, the Turkman leader received
warning; and leaving his army behind, he went away with a few
companions. Artigin followed him and slew many of his followers.
He then proceeded to Balkh, and seized that town and had the
Khutba (prayers) read in Amir Maudid’s name. After a short
time, the Turkmans intending to attack him, approached Balkh ;
and as he did not have a large army, he asked Amir Maudid for
reinforcement ; but as his request was not acceded to, he returned
with his army from Balkh to Ghaznin.

In the year 435 a.H. the Amir was, owing to the insinuations of
certain people, displeased with Abu ’Ali the Kotwal of Ghaznin and
put him in prison; but in the end, when he came to know of the
Kotwal’s innocence, he set him at liberty, and made him the Minis-
ter of his dominions as well as Kotwal of Ghaznin, and he ordered
Suri? bin Al‘abr who had previously been his Vazir to be imprisoned ;
and the man died while in prison. People also created a bad im-
pression about Artigin in the mind of Amir Mauddd; and he had
him beheaded in his own presence.

In the year 436 a.m. Khwajah Tahir the Vazir received his
order (of dismissal); and Khwajah Imam Sayyad Abul Fateh
Abdur Razzdk bin Ahmad bin Husen was appointed Vazir in his
place. The same year Tughral Hajib Was sent towards Bast, and
he went as far as Sistdn, and having seized the brother of Abul Fazl
Darangt Abu Mansur, brought him to Ghaznin.

In 437 a.m. the Turkméans advanced in force towards Ghaznin.

1 8o in the lith. ed. and in MSS. B and C. MS. A reads Tabaristan.
2 The name is given a8 in the text in the lith. ed. In MS. A it is given

as Suri bin Alma‘shr. In MS. B as Suri bin Alma‘br, and in MS. C as Suri
bin Ima‘br.
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As they passed through Bast, and destroyed Rabat Amir, the army
of Ghaznin met them, and there. was a great battle, and many of
the Turkmans were slain. After this victory Tughral went towards
Garmsir,! and slew the Turkmians of that country, who were called
the Surkh Kulah (the red caps): and taking a large number of them
prisoners, brought them along with him.

In the year 438 A.H. Amir Maudiid again sent Tughral in the
same direction, with a very large army. When Tughral reached
Baknabad,® he showed signs of faithlessness. When news of this
came to Amir Maudid, he sent men to Tughral, to reassure and
conciliate him. Tughral said in reply to them, that as the men
who were in attendance on the Amir, were hostile to him, he could
not come and do homage to the latter. After this, the Amir sent ‘Ali
bin Rabi‘ with two thousand mounted troops to summon Tughral.
When ‘Ali bin Rabi‘ came to the neighbourhood of the place where
Tughral was, the latter fled with a few men; and ‘Ali coming upon
his army routed it; and seizing a certain number took them to
Ghaznin.

The same year, the Amir sent the Amir Hajib Buzurg Batab-
kin® towards Ghur, and when the latter started on the expedition,
he took Shir+* bachah with him, and when they reached the fort of
Abu ‘Ali they captured it and took Abu ¢Ali prisoner. This was a
fort which had not been conquered by anybody during seven cen-
turies. Shir bachah brought Abu *Ali to Ghaznin with a yoke on
his neck.

The same year Amir Maudid sent Amir Hajib Baitigin against
Bahram Sal, who was the leader of the Turkmans and their armies
met and fought in the neighbourhood of Bast, and the Turkmans
were defeated.

I So in the lith. ed. MS. A reads Garmir, MS. B Garmsu or Garmu, and
M8, C Garmiraft joining the first letter of the verb raft with the name of the
place.

2 So in the lith. ed.; MS, A has Tanknabad. MS. B has Baknabad, but
the preposition ba or bah which should precede it has been omitted; MS. C
has Ekidd. Apparently Tiginibad is meant.

8 So in the lith, ed.; MS. A has Baltigin. MS. B Barabuktin (?) and
MS. C Babikin (?).

4 80 in the lith. ed. and M8. A. MSS. B and C have respectively
8arpanjah and Shir panjah.
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In the year 439 A.H. Amir Kazdar revolted and Amir Maudid
sent Hajib-buzurg Baitigin against him and Amir Kazdar was
defeated; and after a time, made his submission and agreed to
pay tribute. The Amir Hajib then returned to Ghaznin.

In the year 440 A.H. the Amir sent his two sons Abul Kasim
Mahmud and Mansur, after conferring on them robes of honour,
kettledrums and standards on the same day—the former towards
Lahore and the latter towards Parsur; and he sent Abu ‘Ali Hasan
the Kotwal of Ghaznin to Hindustan, so that he might mete out
punishment to the rebels in that country. Abu Ali advanced to the
fort of Mahitah,! and when Ahnin? the ruler of the fort received
information of it, he fled alone, leaving his followers behind. The
Kotwal sent a messenger to Hajrai® the commander of the Hindus
who had done meritorious service in the time of Sultan Mahmid,
and had spent his life in the Sultan’s service, but had afterwards,
on account of certain matters, become dissatisfied ; and had fled to
Hindustan, and was now among the mountains of Kashmir. He
gave him many assurances, and summoned him to his presence;
and after pledging his faith to him, sent him to Ghaznin. Amir
Maudad received him with favour and comforted him.

During the time that the Kotwal Abu ‘Ali was in Hindustan,
his enemies, out of the malice which they bore him, represented
many things about him to the Amir in a disagreeable light ; and
when he came back to Ghaznin the Amir ordered him to be im-
prisoned and made him over to Mirak+ Hasan Vakil. After a few
days, while he was in prison, his enemies procured his death; and
as they had done this, without the permission of Amir Maudid,
endeavoured to conceal it from him; and tried, every day, to induce
him to undertake a journey, in the hope that if the Amir should
leave Ghaznin, this deed of theirs would remain concealed. In the
end the Amir started on a journey to Kabul. When he reached the

1 8o in the lith ed., MS. A reads Mahilah, MS. B Bahabilat and MS. C
Mahtah,

2 8o in the lith. ed., MS. A has Anha and MS. B and C%hin.

3 8o in the lith. ed. and in M8, C, MS. A has Bejrai, and MS. B Sahrai.

4 So in lith, ed., M8. A has Mirak bin Husen, and MSS. B and C, Mirak
bin Hasan.
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fort of Syamkot,' he had an attack of colic, which grew worse day
by day. He was therefore forced to return to Ghaznin. When he
arrived there, even when he was still ill, he insisted on Mirak bring-
ing Abu ‘Ali Kotwal out of prison and producing him. Mirak Vakil
made various subterfuges? and asked for a, week’s time; and the
week had not expired when Amir Maudiid died on the 24th Rajab,
441 a.H. The period of his rule extended to nine years. His son
Muhammad, 8 who was three years of age, was placed on the throne
through the exertions of ‘Ali bin Rabi‘; but after five days there
was a change in the views of the nobles, and ‘Ali bin Mas‘Gd was
raised to the Sultanate.

V. ‘Aur BIN MaAs‘OD.

When “Ali bin Mas‘ad was raised to the throne, Abdur Razzak
bin Ahmad Maimandi, who had been nominated by Amir Maudad
to be governor of Sistdn, reached a fort between Bast and Isfrain,*
and found that Abdur Rashid was imprisoned in that fort by order
of Amir Maudiid. He brought the latter out of the fort, and ac-
cepted him as the Badshah. He also summoned the troops to do
homage to him, and got them all to swear allegiance to him. ‘Ali’s
rule was for a period of about three months.

VI. ‘ABDUR RASHID BIN MaAS‘UD.

When he was raised to the throne, he marched towards Ghaznin
with ‘Abdur Razzdk and other commanders. When they arrived
in the neighbourhood of Ghaznin, ‘Ali bin Mas'id fled without
giving battle and ‘Abdur Rashid became the ruler of Ghaznin. He
sent Tughral Hajib, who was one of the nobles of Sultan Mahmud, to
Sistan, and Tughral conquered that country, and acquired consider-
able power. He then marched towards Ghaznin with the intention

1 So in MS. A. MS. B has Sialkot. MS. C Samkot and the lith. ed.
Sankot.

2 The lith. ed. reads 80))7 g dﬁ, having pleaded ignorance, but all
the MSS. read d&l instead of d‘A

8 See Tab-i-N&s. trans., p. 97, also note 4 in the same page.

4 So in lith. ed., MS. A reads Isfrar, MS. B Isa‘rér, and MS. C Istkrar.
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of treacherously attacking Amir ‘Abdur Rashid. When he arrived
in the vicinity of the capital, the Amir became aware of his
treachery, and taking his adherents with him shut himself up in the
fort, and Tughral, having seized the city, ordered Amir ‘Abdur
Rashid and the other descendants of Sultan Mahmud to be slain ;
except a daughter of Mas‘iid, whom he married, against her wishes.
One day, however, when he was seated on the throne at a public
reception, a band of brave men, actuated by hatred for his evil deeds.
came in and hacked him to pieces with their swords; and threw his
corpse on the dust of wretchedness. His! rule lasted for four
years.

VII. FARRUkHZAD BIN MAS'UD.

When Tughral was slain, the nobles and chief men in the state
released Farrukhzad who was in imprisonment? and seated him on
the throne. The Saljukians came in great force at this time to
attack Ghaznin, and tried to seize it, but Har? har went forward by
order of Farrukhzad to meet them; and many of them were slain;
and some of the chiefs were seized and brought before the Amir who
ordered them to be imprisoned. A second time Alb Arslan collected
a large army and fought with the army of Ghaznin, and after in-
flicting a defeat seized many of the nobles of Ghaznin and took
them away to Khurdsian. At last a treaty was arranged and the
prisoners of both sides were released. When Farrukhzad’s rule had
extended over a period of six* years, he departed from this perish-
able world and his brother Ibrahim bin Mas‘dd ruled in his stead.

VIII. IsrauiM BIN MAS‘OD BIN SOLTAN MAHMUD.

He was a just and pious king, .who was celébrated for his
ability and wisdom. He wrote a beautiful hand ; and each year

1 This apparently refers to ‘Abdur Rashid. According to the Tab-i-Nas.
the reign of ‘Adur Rashid extended to & period of two years and a half (p. 99
of the translation) and that of Tughral to forty days.

% In the fortress of Barghand, see p. 101 Tab-i-Nés. trans.

8 8o in the lith. ed., and in MS, B. MS8, A and C read"Khar Khar.

¢ The Tab-i-N&g. says his rule lasted for seven years, but other historians
say he ruled for six years: see Tab-i-Nds. trans., p. 102, also note. He is also
said to have died of colic like Mauddd.
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he made a transcript of the Kuriin, and sent it with much treasure
to Mecca. In short, when he had arranged a peace with the Salju-
kians, and his mind was relieved of all anxiety in that quarter, he
turned his face towards Hindustan and conquered many towns and
fortrosses there. Among these, there was a very populous town.
The residents were descendants of the Khurasanians, whom Afrasiyah
had driven ont of Khurasin. In that town there was a reservoir
the diameter of which was half a farsang (league). Although men
and cattle drank the water, no diminution ever took place in it;
and owing to the dense jungle round the fort no entrance to or
exit from it could be discovered. Farrukhzad conquered such a
strong fortress by his strength and vigour, and seized a hundred
thousand men, and brought them to Ghaznin. An estimate of the
quantity of the plunder carried away may be made from this, He
died in the year 491 a.m.! and his rule extended over a period of
thirty years, and according to the author of the Banakati to
forty-two years.

IX. Mas‘Op BIN IBRAHIM.

After his father, he sat in his father’s place and was invested
with the title of Sultan Jalaluddin.? Nothing more about his reign
has come before my eyes. His reign extended over sixteen years,

X. ARSLAN SHAH BIN MAsS‘OD BIN IBRAHIM.

After his father, he ascended the throne, and in order to give
stability to his rule, he seized and imprisoned all his brothers, except
Bahram Shah, who fled to Sultdn Sanjar in Khurasan; and although
Sultan Sanjar wrote letters about him, and strongly urged his case,
Arslan Shah did not accede to his request. At last Sultan Sanjar
marched against him with a great force, and when he arrived within

1 According to the 'ab-i-N&s. (trans., p. 105) he died in the year 492 A.u.

2 The Yab-i-Nas. gives him the title of ‘Alduddin, but according to a note
of the translator his proper title was Alauddowlah. He appears to have been
a just and beneficent ruler. He obtained the title of Karim, or beneficent, and
had a quiet and peaceful reign. At the same time, during his reign the Hajib
Tugha-tigin is said to have crossed the Ganges to carry on & holy war in
Hindustédn, and to have penetrated to places which no one, except Sultan
Mahmid, had previously reached with an army.
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a league of Ghaznin, Arslan Shiah marched out with thirty thousand
troops, and a great battle took place. Arslan Shah was defeated
and retreated to Hindustan. Sultan Sanjar went into (ihaznin and
remained there for forty days, and after conferring the country on
Bahram -Shah, went back to his own country. When Arslan Shéah
heard of the departure of Sultan Sanjar he went back to (Ghaznin
from Hindustin with a large army. Bahram Shah was unable to
meet him in battle, and leaving GGhaznin went to the fort of Bamian,
and, then, after receiving help and reinforcements from Sultin
Sanjar, again marched against Ghaznin. Arslan Shah, afraid of Sul.
tan Sanjar’s army, evacuated the city and retired to a place of
obacurity. The Saljuk army pursued and seized him, and took him
to his brother Bahram Shah; and he met with death! from his
brother’s hand. His reign lasted for three years.

XI. BAHRAM SHAH BIN Mas‘Ob BIN IBRAHIM,

He was a king who reigned with much pomp and state and used
to associate with the learned and wise. Sheikh Sanati wrote verscs
in his honour, and many hooks were written during his reign. The
¢ Kalelah, wa damnah’’ was compiled in his honour; and on the
day on which he ascended the throne, Syyad Hasan Ghaznawi
recited an ode of which the following are the opening lines :—

A shout from the same seven heavens did come,
 Great Bahram Shah of the world is King!*’

He marched into Hindustan with his army and conquered
regions which his ancestors had never succeeded in acquiring.. He
left one of his nobles to govern his Eadian dominions, and returned
to Ghaznin. After a long time, that man showed his ingratitude,
and took the path of rebellion. Bahram Shah hearing of this, turned
his face towards Hindustan, in order to destroy the insurgent.
When he came to the vicinity of Multan the two armies engaged
in a dreadful conflict. The rebel got his deserts, and was seized and
slain, The kingdom of Hindustan came for a sécond time into the

1 The Y'ab-i-NA&s. gives a different account of his death, see p. 109
of the trans.
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possession of Bahram Shah. He left the world in the year 547 a:m.'
His reign extended over « period of thirty-five yvears.

XII. Kyusro SHAH BIN Bauram Suid BiN MAs‘Ob BIN IBRAHIM.

He became Sultan after his father. As ‘Alauddin Husen Ghiri
turned his attention towards Ghaznin, Khusro Shih fled to Hindu-
stan and established his rule in Lahore. When ‘Alauddin Husen
went back, Khusro Shih returned to (hazuin, but as the Ghax
marched to Ghaznin after scizing Sultan Sanjar, Khusro Shah being
unable to meet them in the field, again vetired to Lahor; and there
he died in the year 555 a.n. His* reign extended over a period of
eight years.

XIII. Kuusro MALIK BIN Kuusko SHAH.

After the death of his father, he ascended the throne at Lahore.
He possessed modesty and patience; but as he was much addicted
to pleasure and dissipation, great confusion found its way into the

kingdom.
When the king does not his subjects guard

As the shepherd guards his sheep,
Confusion, dire and miseries great
Into the kingdom creep.

When Sultain Mu‘izzuddin Muhammad Sam made Ghaznin his
capital, and advanced with his army into India and reached the
neighbourhood of Lahore, with an irresistible power, Khusro Malik
begged for protection, and in the year 583 A.H. surrendered himself
into his hands. The Sultan sent him to Ghaznin, where he was made
to drink the sharbat of death. The period of his rule was twenty-
eight years; and with him the power of the Ghaznawls came to an
end; and dominion passed away from this dynasty.

1 There is very great discrepancy as to the year of Bahram Sh&h’s death.
See note 5, p. 112, of Raverty’s translation of the Tab-i-N&s,,in which the
dates given in the different histories have been mentioned and discussed.

2 The account given above agrees generally with the history of the reign
of Khusro Sh&h, given in the Tazkirat-ul-Muluk, as quoted by Raverty, in
note 3, p. 112, of his translation of the Tabakat i-Nairi.
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SECTION L—THE SULTANS OF DEHLI
SurraN Mu‘1zzuppin MuramMmap SiAm GHURL

He has become celebrated as Shihabuddin.! He had a brother
named Shamsuddin, elder than him; who, after he became Sultan,
was called Ghiagsuddin, After Sultdn Ghidsuddin had become Sultan
of Ghur, and had conquered various countries, he left his younger
brother Mu‘izzuddin at Tiginabad, which is in the Garmsir country,
and when Sultan Mu‘izzuddin became ruler of Tiginabad, he
repeatedly sent his troops against Ghaznin? and raided and devas-
tated the country till the year 569 A H.; when Sultin Ghiasuddin
conquered it, and left his younger brother Mu‘izzuddin Muhammad
there.

In the year 570 a.u. Mu‘izzuddin arrived in Ghaznin as his
brother’s deputy ; and after a year, he marched his troops towards
Uchch and conquered Multan from the Schismatics known as the
Karamita, and took possession of it. The rulers of the Bhati ® tribe
shut themselves up in the fortress of Uchch; but after a few days’
fighting, it was taken ; and it and Multin were placed in the charge
of ‘Ali Karmaklh, and Mu‘izzuddin returned to Ghaznin.

In the year 574 a.u. he again came to Uchch and Multan ; and
thence marched towards Gujrat through the desert. Rai Bhim Deo,
who was the ruler of the country, gave him battle; and after a
severe struggle, the Sultan was defeated; and after much trouble,
he.returned to Ghaznin, and rested there for a short time.

Then in the year 575 A.H.% he advanced with his troops towards

I He was known as Shih@buddin before his brother succeeded to the
sovereignty of Ghur; after which his title was changed to Mu‘izzuddin. The
former title does not occur at all in t&e Taj-ul-Maasit or in the Tabakat-i-
Nagiri. (See noteo 4, p. 446, and noto 3, p. 448, of the Tab-i-Nay. trans.).

2 Ghaznin was at this time in the hands of the tribe known as the (thaz,
as it had already been for about twelve years, and it was them that Ghidsud -
din defeated. (See Tab-i-N&s. trans., p. 877, also note 4).

§ This tribe, the name of which has been variouely spelt, had previously
been possessed of a great part of Sind (see last para. of note 2, p. 449, of the
‘Jab-i-Nas. trans.). .

¢ There is much discrepancy as regards this date., Three authors make
it 575 A.H., two 576 A.H., but the majority of historians 577 a.H., while Bad&uni

makes it 580 A.iL : sce note I, p. 452, of the translation of the 7Jabalkat-i.
Nasiri.
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Peshawar, which is celebrated in the old books as Bikram or Bagram,
or Parsur or Furshur, and conquered the country around. The next
year he went to Lahore ; and Sultan Khusro Malik, who was a descen-
dant of Sultan Mahmud of Ghaznin, and at this time ruled in Lahore,
shut himself up in the fort. After some negotiations, Khusro Malik
sent his son with an elephant' as tribute, and Sultan Mu‘izzuddin
made peace with him and returned.

The next year he advanced to Diwal, which is another name for
Thathah,? with his army; and having brought the whole of the
country along the coast under his sway, and taking away much
booty, returned.

In the year 580 a.m. he again invaded the country of Lahore;
and Khusro Malik again shut himself up. Sultan Mu‘izzuddin
plundered the country round Lahore; and laid the foundation of
the fort of Sialkot,? hetween the rivers Ravi and Chenab, and after
appointing Husen Kharmil to be the warden of the fort. returned.
After this Khusro Malik with the help of the Khokhars* and other
tribes besieged the fort for a long time: but was unable to take it,
and had to retire.

In the year 582 A.H. Sultan Mu‘izzuddin again invaded Lahore.
Khusro Malik again shut himself up in the fort, and attempted to
defend himself for some days. Then at last, becoming convinced
of his weakness, he hastened to meet the Sultan, who took him with

I This elephant has heen described by some historians as a renowned one
and the finest that Khusro Malik possessed. :

! TIn the lith. ed. Diwal is called the bandar or port of Thathah. In MSS.
A and C Diwal is described as another name for Thathah, while MS, B does not
mention Thathah at all in connection with Diwdl. According to Major
Raverty it is not the same placc as Thathah; but is in the Thathah province
between Thathah and Karachi (see note 5, p. 293, and note 2, p. 452, of his
trans. of the 'ab-i-Nas.).

8 According to the Tabaldt-i-N&siri Mu‘izzuddin did not lay the founda
tion of the fort of fialkot; he only restored it. It was a very ancient fort
founded by one of the ancient Hindu rulers. but had become dilapidated and
Mutizzuddin had it restored. (T1ab-i-Nayg. traus., p. 453, also note 4, in the
3ame pago).

4 The Khokhar must not be confounded with the Gakhars or Khakhars
who are a totally distinct race (see last para. note 4, p. 453, of the }ab-i-Nag,
trans.).
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himself to Ghaznin and then sent him to his brother Ghiaguddin
at Firozkoh. The latter imprisoned him in one of the forts of
Gtharjistan, and he died there, while still under imprisonment.!
Sultin Mu‘izzuddin placed Lahore under the charge of ‘Ali Karmakh
who had previously been appointed to be the governor of Multan;
and went back to his capital.

In the year 587 a.H. he again invaded Hindustdn. Leaving
(zhaznin he came to the fort of Sarhind,? which was at that time
the capital of very powerful Rajahs, and conquered it ; and having
made it over to Ziauddin® Tukali (or according to others Tulaki),
and supplying him with a band of twelve hundred specially selected
troopers, and the necessary munitions of war, to guard it, was pre-
paring to depart, when he received information of the approach of
Pithora (Prithvi Raj), the Rai of Ajmir, and went forward to meet
him. Then at a place called Tarain ¢ on the bank of the Sarsuti, which
is at seven karchs from Thaneswar and is now known as Tarawari,”

1 This account agrees mainly with that given in the Tab i N&s. (soo
p. }15 of the translation), but it is said there that Khusro Malik was induced
to come out of the fort under the faith of a treaty. The fort in Gharjistan,
in which he was kept imprisoned, is there called DBalarw@n, This accouut
however differs considerably from that given by our author himself, in his
account of the rule of Khusro Malik.

£ The lith. ed. and all three MSS, read Sarhind; but acccording to Major
Raverty all the copies of the Tabakat-i-Nasiri which he collatod and all the
older historians read Tabarhindah or Tabarhindh (see Tab-i-N&s. trang., p. 467,
and algo note 3 in the same page).

8 The lith, ed. reads Ziduddin Tukal but the MSS. read Ziguddin Tukal
(or according to others Tulaki). His correct name according to the J'ab-i-N&s.
trans., p. 458, appeurs to have been Malik Ziya (or Zia) uddin the Kazi
Muhammad-i-Abdus Sallam Nisawi Tulakj, Major Raverty has explained in
note 4 in the same page that he or his family came originally from Nis& and he
was Kazi of Tulak.

4 The name of the place is clearly written Tardin in MS. A. In MS, C
it may be Taradin or Nardin, but in the lith. ed. and in MS., B it is clearly
Nardin. The correct name is Tar@in. The mistake has originated, according
to Major Raverty, with the translators of Ferishta (see note, p. 459, of the
trans. of the Tab-i-N&s.). .

6 This name appears as Tar@wari in the lith. ed., and in all the three
MS8. Major Raverty has identified it with Talawari, which he found mentioned
in the account of a pergonal survey, made by one Mirza Moghal Beg of theso
parts, aboi}KSO years before the time (1881) when he wrote his translation.
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and is situated at a distance of forty karohs from Dehli, there was
a great battle, and the army of Islim was vanquished. The Sultan
showed great bravery in the battle, and wounded with his lance, in
the mouth, Khandi' Rai, the brother of Pithora, who was the ruler
of Dehli, and who mounted on an elephant was leading his troops ;
and he, in return, struck the Sultdn on the arm with his lance and
wounded him. The Sultin was about to fall down from his horse,
when a young Khalj foot-soldier, seeing his condition, mounted
behind him on his horse, and supporting him in his arms, brought
him out of the battlefield; and the tumult which had commenced
among the soldiers owing to the disappearance of the Sultan subsided.
Then, when the Sultan retired to (yhaznin, Rai Pithora marched to
the fort of Sarhind (Tabarhinda) which was held by Ziauddin
Tukali, and besieged it for a vear and a month, and at last took it
after negotiations. fn the year 588 a.H. Sultan Mu‘zzuddin again
returned to India, and in the very same place of Tarain, where a
battle had formerly taken place, he again met Pithora; and there
wag another great battle. The Sultan divided his army into four
sections, and making a series of attacks, at last vanquished the foe.
Pithora was taken prisoner and was slain, and Khandi Rai (Gobind
Rai) was killed in the battle. The Sultin then conquered the forts
of Sarsuti? and Hénsi; and plundered and ravaged Ajmir, which
was the captial of Pithora; and leaving Malik Kutubuddin Aibak,
who was a favourite slave of his, in the town of Kuhrim, which
was seventy karohs from Dehli, and after plundering and devastating
the country near the Sivalik hills, which are in the Northern side of
India, returned to Ghaznin.

The same year Malik Kutbuddin Aibak conquered the forts of

e

Tardwari can be easily changed to Talawari (see note 7, p. 459, of the Tab-i-
Nig. trans.).

1 The nare is go given in the lith. ed. In the three MSS. it is Khandah
Rdai, Khanda Rii and Khand R&i. . The oldest copies of the 1'ab-i-Nas. call
him Gobind or Gobindah. More modern copies and later historians Khanda
or Khandi. The Hindu bard, Chand, calls him Rai Gobind, which appears to
have been the correct name. (See note 9, p. 459, of the Tab-i-N&s. trans.).

2 This was a city on the bank of the ancient Saraswati. Tbn Batuta calls
Sarsuti a great city. In Akbar’s time Sarsuti was one of the mahilsof Sarkar
Sambhal. »
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Dehli and Mirat and took them from the kinsmen of Pithora and
Khindi Rai. In the year 589 A.n. he seized the fort of Kol and
made Dehli his capital, and took up his residence there. He then
completely subjugated the country round about Dehli. From this
date Dehli bocame the capital of the Sultins. The same year Sultan
Mu‘izzuddin again left Ghaznin for the invasion of India, and
advanced towards Kannouj; and Rai Jai Chand, the ruler of that
city, who had more than three hundred elephants, advanced against
him and gave him battle in the neighbourhood of Chandwar! and
Itawah; but was defeated and his elephants and troops fell into the
Sultan’s hand. The Sultan then went back crowned with triumph
and victory to Ghaznin and carried away much booty, leaving
Malik Kutbuddin in Dehli. The latter took the forts of Thankir,?
Gwalior and Bada-iin, and advancing with his army to Nahr-
walah in Gujrat, inflicted a defeat on Rai Bhim Deo, the ruler of
that country, in revenge of the defeat he had inflicted on the Sultan ;
and obtained much plunder. Sultan Mu‘izzuddin was on the frontier
of Tis® and Sarakhs, when he received intelligence of the death of
his elder brother Ghidsuddin, who bore the title of Badshah (King),
and he came to Badgheis; and after the mourning rites, divided his
brother’s dominions among the descendants of Sam, in this way,
that he conferred the throne of Firozkoh and Ghur on Malik
Ziauddin the son of his uncle, who was also the son-in-law of Sultan
Ghiasuddin ; and Bast, and Farah and Isfarain on Sultan Mahmud
the son of Sultan Ghiasuddin ; and confirmed the possession and rule
of Hirat and its dependencies with Nasiruddin Ghazi, who was the
nephew (sister’s son) of Sultan Ghiasuddin. He then came to
zhagnin from Badgheis. -~ '

Then with a great army he advanced into Khwarizm for the
conquest of that country and the King of Khwarizm fell back dis-

! This place has not been identified. Major Raverty says that the only
place having a similar name is Chandpur or Chandanpur, in the district of Far-
rukh@béd, on the route from Bareili to Fatebgarh, las. 27°27/, long. 74°42".

2 There is considerable discrepancy among historians as to the date of tho
taking of Thankir (the Modern Bidnah), and as to who took it. See note 3,
p- 470, of the J'ab-i-Nag. trans.

8 He went there to relieve Hirat which bad been besieged by the army of
Sultan Muhammad Shah of Khwarizm.
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comfited. When the Sultan reached Khwarizm, and fighting went
on for some days, the troops of Khwarizm fought on the bank of
the aqueduct which had been dug from the Jeihidin to the east of
Khwarizm, and some of the nobles of Ghur fell in the fight. As the
Sultan was unable to conquer Khwarizm he began to retire towards
Balkh along the Jeihin, and the armies of Khitda and the Turkman
Maliks, who had come to the aid of Sultdn Muhammad Khwarizm
Shah, came to the bank of the Jeihiin and obstructed the passage of
Sultan Mu‘izzuddin. When the latter reached Andkhud there was
a very severe-fight, and the Sultan fought with great prowess and
courage, with the hundred mounted men he had with him, and
made great exertions; but as he had no power left to withstand
the enemy, he shut himself up in the fort of Andkhud; and then
after negotiations, he evacuated it, and obtaining a safe conduct
returned to GGhaznin.

At this time, a band of Khokhars had revolted in the neigh-
bourhood of Lahore, and the Sultan marched against them ; and
Kutbuddin Aibak also marched from Dehli to attend on him. After
chastising the Khokhars he returned towards Ghaznin; and when he
was returning, in a place called Damyak, which is one of the depen-
dencies of Ghaznin, he became a martyr at the hand of certain
K hokhar Fida‘is.! This quatrain has been written to commemorate
the date of the occurrence :—

1 According to the 7'ab-i-Nag. the Sultan was killed by a disciple of the
Mulahidah sect, and as he had undertaken an expedition against them only two
or three years before, it is by no means unlikely that they were the assassins.
The Jami-ut-tawarikh like the Tab-i-Akb. says that the assassins were Kho-
kharg, but almost immediately afterwards contradicts the statement. The
Hindus give a different account, which has been reproduced by Abul Fazl and
by a certain history of Jamun or Jammu referred to by Major Raverty.
According to their account, the Sultan was killed by an arrow which was shot
by Ré&i Pithor& who was still a prisoner. Chanda or Chand& the court poet
and eulogist of Pithora induced the Sultan, after exciting his curiosity about
Pithoras’ skill in archery, to order that the latter should be brought out of
prison to show his skill. Instead of aiming at the mark, he transfixed the
Sultan who died on the spot, and Rii Pithora& and Chanda were cut down
there and then by the Bultan’s attendants. According to the history of
Jammu, Rai Pithord had been previously blinded, but in spite of this he was
guided by the sound of the Sultan’s voice, and the indications of Chanda, and
succeeded in transfixing the Sultan. See Tab-i-N#s, trans., p. 485, note 3.
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1The Martyrdom of the sovereign of sea and land, Mu’izzuddin,
From the beginning of the world, the like of whom no
monarch arose;
On the third of the month of Sha‘ban in the year six hundred
and two,
Happened on the road to (ihaznin, at the halting place of
Damyak.

The period of his reign from the beginning of his rule in Ghaz-
nin to the end of his life was thirty-two years and a few months.
He left no heir behind him except one daughter. They say that he
left much treasure in the shape of gold and silver and gems, including
five hundred maunds of diamonds of the most precious kind; and
the quantity of other treasures and valuables may be estimated
from this. He invaded India nine times; was defeated twice; and
was victorious on the other occasions. He was a wise, God-fearing
King, who was merciful to the people. He held learned and pious
men in honour and rendered services to them.

SuLTAN KUTBUDDIN AIBAK.

He was a slave of Sultan Mu’izzuddin. In the beginning when
he was brought from Turkistan, Kazi Fakhruddin *Abdul ’Aziz
Kufi who was a descendant of Imam Abu Hanifa Kufi bought him,
and he read the Kuran with the Kazi’s sons, and acquired the polite
arts. After that a merchant purchased him at a high price, and took
him to Sultan Mu’izzuddin at Ghaznin ag a specially choice article.
The Sultan bought him from that merchant for a large price. As
his little finger was broken, he was called Aibak. He rendered service
to the Sultan with discretion and Toyalty; so that in a short time he
received great distinction. It has been related that one night the
Sultan held a great assembly to which he invited those who were
nearly and intimately connected with him. In that assembly he gave
large rewards to all his adherents and companions. He specially

1 The translation of the quatrain is Major Raverty’s. Some historians
make the Ist Sha‘ban the date of the assassination. The situation of Damyak
is variously given. Some say it was a little west of the Jhilam; some on the
Nilab, and others that it was a village beyond the Indus on the route to
Ghaznin, See note 5, p. 486, 1'ab-i-Nag. trans.
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distinguished Malik Kutbuddin with liberal rewards and largesses.
When the assembly broke up Malik Kutbuddin bestowed all that he
had received, in the shape of rewards, to those who spread the carpets
and arranged the furniture, and to other menials. The next morning
when the Sultan heard this, he was greatly pleased and rewarded
Kutbuddin; and raised him to the rank of an Amir; and honoured
him by assigning to him the duties of personally attending before
the throne; and his affairs continually became more and more
flourishing.

At the time when the Sultans of Ghur and (Ghaznin and Bamian
advanced with their armies towards Khurasan in order to conquer
Sultan Shah of Khwarizm ' they took Malik Kutbuddin Aibak with
them; and he met the troops of Sultan Shah near Merv, i.e. near the
Murghab river, and although he fought with great bravery and
prowess, he was, owing to the paucity of his followers, defeated and
taken prisoner; and was taken before Sultan Shah who ordered him
to be imprisoned. When afterwards a battle took place between the
armies of Ghur and Khwirizm, and the latter was routed, the
servants of Sultan Mu’izzuddin placed Kutbuddin, bound as he was
to a board with iron chains, on a camel and took him to the Sultan.
The latter showed him great courtesy, and conferred robes of
honour and other rewards on him.

Afterwards when the Sultan returned from India to Ghaznin, he
left him at Kuhram, as his Deputy, and the feats which he performed
during the Sultan’s lifetime have already been described. After the
martyrdom of Sultan Mu’izzuddin, Sultan Ghidsuddin Mahmid son
of Sultan Ghidsuddin Muhammad sent, for Malik Kutbuddin, a canopy
and the insignia of royalty from Firozkoh, and conferred on him the
title of Sultan, The new Sultan came to Lahore from Dehli in the
year 602 a.H., and on Tuesday the 18th of Zika’da of the same year
he sat on the throne, and unlocking the doors of generosity and
benevolence conferred great gxfts and la.rgesses so that he made

! The meaning of the passage is not clear. The hthogra.phed edition has
Malik Kutbuddin Aibak Turk burdah. MS. A has Malik Kutbuddin ra burdah
budand, where the nominative would be Sultans; i.e. the three Sultans of
Ghur, Ghaznin and Bamian. MS. B has Malik Kutbuddin ra mardan Yezk
burdah budand, where Yezk appears to be a mistake for Turk; MS.C has (fx,
399 835 ) oSy yo)i oabii which though legible cannot be made sense of.
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gifts of lakhs, and bestowed on deserving persons more than they
could ever conceive; and on this subject Bahauddin Ushi, who was
one of the learned men of the age, wrote the following couplet : —

! Truly the bestowal of lacs, thou in the world didst bring;
Thy hand brought the mine’s affairs to a desperate state.

The blood filled mine’s heart, through envy of thy hand,
Therefore produced the ruby as a pretext (within it).

People called him Kutbuddin lak-bakhsh (the giver of laks);
and up to this day the people of Hindustan, when they praise any-
body for his liberality and benevolence, call him Kutbuddin Kal or
the Kutbuddin of the age (Kal ® with the Arabic kiaf maftuh and lam
maksur meaning time).

After * a time (hostilities arose) between Kutbuddin and Taj-
Uddin Yelduz, who was also one of the Mua’izzi1 slaves, and who (after
the death of Sultan Mu’izzuddin) had become the ruler of Ghaznin
and had assumed the title of badshah, and the latter marched against
Lahore with a hostile intent, and he and Kutbuddin attempted to
destroy one another, and the fire of warfare was kindled. After
much fighting and bloodshed Tajuddin was routed and went away
to Karman, and Sultan Kutbuddin proceeded to (ithaznin and

- - - i - -

1 The translation is Major Raverty’s, see p. 572, Tab 1-Nas. trans. The
mine of ruby is likened to the hearts of other sovereigns which are filled with
blood (i.e. bleed) owing to their jealousy of Kutbuddin’s liberality, which
they could never emulate.

2 It is needless almost to say, that I\al and not Kal means time. The 1&8m
Maksur would make the word Keali, which would not mean time.

8 This sentence is evidently somewhat multilated, Neither in the litho
graphed edition nor in the MSS. are“there any words corresponding with
‘“ hostilities arose...... '’ Then the latter part of the sentence, as given in the
lithographed edition, is meaningless. MSS. A and B read bar Sar-i-Lahor
mukhasimat raft, while MS. C reads bar Sar-i-Lahor ba Mukhasimat raft.
This last is the most correct version. It may be explained that Tajuddin had
found it necessary to retire to the Panjab, which he chose to consider was & por_
tion of his dominions, on Sultan Muhammad Khwarizm Shah having taken pos-
session of Ghaznin. He reached Lshore, defeated Nasiruddin Kab&jah, and
took possession of the Punjab. Kutbuddin then marched into the Punjab and
defeated Yelduz, who retired to Karman. Kutbuddin then marched to Ghaznin

and drove out the governor appointed by Jalaluddm, the son of Sultan
Mubammad of Khwarizm.
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‘remained there for forty days, spending ! the time in amusements
and dissipation. As he was constantly taken up with debauchery
and drunkenness and totally neglected all affairs of state, the people
of Ghaznin sent an emissary in secret to Sultan Tdjuddin and
summoned him, and as thelatter arrived suddenly, Sultan Kutbuddin'
was taken utterly by surprise and could not encounter him. He had
therefore to leave GGhaznin, and retire by the route of Sang Surakh
to Lahore. Couplet :—

When the Sultan loses his head with wine
His crown falls off unheeded from his head.

In the year 607 a.H. he fell with his horse while playing Chougan.
and the front part of his saddle struck him on the chest and he died.
The period of his rule from the date of the conquest of Dehli to the
end of his life was twenty years, out of which he ruled independently
for four years.

As seven of the slaves and noblemen of Sultan Shihabuddin
{Mu’izzuddin Muhammad) Sim reached the dignity of independent
rule, it appears proper that an account of them should be given here.

Surtan TasuppiN YELDUZ

He was a great and benevolent king and possessed laudable quali-
ties and a handsome appearance. He was bought in his youth by
Sultan Mu’izzuddin, who distinguished him by assigning to him duties
near his own person, and raised him to high rank. He showed him
special kindness and favour among all his slaves. When he was made
an Amir, Karman? and Shankuran were conferred on him as fiefs.

1 The above is a more truthful record of Kutbuddin’s proceedings during
his forty days' rule in Ghaznin than what is given in the Tabakat-i-Nasiri,
according to which he bestowed upon God’s people abundant benefactions
and innumerable favours; and returned again to Hindustan (see Tab-i-Nas.
trans., p. 527).

2 For a complete description of the tract see note ‘7, p. 498, of Raverty’s
translation of the Tab i-N&s. It appears that it consisted of several darahs or
long valleys with hills on both sides and rivers running along the bottoms.
The valleys are the Kurma or Kurram Darah which forms the upper portion of
this tract, with snaller Darahs on either side, riinning in nearly transverse
directions; the principal of these being the Sankuran now called the Shaluzan,
Karm#n, Zerdn, Iriab (vulg. Harridb)and the Paiwar. The lower portion of
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Whenever the Sultan in the course of his expeditions into India
passed through Karman, Malik Tajuddin feasted all the nobles, and
made presents to them of one thousand robes and one thousand
caps, and he conferred gifts on every individual of the Sultan’s
retinue in accordance with his condition. He had two daughters,
and under the orders of the Sultan, one of these was married to
Sultan Kutbuddin Aibak, and the other to Malik Nasiruddin Kabajah
Malik Tajuddin had two sons. He made one of them over to a
tutor. The latter, in order to chastise the boy, took up an earthen
water flask and struck him on the head with it. As the boy was
predestined to die then, he died of the effect of that blow. When
Malik Tajuddin heard of this, he gave the tutor some money to pay
his expenses of travel and sent him away; telling him that he should
quickly get out of the way, and undertake a journey to some distant
place before the mother of the boy came to know of the mishap.
This anecdote furnishes clear evidence of his good nature.

When in the latter part of his reign, Sultan Mu’izzuddin came
to Karman, he distinguished Malik Tajuddin Yelduz with a special
dress of honour and conferred on him a black banner, and it was in
his mind that after his death, Tajuddin Yelduz should succeed to the
throne of Ghaznin. When the Sultan died, the Turkish Amirs and
Maliks wanted to summon Sultan Ghiasuddin Mahmud bin Muham-
mad Sam from the Garmsir country ; and place him on the throne of
his uncle. This they embodied in a memorial, which they sent to
Sultan Ghiasuddin Mahmid. The latter wrote in reply that he
preferred the throne of his father, i.e. the kingdom of Firozkoh and
the Ghur country ; and he sent a robe of honour to Sultan Tajuddin,
and a letter of manumission; andynade the throne of (1haznin over
to him.

In compliance with this mandate, Malik Tajuddin came to Ghaz-
nin, and sat on the throne, and brought the territories appertaining
to it into his possession; and once afterwards he was driven out of
Ghaznin, but he re-established himself there. He also fought with
Sultan Kutbuddin Aibak in the Punjab and was defeated by him,

the tract comprises Banu and Marwat. This tract must in ancient times
have been exceedingly populous and flourishing, to judge from the remains of
several cities atill to be seen in it, and is still very fruitful.
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and Ghaznin came into the possession of Sultan Kutbuddin; but he
again recovered possession of it as has been already mentioned.
Then on one occasion he sent troops to Hirat to aid Sultan Ghia-
suddin [Mahmud] and defeated the Malik ! of Hirat. Izzuddin
Hussen Kharmil. On another occasion, he marched with his army
towards Sistan * and besieged that city, and returned after concluding
a treaty with Malik Taj Harab. At the time of his return he engaged
in hostilities with Malik Nasiruddin Husen,® the chief huntsman (of
the late Sultan), and was defeated in the battle which took place
between them. Then* after some time he advanced with his troops
into Hindustan, and after a battle with Sultan Shamsuddin in the
neighbourhood of Tariiin was taken prisoner. He ruled for a period
of nine years.

SuLTAN NASIRUDDIN KABAJAH.

He was one of the slaves of Sultan Mu’izzudin and became a
raler of consummate intelligence, discretion and penetration. He had
served the Sultan in all ranks, and had acquired a perfect knowledge
both in military and political affairs. In the war between Sultan
Mu’izuddin and the army of Khita, Malik Nasiruddin Aitmar, who
was the feudatory of Uchch, was martyred, and Malik Nasiruddin

1'1zzuddin Husen had conspired with Sultan Muhammad Khwarizm Shah
and had gone over to him. When the combined forces of Ghur and Gthazniu
came he fled.

2 This matter is mentioned thus in the Tab-i-N&s.: *‘on another occasion
Sultan Tdjuddin Yelduz led an army towards Sijistan and remained absent on
that expedition for a considerable time, and advanced as far as the gates of the
city of Sistdn. At length peace was concluded hetween him and Malik
Tajudin-i-Harab, who was the King of Sijistan.”> Major Raverty says in a note
that no historian mentions any reason tor Yelduz’s marching against Sistan, and
gives any details respecting this affair. Then he hazardsa surmise that it might
have been caused by the ruler of Sijistdn proposing to acknowledge the
Suzerainty of Sultan Muhammad Khwarizm Shah.

3 According to tho Tabalkat-i-Nasiri Malik Nasirauddin Husen, the Amir-i-
Shikar, showed disaffection towards Tajuddin Yeldur, and engagements took
place between them. Malik Nasiruddin was overthrown and retired towards
Khwarizm.

¢ It appears from the Tabakat-i-Nasirl that he was sent as a prisoner
to Badé-iin, and there he was slain, and there his mausoleum is situated, and
has become & place of pilgrimage and is visited by suppliants.



48 SULTAN BAHAUDDIN TUGHRAL.

Kaba@jah was stationed at Uchch in his place. He was the son-in-law
of Sultan Kutbuddin, having married two of his daughters. After the
death of Sultan Kutbuddin, he brought Uchch and Multan, and all
the cities and fortresses and country of Sind and Tabarhindah and
Kuhram, as far as the Sarsuti, into his possession; and he obtained
possession of Lahore several times. Once he fought a battle with
Sultan Tajuddin Yelduz who came from Ghaznin; and once he was
defeated in a battle with Khwajah Mu’idul Mulk Sanjari who was
the Vazir of the Kingdom of Ghaznin. When he finally became the
ruler of Sind, many of the great men of Khurasan and Ghur and
Ghaznin, after being overthrown by Chengiz Khan, entered his
service; and he conferred favours and gifts on every one of them.

In the year 621 a.H. the Mughals came and besieged the city of
Multan for forty days. Sultan Nasiruddin opened the doors of his
treasury at this time and fostered and cherished the people with re-
wards and favour:, and displayed great prowess and bravery. A
year and six months after this, the Khalj! and the Khwarizm armies
conquered Siwistan, which is also known as Shahsawan. Malik
Nasiruddin advanced to drive them out and there was a great battle,
and in the end the forces of his enemies were routed, and the Khan of
the Khalj was slain. Sultan Nasiruddin then returned to Uchch and
Multan. The remainder of his history has been given in the history
of Sultan Shamsuddin. The period of his rule was twenty-two years.

SuLTAN BanAuppIN TUGHRAL.

He was one of the bondsmen and afterwards one of the renowned
nobles of Sultan Mu’izzuddin Muhammad Sam. He had many
praiseworthy qualities and charming moral "attributes. ~When
Sultan Mu’izzuddin Muhammad Sam conquered the fort of Thankir,*
and placed it in charge of Malik Bahauddin Tughral, the latter

| See Tab-i-Nas. trans., p. 539, where it is said that it was a body of this
tribe of Khaljand a portion of the army of Khwarizm that overran the district
of Mansurah in Siwistan. *

1 The lithographed edition and MSS. A and B read Bhakar but from the
context this cannot be correct. MS. C is correct and reads Thankir. There is
& great deal of confusion about the date and the circumstances gonnected with
the conquest of this fort. See Tab-i-N&s. trans., p, 545, and note 5.
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built a fort! in the country of Bianah and took up his residence there,
and he constantly rode towards Gwaliar and raided the neighbour-
hood of that place. Sultan Mu’izzudin Muhammad Sam at the
time when he was returning from Gwaliar told Tughral, that if the
fort should be conquered, it would be conferred on him. So the
latter built a strong fort within two leagues of Gwaliar and taking
up his residence in it with his troops, he constantly ravaged the
surrounding country. When a year passed in this way, and the
garrison of Gwaliar was reduced to great distress, they sent envoys
to Sultan Kutbuddin Aibak with presents and offerings; and surren-
dered the fort to him. This became a cause of hostility between
Sultan Kutbuddin Aibak and Malik Bahauddin Tughral. In a short
time (after this, the latter) died.

DESCRIPTION OF THE RULE OF IKHTIYARUDDIN MUHAMMAD
BakaTIVAR KHILII.

He was one of the great men of the country of Ghur and Garm-
sir. He was largely endowed with liberality and bravery and wisdom.
In the time of Suitan Mu’izzuddin Muhamad Sam, he came to
(haznin, Thence he came to India and joined the service of
Malik Mu’azzam Husamuddin Aghulbak who held in fief some per-
ganas in the Doab and beyond the Ganges. After he had repeatedly
shown signs of courage and prowess the fiefs of Kampilah? and Patiali

| Which he named Sultan kot. Tab-i-Nas. traus., p. 545.

? These names are given as in the text, or slightly differently, in the litho-
graphed edition as well as in the three MSS. Major Raverty has however
found that they were written as Bhagwat or Bhugwat and Bhiuli or Bhiwali in
the oldest copies of the Tab-i-Nas.; and he has also found that two perganas
still bear these names between the Ganges and the Karmanasa, to the east-
ward of and adjoining Chunargarh, and he is therefore of opinion that these
were their correct names. He finds a corroboration of the idea that the fiefs
were situated in that part of India from the fact that places bearing the names
given by others to the fiefs, which in their modern anglicized form are Pateetah
and Kuntil (or Kuntila), are situated not far from Perganas Bhagwat and
Bhioli. Some later writers (the author of the Tab-i-Akb. among them) have
given the fiefs the name of Patiali and Kampila, but these places are more
than three degrees west and the same distance north of the places mentioned in
the oldest copies of the Tab-i-Nés., and from the place where the fiefs appear
to have been actually situated, to enable their being made the base of
Tkhtiy&ruddin’s raid’s into Behar.
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were conferred on him; and he was very active and bold in mak-
ing raids and in otherwise exerting himself. He constantly marched
towards Behar and Muner,! and raided that tract and acquired much
booty. When Sultan Kutbuddin heard of his deeds of boldness and
intrepidity, he sent an imperial robe of honour and standard for him ;
and Malik Ikhtiyaruddin, having with the help, and favour, and
encouragement of the Sultan, conquered the fort of Behar, plundered
and ravaged the whole of that country, and acquired much booty.
He made the inhabitants of the country who were all old and ascetic
Brahmans, and had their heads shaven, food for his merciless sword.
In the language of Hindustan, a college is called a Behar,* and as
this province had formerly been a mine of learning, it had got the
name of Behar.

After this, when Ikhtiyaruddin joined the service of Saltan
Kutbuddin, he received many benefactions and favours from him,
8o much so, that he became the subject of the envy of the other
nobles ; and the latter, who could not endure to see so many favours
showered on him, uttered words in the Sultan’s presence, expressive
of their contempt and hatred of him. It happened one day that
Sultan Kutbuddin held a court in the white castle and received the
great nobles. A must * (rampant) clephant was brought there, and
the people said that there was not another elephant in the whole of
India that could stand in front of it, and could withstand a shock
from it. The Sultan made a sign to Muhammad Bakhtiyar to fight
with that elephant, when the latter struck such a blow with the mace,
which he had in his hand, on its trunk, that it at once turned round
and fled discomfited. The Sultan on seeing this was struck with
amazement ; and he conferred many rewards and favour on Ikhti-
yaruddin, and entrusted the rule f the country of Lakhnauti to him,
and nominated him for the duty of conquering it. As he had already
conquered the fort of Behar, the fame of his bravery and prowess
had reached the people of Lakhnauti. All the Brihmans and astro-

L A very old place, at the confluence of the Sone with the Ganges, on the
right bank of the former.

2 Banskrit vih&ra a monastery.

8 The different versions of this anecdote have been given in the Tab-i-Na,
trans., p. 564, and in note .5, g. 558.
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logers went to Lakhmania'son of Rai Lakhman, whose capital was
at Nudiar, and whom all the Rais of Hindustan considered to be their
leader * and guide, and held in great honour and reverence; and
explained to him that it was noted in their ancient books, that the
country would come into the possession of the Turks, i.e. the Musal-
mans, and that the prophecy was about to be fulfilled, as the Turks
had taken possession of Behar, and the next year they would take
the whole of his kingdom into their possession. Lakhmania asked,
whether any particular sign, by which the man who would conquer
the realm could be identified, was noted in their astrological books ?
They answered, ‘ Yes, when the man should stand upright on his two
feet, and stretch his arms downwards, the tips of his fingers would
reach beyond his knee caps.” Rai Lakhmania sent men to ascertain
whether these indications were to be found in the commander of the
Turks. When it was known that these indications were correct, all
the Brahmans and astrologers left the country, and went away to
the courts of Kamrud and Jagarnath. Rai Lakhmania did not
consider it advisable to leave his kingdom. The next year Malik
Muhammad Bakhtiyar started from Behar, and with a small force
reached the city of Nudiar by successive rapid marches. Lakhmania
in great confusion embarked in a boat and escaped ; and all his
treasure and the paraphernalia of state, which were beyond the
bounds of all account and calculation, fell into Muhammad Bakhti-
yar’shands. The latter devastated the city of Nudiar, and in place
of it, founded another city, which has become Lakhnauti; and made
it his capital, and today that city is in ruins and is known as Gour.
In short, Muhammad Bakhtiyar assumed the canopy, and had
prayers read, and coin struck in his own name ; and founded mosques
and Khankahs® and colleges, in the place of the temples of the
heathen; and he sent many precious articles for the acceptance of
Sultan Kutbuddin Alba.k out of the booty wluch he had acqulred

1 The name is given in the llthographed edltlon as Lakhmanesh and in
the MSS. as Lakhmania, Lakhmani sah and Lakhmah.

2 It has been suggested that he was their spiritual guide, because he
evidently did not possess such power as to entitle him to be described as lord
paramount. There is no reason however to hold that he was specially honoured
as the spiritual guide or head of all the rulers of India. Probably he was held
in great honour on account of his age and character.

8 Asylums for darwashes or religious mendicants.
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After the lapse of a further period, when his power and gran-
deur had reached a stage of perfection, the determination to conquer
Tibbat and Turkistan, found a way into his mind, and he advanced
towards those countries with twelve thousand well armed and well
equipped mounted troops, taking Amir ! ’Ali Mej, who had been
converted by him to Islam, as his guide. He reached a city which
bore the name of Bardhan;? and in front of that city there was a
river, which in depth and width was four times the size of the
Ganges, and the name of that river was the Begmati.® They say
that when Shah Karshasp returned from the country of Turkistan,
towards Hindustan, by way of Bardhan, he erected a bridge over this
river, and passed over it and came towards Kamrud. In short, when
Malik Muhammad Bakhtiyar reached the head of that bridge, he left
two of his trustworthy companions there, in order to guard it, while
he himself crossed over and entered the country of Tibbat. Then he
traversed high and impassable mountain ranges for ten days; ¢ and

1 The lithographed edition calls him Amir ’Ali Sheikh; the MSS. are not
very distinet, but I think they read Mej. To this day a portion of the Mongol
aborigines in the N. and N. E. of Bengal are called by the name of Mech or Mej
(see note 4, p. 560, Tab-i-Nas. trans.).

2 The name of the city according to the Tabakat-i-Nagiri (p. 561 of the
trans.) was Bardhan Kot.

3 The lithographed edition and two of the MSS. say that the name of the
city }‘,:. is Tamkadi or Namkadi or something like that. MS. C is correct
so far as it substitutes the word )‘,3 for J?‘:’» but it calls the Nahr, Nenkadi.
Major Raverty (see note 1, p. 561 of his trans. of the Tab-i Nasg.)says that the
name of the river is given in the best and oldest copies of the Tabakat-i-Nasiri
as Begmati, but some others, the next best copies, have Beghati, Bakmati or
Bagmati, and others have Bangmati, Magmandi and'Nangmati or Nagmati.
Bagmati, as he says, is not an uncommon name for a river, and is applied to
more than one. The river of Nepal which lower down is called the Grandhak
(sic) is called Bagmati The men who copied the Tab-i-Akbari have gone
further astray than those who copied the Tab-i-N&s.

4 The Tab-i-N&s. makes the march a much longer one. According to it, the
army marched for ten days up the river among the mountains, and then crossed
it by a bridge of hewn stones, which had been built jn remote times and con.
sisted of upwards of twenty arches. After passing over the bridge, the army
marched for a period of fifteen days through defiles and passes, ascending and
descending among lofty mountains. On the sixteenth day the open country of
Tibbat was reached. It was here that the fort of great strength was situated.
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then reached a place where there was a lofty fort extremely strongly
built and almost impregnable. The garrison came out to give battle,
and the battle and slaughter went on to the end of the day, and
many of Muhammad Bakhtiyar’s soldiers were killed or wounded.
When night came on, he encamped round the fort and remained
there. He then made ! enquiries about the country and its peculiari-
ties, and it became certain that five leagues from this place, there
was a city called Karamsen * where there were fifty thousand blood-
thirsty Turkish spearmen.? As the army of Islam was worn out
with fatigue after its long journey, and did not have the strength to
encounter and overcome such a force on hearing this news, Bakhti-
yar left the place, and returned to the head of the bridge of Bardhan.

He found that two of the arches of the bridge were, owing to
the dissensions between the two Amirs, left in charge of it, broken.*
He was thunderstruck, and determined that the army should fortify
itself in some strong place, till boats could be built, and all the
other preparations made for crossing the river. The scouts brought
the information that there was a temple in the neighbourhood, which
was very strong and lofty Mahk Muhammad Bakhtiyar thh all his

1 The Tab 1~NEs says thnt thoa mfoxmatlon was obtamed from such of the
garrison as were taken prisoners.

2The name of the city is clearly Karamsen in the lithographed edition
and in MSS. B and C. It is Karaman in MS. A. Major Raverty says that the
oldest cop;ies of the Tab-i-N&s. have Karbattan, Karpattan, or Kararbattan, or
Kararpattan; other copies have Karampattan. The Zubdat-ut-tawarikh has
Karshin or Karantan. Other works have Karam Sin. He hazards a surmise,
that the place may be identical with Dharampattan, which was the ancient
name of Bhatighun, the Benares of the Gurkha dominions, which was once a
large place, or with Lalitapattan which was in ancient times the seat of an
independent ruler; and lies near the Bagmadi river; but both these places are
too far south and west to be the city here indicated.

8 The lithographed edition and two of the MSS. have spearmen, MS. A
has archers.

4 The meaning of course is that the  Amirs had quarrelled, and had not
guarded the bridge; and the people of the country had broken down two of
the arches. The Tab-i-Nés. says that the Amirs had, owing to their disputes,
neglected to secure the bridge, and to protect the road, and the Hindus of tho
Kamrud country had come and destroyed the bridge. The Zubdat-ut tawarikh
says that the two Amirs, to spite each other, abandoned guarding the bridge,
and each went his own way; Badduni says they first fought, and afterwards
abandoned the bridge.
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noblemen went into it and fortified themselves. At this time the
Rai! of Kamrud came to know that Muhammad Bakhtiyar had
taken shelter in the temple, in a state of great distress and misery.
He issued orders throughout his dominions, and the people came in
great crowds and planted® spiked bamboos into the ground, all
round the temple, and wove them together; and placed them up-
right on the wall of the temple. When Malik Muhammad Bakhtiyar
saw himself caught in this snare of danger, he came out of the
temple and encamped on the bank of the Bagmati; and occupied him-
self with preparations for crossing the river. Suddenly a horseman
waded into the water to the distance of the flight of an arrow; and
the soldiers thought that the river could be forded. They all at once
struck into the water; but as it was not fordable beyond the point
to which the horseman had waded, many were drowned. May the
mercy of God be upon them! After many of the soldiers had been
drowned, Malik Muhammad Bakhtiyar crossed the river, with a few,
with great difficulty and arrived at Deukot.?

Bakhtiyar fell ill on account of the great grief and anxiety
which oppressed his mind. He said to his adherents,  Perhaps
some great calamity has overtaken Sultan Mu‘izzuddin Muham-
mad Sam, that I have fallen on evil days and fortune has left me
stranded.”” It so happened that in these very days Sultin Mu‘iz.
zuddin attained to martyrdom. Malik Muhammad Bakhtiyar died
of this same malady, and journeyed to the abode permanent 1t is
said that one of his great nobles, whose name was ‘Ali Mardan, came
to Deukot from his fief of Barsoli,* when he heard of the catastrophe

L This is the first mention of the Rai of Kéamrud (Kamrup) in the Tab-i
Akb., but according to the Tab-i-Nas. hé sent men to Muhammad Bakhtiyar,
when the latter crossed the river, on his way to 1ibbat, and tried to dissuade
him from undertaking the expedition that year ; and promised that he would
himself precede the Musalman army next year with his own forces and assist
Bakhtiy&r to acquire the country.

2 This is the only meaning, which the passage, as given in the lith. ed.
and in the MSS., which agree except in respect to one word, can bear ; but the
meaning apparently is that the people made a bamboo stockade round tlhe
temple.

8 In what is now the Dinajpur district. Those who escaped, appear to
have crossed the river on rafts.

¢ The name of the fief is given as Barsol or Barsul in the lith. ed. In the
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which had overtaken his chief. At this time the latter was lying
on the bed of sickness. No one went near him. ‘Ali Mardin
went to him; drew off the sheet from his face; and with one blow
of his dagger killed him. This happened in the year 602 a.H.

‘1220DDIN MUHAMMAD SHERWAN.!

He and his brother? were among the great nobles of Muhammad
Bakhtiyar. This Muhammad Sherwan was very brave and active
and shrewd; so much so, that on the day on which Muhammad
Bakhtiyar captured the city of Nudiar and routed Lakhmania, and
dispersed his forces, Muhammad Sherwan, single-handed, captured
eighteen elephants with the drivers in a forest, and guarded them
there. After three days, when Malik Muhammad Bakhtiyar heard
of this, he sent a body of horsemen, who drove the elephants before
them ; and brought them before him.

When Malik Muhammad Bakhtiydr marched with his army
towards Tibbat and Kamriad, he sent Muhammad Sherwin and his
brother, with a body of his own troops, in the direction of Jijnagar.
After Muhammad Bakhtiyar had met with his great catastrophe,
Muhammad Sherwan and his brother came from Jajnagar to Deokot
and performed the mourning rites (for Muhammad Bakhtiyar), and
they 3 went from there to Barsoli with a body of the Jajnagar army ;

MSS. it is written as Barsoll or Barsiili or Parsili. It appears that in the
oldest and best «opies of the Tab-i-Nay, it is written as Narankoe,

1 The name i8 given as Shirwan or Sherwan in the lith. ed. aud in two of
the MSS. without an (s after the 2. In the third MS. there is an - The
name is given as Sherdn in the Jabakat-i-Nagirl. Major Raverty says however
that some other authors have written it as Sherwan. He says that Sheran is
plural of Sher, lion, tiger, and the plural is intended to express the superlative
degree, so that Sheran means very brave lion or tiger.

2 The lith. ed. and MS. A speak of the brothers of Muhammad Sherwan,
i.e. according to them he had more than one brother, MSS. B and C always
speak of his brother in the singular. The Tabakat-i-Nasiri says distinctly, that
there were two brothers, Muhammad Sherwan or Sheran and Ahmad Sherwan
or Sheran.

8 The lith. ed. and MS. C say that Muhammad Sherwén alone went to
Barsol or Parsol. MS. A says that Muhammad Sherwén and his brothers with
a body of the Jajnagar army went. MS. B is confused for after saying that
Muhammad Sherwan and his brother came from Jajnagar to Deokot and per-
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and seized ‘Ali Mardan, who had assassinated Muhammad Bakhtiyar;
and imprisoned him, and made him over to a Kotwal (Police Superin-
tendent or Jailor) who was called Baba Kotwal Isfahani; after
which he returned to Deokot, when all the Khalj nobles acknow-
ledged him as their head, and did homage to him.

<Ali Mardan, however, gained over Baba Kotwil; and escaping
from prison, went to Dehli, and joined the service of Sultin Kutbud-
din Aibak, and made certain representations to him. In conse-
quence of this, Sult&n Kutbuddin sent Kaimaz Riami! to Lakhnauti,
and ordered that he should station each of the Khalj nobles, who
were in those parts, at a suitable place. Kaimaz Rimi went, and in
accordance with the Sultan’s order, posted each one of the Khalj
nobles at a suitable locality. Malik Hisamuddin ‘Iwaz Khalji, who
from before the time of Muhammad Bakhtiyar held the fief of Kal-
wai,” hastened forward to receive Kaimiz RGmi and accompanied him
to Deokot, which was assigned to him as his fief. When Kaimaz
Rumi returned from Deokot towards Audh, Malik Muhammad Sher-
wan and all the Khalj nobles who were with him marched to Deokot.
When Kaimaz Rimi heard this, he returned and gave battle to the
Khalj nobles. The latter were defeated and went away in the direc-
tion of Tus,* and there hostilities broke out among them and
Muhammad Sherwan attained martyrdom. His grave is there.

‘ALt MARDAN KHALJI.

[He] was celebrated and notorious for activity, and bravery, and
pride, and high spirit. When he escaped from prison and joined
Sultan Kutbuddin, he attended the latter, when he went to Ghaznin.
He was there captured by the Turks, and was taken to Kaghghar,
and remained there. They say that one day Sultan Tajuddin Yelduz
went out to hunt. ‘Ali Marddn also accompanied him. He then

formed the funeral rites there, it goes on to say that they went from Jajnagar
to Barsol.

1 Major Raverty explains Rimi as native of Rumilia. R&mi, however,
ordinarily means a Turk who comes from Constantinople, or any other part of
European Turkey.

2 The Tabakat-i-Négiri gives the name of the fief as Kankuri or Kaskuri.

8 The lith. ed. and MSS. A and Bread Tds. MS. C reads S8antiis. The
Tabakat-i-Nagiri says that it was in Makeada and Santis that disagreement
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spoke to one of the Khalj nobles who was called Salar Zafar' and
said, ‘“ How would it be if I finished Sultan Tajuddin with my
spear? and made thee the badshah?’’ Salar Zafar was a wise and
righteous man, and did not have the lust of empire in his heart.
He forbade ‘Ali Marddn’s doing such an evil deed, and giving him
two Arab horses, sent him away towards Hindustan.

When he again reached the court of Sultin Kutbuddin and
joined his service, he was honoured with various favours and gifts,
and the dominion of Lakhnauti was given to him in Jaigir; and he
started on his journey to that place. After he had crossed the
Kusi, Malik Hisamuddin Iwaz Khalji advanced from Deokot to
meet him. On arrival at Deokot, he was placed on the seat of
power; and took possession of the entire country of Lakhnauti.
After Sultan Kutbuddin had been united with the Divine Mercy, he
assumed the royal canopy and had the Khutba read and Sikka
gstruck in his own name; and took the title of Sultan ‘Alauddin.
He had so much pride and hauteur that he distributed the kingdoms
of Iran and Tura@n among his nobles; and he was such an oppressor
and tyrant, that no one had the hardihood to tell him that these
countries were outside his dominions.

When evil thou hast done, think not thyself from danger safe ;

For nature herself, for evil done, doth punishment provide.

When his tyranny and oppression exceeded all bounds the
Khalj nobles conspired together and slew him.

It has been reported that there was a merchant smitten with
calamity, who complained to him of his poverty. He asked,
‘ Whence is this man !’ They said, * from Isfahan.” He ordered a
decree to be written assigning Isfahan to him as his fief. The mer-
chant did not accept the decree. The Ministers were afraid to bring
this to the notice of the Sultdn; but they represented to him, that
the new ruler of Isfahan had no funds for the expenses of the

arose among the Khalj nobles. Major Raverty says, that Maksidah or Mak-
sidah (Sic in note) may be the Maxadabad of the old Maps and old travellers.
He also says that the Tabakat-i-Akbari has Santlis only, thus confirming
MS. C. See Tab-i-Nas. trans., p. 576, and note 4.

.1 Major Raverty thinks that this name should be pronounced Zaffir.

.2 The lith. ed. and the MSS. all read ¥} spear. The Tabakat-i-N&siri
redds arrow (see p. 577 of the trans.).
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journey and of levying an army to bring the territory into his posses-
sion. Upon this he gave an order for giving him such a large
amount as was beyond all his expectation.

After he had been put to death, the Amirs combined together
and placed Malik Hisamuddin ‘Iwaz Khaljt on the throne.

¢Ali Mardan ruled for two years.

MarLik Hisamuppin ‘Iwaz KnALIL

[He] was one of the nobles of the Khalj tribe, living in the
Garmsir country; and had praiseworthy qualities and beneficent
attributes. When he left his own country and arrived at an ele-
vated spot in Turkistin, which was called Pushtah-i-Firoz,' two
men dressed in ragged and patched cloaks, who were completely
destitute of all provisions for a journey, and were traversing moun-
tains and deserts, depending merely in the help of God, arrived
there. They said to Malik Hisamuddin, ‘¢ Master! hast thou got
any provisions 2’ Malik Hisamuddin placed before them some cakes
of bread, with some delicate condiments. The Darwishes ate with
great relish and said, ‘¢ Master, thou shouldst go to Hindustéan, for a
kingdom hath been assigned to thee out of the regions of that
country.”

Couplet.

One dressed in garments coarse, that on the ground doth lie,

On a suppliant confers the kingdom of Zohak.

Malik Hisamuddin accepted this good news as a true prophecy
in his favour; came to Hindustin; and joined the service of Malik
Muhammad Bakhtiyar; till the Almighty Giver of kingdoms made
him the ruler of the country of Lakhnauti and he was named Sultdn
Ghiasuddin. Under his just rule, the soldiers and the people all
lived in happiness and contentment. Many marks of the holy
beneficence of that king of auspicious attributes have been left on

1 It is so called in the lith. ed. and in MSS. A and B. MS. C calls it
Pushtah Afroz. This is also the name given in the Tabakat-i-N&giri (p. 580).
Pushtah-i-Firoz would mean the mound of victory, while Pushtah Afroz accord-
ing to Major Raverty means the burning mound. This is, however, scarcely
correct. Afroz affixed to a word means what burns or inflames or brightens
the thing which is connoted by the word to which it is affixed. Dilafroz means
what inflames, or excites the heart, and not burning heart ; so ‘¢ Shabafroz.’® -
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the pages of time, which testify to the excellence of his intentions.
The countries of Bangalah, Tirhut, Kamrdd and Jajnagar all paid
him revenue or tribute.

In the year 622 a.H. Sultan Shamsuddin invaded Bangalah and
the two armies met' and a treaty was councluded. Ghiasuddin gave
thirty-eight elephants, and eighty laks of tangahs?® to Sultan Sham-
suddin and read the Khiitbah in his name. When Sultin Shamsud-
din returned to Dehli he entrusted the government of Behar to
Malik 3 ‘Alauddin Khani; but afterwards (Ghiasuddin went from
Lakhnauti to Behar and recovered possession of it, and remained in
possession till the year 624 a.H., when Malik Nasiruddin Mahmiid,
son of Sultdn Shamsuddin, came from Audh to Lakhnauti, with
a large army, at the instigation of Malik Khani. At that time
((hiasuddin ‘Iwaz had marched toward Kimridd from Lakhnauti
with a large army. Malik Nasiruddin Mahmid took possession of
Lakhnauti. Ghiasuddin ‘Iwaz returned and gave battle, but was
taken prisoner with many of his nobles and was slain.

I There could not have been a regular battle. There might have been
only a skirmish. According to the Tabakat-i-Nasiri the armies did not meet
as Sultan Ghidsuddin moved his vessels (war boats) up the river, while accord-
ing to another writer he removed and secured all the boats on the river, so
that Altamsh could not cross the Ganges (soe Tab-i-N&s. trans., p. 593, also
note 6).

2 The word tangah signifies a thin plate, leaf or slice of gold or silver,
It is difficult to find out the exact value of a tangah. There were gold and
silver tangahs. According to Ferishtah who copied the Tarikh-i-Firozshahi
a gold tangah was a tola of gold, stamped, and a silver tangah was equal to fifty
piils. A pal (i.e. a piece of any thing orbicular) of copper (bronze?) being
called a jital ; the weight of which was, however, not known exactly. Accord-
ing to other writers a tangah was eithar the fifth, tenth or hundredth of a
ripl. As to the riipl it appears that four Jitals = a Gandah, twenty gandas =
one anna and sixteen annas one rupi; but the value of these denominations
is not known and probably varied a good deal at different periods. The
Tabakat-i-Nasiri says the tribute consisted of eighty lakhs of treasure. The
Tazkirat-ul-muluk is more definite ; it says eighty laks in silver tangahs.

8 The name is so given in the lith. ed. and in all these MSS., but the second
word may be read in the MSS. as Khini or Jani. In the Tab-i-Nas. (trans., p.
594) the name is Malik Izzuddin J&ni, but it is said in note 1 in the same page
that he is called elsewhere in the work, and in some copies of the text in that

particular passage also, as well as in other works, by the name of ‘Alduddin
J8ni.
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They say that when the auspicious Sultan Shamsuddin Altamsh
(may God make his grave fragrant !} came after the death of his son
Malik Nasiruddin Mahmidd to Lakhnauti, in order to quell the
rebellion of ! Malik Ikhtiyaruddin, and saw the marks of beneficence
which had been left behind by Malik Hisamuddin ‘Iwaz Khalji with
an eye of respect, he said with the justice, which was always a
characteristic of his esteemed personality, that there was no objeo-
tion in giving the title of Sultdn to a man who had done so much
good and performed such noble deeds.

His reign extended to a period of twelve years.

SurLTaNn Aram SHAH BIN ?SULTAN KUTBUDDIN.

When Sultan Kutbuddin departed from this world, as the world
can not go on without a rualer, the nobles and the high officers of
State, in accordance with the law of inheritance, placed Aram Shah
except whom he had no other son, on the throne of Lahore; and
sending out orders and decrees in all directions and districts, pro-
claimed the glad tidings of his justice and impartiality. While this
was being done, the Sipah Salar (commander of the forces), ‘Ali
Isma‘el,® who was the Governor of the province of Dehli, in com-

! This was Malik Ikhtiyaruddin Daulat Shah-i-Balka who according to
some writers was a son of Ghiasuddin, and according to others a kinsinan of his,
who regained and ruled the territory for a time (see Tab-i-Nas., p. 594, note 1).

2 As to whether Aram Shah was Kugbuddin’s son, see note 4, p. 520,
Tab-i-Na@g. trans, Some writers say that Ar@m Shaéh was Kutbuddin’s son;
others say that the latter had no offspring, besides his three daughters. Aram
Shah wasg probably Kutbuddin’s adopted son. Abul Fazl makes the astonish-
ing statement that he was Kutbuddin’s brother. .

8 This name is given in all the three MSS. The lith. ed. makes it Amir
*Ali Ismiel in one place and Amir Ali Dad or Wad in another. Major Raverty
in note 4, p. 529, of his trans. of the 1'ab-i-N&s calls him the Amir-i Dad, which
would mean the Lord Chief Justice, but he also says that he has been called
Amir Dé&‘'Gd by some; and he also calls him the governor of the city or pro-
vince of Dehli, i.e. the Amir Diyar Dehli. The Sipah Salar and the Amir-i-Dad
are not mentioned together in the Tabakat-i-Akbari exc:apb in one place in two
of the MS8., where the lith. ed. has jls and the third MS. jls instead of 8!8, and
it cannot be said with certainty whether they were the same person or two
different persons. According to note 4, p. 529, Tab-i-N&s. trans., they appear to
have been two distinet persons, but according to the trans., p. 605, they were
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bination with some other nobles, sent a messenger to summon Malik
Altamsh, who was a slave, as well as the son-in-law of Sultan
Kutbuddin, and to whom the latter had given the name of son also:
and who was at the time the governor of Buda-iin, and begged
him to accept the sovereignty. Malik Altamsh came to Dehli and
took possession of it. Aram Shah, who was in the vicinity of Dehli,
gave assurances to the nobles and soldiers of his father and collecting
them in a body came to Dehli. Malik Altamsh arrayed his forces
on the plain of Jid and gave battle. Aram Shah! was defeated.
Sultan Kutbuddin had three daughters. Two of them were

married in succession to Malik Nasiruddin Kabajah, and one to
Malik Altamsh.

After the death of Sultan Kutbuddin, Malik Nasiruddin Ka-
bajah went in the direction of Sind, and took possession of Multan,
Uchh, Bhakar and Siwastin. Dehli came into the possession of
Malik Altamsh, with the help of the Amir.i-D aud and other nobles,

and the country of Lakhnauti and Bangilah was in the possession
of Malik Hisamuddin Khalj.

Aram Shah’s reign did not extend? to one year.

one and the same. Major Raverty has noticed the fact that the command of
troops seems incompatible with the duties of a judge, though he says that the
Sipah 8alar may have heard and disposed of suits with the aid of Kazis and
Muftis. This is rather fat-fetched. Bosides the same person was also the
Governor of the city or province of Dehli.

| What became of Ar&m Sh@h after his defeat is not clear. Major
Raverty has adopted the reading of the passage in the Jab i-Nas. about the
death of Aram Shidh, according to which the latter was martyred or put to
death. He says, however, in a note that all the modern copies of the text and
one of the oldest also, say instead, that ** the decree of destiny reached Ardm
Shah,”” which would leave it somewhat doubtful as to whether he died a
natural or a violent death.

2 Others contend that his reign extended over a period of three years.
Major Raverty says that the inscriptions on two coins of Ar@m Shah and
Altamsh, of which the former was struck in the year 607 a.H., and the latter in
the year 612 a.H,, and which is described in the coin as ‘* the first of his reign,’’
corroborates the statement of those who say that Arim Shah’s reign extended
over three years. It does not appear, however, that anyone says it extended to
five years, 607 to 612 A.H. On the other hand, it is distinctly stated both in the

Tab-i- N&s. and in the J'ab-i-Akb. that Altamsh ascended the throne at Delhi
in 607 A.H.
.
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SULTAN SnaMSUDDIN! ALTAMsH.

There is a tradition that his father was named Ilam Khén,
and he was the chief of a group of the tribes of Turkistan. His
brothers, and according to another tradition his nephews, owing to
the jealousy and hatred which they bore him in his youth, took him,
like Yusuf (of old), to some gardens and fields for amusement; and
then sold him by force to a merchant. The merchant took him to
Bukbara; and sold him to one of the great men? of that city. For
some time he received kindly treatment and training in a family of
generous people. Then as was predestined, a merchant named
Haji Bukharl bought him and sold him again to Jaméluddin Chust
Kaba. The latter took him to Ghaznin. As in those days no
Turkish lad of a more handsome face, and with greater intelligence,
had come to Ghaznin, people spoke about him to Sultdn Muhammad
Sam. The Sultan ordered that a price should be settled for
him There was another slave called Aibak with him. The
price of each of them was fixed at one thousand Rukni Dinars.?
Khwajah Jamaluddin objected to sell him at that price. The
Sultan ordered that no one should purchase him, and the sale
should remain in abeyance. After a year Khwajah Jamaluddin
went towards Bukbhara and took Altamsh with him. When he
came back he remained in (haznin for a year. People dared
not buy Altamsh without the Sultan’s order, till Sultan¢ Kutbuddin

I T have adopted this form of the name in preference to Iyal-timish; for
whatever may have been the spelling and pronunciation of the name in
Turkish the spelling in Persian histories i8 g&..Ut.

2 According to the Tab-i-Nas., he was sold to one of the kinsmen of the
Sadr-i-Jahan (the chief ecclesiastic) of Bukhara (see p. 602 of the trans.).

3 The Tabakdt-i Nasiri says that the sum of a thousand dinars of pure
Rukni gold was specified for the two (p. 601 of the trans.), but it appears from
a note that some copies have two thousand instead of one. This would agree
with the Tab-i-Akb. which says distinctly that one thousand Rukni Dindars was
fixed as the price of each, The next sentence which is almost identical in the
Tab-i-N&is. and the Tab-i-Akb. shows that the price was fixed separately for
the two slaves, as the merchant objected to sell Altamsh at the price fixed, but
apparently had no objection about the other slave.

¢ I have called Kutbuddin, Sultan as in the original, though he was not
a Sulten yet; but only a Malik and also a slave.
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Aibak came to Ghaznin with Malik! Nasiruddin Kharmil, after
the victory of Nahrwalah and the conquest of Gujrat. He heard of
Altamsh, and solicited permission to buy him. The Sultan said, ““ ]
have ordered that no one should purchase him. The sale and pur-
chase of him at Ghaznin is not desirable. Let him be taken to the
country of Dehli and be sold there.”

When Sultan Kutbuddin returned from Ghaznin he left Nizim.-
uddin Muhammad there, for attending to certain matters; and
ordered that he should bring Jamaluddin Chust Kaba with him [to
Dehli}; so that he might buy Altamsh from him. When they came,
Sultan Kutbuddin bought each of the two Turks, i.e. Altamsh and
Aibak, for one lakh of jitals.> He gave the name of Taghmaj? to
Aibak and made him the Amir of Sarhind. Taghmaj drank the
sharbat of death in the war between Sultan Kutbuddin and Sultan
Tajuddin Yalduz. Xutbuddin gave the title of son to Altamsh, and
honoured him by keeping him near his own person. After the
victory of Gwilior, he made him Amir of that place; and after that
Baran,* and the tract of country round it., were entrusted to him; and
as Kutbuddin repeatedly saw marks of valour and of the capacity
of leadership in him, he bestowed the country of Bada-iin®* on him.

I This name does not occur elsewhere. ‘Izzuddin Kharmil, who was prob-
ably his brother, was one of the commanders in the army of Sultan Muiz-
zuddin.

2 If a jital was only ;;\4th part of a ripi, a lak of jitals would only
amount to seventy-eight riipis and eight annas; therefore either the jital must
have had a far higher value than is ordinarily assigned to it, or the amount of
one lak jitals, which is the amount mentioned in the text, as well as in the
Tabakat-i-Nagirl and various other authors, must be incorrect. The Tazkirat-
ul-Miliik says the price was fifty laks jitals, and Badaiini a lak of tangahs.

8 The names of Taghm&j and Sarhind are given in the lith. ed. and in all
the MSS. According to the Tab-i-Nfg. the name of Aibak was changed to
Tamghaj ; and he was made Amir of Tabarhindah. Major Raverty says that
Tamghaj must have boen superior in every way, at that time, to Altamsh, to
have been at once made Amir of Tabarhindah. I do not think that it
necessarily follows that he was at once made Amir of Tabarhindah. The
whole of his history is given in one sentence, and he probably rose to be Amir of
Tabarhindah after some considerable time. Altamsh also was probably not
honoured with the title of Kutbuddin’s son, at once.

¢ Baran is the modern Buland Shahr. The fief of Badalin was then and
for some time afterwards the largest and most important in the kingdom.
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When Sultan Mu‘izzuddin S&m came to India, to put an end tothe
disturbances caused by the Khokhars, and, according to his orders,
Sultan Kutbuddin also went to attend on him, with his own army,
Altamsh joined Sultan Kutbuddin with the army of Bad&a.in. In
the battle Altamsh, who in the matter of bravery and valour had
become one of the greatest of the age, rode into the water in the full
panoply of war and attacked the enemy. Sultan Mu‘izzuddin noted
his great bravery and energy, and sent for him, and distinguished
him with rewards and royal favours; and he specially pressed and
urged the matter of his promotion, and of showing kindness to him,
on the attention of Sultan Kutbuddin. At that very time, by order
of the Sultan, the letter of his manumission was written, and he
rose, step by step, to the rank of Amir-ul-Umra.

When Sultan Kutbuddin died at Lahore, at the request of the!
Sipah Salar Isma‘el, the Amir Dad (the chief justice) of Dehli and
other nobles, Malik Altamsh came with his followers and the army
of Bada-in; and having taken possession of Dehli, assumed the title
of Sultan Shamsuddin, and in the year 607 ascended the throne.
Many of the Kutbi Amirs and Maliks submitted to him; but some
of the Mu‘izzi and Kutbi Amirs who had rushed forward from the
different places round Dehli revolted against him; but as the lamp
of his greatness had been illuminated by the light of Divine help, the
attempts made by his foolish enemies to extinguish it had no other
effect than their own discomfiture; and they all became food for the
merciless sword; and the field of his empire was cleared of the
thorns and weeds of their existence.

Couplet.

Wrestle not with the pious one, accepted of God;
For hard it is to overthrow one so accepted.

After that Sultan* Tajuddin Yelduz the Mu‘izzi, who was (now)
the king of Ghaznin sent for him a canopy and other mmgma. of

I There are dxﬁ'erenb rea.dmgs in the hth ed and in the MSS3. I have
adopted the reading of MS. A with a slight varmtlon. specially as it did not
appear to me to be likely that the same person would be Sipah Salar as well as
Amir-i dad.

2 The lith. ed. varies greatly from the MSS, here, and the latter also vary
slightly from one another. The lith. ed. is not quite intelligible. It reads
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royalty; and after some time, Sultan Tajuddin, having been
defeated by the army of Khwarizm, came to Lahore and took posses-
sion of it. Sultan Shamsuddin advanced to encounter him, and in
the year 612 A.H. there was a great battle between them within the
limits of Tardin; and Sultan Tajuddin was defeated and taken
prisoner. He was brought to Dehli; and was imprisoned in
Bada-in; and he died there.

In the year 614! A.H., there was war between Sultan Shamsud-
din and Malik Nasiruddin Kabajah, who was the son-in-law of
Sultan Kutbuddin; and here also Sultan Shamsuddin was victo-
rious. There were several battles with Malik Nagiruddin in the
neighbourhood of Lahore, and each time victory fell to Sultan
Shamsuddin; till at the end, Sultan Shamsuddin marched forward
and attacked Nasiruddin. The latter strengthened the fort of
Uchch, and betook himself to that of Bhakar. Nizam-ul-Mulk
[Muhammad Junaidi] the Vazir and certain other commanders were
nominated by Shamsuddin for the task of pursuing Malik Nasirud-
din; and the Sultan himself besieged Uchch; and seized? it after
two months and twenty-five days. When the news of the conquest
of the fort reached Malik Nasiruddin, he sent his son ¢Alauddin
Bahram Shah to Sultan Shamsuddin and prayed for peace. Shortly
after this the news of the capture of Bhakar came. They say that

after the capture of the fort Malik Nasiruddin was drowned in the
river.®

thus: ‘ after this Sultén T&juddin Mu‘izzi, who was the King of Ghaznin and
for whom Sultan Mahmiid bin Muhammad S&m had sent a canopy and a
durbash (i.e. a spear with two horns or branches carried before kings, etc.) from
Firoz Koh and after some time when,’’ etec. The MSS. do not mention Sultan
Mahmid bin Muhammad Sam at all in this connection; and they have instead
of the word ¢durbash’ ‘Imarat,” ‘Alat’ and ‘adwéat’ respectively. The
Tabakat-i-Nagirl says Sultin Tajuddin Yelduz, from Lahore, and Ghaznin
entered into a compact with him (Shamsuddin Altamsh), and sent him a
canopy of state and a durb@sh (p. 607 of the translation), which agrees with
the reading adopted.

1 According to the Tab-i-Nas. these events took place in 624 A.H. Bad&‘dini
and the Muntakhab-ut-tawarikh agree with one author in saying that they took
place in 614; but they are all wrong.

2 The Tab-i-Nas. says that the hostilities at the foot of the fort lasted for
three months, after which it surrendered on terms of capitulation.

8 It is not clear from this whether he was accidentally drowned or other-
wise. The Jab-i-N#s. says that he drowned himself (p. 544 of the trans.).
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After this event, in the year 618 a.H., Sultan Jaldiluddin Khwa-
rizm Shah being defeated by Chengiz Khan, came towards Lahore.
Sultin Shamsuddin went and opposed him with a large army !
Sultdn Jalaluddin unable to withstand him, went towards Sind and
Siwastdn and thence escaped by way of Kaj and Makran. After
this in the year 622 aA.H., Sultan Shamsuddin marched with his
army towards Lakhnauti and Behar, and brought Sultan Ghiasuddin
Khalji, an account of whom has been already given, and who had
acquired great power in that territory under subjection; and had
the Khutbah read and coin struck in his own name; and obtained
thirty-eight elephants and eighty thousand silver tangahs from him.
He gave his eldest son the title of Sultan Nasiruddin; and placing
the territory of Lakhnauti in his charge® and granting him a
canopy and a darbash, left him in Audh, and himself returned to his
capital, Dehli. Malik Nasiruddin fought with Ghiasuddin Khalji,
who was the ruler of that territory; and defeated him. He took
him prisoner, and had him slain. Much booty fell into his hands.
He remembered most of the notable and known men of Dehli. and
sent presents to each one of them.

In the year 623 a.H., the Sultin determined on the conquest of
Rantambor, and marching with his army in that direction captured
that fort. In the year 624 a.H., he advanced, with his army, for

I This does not appear to be correct. The Tab-i-Nas in one place says
(p. 293 of the trans.) that Shamsuddin ¢ despatched a force from his armies’’
against Sultan Jaladluddin, while in another place (p. 609 of the trans.) he says
that he ‘* marched from Dehli towards Lahore, with the forces of Hindfistan, and
Sultén Jaldluddin Khwarizm Shah having turned aside from the host of
Hind@stAn marched away towards Sind and Siwastan.’’ It appears, however,
that Shamsuddin did not send any army against Jalaluddin. He sent on the
other hand an envoy with rich presents and supplies, and false excuses for the
murder of Jaldluddin’s envoy (which he had himself previously instigated).
Jalaluddin was, however, not strong enough to bring Shamsuddin to
account ; so he attacked the Khokhars, and after subjugating them, with their
help established himself in 8ind. He maintained himself there till 621 a.m.,
when receiving information that the army in ‘Irak wanted him there, he went
there by way of Makran. -

2 The charge was at first a merely nominal one; as Ghidsuddin Khalji
continued to rule the territory till his defeat and death. Malik or Sultan
Nasiruddin was apparently stationed in Audh to wait for a favourable oppor-
tunity for conquering Lakhnauti,
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the conquest of the fort of Mandwar;! and brought that fort, and
the whole of the Siwalik into his possession. The same year he
returned to his capital of Dehli. Amir Ruhdni, who was one of the
learned men of that age, and who after the catastrophe of Chenglz
Khan, had come from Bukhara to Dehli, wrote some eloquent verses
in congratulation of these victories. The following couplets form
part of them :—
“‘The angel Gabriel, to the denizens of the sky, did bear

The news of the triumphs of Shamsuddin, the Sultan great;

Oh holy angels! that on the highest heavens do dwell ;

For this great news, in heaven build domes and arches high;

The emperor of Islam, from the Muldhida

Hath wrested again forts as lofty as the sky,

The warrior of the faith on whose arm and sword

The soul of the impetuous Haidar showers praise.’’

In the year 626 A.H., envoys came from Arabia bringing robes
of the Khalafat for Sultan Shamsuddin. The Sultan fulfilled the
conditions of reverence and homage, and put on the robes of the
Dar-ul-Khalafat. He felt boundless pleasure and happiness, from the
putting on of that robe. He conferred robes of honour on most of
the nobles; and domes were erected in the city; and the drumof joy
was beaten.

The same year, the news of the death of Sultan Nasiruddin, who

I The lith. ed. and MS. A has yos0, MSS. B and C jyos@, The oldest
copies of the Tab-i-N&g. have Mandwar, others Mandud and Mandu, Bad&uni who
copies from the Tab i-Akb. has Mandwar in some copies and Mandd in others.
The Mirat-i-Jahan numé has Mandwar, the Zubdat-ut-tawarikh Mandawar and
Ferishtah Mandd. The above is taken from note 3, p. 611 of the trans. of the
Tab-i-N&s, but Major Raverty transliterates 3000 g Mandawar, while I think
it should be Mandwar. Mandwar (or Mandore according to Tod) was the
capital of the Parihdrs, five miles north of Jodhpur. Tod says that Mandore
was taken from Molul, the Parihar prinée, by Rahup, who ‘‘ obtained Cheetore
in 8, 12567 (a.p. 1207) and shortly after sustained the attack of Shemsudin
(Shamsuddin) whom he, Rahup, met and overcame in battle at Nagore’’; so
apparently both parties claimed the victory. The Siwalik apparently included
the whole tract of country south of the Himalayah, between tho Ganges and
the Sutlej, extending as far south as Hinsl in the Koh-i-Siwalik. Nagore was
also included in the Siwalik. Some writers say that the Siwalik extended as far
west a8 the borders of Kashmir.
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was the ruler of Lakhnauti, came. Sultan Shamsuddin performed
the mourning ceremonies for him; and gave his name to his
younger son; and showed much affection for him. The Tabakat-i-
Nasirl was named in his honour.

To return to the narrative, in the year 627 a.H., the Sultadn
marched with his troops in the direction of Lakhnauti and quelled
the disturbances which had occurred there, after the death of Sultan
Nagiruddin. He put Lakhnauti under the charge of ‘Izz-ul-mulk
Malik ¢Alauddin Khani' and returned to Dehli, his capital.

In the year 629 A.H., he marched with his army for the con-
quest of Gwalior; and besieged it for a year. In the end Milak
Deo Basil,> who was the ruler of the fort, escaped at night, and the
fort came into the possession of the Sultan. A large number of
men were taken prisoner, and out of these three hundred were
executed. Malik Tajuddin Reza, who was the Secretary of State,
wrote this quatrain on the subject of the conquest of this fort, and
it has been carved on a stone on the gate of the fort.

Every fort which the Sultan of Sultans conquered,

He conquered by the help of God and the aid of the faith.
The fort of Gwalior,® that impregnable fortress,

He conquered in the year six hundred and thirty.

After that the Sultdn returned from there, and in the year
631 a.H., he invaded the territory of Malwah, and conquered the
fort of the Bhilsa. He also took the city of Ujain, and he had the
temple of Mahakal, which had been erected three hundred years
ago,* and was extremely strong and massive, completely demolished,
destroying it from its foundations; and he carried away the effigy

! See note 3, p. 59.
? The first part of the name is given in all the MSS. and in the lith. ed.
a8 Milak Deo 25 «Sde, The second part is given as Uaky, Jde, Jso and ko,

v

Major Raverty after giving the various readings in the Tab-i-Nasirl and other
works has adopted Mangal Diw the son of Mal Diw (note 7, p. 619 of the
Tab-i-Nag. trans.). Mr. Thomas (p. 668 of the Pathan Kings) thinks that the
name may represent Trailokya Deva, the son of Risila"Deva, one of the Chandel
Kings.

5 The name is given in the quatrain, in one of the MSS. and in the lith. ed.,

as 3K

% The original is &9 t\‘\"{ )-,\."'3 d‘« onapes wom U as, which may be trans-
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of Bikramajit, from whom the Hindus count their era; and certain
other statues which were fashioned of molten brass; and placed them
in the ground in front of the Jami’ Masjid ;' so that they might be
trampled upon by the people.

A second time he marched with his army towards Multan.? This
journey turned out to be inauspicious; and an illness seized him;
and when he reached Delhi, on the 20 Sha‘bén in the year 633 a.H.,
he wandered to the other world.

It is related in the writings of Khwajah Kutbuddin Bakhtiar
(may the mercy of God be on him!), which have been collected by
Sheikh Farid Ganj Shakar (may their tombs be holy), that the
desire of excavating a reservoir entered the Sultan’s head. He
went to the presence of the Khwajah [for his help] in selecting a
proper site for it and asked his advice. The Sultin went to a
number of places, but went away from them all, till he came to the
place where the Shamsi reservoir (i.e. the reservoir named after
Shamsuddin) is situated, when he selected it. When night came
on, the Sultan saw the prophet (may the benediction and peace of
God be on him!) in a dream, mounted on a horse in the centre of
the spot. The prophet asked him, ‘‘Shamsuddin, what wishest
thou?’’ The Sultin replied, ‘“ Oh prophet of God, 1 wish to ex-
cavate a reservoir.”’ He ordered, ‘‘ Excavate it here.”” The horse

lated as in the text, or us ** which took three hundred years in building.’’ Pro-
bably the latter is what the author meant.

I Not the present one, which was built by Shah-i-Jahan, but the first
Jami’ Masjid built by Kutbuddin and now known as the Kutbi Masjid.

2 The Sulté@n is said in the Tab-i-Nas. (p. 623 of the trans.) to have marched
into Banidn (or Banyan). Major Raverty thinks that Banian was the country
immediately to the west of the Salt Range. Badauni and Ferishtah copying the
Tabakat-i-Akbari have Multan, but apprently this is incorrect.

8 It is after this saint and not after Kutbuddin Aibak that the Kutb
Minarah is named. He was a native of Ush near Baghdad. He came to India
and first proceeded to Multan in the time of Sultdn Nasiruddin Kabajah.
Subsequently he came to Delhi. He was held in such reverence that
Sultan Shamsuddin himself went forth from the city to receive him and do him
reverence, and accompanied him to the city. He, however, took up his resi-
dence at Gilukhari on account of the scarcity of water in the city. When
Sheikh Jalaluddin, the Bastami, who was the Sheikh-ul-Islam, died, the Sultan
wished him to take that office, but the saint declined it. He died on the 24th of
the month of Rabi-ul-Awwal, 633 4.H. (Seo note 6, p. 621 of Tab-i-Nas. trans.).
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of the prophet (may the benediction and peace of God be upon
him!) struck its hoof into the ground and a spring of water gushed
out. The Sultdn woke up from his sleep, and while yet the night
was not passed, he went to the service of Khwajah Kutbuddin (may
his tomb be holy!) and related to him what had happened. The
Khwajah (may his tomb be holy!) says that the Sultan took him to
that spot and with the light of a lamp they saw that a spring had
gushed out.

There is a story that in the days when Malik Shamsuddin
Altamsh was in poor circumstances' in Baghdad, a number of
Darweshes used to meet in his master’s house, and enjoy such songs
and religious exaltation as Darweshes and persons of spiritual ex:
perience enjoy. Malik Altamsh every night served the Darweshes
with head and heart and wept on hearing their songs.? Kazi Hamid.
uddin Nigorl was the chief of the assembly. As the service of Malik
Altamsh pleased the Darweshes, they cast a (kindly) glance on him ;
and on account of that glance the great and holy God raised him
to the rank of Sultan. After an age, when he sat on the throne of
empire in the country of Hindustan, and Kazi Hamiduddin Nagori
was engaged in instructing seekers after truth in Dehli, the Darweshes
always sang and danced in his lecture hall. Two exoteric learned
men, one of whom was called Mullah ‘Imaduddin, and the other
Mullah Jalaluddin, denying the propriety of the practice of singing
and dancing, tried to induce the Sultan to forbid the Kazi from
indulging in such practices.

The Sultan sent for the Kazi, and with all honour and respect
asked him to take a seat. Those two men asked him whether
singing and dancing were lawful or not. The.Kazi replied, they
were unlawful for men, who were’ entirely rationalistic; and lawful

1 The meaning of the passage is not clear. The reading also varies. The
lith. ed. has o8y’ iy Jo 39, two of the MSS. have &y oty Js Ag-' 39, while
the third has 3 &9y Js 3.

2 In the lith. ed. and in all the MSS. this passage is given as u“av';‘é,‘ Qu:' Bad
‘¢ held the head of the candle,’’ which is unintelligible. I have ventured to alter
the reading. It will be seen that when Kazi Hamiduddin reminds the Sultan

of what he did in the olden days, he says according to the lith. ed. tlw 5
%imf)‘e:ﬁ though the MSS. here also say Ok )‘Q“’ C"“' BL
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for men of spiritual emotion. After that, turning his face towards
the Sultan, he said, ‘It would be in the auspicious recollection of
your Majesty, that one night Darweshes and men of emotional ex.
perience were engaged in spiritual exercises, and you in accordance
with your master’s order, served the people in the meeting, and
wept in the exaltation of your feelings. The Darweshes cast a
glance on you, and you have reached your present high rank on ac-
count of that auspicious glance. The Sultan recollected the circum-
stances, and he wept and made the Kzl sit down by his side and
granted him many favours. After this he used. to enjoy emotional
exercises, and had great faith in the benefits (conferred by) Dar-
weshes.

The Sultdn' was very strict in the performance of religious
duties and services. On Fridays he went to the mosque and strictly
performed all prescribed and spontaneous duties. The Mulhids
(schismatics) of Delhi were angry at this. They conspired together,
and determined, to slay the king at the time of the public prayers,
when the people would be engaged with their own devotions. They
met together, and on a Friday they went armed into the mosque,
and drawing their swords, martyred some men. The great and holy
God protected the Sultan from the wicked designs of these men ;
and the ordinary people, mounting the roofs of houses, and climbing
on walls, cast the band on the dust of destruction, with wounds
caused by stoues and arrows, and freed the earth from the shame of
their existence.

Couplet.

The wicked to his wickedness doth e’er incline,
Like the scorpion which rarely into the house does go.*

Towards the close of his life, Fakhr-ul-mulk ‘Usami, the Vazir of
Baghdad, who had been employed there for thirty years in the posi-
tion of Vazir, and was famous and noted for his visible and mental
greatness and perfection, owing to some worldly reason, which often

1 Minhajuddin has not mentioned this attack of the Mulghid on the
Sultén, although he has given an account of a similar attack by them on the
congregation in the great Masjid in the year 634 a.H.

% The similarity between the behaviour of the wicked and that of the
scorpion is not very clear.
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becomes the cause of the sorrow and mental disquietude of great
men, left his own country, and came to Delhi. The Sultan felt
honoured at his coming, brought him into the city with all courtesy
and reverence, conferred the office of Vazir on him, and showed him
every mark of royal favour.

The period of the rule of Sultan Shamsuddin Altamsh was
twenty-six years.

SurTAN RURNUDDIN FIRozZ SHAH, SON OF SULTAN SHAMSUDDIN,

In the year 625 a.m.,' his father conferred Pergunah Bada-iin
on him, and gave him a canopy and a durbash or two-horned baton.
After that when the Sultan came to Dehli, after the conquest of
Gwalior, he placed the territory of Lahore under his charge. When
the Sultan in his last journey returned from Siwastan,® he bronght
Ruknuddin Firoz Shah with himself from Lahore; and on his death,
the nobles and the great officers of State placed Firoz Shah on
the throne at Dehli, on Tuesday (the 21st Sha’ban),® in the year
633 A.n. The usual practice of making gifts and scattering money
in respect of the high and the low was carried out. Poets wrote
trinmphant odes in praise and congratulation, and were rewarded
with gifts and benefactions. Among them Malik Tajuddin Reza, the
Imperial Secretary, presented a long ode and was honoured with
gifts and rewards. Two couplets from it are quoted here by way of
memento.

May the perpetual empire be of omen good,
To the king, specially in his time of youth,
Yamin-ud-dowlah Ruknuddin who has come.*

When he sat on the throne, the lust of enjoyment and pleasure
kept him back from the work of government. Opening the doors of
the treasury, he squandered and gave away the treasure. The rule

| The Tabakat-i-Nagirl and the early histories all give this date, but
Ferishtah has 626 o.n. He is, however, no authority (see note 5, p. 631 of the
Tab-i-Nas. trans.).

% The Tabalkét-i-Nagiri (p. 631 of the trans.) say8 ‘‘from the river Sind
and Banian.’’ See note 2, p. 69 (ante).

3 The date and the month are taken from the Tabakat-i-Nagiri. Ferish-
tah who copies the Tab-i-Akb. has no date or month also.

4 The meaning of the last line (‘.J‘og W5 W e 3 R0 is not olear,
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of Hindustan passed into the hands of his mother, who was a
Turkish slave-girl and was known as Shiah Turkan. As she acquired
great power and influence, she caused much trouble to the other
ladies of the karam, of whom she had been jealous during the life-
time of the late Sultan.! She had a younger son of the latter, who
bore the name of Kutbuddin,” put to death; and emptied the
treasury. The majority of Ruknuddin’s gifts were to dancing girls,
and to people of the baser sorts, buffoons, and jesters.

The hearts of small and great, high and low turned from him ; and
Malik Ghidsuddin Muhammad Shah, who was his younger brother,
and had the government of the territory of Audh in his hands, turned
his head from the rule of allegiance. Malik ‘Izzuddin Kabir Khan,
the governor of Multan, and Malik Saifuddin Kuji, that of Hansi,
sent letters to each other and raised the standard of hostility.
Sultdn Ruknuddin moved out of Dehli with a large army with the
intention of destroying these and encamped at Kilukhari.® In the
meantime Nizam-ul-mulk Muhammad Junaidi, who was the Vazir
of the empire, out of excess of fear and dread, fled from Kilukhari
and went to the town of Kol and joined Malik ‘Izzuddin Salari.¢

Sultan Ruknuddin considered the suppression of the disturbances
which had occurred in the Punjab’ of the greatest importance, and
turned his face towards Kuhram. When he reached the neighbour-
hood of Mansurpic and Tardin, the following among the nobles who

I The author of the Tab-i-Nas. incorrectly says that she had experienced
envy and jealousy from some of the other ladies of the haram. As our author
says, she had been joalous of them ; and as soon as she obtained an opportunity,
she had some of them put to death with much degradation, and treated others
with great ignominy (see Tab-i-Nas., trans. p. 632, and note 5).

% He was the youngest of S8hamsuddin Altamsh’s sons, quite a child, by
a concubine.  According to the Tab-i-Nas. he was deprived of the sight of both
eyes and afterwards put to death (Tab-i-N&s. trans., p. 633, and note 6).

8 This was only a suburb of Dehli or one of the many new cities as they
were called. It has been stated by some writers that it was founded in
686 A.H. by Sultdn Mu‘izzudin Kai-kub&d ; but this is not correct. It was
founded at a much earlier date (see note 2, p. 634, Tab-i-N&s. trans.).

4 He was the feudatory of Bada-an.

& Our author has mentioned the feudatories of Multan and Hansi among
those who revolted, but the feudatory of Lahore, Malik ‘Alduddin Jani, was
also in revolt.
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accompanied him, viz. Taj-ul-mulk Muhammad' the Dabir (Secre-
tary) and Bahduddin Husen, and Malik Karimuddin Zahid (the
Saint) and Zia-ul-mulk Sarwani, and Khwajah Rashid, and Amir
Fakhruddin detached themselves from the army and returned to
Dehli.2 They swore allegiance to Sultan Razia who was the eldest
daughter of Sultan Shamsuddin; and placed her on the imperial
throne. They seized Shah Turkan, the mother of Sultain Ruknuddin,
and put her in prison. The Sultdn Razia was possessed of charming
attributes, such as courage, and liberality, and wisdom, and discern-
ment, and was gifted with manly qualities. Her father had looked
after her with great care, and in his lifetime she had been initiated
into matters of State and had been vested with certain powers.

When the news reached Sultan Ruknuddin, he returned towards
Dehli and reached Kilukhari. Sultin Razia sent an army forward
to encounter him, and he was seized and brought to Debli and im-
prisoned, and in a short time after that, in that prison he died.

The period of his rule was six months and twenty-eight days.

SuLTAN Razia.®

In the year in which Sultin Shamsuddin conquered the fortress
of Gwaliar, on account of the great intelligence and discernment
which he found in Sultan Razia, he called together some of his
nobles ; and gave directions about her being made his heir. They
ventured to represent to him, that it was scarcely judicious to make
a girl the heir to his throne, when he had able and intelligent sons.
The Sultdn said, ‘I see my sons indulging in drinking and gaming,

1 The Tab-i-Nag. calls him Taj-ul-mulk Mahmud.

2 According to the Tabakat-i-Nagiri (trans., p. 635) these men did not
return to Dehli; but they and a number of other Tajz‘ik officials were mar-
tyred or slain, by the Turk Amirs and the slaves of the household. The
authority of the Tabakat-i-Nasiri is greater than that of the Tabalkat-i-Akbari,
and must be accepted, but both Ferishtah and Badauni have followed the
latter. According to the Tab-i-Nas., it was the breaking out of open hostility
between his mother and Sultdn Razia, which necessitated Sultan Ruknuddin’s
return to Dehli. The people of the city took the side of Razia, attacked the
royal Kasr (castle) and seized Shah Turkén.

8 Major Raverty calls her Raziyyat. Of course, grammatically he is

correct, but she has so long been called Razia that I have called her by that
name.
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and various unlawful and immoral habits. T don’t think that their
arms will be able to support the burden of empire. Razia, although
she is in appearance a woman, yet in her mental qualities she is a
man, and in truth she is better than (my) sons.’

In short, when Sultdn Razia in the year 635 A.H. sat on the
imperial throne, sho again enforced the rules and principles which
had been in vogue during the time of her father; but which had
become meaningless and obsolete in the days of Ruknuddin’s rule;
and she followed the path of justice and generosity.

Nizam-ul-mulk Muhammad Junaidi, who had been the imperial
Vazir, and Maliks Jani and KujI and Malik ‘Izzuddin Ayaz who had
come together from different directions to the court of Razia, show-
ing ingratitude for her favours, assumed a hostile attitude, and
they wrote letters to the nobles in the various provinces; and insti-
gated them to do the same. In this state of things, Malik ‘Izzuddin
Hansi,! Jagirdar of Audh, came towards Dehli with the intention of
aiding Sultan Razia. When he crossed the Ganges the hostile
nobles, who have been already mentioned, advanced and seized him ;
and he, owing to an illness that seized him, died at this time. After
this, within a short time, Sultan Razia by her able dispositions and
vigorous plans? disunited the worthless nobles and threw them into
perplexity, and each one fled in a different direction. Sultan Razia
directed that the fugitives might be pursued. Malik Kuji and his
brother were seized and put to death. Malik Jant was killed in the
province Payal,® and his head was brought to Dehli. Malik Nizam-
ul-Mulk went away among the Sarmur hills, and died there.

I Ho is called Malik Nugrat (Nasrat)-uddin Tayasa‘i the Mu‘izzi in p. 639
of the Tab-i-N&s.; and Major Raverty says in note 7, in the samo page, that ho
was made feudatory of the province of Audh, by Sultan Razia, after the revolt
of Ghidsuddin Muhammad Shah, younger son of Shamsuddin Altamsh, in the
reign of Ruknuddin.

2 Major Raverty apparently objects to this statcment (see noto 2, p. 640
of the Tab-i-N&g. trans.) but I see nothing wrong in it. It is clear from tho
Tab-i-Nag. that the hostile Amirs became disunited, and it is quite possible, and
indeed probable, that this disunion was brought about by Sultan Razia’s able
management.

8 The name is given as Babal, Babul, and Babool by Elliot and Briggs and
in the text of Ferishtah. It is given as Babal in the lith. ed., in MS. A it is
given as Payel, and in MSS. B and C as Bayel and Mayel. Raverty (note 3,



76 SULTAN RAZIA,

When the power of Sultan Razia became greater, and her rule
acquired form and system, the post of Vazir was conferred on
Khwajah Muhazzab, who had been the deputy of Nizam-ul-Mulk
Junaidi, and he received the title of Nizam-ul-mulk. The command
(deputyship) of the army was placed in the charge of Malik Saifud-
din Aibak and the title of Kutlagh Khan was conferred on him.
The province of Lahore was granted to Malik Kabir Khan Ayaz,
and the territories of Lakhnauti, Dival, Darband, and the various
towns and provinces were each made over to & noble. At this very
time Saifuddin Aibak died, and in his place Kutbuddin Hasan! was
appointed ; and he was sent with a large force against the fort of
Rantambor. He relieved and brought out the Musalmans who
were in the fort, and whom the Hindus had besieged after the death
of Sultin Shamsuddin; but took no steps to hold the place. After
he had gone away towards Rantambor, Malik Ikhtiaruddin Aitkin
became the Lord Chamberlain; and Jaméaluddin Yakut® the Abys-
sinian, who had been the lord of the stables, attained to a high position
in the service of Sultain Razia, and became the subject of the
jealousy of the nobles. He attained to such a pitch of intimacy
(with the queen) that when Sultdn Razia mounted, he placed his
hands under her arms and placed her on the animal she rode.?
Sultan Razia came out of the Pardah and wore the dress of a man.

p. 640, Tab-i-Nas. trans.) says Payal or Payil is the name of a very old place,
giving name to the district, on one of the routes from Delhi to Lidianakh.

! He is called indiscriminately Hasan and Husen; but according to
Major Raverty the latter is the correct name. He was the son of ‘Ali Ghari,
and was forced to leave Ghiir through the power of the Mughals.

2 Ferishtah, following our author,~has turned him into an Amir-ul-Umra.
As Major Raverty has pointed out, this title existed from Akbar’s time down-
wards, but was not known in the time of Sult&n Razia. Ziauddin Junaidi was,
however, given the title of Malik-ul-Umra.

8 There has been some controversy as to the actual relationship between
Sultan Razia and the lord of the stables. There is nothing about any help beng
given, by the Amir Akhur to the Queen to mount, in the Tabakat-i-Nasiri; but
what is stated in the Tabakat-i-Akbari and following it, in Ferishtah and
Bada-Gni (the last saying that when she mounted an elephant or horse, she
leant upon Jamaluddin Y&kiit), would very likely give risc to an idea of undue
familiarity. In any case this would give a sufficient excuse to the Turk Maliks
to rebel against a sovereign who was sufficiently energetic to enforce her orders.
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She put on the Kaba (coat) on her person and the Kulah (high cap)
on her head; and sat on the throne; and granted public audience.

In the year 637 A.H., Malik ¢Izzuddin Ayaz, who was the
Governor of Lahore, turned aside from the path of allegiance, and
laid the foundation of hostility. Sultan Razia marched against him;
and he behaved with sincerity and became one of her adherents.
Sultan Razia made over the province of Multin, which had been in
the charge of Malik Kard Kash, also to Malik ‘Tzzuddin; and re-
turned. The same year she marched with a large army towards
Tabarhindah. On the way the Turki nobles attacked her and slew
Jamaluddin Yakit who had been made the Amir-ul-Umra. They
imprisoned Sultan Razia in the fort of Tabarhindah. They also
placed Mu‘izzuddin Bahram Shah, son of Sultin Shamsuddin, on the
throne and took possession of Dehli. At this time Malik Ikhtiarud-
din Altunia who was the governor of Tabarhindah married Sultan
Razia by the nikah ceremony' and Razia came towards Dehli with
the army of Altunia; after havingin a short time collected a body of
Khokhars and Jats and all the Zamindars of those parts, and having
also gained over some of the nobles to her side. Sultan Mu‘izzud-
din Bahram Shah sent Malik Tigin, the younger, with a large army
against her. The two armies met in battle; Sulian Razia wax
defeated ; and went back to Tabarhindah. After a time, she collected
her scattered forces ; and making fresh preparations and collecting
a new supply of munitions of war, she raised the standard of detcr-
mination, and marched towards Dehli. Sultan [Mu‘izzuddin] Bahram
Shah again sent Malik Tigin, the younger, with a large army against
Razia to fight with and destroy her. The two armies met in the
neighbourhood of Kaithal. Again Razia was defeated, and she and
Alttnia fell into the hands of the Zamindars and were slain; and
according to another version they were seized and brought before
Bahram Shah, and he ordered them to be slain. This happencd
on the 25th Rabi‘-ul-awwal 637 a.m.?

1 The Tazkarat-ul-milik and some other works say that Malik Ikhtiarud-
din Altunia forced Razia into the marriage; on the other hand Elphinstons
says, apparently without any authority, that Razia so far gained over
Altunia by the influence of love or ambition that he agreed to marry her. The
truth appears to be that both Razia and Altunia thought that a union
between them would further the interests of both.

2 The account given above varies in some most material particulars from
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The period of Sultdn Razia’s rule extended to three years and
six months and six days.

SurLTaAN Mvu‘izzuDDIN BAHRAM SHAH, SON OF SULTAN
SHAMSUDDIN.

On Monday, the 28th Ramzan 637 a.H., Sultdin Mu‘izzuddin
Bahram Shah ascended the imperial throne, with the consent of the
Nobles and Amirs and Maliks. As Malik Ikhtiar-ud-din,! in consulta-
tion with the vazir of the dominions, Nizéim-ul-mulk, Muhazzab-ud-
din, took up the control of the entire government of the realm into
his hands, and married the sister of Sultan Mu‘izzuddin, who had
formerly been the nikah wife of Kazi Ikhtidruddin, in the nikah
form; and always kept a large elephant tied at his gate, when at
that period none but the Sultdn could keep one. These matters
produced grave suspicions in the mind of the Sultan. The latter
ordered certain desperate men (Fida-is?) and they martyred Malik
Ikhtiar-ud-din with their knives. They also inflicted two wounds on
the side of Malik Muhazzab-ud-din, but he escaped with his life.

After this Malik Badr-ud-din Sunkar Rumi became the Amir
Hajib (Lord Chamberlain). He carried on all affairs of State
according to the ancient laws and customs. It so happened, how-
ever, that Malik Badr-ud-din Sunkar, at the instigation of a band of
turbulent people, conspired with the judges, and other high officers of
State, to bring about a revolution. On Monday, the 17th3 Safar, all

that given in the Tabakit-i-Nasir, which being a contemporary record must be
held to have a highor authority. According to the Tabalat-i-Nasirl, Sultan
Mu‘izzuddin Bahr@m Shdh himself led the army against Sultan Razia, and
Malik Ikhtiyaruddin Alt@nia; and the latter wero routed, and when they
roached Kaithal, the troops who wero with them abandoned them ; and Sultan
Razia and Malik Altiéiniah fell into the hands of the Hindus, and attained
martyrdom. It appears also that the defeat took place on the 24th Rabi‘-ul-
awwal, and Sultan Razia and Malik Alt@inia were slain on the 25th Rabi‘-ul-aw-
wal 638 A.H.

1 This was Malik Ikhtiyaruddin Aitkin, who on account of Mu‘izzuddin
Bahram Shah’s youth was appointed deputy or regent for one year, see p. 649,
Tab-i-Nas. (trans). ¢

? Fida means a sacrifice. A Fida-1 is one who is ready to sacrifice himself
in order to carry out the task assigned to him. The agents of the chief of tho
assassing were so named.

8 The lith. ed. and MS. A have 17th, MS B has 7th, and MS. C rﬂéfu
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the notables met together in the house of the Sadr-ul-mulk (the
chief judge), Tajuddin, who was the Secretary of the kingdom, and
discussed about a change in the empire. They sent the Sadr-ul-
mulk to summon the Nizam-ul-mulk, so that he may also participate
in the consultation. Presently the Sadr-ul-mulk'! gave intimation
of the matter to Sultdn Mu‘izzuddin. He also kept a man, in whom
the Sultan had confidence, concealed in a corner,* and going himself
to Nizam-ul-mulk, informed him of the meeting in which Kazi
Jalaluddin Kashani,® Kazi Kabiruddin, Sheikh Muhammad Saoji¢
and others were present. Nizam-ul-mulk, making an excuse, delayed
his going to another time. The Sadr-ul-mulk represented the facts
to the Sultan, through the man whom he had kept concealed. The
Sultan immediately came to the place of the meeting; dispersed the
men who were there; sent Malik Badruddin Sunkar towards
Badain; and removed Kazi Jalaluddin Kashani from his appoint-
ment ; and after a time when Malik Badruddin came to the court
from Badadn, the Sultan ordered him and Malik Tajuddin Misi®
to be executed. He also ordered Kiazi Shamsuddin, kizi of the
town of Barharah,’ to be thrown under the feet of an elephant. This
became the cause of great fear and alarm to the people.

which may also be taken as a mistake for 17th. The date is, however, given as
the 18th in a translation of the passage in note 5, p. 653, of the trans. of the
Tab-i-Nas., although the 17th is the date in the text of the Tab-i-Nas. itself,
see p. 652 trans.

I This is evidently a mistake. In the Tabakat-i-Nasirl (p. 653 of the
trans,) it is the Nizam-ul-mulk who sent intimation of the conspiracy to the
Sultdn. It is not likely that the Sadr-ul-mulk would give information to the
Sultan, when the conspiracy was being hatched in his own house. Ferishtah
has of course copied the Tab-i-Akb., mistake and all.

2 This also is a mistake. According to the Tab-i-Nas, the Vazir had
a favourite and confidant of the Sultén near him, when tho chief judge
arrived, and he concealed him, and sent him to the Sult@n, as soon as the chief
judge had gone away.

3 The lith. ed. and MSS. B and C have Kashani, MS. A has Kashiani.
The Tab-i-Nas. says Kasani. Kasaén is the name of a village near Samarkand
and Kash&n is a city in Irak.

4 The lith. ed. and two of the MSS. have S&oji and the third MS. Saochi.
In the Tab-i-Nag. the man is called Sheikh Muhammad-i-Shami (the Syrian).

5 Ho was so called in the lith. ed. and in all the MSS. In the Tab-i-
Nasiri he is called T&juddin *Ali Masawi.

6 The name of the town is given as Manahrah in the lith. ed, and Barharah



80 SULTAN MU‘IZZUDDIN BAHRAM SHAH,

In the midst of these things, on Monday the 16th Jamadi-ul-
Akhar 639 a.H., the Mughal armies of Chengiz Khan came and
invested Lahore. Malik Kara Kash, who was the Governor of
Lahore, found that the people of the city would not help him. He
came out of the city in the middle of the night and started towards
Dehli. The city of Lahore was ruined and desolated by the cruelties
of the followers of Chengiz Khan, and an immense number of people
were made prisoners. When this news reached the Sultan, he
collected the nobles in the White Castle, and made them swear
allegiance to him anew, and sent Malik Nizam-ul-mulk, the Vazir of
the empire, with other nobles towards Lahore to check the havoc
caused by the Mughals.! When the army reached the river Bedh
near the town of Sultanpur, the Nizam-ul-mulk, who was at heart
hostile to the Sultan, turned the hearts of the nobles from him, and
laying the foundation of deceit and treachery, sent a representation
to the Sultan, to the effect that nothing could be expected from the
body of treacherous men, who had been sent with him; and that
the disturbance would not be quelled, unless the Sultan should
himself march to that part of the country. The Sultan, out of his
simplicity and the confidence which he reposed in him, wrote in
reply, that those persons deserved to be executed, and otherwise
punished, and at the right moment they would get their deserts;
but that he should, for a few days, temporize with them. Nizam-ul-
mulk showed the farman to the nobles, and made them all join him.

When the Sultan became aware of these things, he sent His
Reverence the Sheikh-ul-Islam, Sheikh Kutbuddin Bakhhtiar Ushx,

or Marharah in the MSS, 1In the Tabakat-i-Nasiri, seo p. 6567 of the trans., the
place is called Mihir. Kazi Shamsuddin of Mihir was thrown before the feet of
an elophant according to the Tab-i-Nas. al#b; but this was not because he was
in any way connected with the plot; but at the instance of a darwesh whom the
Kazl had persecuted, and who had now gained an ascendancy over the Sultan.

L It appears that the army which was sent to repel the Mughals, or to
relieve Lahore, or to guard the frontier (all these objects were mentioned), was
under the commmand of Malik Kutbuddin Husen, the son of Ah the Ghiri, and
the Vazir only accompanied it in a civil capacity. .’

2 Here again our author has fallen into an error. According to the
Tabakat-i-Nasiri, it was the Sheikh-ul-Isldm S8ayyad Kutbuddin that was sent
to the army. Khwajah Kutbuddin Bakhtiar Ushi, who was venerated as a
saint, and after whom the Kutb Minarah at Dehli is named, died six years
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in order to reassure the nobles; but they could not in any way be
satisfied. The Sheikh returned to Dehli. After that Nizam-ul-
mulk and all the nobles came to Dehli in order to destroy Sultin
Mu‘izzuddin. They besieged him, and every day conflicts took
place.

As the citizens were at one with the nobles, on Saturday the
8th of Zi-Kadah of that year they seized the city ;! and after keeping
Sultan Mu‘izzuddin, under imprisonment for a few days, had him
executed.

The period of his reign was two years, and one month and
fifteen days.
SuLTaN ‘ALAUDDIN MAS‘OD NifAH.

When Sultan Bahram Shah was put to death, Malik ‘Izzuddin
Balban sat on the throne? at Dehli, and issued a proclamation in
the city. The Amirs and Maliks did not approve of this; and
presently they brought out Sultan Nasiruddin and Sultan Jalalud-
din, sons of Sultan Shamsuddin Altamsh, and Sultan ‘Alauddin
Mas¢id Shah, son of Sultan Ruknuddin, who were under imprison-
ment in the White Castle; and they placed Sultan ‘Alauddin Mas‘ud
Shah on the throne, in Dehli, in the month of Zi-Kadah 639 a.u.
Malik Kutbuddin Hasan was honoured with the dignity of the

previous to this time. It appears also that the Sheikh-ul-Tslam, instead of
trying to allay the sedition, used his endeavours in stirring it up, and in aug-
menting it. See Tab-i-Nas. trans., p. 658-9, and note 2, p. 658.

1 The fighting round and in the city went on from the 19th Sh‘aban to the
8th of Zikadah, about seventy-seven days, and during this time, according to the
Tab-i-Nag., great numbers of people perished, and others were disabled, and all
the environs of the city were destroyed. It appears that the disturbances were
prolonged, because the Sultan was under the influenco of a head Farash who
used to be styled Fakhruddin Mub&rak Sh&h Farrukhi, and the latter would
in no way assent to an accommodation. We do not know the terms of the pro-
posed accommodation; but as they in all probability meant either the imprison-
ment or the death of his patron, we can not very well blame the head Farash.
See T.N. trans., p. 659.

2 It is not quite clear whether he actually sat on the throne. It is said in
one place in the notes to the Tab-i-Né&s, that he proceeded to the royal Kasr and
issued a proclamation, intimating his assumption of the sovereignty. In the
text, however (p. 661 of the trans.), it appears that he assumed the throne within
the royal residence.
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Naib or deputy of the empire, and Muhazzabuddin Nizam-ul-mulk
with that of the Vazir. Malik Kard Kash became the Lord Cham-
berlain. As Malik Nizém-ul-mulk wanted to take the bride of the
empire in his arms without participation by any one else,! the
Amirs and the great men of the age combined together and put
him to death, on Wednesday the 2nd Jamadi-ul-Awwal 640 A.H.

Couplet.

One should not be proud of his greatness like a flower,
For a strong flood soon carries away the embankment.?

The post of Vazir was conferred on the Sadr-ul-mulk Najm-ud-din
Abu Bakr; and Ghiasuddin Balban,® who at that time had the title
of Ulugh Khan, became the Lord Chamberlain; Nagore, Sind and
Ajmir were entrusted to Malik ‘Izzuddin Balban the elder; the
parganah of Bada-in was placed in charge of Malik Tajuddin; and
all the parganahs in the empire were distributed among the Amirs
according to their circumstances; and the affairs of the kingdom
were put in order ; and the people became contented and happy.

At this tlme, Malik ‘Izzuddin Tughd Khan,* who went towards

lThls is a ﬁguratxve way of saying that he wished to usurp the whole
power. According to the Tab-i-Nas. trans., p. 662, he appropriated the district
of Kol as his own fief; he had previously established the naubat and stationed
an elephant at the gate of his residence. He also took all functions out of the
hands of the Turk Amirs. It appears that he was put to death within the
camp before the city of Dehli, in the plain of the Rani’s reservoir.

2 The meaning of the couplet is not very clear; but I think the above i3 a
correct translation.

3 There is a certain amount of confusion as to the two Balbans in the
Tabakat-i-Akbari, and consequently in Ferishtah, who copies it almost verba-
tim. The fief of Nagore was conferred on Malik ‘Izzuddin Balban-i-Kashlu
Khan, together with permission to have an elephant, to indicate that he belonged
to the royal family. He was either the son-in-law or brother-in-law of Sultan
8hamsuddin Altamsh. It was also he who had attempted to make himself the
king. Nagore, Mandwar, and Ajmir were afterwards conferred on him., The
other Balban was Ghifsuddin Balban-i-Khurd, who afterwards became Ulugh
Khan.

4 His full name according to the Tab-i-N&s. was ‘Izzuddin Tughril-i-Tugh@n
Khan. Kazi Jalaluddin was the K&zi and not the Hakim of Audh; otherwise
the account given in the Tab-i-Akb. is correct. Ferishtah, however, changed
Asha'ri into S8ankuri.
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Lakhnauti, his own territory, sent the Sharf-ul-mulk, the Asha‘ri, to
Sultan ‘Alduddin. The Sultan sent a red canopy and a especial
robe of honor towards Lakhnauti for ‘Izzuddin Tughd Khan, by the
hand of Kazi Jaldluddin, the ruler of Audh. He also released both
his uncles from prison ; and placed the territory of Kanouj in charge
of Malik Jalaluddin; and that of Bahraich! with its dependencies in
that of Malik Nasiruddin; and they left marks of their beneficence
on the face of time in those territories.

In the year 642 a.H. the Mughal armies® came into the terri-
tory of Lakhnauti. It is surmised that they came by the route by
which Muhammad Bakhtiar had marched towards Tibbat and Khita.
Sultdn ‘Alauddin sent Taimur Khan and Kara Beg?® to Lakhnauti
with a large army to aid ‘Izzuddin Tughan. After the Mughals had
been defeated, and had gone away, hostilities arose between ‘Izzud-
din Tughan and Malik Kara Beg. The Sultan conferred Lakhnauti

! Major Raverty calls this Bhardij. The name is distinctly Bahraich in
the lith. ed. and in one of the MSS. It may be Bharanj or Bharaij in the other
MSS. Malik Nasiruddin was then only fifteen years of age, and the other was
still younger.

2 This is a ridiculous error, as Major Raverty calls it. Itjhas been copied
by Badaiini and Ferishtah and from the latter by his English translators; and
from them by English writers generally, including those of Handbooks and
Manuals. The author of the Tabakat-i-Nasirl was at the time staying in the
Lakhnauti territory, and neither ho nor the authors of the Tarikh-i-Mubarak
Shahi, the Rauzat-us-Safa and the Zubda-ut-Tawarikh mention any invasion of
the Lakhnauti country by the Mughals. What Minhaj wrote was y& ;(\2-(6 ;U?—(
o] ' s3] Somo careless copyist changed jﬁélé into w'& _,.\fqe and
Nizamuddin Ahmad used the incorrect copy in compiling his history, and other
writers copied him. See p. 663, and note 8, in the same page of the Tab-i-Nas.
trans. The invaders were not the Mughals, but the Hindus from Jajnagar (or
Tippera) which must not be confounded with Jajpur in Orissa.

3 There is apparently some confusion in these names. According to the
Tabaliat-i-Nasirl (trans., p. 666) the reinforcements wore sent under one Malik,
who was named Malik Kamaruddin Kiran-i-Tamur Khan. Thomas (Pathan
Kings, p. 121) calls him Tamar Khan. There is no Malik of the name of Kara
Beg in sec. xxii of the Tabakat-i-N&siri which is about the Shamsiah Malik.
It would appear, therefore, that Nizamuddin Ahmad made two men out of
Kamaruddin Kiran-i-Tamur Khan and called them Taimur Khan and Kara Beg.
Major Ravorty is, however, wrong when he says (note 9, p. 666) that ‘‘ the
Tabakat-i-Akbari ** turns Malik Kamaruddin Kirén Tamur Khan *‘into Izzud-
din Tugh@n Timar Khan Kara Beg and makes him quarrel with himself,”’ etc.
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on Taimur Khan, and Tughan Khén came to Dehli in the service of
the Sultan. At this time news came that the Mughal armies had
reached the neighbourhood of Uchch. The Sultan called his nobles
and with great promptitude started towards Uchch. When he
reached the bank of the river Biah, the Mughal armies, who were
besieging Uchch, turned their faces, and fled. The Sultdn returned to
Dehli, crowned with triumph and victory.

After this, Sultan ‘Alduddin turned away from the path of
justice and righteousness, and took to the practice of malevolence.!
Owing to this, all the nobles and great men turned from him, and
combining together, wrote letters to Sultan Nasiruddin Mahmid,
the son of Sultan Shamsuddin, who at the time was in Bahraich,
and summoned him. When Sultan Nagiruddin Mahmid reached
Dehli, Sultan ‘Alauddin Mas‘ud Shah was seized and imprisoned in
the year 644 a.H.,” and while under imprisonment he died.

The period of his reign was four years, one month and one day..

SuLTAN NASIRUDDIN MAHMOUD.

[He was] the youngest son of Sultdn Shamsuddin Altamsh and
a just and God-fearing king, and of a holy and humble disposition.
He befriended learned and pious men; and cherished the wise and the
great. His praiseworthy and beneficent qualities are clearly shown
in the Tabakdt-i-Nasiri, which was compiled in his name. He
ascended the imperial throne in the year 644 aA.H.? The Amirs and
Maliks of the period rendered homage to him; and gifts and presenta-
tions were made, to the small and the great. Poets wrote triumphal

! Niz8muddin Ahinad has not attempted to explain this sudden change in
the character of the Sultdn. 'The agthor of the Tabakat-i-Nasiri (see trans.,
p- 668) says he came under the influence of a number of very worthless persons
in the army, and he became addicted to the practice of seizing and killing his
Maliks. He also became addicted to sensuality, pleasure, drinking and the chase
to excess. Thomas says that camp life and military associations had a bad
effect on the Sultdn’s morals, and he took to evil courses and uncontrolled
cruelties. The deposition of Alduddin Mas‘ud Shah appears to have been
effected with very little bloodshed. For the way*in which Nagiruddin was
gmuggled from Bahraich into Dehli, see Tab-i-Nas. trans., p. 677.

2 On the 23rd Muharram

8 On the same day on which ‘Alauddin Mas‘Gd was imprisoned, i.e. the
23rd Muharram.
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odes, and were made happy with gifts and rewards. Kazi Minhaj
wrote a long ode and presented it (to the Sultdn); the following are a
few couplets from it :—

That great lord who is a Hatim ! in generosity, and a Rustam ?
in energy,

Is Nasiruddunia-wa-din Mahmd, the son of Altamsh.

That world-king! from whose palace the roof of the sky,

In elevation and grandeur, thou mayest say is lower! 3

The coin! what pride doth it feel from his auspicious title !

The prayer! how glorified is it by his fortunate name!

The post of Vazir was conferred on Malik Ghidsuddin Balban,
who had been a slave, and also the son-in-law of his (the Sultan’s)
father.* He was honoured with the title of Ulugh Khan, and a canopy
and a durbash (or two-branched baton) were conferred on him, and
the whole of the administration of the empire was entrusted to his
mature judgment. They say, that at the time of making over the
charge of affairs to Ulugh Khan, (the Sultdn) said, ‘I am making
thee my deputy, and am delivering the control of the affairs of the
empire into thy hands. Do nothing for which in the presence of
the Almighty thou mayest not be able to answer, and mayest
make me and thyself abashed and ashamed.” Malik Balban Ulugh
Khan laid the foundations of the rules of the deputyship in such a
way, that every thing connected with the government came under his

1 A man whose name has become proverbial as a pattern of generosity.

2 The great national hero of ancient Persia.

3 There are different readings of a part of the line and the meaning is not
quite clear. The lith. ed. has \Saw! (Sdes (a5 ))3 ‘?5,5, MS. A has () 30 &
sl Ulyt, MS. B Semil o358 &5 (358 and MS. C el 2y syt 8 58

4 According to Major Raverty this is incorrect. According to him it was
‘Tzzuddin Balban-i-Kashlu Khan who, if either of the two Balbans were, was
the son-in-law or brother in-law (sister’s husband) of Sultan Shamsuddin
Altamsh. Our author was of course wrong when hesaid in an earlier part, when
describing the various appointments, after the death of Malik Niz&m-ul-mulk
Muhazzabuddin, that Malik Ghidsuddin Balban had then the title of Ulugh Khan,
It appears that the title was not conferred on him, even at the accession of
Sultdn Nasiruddin. It was conferred on him three years later, in 647 a.m.
It appears also that the statement that a canopy and a durb&@sh were granted
to Ghidsuddin Balban by Sultan Nasiruddin at the very beginning of his reign
is incorrect.
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direct control, and no one else had any power in the transaction of
any affairs of State.

In the month of Rajab, in the year of his accession, Sultin
Nasiruddin marched with his army towards Multdn,! and on the
1st of the month of Zikddah, he crossed the river of Lahore (the
Réavi), and making Ulugh Khan the commander of the forces, sent him
to the Jdd hills, and the districts of Nandanah, and himself stayed
for ten days on the bank of the Sind.* TUlugh Khan plundered and
ravaged the Jid hills, and all that country; and slew?® the Kho-
khars and other turbulent people living there; and then returned to
the presence of the Sultan. The latter then on account of the want
of fodder returned to Dehli.¢

On the 2nd Sha‘ban in the year 645 A.H. the Sultan marched
towards the Doab,’ and that same year (on the) 10th Zikadah he
set out towards Karah,® and there made Ulugh Khan the com-
mander of the forces, and the latter went forward and plundered
and ravaged the places Dalki and Malki,” and returned to the
service of the Sultan.

1 The lith. ed. as well as all the MSS. read Multan; but all the MSS. of
the Tabalat-i-Nagiri oxcept two have Banian, which must have beon at that
time the name of the hilly tract west of the upper part of the Sind-Sagar
Doabah. See notes 5 and 6, p. 677, Tab-i-Nas. trans.

2 So in the MSS. and in the lith. ed., but according to the Tab-i-Nas.
(trans., p. 678, and note 1) it was on the bank of the Sidharah or Sddhara
(a name of a part of the Chinab) that the Sult@n encamped with the camp, the
followers, the heavy material, and the elephants.

3 This plundering and ravaging and slaying do not indicate a very holy
and humble disposition. )

4 According to the Tabakat-i-Nasiri it was Ulugh Khan who had to
return owing to the difficulty of obtaining subsistence and necessaries for his
troops.

6 According to the Tab-i-Nag. (trans., p. 679) a very strong fort called
Talsandah was first taken in the Kanauj country.

6 'I'he expedition to IKarah was probably rendered necessary owing to the
feudatory of that place, Malik Ikhtiaruddin Kara-Kush Khan-i-Aitkin, having
been killed in the preceding year. It cannot, hewever, be ascertained by
whom and how he was killed.

7 This phrase has been a puzzle. In one place in the Tab-i-Nas. (p. 682
of the trans.) it has been written with a 9 between Dalki and Malki, but in
another place (p. 817 of the trans.) there is no 3 between these words. The
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On the 6th of the month of Sha‘ban of the year 646 a.H., the
Sultan marched against Rantambor ; and punished the contumacious
people of that neighbourhood, and then returned to Dehli. In the
same year, Kazi ‘Imaduddin Shafurkhani! was accused, and was
dismissed from his office ; and then through the exertions of ‘Imad-
uddin Raihan put to death.

In the year 647 A.H. the Sultin espoused the daughter of
Ulugh Khan, and in the following year (648 A.H.) he marched with
his army in the direction of Multin and on the bank of the river
Biah, Sher Khan joined the imperial army. The Sultan on the
6th Rabi‘ul-awwal of the same year reached Multan, and after a few
days Malik ‘Izzuddin was allowed to go towards Uchch, while the
Sultan himself returned to Dehli.?

context would seem to show, that in the first place Dalki and Malki is in
tended to mean a tract of country, while in the second place Dalki Malki, or as
Major Raverty transliterates the words here, Dalaki of Malaki is & Ranah. All
that is definitely stated is that this Rénah’s territory was in the vicinity of
the River Jin or Jamna, which is between Kalanjar and Karah; that he had
numerous followers and much wealth; and that the country was extremely
difficult, and it had never up to that time been reached by Musalinan troops.
A guess was hazarded that Dalki Malki was Trailokya Varma Deva, the
10th Kiﬁg of the Chandel dynasty, who reigned at Mahoba, Kalanjar, etc., but
his accession took place in a.p, 1202, and he could not have been contem-
poraneous with Sultén Nasiruddin Mahmud.

1 The name of the Kazl is given in the Tab-i-Nas. (p. 685 of the trans.) as
Kazi Jamaluddin the Shafurghani. In the Tab-i-Akbari the name of the man,
through whose exertions he was put to death, has evidently been given to him
by mistake. It does not appear what he was accused of.

2 In the lith. ed. the year is put down as 640, and in two of the MSS. as
648 A.H.; the correct date is 647 A.H.

3 The transactions of the year 648 A.M. have been translated as they are
given in the book ; but they are all incorrect, and are duc to a misrcading of
the corresponding passages in the Tabakat-i-Nasiri by Nizamuddin Ahmad,
who has of course been followed, as usual, by Ferishtah and others. In the
Tabakat-i-Nasiri (trans., p. 687), the author says that he went to Multan, and
there, on the 11th Safar, he obtained an interview with Malik Sher Khan-i-
Sunkar, on the bank of the Biah, and then he proceeded towards Multan, which
he reached on the 6th Rabi‘ul-awwal. There he had an interview with Malik
‘Izzuddin Balban-i-Kashlu Kh&n. Then the author started for Dehli and
Malik *Izzuddin returned to Uchch, The peregrinations of Maulan& Minh&jud-
din have thus been converted into the expeditions of the Sultan.
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In the year 649 a.H. Malik ‘Izzuddin Balban, the feudatory of
of Nagore, swerved from the path of allegiance and acted in a re-
fractory manner. Sultdn Nasiruddin set out towards Nagore, in
order to quell the insurrection. Malik ‘Izzuddin being unable to with-
stand (him), begged for protection, and joined the imperial court.
Sultan Nasiruddin then came to Dehli accompanied by triumph and
vietory. The same year he again set out with a large army, on the
5th Sha‘ban,! towards Gwaliar, Chanderi and Malwah ; and Jahar
Deo,? who was the Raja of that territory, advanced to meet him, with
five .thousand horsemen, and two hundred thousand infantry; but
after a great battle, he was defeated ; and the fort of Nirwar was
taken by assault; and the Sultan returned to his capital with victory
and renown. In this war many acts of great intrepedity and bravery
were performed by Ulugh Khan Balban. After this, Sher Khan
started from Multan, with the intention of taking Uchch, and Malik
‘Izzuddin Balban also went to Uchch from Nagore, and having sur-
rendered the fort of Ucheh to Sher Khan, went and joined the
service of the Sultin; and the territory of Badain was assigned to
him as his Jagir.?

Then, on the 22nd Shawwal in the year 650 A.H., the Sultan set
out for Uchch and Multan, by way of Lahore.* In the course of
this expedition, Kutlugh Khan came to the Sultan, from the territory

1 According to the Tabakat-i-Nasirl (trans., p. 690) this expedition set out
on Tuesday, the 25th Sha‘bén.

2 There is a long note about this Raja’s name (note 1, p. 690) in the
translation of the Tabakat-i-Nasgiri. The name is given by different authors as
Chahar or Jahar, Achar or Deo. Major Raverty says, that the name is given
as Achar Deo in the Tabakat-i-Akbari, but it is given as J&har Deo in the lith.
ed. as well as in the three MSS. T have collated. Nirwar or Nurwar is situated
about 40 miles to the west of Bhup8l. According to Tod it was founded by
the Kachwahah Rajputs, and was the abode of Raja Nala, whose descendants
continued to hold it, through all the vicissitudes of Tatar and Mughal dominion,
till it was taken by the Mahrattas.

8 These events happened, according to the Tabakat-i-Nasiri, before the
expedition to Gwalior, Chanderi and Malwah and not after, see Tab-i-Nagiri
trans. p. 689. v

¢ Major Raverty surmises that the object of marching to Uchch and
Multén by way of Lahore was to deprive Bher Khan, the kinsman of Ulugh
Khan, of these places and that this was the first move of the Raihani plot
-against Ulugh Khan.
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of Sansawdn,' and Kaghlu Khan ‘Tzzuddin from Bada-iin with their
troops, and accompanied him to the bank of the Biah. In the year
651 A.H.* Ulugh Khan received permission to go towards Sewalik
and Hansi which formed his fief. The post of Vazir was entrusted
to the ‘Ain-ul-mulk Muhammad Junaidi; Malik ‘Izzuddin Kashlu
Khan?® became the Lord Chamberlain, and the fief of Karah was
conferred on Aibak, who was the brother of the Khan-i-A‘zam.
‘Imaduddin Raihdn became the Vakil-i-Darbar; and the Sultan
came back to Dehli. Again, in the early part of Shawwal, of the
same year, he set out from Dehli, and arrived in the neighbourhood
of the river Biah. Thence he sent forward his troops, and conquered
Tabarhindah, Uchch and Multan, which had been in the possession
of Sher Khan (but had been wrested from him) when he was defeated
by the people of Sind ; and went away to Turkistin. He placed
them in charge of Arslan Khan+ and then returned (to Dehli).

! This is a mistake for Bhidnah or Bignah. Ferishtah has, of course,
copied the mistake.

2 It appears from the Tab-i-Nas, trans.. p. 693, that towards the end of
650, ‘lmaduddin Raih@n secrotly subverted the mind of the Sultan and the
Maliks towards (against ?) Ulugh Khan-i A’zam : and accordingly, at the begin-
ning of the next year Ulugh Khan was sent away to his fief, and men belonging
to the party opposed to him, received the high appointments at the capital.

3 Thoere 18 some confusion here. According the Tabakat-i-Nasiri, see
trans., p. 694, it was Saifuddin Aibak i-Xashlt Khén, who was the brother of
Khan-i-A‘zam, and had been the Lord (hamberlain. as well as the chief master
of the ceremonies, that was given the fief of Karah and was sent there. Ap-
parently he has been divided into two; one part of him named ‘Izzuddin
Kashlu Khan has been made Lord (‘hamberlain; and the other half sent to
Karah. Major Raverty says that the same mistake has been committed in
Elliot.

¢ It would appoar that Tabarhindah, Uchch and Multan were in the pos-
session of Malik Sher Khan’s adherents ; and the Sultdn took them from those
people, and made them over to Malik Tajuddin Arslan Khéan-i-Sanjar, which are
the full name and title of the person, who is called Arslan Khan in the text.
Under these circumstances Raverty thought that conquering or subduing would
be rather too strong to express the meaning, though the expression used in
both the Tabakat-i-Nasiri and the Tabakat-i-Akbari is 809+ £, It is not
quite clear by whom Malik Sher Khan was defeated. In some copies of the
Tabakat-i-Nasirl he is said to have been defeated on the bank ( J4S) of the
Sind. TIn other copies instead of )U{ we have )L&‘ , and the meaning is he

12
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In the year 652 a.H., (the Sult@n) marched with his troops into
the regions of the foot hills of Bijnor' and obtained much booty.
He then crossed the Ganges at Mianpur, and marched along the skirts
of the mountains as far as the river Rahab. And at Baklahmani,
on Sunday, the 15th of the month of Safar in 652 a.H., Malik
‘Izzuddin Razi-ul-mulk, while in a state of intoxication,” was
martyred by the Zamindars of those parts. The Sultan in order to
avenge his murder, marched towards Kaithal and Kuhram, and after
punishing the turbulent people of the neighbourhood, went in the
direction of Badaiin. He remained there for a few days, and then
came to Dehli. He remained there for five months in pleasure and
enjoyment. Inteliigence wasthen received that some Amirs, such as
Arslan Khan, and But Khan Aibak Khitai, and Ulugh Khan-i-Azam,
had, in concert with Malik Jalaluddin, commenced hostilities.

The Sultdn set out from Dehli in the direction of Tabarhindah.
When he arrived in the neighbourhood of Hansi, the Amirs who
have been mentioned also moved towards Kuhram and Kaithal.?®
Here some people acted as intermediaries, and peace was established ;

was defeated by the infidels of Sind. Niz@muddin Ahmad has changed YV )L\z§
for wisdw and he has as usual been followed by Ferishtah, who in his
turn has been followed by most later historians.

1 Major Raverty says, that in the account of this expedition, the author
of the Tabakat-i-Akbari has shown great ignorance of geography, and has made
a precious hash of two expeditions and made them into one. I do not think,
however, that there were two expeditions. The author of the Tabakat-i-
Nasiri certainly used the word expedition in the plural, but as the Sultan left
Dehli in the beginning of the year, and reached Badaiin on the 19th Safar, there
could not have been two expeditions, in the time, which barely exceeded six
weeks. Nizamuddin Ahmad, however, was in error in writing Kaithal for
Kathiher, and also in inserting the name of Kuhram.

2 This is an absurd mistake. Malik ‘Izzuddin Razi-ul-mulk was a
native of (09, or his family came from that place. The word Durmashi,
however, was read by the author of the Tabakat-i Akbari, as w)a “in a
state of intoxication,”’ and Ferishtah of course followed him.

3 What actually happened is not quite clear; but it appears that there
was a slight skirmish, and the greatest confusion arbse in the Sultan’s camp.
After that the Sultan made a retrograde movement towards Hansi, and Malik
Jaldluddin Mas‘Gd Shah his brother, and Ulugh Khan-i-A‘zam, and other
Maliks marched towards Kaithal. Then the negotiation commenced and a peace
was patched up. See Tab-i-N&g. trans., p. 697, and also p. 831.
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and they (the refractory Amirs) entered into engagements and took
oath, and did service to the Sultdn. The Sultdin made over the
rule of the territory of Lahore to Malik Jalaluddin, and returned to
Pehli.

In the year 653 A.H., the Sultan became annoyed with his
mother, Malkah-i-Jahan, who had married! (after the death of
Sultan Shamsuddin Altamsh) Kutlugh Khan, and the province of
Audh being assigned to the latter, as his fief, he was permitted, to
start in that direction; in a short time, however, he was moved
from there and sent to Bahraich. He fled from there and went to
Santur.? Malik Izzuddin Kashlu Khan and certain other Amirs
combined with him and laid the foundations of an insurrection.
The Sultan sent Ulugh Khan-i-Balban with a large army against
them.? When the two armies approached each other, a number of
people in Dehli, such as the Sheikh-ul-lslam, Sayyad Kutbuddin
and Kazi Shamsuddin Bahraichi, invited Kutlugh Khan and Kashlu

There was probablv some secrecy about this marriage : see note 9, p. 701
of the Tab-i-Nas. trans.

2 It appears from the Tab-i-Nas. trans., p. 703, that Kutlugh Khéan refused
to leave the province of Audh: and Malik Bak Tamur was sent with a force
to expel him. The two forces met in the neighbourhood of Badain, and Malik
Bak Tamur was killed. Then the Sultan set out with his forces towards Audh.
Kutlugh Khan retired before him. Then the Sult&n moved towards some
place called Kalair, and sent Ulugh Khén in pursuit of Kutlugh Khén. After
& while Ulugh Khan returned with great booty, and the Sultan and he went
back to Dehli. Kutlugh Khan then moved towards Karah and Manikpur, but
‘was defeated by the feudatory of that territory. Then he went in the direction
of Santur. Tab-i-Nas. trans., p. 703 et geq.

3 Kutlugh Khén appears to have gone to Santur, en route to the Biah and
Lahore. Here he was aided by the Hindu chieftains, but Ulugh Khan was sent
there with an army. After some fighting, however, he returned to Dehli; and
then Kutlugh Khan was joined by ‘Izzuddin Kashlu Khan and others; after
which Ulugh Khan was again sent with an army against them. The rebel
Amirs then entered into correspondence with the disaffected nobles, in the
city, and attempted to surprise it by making a forced march. Ulugh Khan,
however, sent news of all this to the Sultdn. The latter then ordered the
disaffected nobles to leave the capital, and to go away to their fiefs, and arrange-
ments were made to defend the capital, by appointing Amirs, heads of families,
and respectable person to the ramparts. Malik Badruddin Sunkar Rumi, the
feudatory of Bianah, also came to the capital with a body of his troops, and
helped to defend it,
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Khan to come to the capital, and to seize it; and they also secretly
invited the citizens to submit to them. Ulugh Khan-i-Balban became
aware of this, represented the true state of things to the Sultan, and
suggested that he should disperse the persons concerned. The
Sultan issued the necessary orders ; and the Amirs belonging to the
hostile party had to go away to their fiefs. When Kutlugh Khan
and Malik Kashlu Khan came to Dehli from Samanah, having
traversed a hundred karok in two days, they did not find their
partisans there. They also then dispersed. Ulugh Khan-i-Balban
arrived immediately behind them, in the service of the Sult@n.

At the end of this year the Mughal armies arrived in the neigh-
bourhood of Uchch and Multdn; and the Sultain marched to repel
them, but they retired without fighting and the Sultan also re-
turned.! He then sent Malik Jalaluddin Jani,* on whom he conferred
a robe of honour, towards Lakhnauti. In the year 657 A.H., two
elephants and gems and much valuable cloth arrived from Lakh-
nauti. Malik ‘Tzzuddin Kashlu Khéan, who has been previously
mentioned, died in the month of Rajab that same year.

They say that Sultan Nasiruddin wrote every year two copies
of the Kuran,® and spent the money for which he sold them on his
own food. Once, it so happened, that a copy of the Kuran, which
had been written by the Sultin, was bought by one of the Amirs for
a price higher (than what it was really worth). When the Sultan
came to know of this, he was displeased, and ordered that thence-
forward the Kurans written by him should be sold secretly at the usual
price. It has also been narrated, that the Sultan had no attendant
or maidservant except his wife, and the latter used to cook his food.
One day she said to him, that her hands a.lways ached on account of

! The Sultan 8 army dld not march beyond sxght of the capltul The
Mughals ravaged the frontier districts, and then withdrew.

% He is called elsewhere Jaldluddin Kulich Khan, son of Malik ‘Alguddin
Jani. He was suspected of disaffection, but made his submission, and then the
fief of Lakhnauti was conferred on him.

8 Major Raverty disbelieves these anecdotex, and doubtless there is a
great deal of exaggeration in them; but the Sultdn cdrtainly led a simple and
homely life, and he also undoubtedly copied the Kuran. Ibn Batuta, on his
visit to Dehli, saw & specimen of his calligraphy. Thomas says, that his

excellence in penmanship, possibly, had its influence on the execution and finish
of the legends of his coins.
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her having to cook the bread. It would be better if he would buy
her a slave-girl, who would make the bread. The Sultan said in reply :
that the royal treasury belonged to the servants of God (the people),
and not to him, that he could buy a maid-servant for her with
(the money in) it. If she would be patient, the great God would
recompense her well for it in the life to come.

Couplel.

The world to the wakeful eye is a dream,
The wise on dreams do not set their hearts.

[n the year 663 a.H. the Sultan fell ill, and on the 11th Jama-
di-ul-awwal in the year 664 a.H., he left this world for the next.

He left no offspring. His reign lasted for nineteen years and three
months and a few days.

SULTAN (inIASUDDIN BaLBAN.

When Sultan Nasiruddin died, all the Amirs and Maliks placed
Ulugh Khan-i-Balban, who was called Balban-i-Khurd, on the imperial
throne, in the White Kasr (castle), in the year 664 a.H.; and the
allegiance of the nobility and the common people was bound up
to his throne. Sultan Ghiasuddin had been a slave of Sultdn
Shamsuddin, of the body known as the forty slaves Sultdn Sham-
suddin had forty Turkish slaves, every one of whom attained to the
rank of an Amir, and the wnole body of them was known as the
Chehalgani (the brotherhood or company of forty). Sultdn Ghias-
uddin was a king, wise, mature, of dignified mien, and possessed
of great experience. He acted in all cases intelligently and wisely.

Couplets.
What valuable asset is a knowledge of the world ;
May the world be never lacking in it,
That man doth raise his head in the world,
Who in this world doth wisdom have.

He never entrusted the affairs of the empire except to the wise
and the great, and never allowed base and low people to interfere
in them. He never appointed any one to a post, or entrusted any
one with any business, until the antecedents, integrity, goodness
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and piety of the man were clearly established, and he took great
pains in the verification of a man’s family history; and made careful
enquiries about it. If after he had appointed any one to a post, he
had reason to suspect any defect in his personal character or quali-
fications, he at once removed him. To the end of the reign, which
extended to twenty-two years, he never held any converse with low
people ; and never allowed jesters and buffoons to enter his court.
They say, that there was a notable man, of the name of Fakhr
Amani, who had served the Sultan for a number of years. He went
to one of the favourites of the Sultdn, and begged him, and also
offered to pay him a large sum of money, if he could induce the Sul-
tan once to grant him an interview, in which he would make a large
offering in cash and valuables. When this was represented to the
Sultan, he said that the man was an Amir of the bazar, and if he
should hold any conversation with him, the awe in the heart of the
common people for the Sultan would disappear ; and there would be
a diminution in his greatness and grandeur. All the attributes of
the Sultdn were praiseworthy; and in justice and righteousness,
not one of the previous Sultins could equal him. It is narrated
that Malik Bakbak, the chief of the bodyguard, struck a farash
(servant employed in spreading carpets and arranging furniture) in
his employ some strokes with a stick, and the man died under the
blows. The said Malik Bakbak was slain (by order of the Sultan),
in retaliation for the offence, under the bastinado. Haibat Khan,
the father of Malik Kiran ‘Alai, who was a favoured slave of the
Sultan, while in a state of intoxication, killed a man. The heirs of
the murdered man came to the Sultdn, and prayed for justice. The
Sultin ordered that Haibat Khan should receive five hundred
strokes of a stick; and should moreover be delivered over to the
widow of the murdered man. People interceded with her; and
settled that he should pay her fifty thousand tangihs; and he was
thus delivered from that woman. Haibat Khan never after this
came out of his house, for shame, to the day of his death. In the
same way, some of the other Amirs suffered, according to the law
of retaliation, for the unjust deaths they had caused. It did not
make any difference to the Sultan that the murderer was an Amir
or a Malik ; and the murdered man belonged to the vulgar or baser
classes. The Sultan used to attend the assemblies of pious men
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and to listen to sermons, and used to weep with the exuberance of
his feelings. He faithfully attended to all the behests, and the
prohibitions, of religion. The rules of empire and the laws of
government, which had fallen into desuetude, and had become
obsolete, in the days when thesons of Sultdn Shamsuddin ruled the
country, received new confirmation, and fresh stability; and such
was the terror and dread inspired by the Sultan, that no one had the
hardihood to stray from the path of obedience. The Sultan also
carried out the rules of righteousness and justice in such a way,
that the entire population of the country submitted to his orders,
and accepted his decrees, with perfect zeal. Most of the chieftains
and nobles, who after the death of Sultin Shamsuddin had, owing
to the weakness of his sons, lifted up their heads with stiff-necked-
ness and obstinacy, became humble and submissive.

Couplet.

When justice lightens the candle of the world,
It teaches wolves to behave like lambs.

He was very particular about the arrangements of dress, and
the paraphernalia of regal grandeur, and splendour, at the time
when he granted public or private audience. In sitting down and
rising he behaved with such grandeur and hauteur, and sternness,
that the livers of the spectators melted with fear at the sight. A
trembling seized the hearts of the turbulent people, both near
and remote, on account of the terror of his greatness. He said
repeatedly, that he had heard from elders, who were men of great
consideration in the court of. Sultdin Shamsuddin, that a king who
did not maintain the rules and observances of empire, in the
arrangement of his court, and in the splendour of his processions,
and whose behaviour and sayings did not reveal the grandeur befit-
ting a king, dread and awe for him would not find a way into the
hearts of the enemies of his rule, or of the people of his empire ; and
many dangers would find a way in the affairs of his government.
He laid special stress in the arrangements of meetings, on "beautiful
carpets and utensils of gold and silver, and gold-embroidered cur-
tains, and various delicious fruits and other articles of food and
drink. On festal days, he sat in the assembly till the end of the
day; and till the presents of his Khans and Amirs had passed before
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his eyes. As the offerings of each of the nobles was placed before
him, the ushers of the meeting described the laudable attributes
and the meritorious services of that particular noble. In his festal
assemblages, songs were sung; and poets recited laudatory odes;
and were rewarded with gifts and benefactions. They say that not
one of his old servants, who had attended his private audiences, had
ever seen him without his cap and socks and cloak. He never
laughed aloud in his assemblies ; and others also did not laugh there.
He used to say that the dignity and the grandeur, in the demeanour
of a king, inspired greater awe in the hearts of the people than the
punishments inflicted by him ; and the absence of a feeling of awe
towards a king was the cause of insurrections and rebellion. If such
a king occupies the throne, before long many dangers will occur and
tumults and revolts will take place; the rules of justice will become
abrogated, and the flood gates of tyranny and oppression opened
wide. Sultan Ghiasuddin observed the golden mean on all occa-
sions; and showed mercy, as well as wrath, at the right time for
each. He said repeatedly, that a monarch who in his acts, and
behaviour, adopts the practices of a tyrant, commits infidelity to
God; and acts against the behests of the prophet (on whom be the
blessing of God and peace!), and the punishment for such practices
is nothing but suffering and ruin in the life to come. Such conduct
can never be atoned for, by a king, except in four ways: (1) that he
reserves his power and authority for the proper occasions, and keeps
nothing before his eyes except the happiness of his people, and the
fear of God : (2) that he does not allow cheating and other crimes
to be committed in his kingdom; and completely shuts the door
on such practices; and always keeps the wicked and the reckless
under the dread of his punishmenE‘: (3) that he entrusts all business
and duties to wise, meritorious, honest and God-fearing persons ;
and does not allow treacherous men to live in his dominions. as
they produce confusion among the people: and (4) that in the
administration of justice, he practises righteousness to such an
extent, that all vestiges of tyranny and opprgssion may disappear

from his kingdom.
Couplet.

From justice doth stability spring,
The tyranny of kings is like a lamp in a draught,
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Whenever Sultin Balban arrived at a Sardi, or a bridge, or a
muddy or marshy place, he waited there; and deputed nobles and
great officers of State, who with sticks in their hands directed the
arrangements ; and first they made the sick, the infirm, the women
and the children, and the weak and thin quadrupeds to cross over
without any trouble. He used to employ his elephants, and other
animals, in helping to take the people across. He waited for a few
days, in such places, till all the people should have crossed over
with ease.

Although in the days in which he held the rank of a Khan,
Sultan Balban was addicted to drinking, and to the holding of con-
vivial meetings, to which he invited Amirs and Maliks; and to gam-
blings; giving away his winnings to the attendants ; and there were
always in his assemblies witty and eloquent courtiers, and sweet-
voiced singers; still after he had become the badshak, he never
hankered after these things, and rooted out even the names of wine and
wine-drinkers and all evil-doers throughout his kingdom. He practised
the customary fasts, kept up at nights, attended regularly at the
Friday prayers and those for the morning and the evening, and never
neglected his ablutions. He never took his food except in the
presence of learned and pious men; and, while eating, discussed
questions connected with religion and law with them. He went to
the houses of holy men; and after his devotions, went on pilgrim-
age to the tombs (of the saints). He attended the funerals of great
men ; and went and condoled with the mourners. He conferred
robes of honour on the sons and relations of men who died; and con-
tinued the stipends of such men to their heirs. Although he had
80 much power and grandeur, if even at the time when he was
riding out he heard that there was a devotional assemblage at any
place, where a sermon would be delivered, he instantly dismounted
and went and heard the discourse, and wept (with the exuberance
of his feelings).

The splendour of Kai khusro sprang from this;

That with justice and with learning he the earth adorned.
On days of devotion, he only a blanket wore.

With God he strove, with prayer and praise.

With his face on the ground, his heart like cauldron a-boil ;
His heart so eloquent, and his tongue so mute.
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Till you saw his heart, with the secret-seeing eye,
You would not know all the heights and all the depths.

In spite of all these beneficent attributes of his, in the matter
of insurgents and rebels, he acted with the greatest rigour and
sternness; and did not deviate so much as a necdle’s point from
the ways of a tyrant. For the rebellion of one man he would over-
throw a whole army, or a city. He kept the peace of his empire
before his eyes, above all things; and for this reason he made
away with most of the Shamsi Maliks, who had been his companions,
by various devices and pretexts. When his power and greatness
were firmly established, some of the Bhamsi Amirs represented to
him, that as his power and grandeur had now become so great,
it was right that he should lead his armies for the conquest of
Gujrat. Malwah and other provinces of Hindustin. The Sultan
said in reply, that in order to protect thc.country from the Mughals,
who invaded it every year, he could not leave Dehli for the distant
provinces; that a king should first of all make his own dominions
perfectly secure; and then only try to conquer other countries ; that
it was one of the sayings of ancient monarchs, that it was better that
one should secure and strengthen his own kingdom, than that he
should stretch out his hand against those of others; and that a king
who neglected even a single point, in ensuring the safety of his king-
dom, became blameworthy before God.

In the year of the Sultan’s accession, i.e. in a.H. 664, Tatar
Khan, son of Arslan Khan,! sent sixty-three elephants from Lakh-

I Arslan Khan(-i-Sanjar) invaded the territory of Lakhnauti, when he was
the feudatory of I'arah, in 657 A.n. The feudatory of Lakhnauti, Malik ‘Izzud-
din Balban-i-Yi{z Baki, had then preceeded towards the country of Bang and
had left Lakhnauti empty (of troops). The inhabitants took refuge within the
walls, and defended themselves; but after three days the city was taken, and
plunder and sack and rapine was kept up for three days. Malik ‘Izzuddin
Balban-i-Y Gz Baki returned on hearing of this, and an engagement took place
between him and Arslin Khéan-i-Sanjar, and the latter gained the upper hand,
and Malik ‘fzzuddin Balban-i-YGz Baki became a captive ; and it is stated
that he was martyred. It would appear, that after® this Arslin Khan became
governor of Bengal, and he was succeeded by his son Tatar Khén, and the
latter had been governor for some time when Falban ascended the throne.

See Tab-i-N&s. trans., p. 7¢9 et seq. It was that Tatar Khén who sent the
elephants.
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nauti. (On account of this) the people erected domes in the city,
and made rejoicings. Sultin Balban sat in public audience, on the
Nagiri Chabutara (platform) outside the Badain gate, and the
Amirs, Maliks, Judges and other great officers all presented them-
selves, and offered tributes, and were honoured with gifts and
rewards. As Sultdn Balban was very fond of hunting, he had
passed an order that around the city for a distance of twenty karoks,
game should be preserved. The Mir shtkars (chief huntsmen) held
a high rank in his service; and he had a large number of huntsmen
in his employ. In the winter he mounted his horse every morning,
and rode as far as the town of Rewarl, and even beyond that,
and hunted and returned to the city after nightfall, but he never
passed the night outside the city. One thousand horsemen, every
one of whom was known to the Sultin, and one thousand others of
the class of Nayeks (sergeants) and archers, accompanied his stirrups
by turn. All of these reccived their food from the Sultan’s table.
When Halakd Khian at Baghdad heard of the Sultan’s habit of
hunting, he said Balban was a sagacious king; outwardly he
showed to the people that he went hunting, but really he took riding
exercise ; and gave his troops system and order ; and always watched
over his kingdom. When Sultin Balban heard this, he was pleased ;
and praised Halakl's discernment; and said that those only knew
how to govern kingdoms who had conquered and ruled them.

Owing to the negligence and the weakness of the children of
Shamsuddin, manifest difficulties and dangers had found their way
into all matters connected with the government of the realm; and
the orders passed and rules framed by them were honoured more
in the breach than in the observance. He destroyed with great
vigour and sternness the bands of Mewatis who had settled round
the city; and had, on account of the neighbourhood being much
overgrown with jungle, laid the foundations of turbulence and dis-
turbances ; committed highway robberies; and at night entered the
city, and broke into the houses; and carried away much property.
The roads from all directions were closed on account of these
robberies ; and merchants could not come and go; and even the
gates of the capital towards Mecca (the west) had to be closed for
fear of them, after the second prayers ; so that noonecould go on pil-
grimage to the Saints’ tombs after afternoon prayers. Repeatedly
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the robbers came to the vicinity ‘of the Sultan’s reservoir; and
gave trouble to the water-carriers, and the slave-girls, who came
to draw water. That same year the Sultan, considering that
the extirpation of these robbers should be taken in hand, before
everything else, had the jungle cut down and rooted up; and made
a number of the robbers food for the sword. He built a strong fort
at Kawalkar (kilogari) and established thanas, at various places, in
the neighbourhood of the city; and divided these jurisdictions
among his troops ; so that each one might watch over the area as-
signed to him. Aftey this, the citizens had repose from the turbu-
lence of the Mewatis. When the Sultdn had finished cutting down
the jungle, and extirpating the Mewatis, he made over the towns
and villages in the Dodb to powerful Jagirdars, who plundered and
harried the turbulent men; and slew them; and made captives of
their families and children; and in this way totally removed the
troubles caused by them. . After this, on two occasions, the Sultan
went out of his capital, and led his troops towards Kaithal and
Patiali, and put the lawless and turbulent people of these districts
to the sword. He opened the road to Hindustan, which according
to the special meaning given to the name by the people of India
signified Jaunpore and Behar and Bangalah, which bad become
closed. From these plundering and ravaging excursions he brought
much booty, in the shapé of captives and cattle, to Dehli. He built
strong forts, and lofty mosques at Kaithal, and Patiali, and Bhoj-
pur, which had become the residence and the head-quarters of high-
way robbers. He made over these forts to Afghéns and strengthened
the towns by settling bands of Afghans in them.

In these days he erected the Hisar-i-Jalali, which had been the
residence of highway robbers, and settled Musalmans there. He
had scarcely finished doing these things, when he heard of the distur-
bance and emeute caused by the people of Kateher owing to the
weakness of the feudatories of Bada-iin and Amroha. The Sultdin
returned to the capital from Kaithal and Patiali; and ordered that
the army should be ready; and he made it appear to the people
that he would march towards the skirts of fhe hills. Then before
the royal pavilion could be brought out, he started with five
thousand brave horsemen and made forced marches, and in the
course of two nights he crossed the Ganges, at the ferry of Kateher;
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and entered the Kateher territory. He then gave orders for plun-
dering and slaying. None except women and children was left alive ;
and whoever, of the male sex, had reached the age of eight years,
was made food for the sword. They made hillocks of the slain. From
that time, to the time of Jalaluddin, no lawless man could raise his
head there; and the fiefs of Bada-iin and Amroha had immunity from
the wickedness of the Kateher people. After that Sultin Balban
returned to the capital in victory and triumph. After a time, he
again led his forces towards the skirts of the hills ; and plundered
those places. The troops got hold of a large number of horses in
this expedition, so that the price of a horse was reduced to thirty
or forty tangahs. Sultin Balban again returned to the capital in
triumph and victory; and every time that he returned from camp,
the Judges and other great officers went out two or three stages to
receive him ; and in the city people erected domes, and had re-
joicings. Whatever was given as a thankoffering was sent to the
different parts of the realm, and distributed to deserving persons.
After a time he marched towards Lahore, and rebuilt the fort
which the Mughals had pulled down; and he made the country
round about Lahore, which had been desolated by these ravages,
flourish and thrive again. He then returned to Dehli. " At this time
some people who were conversant with economical questions, said
to Sultan Balban that a large body of troops, who had received
jagirs in the time of Sultin Shamsuddin, were still holding them,
There were many irregalarities in these jagirs. The Sultan ordered
that those who were aged, and unable to exert themselves, should
be exempted from service in the army, and stipends should be con-
ferred on them, so that they might have enough to live upon; and
the remainder (of the jagirs) should be resumed. Owing to this,
vexation and grief fell upon the people. A number of people carried
presents to the Amir-ul-umra Fakhruddin Kotwal; and represented
the matter to him. The Malik-ul-urara did not accept their presents,
and said, if he took a bribe from them, his words would have little
effect. He immediately went to the Sultan, and stood at his place
in an anxious and sorrowful attitude. The Sultdn saw his grief and
wanted to know the cause. He said that he had heard that the
Sultdn had cancelled (the names of) the aged and had taken away
their means of subsistence ; and that he was sad, as he did not know
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what his fate would be, if they would treat old men in the same
way on the day of resurrection. The Sultin knew what he was
referring to; the Malik-ul-umra’s words affected him, and made him
weep. He ordered that the stipends of the old men should be con-
tinued, and in nowise resumed.

Couplet.

The Sultan’s favour is auspicious to those
Who help the cause of those who are in need.

After a while Sher Khan, the cousin of Sultan Balban, died : they
say that the Sultan ordered that poison should be given to him in
his drink.! Sher Khéan was a slave of Altamsh, one of the brother-
hood of forty slaves, who had attained to the rank of an Amir. He
had erected the forts of Tabarhindah and Bhatnir, and at the latter
place he had also erected a lofty cupola.” He had held the fiefs of
Sunam, Lahore, Debalpur and all the fiefs which were situated on
the way of the invasion of the Mughals, from the reign of Nagiruddin
to that of Sultan Balban.? He attacked the Mughals several times,
and after defeating them had read the Khutbah, in the name of
Sultan Nasiruddin, in Ghaznin, and owing to his bravery and intre-
pidity, and the number of his troops, the Mughals found it impos-
sible to come into Hindustan. As he knew that Sultin Balban was
endeavouring to compass the death of the Shamsi slaves, he never
came to Dehli. After his death, Sultin Balban conferred the fiefs of
Sundm and Samanah on Tamiur Khan, who was also one of the

1 The word used is tm’, which is said to be a liguor made from barley
and other things, a sort of beer. “

% According to Zia Barni, Sher Khan built a lofty cupola at Bhatnir and
founded the fortresses of Bhatindah and Bhatnir. In the lith. ed. 'Tarhin_
dah and in the }.S8. Tabarhindah is given instead of Bhatindah.

3 This statement is founded on Zia Burni’s statoment According to the
Tab-i Nas., however, written by a contemporary, he was not in undisputed
possession at any time, and some years hefore the death of Shamsuddin,
Tabarhindah was entrusted to the charge of Malik Nasrat Kh#n Sunkar-i-
Sufi, and the fiefs of Kol, Bignah, Balardm, Jalisar, Balt8&rah, Mihir and
Mahidwan and the fortress of Gwaliar were placed in Sher Khan’s charge, and
he was there when the pages of the Tabakat-i-Nasiri, containing his history,
wes written, in Rajab 658 a.u. (see pages 792 etc. Tab-i-Nas. trans.).
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company of forty slaves; and made over the other fiefs (which had
been held by Sher Khan) to other Amirs. The Mughals, who in the
days of Sher Khan could not come near Hindustdn, again began to
give trouble on the outskirts of the country. In order to remedy
this, Sultan Balban sent his eldest son, Muhammad Sultan, who has
become celebrated as the martyred Khan, and who bore the title of
K¢ain Khin, and was adorned with bodily and mental accomplish-
ments, to Multan.

Before doing so, he conferred on him a canopy of State and a
durbash, and nominated him as his successor. Sind with its depen-
dencies, and appanages, were made over to him. A number of
Amirs and wise men, and a large retinue, were sent to Maltin with
him. Muhammad Sultdn was dearer to the Sultdn than his brothers.
He always sat or associated with learned and accomplished men.
Amir Khusro and Amir Hasan were in his service, in Multan, for
five years; and like his other courtiers received stipends and re-
wards. He held them in greater esteem than any of his other
courtiers ; and took great delight in their poetical and prose com-
positions. He was so well-behaved and polite, that even if he sat
for a whole day and night, in the seat of authority, he never once
raised his knees. He never took any oath except that of Hakka
(Ah! God); and cven in moments of negligence and intoxication,
no harsh word was ever on his tongue.

Couplet.

Politeness doth lend greatness to a man. Do thou
Thy nature with it grace, and great wilt thou then be.

He had great respect for Shaikhs and learned men. They say
that Shaikh Usman Sarmadi,' who was one of the saintly men of the
time, came to Multan. The prince did him honour, presented him
with valuable gifts, and prayed that he should take up his residence
in Multan, and offered to erect a Khankah for him; and to endow
gome villages for his maintenance. The Shaikh did not agree and
preferred a wandering life. One day this Shaikh and Shaikh Sadr-

1 This word is given ag (sdy% (sO0< 603/0 9303,}0 in the lith. ed. and
in the MSS, "’ ’ '
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uddin, son of Shaikh Bahauddin Zakaria, were present in one of the
prince’s assemblies. The other darwishes who were present were in
ecstacies when they heard their Arabic verses, and they all began
to dance. He (the prince) was standing in front of them, with his
hands on his chest, and wept continuously with the exuberance of
his feelings. Arabic poems, of a didactic character, were frequently
recited in his assemblies. On such occasions, he would give up
other occupations, and listen to them, and.show his anguish and
shed tears.

They say that one of the daughters of Sultan Shamsuddin was
married to him. Accidentally, in a state of intoxication, he divorced
her by uttering the word ‘talak’ thrice. As there was no remedy,
except the ceremony of legalizing it again, the lady was married to
Shaikh Sadruddin, son of Shaikh Bahaiuddin Zakaria. After con-
summation of the marriage, when the Shaikh was asked to divorce
the lady again, she said (to him) that she had sought shelter in his
house from that perfidious man; and God would not allow that
she should again be made over to his tender mercies. The Shaikh
then said that he could not be less than a woman; and did not
divorce her. Muhammad Sultan being unable to bear separation
from her, was about to take his revenge. But it so happened, that
at that very time the Mughals came; and he necessarily considered
that it was his first duty to lead his troops against them. He did
80, and became a martyr. On two occasions he sent messengers
from Multan to Shiraz, to summon Shaikh Sa‘di (on whom be
the mercy of God!), and sent him sums of money. He offered to
erect a Khankah for him in Multdn and to endow a number of
villages for his benefit. The Shaikh could not come, on account of
his old age andi nfirmty; and on*“each of the two occasions he sent
a volume, containing his verses, written with his own hand; and he
sent apologies for not being able to come, and recommendations in
favour of Amir Khusro.

Muhammad Sultin came every year from Multan to Dehli to
render homage to his father; and presented valuable and elegant
things, and received kind treatment from his father and then
returned. That year, after which he did not again return, Sultan
Balban, at the time of bidding him farewell, sent for him to his
private chamber, and said, ‘[ have passed all my life as a Malik
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and a Badshah, and I have gained various experiences. Iwish to give
you a few precepts about the duties of sovereignty, that they may
be of use to you after my death. The first precept is this: that
when you sit on the throne of royalty, you do not consider the
duties of governing a kingdom, which constitute really a vicegerency
of the Great and Almighty God, as something simple and easy; and
do not besmirch and debase the glory of the position, which is one
of such grandeur, by doing evil deeds and displaying low qualities ;
and do not make base and wicked men your partners in this great
work.

Couplet.

Do not allow the low and the base to come to thee.
The malignant thou canst not make the beneficent.

Another precept is this: that you reserve the sternness and
terror of your rank for their right place; and abstain from gratify-
ing the lust of your desires; that you never act except in the way
of God; and that you never use your treasures, which are great
Divine gifts, except for the glorification of God, and the benefit of
your people. Another is: that you always keep the enemies of the
true faith, the wicked and the tyrannical, crushed down, under your
heel. Another is' that you always keep yourself thoroughly
acquainted with the condition and the acts of your deputies and
officers, and invite them to perform good deeds and to cultivate
praiseworthy qualities. Another is: that you appoint just and
pure-minded judges, and rulers, over your people; so that the
religion of God may gain further currency and the glory of justice
may be better revealed among men. Another is: that both publicly
and privately, you always preserve the dignity and grandeur of
royalty, and never indulge in any forbidden or unlawful practices.

Couplet.

Oh guard, as thou best canst, thy dignity and awe!
For trifling with the low, thy grandeur doth impair.

Another is: that you confer benefits and honours on energetic,
pious, and grateful men; and neglect not to improve their posi-
tion; and show kindness to skilful and intelligent men, who confer

14 )
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honour and distinotion on & kingdom; and never expect loyalty
from wicked men, and those who have not the fear of God in their
hearts; and know that the well-being of your kingdom, and of
religion, lies in your banishing such persons from your neighbour-
hood.

Couplet,

Cast not from thee one who is of nature pare;
And from one of nature vile, refrain ;

The evil-natured keepeth faith with none;
One from evil sprung doth e’er to evil cling.

Another precept is this: that magnanimity and kinghood are
correlatives of each other, and wise men and philosophers have
compared them to twins; and have said that it is right that the
spirit of a king should be the king of the spirits [of other men];
that if the spirit of a king were like the spirits of other men, there
would be no distinction between a king and common people; and
that kinghood can not be united to a mean spirit. Another is
this: that when you raise one to a high position, do not again cast
him down for some small fault that he may commit, and do not
afflict one -who sincerely wishes you well, except for some reason of
state, and do not convert your friends into your enemies.

Couplet.

Every chief that thou thyself hast raised,
Cast him not down again so long as thou canst.

If owing to some reason connected with religion or the state
you punish any one, still leave room for peace [with him]; and be
not overquick in causing pain to those of noble family; for a:ny
wound caused to their honour is not quickly or easily healed.
Another is this : do not listen to the words of a captious man; and
do not allow such men to come near you ; as this will create a fear in
the minds of the adherents of your court, and of the well-wishers of
your greatness ; and will give rise to great danBers in the affairs of
your kingdom. ' Another is: do not embark in an undertaking
until you know what its issue will be; for to leave any transaction
unfinished does not consort with the dignity of a king.
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Couplet.

Until you make your footing firm,
Do not in an enterprise embark.

Another precept is this: do not attempt any thing without
consulting wise men; and refrain always from doing a thing which
can be done equally well by one of your subordinates. The power
of discriminating good men from bad is the real test of govern-
ment; and in all matters the golden mean should be followed: for
sternness and ferocity produce universal hatred; while sloth and
slackness bring thoughts of violence and revolt into the heads of the
turbulent. Finally, always take the greatest care in your own
safety, for therein lies the safety of your people; and keep your
court well guarded by faithful and honest watchmen and serjeants.
Always be kind to your brother, and never listen to any one’s words
in respect of him; and consider him to be your arm, and support;
and confirm his fiefs to him.”” After giving him these precepts, and
conferring the insignia of royalty on him, the Sultan sent his son
towards Multan.

The same year the Sultdn sent his younger son Bughra Khan,
who bore the title of Nasiruddin, to Samanah, and conferred the
fief of that name, and that of Sundm, on him. When bidding him
farewell, he gave him some advice and said, ‘* On arrival there you
should raise the pay of your old soldiers, and engage as many new
troops as may be necessary ; and you should be very vigilant about
the invasions of the Mughals; and in all affairs of State you should
consult with wise men, who should be in your confidence. You
should also represent to me the truth about any matters in respect
of which you may have any doubts or perplexity, so that you may
do as I may direct.”’ He then forbade his drinking wine, and said,
“If after this you drink spirituous liquors I shall deprive you of
these fiefs and give you others instead; but you will always be
degraded and despicable in my eyes.’”’ " Bughra Khan gave place to
his father’s precepts, in the ear of intelligence ; made righteousness
his habit ; gave up all evil practices; and became such that if the
Mughals invaded Hindustan, Muhammad Sultan from Multén, Bughra
Khan from Samanah, and Malik Barbak Beg Tars from Dehli could

. be at once deputed to repel them; and by the time they reached
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the river Biah, which was near the town of Sultanpur, these would
completely check the disturbance created by them.

After the government of Sultan Balban had acquired stability,
and the rivals of his power had been discomfited, and had dis-
appeared, Tughral who was a Turk slave and possessed the qualities
of briskness, activity, liberality and bravery, and was the ruler of
the Lakhnauti territory, seeing that the Sultan had become old,
and had sent both his sons against the Mughals, and was busily
occupied with repelling their incursions; and also thinking that he
had acquired the necessary forces aud equipment, in a headstrong
way laid the foundation of revolt, and appropriated to himself the
whole of the treasures and the elephants which he had brought
from Jajnagar, and did not send any portion of them to the Sultan.
He then assumed the royal canopy, gave himself the title of Sultan
Maghisuddin, and raised the standard of hostility. As he was
liberal, ‘nay lavish in his gifts, the inhabitants of the country sub-
mitted to him, and accepted his rule; and his affairs became pros-
perous.

Couplet.

A generous king adherents never lacks,
No one to him doth worthless ever become.

When the news of Tughral’s rebellion reached Dehli, the
Sultan ordered a force to be mustered; and made Malik Aitakin
Mue-daraz, who bore the title of Amin Khan, and was the feuda-
tory of Audh, the Commander-in-Chief; and he despatched other
nobles, such as Tamar Khan Shamsi, and Malik Tajuddin, son of ‘Ali
Khan Shamsi, for the punishment of Tughral. When Malik Aitakin
crossed the Saryu with his army.and set out ‘towards Lakhnauti,
Tughral came and met him ; and in the battle which ensued, van-
quished him. From this action Tughral acquired great power and
grandeur. The Sultadn, on hearing this melancholy news, was much
vexed and grieved, and punished Malik Aitakin by hanging him at
the gate of Audh. He then mustered another army for carrying on
the war with Tughral, but the latter defeated*it also. The Sultén
became still more angry and furious on hearing this; and with a
lofty spirit and kingly determination resolved to lead the army
himself. He gave orders that a large flotilla of boats should be got
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ready and collected in the Jumna and the Ganges, and himself
started on a hunting expedition in the direction of Saméanah and
Sunam ; and making Malik Saunj, the commandant of the imperial
guard, the deputy governor of Saménah, took Bughra Khan with
him, with his personal troops, and returning from Samanah into
the Doab, crossed the Ganges; and took the route to Lakhnauti.
He left the Malik-ul-Umra as the regent at Dehli; and owing to his
great eagerness, and the high state of preparation (of his army), he
did not take heed of the rains, but marched without interruption
towards Lakhnauti.

In every thing in the way of household affairs

Repose is better. But in matters of rule

The world belongs to him who is quick.

In the matter of conquest, delay is fatal,

As owing to the heavy rains, and the diffigulties of the road,
the Sultin was delayed, Tughral took advantage of it, and putting
his army in a state of readiness, started in the direction of Jajnagar;
intending to conquer that territory, and to remain there for some
time; and to return to Lakhnauti, when the Sultan should have
returned towards Dehli. The inhabitants (of the province), fearful
of Sultan Balban’s wrath, and avaricious of his wealth, submitted to
him, whether willingly or otherwise. When the Sultdin reached
Lakhnauti, he halted there for some days; and having re-equipped
his army, started towards Jajnagar in pursuit of Tughral. He
entrusted the superintendence of the affairs at Lakhnauti to the
Sipah-salar Hisamuddin and the Vakil-dar, Malik Barbak. When
he arrived in the neighbourhood of Sonargaon, Bhojrai, who was
the governor of the place, came to his presence and enlisted him-
self among his adberents. He promised, that if Tughral should
attempt to escape by the sea, he would prevent him. The Sultdn
then set out, with the greatest promptitude, for Jajnagar. After he
had marched some stages, all news of Tughral disappeared; and
none oould give any clue as to his whereabouts. [The Sultan] then
ordered Malik Barbak Beg Tars to take seven thousand picked
horsemen with him; and to march ten or twelve kurohs in advance
(of the main army). Although scouts went in advance and made
enquiries about Tughral, they did not see any signs or traces of him ;
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till one day, when a detachment of the advanced guard, consisting
of Malik Tirandaz,! the feudatory of Kol, and his brother, Malik
Mukuddar, and another man who had * become known as Tughral
Kush, with thirty or forty horsemen went in advance as scouts.
Suddenly, they came upon a few of Tughral’s soldiers, and found
out from them that it was less than half a kuroh between the
place where they were and Tughral’s camp; and the latter was
making a halt that day, and he would reach Jajnagar the next day.
When the mounted scouts got on the top of the embankment, they
saw Tughral’s pavilion standing before them, and his soldiers taking
their rest, in a complete state of negligence. They drew their swords,
and suddenly fell upon Tughral’s pavilion, Thelatter, panic struck,
escaped by the bathroom, and mounting a saddle-less horse, jumped
into some water which was near his camp. His troops also dispersed
with the fear and alarm, which overcame them; and fled in all
directions. Malik Mukaddar and Tughral Kush pursued Tughral,
and came up to him on the bank of the water. Tughral Kush shot
him with an arrow in the side; and he fell off from his horse
Malik Mukaddar dismounted; and cutting off his head, threw his
body into the water. He concealed the head under the skirt of his
robe ; and occupied himself with washing his face and hands. At
the same moment Malik Barbak, who was the commander of the
advanced guard, came up and sent Tughral’s head with a letter
announcing the victory to the Sultan. The nextday Malik Barbak
presented himself before the Sultan with the plunder and the cap-
tives taken from Tughral’s army, and explained how the victory had
been achieved. The Sultdn was displeased, on account of the care-
lessness which had been shown by Malik Barbak ; but he ultimately
rewarded him, and he bestowed fawours and gifts on Malik Tirandaz,
and all the Turks. He also gave equal rewards to Mukaddar and
Tughral Kush, Then he returned to Lakhnauti, and punished the
relatives and friends of Tughral ; and ordered them to be hanged in
the market-place of Lakhnauti, so much so, that he even punished

| His name is given as Malik Tirandaz or Malik, SharGbdar in different
places in the lith. ed. and the MSS, .

2 The original has been correctly translated in the text; but the meaning
apparently is that he becamo known as Tughral-kush or ‘‘the 8layer of
Tughral,’’ after he had helped to slay the latter.
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a Kalandar, who had been held in honour by him; and the other
Kalandars his friends. He also passed orders that other soldiers of
Tughral should be punished in Dehli. After this he left Bughra
Khan in Lakhnauti; after conferring on him the royal canopy, and
durbash, and the other insignia of royalty; and then raised his
standards for his return to Dehli.

At the time of his departure, he gave some advice to his dear
son. The first precept was this: That it was not right (for the ruler
of Lakhnauti) to fall out with, and revolt against, the King of Dehli,
whether they were relations or strangers; and if the latter invaded
Lakhnauti, the ruler of that province should turn away from him,
and go to distant parts. Then when the King of Dehli returned to
his capital, he might return to Lakhnauti and go on with his govern-
ment. The second precept was this: That in levying revenue from
his subjects (a King) should follow the golden mean. He should
not take so little that they would become refractory and turbulent ;
nor gso much that they would be reduced to helplessness and poverty.
He should also pay such stipends to his soldiers, that they might
live in comfort from year’s end to year’s end, and not suffer from
penury and privation. Another precept was this : That in affairs of
State, he should not undertake anything without the advice of wise
men, who should at the same time be his sincere well-wishers.

Couplet.

Wisdom is better than a hundred swords,

The King’s crown is better than a hundred diadems,
With policy can the back of an army be broken,
With a sword can only one to ten be slain.

In the passing of decrees, a king should abstain from the Justs
of the flesh; and should not act contrary to what is just, for the
sake of his own interest. Another precept was this: That (a king)
should not be negligent in making enquiries about the condition of
his soldiery, which is one of his principal duties; and should con-
sider it inoumbent on him to encourage them ; and should not go
to extremes in any matter connected with them. He should
consider any one, who should induce or incite him to do so, as an
enemy, and should not listen to his words. Another precept was
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this : That a king should certainly place himself undert he protec-
tion of one who should have turned his back on the world ; and
should have placed his dependence on God.

Couplet.

For protection betake thyself to the darwesh’s skirts !
'Tis stronger than a hundred of Alexander’s walls.

The Sultan should not have anything to do with one in whose
heart even an atom of the love of the world should be found, and
should not place any reliance on his words or deeds.

After making his son’s ears heavy with the pearls of his advice,
he bade him farewell ; and turned his face towards Dehli.

The Shaikhs, and the learned and the pious men of every city
and town, at which he arrived, welcomed and congratulated him, and
offered gifts and presents, and were honoured with robes and
rewards. In the large cities, the citizens erected triumphal domes,
and made rejoicings. When he passed Badain, and crossed the
Ganges, the Sayyads and Kazis and all the notable men of Dehli
welcomed him, and congratulated him in due form; and were
honoured with the royal favour. When he reached Dehli, he gave
alms; and made devout offerings; and made all deserving people
happy. He also went to the houses of learned men, and darweshes,
and gave them alms corresponding to their merits, and released
prisoners who were in durance on account of debts; and also remit-
ted the arrears of the rayyats, which appeared in the revenue regis-
ters. The Malik-ul-Umra, who had been the regent in his absence,
was highly honoured with various favours on account of the wisdom
he had displayed in the management of the affairs of State.

The Sultan then ordered that-gibbets should be erected in the
market-place of Dehli, and the prisoners from the army of Tughral,
who had gone from Dehli to Lakhnauti, and had joined him, should
be hanged on them. The citizens were in great sorrow and anxiety,
as most of the prisoners were their relations and connections; and
went about weeping and lamenting. The Kazl of the army, who
was one of the holy men of the age, went to the Sultan, and using
piteous words, softened his heart. After that he interceded on
behalf of the offenders; and the Sultén accepted his intercessions,
and drew the pen of forgiveness over their offences.
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After this, Muhammad Sultan, the eldest son of the Sultan,
came from Multin to see him; and offered elegant presents, and
fitting tribute. The Sultan was delighted at his coming ; showed
him many loving attentions ; and then bade him farewell. At this
time Tamar with a vast army arrived between Lahore and Dibalpur
and a sanguinary conflict ensued ; and Muhammad Sultin and some
of his amirs attained martyrdom. In the battle Mir Khusru was
taken prisoner, but was released. Khwaja Hasan wrote the follow-
ing elegy' and sent it to Dehli :—‘‘ The tyrannical sky, although
for a while it makes a bond of agreement and gives a promise
of sincerity (soon) turns; and inconstant destiny, although for
a time it shows itself to be agreeable and gives promise of faith
(soon) changes. The treacherous.eyed sky, the pupil of whose
generosity is filled with meanness, although, at first like a drun-
kard, without any reason for liberality, it gives away a thing,
yet at the end, although a sense of shame would forbid it, takes
it back. The well-known custom of the world is this, as experi-
ence and hearsay, wl‘mt we see, and what we hear, equally teach,
that whenever anyone shines like the moon, it (the world) wants
to blacken his face of perfect beauty, with the stain of loss;
and whenever any one rises above our heads like a cloud, it (the
world) scatters his gem (greatness) in little particles on all sides of
the horizon. TIn this parterre of perplexity, and in this garden of
regrets, no flower has ever bloomed without a thorn, and no heart
has escaped the thorn of anguish. Ah! how many young plants
are there, which from the effects of the autumn of calamity show a
pale and withered face instead of a fresh beauty; and how many
flowers lie trampled in the dust (blown down) by the rough blast of
time.”’

Couplet.
See! how hath autumn shown its power in my garden fair !
What havoc hath it done to the youthful cypress there !

One of the examples of such vicissitudes is the death of the
departed prince Kaean Malik Ghazl. May God illuminate his tomb!

1 The elegy is written in an extremely inflated and involved style and it
has been difficult to make sense of portions of it. The first words Wj\gg.) do
not make sense.

156
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and make his scales heavy with His mercies! On Friday, the 3rd
of the month of Zil Hijjah, in the year 693 A.H., when

Couplet.

The moon, like love in a Kafir’s heart, was quite unseen ;
And the sun, with uplifted sword, with the army of Islam came ;

the great prince, who was the Sun in the sky of the State, and
the brightness of whose honour shone from his forehead, and
whose zeal for holy warfare was firm, put his auspicious foot in the
stirrup. They explained to his intellect, which was quick in solving
all difficulties, that Tamar had arrived with his army within threc
farsangs. When morning broke, he started from the camp on his
march ; and halted at a distance of one farsang from the accursed
ones. He chose as the battlefield a place within the boundaries of
the Bagh Sarir, on the bunks of the river of Lahaur (Lahore), so
that he had in his neighbourhood the water of the Dehandi! and a
big swamp. He fortified the place strongly, and arranged that when
the infidels should be opposed to him both pieces of water should be
of use to his army; as on account of the “river, no part of his
troops would be able to take to flight, nor would any danger befall
any part of his army from the infidels. In truth, these precaution-
ary measures showed how great the prudence and how wonderful the
strategy of that world-conquering Khan was. But alas! When
evil destiny overtakes one, no skill is of any avail; and the strings
of all plans get entangled.
Couplets.

Him whom doth evil fortune meet,

His affairs to his enemy’s wishes fall,

When fortune like a saadman goes astray,

Wisdom like the blind into a well doth fall.

It so happened that on that day the moon and the sun, who
are so intimately connected with kings, hung in the sign of the fish;
and Mars, the redness of whose face is caused by the blood of the

I 1 cannot make out this word. It is written,Jike Wamandi in the lith.
ed. and Dehandi in the M38, It appears, however, that Dihandah was the
name of a river near Ajodhan, 8. W. of Dibalpur.

2 This extremely inflated passage appears to be mutilated. The lith. ed.
and the MSS. differ much, and it is difficult to make sense of portions of it.
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nobles of the State, drew the arrows of destruction and the bolts of
ruin from the quiver of that sign, and for the Khan, who was a lion
to the gemini, the signs of disturbances and the thoughts of ruin
were clear and manifest from the watery sign, the house of fear and
destruction ; and the text of ¢ then brothers fled from one another’’
was written on the leaf [of truth]. Inshort,at midday, when the horse-
man of the sky was in the region of noon, the life of the world-brighten-
ing prince drew near the hour of its destruction. Suddenly [a cloud
of] dust appeared from the direction of thoss infidels; and the Khan
(Ghazi mounted his horse that same hour, and ordered that all his
soldiers, and adherents, his officers and men should act according to
the text, * Kill all the infidels as they would kill you all,”’ drew them
up in a line & hundred times stronger than the wall of Alexander,
and after arranging the right and left wings, stationed his own highly
accomplished person in the centre, like the moon among all the
stars ready for a holy war. The heathen Tatars, on whom may there
be loss and ruin, crossed the river of Lahore, and confronted the
ranks of the Musalmans. These barbarians, born in deserts, and
friends of desolation, placed owls’ feathers on their accursed
heads. The army of Islam, consisting of Turk and Khalj maliks,
and the notables of Hindustan, and the entire body of soldiers, lifted
up their hands in the prayer-ground of battle, crying ¢ God is great ’;
for the reason that the prophet, on whom be the benediction and
peace of God! has identified holy war with prayer; and has said we
betake ourselves to holy war against the greatest from holy war
against the smallest. In their first onset they brought some of the
strongest amongst the tribes of the Mughals under their swords ; and
the spears of the Maliks in attendance on the prince so stuck in the
bodies of the foes, that the blood spurted out from every one of them
to the height of the spears, and the plumes of the arrows of the
Turks, who were in attendance on the prince, so became interlaced
on the persons of the Tatars that no space was left. '

Couplet.

At the first onset, the prince’s arrow sprung;
The Tatars, all at once, inert became.

Each time that the lion-hearted lord struck with his sword,
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which like his faith was stainless, and rushed out from the line of
battle, the sword as it were trembled, in the battlefield, for fear of
his heroic attributes, and becoming all tongue said to him, ‘‘For
this one day leave the work of the destruction of these accursed
ones to the slaves of thy greatness, and do not move out in thy own
gracious person; for the sword hath two faces; and the sword of
death is shameless, through intoxication. It cannot be said what
will happen to whom, through the decree of the Almighty. I blink
my eye (i.e., my eye is dazzled) at thy extreme perfection.’

Couplets.

Go not! for I place the dust [of thy feet] on my eyes.
Do not! for I am afraid of the evil eye.

The sky hath not such a bright face seen !

I throw myself on that fire as a sacrifice.

During the time that he was engaged in carrying on the holy
war in the field of endeavour, each of the weapons spoke as follows
with & tongue suited to its condition. The lance said: « Withdraw,
O Prince! thy hand from me, for the tongue of my blade has
become blunt with much smiting and slaying; and I have no
power left now to strike thy enemy in the face. God forbid that
when I strike I make a futile stroke.”” The arrow said: ‘* Oh! thou!
whose true aim has untied the knot of the nodes, go not to attack
these wicked men ; for [ myself in my flight may throw dust on my
head. God forbid’ that the narrow-eyed Turk of the Sky, who is in
the fifth mansion, should shoot an arrow of destruction at you, in
the way of tyranny and ruin, from the bow of hostility and male-
volence, from his place of ambush at the door of the eighth mansion.”
The lassosaid : ‘¢ You should not allow the string of the place to escape
from the hand of thought, to-day; for I am writhing in pain, on
account of this hasty war and rash conflict. Delay for a moment in
the place of deliberation for Islam and Musalmans are to-day like the
entangled ropes of the tents of prosperity. Ah God! do not allow so
much amplitude to the custom of lasso-throwing with these people.’’

Couplet.

I have with gladness put my head in a noose before thee,
Oh lasso-thrower mine, throw the lasso of thy curls.
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In short the prince, the defender of the faith and the des-
troyer of idolatry, carried on the battle with great energy and vigour
against that band of heathens, with the whole main body of his
troops, from noon till sunset.

The shouts of the victorious, and the cries of those eager for coni-
bat, deafened the ears of the earth, andthe hearing of the sky; and
the fiery tongues which flew up from the heads of the lances, and the
tongues of the swords, which did not err by a single letter in delivering
the messages of the angels of death, all uttered the text, that it
was the day on which men fled from their brethren. The surface of
the earth, like the eyes of old men, who had lost their sons, over-
flowed with blood; and the face of the sky, like the heads of sons
who had lost their fathers, was covered with dust.

Couplet.
Why does the steel of the sword glow like fire, oh father ¢!
That it may place the mark of orphanhood on my heart !

In the very midst of this trouble, the very heart of this danger
and confusion, an arrow from the aim of fate suddenly reached the
wing of that falcon of the expanse of holy war; and the bird of his
soul fled from the cage of the body towards the garden of paradise.
At the same moment, the back of the religion of Muhammad, on
whom be the peace and benediction of God! broke like the wretched
hearts of orphans! and the structure of the faith of Ahmad fell
down like the tombs of the poor! Strength passed away from the
arm of the State, and radiance from the sun of Islam! Exactly at
the hour of sunset, the moon of the life of the prince, whose
fortune had become pale, set in the west of death. The sky, like a
mourner, put on a blue robe, and black tears began to flow over its
cheeks. Saturn like a faithful mourner put on a black robe, and
shouted lamentations for the prince’s death to the people of Hindo-
stan. Jupiter, grieving for that corpse, covered with dust, threw
down his blood-stained robe and his torn garments and turban in
the dust. The heart of Mars, on account of the prince’s death, be-
came narrow like the eyes of the Turks, and the face of his life, like

M“.T‘I; i; nc;;. —cT;r >why “the questioh is put to the father; but thewﬁtil.
ed . and all the MSS. agree in reading y93 5!
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the curls of Negroes, became tight and black ; and owing to this
grief, a thorn pierced the heart of blood. The fish (i.e. the sign
pisces) panted, as if it was a ram in the clutches of a butcher. The
Sun did not rise for shame; as jt had not prevented such a calamity ;
and had not stopped such a catastrophe; and sank in the earth.
When Venus saw what misery had been caused to all existences by
this war, she changed the tone of her tambourine, and began singing
in adifferent tune. Instead of playing on her instruments, she wept
over the death of that magnanimous prince, who had ever been so
generous to all his servants. Mercury, who like a secretary used to
write the gazettes of his victories in his wars and excursions;
blackened his face, after this calamity, with the ink of his inkstand,
and made a robe of paper for himself with the leaves of his gazette.
The bright moon rose in the shape of a very thin crescent, on the
horizon, on that day of world-upheaval.

Couplets.

Thou layest thy face in the dust, alas! I do not wish thee thus.
Oh moon of my life! I do not wish thee to be under the ground ;
If thou goest a-hunting, the dust thou treadest is my place.

Thy companionship is pleasant for me. I do not wish thee thus.

May the great and holy God raise the gracious, pure and saintly
soul of that victorious prince to a higher position and a more
elevated plane! And make him taste of the full cup of his own
beauty, greatness, and glory! May every grace, and kindness and
favour, that he showed to this poor and forlorn one, be the cause
of his attaining a higher rank and the obliteration of his errors.
Amen! Oh God of all the world and.all its inhabitants!

When this intelligence reached Sultan Balban, he became sorely
afflicted and grieved. At this time, he was more than eighty years
of age, and although he endeavoured to show that he was strong
and brave, the marks of the infirmity and fragility which had found
their way into his condition, owing to this c&lamity, became manifest
to all; and his state became worse day by day. ‘“After these events,
the Sultan sent Kaikhusru to Multan in place of his father, after
conferring a canopy and a durbash on him. He also sent for Bughra
Khén from Lakhnauti, and said to him: *The separation from



SULTAN MU’IZZUDDIN KATKUB1D. 119

thy elder brother has made me sad and infirm; I see that the
hour of my passing away is approaching. At this time thy absence
from me, when I have no heir but thyself, is inexpedient. Thy son
Kaikubad and thy brother’s son Kaikbusru are both young; and
have no experience of the world. If the kingdom falls into their
hands, they will not be able, owing to the immaturity of their youth
and their hankering after pleasures,to keep it safe. You will have to
do homage to either of them, if they sit on the throne of Dehli. But
if you ascend that throne, the ruler of Lakhnauti will submit to you,
and obey you. You should not, therefore, go away from Dehli.
Bughra Khan, however, had the desire of ruling at Lakhnauti in
his heart ; and when the Sultin appeared to be slightly better, he
started for Lakhnauti, without obtaining leave, on the pretext of
going out to hunt. He had, however, not yet reached his destina-
tion, when the Sultdn’s malady grew worse. This time the Sultdn
sent for the Malik-ul-Umra, Fakhruddin Kotwal, and gave directions
for Kaikbusru being appointed as his successor. After three days,
he was united to the ‘'mercy of God; and was buried in the Dar-ul-
Aman (the mansion of safety, the royal cemetery).

As Fakbr-ul-Umra, the Kotwal, and his adherents, had been
hostile to the martyred Khan, the father of Kaikhusru, they sent
the latter to Multan under a false pretext.

The period of Sultin Ghiasuddin Balban’s rule extended to
twenty-two years, and a few months.

SuLTAN MU’12ZUDDIN KAIKUBAD.

After the death of Sultan Ghiasuddin Balban, Kaikubad, the
son of Bughra Khan, who was eighteen years of age, was raised to
the throne, with the title of Sultan Mu’izzuddin Kaikubad. This
prince was adorned with excellent moral qualities. He had always
been brought up and educated under the eye of Sultin Balban, and
stern teachers and governors had been employed for him. Con-
sequently up to this time, he had not been allowed to enjoy any
pleasures, and to satisfy any desires. When he was suddenly freed
from all control, owing to the first onset of youth, and of the desire
of the pleasures of the senses, he opened wide the doors of pleasures
and enjoyment, and preferred the satisfaction of his lusts to the
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duties of government. He became entirely devoted to vanity and
thoe worship of self ; and as people adopt the religion (and practices)
of their rulers, young and old were engrossed with pleasures and
amusements. The Sultin left Dehli and laid the foundations of a
grand castle, and of splendid gardens, on the banks of the Jumna
at Kilokheri ; and made it his capital.

Owing to Sultan Mu’izzuddin’s immersion in pleasures and
dissipation, harlots, and jesters, and musicians, and singers came
to his court from all sides of the world ; and as there are many
classes of these peoplein India, the work of dissipation and de-
bauchery went on at a prodigious rate, and the doors of wickedness
and prostitution were opened wide; and the names of sorrow and
anxiety were forgotten and became obliterated from the hearts of
people. The court of the Sultdn was perpetually filled and crowded
with beautiful women, and sweet singers, and witty men, and cour-
tiers with silvery tongues. A single moment did not pass without
enjoyment and pleasure; and people spent their lives in giving gifts
and rewards and in lavishness and prodigality.

Malik Nizamuddin, who was the nephew and also the son-in-law
of the Malik-ul-Umra, Kotwal, became very intimate with the
Sultan; and the affairs of the government were entrusted entirely
to his judgment. Malik Kawamuddin ‘Ilakd, who was one of the
incomparable men of the age, became the Umdat-ul-Mulk (the chief
minister) and Najb Vakildar (the deputy representative). As Malik
NizimuddIn was a crafty and deceitful man, the Balbani Maliks,
who were the officers and auxiliaries of the Mu’izzi government,
became frightened and anxious, owing to the power and influence
acquired by him ; and endeavoured to gain his favour. In all affairs
of State they kept his wishes before their eyes, and did not allow
the string of subservience to escape from their hands. Malik Nizdm-
uddin was narrow-minded and covetous. When he found that the
Amirs and Maliks were humble and subservient to him, and Sultén
Mu’izzuddin was sunk in debauchery and dissipation, a mad desire
of acquiring power and empire, which had really no manner of con-
nection with him, got into his head ; and he girded up his loins
for the extirpation of the Balbani dynasty. In pursuance of this
foolish thought, and mad ambition, he said to Sultin Mu’izzuddmn :
‘¢ Kaikbusru is a co-sharer with you in the empire, and he is adorned
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with princely qualities and regal attributes.”” He also impressed
on his mind the fact that the Amirs and Maliks were favourably
disposed to his cause, and in this way obtained an order for his
assassination. Sultadn Mu’izzuddin listened to, and accepted, the
words of that deceitful man ; and sent an order to Multan for sum-
moning Kaikhusru, and he employed some men to murder that
innocent prince on the way. The helpless Kaikbhusru started for
Dehli in compliance with the order ; but at Ruhtak he attained
to martyrdom. After this Malik Nizamuddin falsely accused the
vazir, Khwajah Khatir, of an offence, and had him marched round
the capital, mounted on an ass. The fear of Malik Nizimuddin
which had been produced in the hcarts of the Amirs and Maliks
became greater, and all men turned to him.

At this time, the intelligence of the approach of the Mughals to
the neighbourhood of Lahore came. Malik Barbak Beg Tars and
Khan Jahan were sent to quell the disturbance created by them. A
sanguinary conflict took place in the vicinity of Lahore, and most of
the Mughals were slain ; and a number of them were taken prisoners
and brought to Dehli. After that, Malik Nizamuddin said one day
to Sultan Mu’izzuddin, that the Mughal nobles were all of the same
class, and they had many followers. If they united together and
acted treacherously, it would be difficult to remedy the evil. With
such glossed and specious words, he deceived the Sultin, and obtained
permission for the massacre of the Mughal Amirs; and they were
all seized one day and slaughtered. Their families were also
extirpated. Some of the Balbani Maliks, who were allied to the
Mughal Amirs, or had friendly relations with them, were imprisoned
and sent to distant fortresses. Malik Nizimuddin had no com-
punction about destroying old families ; and he did away with Amir
Shahbak, the feudatory of Multin, and Amir Yezki, the feuda-
tory of Baran, who had been Amirs of Sultdn Balban, by such
pretexts and subterfuges as he could think of. He made the
Sultan so subservient to him, that whenever anyone at any time,
loyally, and for the Sultdn’s own good, communicated even a few
words about his machinations and plots to the latter, he at once
repeated it to him ; and had the man seized and made over to him.
Malik Nizamuddin’s wife, who was the daughter of the Malik.ul-
Umra, acquired great influence in the Sultan’s haram ; and the
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Sultan used to address her by the title of mother. Owing to his
great power, the Amirs and Maliks became completely obsequious
and subservient so him; and endeavoured by every means that
they knew, and could employ, to comply with his wishes ; and to
protect themselves from his machinations. His threshold became
the asylum of high and low; and the dignity and glory of the
Mi’izzi court were shattered.

Poetry.

The king who lifts the base to grandeur high,
Makes every danger great and high ; alas!

The fire, which makes the water boil up high,
Doth surely bring contempt and danger on itself.

When the Malik-ul-Umra Kotwal became cognizant of the dan-
gerous plots, and the insane machinations, of Malik Nizamuddin, who
stood in the place of a son to him, he sent for him to his private
chamber ; and endeavoured by means of wise advice and weighty
arguments to drive out from his head his absurd designs and evil
intentions ; but they had no effect whatever. That man with the
ill-digested understanding, and the evil-disposed heart, would not
attend to his words ; and said in answer, ‘* All that you say is right
and the contrary is wrong. But as I have made the people my
enemies, and they all know what my intentions are, if I now draw
back my hand, they will not withhold their hands from me.”” The
Malik-ul-Umra showed his detestation for Malik Nizdmuddin’s
designs ; and was sorely vexed with him. When this became known
to the great men, and the notables, they all praised the Malik-ul"
Umra ; and his farsightedness and his endeavours for the safety of
the State became manifest to all. ™

In short, Bughra Khan, the father of Sultdan Mu’iz-uddin, who
was the ruler of the territory of Lakhnauti and bore the title of
Sultan Nasiruddin, heard that the Sultin was always immersed in
amusements and dissipation, and did not attend to the affairs of
government; and that Malik Nizdmuddin, haying destroyed all the
Balbani Amirs and Maliks, and all the useful ministers and officials,
wanted to rise in rebellion; and wrote letters giving much advice to
his son; and he informed all the Amirs and Maliks by hints and
implications. Sult&n Mu’izzuddin, on account of the pride of youth
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and the intoxication of wine, did not lend his ears to his father’s
words; and felt no anxiety about what his father had wmtten to
him. When Sultin Nasiruddin found that his advice had no effect -
in his absence, he wished to have an interview with his son, so that
he might tell him face to face what he had to say. He sent a letter,
written with his own band, to his son; and said in it: ‘< Oh my
son, the desire to see thee has deprived me of all strength; do not
let me suffer the pangs of separation any longer; and allow me to
have a sight of thee.”” When Sultdn Mu’izzuddin read his father’s
affectionate letter, his love was revived, and he sent letters con-
taining loving messages to him, by the hand of persons who were
near his throne; and expressed a desire for seeing him. Tn this
way, the chain of affectionate feelings was moved from both sides;
and aftor the interchange of epistles and messages, it was settled
that Sultan Mu‘izzuddin should travel from Dehli to Audh; and
Sultdn Nasiruddin should also come there from his capital ; and
the two kings should mect there ; and should have the pleasure of
each other’s company. The Kiran-us-Sa’dain of Amir Khusru is
the narrative of this mecting between father and son. It appears
from Amir Khusru’s account, that Sultdn Nasiruddin started from
Lakhnauti with the intention of conquering Dehli and destroying
his son ; and Sultan Mu‘izzuddin also hastened forward for a battle
and bloodshed ; and it was at Audh that matters were peaceably
arranged.

f'o be brief, Sultin Mu’izzuddin wanted to hasten alone to
meet his father. Malik Nizimuddin said that it was inexpedient
that the badshah should travel such a long distance alone. [He
argued that] in matter of State no deference should be shown to the
relation of father and son. It was right that the Sultan should
march with all pomp, and all the paraphernalia of Empire, and a
well-equipped army; so that all the Rays, Rajas and Zemindars
might be impressed with fear and awe at the sight of the splendour
and grandeur of the badshiah; and might behave with complete
humility, obedience and subservience. According to Malik Nizam-
uddin’s advice the Sultin started towards Audh with a well-
equipped army; and with all the pomp and circumstance of
royalty. When Sultdan Nasiruddin heard of this, and knew that it was
according to the advice of Malik Nizamuddin, he also set out from
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Lakhnauti, with a large retinue and troops and elephants, to meet
his son. The two armies encamped on the two banks of the Sarayu.
For three days messages and letters were interchanged about the
arrangements of the interview. Finally, it was settled that the son
should sit on the throne; and Sultan Nasiruddin should cross the
river ; and should show due reverence to his son, and should come
hefore the throne. Sultin Mu’izzuddin ordered his pavilion to be
erected, and sat in it with all the grandeur of Kaikhusru and Kai-
kubad, and ordered the place of meeting to be arranged and adorned.
Sultan Nasiruddin dismounted near the ante-chamber, and at three
places performed the ceremony of kissing the ground. Then, when
he came in front of the throne, Sultdin Mu’izzuddin could not restrain
himself any longer ; he descended from the throne and fell at his
father’s feet; and they embraced each other and wept on each
other’s breasts. Tears flowed from the eyes of the spectators on
seeiug their condition. The father caught the son’s hand, and
placed him on the throne; and wanted to stand in front of it. But
the son came down again, and made the father sit on the throne,
and himself sat down respectfully in front of him. Tangahs of gold
and silver were distributed. Poets recited odes and eulogies; musi-
cians sang; and ushers and heralds made proclamations; and
carried out all ceremonials of royal pomp and grandeur, connected
with grand assemblages, that were customary. The two kings were
delighted and charmed with mutual discourse and conversation.
After a time Sultan Nasiruddin got up, crossed the river, and
went to his own pavilion. The father and the son then sent each
other rare and valuable presents, dainty fruits and articles of
dessert, and delicious foods and beverages. The soldiers of the
two armies were ordered to go té& one another’s yuarters, and to
behave like friends. Sultan Nasiruddin came on several successive
days to the pavilion of his son. The two kings enjoyed the society
. of each other and held meetings and indulged in various pleasures
and enjoyments, and drank with each other. When the day of
farewell approached, Sultin Nasiraddin said to his son, ‘¢ Jamsheid
said that a king who does not keep so much nr'xoney in his treasury
‘that he may help his soldiers on the day of the onset of his
enemies, and may come to the rescue of his subjects in times of
calamity and famine, such a king does not deserve to be called a
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king of men,”’ and gave him other advice, such as was specially
deserving the attention of kings. Sultdn Mu'izzuddin said, that as
he had no benefactor, or sympathiser, who would waken him from
the sleep of carelessness, the king should make him acquainted with
whatever might be right and proper in all matters; so that he
might make it the guide of his conduct and might not allow it to be
tra'nsgressed‘ in any way. Sultan Nasiruddin, in an ebulition of
paternal love, said: ¢“ I have endured the troubles of this long
journey with the one object of making your ears of wisdom heavy
with the pearls of advice; of wakening you from the sleep of
inattention which was incidental to youth and power and the desire
for pleasure ; and of doing everything that was required of the love
and affection of a father.”” He then ordered everyone to retire,
and directed that Malik Nizamuddin and Kawamuddin, who was
the Umdat-ul-Mulk, might attend ; so that he might say what he
had to say in their hearing. The two ministers came. Sultin
Nasiruddin then said with love and pity: ¢ Oh son! when I heard
that thou hadst ascended the throne of Dehli, I became extremely
pleased. 1 knew that I had the territory of Lakhnauti already ;
now I had acquired the territory of Dehli also. Now it is two
years, however, that I have heard stories of thy pleasures and
dissipation, of thy neglect and inattention; and I am astonished that
thou art still safe From that date, I have mourned for thee and
for myself ; and I have seen the kingdoms of Dehli and Lakhnauti
in the embrace of destruction; and have emptied my heart of all
hopes of them; and specially from that day, when I heard that
thou hadst ordered my father’s servants, who had been brought
up under his protection, and who were thy sincere well-wishers, to
be slain. Because thou hast ordered them to be slain, others have
lost all confidence in thee. I have no hope, no expectation, now
in the stability of the empire. Bethink thee of this, my son! that
my elder brother, who was fit to adorn a throne, became a martyr
in my father’'s lifetime. His son who was fit to be a king, and who
was thy strength and support, thou hadst him destroyed at the
instigation of those who wished thee ill; so that they might do
away with thee ; and the empire of Dehli might pass into the grasp
of a strange family and tribe. They would not leave our names,
and no vestige of us, on the face of the earth : If thou hast no pity,
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oh son! on thyself, have pity on thy family and offspring. Don’t
destroy thyself in sport, and take pity on thy own condition, and
attend to these few words of advice of mine. The first is this : take
pity on thy own life and attend to the reformation of thy nature.
The colour of thy cheeks was fresh and red like the rose and the
ruby ; it has become yellower than turmeric! Restrain thyself
from the lasciviousness which has made thee weak and emaciated,
and do not hanker after it; for when life itself is in danger, no one
can enjoy any pleasure.
Couplets.

A king should not be drunk or mad ;

He should not, ever, in lusts indulge.

A king should e’er a shepherd be.

Alas! that a shepherd should e’er be drunk.

When the shepherd is drunk with the red, red wine
The sheep in the stomach of the wolf will sleep.

In the rules of empire, and of State,

Permanence in wisdom lies.

The second counsel is this: that you should refrain from slaying
the Amirs and Maliks ; so that the confidence which the ministers
and officials have in you may not be impaired. There are these
two men, viz. Malik Nizimuddin, and Kawamuddin, who are
ministers of mature understanding and experience. You should
gelect another man like these from amongst the Amirs; and should
associate yourself with these three ; and consider each one of these
one of the pillars of your greatness. You should transact every
business which will come up with the consent and advice of these-
Make over to one of these the Dewan of the Vazarat {i.e. the
office of the Vazir or chief minister); to the second, the Dewan of
the Risalat (or the office of the secretary for foreign affairs) ; to the
third, the Dewan of ‘Arz (or the office of the secretary for petitions);
and to the fourth, the Dewan of Insha (or the office of correspon-
dence). Allow each of the three to have equal access to you;
although their ranks, in consideration [of the fmportance] of their
duties, may be different. Do not give any of them so much power
that it may bear fruit in insubordination and revolt. The third
advice is this : that every secret of State which you may have to
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reveal, you should disclose in the presence of all the three. Do not
place so much confidence in any one of them, that the others may
be disheartened. The fourth counsel is this: that you offer your
prayers regularly, and fast in the month of Ramazan: so that owing
to the non-performance of these two duties, ruin in this world,
and in the next, may not befall you. I have heard that one of the
deceitful learned men of the age has, in order to please you, given
you permission to take your meals during the fast of the Ramazan,
and has said, that if you confer freedom on a prisoner of war,
or give food to sixty poor men, it will absolve you of the sin of
eating during the fast. Have nothing to do with the sayings and
doings of such learned men. Advice in religious matters should
not be taken from greedy and avaricious learned men, who have
made the world the object of their adoration. Questions about the
rules of religion should only be propounded to men who have
turned their faces from the world, and in the eye of whose spirits
riches and the goods of this world have become worthless.”” He
said this ; and burst out weeping and sobbing. He then took Sultan
M@’izzuddin in his arms and bade him adieu. When he held him in
his embrace, he said to him, in a whisper, ‘¢ Get rid of Nizamuddin
as soon as you can ; for if he gets an opportunity, he will not let you
live one day.”’ He said this, and weeping, went back to his own
pavilion. That day he abstained from all food, and said to his con-
fidants, ¢ To-day I have said my last farewell to my son and to the
kingdom of Dehli.”’

After that Sultin Mu’izzuddin marched from Audh toward Dehli.
For a few days, he remembered his father’s advice and instruc-
tions; and kept himself back from pleasures and dissipation. In
spite of the fact that the love of wine and women had become a
second nature to him, and his boon companions tried by signs and
suggestions to put the chain of dissipation in motion, and incited
him, he was prevented by his father’s advice, which had become
known to everybody, and by shame and modesty, and restrained
himself. As the news of his convivial meetings, and the noise of
his indulgence in pleasures and dissipation, had reached the various
sides and quarters of the globe, bands of beautiful courtesans, and
persons who made it their business to minister to the lusts of the
rich, came to his court, and every day showed themselves in his
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neighbourhood, after adorning themselves and making themselves
ready for his companionship, and wanted to be of service to him.
As the Sultan had given away his heart for the society of these
bands, and had gambled away his life for his desire for them,
although he tried to remember his father’s advice, yet from time to
time the reins of his heart slipped away from his hand, and from
moment to moment the fire of desire blazed up. In spite of himself,
he cast stealthy glances on the faces and cheeks of the courtesans,
and looked at them from the corners of his eyes. It so happened
that an artful young courtesan, who was at the head of the beauties
of the age, and was the chief of the incomparabhle ones of the period,
with an embroidered cap on her head, a gold-worked robe on her
person, and a jewelled belt round her waist, mounted on a steed of
Arab strain, came in front of the royal canopy at the time of start-
ing, and showed a hundred blandishments and coquetish gestures.
She displayed her wonderful arts, and her graceful movements,
which bordered on the region of magic, and recited this couplet
with a dainty voice—
Couplet.
If on my eyes, oh love! thy foot thou’lt place,
My eyes on thy path will I throw, so thou mayest o’er them
pass.

After that, she said, ‘‘I believe that the opening lines of the
ode are more appropriate to the circumstances of the case; but I
cannot recite them out of respect for thee!” The Sultan said,
¢ Recite them, and fear not.”’ She sang—

Oh cypress of the Silvery hue! to the desert dost thou roam,
A wondrous promise-breakerm.thou! that leaving me thou
wouldst go.

The Sultan was so astonished and wonder-struck at the sight of
her world-illuminating beauty, and the spectacle of her charming
figure and gestures, that he forgot all his father’s counsel on the
instant. He lost all control over himself, and stood on the road
and talked with that breaker of vows. He dismounted and called
for wine, and halted at that very spot. He arranged a meeting of his
boon companions, and sat engrossed with the sight of her dancing.
He then repeated this couplet :
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At night T wine renounce, for fear of the blandishments of the
Fair.

At dawn the face of Pheebe to the wine-cup doth me drag.

When that witty wanton heard this couplet from the mouth of
the Sultan, she said in reply: ‘
My saint-alluring coquetry, a recluse of a hundred years,
Takes by the forelock of his head ; and to the distant wine-shop
drags.

The Sultan was struck with surprise and wonder at the beauty
of her intellect and the brilliance of her repartee. He made her his
cup bearer. After a show of humility and reverence, she said—

¢ Although I’m fairer than the moon !
I’m yet a slave of the slaves of the king!”’

and filled the cup and placed it in the Sultan’s hand. The latter
took it from her hand, and repeated these couplets to express his
passionate love : —
¢ W;wn the cup comes round to me, give it to my comrades
here ;
And pass me by, that on Pheebe’s face my wondering eye I
may fix.
If thou wilt deign my cup-bearer to be, Oh love !
Who dare declare that wine is sinful and impure.

He said this and drained the cup. The Amirs and Maliks began
once more to indulge in dissipation and debauchery. The next day
the Sultan started from that place. He held convivial meetings
at the different stations, and indulged in amusements and pleasures
till he reached Dehli. He took up his quarters in the castle of
Kilokhari. The citizens made great rejoicings on the return of the
Sultan, and had feasts, and built ornamentaldomes. The indulgence
in pleasares, and feasting and rejoicing, became so universal in the
days of Sultin Mu’izzudin, that in every lane and quarter of the
town people drank wine publicly and held feasts. Care and anxiety
left the heart of the people, and insouciance took their place. When
& few months had passed in this way, the Sultan became ill, and his
great lasciviousness and constant drinking made him weak aund
feeble.
17
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At this time he wanted, according to his father’s advice, to
remove Niz&muddin; but he could not come to any wise deter-
mination in the matter ; and on the spur of the moment said to
him, ‘¢ You should go to Multan, and attend to the affairs of that
fief.”” Malik Nizimuddin knew that the Sultan wanted to get him
out of the way, delayed in starting, and made various excuses.
But those who were near the Sultan’s person, and who had always
been anxious to encompass the death of Malik Nizdmuddin, removed
him, as soon as they became aware of the Sultan’s intentions, by
giving him poison.

Couplet.

As he did not spare to shed the blood of men,
Time’s self its sword in his life blood did imbrue

Those in power then sent for Malik Jalaluddin Firoz, who was
the Governor of Samanah, and had been the commander of the
guards of the palace, from that fief ; and appointed him to be the
commander of the forces of the empire, and made him the feudatory
of Baran, and conferred on him the title of Shaistah Khan. They
made Malik Aitamar Kujan the Barbak (the master of ceremonies) ;
and Malik Aitamar Surkhah the Vakil-dar (the representative in the
council) ; and the various offices were distributed anew among the
nobles. In the meantime, the Sultan’s illness became worse. He
was seized with paralysis, was confined to his bed, and could not
attend to any business. The desire of seizing the empire entered
the heads of all the great nobles ; a madness seized every heart, and
a vain ambition took possession of every breast. Some of the
Balbani nobles, in gratitude for the favours they had received from
the family, brought the son of Sultan Mu’izzuddin, who was still a
mere child, out of the haram ; and giving him the title of Sultan
Shams-ud-din, placed him on the throne. They erected the royal
pavilions and tents on the Nasiri Chabutara; and kept the young
Sultan there. The Amirs and Maliks encamped round the pavilion.
Sultan Mu‘izzuddin, who was really past all {reatment, was kept
under treatment in the castle of Kilokhari.

Malik Jalaluddm Firoz Khalji, who was the commander of the
forces, encamped at Bahdpur with all the Khaljis who formed a
large body and mustered the forces. Malik Aitamar Kuja.n, the
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Barbak, and Malik Aitamar- Surkhah the Vakil-dar, and all the
Balbani Amirs, combined together, and determined that such of the
nobles as were strangers, and were not real Turks, should be removed
out of the way. They made a list of their names. The name of
Malik Jaliluddin Khalji was in that list. When the latter became
aware of this, he collected his men, and brought together all the
Khalj Amirs and Maliks, and he also got some other Amirs to join
them. At this time, Malik Aitamar Kujan, Barbak, mounted, so
that he might induce Malik Jalaluddin Firoz by false pretences to
come (to their camp), and there assassinate him. As Malik Jalal-
uddin Firoz had become aware of this design, as soon as Malik
Aitamar Kujan came to the door of the tent, he was dragged down
from his horse and hacked to pieces.

Couplets.

Place not thy foot on the path of treachery ;

For in the end into the snare thou’lt fall.

Hast not, from the traveller on this path, thou heard,
That who so dug a well, into it he fell ?

And the sons of Malik Jalaluddin, who were brave and courage-
ous, went with five hundred horsemen into the royal pavilion, took
Sultdn Shamsuddin from the throne, and carried him, and the sons
of the Malik-ul-Umra, to Bahapur to their father. They Kkilled
Malik Aitamar Surkhah, who was pursuing them, on the way. As
the notables and the common people of Dehli did not like that the
Khalj should gain the mastery, they came out in large numbers,
with the intention of assisting Sultin Shamsuddin; and assembling
together, in front of the Bada-in Gate, determined to attack Mal'k
Jalaluddin Firoz. But the Malik-ul.Umra turned them away, and
dispersed them, in order to save his own sons, who were in the
custody of Malik Jalaluddin; and most of the Amirs and Maliks
joined the latter. A Malik whose father had been killed by order of
Sultdn Mu‘izzuddin, went into the castle of Kilu Khari, and giving
him, who had only a little life left in his body, a few kicks, threw
him into the river.

Sultdin Mu‘izzuddin’s reign lasted for three years and a few
months.
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SULTAN JALALUDDIN KHALJI.

I have seen in one of the authoritative histories, that the tribe
of Khalj are the descendants of Kalij Khan, son-in-law of Chengiz
Khan; and his story is this. He had an unpleasantness with his
wife, the daughter of Chengiz Khan. For fear of the latter, he
had no alternative but to simulate softness and courtesy. He was
all along looking for a release, a means of escape, but could not find
any. At last when Chengiz Khin defeated and crushed Sultdn
Jaldluddin on the bank of the river Sind, and having freed his mind
of all anxiety about Iran and Turdn, returned towards his own
country, and at about the same time passed away ; Kalij Khan, who
had carefully examined the hilly country of Ghur and Gharjistan
and their strength and inaccessibility, settled down there with his
family and tribesmen, who numbered about three thousand families.
As Chengiz Khan was dead, and none of his sons took any notice of
his movements, he remained there : and his descendants multiplied.
As the Sultans of Ghiir and its dependencies conquered Hindustan,
the Khalj, owing to their being in the neighbourhood, came at
different times into that country, and entered into service there,
and attained to high rank. The father of Sultan Jalaluddin and
the father of Sultan Mahmud Khalji Mandvi, who are among the
great and successful Maliks and renowned Sultdns, were grandsons
of Kalij-Khan. Kalij became Khalij by a change of letter, and by
frequency of use became Khalj. According to the author of the
Saljuknamah (however) Turk the son Japhet had eleven sons, one of
these was named Khalj. His descendants are called the Khalj.

In short, Sultan Jaldluddin set out from Bahapur with a large
following, and rode to the castle of Kilukhari, and for a few days he
remained there as the deputy of Sultan Shamsuddin. Then in the
beginning of the year 688 A.H. he ascended the throne. He sent
Malik Jhaju Kaghli Khén, the nephew of Sultan Ghiasuddin, to
Kara, after conferring that territory on him. The nobles who were
on his side, as well as those who were hostile to him, did homage
to him, willingly or otherwise. As the residents of the capital
were, however, not well-disposed to him, he, mindful of this, did not
go into the city, and did not sit on the throne, on which the Sultans
had all alongrat, He remained at Kilukhari, and ordered the Mu‘izzi
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castle (i.e. the castle which Sultan Mu‘izzuddin Kaikubad had com-
menced) to be completed ; and laid out a new garden in front of it on
the bank of the Jumna. The Amirsand Maliks, also, built houses the_re.'
The foundations of a citadel of stone were laid, and in a short time,
the citadel, and houses, and mosques, and a market were erected ; and
the place obtained the name of the new city. As Sultan Jalaluddin’s
government acquired stability, and the report of his piety, and patience,
and modesty, and justice, and benevolence spread among men, the
people of the city—young and old—all came forth, and rendered
homage ; and the Shaikhs, and the learned men, and the headmen of
the various sects, received gifts and benefactions. The charge of the
different fiefs and the various court appointments were distributed
among the nobles. The eldest son of the Sultan received the
title of Khan-i-Khanan, his second son of Arkali Khan, and his
third son of Kadr Khan; and a parganah or territory was assigned
to each. The brother of the Sultan received the title of Baghrash
Khan and was made the commander of the forces. ¢ Alauddin
and Ulugh Khdn, who were the two nephews and sons-in-law of
the Sultan, became respectively the Amir buzurg (the first noble)
and the Akhiryak (the second noble); and Malik Ahmad Hab,
the son of the Sultan's sister, the naib (deputy) and Barbak
(master of ceremonies) ; and Malik Khurram the Vakildar (represen-
tative of the sovereign in the darbar). Khwajah Khatir became the
Vazir (minister) ; and the Malik-ul-Umra the Kotwal. Repose and
contentment now appeared among the people, high and low. The
Sultan then went into the city with great pomp and splendour, and
with his army in brilliant array. He dismounted at the palace gate,
and bowed down twice in prayer; and sitting on the throne of the
Sultans said, < For years I have bowed my head before this throne.
To-day I have been enabled to put my foot on it. How can I suffi-
ciently express my gratitude to God for this ! ** He then mounted his
horse, and rode towards the ruby Kiosk, and there dismounted at the
gate, as he had hitherto been accustomed to do. Malik Ahmad Hab,
Barbak, who was the Umdat-ul-Mulk (t he support of the state) repre-
sented, with all deference, that the ruby Kiosk now belonged to the
Sultan, and there was no reason why he should dismount at the gate.
The Sultin said that under all circumstances, one should show
reverence to one’s benefactor. Malik Ahmad Hab then said, that the
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Sultan should reside in the Kiosk, which was the royal residence. The
Sultan said in reply, that Sultan Balban had built it when he was a
Khan; and it was now the property of his descendants; and he had
no kind of right toit. Malik Ahmad Hab replied, that such strictness
was not possible in matters of State. The Sultan answered, that he
could not transgress the rules of Islam, and act contrary to what was
right and just, for the sake of temporary worldly expediency.

Couplet.

Can religion and reason e’er decree
That the wise, for this world, the next should sacrifice ?

He then went into the ruby Kiosk on foot. He did not sit down at
the place where Sultan (Ghidsuddin used to sit, out of respect to the
latter, and sat in the line which had been assigned to the Amirs. He
then said to the Amirsand Maliks: ¢ May worse evil befall the houses
of Aitamar Kujan and Aitamar Surkhah ! for if they had not acted
deceitfully and treacherously towards me, I would not have fallen
into this danger; and should have passed the remaining days of my
life performing the duties of a Khan or a Malik. Now I can not even
imagine what the end will be ! Seeing that in spite of the power
and grandeur of Sultan Balban, the length of his rule, and the
greatness of his ministers and councillors, the empire did not
remain with his descendants, will it remain with me? and after
me, what will happen to my offspring and dependants ’° Some of
the Amirs present, who were wise and experienced, were saddened
on hearing these words, and sympathized with him; others who
were young and reckless, censured him, and said, ‘* This man has just
become & king; and he is already. apprehending the decline of his
rule. The vigour and sternness which should always characterize a
ruler of men can not be expected of him.”” At the close of the
same day Sultdn Jaldliddin returned from the city and went to
Kilu Khari and made that his capital.

The year after the Sultan’s accession, Malik Jhaju, nephew
of Sultan Balban, who was the feudatory of Karah, raised the
standard of hostility; and had prayers read, and coin struck, in his
own name; and gave himself the title of Sult4én Maghisuddin.
Amir Ali Sarjandar, the Governor of Audh, who was called Hétim
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Khén, and all the Balbani Maliks who had fiefs in that quarter,
combined with him. He marched with a large army toward Dehli,
as he hoped that the citizens, who disliked the rule of the Khaljis,
would befriend him. Sultdn Jaldluddin, on hearing the news
of this rebellion, left Khén-i-Khdnén, his eldest son, as the Regent
at Dehli, and started, accompanied by the old ministers and
- councillors, and at the head of a well-equipped army, to attack
Malik Jhaju. He made Arkali Khén, his second son, who was
noted for his bravery and heroism, the commander of the advanced
guard, and sent brave and well-tried warriors with him. According
to the orders he had received Arkali Khan crossed the Kalaskar!
river with his army. Malik Jhaju came from the other side,
with all the Balbani Amirs and Maliks, and countless troops, and
all the zamindars and renowned Rajahs of that country, to oppose
him; and a great battle took place; and he was defeated, and
most of the commanders of his army were taken prisoners.
Malik Jhaju took shelter with one of the indigenous chiefs; but
was taken prisoner by the local head-man, and was brought as
a captive to the Sultan. Arkali Khan mounted the prisoners on
camels, and sent them to the Sultan, with iron collars and fetters on
them. When they were brought in that condition before the Sultén,
and his eyes fell on them, he ordered that they should be dis-
mounted from the camels, and the fetters should be removed.
He also ordered, that such of them as had been men of rank and
consideration with Sult4n Balban, should be taken to the hamdm
(baths) and should have their hands and faces washed. They were
then dressed in special royal robes and anointed with ’atar. He
then arranged a feast in his palace, and invited them to it, and
asked them to drink wine with him.

Couplet.
"Tis easy, evil with evil to reward ;
If man thou art, do good for evil done.

They hung their heads down for shame, and were tonguetied
with bashfulness. The Sultdn, in order to remove their agitation,
said, ‘“ You drew your swords in the cause of your benefactor, and

1§0in MSS. A. & B. The lith. ed. has. Kalakar and MS. C. Kalatalkar,
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did what the salt you had eaten and the fealty you had sworn
demanded. This cannot be deemed to be blameworthy on your
part.”” He ordered Malik Jhaju to be placed in a litter, and sent
him to Multan; and he ordered that he should be confined in a
house there, and should be treated with all honour, and provided
with all articles of luxury and pleasure, which he might ask for.
Malik Ahmed Hab and all the Khalj Amirs were displeased at the
kindness which the Sultan had shown to the prisoners. They
pointed out to him, that the generosity which he had displayed
to this body of men, who deserved death, was contrary to the
rules of empire, and nugatory of all principles of government.
For if, they argued, due punishment was not meted out to men
who created disturbances and raised rebellions, and their blood
was not shed, the desire of power, and the lust of empire, wouid
enter the heads of all, and how many revolutions would take
place! The punishments which Sult4n Balbén inflicted on rebels,
and the seas of blood which he shed, most of these things, they said,
had passed before the eyes of His Majesty ; and the dread of it
had not yet been obliterated from the hearts of men. Then, they
said, that if they themselves had fallen into the enemies’ hahds,
would the latter have left the name or any vestige of the Khaljis
on the face of the earth? They argued, therefore, that not to
punish them would be contrary to all sound policy.

Couplets. .

’Tis better that the rebel’s head should fall,
That a traitorous army should be scattered wide. ;
No fresh green twig will the cypress adormn
Till thou cuttest off the old and withered branch.

The Sultan said in reply : ‘“ What you all say is right and
accords with the rules of imperial policy. But what can I do ?
For seventy years have I lived like a Musalman; and have never
shed the blood of a Musalman. Now that I am old and have
only a few years to live, I do not wish to imbrue my hand with a
Moslem’s blood; and gain for myself the name of a despot and
tyrant. And if we had fallen into their hands, and they had
shed -our blood, the burden of answering for it, to-morrow, on the
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day of judgment, would have been on their shoulders and not on
ours. I have been for years one of Sult4n Balban’s servants,
and the debt of gratitude for his favours is heavy on my shoulders.
I have taken possession of his kingdom. It would be the height
of baseness and injustice if, in addition, I slew his adherents and
dependants.”’ After the Sultdn had returned from Bad4 tn he
sent for ’Ala-ud-din, who was his sonin-law as well as the son of
his brother, and who had heen brought up by him, to Karah,
after conferring that fief on him. When he arrived in Dehl.
crowned with success and victory, the citizens erected ornamental
domes and made rejoicings.

Owing to Sultdn Jaldlud-din’s patience, and disinclination to
cause pain, many of the Amirs and Maliks said that he did not
know how to rule a country, and govern an empire. It is said
that thieves and robbers were repeatedly seized, and brought
before him. He bound them by oaths not to commit thefts again ;
and released them. He used to say that although in a war he
could rout an army, and could shed much blood, yet he could not
order a man, who had been seized and brought before him, to be
slain. On one occasion, one thousand highway robbers were
brought before him. He did not order one of them to be executed ;
but put them all in boats, and sent them away to Lakhnauti. TFin
ing and amercing, and imprisonment and torture, and greed for
other people’s wealth, which are the characteristics of despots and
tyrants, were never perpetrated by him during the whole time
of his sovereignty. It is said, that some ungrateful wretches, in
whose natures wickedness was ingrained, and who were utterly
destitute of all manly feelings, held meetings in which they drank
wine, and talked how they could bring about the downfall of the
Sultan. When the news of these gatherings reached him, he
was not moved in any way; and said that men who were drunk,
should not be held responsible for words which they might utter
in their state of intoxication. One day Malik Téj-ud-din Kji
invited some great Amirs to his house, to a drinking party. When
they were all drunk they said, ‘¢ Sult4én Jalal-ud-din is not fit to
be the king. Malik T4j-ud-din is the fittest person for the
throne.”” They all swore allegiance to him. One of them said,
“T can finish him with this hunting knife >’ ; another, I can cut

18
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off his head with this sword.” The others bragged in the same
way. When the Sultdn heard this he sent for them, and by
way of a challenge, he drew his sword from the scabbard and
threw it down in front of them. He said then: *“If any of you
is man enough, he should take up this sword, and should stand
up in front of me; so that he may know what real courage is.”’
Malik Nasrat Sabbédh, who was a witty and fine-tempered man
but who had himself uttered some nonsense at the meeting,
said: ** Your Majesty knows that words uttered by drunken men
in a state of intoxication have no meaning. We, whom the Sultdn
has cherished and brought up like his sons, know that we will
never have a King with patience, and forbearance, and dignity
like his. Therefore we cannot plot against him. The Sultdn will
also find no loyal and faithful Maliks and Malikzddahs like us,
and we know that he will not assent to our ruin and destruction.”’
These words affected the Sultin; his anger subsided; he called
for wine ; and offered the cup with his own hand to Malik Nasrat
Sabbdh At the same time he ordered the conspirators to go to
their respective fiefs ; and to remain there for some time.

Couplet.

The sword of patience sharper is than sword of steel,
Yea ! Better than a hundred hosts, it victory doth gain.

In respect of offences committed by those who were near him,
he did not inflict any corporal chastisement on the offenders; nor
did he imprison them. When he conferred a fief on any person
he did not again take it away.

It is said that at the time when he was the commander of
Sultdn Balban’s guard, and held the fief of Saménah Maulana,
Sirdjuddin S4di, who was one of the poets of the age, held a village
among those included in the fief of Sdménah, by way of subsistence
allowance. Sultdn Jaldluddin' demanded rent from the Moulédn4,
as he did in the case of other grantees. The Mauldna was dis-
pleased at this, and wrote verses in praise of the Sultin (apparently

1 This anecdote has been given, in a somewhat confused style, in the
original, owing to the author’s insisting on giving the title of Sultdn to Jalal-
uddin, even before he ascended the throne,
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either Ghidsuddin Balban or Mu’izzuddin Kaikubad); and inserted
in them some complaints against his officers. Sultdn Jalédluddin
appeared to pay no attention to the Mauldnd, owing to his having
many other things to atten1 to. The Mauldnd was grieved at heart,
and wrote some satirical verses against Sultdn Jaldluddin, and
gave them the name of Khaljnimah. At that time Sultin Jalal-
uddin was still the Governor of Sdémanah. The Khaljnamah, which
contained some bitter satire, reached the Sultdn. The Maulana, fear-
ing that the Sultén would try to have his revenge for the satire, left
Séménah and took up his residence at another place. About the
same time the Sultan ravaged a village belonging to some Mundé-
hirs. A Mundéahir confronted the Sultdn, and inflicted a wound
on his face, the marks of which remained till the day of his death.
When Sultén Jal4luddin ascended the throne, Mauldnd Sirédjuddin
and that Mundahir appeared before him, with halters round their
necks. The matter was reported to the: Sultdn. He immediately
sent for them; and took the Mauldénd in his arms; conferred
gifts and a robe of honour on him; fixed a pension for him ; and
ordered that he should from that time attend before the throne
like other notables, and make his salutations. He also granted
favours on the Mundahir.

One day the Sultan said to Malkah-i-Jahdn his wife: ‘ When
the great officers and judges come fo the gate of the haram to offer
their congratulations to you, tell them that they should request
me that they might be allowed to describe me in the Khutbah as
““the warrior of God.”” About that time the marriage of Kadr
Khan, the youngest son of the Sultdn, with a daughter of Sultan
Mu’izzuddin, took place ; and the great officers went to offer their
congratulations. They approved of the message (which Malkah-i-
Jahén apparently sent to them) and said that as the Sultdn had
repeatedly drawn his sword in the wars with the Mughals and had
fought with them, it was not only allowable, but even right and
proper that he should be called ¢ the warrior of God.”” When the
great officers and judges again went to congratulate the Sul'én
on the first day of the month, and were honoured by being
allowed to kiss his hand, Kézi Fakhruddin Béklah, who was the
most learned man of the age, dissimulated his real opinion, and
represented to the Sultdn by the mouth of some of the others,
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who were present, that they should describe the Sultdn in the
Khutbah as ¢‘the warrior of God.”” The Sultdén said, ‘I know
Malkah-i-Jahan has asked you to suggest this, at my own request ;
but I thought over the matter at that very time, and came to
the conclusion that I had not, at any time, waged war with the
enemies of God, in His cause alone, without any admixture of
a v'vorldly object, and I repented myself of the intention which
I had formed, and gave up the idea altogether.’’

At the time when Sultdn Jaléluddin was the commander of
the imperial forces, he conferred many favours on Amir Khusru;
made him the keeper of the kurans; and specially honoured him
by granting him the white robe and belt, which were reserved
for the great nobles. The Sultén mixed in a friendly way with
the persons who were invited to his drinking parties, and did
not require any elaborate observauces from them; and treated
them almost as equals. His companions at the convivial meetings
were Malik Tdjuddin Kuaji, Malik Fakhruddin Kuji, Malik Izzud-
din Ghiri, Malik Kar4 Beg, Malik Nasrat Sabbah, Malik Ahmad
Hab, Malik Kaméluddin Abul Ma’ali, Malik Nésiruddin Kuhréami
and Malik Saiduddin Mantaki. These Maliks were unequalled
at that time for the sweetness of their natures, the elegance of
their manners, and their courage and manliness. Tajuddin ‘Irdki
Amir Khusru, Mir Hasan, Muted Jajarmi, Mied Dewénah, Amir
Arslan Kaldhi, Ikhtiar Bagh and Baki Khatib were included
among the courtiers; and each of these excelled in the composition
of verses, and in the knowledge of history. The court of the Sultan
was always adorned with sweet-voiced recite.s of odes, like Amir
Khésah and Hamid Réjah, and charming cupbearers, like the
sons of Haibat Khéan, and Nizdm~Kharitaddr; and incomparable
musicians, like Muhammad Shah Jangi and Fattuh Khén and
Nasrat Khdn, Amir Khusru used to present new odes at the court
of the Sultdn, and rewards and favours were conferred on him.

Among the strange occurrences of that period, was the affair
of Sidi Maulah, This matter may be briefly narrated in this way.
A darwesh of the name of Sidi Maulah appeared in Dehli, and
took up his quarters there. He opened the door of charity and
almsgiving on the face of the people. As he did not take any-
thing from anybody, and he had no fixed pension or stipend,
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people were struck with wonder at his excessive expenditure and
his lavish gifts. Many persons said that he was versed in alchemy
and natural magic. He laid the foundation of a great Khénkah ;
and spent large sums on it. Most of the travellers by sea and
land stopped in it, and every day his table was spread twice. A
thousand maunds of flour, five hundred maunds of roast meat,
and three hundred maunds of sugar were consumed daily ; and
all sorts and conditions of men attended the tables, and many
people used to attend at the gate of the Khankah. Most of the
Amirs and Maliks of Sultdn Jaldluddin became the disciples and
friends of Sidi Maulah. He practised great austerity, and confined
himself to dry bread and pot herbs in the way of food. He had
no wife or slave girl. He performed namdz ; but did not attend the
public namdz on Fridays; and he did not comply with the rules of
meeting together for prayer, as had been customary from ancient
times. Before Sidi Moulah came to Dehli, he went to Ajodhan,
and vendered service to Kutb-i-‘Alam Farid-ul-Hak-Wad-din ; may
the mercy of God rest on him! dnd he remained there for a few
days. At the time of bidding him farewell, the Sheikh said, ‘‘ Shut
on thy face the door of the coming of Kings; and have nothing to
do with crowds ; and hanker not after fame.’’

Couplet.
Lay not thy heart on the fire! for though ’twould make thy
face aglow,
A time will come when ’twill a hundred granaries consume.

But Sidi Moulah could not preserve himself.

Couplet.

A hundred tales the ear of greed doth hear;
But not a word doth any impression make !

He made Khén-i-Khanén, the eldest son of the Sultén, a
believer in his powers and a disciple, and called him by the name
of son. He also made Kézi Jaldl Késhéni, one of the great men of
the age, his friend and well-wisher. Some of the Balbani Maliks,
who in the present reign had no fiefs, and no means of subsistence,
were always in attendance and doing service at the Khankah ; as
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they received various benefits from Sidi Maulah. Men began to
think that he wanted to seize the country by the help and assistance
of these persons. When this came to the knowledge of Sultan
Jaléluddin he gave orders, and Sidi Maulah and his disciples were
seized and brought before him. Although the poor man asserted
his innocence and took solemn oath, it was of no avail. The Sultan
ordered that a fire should be kindled on the plain of Bahépur.
This was done, and the flames rose up to the sky. He also ordered
the learned and great men of the city to attend. Then he ordered
that Sidi Maulah and his adherents should be dragged into the fire;
go that the truth, or the falsehood about him, might become patent.
The learned men of the day, who were present on the scene, repre-
sented to him that it was in the nature of fire to burn: to make
it the test of truth or falsehood was contrary to reason and forbidden
by the law. The Sultdn having heard this from the learned men,
desisted from his inhuman design. But he sent Kézi Jaldl, who was
accused of creating disturbances, to Badain, to be the Kazi there.
He sent away the other Maliks, whom he knew to be the well-wishers
of Sidi Maulah, to distant parts of the country; and ordered some
of them to be otherwise punished. When Sidi Maulah was brought
under arrest before the Sultan, the latter began arguing with him.,
He replied ; and no offence was proved against him, either according
to the law or to reason. The Sultdn then turned to Sheikh Abu Bakr
Tusi Haidari, the chief of the Haidari Kalandars (Fakirs or Monks),
and exclaimed : < Oh Darweshes ! avenge me on this tyrant!’’ A
reckless Kalandar of the name of Bahri jumped up, and struck
Sidi Moulah some blows with a razor; and wounded him with a
packing needle. Arkali Khén, the second son of the Sultén, signed
to his elephant-driver to drive the eldphant over Sidi Maulah. He
did so, and made him a martyr. Tradition says, that on the day
that Sidi Maulah was killed, there was a storm, and the world
became dark. That year there was a drought, and there was a
famine in Dehli; so that the Hindus, unable to bear the pangs of
hunger, went in bodies, and threw themselves ‘in the Jumna, and
were drowned in the sea of destruction.

In this year 689 A.H. the Sultdn marched with an army towards
Ranthambor, and left Arkali Khan, his second son, at Kilukhari, as
his deputy; as his eldest son, the Khan-i-Khanén, was now dead.
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Immediately on his arrival, he seized Jhdin,' and destroyed the
temples there; plundered much wealth, and carried away much
boaty. The Rajah of Ranthambhor shut himself up in the citadel.
The Sultdn besieged the fort for a few days, and then returned (to
Dehli). He said, ‘ The capture of the fort does not deserve that
one man shouid die for it.

Couplet.

The empire of the world, by my manliness, I swear,
Doth not deserve that a drop of blood on the earth should
fall.

Granted that I seize the fort and put these creatures of God to
the sword, to-morrow, when the widows and orphans of the
slaughtered men will come to me, and my eyes will fall on them,
what will be my condition ; and will not the taste of the capture of
the fort be bitterer in my mouth than poison?”

In the year 691 a.H. the Mughals of Chengiz Khén invaded
Hindustan with a large army. The Sultdn set out with the mighty
imperial forces to repel them. When the armies approached each
other and met, warriors eager for adventure engaged in several skir-
mishes. The Mughal leaders, recognizing the superiority of the
Sultan’s troops, commenced negociations. The Sultan gave the
name of son to the Mughal leader, who was a relation of Haldku
Khén; and the latter called him father, and they met each other
from a distance.? Choice gifts and presents were sent from both
sides. The Mughal army then retraced its steps; but Alghu, the
grandson of Chengiz Khan, with some Mughal noblemen joined the
Sultdan. They all became Musalmans, and Alghu was honoured with
the hand of one of the Sultin’s daughters. Ghidspur was assigned
to the Mughals for their residence, and its name was changed to
Mughalpir; while the Mughals got the name of the Neo-Moslems.

At the end of the year, the Sultén marched against Manda® a.nd

! The lith, ed. has <= Théne and the throo MSS. ol il and
wil¢> Jhan, Jhéban and Jhain respectively.

2 It would appear that the ‘¢ father >’ and the ¢ gon’’ did not have much
confidence in each other.

8 The place is called Mandu in the lith. ed. In the three MSS. it appears
88 ypu Od0 90w 80d g3i® 1t js difficult to say what place is referred to.
It may be Méndu or Mandwar.
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ravaged and plundered the neighbouring country. About the same
time Malik ‘Alduddin, the nephew of the Sultan, begged that he
might have permission to march against Bhilsah and pillage those
tracts. He received the necessary orders, and went and ravaged
the country and brought much booty for the Sultan’s service. He
also brought two brass idols, which had been the object of the
worship of the Hindus of those parts : and cast them down in front
of the Bada-Gn Gate to be trampled upon by the people. This
achievement of Malik ‘Alduddin earned the commendation of the
Sultén, who raised him to a higher rank ; and conferred many royal
favours on him. He gave him the territory of Audh as an addi-
tional fief. When Malik ‘Alauddin found the Sultdn to be so
favourably inclined towards him, he submitted a representation,
asking for permission to enlist additional troops, with the surplus
revenue of his fiefs, so that he might with the aid and help of his
old and new soldiers invade the territory of Chanderi and its
vicinity, which contained an abundance of riches; and might bring
much booty; and rise higher in the estimation of his Sovereign.
The Sultdn at once granted the prayer ; and Malik ‘Alduddin bidding
hira farewell went from Dehli to Karah. He had, however, suffered
much vexation at the hands of Malkah-i-Jah4n, his mother-in-law,
and could no longer bear her tyranny and oppression ; and he had
never been able to bring his troubles to the notice of the Sultan,
a8 Malkah-i-Jahén had very great influence over the latter. He had
therefore been thinking for some time that he would, by some pretext
or other, go away to some place outside the Sultdn’s dominions;
and take possession of the country, and live there. As he had now
got an opportunity, he at once took advantage of it; and having
completely armed and equipped his old and new troops, started from
Karah, leaving Malik ‘ Ald-ul-Mulk, who was a special friend of his,
as his deputy in Karah and Audh. He marched towards Deogir ;
but made a pretence of going to plunder and ravage the country
round Chanderi. He marched through Elichpur. As there was no
news from him for some days Malik ‘Al4-ul-Mulk wrote to the
Sultdn, in order to satisfy the latter that Malik ‘Alduddin was
engaged in plundering and ravaging the territory of Chanderi;
and his petition containing the news of his victories would reach the
throne in the course of a day or two. The SBultdn was satisfied with
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this ; a8 he had no knowledge of the trouble which Malik ¢Alduddin
had suffered at the hand of Malkah-i-Jahidn. He was his nephew
and son-in-law, and had besides been brought up by him from his
youth, No suspicion of any perfidy from him, therefore, ever
entered his mind. At that time Riém Deo, the ruler of Deogir, had
gone away, with his son, to a distant place. When he heard that
Malik ‘Alduddin had entered the Deogir territory, he met him with
a large force of Rays and Rénas. Malik ‘Alauddin routed that
army ; and conquered Deogir. In the end RAm Deo came and
made his submission. Torty elephants and some thousands of
horses from R4m Deo’s palace stables fell into Malik ‘Alduddin’s
hands ; and so much booty was obtained, consisting of gold and
gilver, and gems and pearls, and various kinds of goods and fabrics,
as was beyond the count and estimation of the intellect. As no
news had been received of Malik ‘Alduddin for a long time, the
Sultan started towards Gwalior on an expedition of hunting and
pleasure; and remained for some time in those parts. Even before
the receipt of Malik ‘Aliuddin’s memorial (notifying his victory),
a rumour arose in the Sultdn’s army that he had conquered
Deogir ; and had obtained many elephants and horses, and an
immense quantity of goods and riches; and was marching back
towards Karah. The Sult4n was pleased on hearing this news; but
the wise men of the age, knowing that Malik ‘Alauddin had under-
taken such an enormous enterprise without the Sultin’s permission ;
and had acquired so much wealth ; and knowing also that he had
such enmity with his haram (wife) and with Malkah-i-Jahén, could
perceive by the eye of wisdom that he intended to rise and rebel
against the Sultdn, but they did not say this before the latter. One
day the Sultin called a private meeting of his confidential advisers ;
and consulted with them. He asked them: ¢ ‘Alduddin is coming
from Deogir with all these horses, and elephants and booty; what
should I do? Should I remain where I am; or should I hasten to
welcome him ; or should I return to Dehli?’’ Malik Ahmed Hab,
who was celebrated for his correct thinking and sound judgment,
submitted that abundance of wealth, success in one’s undertakings
and the accomplishment of one’s desires became the cause of pride
and rebellion ; and made a man, however intelligent and wise he might

be, drunk and mad. ‘¢ The cheats and deluders of Karah,’’ said he
19
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<« who carried Malik Jhaju off from the path of loyalty, are now all
assembled round him; and they incited him to go to Deogir
without the Sultin’s orders. Who knows what he has in his heart ?
It would be wisest for the Sultdn to go with all speed to Chanderi,
so that he might arrive there before Malik ‘Alduddin. When the
latter hears that the Sultdan is so near ; he will not be able to com-
plete his arrangements, and will be forced to come and pay his
homage to the Sultin, and place the booty before the throne.
either willingly or otherwise. The Sultén should take his elephants,
and goods and all his treasures, which might be the cause of his
violence, from him ; and should take them to Dehli. If the Sultdan
considers this an insignificant matter and marches to Dehli without
taking the proper measures; and if Malik ‘Alduddin goes to Karah
with so many elephants and horses, and such an immense quantity
of treasure, which are the basis of greatness and empire, and there
places all his arrangements on a right footing, the Sultdn will have,
in a manner, endeavoured to bring about his own destruction, and
the ruin and desolation of his house.

Couplet.

He bringeth joy, and gladness, to the hearts of his foes,
Who listeneth not to the words of his true and loyal friends.”

The words of Malik Ahmad Hab did not commend themselves
to Sultén Jaldladdin. He said, ‘“ Malik ‘Alduddin is like my son;
he has been brought up by me; he will certainly not turn his face
from me ; and will never do anything which would be contrary to
my wishes.”” Then he turned his face to those who were in the
assembly and said, ‘‘ What do “you all advise in the matter 2"’
Malik Fakbruddin Kuaji, who, although he knew that the advice
given by Malik Ahmad Hab was sound, still seeing that the Sultdn
was opposed to it, concealed his real opinion and said, ¢‘ The news of
the return of Malik ‘Alduddin, and of his having brought much booty,
has not yet been confirmed either by his petition or by the testi-
mony of trustworthy persons, in such a way that we may place any
reliance or base any reagoning on it. Supposing that the news turns
out to be true, and we advance with our troops against him, and
go and stand before him; ag he went away without orders, it is
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not unlikely that a dread will overwhelm his mind, and he will turn
back from the place where he may have arrived, and will rush
blindly away in some direction ; and we will have to follow him,
and that in the rainy season, which is near at hand ; and we will
have to go wherever he may have gone. It is a well-known proverb
¢ that one should not take off his stockings before one comes to the
water.” And supposing again that Malik ‘Alduddin arrives insafety
at Karah with his elephants and treasures and goods; and it becomes
clear that a malicious and evil design has entered his head ; may he
not be easily disposed of by one assault of his Majesty’s forces.”’
Malik Ahmad Hab said, ¢ If Malik ‘Alduddin arrives in safety at
Karah with the elephants and treasure, and crossing the Sarayu
goes toward Lakhnauti, no one will then be able to do anything
against him.
Couplet.

Do not thy enemy as insignificant despise !
For I have seen a small rock a mountain huge become !

The Sultan became angry on hearing this ; and said, ‘¢ Malik Ahmad
Hab has always had an evil opinion of Malik ‘Alauddin. 1 have
cradled the latter in my arms; and have made him my son. It
is possible that one of my sons should turn against me; but that
he should turn away his face from me, that is absolutely impossible.”
Malik Ahmad Hab rose from his seat in the council, and made his
lamentation, and recited this couplet.

Couplet.

When fate its dark face on a man doth turn,
No one can help and succour him at all.

The Sultén praised Malik Fakhruddin’s wisdom ; and returned to
‘Dehli. Immediately after that the news of the arrival of Malik
‘Alduddin at Karah came; and his petition also arrived. In it
he stated : *“ I have brought, as the booty obtained in the expedi-
tion, thirty-one elephants, a number of horses, and quantities of
gold and gems and pearls, and all kinds of goods and fabrics; and
I wish to bring everything to your presence; but as I have been
absent for a long time, and as I set out on this expedition without
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your orders, a fancy has found its way into my mind, and into the
minds of all your servants who were with me. If a farmén is issued
which will give me and my companions some assurance of our
safety, we would present ourselves at your gate without any anxiety
about ourselves.”” He deceived Sultdan Jalaluddin by such stories ;
and at the same time made preparations for an expedition to
Lakhnauti. He sent Zafar Khan to Audh, with orders to collect
boats in the Sarayu; and he settled with his officers and ministers,
that as soon as they would hear that Sultin Jaldluddin had started
from Dehli, in the direction of Karah, they would cross the Sarayu,
and enter the Lakhnauti country, and bring it under subjection
and rule there. Sultin Jaldluddin wrote an affectionate letter to
him with his own hand, assuring him and his companions of com-
plete safety, and sent it by the hand of two men who werein
his confidence. When these men reached Karah, they found that
Malik ‘Alauddin had become altogether hostile to the Sultin; and
he had also estranged all the Amirs who were there from the latter ;
but Malik ¢Alduddin kept such a strict watch on them, that they
were unable to represent the true state of things to the Sultan.
When some time had clapsed after this, Malik ‘Alauddin wrote
a letter to his brother, Almis Beg, who was also the nephew and
son-in-law of the Sultdn, in which he stated, that as he had under-
taken such an expedition without the permission of the Sultén,
men of experience in worldly affairs had implanted a fear in his
mind. But as he was the son as well as the slave of the Sultan, if
the latter would come alone, by rapid marches, and would seize him
by the hand, and take him to Dehli, he would gladly render service
and homage ; but if the Sultin would not do this, he would take
poison, and destroy himself, or would wander away and be lost.
Almés Beg submitted the letter for the perusal of the Sultdn. The
latter bade him go quickly and comfort Malik ‘Alduddin; and said
that he would soon follow him. Almas Beg immediately got into a
boat, and set out as swiftly as wind on water. On the seventh day
he arrived at the place where Malik ‘Alduddin was. The latter
rejoiced greatly and was happy at the arrival of his brother. He
now determined finally upon his expedition to Lakhnauti; but
those who were in his confidence, and were intimate with him, said
that it would not be necessary for them to go to Lakhnauti, as



SULTAN JALALUDDIN KHALJIL. 149

Sultdn Jaldluddin, unable to resist his desire for the elephants and
the riches, would come to them that very rainy season. They
would then be able to make away with him there, and would then
set about their work of conquest and empire. This view appeared
gsound and just to Malik ‘Alduddin. As death was now so near
Malik Jalaluddin, he did not listen to the words of his sincere weil-
wishers, but set out in boats, with some of his special attendants,
and a thousand horsemen. At the same time he sent Ahmad Hab
with the army, and all the regal paraphernalia, by land.

Couplet.

When one to advice of friend will not attend,
The gods above will penalty award.

When the Sulitdn arrived at Karah on the 7th Ramazan, Malik
‘Alduddin had already fully equipped his army and had crossed the
Ganges ; and encamped between Karah and Manikpur. On hearing
the news of the arrival of the Sultidn, he sent his brother Almés Beg
to attend on him ; and instructed him that he should try, by every
deception he could think of, to effect a separation between the
Sultdn and his army ; and to bring the former alone. Almés Beg
presented himself before the Sultdn; and performed the ceremony
of kissing the dust, and submitted. ¢ 1f I had not, in accordance
with the orders of the lord of the world, come at once, and had not
comforted my brother, he would by this time have wandered away
to some unknown place. 1In spite of my assurances, however, there
is still some fear in his heart ; and if he sees your majesty, with so
many armed horsemen, there is some likelihood that he would
again become a prey to fresh hallucinations, and would again
attempt to run away.”” The Sultan, believing his statement to be
true, ordered that the horsemen who were with him should halt
where they were. He himself, with his personal attendants, went
on ahead. When he had gone a part of the way, that arch-deceiver,
Almaés Beg, loosened his lying tongue, and said, ¢ My brother is now
near at hand. If he sees these men, who are with your majesty,
armed and ready for any emergency, it is quite likely that, owing
to the fancy and fear which have overwhelmed his mind, he may
become despondent about your mercy and love.”’ Then according
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to the Sultdn’s orders, all his attendants threw down their weapons.
When they approached the Ganges, those who were near the Sultédn
saw from a distance that the army of ‘Alduddin was standing,
ready armed and equipped, and awaiting as it were for an oppor-
tunity. They became sure about the treachery and perfidy of ¢Al4-
uddin ; and knew what Alméas Beg was about. Malik Khurram the
Vakildar said to Almés Beg: ‘“ We believed your words and
separated ourselves from our troops and divested ourselves of our
arms. Your army appears armed and ready forbattle.”’ AlmAs Beg
said : “* My brother wants to parade his army in battle-array, and
ready equipped and armed, before the Sultan, and review it.”” The
Sultén, in accordance with the saying that, when fate overtakes one,
it makes him blind, did not think of their perfidy and treason,
although it was manifest to young and old; and he even said to
Alméas Beg, ‘I have come, while fasting, all this way to see ‘Al4-
uddin, and he feels no pity for me, but sits in comfort in his boat
and ‘does not hasten forward to welcome me.”” The arch-deceiver,
Almés Beg, said in reply : “ My brother does not intend to meet
your Majesty with an empty hand; he wishes to render you
homage with the articles of his tribute, such as elephants and
various beautiful things. He has also arranged everything for your
breaking your fast, and wishes that your Majesty should do so in
his house, so that he may be raised above his comrades and equals
by that honour. No thought of their perfidy passed through Sultén
Jaldluddin’s mind, and he sat carelessly in the boat, reading the
Kurén, till the afternoon of the 17th Ram4zan, when he reached the
bank of the river. ‘Alduddin then came forward; and rendered
homage ; and fell at the Sultén’s_feet. The latter stroked his cheek,
as a token of his love and affection; and otherwise showed his
kindness towards him. He said, I have reared thee up with so
much care ; and have made thee great; and always in my eyes thou
hast been dearer to me than my sons. How could I now think of
doing thee an injury ? >’ He said this, and holding ‘Alduddin’s hand
pulled him towards the boat. At this time, Malik ‘Alduddin made
a sign to the men, who had been selected by him, and entrusted
with the assassination of the Sult4n. Mahmud S4lim, who was one
of the baser people of S4ménah, wounded the Sultan with his sword.
The latter, on receiving the wound, ran towards his boat; and
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cried out: “ Oh! wretched ‘Alduddin, what hast thou done?’’
Ikhtidruddin Har who had received many favours at the hands
of the Sultdn came from behind ; and threw the Sultdn down on the
ground ; and having cut off his head, took it to ‘Alduddin. They
then took the head of the poor murdered king, round Karah and
Ménikpur, on a lance ; and then took it to Audh. The special atten-
dants of the Sultdn, who were in the boat, were also murdered.
It has been handed down by a trustworthy tradition, that just
before the time when Sultin Jaliluddin came to Karah, Malik
‘Alduddin went to pay his respects to Sheikh Kurk Majzub (the
absorbed), who is buried in the town of Karah; and performed
service like a supplicant. The ‘¢ absorbed ’’ lifted up his head
and said :
Couplet.

“ Whoever doth with thee wage war ;
His head in the boat, his body in Gang!”’

In short they raised the canopy of Sultan Jaldluddin over the
head of Malik ‘Alduddin and proclaimed him emperor. But the
people who were associated with him in the assassination of Sultin
Jaldluddin were overtaken in a short time by great calamities,
and fell into the lowest depths of misery. Mahmud, the son of
Salim, became afflicted with leprosy after a year; and his limbs
shrivelled up "ud fell into pieces. Ikhtiaruddin Hur became mad
and in his a, Oly yelled out, and screamed, ‘¢ Sultan Jalaluddin
has a sword in’ ‘,.'is hand ; and is cutting off my head!”’ The un-
grateful Malik'‘Alduddin, himself, although for a time he reigned
with prosperity, and did whatever he wished to do, yet in the end
Providence did not fail to mete out to him his just punishment ; and
avenged itself on him ; and neither the name nor any vestige of his
descendants remained in the world !

Couplets.

The mansions of creation are not at random ranged ;

The earth, and all the sky, are not without a Ruler Great !

Bethink! Oh thou with wisdom blest! how time doth ever
work,

That what thou dost will ever meet with its recompense due.
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When the news of the martyrdom of Sultén Jaldluddin reached
Malik Ahmad Hab, who was the commander of the army, he turned
back from the place where he was and went to Dehli. Malkah-i-
Jahan the haram (wife) of the Sultin, owing to her foolishness,
placed her youngest son, Rukuuddin ITbrahim, who was in his first
youth, and had not yet reached man’s estate. and had no experience
of rule and government, in great haste on the throne, without
consulting the great nobles. She left Kilukhari, and came to Dehli,
and took up her quarters in the Green Kiosk, and distributed the
various high offices, and the great fiefs, among the Amirs and Maliks.
Arkali Khan, who was the true son and successor of the Sultin, and
possessed kinglike accomplishments, was afflicted in heart on hear-
ing this news. He remained at Multan and did not come to Dehli.
Malik ‘Alduddin marched towards Dehli in the very heart of the
rainy season, and reached the bank of the Jumna by successive
marches. He so enamoured the hearts of the people with his gold
and riches, that every one became favourably inclined towards him ;
and the hostility which had taken possession of their hearts on
account of the assassination of Sultdn Jalaluddin became completely
obliterated. They say—
Couplet.

Liberality is alchemy, for the copper of vice ;

Liberality panacea is, for evils all. "

Every day Malik ‘Alauddin filled a ballista with gcoat tnd scattered
it among his soldiery. Every one who entered hity rvice received
twenty or thirty for every ten (coins) of the current wages of the time.
In this way he captured the hearts of the people.

Couplet.

If thou dost want to greatness to attain, make generous thy
heart.!

It is related that when he arrived at Badé-Gin, he mustered his
troops ; and they came to sxxty thousand hordemen and footsoldiers.

1The second line is given in the lith, ed. as NJU N< o & M >~ and in
the three MSS. as &b &3 Sy & dwas . In either case I can not make
any sense.
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The Jaldli Amirs and Maliks came from all sides, and joined
‘Alduddin, being allured by his gold and the high salaries which he
offered. Malkah-i-Jahén, after her hopes had been ruined,summoned
Arkali Khén ; but he sent word that things had now gone too far
for any remedy.

Couplet.

A spring, at its start, with a bodkin can be easily stopped !
When once it is full, on an elephant you can scarcely cross |

Malik ‘Alduddin became strengthened in his resolution on hearing
this news, and crossed the Jumna at the ferry of Kath and en-
camped on the plain of Jid. Ruknuddin Ibrahim also arrayed his
troops in front of him ; and then made a feint of retiring. At night
most of the Jaldli Amirs deserted him, and joined Malik ‘Alduddin.
When the former found that matters had passed beyond remedy, he
took his mother, and Malik Rajab and Kutbuddin ’Ului, and
Ahmad Hab and a few others who yet remained true to their salt,
and took the road to Multan.

The period of Sultdn Jaléluddin’s rule was seven years and
some months.

SULTAN ‘ALAUDDIN KHALJL

He ascended the throne at Dehli in the year 695 A.5. He con-
ferred the title of Ulugh Khan on his brother Almés Beg, that of
Nasrat Khan on Malik Nasrat Jalesari, that of Zafar Khan on
Malik Hazabruddin, and that of Ali Khan on Sanjar, his brother-in-
law, who was the President of his Council. He raised such of his
friends, as were not Amirs already, to that rank; and he conferred
higher ranks and larger fiefs on those who were. He gave large
sums of money to his officers and commanders, so that they might
enlist new soldiers. His army thus became a very large one. When
he encamped with his army on the plain of Siri, the high and the
low of the capital came to render him homage, and to offer their
congratulations. Prayers were read and coins struck in his name,
and the other royal ceremonials were duly performed. Malik
¢Alauddin entered the city with regal pomp and splendour ; gnd sat
on the imperial throne ; and assumed the title of Sultan ‘Alauddin.
From that place he went to the ruby Kiosk and made that the seat

20



154 SULTAN ‘ALAUDDIN KHALJI.

of his empire. The citizens had feasts, and erected ornamental
domes ; and the lanes flowed with wine ; and people took to sports
and pleasure. Owing to the pride of wealth and the intoxication of
youth, Sultin ‘Alauddin was lavish in dissipations and pleasures ;
and he made the people loyal, and attached them to his throne,
by his great largesses and gifts. He honoured every one with a
post and a title; and distributed the parganas and provinces
(among the nobles). Khwajah Khatir, who was famous for his
personal virtues and accomplishments, was honoured with the
appointment of Vazir. Kiazi Sadruddin ‘Arif, who had the title of
Sadr-i-Jahan, became the chief Kazi of-the empire, and the titles
of Sayyad Ajall (the most glorious Sayyad) and the Sheikh-ul-islam
(the chief priest) were conferred on him. The post of Khatib
(preacher) was confirmed to the former Sayyad Ajall who had been
both Kkatib and Sheikh-ul-islam. The office of inshd (correspond-
ence) was entrusted to ‘Umdat-ul-Mulk Hamiduddin; and Malik
‘Izzuddin, who was adorned with physical and spiritual excellence,
was specially honoured by being placed near the Sultdn’s person.
Nasrat Khan, who had been the deputy of the empire, was made the
kotwdl (superintendent), and Malik Fakhruddin K1ji was appointed
the darogha (inspector) of the capital. Zafar Khan was appointed
to be the Commander-in-Chief of the Forces; Malik Abaji Jalali
received the post of the Tajirbegi (Minister of Commerce) and
Malik Huran bar that of Naib Barbegi (Deputy Master of Cere-
monies). Malik Ala-ul-mulk, the uncle of Zia Burni, the author of the
Tarikh-i-Firozshahi, was entrusted with the fiefs of Karah and Audh.
The post of the Deputy Vakil-dar (deputy representative in the
Council) was conferred on Malik Junai Kadim, and that of the
naib (deputy) and Khwijah (suparintendent) of the city of Baran
on Mued-ul-Mulk, the father of the aforementioned Zia. All
properties and trusts were confirmed to deserving people, and other
stipends were granted to them, in the way of maintenance allow--
ances. The whole of the troops were made happy that year, with
a grant of six months’ pay in addition to their usual allowances.
Ease and happiness made their appearance® among all classes of
people, and the great crime of the assassination of Sultdn Jalal-
uddin was concealed from the eyes, and ebliterated from the minds,
of the people.
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After Sultan ‘Alauddin had become firmly established on the
throne of Dehli, he in consideration of the maxim—

Couplet.

While the head of the claimant on his shoulder stands,
The kingdom wears rebellion as a garb

considered that the destruction of the sons of Sultan Jaldluddin,
who were at Multan, was the one affair which most urgently
demanded his attention. He accordingly nominated Ulugh Khian
and Zafar Khan with forty thousand horsemen for this duty. They
marched accordingly and besieged the town. After two months
the Kotwal of Multan, and the other nobles who were there, deserted
Arkali Kh@n and his brothers, and coming outside the town,
had interviews with Ulugh Khan and Zafar Khan. The Sultan’s
sons, in great distress, then came to Ulugh Khan, after obtaining
assurances of safety through Shaikh Ruknuddin (may God make
his grave holy!). Ulugh Khan received them with all honour;
and allotted places for them near his own pavilion ; and sent a
letter, announcing his victory, to Dehli. They read the letter from
the pulpits, and erected domes, and struck the drum of joy. Then
Ulugh Khan returned towards Dehli, with the sons of Sultan Jalal-
uddin, and the Amirs and Maliks who had been on their side. On
the way, Nasrat Khan, who was deputed for the purpose, from
Dehli, met Ulugh Khan ; and drew the pencil (for blinding them)
over the eyes of Sultan Jalaluddin’s sons, of Alghu, his son-in-law,
and of Malik Ahmad Hab, the natb Amir Hajib (Deputy Lord Cham-
berlain); and took possession of their wealth, and their retinues.
The two hapless princes were kept imprisoned at Hansi; and the
two sons of Arkali Khan were martyred ; and Ahmad Hab, and the
wives of Sultan Jalaluddin, and those of his sons, were brought
to Dehli, and imprisoned there.

In the second year after the accession, Nasrat Khan was
appointed Vazir; and Malik <Ala-ul-Mulk was summoned from
Karah, to come with the nobles and the treasure, which were thers ; .
and the post of the Kotwal of Dehli, which had been held by the
Malik.ul-Umra, was entrusted to him. Nasrat Khan then com-
menced to resume the estates, which the Sultdan had at the time
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of his accession, for the sake of expediency, distributed among the
Jalali Amirs; and, by this means, brought an enormous sum into
the Treasury.

The same year the Mughal armies crossed the river Sind, and
entered Hindustan. Sultan ‘Alauddin sent Ulugh Khan and Zafar
Khan, with other nobles, to attack them. The two armies met in
the neighbourhood of Jarnmahmir.! In the battle which ensued,
the Mughals were defeated and large numbers of them were slain, and
a number taken captive. When the news of the victory reached
Dehli, the citizens struck the drum of joy, and erected domes, and
had festive gatherings. After this, all the Jalali Amirs, who had
treacherously deserted their former master, and had joined Sultan
¢Alauddin, and had received from the latter high posts and great
fiefs, were seized ; some of them were blinded ; and a few were
imprisoned in distant parts, and their goods and estates were
brought into the treasury, and their housesand families were ruined.
Of all the Jalali nobles, Malik Kutubuddin ‘Alai, Malik Nasiruddin,
Shahnah-i-Pil (the keeper of the elephants), and Malik Amir Jamal,
the father of Kadr Khan, who had never turned their faces from the
sons of the Sultdn, and had never taken anything from Sultan
‘Alauddin, remained in safety, and did not receive any injury. By
means of the above-mentioned forfeitures, Nasrat Khan realized a

karor in the course of the year; and paid the amount into the
Treasury.

15340 )l in the lith. ed. and )ye=te jla and jpe=i 4l> in the MSS.
In the printed edition of the Tarikh Firozshahi of Zia Barni (as translated
in Elliot’s history) the name is Jalandhar, but in the MSS. Jadwa o Manjur
and Jurat Mahud (see Elliot, vol. iii, p.162). In & note, by Mr. T. W.
Tolbort, I.C.8., to & translation of portions of the Tarikh-i-Firozshahi by
Major Fuller (see Journ. A.8.B., pp. 43, etc.) containing a synopsis of the
Mughal invasions, which took place in the reign o: ‘Alauddin, according to
(1) Zia.i-Barni, (2) Niz8muddin Ahmad Harawi, (3) Bad@oni, and (4)
Ferishtah, the scene of this battle is given as Jari Manjiir according to (1),
Jaran Majhur in 8ind according to (2), Jaran Manjir according to (3), and
Lahore according to (4). There is nothing about Jaran Majhur being in 8ind
in the Tabakét-i-Akbari; but in one of the MSS. the Mughals are said to
have invaded Sind on this occasion; while in the lith. ed. and in the other
MSS. the word is Hind and not 8ind. Ferishtah calls the Mughal commander
Amir Daud, though none of the previous historians had so named him.
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In the third year after the accession, the Sultan sent Ulugh
Kbén and Nasrat Khén, with large armies, to invade Gujrat. They
ravaged and plundered Nahrwalah, and all the cities of the pro-
vince. Ray Karan, the governor of Nahrwalah, fled, and joined the
ruler of Deogir in the Dakin ; and his wives and daughter (who was
named Devalrani) with his treasures, and elephants, and all he had,
fell into the hands of the army. Ulugh Khan and Nasrat Khan
also brought the idol, which the Brahmans of Somnath had set up,
and were worshipping, in place of the one which Sultin Mahmid
had broken to pieces, to Dehli, and placed it where the people would
trample upon it. Nasrat Khan also went to Kambayat and took
from the merchants, who resided there, and had much wealth, such
quantities of riches, and gems, and other beautiful things, as were
beyond all calculation. He also obtained, by violence from his
master, Kafiir Hazardinari (whom Sultan ‘Alauddin, on account of
the attachment which he formed for him, afterwards made the
Naib-i-Mulk, i.e., deputy governor of the kingdom), and sent him to
the Sultan. When Ulugh Khan and Nasrat Khan, after plundering
and ravaging Gujrat, were returning with an enormous quantity of
booty, they demanded and exacted with great rigour and violence
from the soldiery, the fifth part of the booty taken by them, and
carried their exactions beyond all bounds. Some of the Amirs,
who were called the Neo-moslems, joined with others, who had also
suffered much on account of the exactions; and attacked Malik
‘Izzuddin (the brother of Nasrat Khan), who was the Amir-i-Hajib
of Ulugh Khan; and after murdering him, entered the pavilion of
Ulugh Khan. The latter got out by another door, and took shelter
in the pavilion of Nasrat Khan. The nephew (sister’s son) of Sultan
‘Alauddin was sleeping in the pavilion. The hostile Amirs, thinking
that he was Ulugh Khan,%killed him. Nasrat Khan then called to
gather his men quickly, and attacked them ; and they dispersed in
different directions. Ulugh Khan and Nasrat Khan abandoned
further enquiry about the booty, and went with the riches, the
elephants, and the various kinds of goods, which they had obtained,
to Dehli. Sultdn ¢Alduddin had the wives and the children of the
nobles, who had taken part in the disturbance, seized, and inflicted
various punishments on them. Nasrat Khéan, in revenge for the
murder of his brother, made over the women of the families of the
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persons who had caused the murder, to some sweepers, and he
ordered that the infants should be brutally murdered, by being
hurled against the women. Before this it had not been the custom
in Dehli to punish women and children for the offences of their
relatives.

This year, a Mughal of the name of Saldi ' and his brother came,
and took possession of Siwistdn. Zafar Khan was sent with a large
army against them ; and this victorious general besieged Siwistan ;
and in a short time conquered it, and sent Saldi, and his brother,
and their families and children, and the other Mughals, who were
with them, with collars round their necks, to Dehli. At the end of
the same year, Kutlagh Khwajah, and his son, with a few thousand
Mughals came from Mawara-un-Nahr to conquer Hindustan. They
crossed the Indus; and as they came to conquer the country, they
did not commit any injury or depredation on the villages and towns
which fell on their route, as they considered them to be part and
parcel of their kingdom. They encamped in front of Dehli, and
commenced a siege. As an immense number of people, from the
different towns and places, in the neighbourhood came into the
city, for fear of the Mughals, the place was so crowded that there
was no space for standing or sitting in the mosques, and lanes, and
markets, and in various quarters of the city. The people were in
great distress owing to the overcrowding, and the roads for import-
ing grain and provisions were closed ; and everything became dear.
Sultan ‘Alauddin summoned the Amirs and Maliks from the different
parts of the empire, and having reinforced and equipped the army,
came out of the city with regal pomp and splendour ; and encamped
in Siri, and left Malik Ala-ul-Mulk, yhe Kotwal of- Dehli, behind, for
the protection of the city and the treasures and for watching the
haram (the apartments for the ladies of the palace). It is said that
some of the Amirsrepresented (to the Sultan) that war was always
attended with danger, and that a stick had two ends (i.e. it might
hit either party); attempts should therefore be made, as long as

1 Zi&-i-Barni describes (see Elliot, vol, iii, p. 166) how 8aldi took the
fort of Siwistan, and how Zafar Khén again took it from him. Bad&uni
does not mention this invasion of the Mughals. Ferishta calls the Mughal
.commander Chaldi Khan,
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possible, to remedy matters by stratagems, and a battle should be
avoided.
Couplet.
Though thou may’st have an elephant’s strength and a lion’s
claws,
Peace, Oh my friend ! is always better far than war!

Sultan ‘Alduddin said, ‘‘ Empire, and abstention from war, cannot
go together.”’
Couplel.

He who the Emperor’s crown doth wear,
His head, like a gage, doth ever throw !

‘It is not becoming, also,”” he said, ‘‘ that a king should take
shelter in a fort.”” He made preparations for a battie and raised
the standard of conflict. Kutlagh Khwajah, on his side, also laid
the foundations for a struggle, and displayed great manliness and
bravery. Zafar Khin, who commanded the right wing, attacked
the Mughal army, threw it into confusion, and routed it ; and the
Mughals fled. Zafar Khan pursued them a distance of eighteen
karohs. Ulugh Khan, who commanded the left wing, did not, on
account of a grudge! which he bore him, join in the pursuit ; but let
him go on alone. Suddenly some of the Mughal nobles, who were
lying in ambush on the way, saw that Zafar Khan had gone on alone
and there were no troops, behind him, to support him. They came
upon him from behind, and surrounding him from all sides, ham-
strung his horse. He then fought bravely on foot. Although
Kutlagh Khwajah attempted to take him captive, he could not do
it. At last he ordered that his men should shower arrows on him;
and thus they martyred him. They also slew the other Amirs who
were in his detachment. Kutlagh Khwajah did not that day draw
rein till he had covered thirty karohs, for fear of the prowess of the

1 Zia-i-Barni (see Elliot, vol. iii, p. 165) says, that it was Zafar Khan’s
bravery, in conquering Siwistan from the Mughals, which made both the
Sultan and Ulugh Khan jealous and afraid of him. ‘Alauddin was think-
ing how he could get rid of him; one of his plans was to send him to
Lakhnauti, where he might be left, to send elephants and tribute to the
Sultén; while another was to put him out of the way by poison or by
blinding.
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Hindustanis ; and went back to his own country with all speed.
The name of Zafar Khan became proverbial among vhe Mughals for
bravery and for putting an army into confusion ; so that if a horse
showed any disinclination to drink the water given to it, they would
say ‘ perhaps it has seen Zafar Khan.”” Sultan ‘Alauddin, who
both envied and feared the courage and bravery of Zafar Khan,
deemed his martyrdom a second victory ; and came back to Dehli
from Kili and made rejoicings, and had festive gatherings; and gave
himself up to pleasures and enjoyments.

As during these three years most of his undertakings had
ended in accordance with his wishes, and owing to his having
many wives he had many children, and there was no rival claimant
left to the throne, he felt a desire for performing wonderful feats
and exploits. Among these one was this, that as the holy Pro-
phet, may the blessing and peace of God be on him ! had by his
own strength and greatness produced the Law, and had perfected
and confirmed it by the help of his companions, so he with the
strength and energy of his four friends, viz. Ulugh Khan, Nasrat
Khan, Zafar Khan ! and Alp Khéan, should establish a new Religion
and Law, so that his name might remain on the page of time till
the day of judgment. In his drinking parties, and private con-
ferences, he talked on this subject with the Amirs and Maliks,
and asked them in what way, and by what means, he should
discover the new religion, which should, even after his death, be
current, and be held in honour among the nations of the world.
A second insane project, which the spectacle of his wealth, and
treasures, and armies, and such things produced in his mind, was
this, that he should entrust (the government of) Dehli to one
of his trusted adherents; and should himself engage, like a second
Alexander of Riim, in the conquest of the countries comprised
in the inhabited quarter of the world; and he ordered that he
should be called the second Alexander, in the public prayers, and
the same title should, also, be imprinted on the coins. His courtiers
and the companions in his festive gatherings, knowing by experi-
ence how rough and stern he was in his temperament, professed.

t Zafar Khan was still alive, as is expressly mentioned by Zia-i-Barni.
(See Elliot, vol, iii, p. 171).
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to acknowledge the truth of his absurd statements, and lauded
him for his lofty spirit, and his high-soaring ambition. Malik
<Ald-ul-Mulk, the Kotwal of Dehli, on account of the fact that he
was very fat, went to salute him only on the lst of each month,
and used to join in his drinking parties.

On one of these occasions, when, following his usual custom,
he went to the Sultin, and joined the party, Sultin ‘Alauddin
asked his advice about these two projects. ‘Ala.ul-Mulk having
introduced his observations by well-weighed words, and delightful
anecdotes, impressed it on the Sultan’s mind, by arguments based
on reason and history, that it would be best to abandon the idea
of founding a Law; as the result of such an attempt would be
the ruin of his rule and empire.

Couplet.

As far as I can judge, he thy well-wisher is!
Who says to thee ¢ Yonder a thorn is in thy path.’

Sultan ‘Alauddin after much thought, and deliberate cogitation,
said : ‘“ What thou hast said is all just ; and in accordance with the
real truth of the matter! It would be better that, after this, such
words should not fall from my lips. But as regards my second
project. what dost thou say ? 1Is that also a mistake, or is it right?’’
Malik ‘Ala-ul-Mulk said: ¢ This project of the Sultan testifies to
his noble spirit. Former monarchs have also undertaken such con-
quests. The lord of the world can certainly bring the countries,
comprised in the inhabited quarter of the world, under subjec-
tion to him, by his own bravery and prowess, and by the power
of his armies and his treasures; but when he will leave Dehli,
and go into strange countries, and remain there for a long time,
who is there who can act as regent in his absence ? Again, after
that, when he returns to Dehli, or goes to some other country, no
one can say that he will find those, whom he should have left behind,
in the newly-conquered realms, stilt faithful to him, and those
countries still under his sway. For these times are not to be com.-
pared to those of Alexander; as in those earlier times, fraud and
perfidy and breach of engagements were less common. The men

of that period, since when ages have elapsed, when they entered
21
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into an engagement, did not break it, either on account of the
distance of place, or of the efflux of time. Besides Alexander ! had
a Vazir like Aristotle, who had made the common people, as well
as the great men of Rim, in spite of its great extent, all contented
with and full of trust in him, without the aid of any army or trea-
sures. Owing to his sound judgment, and great wisdom, the conquest
of other countries was easy to his master; and during the period of
the latter’s absence, which extended to two and thirty years, there
was no kind of calamity in the country of Rim, owing to the wise
policy of that philosopher. When Alexander, after completing the
conquest of the world, returned to the country of Rim, he found the
inhabitants all loyal and devoted to him. If the Sultan can repose
the same trust in his Amirs and rayyats as Alexander did, this
undertaking, the idea of which has entered his mind, is quite
right and advisable; and not to attempt it would be contrary to
sound policy.”” Sultdn ‘Alauddin, after careful consideration, said
to ‘Alad.ul-Mulk: “ If I attend to these considerations which thou
hast urged, and make no attempt to conquer the world, but con-
tent myself with the kingdom of Dehli, then of what use are my
army and my treasures; and what advantage do I derive from
them ; and how should I obtain the name of a conqueror of the
world, except which I have no other object ?*° Malik ‘Ald-ul-
Mulk kissed the ground of service, and said in reply : < The Sultan
has two such tasks, at present, before him, that if he should employ
the whole of his army and treasures in carrying them out, they
would barely suffice. The first of these is the conquest of certain
cities in India, such as Rantambor and Chitor, and Chanderi
and Malwa, and to the east as far as the river of Audh or the
Saruyu, and the Siwalik as far as the Arabian Sea. If these countries
which are the refuge of refractory people and the asylum of robbers
come under your rule, the whole of the plains of Hindustan will
become free from all disturbances, and danger. The second task
is the closing of the door against the Mughals. The forts which
are situated along the path of the Mughals, such as Dibalpur,
Multdn and Samanah, should be strengthefied and completely

1 This is a rather curious and original version of the history of Alexander
the Great.
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equipped. After these two tasks would have been accomplished,
it would be possible for the Sultan to rest in his capital of Dehli
with a calm mind, and to send his loyal servants, with well-equipped
armies, in various directions, so that they may bring distant coun-
tries under his sway, and in this way the name of your majesty
as a conqueror, and your fame as a mighty ruler, may be blown
about the universe ; but this is possible only if the Sultan refrains
from excessive drinking and continual hunting and constant im-
mersion in pleasures.’” When Sultdn ‘Alauddin heard the remarks
quoted above, he praised and belauded the sagacity of the advice,
and the beauty of the policy, and bestowed on Malik ‘Ala-ul-Mulk
a gold-embroidered robe ! which had the figures of lions worked in
it, and a valuable belt, and ten thousand tangahs and two steeds
with jewelled saddles and bridles, and two villages, as a reward ;
and the other nobles, who were in the Council, were delighted with
the observations, and every one of them sent him a few thousand
tanghas and two horses, and they all praised his wisdom.

As Rantambor was close to Dehli, and Hamir Deo, the grand-
son * of Pithora, ruled there with great power, Sultdn ‘Alauddin
determined to conquer it first. He summoned Ulugh Khan from
Samanah ; and nominated him for the command of the army;
and ordered Nasrat Khan, feudatory of Karah, to accompany him.
They went and seized Jhain, and beseiged the citadel of Rautambor
and made every effort to capture it. Suddenly a stone, hurled from
ingide the fort, struck Nasrat Khan, and slew him. When Sultan
‘Alauddin heard this he started for Rantambor. On arrival at
Tahlit 3 he halted there for a few days, and every day he went to
the neighbouring plains to hunt.* One day he went, according to

! According to Zia-i-Barni (Elliot, vol. iii, p. 171) the gold waistband
weighed half a man.

2 Hamir Deo could not have been the grandson of Pithora, who was
killed in 1192 A.p., one hundred and seven years before the present invasion
of Rantambor. Nabsah, the word used to express the relationship, probably
means only a descendant.

8 The name of the place is given as Tahlati in the lith, ed.: but in the
MSS. it appears to be Tahlit. It is called Tilpat in Elliot’s History (iii, p. 172).

¢ The words used appear to be Shikar Kamarghah. I can’t find what
Kamarghah means, but Kamarg&h means hunting in a closed ring which is
formed for kings and other great men to enjoy the chase therein. In Elliot’s
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his custom, to hunt, but it became late, and he could not reach
his camp, and remaided outside. The next day he ordered the
men to make the ring; and he with a few others went to a secluded
place and sat down on a hillock ; so that when every thing should
be ready, he might begin the hunt. By chance Akat Khan,
who was his nephew, and held the post of Vakildar, came to the
place with a few neo-Moslem horsemen, who were his old re.
tainers, and attacked him. As they shot arrows at him, he fell
down from the mound to the lower ground, and sheltered himself
behind the mound. He however received two wounds, from the
arrows, on his arm. Akat Khan wanted to dismount, and cut off
the Sultin’s head; but the band of Paiks who were round the
Sultan, ran forward and putting on the garb of acquiescence and
bomage, assured him that the Sultdn was already dead. Akat
Khan accepted their word, and went in all haste to the camp. He
rode to the royal pavilion and sat on the throne. He shouted that
he had slain the Sultdn. The people believed that he was telling
the truth. Every one went to his own post and station, and stood
near him. Every one congratulated him, and rendered him homage.
The heralds made proclamations, the readers recited the Kuran,
and the musicians sang. Akat Khan, who was young and mean-
spirited, wanted immediately to go into the haram (the apartments
of the ladies). Malik Dinar, the keeper of the haram, who was
seated at the door of the haram, with his men ready and armed,
did not let him do so. He said, ‘“ I will not let thee enter the haram
till thou showest me the Sultan’s head.”” When Sultin ‘Alauddin
recovered his senses, he bound up his wounds, and knew that
Akat Khan had acted in concert with some of the Amirs. He
wanted to go to Ulugh Khan at_Jhain with the fifty or sixty men
with him, and do whatever might be right or proper in concert
with him. Malik Hamiduddin, who was the son of the Umdat-
ul-mulk and was himself the naib vakildar and one of the wisest men
of the age, asked the Sultdn to desist from going to Jhdin, and
advised him to go at once to his pavilion. He said, ‘ Akat Khan
has not yet established himself on a firm footing. As soon as

translation of Zia-i-Barni (iii, p. 172) it is called & Margah. Shikar Kamarghah
is however mentioned in the Akbarnamah.
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the soldiery will see the royal canopy, they would flock to it;
and Akat Khan’s assembly would break up in confusion; but if
there is any delay, it would be difficult to remedy this mischief.’”
The Sultdin mounted immediately, and hastened towards his pavi-
lion ; every trooper, who saw him on the way, joined him; and
by the time he reached the pavilion, about five hundred men had
gathered round him. When he got near the camp, he mounted
a hillock ; and showed himself. Akat Khan’s assembly broke up
in confusion, and every one ran towards the Sultdn. Akat Khan
mounted and rode away towards Afghanpur. The Sultin got
down from the mound ; entered his pavilion; and sitting on the
throne, held a public reception. He then deputed Malik ‘Izzuddin
Tughan Khan, and Malik Nasiruddin Nar Khan, to pursue Akat
Khan. They came up with him in Afghanpur, cut off his head,
and presented it to the Sultan; and it was carried round the camp.

Couplet.

No one, with bragging, should on the seats of the mighty sit;
Till he, with glory’s mantle, should himself have adorned.

The Sultan ordered his brother, who, was called Kutlagh Khan, and
some of his special friends, to be executed; and he ordered others
to be imprisoned and sent to distant forts. He then left that place,
and coming to Rantambor besieged it, and employed all the various
measures to capture it.

At this time news came that Umar Khan and Mangu Khan,
who were both of them nephews of the Sultin, had revolted at
Badain. The Sultan sent some of the nobles against them. The
latter accordingly went, and seizing them, brought them before him.
He ordered that the pencil (for blinding) should be drawn across
their eyes ; and ordered the destruction of their families.

Couplet.

If ’gainst thy benefactor thou wouldst rise,
If high as the sky thou art, thou’lt headlong fall.

After this, while the siege of Rantambor was still going on, a man
of the name of Haji Mould, who belonged to the tribe of the Malik-
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ul-Umra,! thinking it an opportune moment, laid the foundations of
a disturbance in concert with some wretched men. He produced a
forged farman ; and entering the capital by the Badain gate sent
word to the Kotwal of the city that a farmdn had come from the
Sultan, and asked him to come out, so that he might read it out to
him. As soon as the Tarmadi® the Kotwal came out, Haji Moula,
with the aid of the body of turbulent men he had with him, killed
him ; and explained to the people that he had slain him by order
of the Sultan. He also ordered the keepers of the different gates to
close them ; and sent a man to ‘Alauddin Ayaz, who was the keeper
of the new citadel, with a message that a farman had arrived from
the Sultdn; and that he was to come at once and to read it.
‘Alauddin Ayaz was aware of the man’s perfidy ; he collected his
men ; and strengthened the gates of the citadel. Haji Moula then
went with his companions to the ruby Kiosk, released the prisoners,
and took them along with him. He distributed the horses, arms
and treasure, which were there, among the men of the rabble that
had come with him. He then forcibly brought an ‘Alawi (i.e. a
descendant of ‘Ali) who was called Shah Nabasa Muhtasib 3 (i.e. a
grandson of an emperor, who was also a police officer, who examined
weights and measures,and took cognisance of offences against public
morals) who, through his mother, traced his descent to Sultin Sham-
suddin, and placed him on the throne in the ruby Kiosk. He also
summoned the great men and the judges, and compelled them to do
homage to that man. When information of this reached the Sultan,
he did not divulge it ; but made greater efforts to seize the fort, and
was not at all disturbed. A week had not elapsed, when Malik

1 The exact words are | <Yl _Slo @das aola 3 In Elliot’s history, vol.
iii, p. 175, the man is describszd as ¢ a person named Haji, a Moula or
slave of the late Kotwal Amir-ul Umara Fakhru-d Din.”

2 The name is given differently in the lith. ed. and in the MSS. In the
former it is as I have given it in the text. In the three MSS. it is Barmadi,
Ratumadi, and Tarmadi, respectively. In Elliot’s translation of Zia-i-Barni
it is Tarmuzi, '

8 It is said in Elliot’s history (vol. iii, p. 176) tifas in the corresponding
passage in the Tarikh-i-Firoz Shahi of Zia-i-Barni the printed edition has
(M iz ad €ty o1 5 while one MS. has (so0ME mwize éﬁﬁ,ﬂ &t 1y 91
but the other M8. omits the words.
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Hamiduddin Amir Ku ! with his sons who were celebrated for their
‘ bravery, opened the Bada-iin gate and entered the city, and made a
body of horsemen who were retainers of Zafar Khan, and who had
come from Amroha, to be present at a muster, accompany them.
There was a fight between them and Haji Moula near the Bahandar-
kal? gate. Amir Ki dismounted from his horse, and wrestling with
Haji Moula threw him, and pinned him down; and in spite of the
wounds which he had received, did not let him go till he had
killed him. Then they went to the ruby Kiosk, and slew the ‘Alawi
whom Haji Moula had placed on the throne; and fixing his head
on a lance paraded it round the city ; and sent it with a letter
announcing the victory to the Sultan. The latter then sent Ulugh
Khan to Dehli, and he punished all those who had created the
disturbance. He ordered the sons of the Malik-ul-Umra, the former
Kotwal, to be executed, merely because Haji Moulad had belonged to
their tribe, although they had not had any share in the insurrection,
and completely destroyed their families.

After this, Sultan ‘Alauddin conquered Rantambor, with great
difficulty and trouble. He ordered Hamir Deo and all his clan and
family to be slain. It is related that Mir Muhammad Shah and a
band of insdrgents had fled from Jalor?® and taken shelter in
Rantambor. Most of these were slain, at the time the fort was
taken. Mir Muhammad Shah was lying wounded. When the
Sultén’s eye fell on him, he was moved with pity, and said : ‘¢ What
would’st thou do, if I order thy wounds to be attended to, and save
thee from this imminent danger ; and after this how would’st thou

1 1t is not quite clear what or where Kii was. The readings are different :
the lith. ed. has wiy=g UsS ja<b (o)l 03¢ or Hamiduddin with Amir Koya’s
sons; MSS. A and B have 85 ol ymd 1sS jael (11001 Saes or Hamiduddin, Amir
K@, with his sons. This reading I have adopted. MS. C has (n&J! Osea
395 whymd LU 48 3% which is slightly different.

The corresponding passage of the Tarikh-i-Firoz Shahi is translated in Elliot
(vol. iii, p. 177) as * Malik Hamidu-ddin. Amir of Koh, with his sons and
relations, all valiant men, opened the (Ghazni gate, and went into the city.”

2 The name of this gate is given in the lith. ed. and in the three MSS. as
JK po ol JK 504 J8 o and Js0¢< respectively. It is given in Elliot (vol.
iii, p, 177) as ¢ the gate of Bhandar Kal."’

8 It appears from Elliot (vol. iii, p. 179) that these were new Musalmans,
who had fled from the rebellion in Gujrat.
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behave ?’’ He said in reply: ‘“If I recover from my wounds, I
would have thee slain, and raise the son of Hamir Deo on the
throne.”’

Couplet,

He who, by nature, evil is, keeps faith with none ;
He who’s of bad descent, never fails in doing wrong.

The Sultan then ordered that he should be placed under the foot of
a rampant elephant, and he was crushed to death. After a time,
when he recollected how true and loyal he had been to his bene-
factor, he ordered him to be decently buried. In short, Sultan
¢Alauddin conferred the fort of Rantambor and the surrounding
country on Ulugh Khan, as a fief; and returned to Dehli. After
that, Ulugh Khan fell ill ; and died on the way.

Owing to the frequency with which calamities and disturbances
had taken place during that time, Sultdn ‘Alduddin asked the wise
noblemen, who were noted for their intelligence and experience,
what the reason for these repeated calamities might be. They
replied . that there could only be four causes. First, the ignorance
of the king as to the good and the evil in the condition of the
people; second, the indulgence of the people in spirituous drinks ;
when they drink, the evil humours come into motion, and many
disturbances are created ; third, the friendship, and relationship
and union among the Amirs; fourth, wealth, which when it comes
into the hands of base and mean-spirited people, wicked projects
and insane thoughts find their way into their imaginations. The
Sultan accepted the opinions of the Amirs as correct ; and ordered
that every village, which might be held by anybody as a pious
endowment, or as a service grant, or as an estate, should become
Crown property, and whoever had any riches, it was to be seized, by
any pretext which might be thought of; and brought into the
Treasury. The people suffered great distress; and were always
anxious for their daily bread; and the names of rebellion and
disturbance were never on their tongues. Spies were at work in
every quarter of the city, and in every lane, afid house; and this was
carried to such an extreme point that even the Amirs, and men of
wealth, could not mix or meet with one another, or go into the
houses of one another. The furniture, used at the special festive
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gatherings of ithe Sultén, which had been manufactured at great
cost, were broken in front of the Bada-iin gate ; and the wines were
spilt on the ground; so that the people might become aware of the
prohibition of (the use of) wines. Proclamations were made in the
capital, and orders and decrees abont the prohibition of wines were
sent into all parts of the kingdom. The foolish and ignorant people,
who were accustomed to drink, and who could not forego the idea of
it, brought liquor by various tricks and subterfuges; and some
even distilled it in their houses, by stealth. When the Sultan
became aware of these practices, he ordered a well to be dug, near
the Bada-un gate, at a place frequented by the people, so that it
might be used as a prison for these people. Most of the men who
were incarcerated in this well, died, and the few who escaped with
their lives, had to be medically attended to and treated for a long
time before they could recover their health. After people had given
up the habit of drinking, and the rules on the subject had been
firmly established, the Sultan issued an order, that if any of the
notables drank alone in his own house, and did not have a drinking
party, he should not be taken to task for it. He also ordered that
the Amirs, and all the great men, should not invite one another to
their houses, and should not have feasts ; and should not without
the permission of the Sultin enter into matrimonial and other
relations. There was so much rigour in this respect also, that men
ceased to meet one another, and the Amirs began to behave to one
another like strangers.

After these rules had been firmly established, the Sultan wanted
to promulgate certain other rules in the country, which might result
in the amelioration of the condition of the people, both strong and
weak ; so that the tyranny which the headmen and the chow-
dhris (the headmen of the various castes and trades) exercised
over weak people should cease to exist. He ordered that one half
of the produce, by actual measurement, should be taken by the
state without any deduction; and the headmen and chowdhris
and all other rayyats were placed on the same footing ; so that the
burden of the strong was not thrown on the weak. He also ordered
that what used to be the perquisites of the chowdhris should be
collected and paid into the treasury, and that grazing fees for each
head of cow and buffalo and sheep should also be realized. The

22
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sorutiny into the conduct of the ministerial officers and scribes was
carried to such an extreme, that they were not able to misappro-
priate even one jital. If any of them took anything in addition to
his fixed salary, this at once appeared against him in the papers of
the patwari (the village accountant) ; and was immediately exacted
from him with the greatest rigour and contumely. Men gave up all
ministerial offices, and all appointments as scribes, as something
blameworthy. The condition of headmen and chowdhris, who had
always gone about on horseback, and had carried arms, and worn
beautiful clothes, became so wretched, that their wives had to do
menial work in the houses of others, and had to buy their food
with what they got as wages.

Sultan ‘Alauddin repeatedly said, that the orders and rules of
government depended solely on the judgment of the Sovereign, and
that the law (of the Prophet) had no concern with them. The trial
of disputes, the decision of suits, and the methods of worship were
in the province of Kazis and learned men. Accordingly he carried

"into effect whatever he judged, in his mind, to be for the better
government of the country ; and paid no heed to the question as to
whether what he did was or was not authorized by the law.
Among the learned men, Kazi Zia-ud-din of Bianah, Moulanah Zahir
Lang and Moulanah Mushaiad Kuhrami attended at the outer table
with the Amirs; but Kazi Maghisuddin of Bianah was allowed to
join the Sultan’s own table. One day the Sultén told him: ‘I want
to put a few questions to you.” Kazi Maghisuddin said in reply :
¢ In all probability my ‘death is near ; as I shall only say what there
is in the books of the law ; and perhaps it will not coincide with the
Sultan’s opinions.”’ The Sultan gaid : ‘‘ Say whatever may be the
trath. You will not be taken to task for it.”’ He first asked him
whether a Hindu should, in accordance with the law, be described
as pure ; or as a heathen, who is allowed to practise his religion, on
condition of his paying the poll tax; or as an ordinary tax-payer ?
The Kaz! said in reply, that ‘¢ if the Sultan’s tax-collector demands
money or tax from him ; and he, with the greatest respect, pays it,
without objection ; and even if the tax-collector behaves to him in
a way which may be insulting, he suffers it quietly, without demur
or hatred ; for it has been said in respect of Kafirs, as long as they
pay the Jaziah let them be humbled ; and about them, men learned
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in the law have directed ‘either slay them, or make them accept
Islam’; and a traditionary saying of the Prophet (on whom be
blessing and peace!) is also conclusive on this point; but the great
Imam Hanafi (on whom be the mercy of God!) has laid it down,
that the taking of the Jaziah is a substitute for their death ; and
has prohibited the shedding of their blood, therefore the Jaziah and
rent should be collected from them, with such rigour as may be
equivalent to the slaying of them.”” The Sultdn laughed and said :
‘“ What you have propounded in accordance with the books, I have
discovered all that by my own endeavours; and I have treated the
Hindus accordingly.” Again he asked : *“ When a tax-gatherer takes
a bribe, and fraudulently reduces the revenue, is it to be considered
a kind of theft ; and is he to be punished like a thief 2 > The Kazi
said in reply : ¢ If the tax-gatherer has received enough to maintain
himself from the Treasury, then whatever he might have appro-
priated in addition to that, in the way of a bribe, etc., that should
be exacted from him, with all the rigour and contumely that may
be possible; but the cutting off of the hand, which has been
specially prescribed for thefts of property, cannot be applied to
him.”” The Sultan said: ““ I know this much, that from the day
that I have taken special care about this matter, I have recovered,
with every possible rigour and violence, everything that anybody
might have embezzled, and appropriated to himself ; and have
caused it to be paid into the Treasury. The paths of theft and
embezzlement have been closed ; and the misappropriating arm of
the avaricious has been' shortened..” The Sultin again asked :
““Does all that wealth, which I brought from Deogir, belong to me
or to the public treasury ?’> The Kazi said: ‘‘As the Sultdn
acquired all that wealth through the power and the exertions of the
army, therefore the whole of the troops should participate in it;
and it belongs to the public treasury, and not to the Sultan
personally.”” The Sultan flew into a wrath, and said : ‘“ How can
the riches which I acquired with the greatest trouble, in the days
when I was a Malik, and which I did not at the time pay into the
public treasury, be considered to belong to it ?’’ The Kaazi said in
reply : ¢ Those riches whi.h the Sultan acquired by his personal exer-
tions, and in obtaining and acquiring which he did not take the help
of the army, should certainly belong to him persqnally; but these
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riches, which the Sultan brought from Deogir, do not belong to this
olass.’”’ After this the Kazi stood up and asked to be excused ; and
said: ¢ If I submit anything in the presence of the Sultdn which
may be contrary to the treatises on the law, and the Sultdn should
be apprized by some one else of my falsehood, that should be a
just cause for the increase of the Sultdn’s wrath. What would then
be my position in the Sultan’s estimation ? and should I not have
made myself liable for treason ¢’ The Sultan again asked : ‘- What
right have I or my immediate dependants on the public treasury ?’’
The Kazi was much affected, and said : ¢ If I speak according to the
law, the Sultan will not hesitate about ordering me to be slain; and
if I speak ambiguously or falsely, I shall suffer eternal punishment.”’
The Sultdn said : *“ Say what is right and just ; and you will not be
censured for it.”” The Kazi said : ‘“If the Sultdn acts righteously,
and follows the examples of the great Caliphs (may God place them
in paradise !) he should appropriate to himself only as much as he
allots to one of his servants; and if he follows an intermediate
course, he should take from the public treasury as much as he gives
to one of his chief Amirs, than which he does not give more to any
one else; but if he acts according to the permission of men learned
in religious matters,! who on such occasions, seeking shelter in
unauthorized traditions, acquiesce in the wishes of victorious
monarchs, then he may take as much as may be somewhat distin-
guished from what the Amirs get. Under no circumstances is it
permissible for him to appropriate more than thiz from the public
treasury.’” The Sultdn again became very angly'v 8ay said: “ Do
you mean to say that all this money that is disbursed in my
haram (palace), as rewards te servants, in' the different domestic
offices, and in various other ways, {s spent in contravention of the
law? The Kazi said: ‘¢ As the Sultan asked me questions about the
law, it was right that I should submit to him what was right
according to the treatises on the lgw; but if he asks me what is
expedient for reasons of state, I shiyuld at once tell him that all
that he does is right, and is in accordance with the rules and laws of
empire ; and, indeed, if anything is over and beyond such rules and

1 The expression. used by Zia-i-Barni is ‘Ulam&i-Duniya, learned and wise
men of the world, but in the Tabakat-i-Akbari both in the lith. ed. and in
the MBS8., the expression is ‘Ulamé-i-Din, men learned in religious doctrines.
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laws, it only conduces to the pomp and grandeur of the empire ; and
would result in various advantages to it.”” After that the Sultdn
said that: ‘I have taken three years’ pay from all horsemen who
did not appear at the musters: and have put to the sword all rebels,
and all disturbers of the peace, with all their children and depen-
dants, and have brought into the treasury all the property which they
might have had, wherever it might be, and have ruined and
destroyed their families. I have also prescribed various pains and
penalties for thieves, and wine-bibbers and adulterers. Do you
say that all this is contrary to the law 2’ The Kazi got up from
his seat, went to a distance, and placing his head on the ground
said: It is all against the law.”” The Sultan grew angry, and
went into the women'’s apartments.

Couplet.

When thou dost say what’s right and just !
’Tis God himself that teacheth thee !

The next day the Sultén sent for Kazi Maghisuddin, showed him
great kindness, and gave him a robe and a thousand tangahs as a
reward. He said: ““ I am a Musalman and the son of a Musalman.
All the rigour and punishment that I use is for the good of the
empire. 1 do not know what will happen to me, to-morrow, on
the day of judgment.”’

After some time the Sultan marched with his troops towards
Chitor, and having conquered the fort in a short time, returned to
Dehli. When the news reached Mawara-un-Nahr that Sultan ‘Ala-
uddin was engaged with the siege of a distant fort, and would
remain there for a long time, the Mughal Targhi, who has been
mentioned already, came with a large army to plunder Hindustan,
and encamped on the bank of the Jamna near Dehli. But the
Sultan had finished the conquest of Chitor ; and returned to Dehli
a month before this. The flower of the Sultan’s army had how-
ever marched to the extreme south of the Dakin, to conquer
Arangal ; and most of the great Amirs had gone to their own Jagirs,
after the conquest of Rantambor, and the troops which were with
the Sultan were badly equipped, owing to the rains, and the length
of the time they had been in camp. The Sultdn in a state of
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perplexity came out of Dehli with the troops he had with him, and
encamped in the plain of Sirl. He strengthened his position by
digging trenches, and placing thorns, bound together, and other
means of defence, and waited for the Amirs whom he had summoned
from different directions. The Amirs could not, however, join him,
as the Mughals had occupied the country round Dehli, and had
fortified their positions. Some of them waited at Kol, and some at
Baran. When two months had elapsed, Targhi, without any visible
cause, went away. The citizens of Dehli ascribed this to the favour
of Sheikh Nizamuddin, may his tomb be holy; and counted it#as
one of his miracles. They say that a panic seized Targhi, and he
started in confusion, and returned [to his own country].

After that the Sultan made Sirl his capital, and laid the
foundations of great buildings, and rebuilt the citadel of Dehli ; and
again strengthened the forts, which were situated along the path of
the entrance of the Mughals. He also determined to have such an
army as would be sufficient for encountering the Mughals, as well
as for defending the empire (against other enemies) ; but he found
that his revenue was not sufficient for the maintenance of such an
army. He accordingly took counsel with his wise ministers and
experienced nobles. They said, that if horses, and arms, and all the
accoutrements of a soldier, on which the strength of an army
depends, and grain, and all other necessaries which the common
people require, became cheap, the wishes of the Sultdn might be
realized. For the soldier would, on account of the cheapness of
grain, be able to provide himself with provisions, even on the small
pay he would get. The Sultan then framed a few rules on this
subject, in consultation with his Vazirs, who were the wisest men of
the age. Owing to these rules, all the necessaries of life became
cheap. The first rule was this, that a price was fixed for the
different kinds of grain, in accordance with the orders of the Sultan.
The market people were not allowed to have any power in fixing
the price of grains. What was settled was this:

Wheat, per maund, seven and a half jitals; barley per maund, four jitals.

Gram ” five jitals; rice ' five ,,
" (Cicer arietinum) (in hugk)
Mash . five ,, Moth ’e three ,,

(Vetch, phaseolus radiatus) (lentil, phaseolus aconiti folius).
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These rates remained unaltered till the end of Sultin ‘Ala-
uddin’s reign ; and no change took place in them, either on account
of drought, or any kind of dearth. The second rule was this, that
Malik Kabul Ulugh Khan, who was a wise man with great firmness
of character, was appointed to be Inspector of the grain market
(which in the language of Hindustan is called a Mandui), so that he
might see that all buying and selling was according to the rates
fixed by the Sultan. The third rule was this, that the share of the
produce of the crown-lands, which belonged to the Sultan, should be
collected and stored in the towns; so that if there should be any
deficiency in the grain brought to the market, it might be sold at
the fixed rate. The fourth rule (or order) was this, that Malik Kabul
should summon the grain dealers of the various towns in the empire,
and settle them on the bank of the Jamna, so that they might bring
grain from the various parts of the empire, and sell it in the market
of Dehli at the Sultan’s rates ; and he should take bonds from them
for this purpose. The fifth rule was for the prohibition of regrat-
ing, and this was carried to such a point that if it appeared that
any soldier or cultivator had committed the offence of regrating,
the grain was taken from him, and was added to the Sultan’s grain,
and the man was amerced. The sixth rule was this, that all culti-
vators were directed to sell the produce of their fields where it was
grown, and not to take one grain to their houses, and the tax-
gatherers were ordered to collect the dues from the rayyats in such
a way, that the latter might use the produce of their land in the
fields, and might not take anything but their own share to their
houses, and might not commit the offence of regrating. The
seventh rule was this, that a report of the rates of the prices of the
different kinds of grain, and of all matters connected with the
grain market, had to be submitted every day in detail to the
Sultdn. If there was the least infraction of these rules, the
managers of the markets and their agents were punished. An order
was also passed,.that in seasons of drought, each man should buy
from the market a quantity of grain proportionate to the number
of persons in his family ; and no one was allowed to buy more than
was sufficient for the daily needs of his family. Officers were
appointed to attend to this; and there was the greatest sorutiny
and rigour about it. The Sultén employed spies to make secret
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reports to him about this matter. No one was allowed to make
a difference of even half a jital in the rates fixed by the Sultan.
Rules were also framed, and provisions made, to secure the cheap
sale of cloth, The first was this, that an extensive building was
erected near the Badaiin gate; and was named the mansion of
justice, and the Sultan ordered that all piece-goods brought from the
different parts of the empire should be deposited in it, and should
be sold there, and no one was to sell any piece-goods in the market,
or in his own house. The buying and selling in the mansion of
justice was to take place from early morning to the hour of the
first prayers. If it became known that any of the market people
closed his shop before the hour of early prayer, or had opened it
after early morning, he was punished. The second was this, that all
piece-goods were sold at the rates which were fixed from before the
throne. [These were] raw silk' of Dehli, sixteen tangahs ; raw silk of
orange colour, six tangahs; silk mixed with hair, three tangahs; red
striped stuff, eight jitals; common stuffs, thirty.six jitals; red lining
of Nagore, twenty-four jitals; fine Shirin baft, five tangahs; medium
Shirin baft, three tangahs; best Silahati, four tangahs; medium
Silahati, three tangahs; coarse Silahati two tangahs; fine cotton,
twenty yards, one tangah; grey coarse cotton, forty yards, one
tangah; sheets, ten jitals each. The third rule was this, that

1 There are some differences in the names of the different kinds of stuff.
The first kind is called & in the lith. ed. In two of the MSS. it appears
to be ¢»%&, which means coarse rough cloth. In the third, it is _»+> which
may be Khazz or Khanz. I have adopted Khazz as it is not likely that
coarse rough cloth should be placed at the head of the list, and should be
valued at sixteen tangahs. The first class is glso called ¢ Delhi Khazz
Silk * in Major Fuller’s translation8from the Tarikh-i-Firoz Sh&hi given in
Journ. A.8.B., 1870. The fourth kind is called Ualss (5 &5 in the lith. ed.
In the MSS. it is called Ua) 33 (gelisy in MS. B and Ua) (gl oy in MS. C.
I cannot exactly make out the meaning. In Major Fuller’s translations
already referred to it is ocalled red-striped stuff, and I have taken this
name. The price in the translation ig six jitals, but in the lith. ed. as well as
in the MS8. of the Tabakat-i-Akbari it is eight jitals. The price of the best
kind appears in the lith. ed. and in the MBS. as thirty-six jitals. This
appears to be & mistake. The price in Major Fuller’s translation is three
and a half jitals. The price of fine and middling Bilahati is six and four
tangahs respectively in the Tarikh-i-Firoz S8hahi, but the translator gonsidered
the price mentioned for fine Bil&hati was very high.
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the names of the merchants of the city, and of different parts
of the empire, were entered in a register; and they were directed
that they should bring all piece-goods into the city, as they had been
accustomed to do before; and should sell them, in the mansion of
justice, at the rates fixed by the Sultan. Any one who neglected to
do this, was held to be an offender. The third measure was this,
that sums of money were advanced from the treasury to the mer-
chants of the city, so that they might bring piece-goods from
different parts of the empire, and sell them, in the mansion of
justice, at the prescribed rates. The fifth rule was this, that when-
ever any of the noted Amirs required any specially fine piece of
cloth, he had to obtain a license from the chief of the market. This
rule was framed with this object, that merchants living in different
parts of the country might not buy such fine cloth, in the mansion
of justice, at the fixed rates, and sell them at other places at higher
prices.

Four rules were also framed to secure the cheap sale of horses.
The first for fixing the classes, and the price for each class; for
instance, for horses of the first class, one hundred tangahs ; for those
of the second class from eighty to ninety tangahs; and for those of
the third class from sixty-five to seventy tangahs. The second rule
was this, that horsedealers, and the moneyed men of the city were
not allowed to buy horses at the market. The moneyed men of the
city, who had been accustomed to buy cheap and sell dear, were
driven out of the city and banished and dispersed. The third rule
was for the admonition and punishment of brokers of horses; it was
ordered that if a single horse was sold in a market, in contravention
of the Sultan’s rates, all the brokers in the market would be im-
prisoned and punished. The fifth rule was this, that at the end of
each month an enquiry was made about the classification of horses,
and their prices; and about the condition and behaviour of the
brokers, and if the slightest deviation from the rules framed by the
Sultan was detected, the brokers were punished.

The four rules, just mentioned, about horses, were also enforced
in the case of prisoners of war (slaves), and cattle.

Everything that happened in the markets was immediately
written down ; and daily reports were placed before the Sultan.
Spies were also appointed to enquire about the condition of the

23



178 SULTAN ‘ALAUDDIN KHALJI.

market, and if it appeared that the managers of the markets had
reported anything contrary to the truth, they were punished.
Everything which had to be sold and bought in the markets were
brought to the presence of the Sultan and he examined them and
fixed the rates for them. He did not consider even such things as
needles and combs and shoes, and earthen pitchers and cups, as too
trifing. The prices of precious, as well as common, things were fixed
by the Sultan personally; and a statement of the rates of their
prices was supplied to the markets. The care and supervision which
the Sultan exercised over market people, and the scrutiny which he
made about the rates, were carried to such a pitch, that after a
time, young children, who had no knowledge about buying and
selling things, were sent to the markets with a few tangahs in their
hands, so that they might buy such things as children were fond of.
The things were taken to the Sultan, and if it appeared that there was
the least difference either in the rate, or in the weight, the man who
had sold the things was punished. The mildest punishment that
wag inflicted in such cases was the cutting off of the ear or the nose.

After articles of food, and the accoutrements of the soldiers,
had become cheap, and the strength of the army had been in-
creased, the doors of the entrance of the Mughals, and of their
tyrannies, were in a manner closed. If at any time a band of
Mughals came towards Dehli, they were all taken prisoners and slain,
For instance, on one occasion Ali Beg, the grandson! of Changiz
Khéan, and Tartak, came with forty thousand horsemen into the
country of Amroha along the skirts of the Sivalik hills. Sultan
‘Alauddin nominated Malik Nayak Akhur Beg® to march against

1 Here also 3'*»}3 or 8;&3 is used in the sense of a descendant and not
striotly of a grandson. The name of the second commander is doubtful.
It is given as Tartdk both in Elliot and in Major Fuller’s translation,
but it is said in a note in the former, that the ‘* MSS. (of the Tarikhi-Firoz
Shahi) have * Tarydak ' and ‘Ziyak! In the text of Ferishta he is called
Taryal ; but in the translation ‘ Khwéja Tarh,” which is in accordance with
D’Ohsson (Hist. Des Mongols, iv. 571). The Tabal:ntd-Akbari has Rasmak.’’
It is however not Rasmak in the lith. ed. or in any of the three MSS.
of the Tabakat-i-Akbari I have collated. It is Jlﬂj in the former, and
Sley and Sb 3, Sl in the three MSS.

2 This name is not clear., It appears like Malik N&yak Akhur Beg in
the lith, ed. and in the M88. The name is also Malik Nayak Akhur Beg in
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them with a large army. They came up with them within the
Amroha territory and gave battle. Most of the Mughals were slain,
and Ali Beg and Tartak were taken prisoners; and were brought
before the Sultin, with chains round their necks, with the twenty
thousand horses, which had also been taken. That day, the Sultan
came out of the city, and held a public reception on the Subhani
Chabutara, and the troops were stationed in two lines from this
place to Indarpat.! At this time Ali Beg and Tartak Beg with the
other captives were led in front of the Sultan, and most of them
were slain by being thrown under the feet of elephants.

Couplet.

Whoever in this world doth ill,
To him at last that ill returns.

A second time a Mughal named Kabek * came with a large army
into the town of Khakar, and fought with the army of Dehli; but
most of them were slain ; and a tower was built of their heads, near
the Badaun gate. After a time, another Mughal army, about
thirty thousand strong, came into the Siwalik territory and com-
menced to plunder the country. When this came to the knowledge
of the Sultdan, he sent a numerous army against them. This army
took up a position near the river Ravi, on the route by which the
Mughals would return. When the Mughal army, encumbered with
much booty, arrived at the bank of the river, the army of Dehli
attacked them with great bravery; and were crowned with triumph

Elliot, but it is -¢ Malik Atabak, the master of horse,”” in Major Fuller’s
translation. According to Mr Tolbort’s note appended to Major Fuller’'s
translation, the commander sent by the Sultdn was, according to Badauni,
Malik Manik (= Naib Kafur Hazar-Dinari) and, according to Ferishta,
Tughluk Khan.

I The name of this place is given in both Elliot and Major Fuller's trans-
lation as Indarpat. It may be Indarpat in MS8. A of the Tabakat-i-Akbari,
but in the lith. ed. and in MS. C it is Madinah and in M3. B it is Nadinah.

2 The name of this Mughal leader is Kank in Elliot and Gang in Major
Fuller’s translation. It is Kabak or Kabik or Kapik in the lith. ed. and in the
MSS. of the Tabakat-i-Akbari. The name of the town which was attacked by
the Mughals was given as Khekar by Zia-i-Barni and Khakar or Khakhara in
the Tabakat-i-Akbari., Probably the river Ghaggar near Patial& is meant,.



180 SULTAN ‘ALAUDDIN KHALJL

and victory. They took a large number of the Mughal leaders
captive, and kept them imprisoned in the fort of Tarainah,' which
was in the neighbourhood; and brought their families and ad-
herents to Dehli, where they were sold in the market-place as slaves,
After that, Malik Khés Hajib was ordered to go to Tardinah and to
have the prisoners executed. When some time had elapsed after
this, a Mughal of the name of Ikbalmanda invaded Hindustan with
a large army. A battle took place between him and the army of
Dehli at Dihandah Amir ‘Ali Wahan*; and he was slain, while the
other Mughals were brought to Dehli as prisoners; and were
trampled to death under the feet of elephants. After that, such a
fear and dread took possession of the hearts of the Mughals, that
the idea [of invading] Hindustan was obliterated from their minds-
The country remained free from their depredations to the end of
the reign of Kutbuddin Mubarak Shah. Sultiun Tughlak Shah, who
in those days was called the Ghazi (warrior) Malik, and held the
fiefs of Dibalpur and Lahore, raided every year up to the boundaries
of the Mughal country; and pillaged those districts. The Mughals
could not come and oppose him, and defend the outskirts of their
country.

After the depredations of the Mughals had been completely
stopped, and most of the towns of Hindustian, which had been the
refuge and asylum of turbulent and refractory people, had been
brought under complete subjection, and the paths of the coming
and going of merchants and all other travellers had been made
perfectly safe, and the strength of the army had also been raised
to the needs of the empire, Sultan ‘Alauddin being now firmly
seated on the throne of Dehli, and having his mind perfectly
free from all anxziety, contemplated the conquest of the distant
towns and provinces; and whatever country he attempted to
conquer, that he subjugated, w1thout any trouble or dlﬁiculty

1 The name of the fort is given as Naramab in Elhot and as Nﬁrama.h
in Major Fuller’s translation.

2 The name of this place is not clear. It appears from a note to Major
Fuller’s translation, that the MS of the Tabakat-i-Akbari which the writer of
the note had, had the name of the place as I have given it. ‘The writer of the
uote adds that Dihandah was the name of ariver near Ajodhan Patan-i-Panjab,
south-west of Deopalpur or Dibalpur. The name of the place where the battle
took place is not given in Elliot.
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Couplets.

When the help of Heaven to the fortunate comes,
He gains his object ev’n before his wish ;

While still his wish is in his heart,

The treasure to his hand doth come ;

If the tilth of his purpose is in the east,

From the west to him comes rain and wind.

The success which crowned his aims and objects, and the wonder-
ful works he accomplished by his exertions and endeavours have
been deemed by many to be nothing less than miracles, and they have
attributed their achievement to revelation and inspiration; while a
few have described them as miracles caused by evil agencies and
have thought that they were the effect of deception caused by God ; !
while others have thought, that the safety and the happiness of the
people were due to the auspicious existence of Shaikh Nizamuddin
Aulia ( may his grave be holy!).

In short, Malik Naib Kafur Hazar-dinari was sent with other
great Amirs and renowned Khéans against Deogir, one of the cities
of the Dakin. The Sultan distinguished him with many honours
and granted him a red canopy and other royal favours. Khwajah
Haji, the deputy muster-master of the forces, was sent with him, so
that he might supervise the operations of the army and take charge
of the booty. Malik Kifur on arrival at Deogir made, by means of
his bravery and his skilful manceuvres, the ruler of the district (Ram
Deo) and his sons prisoners ; and took possession of all the treasures
and seventeen elephants. These he sent to Dehli, with a report of
the victory. Immediately after this, he showed great kindness to
Ram Deo; and took him with the elephants and treasure to Dehli ;
and there became the recipient of Royal favours. The Sultan treated
Ram Deo with generosity, bestowed the title of Ray-i-Rayan, and
a canopy and a lac of tangdhs, on him as his reward ; and confirm-
ing him in the possession of Deogir sent him back. Ram Deo then
became a loyal servant of the Sultan, and always rendered him
allegiance, homage, and valuable service.

In the year 790 a.H., Sultin ‘Alauddin sent Malik Kafur, a

—— . R ——

I The language sounds blasphemous, but the translation is literal.
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second time, with a large army to Arangal. At the time of sending
him off, he directed that if Rudar Deo,' the ruler of Arangal, made
over treasure, and guns and elephants, and agreed to pay an annual
tribute, he should be satisfied with that; and should return. He
should not, in that case, exert himself to conquer the fort or to
take Rai Rudar Deo prisoner. He should also consult with Khwajah
Haji about the affairs of those parts, and should not punish the
Amirs for petty offences, and minor derelictions of duty. He.should
however not allow any negligence. If a soldier acquired some booty,
and begged to be allowed to retain it, he should grant his prayer ;
also if a t'rooper’s horse should be killed in battle, or be stolen, or
become useless, he should give him a better horse in place of it.
These things he should consider to be the duties of a ruler. Malik
Kafur and Khwajah Ha&ji then bade the Sultan farewell ; and, by
rapid marches, went towards Arangal. When they arrived at Chan-
deri, they stopped there for a few days, and took a muster of the
army. From that place they started for Deogir. Ram Deo advanced
to welcome them, made a large present, performed the ceremonies of
homage and service; and accompanied the army for several stages.
He then obtained leave to return and went back to Deogir.

When Malik Naib arrived near Arangal, the neighbouring Rais,
through fear of the army of Islam, had hastened forward ; and built a
citadel in the outer fort, which was very extensive, into which they
crowded, and which they prepared to defend. Rudar Deo with his
own followers took shelter in the inner citadel, which was built of
stone. The Sultan’s army beseiged the fort, and made every effort
to seize it, and the Hindus, from inside, to oppose and prevent them.
After a time, the oater fort was taken, after a severe struggle. Most
of the Rais and Zamindars and-their families and dependants were
taken prisoner; and an immense number were slain. Rai Rudar
Deo,in great distress, opened negociations, and begged for protection.
Malik Naib took from him much treasure, a hundred elephants, and
seven thousand horses, and gave him assurances of safety. It was
also st.lpulated that he would send sultable tribute every year. Malik

S [ —

1 The name is given as Laddar Deo in Elliot. It is Laddar Deo also in
the lith. ed. of the Tabakat-i-Akbari but it is Rudar Deo in two of the MSS.;
besides Rudar (Rudra) Deo is a well-known name, whereas Ladda Deo has
no meaning. '
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. Naib then submitted a report, stating the facts to the Sultan, who,
.on receiving it, ordered that the report of the victory should be read
from the pulpits; that the drum of joy should be beaten, and
gifts and presents should be made. When Malik Naib returned to
Dehli, the Sultan came out of the city, and sat in state, on the
Nasirl Chabutarah (platform) near the Bada-iin gate. Malik
Naib was there allowed to offer his homage; and passed all the
booty before the Sultan’s eyes; and was honoured with various
favours.

It has been related that whenever Sultin ‘Alauddin sent an
army to any place, he arranged a horse dak chouki (relay) (which
in the language of the ancients is called a yam or post horse ) from
Dehli to the place of destination ; and he posted at each karoh a fast
runner, who is called a paik in Hindi ) ; and he appointed a scribe, at
each town or city, on the way, who reported every day what hap-
pened there. It so happened that on this occasion, when Malik Naib
was sent against Arangal, all news of him was cut off, for some time,
owing to some disturbances on the road, and certain thanahs or posts
being disarranged. The Sultan was much grieved at this, and deputed
Malik Kard Beg and Kazi Maghisuddin of Simanah to go to the
Shaikh-ul-Islam, Shaikh Nizamuddin Aulia, and after conveying his
prayers (for the Shaikh’s welfare) to tell him, that the Sultin
had not received any news of the army that had been sent against
Arangal, for a long time; that his anxiety (for the safety) of the
army of Islam would be greater than that of the Sultdn; that if he
should be acquainted, by means of the illumination of his sanctity,
with the condition of the army, he would lighten and gladden the
Sultan’s heart by disclosing it. He also told the messengers, that
they were to bring back to him, without any increase or diminution,
whatever might fall from the lips of the Shaikh. When they arrived
in the latter’s presence, they delivered the Sultin’s message. The
Shaikh referred to one of the previous kings ; narrated the story of
his conquests; and introduced these words in the course of the
narrative, viz. ‘‘ in addition to this conquest other conquests may
be expected.”’ Malik Kara Beg and Kazi Maghisuddin returned from
the presence of the Shaikh and repeated his words to the Sultan.
The latter was extremely glad, and knew that Arangal had been
conquered ; and hoped that other conquests would follow. At the
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close of the same day, Malik Naib’s report of the victory came, and
this became the reason of the Sultin’s having greater faith in the
Shaikh’s holiness. Although Sultan ¢Alduddin never went in person
to pay his respects to the Shaikh, yet he always showed his faith
and trust in him by sending messages to him, and by praying for
his intercession. '

Again in the year 910 a.H., Sultan ‘Alauddin sent Malik Naib
towards Dhor Samundar (Dvar Samudra), and Mf‘abar (Malabar).
Khwajah Haji, the deputy muster-master of the forces, was sent
with him. When they arrived at Deogir, they found that Ray Ram
Deo was dead, but his son performed the usual services. Malik Naib
and Khwajah Haji did not delay at Deogir, but, leaving it quickly,
reached the vicinity of Dhor Samundar. Presently they captured
that place, and took Mallar Deo, who was the ruler there, prisoner.
They obtained thirty-six elephants and much treasure, and sent a
report of their victory to Dehli. They then advanced with their
troops to M‘abar, and conquered it also, and having demolished the
temples there, and broken the golden and jewelled idols, sent the
gold into the Treasury. They also obtained much treasure from
each of the two Rays, who ruled in M’abar and returned with three
hundred and twelve elephants, twenty thousand horses, ninety six
thousand maunds of gold and chests filled with gems, and peartls,
and other booty, which was beyond all calculation, and did service
to the Sultan. The latter was delighted with the great victories
achieved, and the immense quantities of booty obtained, and con-
ferred a share of this plunder on the Amirs.

One of the wonderful events which occurred in the latter part
of Sultan ¢Alauddin’s reign was this, that a number of worthless neo-
Moslems who held no posts, and had no stipends, conspired together
that they would slay the Sultan, when he would be out hunting and
would have none of his attendants near him. When information of
this plot reached the Sultan, he, owing to the harshness and violence
which had been ingrained in his nature, directed that every one
of the class of neo-Moslems, that may be found anywhere, should
be slain; so in the course of a single day, a few thousand inoffen-
sive persons, who had no knowledge of the conspiracy, were ruth-
lessly slain, and their property was confiscated, and their offspring
destroyed.
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At the same time a band of Bahtis! appeared. The Sultan
ordered that they should all be seized, and saws should be drawn
aoross their heads, and they were slain in this cruel way ; and as the
Sultdan was of a violent and implacable nature, no one had the hardi-
hood to intercede for anybody before him. When he was annoyed
with any one, his anger was not appeased, even in the course of a
lifetime ; and he never left a way open for peace. Although in the
early period of his reign he used to take counsel with people about
matters of policy, and allowed them to interfere in them, yet in his
later years, when his mind was free from anxiety about every thing,
and all his political projects ended according to his wishes, he did
whatever came into his thoughts, and accorded with his views, and
did not take counsel with any one in such matters.

It has been said that no other Emperor of Hindustan gained so
many victories as Sultan ’'Alauddin. The author of the Tarikh-i-
Firoz Shahi says, that so many edifices, such as mosques, and
minarets, and reservoirs, and citadels, and other similar structures,
were erected in his time, as had not been built in any other. The
number of artificers and master-workmen also, as were seen in his
reign, no one remembered in any other period. The veracity and
righteousness, in the higher classes, as well as in ordinary people,
the obedience displayed by the Hindus, and the suppression of all
turbulence, which were seen in his time, were never found at any
other. In no other period were so many great religious teachers,
and so many wayfarers, in the path of faith, whose noble presence
made Delhi the object of the envy of the other cities of the world,
collected together as in his reign. Among them was the Shaikb-ul-
Islam, Shaikh Nizam-ud-din Aulia Al ‘Aziz, may his tomb be holy !
who stands not in need of any praise, and who, seated on the high
road of instruction and guidance, showed the true path to the
people. Many people were assembled in the Khankih of Shaikh
Nizéamuddin Aulida from the 5th to the 10th day of the Muharram,

1 I cannot find out who these were. The name is w&&U in the lith. ed.
and in the MSS. it appears to be wlmwals or wlial. The corresponding passage
in Zia-i-Barni is translated as ‘‘in most of the years . .. . disturbances
(ibBhatiyan) broke out in the city » in Elliot (iii. 208), but it appears to me
that Bakhtians or Bihtidns were some schismatios. Ib@hat means publishing,
divulging & secret ; permitting, giving liberty.

2
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which were the feast days of Shaikh-ul-Islam Fariduddin of Ajodhan;
and during those days people came to Dehli from all parts of
Hindustdn; and even the doors and walls (i.e. inanimate objects)
broke out in exclamations of wonder, on seeing the ecstacies of the
men immersed in the Divine essence who were present. Another
was Shaikh ¢Alauddin, grandson of Shaikh Fariduddin, who had
been seated on the carpet of instruction in Ajodhan, and who was
so deeply engaged in exoteric and esoteric worship that people
called him a holy angel. Another was His Holiness, the Pole star
of saints, Shaikh Ruknuddin, son of Shaikh Sadruddin, son of
Shaikh Bahauddin, Zakaria, Multani, may God sanctify their spirits!
who used to guide the wanderers in the desert of search (for God)
along the highway of faith to the furthest goal of accomplishment.
All the inhabitants of Multan and Uchch, and of the whole
province of Sind, came to his gate, and throwing themselves under
the wing of his protection, obtained safety from dangers and cala-
mities. His illustrious father Shaikh Sadruddin, in spite of the fact
that he had so much wealth, which he had inherited from his
father, and that he had so many offerings and gifts that even
imagination could not keep count of them, was almost always in
debt. Another was Sayyad Tajuddin, son of Sayyad Kutbuddin,
who in liberality, erudition, patience, and other human perfections
was unrivalled in that age. For a time, he was the Kazi of Audh,
and after that he became Kazi of Baddin. Another was Sayyad
Ruknuddin, brother of the aforesaid Sayyad Tajuddin, who was
the Kazl of Karah; and was adorned with praiseworthy qualities.
Next among the Sayyads of Kaithal were Sayyad Maghisuddin,
and his brother Sayyad Maslahatuddin; and both these brothers
were possessed of erudition and piety and purity and all perfections.
They were called the Sayyads of Nohatah. There were other
Sayyads, and great men; but a detailed description of each would
be too long Among these was Kazi Sadruddin ’Arif; who was the
chief Kazi of the kingdom and had the title of Sadr-i-Jah&in. After
him Kaz!1 Jalaluddin Dilwati! became the Kazl of the kingdom, and

1 This word is given differently in the lith. ed. and in the MSS. In the
former it is Law®ti, In MS8. A itis Lawahi; M8, B Dilwati and in MS, C
Dewalhi,
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Mauldna Ziduddin-i-Biandh became the Sadr-i-Jahan (chief Judge).
In the latter days of Sultan ‘Alduddin, Malik Iltijar Hamiduddin
Multéni became the Kazi of the kingdom.

Among the exoteric learned men, who were versed in various
sciences, and were engaged in teaching and imparting knowledge,
there were forty-six, viz. Kazi Fakhruddin Nafsah,! Kazi Sharfuddin
Sarmani, Maulana Nasiruddin Ghani, Maulana Tajuddin Mukaddam,
Kazi Ziauddin Bianah, Mauland Zahir Lang, Maulanad Ruknuddin
Sunimi, Mauland Tajuddin Kalahi, Mauland Zahiruddin Bhakari,
Kazi Mahiuddin Kaghani, Maulind Kamaluddin Kului, Mauldna
Wajihuddin Paeli, Maulana Minhajuddin Kabai, Mauland Nizamud-
din Kaldhi, Mauland Nasiruddin Karah, Mauland Nasiruddin
Sabini, Mauland ‘Alauddin Tajir, Maulana Karimuddin Jauhari,
Maulinda Hujjat Multani, Mauland Hamiduddin Mukblis, Maulana
Burhdnuddin Bhakari, Maulana Iftikharuddin Barni, Maulana
Hisdmuddin Surkh, Mauland Wajihuddin Malhu, Maulana ‘Ala-
uddin Kurk, Maulana Hisamuddin Shadi, Maulana Hamiduddin
Multani, Maulanad Shihabuddin Multani, Maulana Fakhruddin
Hansul, Mauland Fakhruddin Safafil, Kazi Zainuddin Nafilah,
Maulana Sarkhi, Maulani Wajihuddin Razi, Maulana ‘Alauddin
Sadr Shari’at, Maulanad Miran Bariklah, Mauldna Najibuddin Shadi,
Maulana Shamsuddin, Maulana Nasiruddin, Maulana ‘Alauddin
Lahiiri, Kazi Shamsuddin Karzuni, Maulana Shamsuddin Yehiya,
Mauland Nasiruddin Itawi, Mauland M‘ainuddin Lali, Maulana Ifti-
kharuddin Razi, Maulana M‘uizzuddin Andrehi, and Maulana
Najmuddin Inteshari. In the latter part of the reign of Sultin
‘Alauddin, Maulana ‘Ilmuddin, the grandson of Shaikh Bahauddin
Zakaria, who had been one of the most learned men of his time,
came to Dehli, and employed himself in imparting soientific and
traditional knowledge. Among the teachers of the science of
reading the Kuran, Maulini Shati, Maulana ‘Alauddin Mukra and
Khwajah Zaki, the nephew of Hasan Basri, were distinguished.
Preachers like Maulana ‘Imad Hasan Darwesh, and his brother
Mauland Jalal, Mauldnad Ziduddin Sundmji, Maulana Shihabuddin
Khallli and Maulana Karim were the best of that period. Sipah-

1 There are some differences in the sequence of the names and in the
names themselves in the lith. ed. and in the three MSS.
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salar Tajuddin ‘Iraki, Khudawandzadah Chasnigir, the grandson of
Balban-i-Buzurg, Malik Rukuuddin Abib, Malik ¢ Izzuddin Tughén
Khin and Malik Nasiruddin Nidr Khan were the wittiest courtiers.
Among the poets of the reign of Sultan ‘Alauddin, by whose incom-
parable existence the capital, Dehli, nay the whole country of
Hindustan, was embellished and adorned ; and the fame of whose
eloquence had spread over the whole world (were the following);
but the chief among them was Amir Khusru, who in the use of words,
and the invention of meanings, had supreme excellence; and the
marks of whose greatness and excellence are clear, and patent from
his works, in prose and verse. He was likewise a mystic, deeply
immersed in ecstatic contemplation. Most of his time was spent
in fasting and prayers; and he was quite intoxicated with the love
and longing for God. Sultan ‘Alduddin used to pay this excellent
product of the age a stipend of a thousand tangabs. Another was
Amir Hasan Sanjari, who was celebrated for the facility of his com-
position, and the elegance of his diction. He composed most
elegant odes, was a great poet, and was called the S‘adi of Hindu-
stan. He was also unrivalled in that age for the purity of his
morals, and contentment, and for abandoning (worldly pleasures)
and his love of solitude. He was a disciple of his holiness Shaikh
Nizdmuddin Aulid, may his tomb be holy! and he collected together
the sayings of the Shaikh, which he had heard in the period of his
discipleship, and named the collection ‘¢ The Fawaed-ul-Fawad.”” He
wrote also many other works in prose and verse. Sadruddin °‘Ali,
Fakhruddin Kawas, Hamid ud-din Rajah, Maulana ¢Arif, ‘Ubed
Hakim and Shih@b Sadr-nashin were also poets of the reign of
Sultan ‘Alduddin, and they used to receive stipends on this account.
Each of these had a special style 6f composition. The collections of
their odes bear witness to their perfect beauty and art. There were
also a few unrivalled historians. Among the Messiah-like physicians,
the master physician Maulana Badruddin Damaghki had such skill,
that if any one brought to him the urine of a number of animals
oollected in a phial, he, by merely looking at i, was able to say that
the urine of such and such animals had been mixed up in it. He
was also-a master of the secrets of mysticism, and of their exami.
nation and revelation. . There were also a few astrologers and sooth-
sayers, who might be described as masters of witchoraft in diéclosing
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the secrets of the mind, and of future events There were also 80
many reciters of the Kuran and of odes, and other masters of the
joyous art and men of other arts, that they cannot be enumerated
in this brief work,

After the reign of Sultdn ‘Alauddin had been prolonged, and
his success and grandeur had reached a high point, owing to the
rule that all things after arriving at perfection fall to decay, and
every beginning necessarily has an end, he began to do such things
as became the cause of the downfall of his empire and of the des-
truction of his greatness. Among these were this, that he became
so enamoured and infatuated with the beauty of Malik Naib Kafar
Hazar-dinari, that he resigned the reins of power completely into
the latter’s hand ; so that in matters of state he never negleoted
to attend to his wishes, nor did he ever swerve from his advice
however injudicious it might be. Another thing was this, that he
removed his young sons from the haramkhana, in the women’s
apartments in the palace, before they could do without the super-
vision of guardians and the control of governors; and at the same
time did not take any steps for the improvement of their character.
He conferred a canopy on Khizir Khén and declared him to be the
heir-apparent before any rectitude could be perceived in his disposi-
tion, and he did not appoint any wise and experienced noblemen
to look after him, who might in the beginning prevent him from
indulging, in excess, in pleasures and sensuality. It so happened,
that while the Sultan was ill, he gave permission to Khizir Khan
to go to the district of Amroha, on an excursion of hunting and
pleasure ; and told him, that he would send for him, as soon as he
recovered. Khizir Khan had made a vow, that as soon as the
Sultan should recover, he would come on foot, on a pilgrimage to
[the tombs of] the saints of Dehli. When he heard a report of the
Sultan’s recovery, before the command for his return could issue,
he came on foot and bare-footed to Dehli on the pilgrimage. Malik
Naib, who had begotten the lust of empire in his head, and was
endeavouring to extirpate the Sultan’s progeny, reported to the
latter, that Khizir Khan had formed a wicked design; and had
returned, without waiting for permission. In this way, he induced
the Sultan to send Khizir Khan to the fort of Gwaliar. After a
time the Sultan was attacked by dropsy, and the disease became
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worse from day to day. At this time he summoned Malik Naib
from Deogir ; and Alp Khan from Gujrat. After they had come to
the capital, the former, owing to the enmity which he had against
the latter, deceived the Sultan with absurd but specious representa-
tions, and induced him to order his execution. Shortly after this,
the Sultan expired.
Couplet.
Some breaths he counted; and he dust became.
Time laughed at this, and said, he too is gone!

Some say Malik Naib poisoned him. God knows all. He reigned
for a period of twenty years and a few months.

SULTAN SHIHABUDDIN, YOUNGER SON OF SULTAN ‘ALAUDDIN
KuarLir.

Malik Naib called together the Amirs and the great officers of
state, on the second day, after the death of Sultan ‘Aliuddin; and
produced a writing of the latter, to the effect that he had made
Sultan Shihabuddin his successor ; and had superseded Khizir Khan.
The former was accordingly placed on the throne, and Malik Naib
employed himself in performing the duties of the Regent. On the
very first day he sent Malk Sambhal to Gwaliar, with instructions to
go there, and to draw the pencil across the eyes of Khizir Khan
and his brother Shadi Khan, and promised to make him the barbak
(the master of ceremonies) in return for the service. The ungrateful
wretch accepted the task and made the two lights of Sultan ‘Ala-
uddin’s eyes (i.e. his two sons) blind. The mother of Kbizir Khan
who was called Malkah-i-Jahan was imprisoned, and all the money
and other valuables, as well as the gold which, she possessed, was
taken away from her. Prince Mubarak Khan, who afterwards
became Sultan Kutbuddin, was confined in his house. Malik Naib
intended to have him blinded also, but as it was destined otherwise,
he was not permitted to carry out his nefarious design. Every day,
for a short time, he brought the infant Sultdn Shihdbuddin on the
terrace of the hazar-satun (thousand column) palace and placed him
on the throne there, and directed the Amirs, great officers, chamber-
lains and ushers to stand in line before him, and to do homage
to him. When the levee was over, the infant Sultan was sent to his
mother inside the haram. Malik Kafur used then to go into & pavilion,
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which he had set up on the terrace of the palace, and used to play,
with a few eunuchs, who were his confidants, a game called Turi!
(which was something like backgammon or dice), and he used
always to plot with his special friends how to destroy Sultan’s
‘Alauddin’s progeny. It so happened that a band of the old paiks,
whose duty it was to guard the hazarsatun, entered into a con-
spiracy, exactly thirty-five days after Sultan ‘Alauddin’s death,
and one night, after the people had left the royal palace, and the
goors had been locked, entered the pavilion and slew Malik Naib
and his companions.
Couplet.

If evil thou hast done, for good hope not ;
For ne’er the tamarisk doth bear the grape.
Oh thou! that in autumn did but barley sow ;
Hope not, at harvest time, rich wheat to reap.

They brought prince Mubarak Khan from the prison, and made
him the Regent of Sultan Shih@buddin, in place of Malik Naib.
Mubarak Khéan carried on the duties of the Regent for a time, and by
his attention to the affairs of government brought the Amirs and
Maliks over to his side. When two months had elapsed he ascended
the throne, and assumed the title of Sultan Kutbuddin Mubarak
Shah. He sent Sultdn Shthabuddin to Gwaliar. He also dispersed
the paiks who had slain Malik Naib, and whose hearts had become
filled up with pride and arrogance, and sent them to the different
towns in the neighbourhood; and he had their chiefs, who had
become old, executed.
Couplet.

That weed with fire should be burnt,
From which a thorn some heart doth reach.

At the time when the descendants of Sultan ‘Alauddin were being
destroyed and his offspring cut off, they asked Shaikh Bashir
Dewanah, who was one of the ¢absorbed,” ‘* Ah master ! what is
this, that is happening %’ He said : ‘“ As ‘Alauddin destroyed the
children of his uncle and benefactor, the same thing is happening
to him also.”’

1 The name of the game is given as Belmurhui or something like that in
the lith. ed., and Serhin, Turi, Paiwandi respectively in the three MSS,
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Couplet.

For every good a good, for every ill an ill, reck’ning there is ;
For every deed that’s done, the universe a recompense
provides !

His rule lasted for three months and a few days.

SorTAN KUTBUDDIN MUBARAK SHAH, SON OF SULTAN ‘ALAUDDIN
KuaLjl.
When in the year 717 A.H.,! Sultdan Kutbuddin sat on the throne at
Dehli, he conferred the title of Zafar Khan on Malik Dinar, the
keeper of the elephants ; that of Sher Khan on Muhammad Moulai
his own uncle ; and that of Sadr Jahén on Mauland Zia-uddin, son
of Mauland Bahauddin, the calligraphist. He distinguished Malik
Kara Beg, by allowing him to be near himself ; and he distributed
the various high offices. among the Amirs in correspondence with
the condition of each. He specially honoured a young Parwari,?
who had been brought up by Malik 8hadi, Naib Khan Hajib of
Sultdn ‘Alauddin, and conferred the title of Khusru Khan on him.
Parwari is the name of a caste of the menial class, who are found
in large numbers in Gujrat. Owing to the great affection which the
Sultan felt for this man, he made over the whole of Malik Shadi’s
retainers to him; and as he was madly infatuated with him, he
appointed him to the post of Vazir, although the qualifications for
the position could not be found in him.

Couplet.
If you for a well-adorned kingdom wish,
Entrust not, to one new risen, duties high.
If you wish not thy greatness to destroy,
Give not great work to one who work hath never done.

He became fond of him to such distraction, that he could not be
without him for one moment.

1 This date is incorrect. Zia Barni has 717 A.H. as the year of Syltdn
Kutbuddin Mybarak Shah’s accession, and he has been followed by Niz&m-
uddin as well as Bad&fini and Ferishtah. The correct date 718 a.m. is given
in Amir Khusru’'s masnawi (poem) called the Nuhsipehir, The Tiﬁkh-l-
MubZrak Sh&h! fixes the date &s the 20th Muharram 716 4.1,

2 T"‘#' word:is given aa Parwliz in the lith, ed., and aa BarBo or Parlio in
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Ip short, the disturbances which had occurred, after the death
of Sultdn ‘Alauddin, were suppressed after the accession of Sultan
Kutbuddin; and repose and contentment appeared among men.
As the new Sultdn was young and good-natured and kind-hearted,
and had endured the sufferings of imprisonment, and the fear of
imminent death, he issued an order on the first day of his reign for
the release of prisoners, and for the return of men who had been
banished. He also granted a reward equal to six months’ pay to
the whole army, and increased the stipends of the Amirs and Maliks,
He passed an order that the petitions of all suppliants should be
submitted to him, a practice which had become obsolete for a long
time, and orders were passed in accordance with the requests and
prayers contained in them. The stipends and allowances to learned,
pious, and other deserving men were increased. The villages, which
in the time of Sultdn ‘Alduddin had been annexed to the crown
lands, were restored to their owners, and the high rents, and
exorbitant demands which became customary at that time, were all
abolished. The generous treatment which the Sultan accorded to
the people made them happy and contented ; and they had dirams
and dinars in their purses again. At the same the rules promulgated
by Sultin ‘Alauddin, each one of which had some purpose or object
on which it was based, were abrogated. Although openly the use of
wine was strictly prohibited, yet adultery and turbulence and’
crimes, and dissipation and debauchery, which had completely
disappeared in the time of Sultan ‘Alauddin, again made their
appearance among the people. During the four years and four
months that Sultdn Kutbuddin’s reign extended, he did nothing but
spend all his time in dissipation and in satisfying his desires and
in making lavish gifts. During this time no disturbance occurred,
which might cause trouble and hardship to the-Sultdn, nor any
calamity that might endanger the happiness of the people.

As before this, Sultdn ‘Alauddin had summoned Alp Khan from
Gujrat, and as after that, disturbances and revolts had ocourred there,
Malik Kamaluddin was sent there to suppress them ; but he on

the MSS. The name is Parwari in both Elliot and Thomas ; though the latter

gives it as the equivalent of g)léj Rarwari. Parwaris are men of low
caste, chiefly employed as watchmen, gatekeepers, porters, etc.

20
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arrival there attained to martyrdom.' Owing to this, the rebels
gathered greater strength. Sultan Kutbuddin considered the sup-
pression of the rebellion in Gujrat the most urgent of his duties, and
sent Ain-ul-Malk Multan1 with a well-equipped army to that province.
He arrived there; fought with the men who had created the dis-
turbance ; routed them; and brought Nahrwalah and all the cities
in the province anew under subjection ; and reduced the zamindars
to humility and obedience. After this Sultin Kutbuddin married
the daughter of Malik Dinar, and sent the latter to Gujrat, after
conferring on him the title of Zafar Khan., He, on arrival there,
completely cleared the province of the thorns and weeds of the in-
surgents and rebels in the course of three or four months, so that no
vestige of them remained. He obtained much gold from the Rajahs
and Zamindars of the province, and sent it to the Treasury.

After the death of Sultan ‘Alauddin, Harpal Deo, the son-in-law
of Ram Deo,? had taken possession of the country of Deogir. Sultdn
Kutbuddin in the second year of his reign marched with his troops
against that place; and he appointed the son of a slave, of the name
of Shahin, who had been called Bawilda, and on whom he conferred
the title of Wafa-i-Mulk, to be the regent at Dehli during his
absence. After doing so, he advanced towards the Dakin. When
he arrived in the neighbourhood of Deogir, Harpal Deo and other
‘Zamindars, who had assembled together, being unable to withstand
him dispersed [in different directions]. The Sultdn remained at
Deogir for a short time, and sent a number of celebrated Amirs and
great Khans in pursuit of Harpal Deo. They perfomed the task
assigned to them, and brought Harpal Deo prisoner. He was flayed
alive by order of Sultain Kutbuddin, and his head was suspended
from the gate of Deogir. The Sultin was delayed ? there for some

1 According to Zid Barni, Kamaluddin Garg was sent to put down the
revolt of Alp Khan in Gujrat, but he was slain by the rebels (Elliot iii, 214).

2 1t is said, in Elliot iii, p. 215, that Harpal Deo and Ra&m Deo had taken
possession of Deogir, but according to the Tabakap-i-Akbari it was Harpal
Deo the son-in-law of R&m Deo who did so.

3 The cause of the delay is not meitioned in the Tabakat-i-Akbari except
that it is said that it was due to QS 83lo 3, which may be translated as want
of preparation, but from the Tarikh-i-Firozshahi (Elliot iii, 218) it appears
that the dela.y was due to the setting in of the rains.
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time; and during that timo the Marhatta country also was brought
under subjection. The country of Deogir was euntrusted to Malik
Yek-lakhi, who was one of the Alal slaves, and Marhat was divided
in fiefs among the Amirs. A canopy and durbish was then con-
ferred on Khusru Khan, and he was nominated for the command of
the army which was sent to M‘abar ; and the Sultan himself returned
towards Dehli. On the way, he was most of the time engaged in
drinking and dissipation. During this time, owing to the great
heedlessness and negligence of Sultan Kutbuddin and his constant
indulgence in drink, a desire for rule entered the head of Malik
Asaduddin who was a cousin of Sultan ‘Alauddin, and he entered
into a conspiracy with some of the commanders of the army, and
determined that after the Sultan should have passed Ghati Sagun,
and should have gone into the haram, at which time there
would be no sentries or paitks or any other guards near him,
they would enter the haram and despatch him. It so happened,
however, that that very night, when the Sultdn would have passed
Ghati Sagiin, one of the conspiraters gave information to him of
the state of things. The Sultan halted where he was, and ordered
that Malik Asaduddin should be seized, and executed ; and twenty-
nine sons of Yagharsh Khan (father of Malik Asaduddin) who
were at Dehli, and had no connection with the conspiracy, and
some of whom were quite young, were all slain by order of the
Sultan. When the Sultan arrived at Jhain, he sent Shadi Kath,
the commandant of the guards, to Gwaliar, so that he might put
Khizir Khin, Shadi Khan and Malik Shihabuddin, sons of Sultin
‘Alauddin, who had already been blinded, to death; and might
take their families and children to Dehli. Sultan Kutbuddin always
behaved ill to Shaikh Nizimuddin Aulid, Al’Aziz (may his tomb
be holy!), because Khizir Khian had been one of his disciples, and
had always known him to be one of his well-wishers; and he always
showed enmity towards him; and loosened his tongue in taunts

against him.
Couplets.

When God on one doth wish disgrace and shame to bring,
He doth ever incline him to revile the good ;

And when, to hide the ill in one, he doth incline;

That man he doth dispose the sin in others to hide.
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When Sultin Kutbuddin arrived in Dehli, and found Gujrat
and Dehli and all the country under subjection, and saw that all
the Amirs and Maliks were humble, submissive and obedient to
him, and there was no claimant left to the throne, the intoxication
of wine, youth, and power produced vainglory in his heart, and he
refused to consult with anyone in passing orders, or in the disposal
of state affairs; nor did he listen to the words of any sincere well-
wisher. If any one, actuated by a desire to serve him, made any
representation to him which did not coincide with his own views,
he at once rejected it, and loosened his tongue in derision and
abuse of the counsellor; so that no one dared, even by a hint or
a suggestion, to submit to him what he considered to be for his
welfare. All his good qualities were changed into evil ones; and
he began to act with violence and cruelty. Like his father, he
began unjustly to imbrue his hand in blood. Among those of
others, he ordered the execution of Zafar Khan, the feudatory of
Gujrat, who was the pillar of his state, although he had com-
mitted no offence of any kind. After that, he ordered the execu-
tion of Shahin, on whom he had conferred the title of Wafa-i-Mulk,
without any cause whatever, simply at the instigation of the
envious. He began to do other things, which were calculated to
cause the destruction of his power, and to bring about the downfall
of his empire. He frequently adorned himself with the garments
and trinkets of women; and in that guise, appeared in public
assemblies. He used to call ribald and dissolute women on the
terrace of the Kiosk of a thousand pillars, and ordered them to
treat, with great contumely, great nobles like ‘Ain-ul-Mulk Multani,
and Malik Kara Beg, who held fourteen appointnients, and others like
them, and insult them with obscene pleasantries and jests. He also
told them to do other indecent things, so that they came before men
in a state of nudity, and used to befoul theirgarments. Owing to the
- enmity which Sultdn Kutbuddin had against his reverence Shaikh
Nizamuddin Aulia, he prevented people from going to his abode,
and spoke disrespectfully and contemptuousky of him. He also
honoured the Shaikhzadah Jam, who was one of the Shaikh’s
enemies, by giving him special access to himself, and he brought

Shaikh Ruknuddin Multani from Multdn to show his hatred for
the Shaikh, 4
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After he had ordered Zafar Khan to be put to death, he sent
Hisaimuddin, who was a brother of Khusru Khéan, by the mother’s
side,! with a number of Amirs and Maliks ; and made all the retain-
ers of Zafar Khan over to him. When he arrived in Gujrat, he
collected all the Baraos (or Parwaris), and wanted to rise in rebel-
lion ; but the Amirs, who were with him, seized and imprisoned him,
and sent him to Sultdn Kutbuddin. The latter, however, in order
to please Khusru Khan, who was his brother, released him at
once; and honoured him with royal favours. This became another
reason for the estrangement and fear of the Amirs, and of the
great officers of state. Malik Wahiduddin Kureishi, who was
noted for his bravery and ability, was, however, sent to Gujrat
in place of Hisimuddin; and he introduced rule and order into
the province, which had been left in a condition of disorder and
ruin all by the latter. Intelligence arrived at this time, that Malik
Yaklakhi, the governor of Deogir, had raised the standard of
hostility ; and had risen in revolt. The Sultan sent a number of
great Amirs, with a large army, for the destruction of Yaklakhi, and
the suppression of the rebellion. They went, and by their able
tactics they seized Malik Yaklakhi, and the other insurgents, who
had been the cause of the disturbance, and brought them to Dehli.
The Sultan ordered the nose and the ears of Malik Yaklakhi to be
cut off and inflicted various punishments on his companions. Malik
‘Ain-ul-Mulk Multani was then appointed to rule the province of
Deogir, and Malik Tajuddin, the son of Khwajah ‘Alauddin, the
secretary, was appointed to be his assistant, and they were sent to
that province. Malik Wahiduddin was then summoned from Gujrat;
and the post of Vazir and the title of Taj-ul-Mulk were conferred on
him. : "

When Khusru Khan who was nominated for Ma‘bar arrived
there he found that the Rays of the province had fled with all
their treasures and valuables. He seized a hundred and odd ele-
phants which they had to leave behind. There was a merchant

1 A brother by the mother’s side probably meant an uterine brother. In
Elliot iii, p. 218, ho is however said to have been the maternal uncle of Khusru
Khan, but it appears from a note that he is described in the original as
e 515 and elsewhere as yo!t» of Khusru Khan.
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of the name of Khwajah Taki, who had much wealth, and who
had not fled under the belief that, as it was a Musalmén army
that was coming, he would not be injured in any way. He was
however seized, and all his property was taken from him, and
he was then killed. Khusru Khan spent the rainy season there,
and owing to the baseness and recklessness, which were ingrained
in his nature, the thought of rebellion entered his head, and he
determined to kill the Amirs who were with him, and set up an
independent authority in Ma‘bar. Malik Tamar, the governor of
Chanderi, Malik Mal Afghin and Malik Talbaghah Yaghdah, who
wers the chief Amirs. who had been deputed to Ma‘bar, became
aware of Khusru Khin’s designs; and started for Delhi without
giving any intimation to him. He, however, became frightened at
the threatening language of the Amirs, and started for Delhi and
travelled by forced marches. The Amirs named before put him in
a palki and sent him in seven days from Deogir to Delhi.! They
fondly imagined that as they had shown so much anxiety for his
welfare, they would receive many favours from the Sultan ; but when
Khbusru Khan reached the royal threshold, and obtained a private
audience, he made various complaints against them ; and said
‘“ they have accused me of creating disturbances, and raising a
rebellion, and are determined to procure my death ; but as God has
willed otherwise, I have escaped from their clutches, by various
subterfuges.”” The Sultin who loved him, and was mad about him,
took his lies to bq truths, and was annoyed with the Amirs; and
when they arrived in Delhi, although they described Khusru Khan’s
nefarious designs, and produced witnesses to support their represen-
tations, it was all of no a,va,il. The Sultan acted like a tyrant,

1 The conduct of the Amirs as described here was illogical. They are
said to have started for Dehli (apparently to bring Khusru Khan’s designs to
the notice of the Sultén), and yet they sent him on ahead to tell his own story.
Zira Barni gives a different and more probable version. According to him, the
other Amirs induced or forced Khusru Khan to return to Dehli, so that he
might not go on hatching his plots. The Sultan whs, however, so infatuated
with his favourite, and was so anxious to see him, that he sent relays of bearers
with a litter, and the minion was taken from Deogir to Dehli, in seven or
eight days. Once in Dehli he, of course, had every thing his own way. (Elliot
iii. 219-20).
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rejected all their representations, and directed that Malik Tamar
should not be allowed to make his obeisance ; and taking away the
government of Chanderi from him, made it over to his son.! He
also ordered that Malik Talbaghah Yaghdah should be struck on the
mouth ; and his fief was taken away from him and he was imprisoned.
The witnesses were also punished. When the other Amirs saw these
high-handed proceedings of the Sultan, they became deaf and dumb,
and although they were aware of Khusru Khan’s deceit and
treachery, they shut their eyes, and never breathed a word; but
on the other hand, owing to their utter helplessness, they threw
themselves under his protection.

Couplets.

When Fate all power to the wicked and sinful gave,
It ruined alas! the treasures of the earth ;

The thrones of the mighty to the base did yield,
Behold alas! what fruit at last it bore.

When Khusru Khan saw his enemies beaten and crushed, and
knew that none of them would dare to speak ill of him to the
Sultan, he girded up his loins, even more strongly than before, to
proceed in the path of deceit and treachery; and determined to
make an effort for the crown. One day he spoke thus in private to
the Sultan, ‘“ When your majesty, owing to your great kindness to
me, sends me at the head of your armies to distant provinces, to
conquer them, the Amirs who are sent with me have larger follow-
ings of their own tribe and clan with them (than I have), I am
therefore compelled to submit to them. There are many Bar@os of
my clan and tribe in Gujrat. If your majesty permits it, I can
also collect them, and can thus become a person of position.’’
The Sultdn acceded to his request, and granted him permission to
send for the men of his own tribe. Khusru Khan, then, in a very
short time, collected a large body of Bardaos; and his power and
grandeur were increased ; and he became even more diligent than

I According to Zia Barni, the fief of Chanderi was not conferred on Malik
Tamar’s son, but on the Parwari boy, i.e. apparently on Khusru Khan himself.
Malik Talbaghah Yaghdah was, according to the same authority, deprived of
sight, as well beaten on the mouth, etc. (see Elliot iii, 220).
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before in his efforts for accomplishing his designs. He made Baha-
uddin,' the secretary of the Sultan, whom the latter had dismissed
and driven out, a friend and confederate ; and associated with him
other turbulent men, like the son of Kurah-i-Kimar and Yusuf Sufi,
and other similar men; and waited for an opportunity. At this
time, the Sultin went on a hunting expedition in the direction of
Sarsgwah. Kbhusru Khan and the Bardos wanted to assassinate the
Sultan there. The son of Kurah-i-Kimar and Yusuf Sifi forbade
this, and said, ‘* Let us suppose that we succeed in killing the
Sultdn while he is out hunting; it is quite likely that the troops
with him would attack and slay us. It is best that, when the
Sultan will be on the terrace of the Hazar-satiin, where it is always
possible to find him alone, we will come upon him suddenly, and
slay him; and summoning the Amirs from their houses, keep them
as hostages. If they submit to us so much the better, otherwise we
can slay them also.”’

When the Sultin returned from the hunting expedition, he
again occupied himself, according to his usual custom, with drink
and dissipation.

Cougplets.

With joyful heart he thence returned ;
From hill and wood to the feast returned,
Oblivious of malicious fate,

And what it had in store for him.

Khusru Khan having become more eager for the attainment of his
object, said to the Sultdn one night when they were alone together :
“T am always in attendance op your majesty, and I pass many
nights in the Tiskhanah. Some of my relations have come from
Gujrat in hopes of a share of your majesty’s kindness. They come
to see me; but the palace gate-keepers refuse to admit them. If
your majesty so order, they may be permitted to come into the
palace.”” Then the Sultdn ordered that the keys of the palace gates
should be made over to Khusru Khan. The king said to him : ** Who
is there whom I trust more than I trust you and your brothers ? In

1 Aceordiné to the Té&rikh-i-Firoz Sh&hi, the Sultin had quarrelled with
this man about a woman,
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reality the superintendence of the entire palace is in your hands.”’
Khusru Khén took the delivery of the keys to him, as an auspicious
omen, and a8 the happiest thing that could have happened ; and saw
all his plans crowned with success.

Couplets.

When Firoz saw this state of things,

That omen as proof of victory took ;

His heart, in that auspicious sign,
Although so strong, new strength did find.

In short, when the gate and indeed the whole palace came under
the charge of the Bardos, that reckless and blood-thirsty body came,
in large numbers with arms and weapons, and congregated day
and night in the lower apartments occupied by Khusru Khan, and
waited for the most suitable moment. Gradually Khusru Khan’s
designs became patent to all; but every one knew also, that he was
completely the master of the situation; while they were totally
helpless. No one dared to utter a word. One day Kazi Zainuddin,
who bore the title of Kazi Khan, and was a man of much erudition,
as well as of action, and who had been the Sultdn’s tutor in pen-
manship, made up his mind, if necessary, to sacrifice his own life ;
and preferring the welfare of the country and of the people, to his
own good, thus addressed the Sultan :—

Couplets.

*“Oh mighty king! may wisdom eve. guide thy path,
May victory be thy friend ; and thy foes be worsted all !
May the Lord of the earth, the asylum of created things,
Protect and save thee! oh conqueror of the world.

We who have been brought up under your majesty and your
majesty’s father, and sec the safety of the people in your majesty’s
well-being, if we should omit or neglect to tell you the truth, we
should wrong ourselves, and God’s creatures, as well as your majesty.’’
Then he described the preposterous ambition, and the nefarious
design of Khusru Khan, the multitude of the Bardos and their
meeting every night in Khusru Khén’s apartments, and said, ¢ It
behoves your majesty to enquire into this matter; for if it is true,
26
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then it is your majesty’s duty to protect yourself ; while if it is
false, you can repose still greater confidence in Khusru Khan and
his brothers.”’ Although the Kazi spoke such words, it was of no
avail, and produced no good On the other hand, the Sultdn gave
a harsh reply, and spoke hard words to him. And in the end, he
saw what he saw.
Couplets.

The counsel of the wise should none neglect,

Such counsel one in leaves should not fold up,’

For, when time brings all things to its own test,

Then will that counsel to your mind come back

After a time when Khusru Khi#in returned, to attend on the Sultén,
the latter repeated to him all that he had heard from the Kazi.
That arch-hypocrite at once made a great show of shedding tears;
and said : ‘‘Since your majesty shows me much favour and kind-
ness, the high officers of the court are all consumed with jealousy,
and are trying to destroy me. They will presently trump up a
gerious accusation against me, will prove it to your majesty’s
satisfaction, and will have me dope to death.’”” After this he wept
piteously, and exclaimed :  Alas! I already see myself among the
slain!?’ The tears of that dissembler affected the heart of the
Sultan; he was unable to control himself; took him in his arms;
wept in sympathy with him ; gave him a few kisses on his lips and
cheeks; and said: ‘‘If the whole world should unite and speak ill of
thee, I will not lend my ears to what they will eay ; for love for
thee has made me independent of the world ; and without thee, the
world is as nothing in my eyes.”’

Cougplet.

““ My love for thee will never leave this head, oh friend !
This head may go, but thy love will never leave this head ! >’

When a part of the night had passed, and the Amirs, who were not
required to be on duty, had left the palace; and Kazi Zainuddin,
whose duty it was always to guard it, had come down from the
terrace of the Hazar Satun, and was engaged in examining the

! The meaning of this line, in the original, is obsoure.
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different gates, and the sentries ; and no one was left in attendance
on the Sultdn cxcept Khusru Khin, a number of Bardos entered the
palace with daggers concealed under their arms. Randbol the uncle
of Kbusru Khan went up to Kazi Zainuddin, engaged him in con-
versation, and gave him a birah of betel-leaf. The hand of death
made the Kazl careless, when, a Baraos of the name of Jaharia, who
was determined to assassinate him, came to his side and wounded
him with his dagger. The Kazi called out and could only utter
these words, ‘¢ Their treachery has been discovered.”” The people
made an outcry. When the Sultdn heard the noise, he said to
Khusru Khan, ¢ What noise is this? >’ Khusru Khan went out;
and returning said, ‘“ The horses in the stables have got loose, and
are fighting among themselves.” At this time Jaharia, who was the
uncle of Khusru Khan, came to the palace (apparently the apart-
ments occupied by the Sultan) of the Hazar Satun, after slaying
Ibrahim and Is-hak who were specially entrusted with the duty of
guarding it. The Sultan became cognizant of the state of things at
last, jumped up and ran towards the haram. XKhusru Khan ran after
him and caught him by the hair, and the two struggled with each
other, and the Sultdn threw him down, and sat on his chest. At
this time Jaharia came up : inflicted a wound on the Sultan’s side
with his blood-thirsty dagger; threw him down on the ground;
cut off the poor man’s head ; and flung it down from the terrace.

Couplets.
That traitorous alligator, like a raging beast
Attacked that hero of a stature high,
It gave him such a wound upon his side
That the earth incarnadined was, like a tulip bed.!

1 The following passage occurs here, in MS. A, but not in M8S. B and C;
or in the lithographed edition: ‘¢ It is mentioned in the Tarikh-i-Alfi that when
Sult@n Kutbuddin became aware of the deceit and treachery of Khusru Khén,
of which he had not been aware till now, he hastened at once towards his
haram sardi, and the perfidious Khusru Khén ran up to him and caught him
by the hair of his head, and the Sult@n turning round, threw him down under
himself, asusual. At this time Jaharia came up, and Khusru Khan called out,
Come and help me, and Jahari struck the Sultdn on the sido with his sword,
and having killed him flung down his head.”’
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When the people saw the Sultan’s head every one went to a corner
(i.e. kept aloof) and the noise ceased. A large number of men who
were present in the palace were massacred that night. When the
Bardos had finished with the Sultdn, Randhol and Jaharia with a
few others went into the haram, and brutally dragged away Princes
Farid Khin and Mangu Khan, who were sons of Sultén ‘Alauddin,
from their mothers, and slew them There was great tumult in the
haram, and the Baiaos stretched out their arms for plunder and
seized whatever they could lay hands upon.

Couplet.

Thus passed away that imnperial throne. and that great power !
Time did it all destroy, and raze it to the ground !

After a time, when they had finished the massacre of the princes,
they kept Malik ¢ Ain-ul Mulk Multani, Malik Wahiduddin Kuraishi,
Malik Fakhruddin Jina, who afterwards became known as Sultan
Muhammad Tughlak Shah, and the sons of Kiran Beg, and other
great Amirs, whom they had summoned that night, under a guard,
on the terrace of the Hazar Satun, and by the morning a large
number of Bardos and other associates of Khusru Khan collected
round them. When the morning dawned, [Khusru Khian] sent for
the great officers and the learned men of the city, and had the
Khutbah read in his own name. He ascended the throne and
assumed the title of Sultin Nasiruddin. He then, by means of
various tricks and subterfuges, got into his power some of the
celebrated Amirs, of whose hostility he was afraid, and ordered them
to be put to death. He made over the family, and property, of the
murdered Kazi Ziauddin to Randhol, but the wife of the Kazi
gaved herself by flight. He conferred the title of Khan-i-Khanan on
his own brother Hisamuddin, that of Ray-i-Rayan on Randhol, and
that of ‘Azam-ul-Mulk on the son of Kurah-i-Kimar.! Amoung the
Amirs of Sultan Kutbuddin, he conferred the title of ‘Alam Khan

! His name according to the Tarikh-i-Firozshahi was Bahauddin, and he
seems therefore to be identical with the dismissed dabir or secretary of Sultd@n
Kutbuddin. According to the same authority ‘Ain-ul-Mulk Mult&ni on whom
the title of ‘Alam Khan was conferred, had no connection with the usurper.
The title was given to him to keep up a delusive show (see Elliot iii, 224).
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or ‘Ain-ul-Mulk Multani, and having entrusted the office of Vazir to
Malik Tajul-Mulk Wahlduddin Kuraishi, he confirmed his sons in
their high offices. He had Jaharia the murderer of Sultan Kutbuddin
dressed in pearls and gems and raised him in rank by granting him
various favours. He distributed the wives of Sultan Kutbuddin
among the Baraos ; and himself took his [principal] wife.!

Couplets.

Oh earth ! if blessings thou dost want, bear not ;
If they go wrong, what good for thee to bear.
Whose secret power is strongest, I know it now.
And on thy open deed I must ever weep.?

As most of the Baraos were Hindus, the Musalman religion was
overthrown, and the manners and customs of the Hindus acquired
currency and renown. Idolatry and the destruction of mosques
became common. Khusru Khan squandered much money in order
to gain the hearts of the people, and spent the money in most of the
treasuries in gifts and presents. As (hazi Malik was one of the
grandees of Sultdn ‘Aliuddin, and had hosts of retainers, and was
the chieftain of a tribe, and held the fief of Dibalpur; and Malik
Fakhruddin J@na, his son, was adorned with bravery, liberality, and
generosity and was one of the ‘Alai Amirs, Khusru Khan considered
it his most important duty to bring these over to his side; and was
always thinking what he could do to bring this about. He accord-
ingly conferred the post of master of the horse on Malik Fakhruddin
Jand and endeavoured in every way to please him ; and he also
asked Ghazi Malik to come to Delhi. The latter, brave and God-
fearing man of worth as he was, was fired with hatred ; and girded
himself with the girdle of energy, to avenge the blood of the sons of
his patron; and sent letters and messages to the Amirs of the
neighbouring districts, and exerted himself to destroy the ungrateful

1 The two words which have been translated wives and [principal] wife
are > and ). The former may mean the ladies of the royal family gene-
rally. The principal wife appears to have been Deval Debi, the Hindu
princess, who had successively been the wife of Khizir Khan and Sultan
Kutbuddin,

2 The meaning of these lines is not at all clear,
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wretch. At this time Malik Fakbruddin Jina escaped one night
from Delhi, and, by rapid marches, took the way to Dibalpur.
Khusru Khan woke up from his sleep of careleseness ; and grieved
at this sign of the approach of the downfall of his greatness. He
despatched the son of Kurah-i-Kimar, who was the muster-master of
the kingdom, with other noted Amirs in pursuit of Malik Fakhruddin
Jina. They pursued him as far as the town of Sarsuti and then
returned. Ghazi Malik had a few days before this left two hundred
horsemen in the fortress of Sarsuti, and had repaired and strength-
ened it, in anticipation of such a day. Malik Fakhruddin Jina
took some of the horsemen with him, and arrived in Dibalpur. His
father was delighted at his coming and ordered the drum of joy to
be beaten; and having girded up his loins more strongly, to avenge
[the wrongs of his patron’s family] busied himself with equipping
his army ; and determined entirely to root out the Baraos.

Khusru Khan sent his brother whom he had named the Khan-i-
Khanan, and on whom he now conferred a canopy and a Durbash,
and Yusuf Sufi to whom he granted the title of Sufi Khan, with
other men whom he trusted. and who were devoted to him, against
Ghazi Malik. At this juncture Malik Bahram Abih, who was the
governor of Uchch and Multan, entered the service of Ghazi Malik
with a well-appointed army with the object of punishing the ungrate-
ful wretches. When Khusru £han’s army came near, Ghazi Malik
also advanced to meet that despicable band, and after a conflict
and battle, was crowned with success and victory. Khusru Khan’s
brother and Yusuf Khan barely escaped with their lives, by flight ;
and returned to Delhi; and the whole of the army and the para-
phernalia of state fell into Ghazi Malik’s hands., The latter became
emboldened, and filled with néw hope, by this victory; and
equipped his army (anew) for the destruction of that God-forsaken
wretch ; and advanced to Delbi. The ingrate Khusru Khan having
done his utmost in collecting men by squandering money, came out
of the city, and assembled his army in the plain near the ‘Alai
reservoir ; and made an advance of two years’ and a half’s pay to
his men. At this time, ‘Ain-ul-Mulk Multani who was one of his
great nobles fled towards Ujain and Dhar. This increased Khusru
Khan’s mortification, and added to his confusion. Then in the
neighbourhood of Indarpath the bands of the righteous and of the
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iniquitous met. Right prevailed over wrong, and Khusru Khin
was defeated. Malik Talbagha Nagori and the son of Kurah-i-Kimar,
who had received the title of Shaista Khan, and who were the main-
stays of the power of the wretched Khusru Khan, were killed, and
Khusru Khan, having with great bravery and courage ' fought to the
end of the day, fled to Tilpat His canopy, standard, and army fell
into Ghazi Malik’s hands. Khusru Khan turned back from Tilpat
in utter panic, perplexity and loneliness ; and entering a garden of
Malik Shadi, who had been his first patron, concealed himself there.
The next day he was brought before Ghazi Malik, and was executed.

Couplets.

The tree that thou hadst reared, hath borne its fruit,
That fruit thou now dost see thy eyes before.

If it is but a thorn, thou tkat didst plant !

If softest silk, it is that thou didst grow!

The high and low of the city hastened to welcome Ghazi Malik and
congratulated him; and offered him felicitations on his vietorv.
The next day he rode from I[nderpath to the Kiosk of Siri, and sat
with the grandees and the high officers of state in the Hazar Satun,
and performed rites of mourning for Sultdin Kutbuddin, and his
sons, and wept, and made lamentations. After that he raised his
voice and said, ‘‘ I have been brought up under the beneficence of
Sultan ‘Alauddin, and Sultan Kutbuddin; and in gratitude for
their benefactions, and not on account of any greed for rank or
wealth, have I drawn my sword against their enemies, and have
avenged their wrongs. Now you who are present in this assembly
do you know of any offspring of theirs that may be still in existence.
If so bring him forward, so that we may place him on the throne
and we will all stand, with girded loins, before him, and render him
gervice. If there is no descendant of theirs left, (select) any one
whom you may deem to be fit to sit on the throne, and to rule the
kingdom ; and I am ready to serve him.”” The great men who

1 The Tarikh-i-Firoz Sh&hi gives a very different account of Khusru
Khan’s behaviour. It says, ‘¢ The effiminate wretch could not bear the attack
of men. He fled, and, leaving his army, he took the road to Tilpat.”’ Elliot
iii, 127-8. That Nizam-ud-din Ahmed could give his just due to a man like
Khusru Khén shows what a judicial temper he had.
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were in the assembly all said, ‘‘ No sons of either of the two kings
are now alive. Thou hast withstood the attacks of the Mughals
since a long time, and hast made thyself the shield of all the people
of Hindustan and hast established a great claim on them. Now
that thou hast again done this great deed, and hast avenged thy
benefactors on their enemies, this is a farther claim that thou
hast on the gratitude of the nobles, and commons of the land.
There is no one fitter than thee for sovereignty and for supreme
command.”” They said this, and taking Ghazi Malik by the hand
placed him on the throne, and gave him the title of Sultan Ghia-
suddin Tughlak Shah; and nobles and commons offered homage
to him.
Couplets.

Th’ auspicious king, th’ destroyer of his foes,

That under omens good the throne did ascend ;

With victory and with success adorned,

A joyance new did he in the world produce.

SuLTaN GHIASUDDIN TUGHLAK SHAH.

Sultan Ghiasuddin ascended the throne in the Green Kiosk in
the year A.H. 720, and made proclamations of justice and beneficence.
Disturbances which had been awakened fell asleep again ; and a new
glory appeared in the government of the land. In a week, he so
arranged all affairs of state, as would not have been possible for
others in the course of years.

May that auspicious tree bear richest fruit,
Under whose shade may one in comfort live ;
Now with its fruit, it Goth the table deck ;
Now with its shade, it soothes the tired limbs.

Wherever he found any of the remaining members of the family
and descendants of Sultan ‘Alauddin and Sultin Kutbuddin, he
gladdened their hearts with stipends and pensions. He punished
those who had taken any part in bringing sbout the marriage of
the widow of Sultin Kutbuddin with Khusru Khén. He granted
favours to the Amirs and Maliks of Sultdn Kutbuddin,and increased
their salaries; and confirmed their fiefs ; and distributed the high
offices of the empire among them. He treated Khwajah Khatir, and
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Malik Anwar Juneidi, and Khwajah Muhazzab Buzurg, who had
always possessed the confidence of former Badshahs, with great
consideration ; and granted them permission to sit in his assemblies,
and consulted them about the laws and rules which previous Sultans
had framed for securing the stability of their empires, and for
regulating the affairs of the people ; and he acted in accordance with
such laws and rules. He abstained from all acts which might cause
injury and trouble to the people. He promoted to high rank any
one in whom he found any trace of loyalty and devotion, and very
soon distinguished with his royal favours any one who performed
any worthy service. In matters of government he acted with
moderation, and refrained from all kinds of excesses.

He granted to Sultdn Muohammad, whose countenance was
marked with the signs of greatness, the title of Ulugh Khan, con-
ferred a canopy on him, and declared him to be the heir to the throne.
Among the other princes he conferred the title of Bahram Khan on
one, of Zafar Khan on the second, of Mahmiad Khan on the third,
and of Nasrat Khan on the fourth. He granted the title of Kashlu
Khan on Bahram Abih whom he called his brother, and entrusted
him with the fief of Multan and the whole country of Sind. He
made his nephew (brother’s son) Malik Asaduddin, the Barbak, and
Bahauddin, the son of his sister, the Ariz-i-Mumalik, and confirmed
the fief of Saméanah on him. He entrusted the direction of the office
of the Vazarat on Malik Shadi, who was his brother and son-in-law.
He granted the title of Tatar Khan, and the fief of Zafaribad, to one
whom he had called his son. The office of the Vazir of Deogir he
conferred on Malik Burhanuddin the father of Kutlugh Khan, and
that of chief judge on Kazi Sadruddin. The office of the Kazi of
Delhi was entrusted to Kazi Samauddin. The deputy muster
mastership of Gujrat was granted to Malik Tajuddin Ja‘far. The
other appointments were also distributed according to the qualifica~
tions of the various claimants. No office was conferred on any one,
until the Sultan had first ascertained his qualifications forit. He did
not leave able men without employment.

In fixing the revenue of the various territories, he acted with
moderation ; and did not listen to the words of those who made high
offers. If any one forcibly realized from his Jagir more than was
fixed, the Sultan objected to, and cancelled, the transaction. If

21
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any one deducted any amount from the revenue payable by him,
on account of payments to his retainers, and the amount did not
reach the latter, he was punished, and the amount was recovered
from him. The Sultan resumed the sums which Khusru Khan had
b2stowed on various persons, in his time of distress and perplexity, and
caused it to be paid into the Treasury. Any one who delayed in
the payment of these amounts suffered from his anger and severity.
On many occasions, he sent for the notables and common people and
conferred rewards on every one of them, according to their posi-
tions and their just claims. Whenever a letter announcing a
victory came from any part of his dominions or the nuptials of any
of the princes took place, or a child was born in his family, he geve
rewards to all the Judges, and the high officers, and the learned
men, and Shaikhs, and nobles, according to their circumstances.
He kept himself acquainted with the conditions of those who lived
in retirement, and showed kindness to them; and whenever he heard
that any one in the kingdom was in poverty and distress, he busied
himself in removing it.

Couplets.

When fortune with that king was joined,

She laughed and blossomed like the rose.

He opened the door of his treasury ;

His soldiers were with gold and gems enriched.

He sent once every month for his children, and dependants,
and officers, and ministers, and enquired about them, and if he
found that any of them was in distress or want, he remedied it.
He adopted the methods introduced by Sultan ‘Alauddin, in res-
pect of the descriptive rolls of the troopers, and the branding of
horses; and the prices and examination of the latter and of
the maintenance of retainers. Out of the amount which the
soldiers had received from Khusru Khan, he granted a year’s pay
to them, and the balance was entered in the register of advances
against their names, and orders were passed that this sum was to be
gradually recovered from their salaries “for future years. He
resumed the stipends, allowances and endowments which Sultan
Kutbuddin had improperly granted through his carelessness and
nfatuation; and granted them to really deserving persons. The
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equity and justice of Sultin Tughlak Shah produced an equality
among the people, and even the names of turbulance and disaffec-
tion disappeared. He shut the doors against the incursions of the
Mughals in such a way that during the whole of his reign they never
felt any hankering for the invasion of Hindustan. He had a great
desire for the erection of splendid buildings. He ordered the founda-
tion of the fort of Tughlakiabiad and of other edifices. He was a
virtuous man and possessed charming attributes, and he strictly
complied with all the directions and prohibitions of religion; and
spent much of his time in devotion. He kept up at nights, and
persevered in supererogatory devotion. He had no hankering for
intoxicants, and was emphatic in prohibiting the use of wine.
His behaviour towards his domestics, slaves, old servants, and
dependants was in no way different, during the period of his
sovereignty, from what it had been at the time when he was a
simple Malik.

In the year 721 a.H., he sent Sultin Muhammad, who had the
title of Ulugh Khan, with some of his own old officers, and all the
renowned nobles, to Arangal. The latter depart:d in that direction
with a vast army, and with great pomp and grandeur. When he
reached Deogi~, he took the nobles who were there with him, and
marched rapidly till he arrived in the country of Tilang and ravaged
and plundered it. Rai Rudar Deo and the other Rays of the
neighbourhood shut themselves up in the fort of Arangal. Ulugh
Khan began to erect battering-rams, and to run mines, round it.
Every day many people were killed in both sides. At last when the
army of Ulugh Khan made a determined attack and the fall of the
citadel became imminent, Rai Rudar Deo sent ambassadors to
Sultan Muhammad (i.e. Ulugh Khén) ; and offered him riches, and
elephants and precious gems; and also promised that he would
gsend the same tribute, in future years, that he used to send to
Sultdn ‘Alauddin. Ulugh Khéan did not accept these terms, and
made such vigorous exertions for the capture of the citadel, that it
was on the point of being taken [when the following events
happened]. It had been arranged that messengers should come
from Dehli, twice a week, by dak chowk:, and should bring intelli-
gence of everything being safe. It happened however that for a
whole month no intelligence came. Owing to the roads being unsafe,
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the dak chowki had become disorganized. ‘Ubaid the poet and the
Shaikh-Zada-i-Damshki who were the source of all mischief and
trouble, but who had gained access to Ulugh Khan, spread a false
report of the death of Sultdan Ghiasuddin Tughlak Shah, in Dehli;
and of an usurper having seized the thrones. Owing to this rumour
great confusion found its way among the soldiers. ‘Ubaid the poet
and the Shaikh-Zada-i-Damasghki held a secret meeting with Malik
Tamar, Malik Tigin, Malik Mal Afghan, and Malik Kafur, the
keeper of the seal, and told them that as Ulugh Khan considered
them to be among the great Maliks of Sultan ‘Alauddin, and as such
a8 entitled to a share of the empire, he had determined that he
would have them all seized and executed. They were alarmed on
hearing this ; and a great panic fell on the soldiers. Each one did
what came into his head and fled. Ulugh Khan started in great
perplexity for Deogir, with some of his special retainers. The men
in the citadel came out, plundered the rear of the army, and slew a
large number of the soldiers.

In the meantime, the dak chowki, which in the language of
the people was called alagh, was reorganized, and messengers came
from Dehli with the intelligence that Sultan (hidsuddin Tughlak
Shah was seated on the throne of Dehli, in health and safety.
Ulugh Khén, on reaching Deogir, reassembled his dispersed forces.
The four nobles who had deserted together from the army, separated
from one another, and their retinues and servants were slain; and
their arms and accoutrements fell into the hands of the zamindars.
Malik Tamar with a few men went among the zamindars, and there
perished. The Hindus slew Malik Tigin, the Governor of Audh,
and sent his skin to Ulugh Khan. They also seized Malik Mal
Afghan, 'Ubaid the poet, and the other man who had created the
disturbance, and sent them to Ulugh Khan in Deogir; and the
latter sent them to his father in Dehli. The members of their
families and their dependants had already been seized in Dehli.
Sultdn Ghiasuddin sat in state, in public, in the plain of Siri;
and ordered that ’Ubaid the poet, and the other turbulent men,
should be impaled alive, and that the *members of their fami-
lies and their dependants should be thrown under the feet of
elephants. Ulugh Khéan. #Frivéd in Pehli after this; and was
made happy by his father conferring many favours on him.
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"After four months, Sultan Ghidsuddin again sent Ulugh Khan
to Arangal with a grand retinue and an immense army. This time
Ulugh Khan advanced into the Tilang country and seized the fort
of Bidar, as well as the commandant of the garrison. He then
advanced to Arangal, besieged it, and in a short time captured the
outer as well as the inner fort. He seized the Rays of the country
with their families and retainers, and obtained possession of their
elephants, goods, and treasures. He sent a letter announcing the
victory, and that letter was read from the pulpits in Dehli, Siri
and Tughlakidbad. The people erected domes and made rejoicings.
Rai Rudar Deo was sent to Dehli with his elephants and treasures
under the escort of Malik Bidar who had the title of Kadr Khan
and Khwajah Haji, the Deputy Muster-master of the Empire. The
name of Arangal was changed to Sultanpur: and the whole country
of Tilang was brought under control, and governors and other
officers were appointed. Ulugh Khan then realized a year’s tribute;
and went to the country of Jajnagar. He captured forty elephants
there, and sent them for the service of the Sultan.

After Arangal and the country round it had been subjugated,
and Sultan Ghidsuddin had become successful in all directions,
some of his well-wishers! made representations to him of the
tyranny, and oppression, and misbehavior of the rulers of Bangalah ;
and incited and induced the Sultan to invade Lakhnauti. The Sultan
having resolved upon theinvasion sent for Ulugh Khan from Arangal,
and leaving him as Regent, at Dehli, marched with an immense
army, and great pomp and eclat, toward Lakhnauti. As the fame
of Sultan Tughlak Shah’s courage and bravery had spread all over
the country, as soon as his great shadow was cast on the country of
Tirhut, Sultdn Nasiruddin, the ruler of Lakhnauti, and other Rays
and Zamindars, who ruled in that country, came forward to meet
him, and offered him homage. The Sultdn sent Tatir Khan, whom
he had honoured with the name of son, and who had been entrusted
with the government of Zafarabad, with a large army, in advance.
The latter brought the whole of the country under subjection. He
brought Sultan Bahadur Shah, the ruler of Sunargim, who had

1 According to the TArikh-i-Feroz Sh&hi these men were certain noblemen
wha came from Lakhnauti itself (see Elliot iii, p. 234).
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offered some resistance, with a chain round his neck; and he sent
all the elephants which had been taken in the course of the expedi-
tion into the Sultan’'s e'ephant stables. An immense quantity of
other booty was acquired. The Sultan conferred a canopy and a
durbash on Sultan Nasiruddin, the ruler of Lakhnauti, who had
sworn allegiance to him, and sent him again to Lakhnauti. Sunar-
gim was absorbed into the empire. The letter announcing the con-
quest of Lakhnauti was read in Dehli, and domes were erected and
rejoicings made. The Sultdn, crowned with victory and renown,
returned towards Dehli, and leaving the army behind marched
rapidly, converting two stages into one.

When Ulugh Khan heard that his father was coming back by
rapid marches he ordered that a pavilion should be erected near
Afghanpur, which is three karohs from Tughlakabad, in the course of
three days. So that when the Sultan arrived there, he might halt
and pass the night in it, and the citizens might come there to wel-
come him, and render him service. Then when the morning would
break, he waild start for the capital, at an auspicious moment, with
imperial pomp and grandeur. When the Sultan arrived in the
pavilion, there were rejoicings in Tughlakabad, and triumphal domes
were erected. Ulugh Khan accompanied by the Maliks and Amirs
and the great men of the city went out to meet him; and were
honoured with the permission to do him homage. The Sultan
entered the pavilion, with the people who had come out to meet
him . and a table was spread. When the food had been taken away
and the men thought that the Sultin would mount at once, they
came out without washing their hands. The Sultan remained there,
to wash his hands At this mqment the roof of the pavilion fell in,
and the Sultan fell under it, and was united with the Divine mercy.
His reign extended to a period of four years and a few months.

It has been stated in some histories, that as the pavilion had
been newly erected, and had not set properly, and the elephants
which Sultdn Tughlak Shah had brought with him, from Bangalah,
were driven round it, the ground subsided «and the roof fell in. It
cannot however remain hidden from the minds of the intelligent,
that the erection of the pavilion, for which there was no necessity
whatever, creates a suspicion that Ulugh Khan encompassed his
father’s death. It is evident that the author of the * Tarikb-i-Firoz
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Shahi,’’ which was written in the reign of Sultdan Firoz, who had great
regard for Sultan Muhammad, was reticent about the matter, out of
regard for the reigning monarch. The humble writer has heard this
repeatedly from trustworthy persons, and it is well known, that as
Sultan Tughlak was displeased with his reverence Shaikh Nizam-
uddin Aulia, he sent a message to the latter, telling him to leave
Dehli, by the time he would himself arrive there; and the Shaikh
said, ‘“Dehli is far off yet.”’ These words have become proverbial
among the people of Hindustan. It is also well known. that Sultdn
Muhammad had great faith in, and unbounded respect for, the
Shaikh. But knowledge is in God! The same year Shaikh Nizam-
uddin—may his grave be holy!—and Amir Khusru departed from
this troublous bodily existence to the world of spirits.

SuLTiN MunaMmaDp TuGnLARK SHAH.

He was the son and heir of Sultan Ghiasuddin 'Tughlak. After
his father’s death, he ascended the throne at Tughlakabad. He
remained at that place for a period of forty days, to arrange all
matters connected with the government of the empire ; and for the
selection of an auspicious moment. After that he sat on the throne
of the ancient kings in the old palace, according to the usual
custom ; and assumed the title of Muhammad Shah. They sounded
the drum of joy in the city, and erected domes; and adorned the
markets, and the lanes. At the time when he entered the capital,
such large quantities of gold and silver tangihs were scattered over
his canopy, as had never been done in any other age. Sultan
Muhammad was one of the wonders of the creation; an embodiment
of contradictory qualities. At one time he wanted to conquer the
seven climes like Alexander; at another he exerted his energy to
bring jins as well as men within the circle of his rule ; and again he
felt a longing to combine earthly with spiritual rule; so that he
might in his own person pass both temporal and spiritual decrees.
He was very striot in the observance of fasts and prayers; and in
the performance of acts of supererogatory devotion, and of piety ;
and in giving stipends and alms. He completely refrained from all
prohibited things, and intoxicants; and from everything else to
which the name of sin might be applied. (On the other hand) he was
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so severe in his punishments, and in unjustly shedding blood, and in
troubling and tormenting the creatures of God, that he appeared to
be bent upon emptying the world of all human beings. At the same
time, he had so much ingrained liberality that at the time when he
bestowed alms, and gave away lavishly to the poor, he emptied
treasuries in the twinkling of an eye. The rich and the poor, the
friend and the stranger, appeared to be the same before the eye of
his generosity. When he sent back Sultin Bahadur of Sunargam,
after restoring his kingdom to him, he gave him at onco as a reward
all that he had in his treasury. He gave, every year, a hundred
lakhs of tangahs to Malik Ghaznin, and he also gave so much to the
Kazi of Ghaznin, as would not enter any one’s conception. He
gave to Malik Sanjar Badakhshani eighty lakhs tangahs, to Malik
‘Imaduddin seventy lakhs, to Sayyad Azad forty lakhe, and in the
same ways his gifts were never less than so many lakhs. It should
be noted that the tangdhs here referred to are tangahs of silver,
with a little alloy of copper, and were each of them equal to eight
black tangdhs Whenever any man of learning, or of skill, came to
his court, he conferred many favours and various rewards on him.
Whoever came to his court, as a suppliant, from Khurasan,or ‘Irak,
or Mawar-un-Nahr, or other parts of the world, received such large
rewards, and so many favours, that he was always, from that time
forward, safe from penury and want. He had no equal in preserib-
ing rules of government, and in the greatness of his wisdom. He
had such correct discernment and such sharp penetration, that he
could, merely by a glance, discover the virtues and the vices of
any man. He could discover what was in the mind of any one,
even before the latter began to gpeak. His name became proverbial
for eloquence of speech, and beauty of diction, for a fine literary
style, and for ingenious treatment of subjects. He wrote elegant
prose and verse. He excelled in knowledge of history; and had
great skill in metaphysics, and logic. S-ad the astronomer, ‘Ubaid
the poet, and Moulana ‘Ilmuddin, who were learned in philosophy,
but had no concern with the law of the prophet, were always in
attendance on him; and from their companionship, and from con-
stant exercise in ratiocinative learning, he had acquired an impres-
sion that truth was confined only in the latter. As regards tradi-
tional learning, he accepted only what conformed with ratiocinative
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learning. He refused to accept anything which was based on
tradition alone. Yet he had so much faith in, and such subservi-
ence for, the Abbasi Caliph, that he considered it absolutely unlawful
to begin any work of government without obtaining his permission.
He showed the very greatest deference and respect to his ambassa-
dors, and used to go out on foot to meet the latter.

He exerted himself so much in the conquest of new provinces,
and in the administration of his dominions, that Gujrat and
Malwah, and Deogir and Tilang, and Kampila and Dhor Samund,
and M¢‘abar and Tirhut, and Lakhnauti and Satgim, and Sonargim
were completely subjugabe}l within a short period; and the revenue,
and the abstracts of the receipts, and the disbursements of all these
provinces arrived in Dehli, just like those of the towns in the Doab;
and the authority of the governors and other officers was so firmly
and completely established, that not one of the headmen, or other
turbulent persons, in those places, could either by way of conceal-
ment or by way of obduracy keep back a diram out of the imperial
revenues. All the Rays and the Zamindars of the empire always
stood at his door, with girded loins, to do his behests. So much
riches came from all parts of the empire, that in spite of the Sultan’s
excessive lavishness and his large gifts, there was never any deficiency
in the treasury.

Couplets.

The ruler of the world, out of these gems and gold,
Lavished much riches, and much gems to one and all ;
To those who stood to worship at his door, he gave ;
To those of highest rank, also to those in need.

No one could gain a path into that treasure-house.
He from his generosity his guerdon got.

As he had the faculty of invention highly developed, he wanted
to inaugurate new rules made by himself, and to abrogate rules
established by former kings with much wise thought. Every day he
passed a fresh order and introduced a new rule, and issued decrees
addressed to the governors and officers in the various portions of
his dominions with injunctions to carry them into effect. As his
orders were contrary to the directions of the ancient Sultans, and also
to the dictates of wisdom, they excited universal hatred ; and the
28
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officers were unable to enforce them. For if taking heed of the
hatred of the people, they made any delay, or showed any hesitation
in carrying them out, they made themselves liable to various pains
and penalties ; and on the other hand, if they enforced them, the
common people were destroyed; and the greatest dangers found
their way into the empire. In a word, he prescribed certain rules,
which will be mentioned in detail later on, which ruined his subjects.
Those who were poor were utterly ruined and decimated, and those
who had some strength became refractory and rebellious. As Sultan
Muhammad had an evil disposition, and was stern and severe, and
the slaying of human beings had become a part of his nature, he did
not hesitate or delay to punish and to kill. As his orders were not
carried into effect, he put whole populations to the sword, and
denuded extensive tracts of God’s creatures. Things soon came to
such a pass, that many of the provinces, which had been in his
possession, passed out of it; and in fact even in Dehli, which was
his capital, insurrection and rebellion made their appearance. The
inflow of revenue from the various districts was cut off and the
treasuries became empty. Zainuddin, the Mukhlis-ul-Mulk, Usuf
Bughra, Abu Raja and the son of the Kazi of Gujrat were the
Sultan’s confederates in these proceedings. They exerted them-
selves in the seizure and destruction of God’s creatures.

Among his absurd projects and ill-advised proceedings was this,
that he determined to increase the rents of all the land in the Doab
by ten per cent; and for this purpose created some abwabs (cesses ).
This became the cause of the destruction of many people, and
produced contumacy in some of the rayyats, and cultivation was
suspended. A drought also took place at this time, and there was
severe famine in Dehli ; so that many houses became depopulated
and whole sections of the people were ruined. There was conse-
quently great confusion in the affairs of the empire. Another of his
projects was this, that he intended to make Deogir, which he con-
sidered to be in the centre of his dominions, and which he had
named Doulatabad, his capital. Owing to this he depopulated
Dehli which had become the object of the envy of Baghdad and
‘Damascus; and directed the inhabitants, who were accustomed to
its climate, to ttansport themselves with their families and children
to Deogir. He gave ‘to each person the expenses of the journey,
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and the price of his house, from the treasury. Vast sums were spent
in this way. Most of the people who started, could not at all reach
Deoglr, and those who did so, would not remain there. The changes
and vicissitudes, which found their way into the conditions of men,
became the cause of great confusion in the affairs of the kingdom.
Another of his projects was this, that he should bring the whole of
that quarter of the globe which was inhabited, under his sway. As
the number of his troops and his revenue were not sufficient for this,
. he designed to issue a copper coin, in order to accomplish his object ;
and ordered that copper should be coined in the mint like gold and
silver. Small copper coins were accordingly passed into the currency
like tangahs of gold and silver, and were used in buying and selling.
The Hindus brought large quantities of copper to the mints. had
them coined, and in this way they got together lakhs and karors,
with which they bought goods and weapons. These they sent to
distant places, and sold there for gold and silver tangahs. Every
goldsmith began to coin money in his house, and bringing them to
the markets, sold them there. After some time, this order fell into
desuetude in distant places; and in these places people obtained
the copper tangahs in exchange for uncoined copper, and took them
to places, where the order was still in force, and exchanged them for
tangahs of gold and silver. Gradually the copper tangahs became
so numerous that they necessarily lost all value; and became
worthlegs like pebbles and potsherds, and the gold and silver
tangahs became dearer than before. Great confusion then crept
into all transactions of buying and selling.

Couplet.

When gold as base as copper doth become,
They bring it from all sides at copper’s price.

When Sultin Muhammad saw that his order had become a dead
letter, and he could not go on punishing the people for disregarding
it, he ordered that any one who had any copper tangahs might
bring them into the treasury ; and get in exchange for them, the
current coin of the value, i.e. tangahs of gold and silver. He did
80, in the hope that perhaps in this way the copper tangahs would
rise in public estimation, and would become current in all transac-
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tions of buying and selling. The copper tangahs, which had accumu-
lated in people’s houses and had remained unused, were all brought
into the treasury, and were exchanged for tangahs of gold and silver.
The copper remained uncurrent as before, and all the treasuries were
depleted. In this way, there was very great trouble in the govern-
ment of the empire.

Another of his insane projects was this, that he should conquer
Khurasan and ‘Irdk; and on this account, he made valuable gifts
to people from those countries, who came to him, hoping in this
way to gain their hearts. He also collected an immense army, and
he disbursed the pay of three lakhs and seventy thousand mounted
troops from the treasury. The troops received their pay for the
first year ; but in the second year the Sultin had no leisure to utilise
them, and to conquer new territories ; and consequently he did not
get any money for the support of the troops, nor did any booty fall
into their hands to console them. The treasuries had become com-
pletely empty in the first year. The troops then dispersed and the
strength of the army was reduced. This was another cause of
confusion which found its way into his treasury and empire. The
last of his absurd projects was this, that he wanted to conquer the
HimaAchal! mountains, which stand between. the countries of Hindu-
stin and Chin. For this purpose he appointed renowned Amirs, and
tried commanders ; and sent them with a numerous army, so that
they might enter the mountains, and exert themselves to conquer
themn. When, however, the whole army entered the mountains, the
Hindus inhabiting them fortified the narrow passes; and stopped
the paths, by which they would have returned ; and slew most of
them, and the few who returned alive, were ordered by Sultan
Muhammad to be executed.

As Sultan Muhammad, day after day, passed impracticable
orders ; and caused unparalleled hardships; and the people found it
impossible to bear them; the government of the country became
completely disarranged and fell into the greatest confusion. Rebel.

1 Elliot (iii, p. 241) calls the mountain Kurajal, and it is stated in a
note that the printed text has Fardjal and this is favoured to some extent by
one MS8., but the other is consistent in reading Kar@jal. The Tabakat-i-
Akbari (both M8S. and the lithographed text) had Himajal which should be
changed to Him&chal.
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lions cropped up everywhere. The first of these was that of Bahram
Abth, in Multdn. When Sultan Muhammad heard of this revolt in
Deogir, he came to Dehli with the pgreatest speed, and having
equipped his army there, started for Multin. Bahrim came and
opposed him ; but in the battle which ensued, he lost his life.

Couplet.

If with thy benefactor, thou wilt fight ;
If high’s the sky thou art, thou’lt headlong fall.

They brought his head to Sultdn Muhammad ; and the revolt sub-
sided. The Sultan wanted to punish the people of Multin for
having sided with Bahram Abih. The Shaikh-ul-Islam, Shaikh
Ruknuddin-al-‘Aziz, may his tomb be holy ! interceded for the for-
giveness of their offence ; and the Sultin having accepted the inter-
cession, returned triumphant and victorious to Dehli.

As the men from various places, who had been living under
great difficulties in Deogir, dispersed ; and Deogir remained ruined
and desolate, the Sultin remained at Dehli, and did not go to
Deogir. At this time the whole of the Doab was desolated owing to
exorbitant exactions, and the high demand on account of revenue;
80 that many of the rayyats burnt down their granaries, and taking
away their cattle, wandered away. The Sultan ordered, that such
of them as might be caught, should be slain; and the country
plundered. The governors and other officers in the country put the
people to death, and pillaged the country. Those who escaped with
their lives, went into the jungles and concealed themselves there.

Couplet.

In town and country, they one and all
Were helpless through his tyranny.

At this time the Sultdn went to Baran to hunt, and he ordered the
whole of that district to be pillaged and the inhabitants to be put to
the sword. The heads of the slain were ordered to be suspended
from the battlements of the citadel of Baran.

Another revolt was this. Fakhra, who was called Malik Fakhr-
uddin, rebelled in Bangalah after the death of Bahram Khan and
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killed Kadr Khéin ; and having looted the treasury at Lakhnauti,
took possession of Lakhnauti, Sundrgam and Satgam. At this time
the Sultdn was engaged in plundering the country round Kanonj.
He ravaged the whole country from Kanonj to Mauhamah ! and he
put immense numbers to the sword. He had not yet withheld his
hand from pillage and slaughter, when news arrived that Hasan, the
the father of Ibrahim, the Kharitahdir (bag or purse bearer) had
raised a revolt in Ma‘bar, and having killed the nobles there, had
taken possession of the country. The Sultdn came to the capital,
and seizing Ibrahim Kharitahdar and the other relations of Sayyad
Hasan put them in prison, and having equipped an army started in
the direction of Ma‘bar. When he arrived in Deogir he made such
exorbitant demands on the officers, nobles and peoples of the
country, that most of them lost their lives on account of the
difficulty of meeting them. He also made heavy assessments on the
Marhatta country, and appointed strict and severe collectors. After
that he sent Ahmed Ayaz to Dehli, and himself started towards
Tilang. When he reached Arangal therewas plague?® raging there.
Most people were suffering from it, and some of the renowned
grandees died of it. Sultan Muhammad was also attacked. He left
Malik Kabiil, the Naib Vazir, in charge of the country, and returned
towards Deogir. When he arrived at the latter place, he placed
himself under treatment for a few days. He conferred the title of
Nasrat Khan on Shihab-i-Sultani, placed him in charge of Bidar and
made over the fiefs in that territory, which were assessed at a
hundred lakhs of tangdhs, to him. He made Kutlagh Khan the
governor of Deogir and the Marhatta country. He then returned
towards Dehli, although he was still ill.

He had already passed an order, that such of the people of
Dehli as were now resident in Deogir, might return to Dehli, if they
wished to do so; but if they preferred Deogir, they might continue
to reside there. Most of the people camz to Dehli with the Sultéin,
but some preferred to remain in the Marhat country. The Sultan
continued at Deogir for a few days longer, and then commenced his

1 The name of the place is so given in the MSS, In the lith.ed., it is
Hamuhamah. In Elliot (iii, 243) it is called Dalamu.
2 Waba in the original. It is translated cholera in Elliot iii, p. 243.
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progress. He found the whole of the country of Malwah and the
towns along the route to Dehli ruined and desolated by the famine.
The paiks who had been stationed on the dakchowki route were all
dispersed, and all signs of cultivation had disappeared. When the
Sultan reached Dehli, he found it ruined also. The famine was so
severe that a seer of grain could not be bought for seventeen dirams.
Many people perished and cattle were also dying for want of
fodder. .
Verse.

So dread a famine did in Damascus rage,

That lovers great their dalliance sweet forgot.
The skies to the earth so niggardly became,
That fields and orchard could not wet their lips.

The Sultdn, on seeing the ruin and desolation, turned his attention
to the prosperity of the country ; and the increase of the cultivation.
He made gifts to the people from the imperial treasury, and kept
them occupied with the work of cultivation. But as they were in
great distress, they spent a part of what they received as advances
in buying food : and the remainder on their cultivation ; but owing
to the scarcity of rain, which happened at that time, they derived
no benefit; and most of the people were punished with death,
(apparently owing to their not being able to repay their advances).
At this time Shahu Afghan raised the standard of hostility, and
slew Behzad, the Naib of Multan. Malik Bhura fled from Multan,
and came to Dehli. Sultin Muhammad then started on an expedi-
tion to Multan with a large following. He had proceeded only one
stage, when his mother, Malkah-i-Jahan, on whom depended the
maintenance and arrangement of the entire household of Sultan
Tughlak Shah, was united to the Divine mercy. The Sultan was over-
come with grief and sorrow, and ordered that food and alms should
be distributed in the city for the benefit of her soul; but he hastened
towards Multdn. When he arrived in the vicinity of that city,
Shahu sent him a petition,and expressed his shame and repentance ;
and leaving Multan went to Afghanistan. The Sultdn returned from
the way to Dehli. There the famine was raging with such ferocity,
that man was devouring man. The Sultdn again made great
exertions to extend the cultivation, and granted money from the
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treasury. He ordered that cultivators should dig wells, and should
devote themselves to the cultivation of their fields; but owing to
their distress, and want of preparation, and also on account of the
scarcity of rain, they were accused of neglect and default and were
punished. At this time bands of Mundahirs, and Chauhdns and
Bahtians and Minahs, who lived in the territories of Sunam and
Sam&na, began to act turbulently, and building houses for them-
selves in the vast jungles, collected water and grain. there, and
deeming these to be strongholds for themselves, assembled there;
and acting in a violent and refractory manner, withheld payment
of revenue, and began to commit highway robberies. The Sultan
marched troops to destroy them, and having demolished their forti-
fications. which in their language were called Mandals, dispersed
them. He brought their leaders with him, assigned them places in
the capital to live in, and included them in the ranks of the nobility.
In this way he suppressed the disturbances which they had created
in that country. :

At this time Kanya Paik, who was in the vicinity of Arangal,
rose in rebellion, in concert with the Zamindars of that country, and
Malik Makbul the naib fled and came to Dehli. Arangal came into
the possession of the Hindus, and ceased to be included in the
imperial dominions. At the same time, a relation of the Rajah of
Kampilah, whom Sultdn Muhammad had sent to that place, aposta-
tized from Islam, and revolted ; and Kampilah also passed out of
the Sultan’s dominions. In this way, of the distant territories, no
portion, except Gujrat and Deogir, remained in the Sultan’s posses-
sion. Dangers and rebellions occurred on every side. The Sultin
became still more enraged at thls, and ordered the people to be
punished. The latter, hearing of the Sultdn’s severity, felt greater
hatred toward him and this gave rise to more disturbances and
insurrections.

The Sultdn, however, went on devoting his attention to the
extension of cultivation, and to foster the prosperity of the country ;
but owing to the scarcity of the rains, his endeavours were of little
avail. At last he found it necessary to order that the gates of the

' city should be opened and the people who had been kept there, with
force and violence, should be allowed to go where they pleased.
Many of these people migrated, with their families and dependants,
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towards Bangilah and the neighbouring country. The Sultan ulso
left the capital, and passing Patiali and Kampilah took up his
residence on the bank of the Ganges. He ordered that people should
erect huts there and live in them. The place was called Sargdwarl.
Grain was brought there from Karah and Audh and was cheaper
there than in the capital. ‘Ainul-Mulk who held the fiefs of Audh
and Zafarabad, and resided there with his brothers, regularly sent
to Sargdwari, grain and piece-goods, and everything else that was
necessary. During the time that the Sultan remained at Sargdwart,
he sent for the latter’s service eighty lakhs of tangahs worth of cash
and grain and various kinds of things. The Sultdn had great
confidence in him, and implicit trust in his capacity and good
management.

Four insurrections took place during the time that the Sultdn
was at Sargdwari, but were quickly put down. The first was the
disturbance created by Nizim Mabin in Karah. This Nizam Mabin
was a contemptible fellow, a man who talked and acted foolishly,
and was of no position and status, who revolted because he could
not fulfil the terms under which he held his fief, and who assuming
the royal canopy, took the title of Sultan ‘Ala-uddin.

Before Sultan Muhammad could undertake his destruction, ¢Ain-
ul-Mulk with his brothers attacked and seized him and after having
him flayed sent his head to the Sultin. The fiefs of the rebel were
allotted to Shaikh-Zadah Bastami, in whose house the sister of the
Sultan was, and the task of the punishment of the men who had
joined him in creating the disturbance was entrusted to the Shaikh-
zddah ; and he suppressed the insurrection. The next rebellion wasthat
of Shihab-i-Sultaniwho bore thetitle of Nasrat Khan. He had accep-
ted the fief of the entire territory of Bidar on condition of paying a
hundred lakhs of tangahs, but being unable to pay it, revolted and
betook himself to the fort of Bidar. Kutlak Khan was deputed
from Deogir against him, and other noblemen were sent from Dehli
to co-operate with him. Kutlak Khan besieged the fort of Bidar
and having compelled Shihab-i-Sultani to capitulate on certain terms,
sent him to attend on the Sultan. This rebellion was also thus put
down. A month had not however yet elapsed after this, when ‘Al
Shah, the nephew (sister’s son) of Zafar Khan, who was an Amir
Sadah and had beén sent from Deogir to Gulbargah to collect the

29
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revenue, finding that place denuded of officers treacherously slew
Baharan, the ruler of Gulbargah ; and having plundered his property,
went to Bidar, and having slain the deputy of that place also, took
possession of it. Sultdn Muhammad sent Kutluk Khéan to destroy
him ; and some of the nobles of Dehli and the troops of Dhar were
ordered to accompany him. ¢Ali Shah advanced to meet Kutluk
Khan, and giving battle was routed. He then took shelter in the
citadel of Bidar and Kutluk Khan offered him terms, and he and his
brothers baving come out of the fort were sent to the Sultdn in
Sargdwarl. The Sultan sent Ali Shah and his brothers to Ghaznin,
and when they came back from Ghaznin he had both brothers
executed.

After this, Sultin Muhammad wanted to place the affairs of
Deogir under the charge of ‘Ain-ul-Mulk, and he sent for Kutluk
Khin from that place. Before this a number of writers, who had
been accused of embezzlement in Dehli, and had been ordered to be
punished, had left Dehli under the pretext of dearness of grain
there ; and had gone to Audh, and Zafarabad; and thrown them-
selves under the protection of ‘Ain-ul-Mulk and his brothers. This
had excited the anger of the Sultan, but he had considered it inexpe-
dient to show it. ‘Ain-ul-Mulk had, however, become cognizant of
the change in the Sultan’s disposition towards him ; and had taken
alarm. At the time when the affairs of Deogir were placed under
his charge, and he was ordered to go there with his retainers and
dependants, he considered this to be the outcome of the cunning and
treachery of the Sultin; and endeavoured therefore to safeguard
his own interests. In compliance with the orders of the Sultan, he
summoned his brothers and troops from Audh and Zafarabad, and
while they were on the ma,rch,klie suddenly left Sargdwarl one night
and joined them. He then raised the standard of hostility, and his
brothers having arrived in the neighbourhood of Sargdwari, at the
head of four thousand horsemen, they drove the elephants and the
horses belonging to the Sultan which were grazing in the fields in
that vicinity before them, and took them gway to their own camp-
ing ground. The Sultdn in great perplexity summoned the armies
of Saménah and Amrohd and Baran and Kol. Ahmad Ayaz also
arrived at the head of the Dehli army. The Sultan having then
arranged all his troops advanced towards Kanouj, and encamped in
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the vicinity of that city. ‘Ain-ul-Mulk and his troops also encamped
in front of him.

Verse.

The roars of the raging elephants, so fierce,

Broke the knots in the throats of the lions bold.!
Father with son was in dreadful deadly feud ;

’Twas all mere form; all love from the earth was fled.

Then crossing the Ganges at the ferry of Bangar Mau they engaged
in battle and were defeated. ‘Ain-ul-Mulk was taken prisoner, and
his two brothers were killed. A number of his soldiers fell in the
battle, and those who escaped the sword, were drowned in the
Ganges. The few that succeeded in crossing the river, fell into
the hands of the Hindus, in the territories held by them, and were
put to death. When they brought ¢Ain-ul-Mulk to the Sultan, the
latter declared that he was not to blame in any way. It was his
men who had led him astray. He ordered ‘Ain-ul-Mulk to be brought
before him, encouraged him and honoured him with a robe of
honour. He also entrusted him with the discharge of certain high
affairs and pardoned his sons, and all his dependants and adherents.

The Sultin went from Bangar Mau to Bahraich, and made a
pilgrimage to the tomb of Sipah Salar Mas‘ud Shahid, who was a
relative of Sultan Mahmud of Ghaznin; and bestowed large sums
in alms to the attendants of the tomb of that personage, and the
Fakirs who were resident there. He sent Ahmad Ayaz to Bahraich,
that he might station himself on the road to Lakhnauti, and might
prevent the fugitives from ‘Ain-ul-Mulk’s army escaping to that
place ; and that he might also send the others who had left Dehli,
on account of the famine, or through fear of the Sultan’s vengeance,
and had settled in Audh and Zafarabad, to their native districts. He
then came from Bahraich to Dehli. Ahmad Ayaz also joined him
there, after performing the duties entrusted to him.

As an idea had taken root in the Sultan’s mind, that it was
improper to rule his empire without the sanction of the Abbasi-

1 Tt is difficult to imagine the curious phenomenon of natural history
described in the first two lines. The meaning of the last line is also obscure;
one MS. has It instead of gt which would mean perhaps that the sea was
raging tumultuously.
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Caliph, and in fact that such a thing was entirely against the law
of the prophet, he made enquiries about the existence of any Caliphs
of that line. He was, at last, informed that a Caliph of that line
was seated on the seat of the Caliph in Egypt. Acting under the
advice of Kamal-ul-Mulk, he rendered homage to that Caliph in his
absence ; and for two or three months sent messages and representa-
tions to him, and explained his feelings of reverence and homage.
He also direoted that the Friday prayers and those of the ‘Id
should be discontinued in the city; and likewise directed, that the
name of the Caliph should be impressed on the coin in place of his
own name. At last in the year 744 a.H. Hajl Sa‘ld Sarsari came
from Egypt to Dehli and brought to the Sultin a farman sanction-
ing his rule, and promising him support, and a robe of honour. The
Sultan went forward to meet and welcome him, attended by all the
nobles, and learned men, and Shaikhs. When the two parties
approached each other, the Sultan dismounted, placed the Caliph’s
farman on his head, imprinted kisses on the feet of Sa‘id Sarsari,
showed great respect for him, and accompanied the procession on
foot. He directed that domes should be erected in the city, and
heaped gold on the Caliph’s farman. He also gave orders for the
performance of Friday prayers, and those of the ‘Ids which had been
discontinued. The Khutbah was ordered to be read in the Caliph’s
name, and he ordered that the names of the kings who had had no
authority from the Abbasi Caliphs should be removed from it. He
ordered the name of the Caliph to be inserted in gold-embroidered
garments and in the architraves of edifices. After the arrival of
Haj1 Sa‘id Sarsari the Sultdn ordered that a memorial should be
written, and he sent it with Haji Rajab Bark’al with such a precious
jewel, that there was not another like it in the treasury, with other
gifts and presents, for the Caliph’s acceptance. He included in the
tribute, Malik Kabir, the chief of his guards, who was one of his
slaves, and had no equal in the beauty of his morals, the soundness
of his wisdom, as well as in piety, bravery and loyalty, and than
whom he had no more favoured servant; and made him part and
parcel of the Caliph’s property. He got a memorial executed by
Malik Kablr, containing a stipulation that he would serve the
Caliph, and sent it with Haji Rajab Bark’al to the Caliph. He also
gave him the title of Malik Kabir Khalifi. After two years Haji
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Rajab Bark’al came a second time to the Sultan accompanied by the
8haikh-ush-Shaiiikh of Egypt and bringing a farman by which the
Sultan was declared to be the deputy of the Caliph, a special robe of
honour, and the standard of the Amir-ul-Mauminin. The Sultdn
went out to welcome them, with all his nobles and great officers,
and as he got near them, he dismounted, and placing the farman on
his head walked from the gate to the inside of the Kiosk. He
directed the nobles to make obeisance to the farmar ; and always
kept the Kurén, the Hadis and this farman before him. He received
the homage of the people in the name of the Caliph, and every
order and farman which he issued, he declared to be issued on the
authority of the latter; and he said that the commander of the
faithful had ordered this or directed that. After some time he
granted permission to the Shaikh-ush-Shaiukh of Egypt to depart,
after conferring many rewards and honours on him. He also sent
much wealth and many precious gems for the acceptance of the
Caliph by the hand of the Shaikh-ush-Shaiukh, who went away by
sea. On two occasions after this, the Caliph’s farmans came to the
Sultan at Broach and Kambayat, and on both occasions he received
them with great reverence and honour, and followed the practice of
making gifts and offerings. When the Makhdim-Zadah of Bagh-
dad came to the Sultan, the latter went as far as the town of
Pilam, which is five karohs from Delhi, to meet him, and he con-
ferred on him as a mark of his favour, one lakh of tangahs, one
parganah, and the Kiosk of Sirl, and all the revenue of the land
appertaining to it, and other reservoirs and gardens. Whenever the
Mukhdim Zadah came to wait on the Sultéan, the latter came down
from the throne, and advanced a few steps to meet him, and made
him sit down on the throne, beside himself, and sat in his presence
with great respect and decorum.

After the Sultan had obtained the farman of the AbbasI Caliph,
and had thus, in bis opinion, acquired a good title to the throne,
he went on with the work of the government with great firmness
and eclat. After taking up his residence in Sargdwarl he again
devoted himself to the task of increasing the wealth of the country
and of extending the cultivation. He framed some new rules in
connection with this. Every expedient which occurred to him, in
connection with the extension of cultivation, he called an aslud
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(regulation). He established a separate department which he called
the Amir Gol department. None of the regulations was however
of any avail, or resulted in any improvements. Among other things
he ordered that the whole country should be divided into circles of
thirty karohs; and that in these circles, all the uncultivated lands
should be brought under cultivation, and where they were already
under cultivation, more valuable crops should be grown than before.
About a hundred shikdars or superintendents were appointed to see
this carried out. Many people who were hungry and in great dis-
tress, and many others who were greedy and avaricious did not
think what the ultimate effect of their acts would be, but went and
took the land and also obtained large sums in the shape of advances
and rewards. They spent these sums in supplying their immediate
needs, and then waited in expectation of the punishment which they
knew would follow. In the course of two years eighty and odd
lakhs of tangahs were disbursed from the treasury for this purpose.
If the Sultin had returned alive from the expedition to Thathah
he would not have left a single superintendent, or other officer
employed in this work, alive.

Another measure which the Sultin undertook, while he was at
Sargdwari, was the dismissal of old officers and the appointment of
new ones. As it was reported to the Sultan, that the provinces of
Marhat and Deogir had been ruined and desolated by the embezzle-
ments and the oppressions committed by the men employed by
Kutluk Khan, and their revenue had been reduced to a tenth of
what it had been hefore, the Sultan [newly] assessed the revenue of
Marhat at seven karors, and dividing it into four parts, appointed
Surur-ul-Mulk, Ma,lgblis-ul-Mulk,“Yusuf Baghra and Aziz Khamar as
the four divisional governors. He conferred the appointment of the
Vazir of Deogir on ‘Imad-ul-Mulk, Sarir Sultani; and that of the
Naib Vazir on Dharaohar,! who had been in charge of the agricul-
tural advances, and the carrying out of the agricultural regulations.
He summoned Kutluk Kban with his dependants and adherents
from Deogir. The people of the place wege, however, pained and
distressed at his departure, inasmuch as the severity of the Sultén

! This name is given as Anbachar in the lith. ed., but in the MSS. it is
written as Dhérdohar.
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had overwhelmed all the country, but the people of Deoglr had
remained safe, under the shadow of Kutluk Khan’s protection, and
were happy and contented with the kind treatment he accorded
them. Mauliand Niz&muddin, who was at Broach, was ordered to go
to Deogir, and to take charge of the administration; and the
management of affairs there, pending the arrival of some other
officers. The Sultan directed that the revenue which had been
collected by Kutluk Khian, and had been amassed there, as it could
not be brought to Dehli, on account of the insecurity of the road,
should be kept at Dharagarh, which was another name for the
citadel of Daulatabad, and was a strong fort. After Kutluk Khan
had arrived at Dehli, the Sultan sent ‘Aziz Khamar, who belonged
to the meaner classes, to govern Malwah. At the time of sending
him off, the Sultan gave certain directions tn him. Among these,
he said, ‘I hear that every disturbance, which occurs in any pro-
vince is caused by its Amir Sadahs, who support all the turbulent
people ; and in this way, become the source of all insurrections. If
you find any of them to be evil disposed, and to be inclined
to create disturbances, you should at once have them executed.’
When ‘Aziz Khamar reached the territory of Dhar, and took
up the administration of affairs there, he caused eighty and odd
of the leaders of the Amirs Sadah of the province to be seized
and beheaded, without proper enquiry and deliberation. He did
not consider that the Amirs Sadah of Gujrat, the Dakin, and other
provinces would become frightened and cause various disturbances.
At that period the Yuzbashis were called Amirs Sadah. When ‘Aziz
Khamar wrote an account of his proceedings and submitted it to the
Sultan, the latter was delighted and sent a farman expressive of his
appreciation, and a special robe of honour. He also directed the
nobles that they should write laudatory epistles to him, and send
him horses and robes of honour. The Sultan thus honoured this
‘Aziz Khamar and a few others, who belonged to the lowest classes,
and gave them rank higher than that of most of the nobles. For
instance, he entrusted the provinces of Gujrat, Multan and Badain
to 'Bahna the son of a musician. The office of Vazir was entrusted

1 The name is given in the lith. ed. as in the text. In the three MSS, it
iy written as Bakhshdi, Subhani and Eknai.
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to the son of a gardener, who was one of the lowest of men. Firoz
the barber and Makka the tobacco seller, sons of a gardener, and
Shaikh Babu, and Manik the son of a Juldha were honoured by
being allowed proximity to the Sultan’s person. He also bestowed
high appointments and large fiefs on them. He entrusted the office
of the Vazir of Gujrat to a slave of Ahmad Ayaz, named Makbil,
who both in person and in mind was the most despicable of men.
The Sultan vainly imagined that if he raised men, who were low and
wretched, they knowing that they had been raised from the dust,
and had been cherished by him, would not stray from the path of
loyalty ; but he did not consider that the base could never change
their nature, and the proper performance of the work of an empire
cannot be expected from them. He was oblivious of the truthful
saying :
Couplets.

To raise the heads of the wicked and the base,

To hope for good from such as these,

Is to lose the clue to fortune high ;

Is but to cherish a serpent in thy breast.

When the news of ‘Aziz Khamir’s abominable deed reached the
ears of the Amirs Sadah of the different provinces, they collected
their forces and waited for a fit time and opportunity.

At this time Malik Makbil the Naib of Gujrat was coming to
Dehli by way of Deoli and Baroda with the revenue which he had
collected, and the horses belonging to the royal stables and other
valuables. The Amir Sadahs of Gujrat pillaged everything, and
also the goods and merchandise of merchants who were travelling
under his escort. Malik Makbillost everything, and went alone to
Nahrwila. The Sultan was incensed on hearing this and determined
to march in person to Gujrat. Although Kutluk Khan pointed out
to him that the rebellion of the Amir Sadahs of Deoli and Baroda
was not of such magnitude as to require the presence of the Sultan
to quell it, his representation had no eﬁect.‘ Zia-i-Barni, the author
of the Tarikb-i-Firozshdahi, says, that Kutluk Khan sent the
message through him, and represented that by the grace of the
Sultan, he had so many retainers and troops, that he could under-
take the suppression of this insurrection; and that the Sultan’s
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going in person might be the cause of other disturbances and
calamities, in other parts of the country.

Couplet.

The Sultdn’s steps, if like the sun, it moves about :
Wherever it comes, it destruction brings.

The Sultan did not acquiesce in his prayer, and ordered that an
army should be equipped. He left Malik Firoz, his cousin, as the
Regent at Dehli, during his absence, in conjunction with Malik
Kabir Ahmad Ayaz. He then started from Dehli, and encamping at
Sultanpur, fifteen karos from the capital, began to collect troops. A
representation from ¢Aziz Khamar reached him there. He sub-
mitted that as the Amir Sadahs of Deoli and Baroda had created
the disturbance, and he was close to them, he had equipped the
troops at Dhar and was starting against them. The Sultdin felt
some anxiety about him, and said, ¢ ‘Aziz Khamar is ignorant of
tho methods of warfare. It is quite likely that he will lose his life.”’
Immediately after this, news came that when ‘Aziz Khamar came in
front of the insurgents, he lost all power over his limbs, and fell off
from his horse, and the rebels slew him with ignominy. The Sultdan
then started from Sultdnpur. Zia-i-Barni has narrated that at the
time of starting for Gujrat, the Sultan told him that although
people had said that insurrections had been caused by his severity,
he had determined not to change his methods for anything that
they might say, and for any frequency in insurrections. He then
said, Zia Barni proceeds, ¢ You have read history and you can tell me
under what circumstances kings should inflict severe punishment.”’
In reply I humbly submitted that it was mentioned in the Tarikh
Kibra that there were seven classes of offences which required severe
sentences, viz. (1) perversion from the true faith, (2) deliberate
murder, (3) adultery by a man whose wife was living, with a woman
whose husband was also living, (4) treason against the sovereign,
(6) heading an insurrection and attempting to cause a revolution,
(8) siding with the enemies of the sovereign and helping and aiding
them by supplying intelligence and weapons, and (7) disobeying the
orders of the sovereign and treating them with contumely. After
this the Sultdn enquired, in which of these cases is the punishment
30
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authorized by hadis (the traditionary sayings of the prophet). I
respectfully submitted that of the seven classes of offence three are
mentioned in hadis, viz. perversion from the true faith, murder of a
Musulman, and adultery ; and the other four have been included by
kings for the proper government of their realms. The Sultdn said,
““In early times men were truthful in words and deeds ; but now
owing to the corruption of morals, I find severe punishments indis-
pensable, in order to keep the people in the right path; and to
prevent their becoming turbulent and rebellious; so that I may
remain safe in their midst. Besides I have no wise minister, one
who could administer the country wisely and well ; so that there
may be no necessity for bloodshed.”’

When the Sultan reached Mount Abhu, which is on the boundary
of Gujrat, he nominated one of the Amirs to take the field against
the insurgents. The latter fought, and being defeated, fled in the
direction of Deogir. The Sultan came from Abhu to Baroch, and
sent Malik Kabul, the Naib Vazir of the empire, with the Amir
Sadahs, in pursuit of the insurgents. Malik Kabul overtook them
on the bank of the Narbada and slew most of them ; and seized their
children and dependants. Those who escaped with their lives, went
to Mandeo, ruler of Mount Salir Mulir. The latter plundered and
ravaged them, and the disturbances then completely subsided.
Malik Kabul remained under the Sultin’s orders, for a few days,
on the banks of the Narbadd and had most of the Amir Sadahs of
Baroch put to death. The few that escaped with their lives,
became wanderers on the face of the earth. The Sultan remained
for a few days at Baroch, and after much enquiry, recovered the
revenues of Baroch and Kagbaya.t and the entire province of
Gujrat which had been pillaged, and which could still be found in the
possession of the plunderers, and placed it in the treasury. He also
ordered those, who were in any way connected with the insurrection,
to be executed. He deputed Zin Bandah who bore the title of
Majduddin, and the son of Rukn Tanessari, who were two of the
most wicked men of the age, to Deoglr, so that they might seize
the insurgents of the place, and have them executed. The entire
population of the country, who had heard of the severity of the
Sultan, were panic struck, and in the greatest perplexity. The Sultan
sent other Amirs, after these, to Deogir; and sent an order to
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Mauldna Nizdm, the brother of Kutluk Khéan, that he should collect
fifteen hundred horsemen, and send these with the notable Amir
Sadahs of the country with these two Amirs to the court. Mauldna
Nizam in compliance with the order sent fifteen hundred horsemen
with the Amir Sadahs of the neighbourhood, to the Sultin. At the
first halting place, however, the Amir Sadahs and the horsemen,
owing to the fear and suspicion which they felt, combined together,
killed the two Amirs and imprisoned Maulina Nizaim and beheaded
the officers who were stationed at Deogir by order of the Sultdn.
They cut the son of Ruknuddin Tanessari to pieces ; took possession
of the treasure which was in Dharagarh, and placed Malik Makh,
brother of Malik Mal Afghan, on the throne. They divided the
treasure among the horsemen and foot soldiers, and apportioned the
country of Marhat among the insurgents. The officers and adherents
of Malik Makh Afghan and the Amir Sadahs of Deoli and Baroda
all collected together at Deogir, and the people of the country
united with them. When the Sultin heard this, he came from
Baroch to Deogir by continuous marches. The insurgents met him,
were defeated, and most of them were slain.  Makh Afghan, who was
the chief of the insurgents, fortified himself with his adherents and
officers in the citadel of Dharagarh. Hasan Kanku and the brothers
of Makh Afghan fled in the direction of Gulbargah; and the people
of Deogir, high and low, were plundered. Sultan Muhammad sent
‘Imad-ul-Mulk Sartez Sultani, with other nobles, to (Gtulbargah, so
that they might bring that province under subjection, and put any
of the fugitive insurgents, whom they might seize, to the sword.
He sent many of the residents of Deogir with Nauroz Karkun
towards Dehli. A gazette announcing the victory was sent ; and was
read from the pulpits in Dehli, where they beat the drum of joy.
The Sultin then occupicd himself with the ordering of the affairs of
Deogir and Marhat ; but he had not finished attending to them,
when news came that Taghi, who was a treacherous slave of his, but
was noted for his daring and bravery, had placed the mark of
treason on his forehead and had raised the standard of hostility ;
that he had got the Amir Sadahs and the Zamindars of Gujrat to
join him ; and, coming into Nahrwala, had put Malik Muzaffar, the
dephty of Sheikh Mdizzuddin, to death; had imprisoned Sheikh
Miizzuddin himself and other officers ; and had then marched from
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Nahrwila to Kambayat with a large force; had ravaged that city,
and had then gone to Baroch, and was at the time besieging
the fort there. When the Sultan heard this, he left Khuda-wand-
Zidah Kawam-ud-din, Malik Jowhar, Sheikh Burh&n Balarami and
Zahir-uj-jaidsh, with a large body of troops, in Deogir; and started
for Baroch with great speed. He took with him all the residents of
Deogir that were still left there; and when he reached Baroch, he
encamped on the bank of the Narbada. Taght then abandoned
Baroch and went to Kambayat. The Sultin despatched Malik
Yusuf Baghrd, with a large force, in pursuit of him. When Malik
Yusuf reached Kambayat, Taghi confronted him, and gave battle,
and Malik Yusuf Baghrd and some of the notables who were with
him were killed; and the remnant of his army fled, and came to the
Sultin at Baroch. Taghi ordered Sheikh Muizuidin and the other
officers whom he had imprisoned to be put to death. The Sultan
immediately crossed the Narbada, and started towards Kambayat.
Taght fled from Kambiyat to Asawal, and when the Sultin
approached that place, he fled to Nahrwala. The Sultdn halted for
a month at Asiwal owing to the continuous rain. At this time,
intelligence came that Taghi was marching from Nahrwala, in the
direction of Asiwal, and had halted at Gari. The Sultan started
immediately from Asiawal in the midst of the rains, and came to
Gari. When Taghi and his soldiers saw that the Sultan’s army had
arrived, they made themselves drunk, and, in the manner of men
who had determined to sell their lives dear, attacked the centre of
the Sultan’s army. Their progress was however barred by the
elephants, and they could not do anything, and were forced to turn
back and to take refuge among some trees which grew in the neigh.-
bourhood in large numbers ; and from there they fled to Nahrwala,
Five hundred of the insurgents, who were at the rear of Taghi’s
army, were captured alive and were put to the sword.

Sultan Muhammad then sent the son of Malik Yusuf Baghra
Khan, in the direction of Nahrwala, in pursuit of Taghl. When
night came on, the son of Malik Yusuf halted on the way. Taghi
brought his family and dependants, and those of the other rebels,
from Nahrwala, and crossing the Rann, went to Kant in Kach ; and
after halting there for some days fled to Thatha. The Sultdn
arrived at Nahrwala three days later, and halted on the bank of the
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reservoir of Sabhalsang, and occupied himself with the affairs of the
province of Gujrat. The headmen and Rays of the province came
to him from all sides, brought him tribute and were rewarded with
robes of honour and other favours. The disorder and disturbances
which had distracted the province were all removed by the Sultan’s
care and exertions. Some of the notables of Taghi’s army had
separated from him, and had taken refuge with Rana Mandal Siri.
The latter had them executed and sent their heads to the Sultan.

The Sultdn was still engaged with the management of the
affairs of Gujrat, when intelligence came that Hasan Kanku and
other insurgents. who had before this been defeated at Deogir and
had dispersed, had again collected together, and had killed Imad-
ul-Mulk Sartez Sultdni, and had routed and dispersed the army
under his command; and that Khudawand-Zadah Kawamuddin,
Malik Jauhar and Zahir-uj-jaiiish had gone away from Deogir in the
direction of Dharagarh; and Hasan Kanku had come to Deogir,
had assumed the royal canopy, and had taken the title of Sultan
‘Alauddin. The troops that were entrusted with the defence of the
fort of Dharagarh, had also joined him, and thus a great rebellion
was afoot. When the Sultan heard this, he was bewildered, and
overwhelmed with sorrow. After much consideration, he came to
the conclusion that all these disturbances were due to the severity
and the frequency of the punishments inflicted by him, and during
the few days he remained at Nahrwila, he, in a manner, withheld
his hand from further punishments.

Verse.

If thou art weak, thy foes grow bold,

If too severe, they turn to bay ;

Be like a surgeon, soft and hard by turns ;
He cuts, and with an unguent soothes.

At this time the Sultan summoned Malik Firoz, Ahmad Ayﬁ,z, Malik
Ghaznin, Amir Katléa, and Sadr Jahan from Dehli, with their
troops, that he might send them against Hasan Kanku, and they
arrived with a large body of troops; but as intelligence came in
rapid succession, that an immense host had collected round Hasan
Kanku, the Sultdin delayed sending them ; and resolved, that after
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freeing his mind from all anxiety, by settling the affairs of Gujrat,
and the capture of Karnal, which is commonly known as Junagarh,
he would himself proceed to crush Hasan Kanku. For this reason,
he remained two years in Gujrat. In the first year, he directed his
attention to the affairs of the province, and to the equipment of
his army. During the second year, he occupied himself with the
capture of the fort of Junagarh. After he had taken possession of
the citadel of Karnal, with its dependencies, the headmen and Rays
of the neighbourhood all submitted to him and rendered him
homage. Kankair, the ruler of the territory of Kach, also came and
tendered his submission.

Zia-i-Barni says, that at this time the Sultin told him, < My
dominions have fallen a prey to various diseases. If I attend to
one of these, another makes head. As thou hast read and studied
historical works does any remedy suggest itself to your mind for
this state of things ?’’ He submitted humbly, *‘ It has come to my
notice that when the people of a country felt a hatred for their
ruler ; and many disturbances occurred in consequence, such a ruler
abdicated in favour of a son or a brother, who was fitted to rule the
country, and himself retired into obscurity. Others have considered
the removal of the officers who were the cause of the unpopularity
the proper remedy for such a disease.”” The Sultan said, in reply,
‘I have no son or other heir who can take my place; and I am
determined not to relax the severity of my punishments. Let what-
ever is to happen, happen.”’

At Gondal, which is fifteen karohs from Karnal, the Sultan fell
ill. Before his arrival there he had, owing to the death of Malik
Kabir at Dehli, sent Ahmad Axaz and Malik Kabul, the deputy
Vazir of the empire, to the capital and had summoned the Khuda-
wand-Zadah and the Makhdum-Zadah and other notables from
Delhi to Gondal. When the Sultin reached Gondal, all these
persons arrived there, with the ladies of the haram, and a large
retinue. An immense host was thus assembled round the Sultan.
The army had in the meantime been well equipped, and the Sultan
had recovered from his illness. After this, he sent for boats from
Dipilpiir, Multan, Uchch and Sewistan and directed that they should
be all collected at Thatha, and started from Gondal; and arriving on
the bank of the river, crossed it with his army and elephants and
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encamped on the bank. At this time, Altin Bahadur, who had come
with five thousand Mughals from Amir Kazghan, joined the Sultan.
The latter showed great favour and kindness to him and his soldiers.
He then started towards Thatha in order to destroy the tribe known
as the Somra, and the wretch Taghi who had taken shelter with
them. When he arrived at a distance of thirty karohs from Thatha,
it was the tenth day of the Muharram. He fasted and at the
time of breaking it ate some fish. There was a relapse of the fever,
from which he had been suffering. In spite of this, he embarked
in a boat and proceeded to a place fourteen karohs from Thatha ;
but owing to the severity of the illness he found it necessary to stop
there. Day after day, the disease increased till the 21st Muharram
752 a.H., when he died. He had reigned fora period of twenty eight
years. Zia-i-Barni wrote the following elegy on him, in his history :—

Verse.

With poison is the draught of the world embittered !
All fruit is poison to Adam’s children, here !

Oh friend of nothingness ! do thou desist ;

Talk less of this wretched and worthless world ;

The dawn of judgment grows ! and we asleep !
Wake up the slumberers of the earth !

What beautiful carpet, the morning breeze did spread !
Alas ! roll that bed of joyance away !

The day of destruction’s come! arise and break
The arch, and cleave the palace roof asunder !

Shah Muhammad in the dust of death doth sleep ;
Encase thyself in the azure robe of grief !

The cry of grief sounds loud in all the world,

Tear, tear, this bright and shining garment, tear !

SurtaN Firoz SHAH.

He was the nephew (brother’s son) of Sultan Ghidsuddin Tughlak
Shah. When the iliness of Sultan Muhammad Tughlak Shah was
prolonged, in the camp at Siwistan, and the time of his death drew
near, Malik Firoz, the Naib or deputy, who was the son of his uncle,
and in respect of whose right to succeed him the Sultan felt a
righteous solicitude, fulfilled the requirements of gratitude and love



240 SULTAN FIROZ SHAH.

4

in the matter of the latter’s medical treatment. Under these circum-
stances the Sultan’s favour and kindness towards him was increased
a thousand fold. When the Sultin saw that his end was near, he
directed that Malik Firoz should succeed him. He said :

Couplet.

Oh flourish thou, and prosper in thy rule !
For ah ! my head vacates the cushion now !

When the Sultan died, in the neighbourhood of Thatha, indescrib-
able confusion overtook the army. Malik Firoz Barbak considered
it advisable that he should, by any pretext which he could think of,
separate the three (five ?) thousand Mughal horsemen, whom Amir
Kazghan had sent to assist Sultan Muhammad, from the main army,
so that it might be saved from their depredations. He therefore
conferred rewards and robes and garments on the chiefs of that
body as well as on the other horsemen, and gave them permission
to return to their own country; and also directed that they should
at once separate themselves from the rest of the army and encamp
at a distance from it. In these circumstances, two days after
Sultan Muhammad’s death, when the army was in great confusion
and distress from the fear :of the ravages and the attacks of the
Mughals, Nauroz Gurgin, the son-in-law of Barmah Shirin, who had
been brought up by Sultin Muhammad, ungratefully joined the
Mughals ; and incited the latter to stretch their hands to ravage.
and to begin to seize and plunder the troops, just at the time when
they would begin their march; and when there would be great
disorder and confusion in the camp. Much property was plundered
and many of the women and ehildren were seized that day by the
Mughals and the scum of the people of Thatha. The soldiers spent
that day in unspeakable anxiety and fear. The next day the troops
were arranged with great care, and began their march. This day
also, the Mughals and the marauders of Thatha went on ravaging
and plundering. At last the army reached the bank of the river,
and encamped there. They were like sheep without a shepherd and
were being slaughtered and destroyed. Then, Makhdum.Zadah
Abbasi, and Shaikh Nasiruddin Muhammad Audhi, who was cele-
brated as the Lamp of Dehli, and was the successor of Shaikh
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Nizamuddin Aulid, and the learned men, and Shaikhs, and Maliks,
and Amirs assembled together, and begged Malik Firoz Barbak that
he should ascend the throne.

Verse.

The soldiers all did kiss the ground,

Where the Sultdn set his auspicious foot ;
Where he did step, they placed their heads;
With his commands, they crowned themselves;
If he to fire and water did their place convert,
Still their hearts from him did not turn.

Malik Firoz expressed a desire for travelling in the Hejaz, and of
performing a pilgrimage to the "holy places, and begged to be
excused ; but at last at the entreaty of high and low, he ascended
the imperial throne, on the 24th Muharram, in the year 752 a.H.,
and ransomed so many thousand people who were in the clutches of
the marauders. On the third day after that, they mounted with
such discipline and in such order, that whenever the Mughals and
the marauders of Thatha attempted to attack them from any side,
they were themselves seized and became prisoners ; and in this way
the trouble which they had up to that time caused, ceased.

Verse.

When'’s royal canopy like the pheenix spread its wing !

No owl could have the hardihood to play the hawk.

So peaceful did the breath of his greatness make the world,
That e’en the things at war did hold communion sweet.

The people, both gentle and simple, received many royal benefac-
tions in the firat year after theaccession of Sultan Firoz Shah. After
a time, they arrived, by continuous marches, at Siwistin, and there
the Amirs, Maliks, Shaikhs and the commanders of the army were
rewarded with gifts of horses, robes of honour, swords, and girdles.
The people of Siwistin were also honoured' with rewards and
gratuities. From that place the army started for Hindustdn, and
in every city and village to which they came the hearts of the people
were gladdened with presents-and pensions.:
31
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Couplets.

With care, he went into the depths of things;
With gifts, he supplied the wants of all;

His treasures made all men so rich ;

His troops, with labour, bore his gems.

At this very time, news came of the hostility of Malik Ahmad Ayaz,
who bore the title of Khawajah-i-Jahan, and was one of the trusted
servants of Sultan Muhammad Shah, who had left him to act as
Regent at Dehli, during his absence. It appeared that he had
placed a boy of unknown birth on the throne, describing him as a
son of Sultan Muhammad Shah; and had given him the designation
of Sultan Ghiasuddin Muhammad Shah; and had constituted him-
self Regent with absolute power. The Sultin (Firoz Shah) attri-
buted these abominable proceedings of his to his foolishness and
stupidity ; issued a decree granting him full pardon ; and sent him
a message containing much wise advice. Malik Saifuddin, the
superintendent of the elephants, carried this message to Malik
Ahmad Ayaz; but he paid no heed to it, and sent a message through
a deputation composed of Sayyad Jalal, Malik Dhilan, Maulana
Najmuddin Razi and Daud, his own Maulana.Zadah, to the effect
that the empire was still in the possession of Sultdn Muhammad ;
that he should accept the office of deputy and devote himself with
energy to the performance of the affairs of the empire; and that
any nobles whom he might select might be joined with him as his
colleagues. On the arrival of the deputation, the Sultan convened
an assembly; and calling together Shaikh Nasiruddin Muhammad
Audhi, Maulanad Kamaluddin Aydhi, Maulina Kamaluddin Samanah,
Maulana Shamsuddin Bakharzi, and other great officers and learned
men, placed the whole matter before them ; and enquired what their
opinion in the matter was; and what, in accordance with the law of
the prophet, was his duty. Malik Kaméluddin said, whoever had
undertaken the duties of the empire should go on with them, The
Sultdin kept the emissaries sent by Ahmad Ayaz under guard,
and sent him an epistle containing good advice through Daud, his
Maulana-Zadah, who, as already mentioned, was one of the emis-
saries. When Daid arrived, Ahmad Ayaz felt that he would not be
able to accomplish his designs, as he saw that most of the nobles,
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and specially Malik Naththu the chamberlain, and Malik Hasan
Multani and others like them, who had at first made common cause
with him, and taken large sums of money, had started from Dehli
to welcome the Sultan, and to join his army.

At this time, news came that Taghi, who had revolted and had
gone away to Gujrat, bad been killed there; and on all sides signs
of the good fortune of Sultan Firoz Shah began to appear. Ahmad
Ayaz in great distress and anxiety determined to make his submis-
sion; and sent Ashraf-ul-Mulk and Malik Khaljin and Malik Kabir
and Hasan AmIr-i-Miran to intercede for him. The Sultan pardoned
him and directed him to appear before him. Ahmad Ayaz came
with his adherents, with their heads hanging down, and uncovered,
and their turbans round their necks; and made his obeisance, near
Hansi. The Sultan directed that Ahmad Ayaz should be made
over to the Kotwal of Hansi and Malik Ghiasuddin Khitab (i.e.
the boy whom Ahmad Ayaz had proclaimed as Sultain—why the
word Khitab is appended to his name is not clear) should be con-
veyed to Tabarhindah; and Shaikh-Zadah Bastami should be
banished. The tongue of time now spoke according to the purport
of the following strophe :—

Verse.

Each one of thy enemies, in a different way, hath time,

In the whirl of utter destruction immersed ; one’s dead ;
And Fate hath cut the throat of one with his poniard sharp ;
And one, with all his family in direst ruin’s engulfed !

On the 2nd Rajab, in the year 752 A.H., Sultan Firoz Shah ascended
the imperial throne at Dehli, with full power and great pomp ; and
spread the gospel of justice and generosity ; and high and low, and
in fact all mankind, had all their desires satisfied; and great joy
appeared among all the people, both great and small.

Verse.

The king of fortune high, the breaker of his foes !

Under auspicious stars, did on the throne ascend ;

His glorious greatness, with success and riumph crowned
Did all the age in newest joy and gladness steep.
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On the 5th Safar, in the year 763 a.H., the Sultan marched towards
the Sarmur mountains, for a pleasure excursion, and for hunting.
Most of the Zamindars of the country came, and did homage to him,
with the ring of bondage in their ears, and the saddle-cloth of service
on their shoulders.

Verse.

What brightness did his grandeur all the earth encase !
What shouts of joy and triumph did to the sky ascend !
Was it the dust his army raised, or a breeze from paradise,
That into men’s lives the fragrance of peace instilled !

On Monday, the 3rd Jamadi-ul-Awwal, of the year, the Prince
Muhammad Khan was born in Dehli. The Sultan gave great feasts,
and conferred rewards and favours on the people. In the following
year, 7564 a.H., he hunted in Kalanir and in the skirts of the hills in
that neighbourhood. At the time of returning to the capital, he
laid the foundations of lofty edifices on the bank of the Sarsati.
He conferred the title of Shaikh-ul-Islam on Shaikh Sadruddin, son
of Shaikh Bahauddin Zakariah. He honoured Malik Kabul, who
was the deputy Vazir of the empire, with the title of Khan-i-Jahan,
and made him the Vazir; and bestowed the title of Khuddwand
Khian on Khudawand-Zadah Kawamuddin, and made him the
Vakildar. Malik Tatar became Tatar Khan ; and Malik Sharaf, the
Naib Vakildar. Saif-ul-Mulk was made the Shikar Beg; and
Khudawand Zadah ‘Imad.ul-Mulk, the Silahdar. ‘Ain-ul-Mulk
received the post of Mustaufi and Musharraf of the Diwan and on
Malik Hasan Amir-i-Miran was conferred the position of Istifa-i-Kul.

In the month of Shawwal, in the year 754 a.u., the Sultan left
Khén-i-Jahan, with full powers, in the capital, and started with a
large army on an expedition to Lakhnauti; so that he might put an
end to the tyranny of Ilias Haji, who had given himself the title of
Sultan Shamsuddin; and having built a great city at Panduah had
extended his rule to the boundary of Benares. When he arrived in
the neighbourhood of Gorakhpur, Udaya Singh, the headman of that
place, came and did homage, and having presented suitable tribute,
including two elephants, became the recipient of imperial favour.
Ray Kapur, also, paid the tribute of several years, and both of
them joined his army. Ilids Haji left Panduah, and betook himself
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to Ekdalah, which. was the strongest fort in Bangalah. The Sultan
arrived there on the 7th Rabi‘ul-Awwal. The same day there was
a great battle; and on the 29th of that month, the Sultan’s army
left the neighbourhood of the city, and encamped on the bank of
the Ganges. On the 5th Rabi‘.ul-akbar Ilias Haji came out of the
fort, with the intontion of giving battle ; but he made a detour, and
fled, and took shelter in the fort again. Forty-four elephants, and
his canopy and standard and a quantity of war materials, and many
of his retainers, fell into the Sultan’s hands ; and a large number of
his foot soldiers were slain. On the second day after this, the Sultan
issued an order for the release of the captives, and on the 27th
Rabi‘-ul-akhar, owing to the heavy rains, he agreed to a peace; and
started on the march back to Dehli. He crossed the Ganges at the
ferry at Manikpur, and on the 12th Sha‘ban arrived at Dehli. He
then laid the foundation of the city of Firozabad, on the bank of the
Jin (Jumna).

In the year 766 a.H., he went to hunt in the direction of
Dibalpur, and excavating a canal from the river Satlad (Sutlej) took
it to Jhajhar a distance of 48 karohs. The next year he excavated a
canal from the river Jun, in the vicinity of Mandal and Sarmur;
and wuniting seven other canals with it, took it as far as Hansi.
From that place he extended it to Alisin, and there laying the
foundations of a fort, gave it the name of Hisdr Firoza. He then
had an extensive reservoir excavated in front of the fort, filled a
channel with water from it, and excavated another canal from the
Khakhar river, and conducting it past the foot of the fort of Sarsuti,
took it to the new canal of Karah. He erected a fort between these
canals, and named it Firozabad. He excavated another canal from
the river Budhi, and carried it to the reservoir already mentioned;
and further to a point beyond it.

In the month of Zihijjeh of the same year, on the day of the
‘ld-uz-Zoha, came the farman of Abul Fateh, the Caliph of Egypt,
confirming the kingdoms of Hind and Sind on the Sultan. It was
accepted by the latter, as a cause of happiness and pride and
gratulations. The same year Ilias Haji sent fitting tribute, and
became the recipient of the imperial favour. At this time the entire
country of Hindustan was in the possession of the Sultdn except
Lakhnauti and the Dakhin; since the death of Sultin Muhammad
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Tughlak Shah, Sultan Shamsuddin Ilidas Haji was in possession of
the former; and Hasan Kanka of the whole of the latter, the
Sultan having concluded a treaty with him, on his agreeing to
send tribute.

In the year 758 A.H., Zafar Khan Fazri came from Sondrgaon
with two elephants and attached himself to the court. He was
received with favour and received the office of Naib Vazir. In
Zihijjeh of the year 7569 Ao.1., the Sultdn started towards Samanah,
and while engaged in hunting there, he received intelligence of a
Mughal army, which had come to the vicinity of Lahore, and had
returned without any conflict. The Sultan then returned in the
direction to Dehli. About the end of that year, Tajuddin came with
other nobles as ambassadors, from Lakhnauti; presented valuable
and elegant articles as tribute; and was honoured with the royal
favour. The Sultin sent Malik Saifuddin, the keeper of the royal
elephants, with Arabian and Turki horses and other rich presents,
in the company of Malik Tajuddin, to Sultin Shamsuddin. In the
spring, the news came of the death of the latter, and of the succes-
sion of his son Sultan Sikandar. Malik Saifuddin sent a memorial to
the Sultan notifying these events. The Sultin ordered that the
presents which had been sent for Sultin Shamsuddin should be
brought back ; the horses should be made over to the army of Bihar
and the ambassadors should be conducted to Karah. After that, in
the year 760 a.H., the Sultin marched towards Lakhnauti, leaving
Khan-i-Jahan, in Dehli, to act as Regent during his absence. At
this time, he appointed Tatar Khan governor of the territory
extending from Ghazni to Multdn. On the way to Lakhnauti he
halted for a few days at Zafarpur on account of the heavy rains.
At this time Shaikh-Zadah Bust®mi, who had been banished [from
the kingdom], brought a robe of honour from the Caliph of Egypt,
and received the title of A‘azam-ul-Mulk. Sayyad Rasuldar was at
the same time sent, with the ambassadors who had come from
Lakhnauti, to the court of Sultin Sikandar. The latter sent five
elephants to Dehli, with Sayyad Rasuldar, with other valuable and
beautiful presents. Before the arrival of Sas'yad Rasuldar ‘Alam
Khan had come as an ambassador from Lakhnauti; and the Sultan
started towards Lakhnauti. On the way, he conferred the para-
phernalia of state, such as a canopy, a durbash, elephants, and a red
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pavilion, on Prince Fateh Khan and directed coins to be struck in
his name. and officers to be appointed under him.

When the Sultan arrived at Panduah, Sultan Sikandar took
shelter in the fort of Ekdalah. Sultan Firoz encamped in its neigh-
bourhood. and carried on the siege. After a few days, Sultin
Sikandar prayed for protection; and agreed to send a yearly tribute
of elephants and other valuables. The Sultan then started on his
return journey. on the 20th Jamadi-ul-awwal of that year. When he
arrived at Jaunpir. the rains commenced. He passed the rainy
season in that place; and in the month of Zi-hijjeh of the same
vear. he started by way of Bihar for Jajnagar which is situated on
the border of the country of Karah Katankah. When he reached
the last-named place, he left Malik Qutb-ud-din, the brother of Zafar
Khan. with the camp and the army ; and himself hastened forward,
with a small vetinue. When he arrived at Sankrah, Rai Sarbin the

¥ajah of the place fled. and his daughter fell into the Sultan’s
hands. The latter called her °daughter, and protected her.
Ahmad Khan who had fled from Lakhnauti, and had taken shelter
in the fortress of Ranthambor. came and rendered homage to him on
the way, and was dignified and honoured with great favours. When
the Sultan crossed the Mahanadi and arrived in the city of Banaras.
which was the residence and stronghold of the Ray of Jajnagar, the
latter fled and escaped into Tilang. The Sultan did not pursue
him, but commenced to hunt. In the meantime the Ray sent,
cmissavies and begged for peace. He sent thirty-three elephants,
and other valuable and elegant presents. The Sultan at this time
returned and proceeded towards Padmavati, which is a favourite
vrazing ground of elephants, to hunt for these animals. He caught
thirtyv-three of them alive, and killed two  Zia-ul-Mulk composed the
following quatrain on this subject :—

The Sualtan, who with justice, to greatness did attain,

Did like the glorious sun the entire world o’ercrown !

To Jajnagar he came, the elephants to hunt;

He captured three and thirty, and two he killed.
From that place he came to Karah by successive marches, and in
the month of Rajab in the year 772 a.H., he arrived in Dehli.

After some time he rode towards a canal which is called
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Aslimah. This comprises (is formed by the junction of) two broad
perennial streams separated by a lofty dike. The Sultan ordered
that fifty thousand beldars (spademen) should be collected, aund
directed to dig the canal. Inside the dike very large bones of
elephants and men were discovered ; for example the bones of a
man’s arm which was three yards in length. It had become petri-
fied in part, and was still bone in part. At the same time he
separated Sarhind which in reality belonged to the revenue division
of Samanakh ; and formed the country to a distance of ten karohs from
Sarhind into a separate district: and placed it in charge of Zia-ul-
Mulk Shams-ud-din Abu Raja. He erected a fort there and named it
Firozpir. From that place he marched towards Nagarkot. When
he reached the skirts of the hills, and people brought him some ice.
he said. * When Sultan Muhammad Shih, on whom be the merey of
God! who was my master, reached this place. and his attendants
brought him some iced sharbat, he did not drink any. as [ was not
present.” He then ordered that a few elephant and camel loads of
candy which they had in the camp should be used for making iced
sharbat, to be distributed among the soldiers, in memory of Sultin
Muhammad Shah. The Raja of Nagarkot, after asiege and some
fighting, hastened with his sons to do homage to the Sultan; and
placed the saddle cloth of service on their shoulders. The Sultan
treated him with kindness. He changed the name of Nagarkot, and
called it Muhammadabad after Sultan Muhammad deceased. At this
time people represented to the Sultan, that at the time when
Sikandar !Zulgarnain had reached this place, the people of the
country fashioned an image of % Nushaba and placed it in a house, and

1 Zulgarnain means bicornous or two horned. Jupiter Ammon., Alexander
the Great, and 'Ali bin Abi Talib were among others called Zulgarnain. See for
details Encyclopadia of Islam, vol. I, p. 691.

2 Nush&aba was a queen of a country called Barda’ 5‘5 52 This country was
pillaged, and she was taken away as a captive by the Russians! She
was rescued by Alexander the Great and afterwards became his mistress.
See the Sikandar namah. It is difficult to.say where Barda’ was. There
is one Barda’ which was once the largest town in the Caucasus, but is now a village
with ruins on the Terter at the confluence of that river with the Qura. Briggs
in his translation of Ferishtah calls Nushaba wife of Alexander the Great, but
Ferishtah’s text does not say so. Col. Ranking commenting on Briggs tries
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now it had become an object of worship to the people ; and there were
one thousand and three hundred books of the ancient Brahmans, in
this temple, which is known as Jalamukhi.! And the Sultan sent
for the learned men of that tribe; and ordered some of the
books to be translated. Among these, ’Tzzuddin Khalid Khani.
who was among the poets of that age, translated into verse a book
on natural philosophy and auguries and omens, and called it the
Dalael-i-Firoz Shahi. This Fagir has read it.. Tn truth it isa * book
containing various philosophical facts both of science and practice.

In short. after the conquest of Nagarkot. the Sultan marched
towards Thatha. and when he reached it, the Ja@m who was the ruler
of the place. entrenched himself and relving on the strength of the
water, waged war for a time; and the Sultan retired to Gujrat on
account of the dearness of grain, and the want of fodder. and the
great extent of water. Passing the rainy season there. he again re-
turned to Thatha.  He conferred the government of Gujrat on Zafar
Khan and dismissed® Nizam-ul-Mulk. The latter came with his de-
pendants to Dehli and became the Naib (deputy) Vazir. When the
Sultan reached Thathe. the Jam begged for safetv. and rendered ho-
mage.  The meaning. full of truth. of the couplet :

FFor protection he prayed. 1 granted it to him.
With humbleness he came. his life T gave te him;

having been accepted by his enlightened mind. the Sultan hrought
him with all the Zandadars of that country to Dehli.

In the vear 772 A.H. (1370 A.D.) Khan-i-Jahan died and ' Jun:in
Shah hir eldest son had the title conferred on him.

to identify Nushiaba with one of Alexander the Great's wives, and says that if
she was really one of them, then she must have been the same as Roxans
whose name might have been written as &ﬂ&;) which might have been per-
verted by copyists’ errors to d:l&ss, I think Nushaba is entirely mythical.

1 Col. Ranking calls it Jawallamukhi. The correct transliteration of the
Sanskrit name is Jvialdmukhi which means of the Flaming Mouth. See his
translation of the Muntakhabat-ut-tawarikh, vol. 1, p. 331.

2 Badaoni describes it as * moderately good, neither free from beauties nor
defects " ibid., p. 332,

3 Amir Husain, sou of the late Amir Miran, (Elliot 111, 326).

* The name is given variously in the MSS. as Junan Shah and Khuban Shih
He remained Vazir for twenty years, but towards the end of the reign. enmity
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In the year 773 A.H. (1371-72) A.D. Zafar Khan died in Guj-
rat and his eldest son was invested with the title of Zafar Khan and
the government of Gujrat. On the 12th of the month of Safar in the
vear 776 A.-H. Shahzadah Fateh Khan died at® Kahtur.

In the vear 776 A.H. Shams-ud-din Damghani represented to
the Sultan that he would send forty lakhs tankahs over and above
the fixed revenue of Gujrat, and four hundred elephants and two
hundred Arab horses. and four hundred slaves every vear. if he was
appointed governor of Gujriat. The Sultin ordered that if Zia-ul-
Mulk Malik Shams-ud-din Abu Raja, who was the naib of Zafar
Khin, agreed to this enhancement, Gujrat should be left in his charge,
Malik Shamns-ud-din did not agree ; and Shams Damghani had a 2 belt
of gold lace and a lance and a silver chaudol conferred on him and
sent to Gujrat in place of Zafar Khan® deceased. But as he was
unable to furnish his promised contribution, he laid the foundation of
rebellion, and uniting with some of the Mir Sadahs* of Gujrat, such
as Sheikh-Karid-ud-din and cther leaders commenced hostilities. The
Sultan sent an army and Shams-ud-din Damghani was killed and his
head was sent to the Sultan. After his being killed Gujrat was made
over to Malik Mufarrah Sultani and he received the title of Farhat-ul.
Mulk.

In the year 779 A.H. (1377-78 A.D.) the Sultan marched towards
Itawah and ®Akhal, and having treated Rai® Sipar dadharan,

broke out bhetween him and prince Muhammad Khan, afterwards Sultan
Muhammad Shah.

1 The name of the place is not given by Badaoni. The MSS. have ))l‘—‘ s
the lithographed edition )'s%S. MS. B. has el o sl i 'JLC &3 yyiS yo
Syed sl (“ wy>. Kahtur or Kghtwar was the old name for Rohilkhand.

2 These were the insignia of office. Col. Ranking calls them a yellow girdle
and a silver chandol in his translation of the Muntakhabat-ut-Tawarikh (see vol. 1,
p. 324), and in the Persian text as edited by him (vol. I, p. 251) the o JJ is des-
cribed as o)) but the J)Sﬁ is correctly spelt.

3 So it is in the MSS. and in the lith. edn. but as we have just seen his son
received the title of Zafar Khan and the government of Gujrat. The son’s
appointment however, did not apparently take gffect.

4 i.e. leaders of hundreds, somo kind of headmen.

5 Col. Ranking calls it Akchak. Ferishtah calls it Ju4S*; the lith. edn. of the
Tab-i-Akbarl and two of the MSS. write it U=S! two others J=S! whilo the
fifth omits it. [no name.

6 This name is variously given in the MSS. and the lith. edn., Bad&oni gives
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and all the Zamindars of [tawah who had once fought with the
Sultan’s army and been routed, with favour and consideration, sent
them with their wives and children to Dehli. He built forts at Akhal
and ! Batlahi; and left Malik-zadah Firoz, son of Malik Taj-ud-din
Turk, with a number of other nobles there. Firozpar Batlahi was also
made over to him and Akhal to Malik Afghan. The Sultain then
returned to Dehli. In the same year the ruler of Oudh who was ac-
companying the Sultan died, and the province was made over to
Malik 2 Saifuddin. his eldest son.

In the year 781 A.H. (1379 A.D.) he marched to * Samanah and
Malik Qabul, the governor, brought much tribute, and then passing
through Ambala and Shiahabad he came to the hills of * Santur ; and
after receiving tribute from the Ray of Sarmur and other Rays, re-
turned towards Dehli. On the way news arrived, that > Kharku the
headman of Kaithar had invited Saiyad Muhammad, the governor of
Badaun and Saiyad *Ala-ud-din his brother as guests in his own house
and had killed them both. And in the year 782 A.H. (1380 A.D.) the
Sultan marched towards Kaithar for avenging the murder of the Sai-
vads ; Kharku fled ; the country of Kaithar was devastated. Khar-
ku fled to the Kamaun hills. The Sultan having plundered that
country. made over Badaun to Malik Qabul, and leaving Malik “Khitab
Afghan at 7Sambal for punishing Kharku made that country his
hunting ground, so that it was completely destroyed and desolated.

I This is called (o4 or UAM;' in the MSS. Badiaoni calls it Batlahi:
Ferishtah calls it %i Tilar.,

2 Two of tho MSS. call him u-\)“ k-é-w;,-[.

3 Saméanah wasla revenue Division of the Punjab which originally included
Sarhind, but the latter place was separated from it and made into a separate dis-
trict by Sultan Firoz Shah, (sec ante p. 248).

1 The lith. edn. calls it ysle the MSS calls it ypUle except one which calls
it Hekile.  Badioni calls it ypkiew leb 8,5

5> The MSS. calls him Kharku, Khukhu, and Khukar. Badaoni ealls him
Ray Lakhukhar, headman of Kaithal. In his Eng. trans. Col. Ranking ecalls
him Khikhar Rai, chief of Kaithar., Kaithar (same as Kahtar) is Rohilkhand.
See Thomas Pathan Kings, p. 325, note 2.

6 He was doubtless the man in whose charge Akhal was left. Ferishtah
calls him Malik Da’ud Afghan.

7 Variously written Sambal and Sambhal in the lith. edn. and the MSS.
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In the year 787 A.H. he built a fort at ! Beuli seven karohs from
Badaun, and named it Ferozpur, and as he did not build any other
fort after this it has become known as Akhirinpur. During this
year the Sultdn was overcome by infirmity and old age?; and Khan-
i-Jahan obtained complete mastery over him. He wished to seize
Shahzadah Muhammad Khan and other noblemen such as Darya Khan
son of Zafar Khan and Malik Y’aqub Muhammad Haji and Malik
Shams-ud-din, and Malik Kamail-ud-din, who were his friends and
well-wishers, and make them completely helpless. He informed the
Sultan that the Shahzadah in conjunction with the above-named
noblemen intended to rise against the Sultan. The latter believing his
words gave orders that the noblemen should be arrested. The Shah-
zadah heard this news, and for some days did not go to sce his father ;
Khan-i-Jahan sent for ? Dariya Khan on the pretext of taking the
accounts of Mahobah, and imprisoned him in his own house. The Shah-
zAdah hearing this news became perplexed and frightened, and went
to see his father * and impressed on him that Khan-i-Jahan wanted to
attempt a rebellion, and wished to remove the great nobles, and
afterwards to seize him. The Sultan gave ordgrs for slaying Khan-i-
Jahan, and released Dariya Khan from cus.ody. The Shahzadah
directed Malik Y’aqub to keep the horses in the special ® stables
ready and also that Malik Qutb-ud-din the keeper of the elephants
should array them and begin a fight. At the end of the night the
Shahzadah attacked Khan-i-Jahan with great force. Khan-i-Jahan
came out of his house with some men and commenced fighting.

Sambal was in Rohilkhand. 23 miles S.W. of Moradabad. (Sec note 4 Col. Rank-
ing’s trans. of Badaoni, p. 364.)

! Variously called (f3# or (Js%in the MSS. and the lith. edn. Badaoni calls
it gsj;-\-‘ ; and Col. Ranking thinks that the placo was possibly so called from
the abundance of the Babul or Acacia Arabica trees therc. Ferishtah calls it
/9=, Basuli.

2 Badaoni says he was now 90 years of age.

3 This is not mentioned by Badaoni. Mahobah was a district near Karah,
it was 34 miles to the South of Hamirpiir at the jynction of the Betwa and the
Jumna.

4 Ferishtah says that he went concealed in a woman’s litter disguised as his
own wife, but this is not mentioned by the earlier historians.

3 It is not clear whether this means the Sultan’s or the Shahzadah’s stables.
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At last he was wounded and being discomfited went into the house,
and going out by another way took refuge with ! Kuka Chauhan
the zamindar of Miwat. The badshazadah destroyed his house, and
put to death 2Malik ’ITmad-ud-dowlah and Malik Shams-ud-din and
Malik Saleh who had in the fight fallen into his hands. After this
event the Sultdin made the Shahzadah * Vazir with full power; and
having made over to him all the paraphernalia of sovereignty such as
horses and troops and elephants, and conferring on him the title of
Nasir-ud-din-wad-duniya Muhammad Shah, betook himself to devo-
tion and service of God. On Fridays ¢ the Khutbah was read in the
names of the two badshahs.

Sultan Muhummad Shiah ascended the throne in the month of
Sh’aban of the vear 789 A.H. (1387 A.D.), and keeping the officers of
State in their various offices, gave them robes of honour. Malik
Y’aqub was invested with the title of Sikandar Khan and Gujrat was
made over to him. Malik Raju received the title of Mubariz Khan,
Kamal 'Umr that of Dastur Khan. and Sama-"Umr that of Mu’in-ul-
Mulk. Malik Y'aqub who had received the title of Sikandar Khan
was sent with a powerful army against Khan-i-Jahan. When the army
reached the neighbourthood of Miwat, Kukd Chauhan seized

! Badaoni calls him wlyae )'W)‘ l{)f in one place, and )'Ai-}&ll BT K)-(
wlya© in another. Chauh@n is the name of a Rajput tribe. Miwat was the
country of the Meos, a tribe of obscure origir claiming to he Rajputs, but pro-
bably of mixed origin, closely allied to the Minds. They probably became
couverts to Isl@m at the time of Mahmiid of Ghazni. Miwat lay South of Dehli,
and in Mughal times was part of the Sibah of Agra. The chief towns were
Narnoul, Alwar, Tijarah and Rewdari. It now forms part of the districts of
Mutra and Gurgaon, a considerable part of Alwar and some part. of Bharatpur,
see Hunter Tip. Gazetteer, Vol. IX, pp. 418 et seq.

2 Some words here are unintelligible; the lith. edn. has ‘_;JLS-\—’ )')ﬁ the
MSS. have il=ds , RIEN t—k—’ and (o tj’ Olyes. It iseither the name of some
person ; or means with a thousand maltreatment. Bad&oni does not give the
numes of any of Khan-i-Jahan’s partisans, but meroly says &5 s!);ol A LS‘N'?
oz Shwila Gelye,

? ulh © y7i9; some of the MSS. read ks s 9. Badaoni says he was
made uu*” QUM 139, Vazir with absolute power.

4+ One MS. reads after &&é,))ﬁ\w Je ) Mo 23, e, on Friday the
10th Rajab of the year mentioned.
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Khan-i-Jahan and sent him to Sikandar Khan. The latter having
put him to death, sent his head to Shahzadah Muhammad Shah
and went towards Gujrat. The same year Shahzadah Muhammad
Shah went towards the Sarmur hills on a hunting expedition. While
he was engaged in hunting, news came that ! Malik Mufarrah and the
leaders of the hundreds of Gujrat had combined together and put
Sikandar Khan to death, and the troops that had been with him.
had been dispersed. Some of them who were wounded came with
2 Sipah Salar to Dehli. Muhammad Shah hearing this news came to
Dehli; but without attempting to avenge the death of Sikandar
Khan became immersed in luxury and enjoyment; and owing to
his negligence, great disorders occurred in the affairs of the State.

3 Five months after these occurrences the troops of the Sultan
turned against Muhammad Shah, on account of the envy and
malice which they felt against Sama-ud-din and Kamal-ud-din. and
laid the foundation of hostility. Muhammad Shah sent Malik
Zahir-ud-din Lahori to put down the mutiny; but when he reached
the field where the troops of Firoz Shah were gathered together,
the latter stoned and wounded him, and he came in that condition .
into the presence of Shahzadah Muhammad Shdah; and the latter,
having collected forces, went and confronted the Sultan’s troops
and fighting began. Towards the end of the night the Shahzadah’s
troops fought with vigour, and overwhelmed the Sultan’s army.
The latter went and sought the protection of the Sultan The
fighting went on for two davs. On (e third day when the slaves
{ troops ) of Firoz Shah were reduced to great straits, they brought
the Sultan to the ficld of battle, and shewed him to the troops.
When Muhammad Shah’s soldiers and elephant-drivers saw ¢ the
Sultan (Firoz Shah) they gave up ﬁghtmg and® came towards

1 He had been made Governor of (.xu31at wnth the tltle of Farhat ul ‘\’[ulk
when Shams-ud-din Damghani was put to death. (See ante.)

2 1t is not clear who this man was; the word means the leader of troops. The
lith. edn. has )Ilw daw but the MSS. have ¥e &w.  Badaoni also has
Aot , .

3 The lith. edn. has o2 but all the MSS. have C—U Sama-ud-din and
Kamal-ud-din were favourites of Muhammad Shah.

4 Apparently the troops were devoted to Firoz Shah.

5 The lith. edn. and four of the MSS. have 338w!; hut one MS. has 33335 ran.
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him, and Sultan Muhammad’s army broke up and were scattered ;
and he, with the few who were left, went away towards the
Sarmur hills. The Sultan’s ( Firoz Shah’s) troops, who were about
one ldakh in number including horsemen and foot soldiers, got into
the palaces of Muhammad Shab and his friends, and begun to pillage
and destroy. The Sultan listening to the words of !malicious
persons was annoyed with Muhammad Shah. made 2Tughlaq Shah.
son of Fateh Khan, who was his grandson, his heir, and placed
him on the throne. Tughlaq Shah brought 3 Amir Hasan, the <on-in-
law of the Sultan, who was among the special friends of Muhammad
Shah, into the palace and had him beheaded.

He also seized !Ghalib Khan, the Amir of Samanah, on
account of his friendship, with Muhammad Shah, banished him and
sent him to the country of Bihar; and gave Samanah to Malik?®
Sultdn Shah.

Oun the ¢is8th of the month of Ramazin Sultan Firoz Shah ©
died. Couplets :

8 To knock down heads is the nature of the skies.

Oue should not draw aside his head from what is writ.

1 The lith. edn. and two MSS. have dwa wbyly two S8, have Uc;.c <Lyt
and one @ ;-C 9 S &_lg)‘. Badaoni had Uéj": a,—l-})'. interested persons.

2 Badaoni correctly calls him Tughlag Khan. He became Tughlag Shah
when he was placed on the throne. He became ((hi&is-ud-din Tughlaq Shah L.

3 Badaoni calls him Mir Hasan.

1 One of the MSS. call him & ‘_slﬁ "Ali Shah, but the lith. edn. and the

other MSS. and Bad#oni call him 3% ;»-‘15'. Samanah was about 25 miles S.
W. of Hansi and 100 miles E. of Dehli.

5 The lith. edn. calls him Malik Sult@n, one MS. Malik Sultén Shah but the
others call him Malik Sultan Shah. Rad@oni does not say to whom the
government ot Samanah was entrusted.

8 Tn tho Persian text of Badaoni edited by Col. Ranking the date is given as
rﬁk";:\_ﬁ, but the Eng. trans. has .16th.

7 Instead of the simple «atly wli) of our author, Badaoni has
el L3, (Jl!e 33-![-' \yxi Ogdy re) )", attained deliverence from the tortures
of existence, and hastened to the world of permanence. Badaoni also says
that he was buried on the borders of the Hauz-i-Khas, and over his tomb a
lofty dome was erected.

8 These lines with four others which precede them, but which have been
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Who knows what this stirred up dust

With what blood of hearts is mixed ¢

All paths, if the seeing eye is not blind,

Is but the skin of the elk and the wild ass’s shagreen.

He ruled the world for thirty-eight years and some months;
and ! ‘wafat-i-Firoz’ gives the date of his death. This just
badshah left among the people many regulations of justice and
generosity and many rules of safety and protection. Among all his
regulations three were excellent. The first regulation was that
he entirely gave up punishment, and never punished any Musalman or
(in fact) any man 2 ; and on account of his many gifts and gratuities,
and his comforting the hearts of the people, he had no need for
punishments.  Although punishment is a very great part of sov-
reignty, yvet his praiseworthy manners, and his excellent qualities
hecame the cause of justice and equity among his people, and the
paths of tyvranny and oppression were completely closed ; and
no created being had any power during the period of his rule of
causing pain to any one. The second regulation was this, that
he demanded revenue from the raiyats according to the produce
of their lands, and their power to pay; and remitted all enhance-
ments and cesses, and never lent his ear to the words of any person
in the matter of the raivats; and this regulation became the cause
of the extension of cultivation, and the happiness of his raivats
and subjects. The third regulation was this, that for the government
and administration of the various * divisions of his empirve, he

omitted by our author are also quoted by Badaoni. [ have attempted a more
literal translation than that of Cel Ranking. The last line means as Col.
Ranking has explained that the paths are not covered with dust, but with the
remains of living animals.

1 Badaoni gives two chronograms (I). )))-\9 wli) given by our author,
and (2) 3 | ;)*-’ &3, but says that the latter is deficient by one unit.

2 This of course is not quite correct. See ante for the way he treated
Kharku for the murder of the Saiyads. Kharku deserved punishment, but the
whole of his country was laid wuaste and many ‘innocent people must have
suffered grievously ; and see also post, for his own account of how he treated
infidels, sectaries, &e. ul-h'";ﬂ 3 orediae, lomle, Juede oy

3 The lith. edn. has <3y but most of the MSS. have more correctly whdy.
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employed 'honest and trustworthy and God-fearing officers; and
never took into his service any evil-spirited or wicked person, and
never made any such person a governor or an amir (nobleman).
And in conformity with the rule, that men are of the religion of their
rulers, all the people imitated their ruler ; and the rules of equity and
justice became customary among them, and no single person had
any power of harassment and oppression; and perfect peace and
security was produced and reigned among high and low. His
charities and benefactions and gifts and gratuities were distinguished
beyond those of any other Sultan of Hindustan

A brochure compiled by Sultan Firoz Shah, in which he
collected the events of hix veign. and which he named Fatuhat
Firozshahi, (the victories of Firoz Shah) has come under my
eyes. In accordance with the rvule, that the words of kings are
the kings of words, some of the particular matters contained in
it, have, for the sake of their auspiciousness and grace. been inserted
here ; so that the goodness of the disposition, and the amiability of
the qgualities of this badshah of the angelic nature may become
known to inquisitive and far seeing persons. Thi¢ King, the
vefuge of justice, erected a lofty dome on the ? Jama’ Masjid of
Firozabad which was octagonal. On the eight sides of this dome,
the contents of this hook which has been considered to be divided
into eight chapters have been inscribed on stone. One chapter is
about the endowment of Masjids and in it are written directions
for payment of the endowment fund by the person who is to disburse
it, and about which much stress is laid. In another chapter he
says that in, former times the blood of Musalmans was shed

U The lith. cdn. has =3bo 9 (10 U oy most of the MSS. have wode Jls
<ilels o,

2 It is said in the Fatuhat Firoz Shahi that the Sultan completely
restored and renovated the Masjid-i-Jama of old Dehli which had been erected
by Sultan Muiz-ud-din Sam and had fallen into disrepair and decay. 1suppose this
is the Jama' Masjid mentioned in the text, but nothing is said in the Fatuhit
Firoz Shéhi, or ut least in the extracts given in Elliot Vol. 1II that the contents
of that hrochure were inseribed on it. Bada@oni does not meuntion the Fatuh&at
Firoz Shahi at all. After mentioning the death of tho hadshah he gives an
account of the poets of the period. For all references to the Fatuhat Firoz
Shahi in subsequent notes see Elliot’s History, vol. II1.
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for slight offences, and many varieties of ! punishments such as the
cutting off of the hand, and the foot, and the ear, and the nose, and
the 2blinding of the eye, and the pounding of the bones of the
limbs with a 3mallet. and the burning of the bodv with
fire and driving stakes into the hands and the feet and the chest
and flaying and cutting off of the sinews and tendons, and cut-
ting the body asunder and 4 other varieties were very customary ;
and the Holy and High God gave me grace and I abolished all
such acts. And the great names of the former Sultans, by
whose exertions Hind has become the home of Islam, which had
been cast out of the Khutbah, T having revived those names, have
reintroduced them into the Khutbah, so that in this way pravers
for the pardon of their sins might alwavs be said. And also
some preposterous. and unauthorized cesses which some tyrants
had included in the lawful revenue, and were levying every vear
with severity such as those for 2®grazing, and flower-selling. and
making of indigo, and fish-selling, and cleaning of cotton. and silk-
selling, and parching of rice. and nikahi and, houses for the =ale of
liquor, and for the posts of Darogha. and of Kotwal, and the censor.
T have set every one of these aside ; for the wise have said :

1 Tho translator of the Fatuh&t has ¢torture.” The word in the text is
i,

2 oy S 355 one MS. has M5 digging out.

3 U){f\ ; that with which a stake is pushed into the pround. ie. »
mallet.

¢ The translator of the Fatuhat has in addition, pouring Molten lead into
the throat.

5 The actual words are g'-\-‘ b g"); uﬁt’“ B & SUN U"‘)jo‘l! S ‘_--)-‘*

‘_‘H}).) 5 4.5”"’))"3 s la Gl &N, JJ»JL‘ 2 Oy um)J Gle=s
ul»-us' s. For ‘5))91{ one MS. reads u»;} 1Y the selling of grass, 1 have
not been able to find out what d—lKJ is. It has been suggested that it was
some kind of tax on marriages. I suppose the last three ‘_;”)-’;5 ) g-(c))b )
ludal y were not levied on darogh@s, kotwils and censors, but on the people
generally for the subsistence of these officers. The translator of the Fatuhat
gives a different list, mandavi bark, dalalat-i-bazagha, jarari, amiri-tamb, gul-
faroshi jariba-i-tambol, changi-ghala, kittbi, bilgari mahifaroshi, satinkari,
risman faroshi, raughankari, nakhud-biryan, tahbazari, jhaba, kimarkhana,
dadbanki, kotwali, thtisabi, Karhi, charal, musadarat: hut he does not give
any translation or explanation.
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Couplet : Better than treasure are hearts of friends composed ;
Better an empty treasury, than men in pain.
And 1 have decided that no revenue should be levied which is
contrary to the law of the prophet on whom be peace! And
before this it was the custom, that out of the property taken
from the enemy a fifth part was given to the soldier (the captor), and
four shares were taken into the treasury : and I directed, in conform-
ity with the holy law, that a fifth part only would he taken
into the treasury. And further, I cast out from my kingdom
lall men of bad religion. and heretics, and promulgaters of new
tenets, and hypocrites. who had become the cause of the going
astray of the people ; and I abrogated and abolished their customs
and habits and books. Further it had become customary with the
people of the age to wear ®silken garments and to use silver and gold.
I prohibited all these and gave directions in consonance with the
law of the prophet. Further ® women both Musalman, and Kafir,

1 The words in the text are vtﬁf’)ﬂ g lediac y Jlomde Glardos,
m \_,..m'»c.)u is any man of a bad or wrong religion; a axde i g heretic, an

unbeliever, one who denies the resurrection of the dead; a gM-w is a heretic,

a founder of a new religion: a qf" 'y© is a hypocrite. In the Fatuhat, the
ity 33 people are *Shifs also called Rawafiz’ ; the bty ols=le were sects
who are. said to have met at night with their women and indulged in wine and
promiscuous and incestuous intercourse; and the uL&lfo 3 olexdas were the
followers of (1) Ahmad Sah&mi of Dehli, who called him God ; (2) Rukn-ud-din
also of Dehli, who ealled him Mahdi ; and (3) of a pupil of ‘Ain Mahru ( ))Rlﬁv-}_-f:)
who set himself up as a Sheikh in Gujrat and collected diseiples who called
him God.

2 According to the Fatuhat, the Sultan forbade the wearing of garments
made of silk and gold brocades, and only allowed garments approved by
the law of the prophet, with trimmings of gold brocade, embroidery or braiding
not exceeding 4 inches in breadth. He also forbade the use of gold and silver
vessels, at the royal table; and ornaments of gold and jewels on his own
sword-belts and quivers. He also ordered the removal of all pictures and
portraits from ornamented garments and robes of honour bestowed by him,
and also from all saddles, bridles, collars, censers, cups, goblets, flagons, ewers,
dishes, tents, curtains, and chairs.

3 The Fatih@t mentions Musalman women going in palankeens and on
horses, ete., or in large parties on foot and being followed by rakes; but make
no mention of K&fir women going to temples.
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went to the tombs of holy men and to temples, and became the
cause of a variety of disturbances. I prohibited this, and erected
masjids in place of idol-temples. Further I repaired and rebuilt
mosques, and houses dedicated to pious and charitable uses, built by
former Sultans, such as’ mosques, and houses for faqirs, and
colleges, and wells and reservoirs, and bridges and burial places which
had become dilapidated, and made endowments for their maintenance.
And I made the hearts of such of the sons and heirs of the men
whom my master, Sultan Muhammad, (on whom be the mercy
of God!), had for the sake of punishment put to death: or whose
limbs he had ordered to be cut off. by the gift of rewards and
stipends, and taking from them letters cancelling the responsibility of
the Sultan, and having affixed the seals of the great and noble men
have placed them in the Mausoleum of the Sultan. And further
whenever I heard of a recluse and a fagir, 1 considered it my
duty to go to him and to comfort his heart. Further among the
soldiers and amirs, whoever had attained to a great age [ made
them seek absolution by my counsels and precepts, and granted
stipends and gifts on them, and directed them to occupy themselves
with deeds for (their salvation in) the next world.

The following is a list of the buildings and other structures for
pious and charitable uses founded and erected by him : water courses
and canals, fifty in number; Mosques, forty in number ; Colleges. thirty
in number, houses for faqirs, twenty in number ; palaces, one hundred
in number, inns, two hundred in number ; towns, thirty in number :
reservoirs, one hundred in number; hospitals, five in number;
mausoleums, one hundred in number; public baths, ten in number :
minarets, ten in number ; wells, one hundred ‘and fifty in number ;
bridges, one hundred and fifty in number; gardens, innumerahle ;
and deeds of endowment were written for each structure and remissions
(of revenue), fixed for them; and attendants and servants were
appointed for all mosques, and colleges and Khangahs, and baths and
wells ; and stipends were fixed for them ; and the particulars of these,
are too long to note. .

Further he says that they gave him poison twice and he took it

1 The Fatihédt gives a list of these.
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Tknowingly, and he received no hurt. The other occurrences
mentioned in the brochure have already been mentioned in this
history, so no attempt has been made to repeat them here. May the
great God keep him immersed in His merey !

SuLtAN TUGHLAQ SHAH.

Sultan Tughlaq Shah, son of Fateh Khan, son of Firoz Shah.
He ascended the throne in the palace of Firozabad on the 218th
of the month of Ramazan, 790 AH. (1388 A.D.) by the help of
certain amirs, and assumed the title of Ghiasuddin Tughlaq Shah.
He appointed 3 Malik Firoz the son of Malik Taj-ud-din. to the post of
Vazir and gave him the title of Khan-i-Jahan Ghias-ud-din Tarmuzi
got the post of Silahdar (the keeper of arms); and releasing Malik
Firoz ’Ali from prison he gave him the appointment of * Jamdar, which
had been his father’s post. Malik Firoz Ali and Bahadur Nahir were
sent to attack Sultdn Muhammed Shah; and Sultan Shah the
governor of Samanah, and Ray Kamal-ud-din and some other nobles
were also named for this duty. In the month of Shawwal of that
year the army reached the Sarmur hills. Shahzada Muhammed Shah
retired from that place, and going into the hilly country took shelter
in the fort of Baknari; and as Tughlaq Shah’s army pursued him
there, he moved from that place, till he came to the fort of Nagarkot,
and the army (of Tughlaq Shah)® returned from pursuit.

As Sultan Tughlag Shah on account of ®the vigour and fresh-

1 The lith. edn. and four of the MSS. say knowingly &3l 5 only one MS.
says not knowing it, aiuitols,

2 Badaoni does not give the date.

3 Badaoni does not mention these appointments, nor does he give the
names of the amirs sent to attack Muhammad Shah. He says that lowli s')A"C
famous amirs, were sent against Muhammad Shah.

4 The lith. edn. has LS)’M[% which T have retained in the text. Three
of the MSS. have ‘_:;)'JJ‘*-;, sovereignty, and the others (g)!%ila keeping
of life; L;)'A-;L',k [;robably means protection; i.e. perhaps t};e command of
the king’; bhodyguard : & towela would also mean the same.

5 Badaéoni says the army turned back 8!y cusae y+© 31, on account of
the difficulties of the way.
8 Badaoni says nothing about thiz nor about Tughlaq Shiah’s imprisoning
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ness of his youth, drowned himself in luxury and pleasure, the
work of the government and the duties of the sovereignty were
not attended to. and errors began to occur in the administration.
Tughlag Shah on account of the deficiency of his experience and
caution imprisoned Salar Shah who was his uterine brother ; and
Abu Bakr the son of 1 Zafar Khan who was his nephew became
anxious and {rightened. and sequestered himself and made his escape.
* Malik Rukn-ud-din the deputy Vazir and other amirs joined himn
and raised a revolt and they killed *Malik Mubarak Kabir at the
door of Tughlag Shaly’s * palace in Firozabad. Tughlaq Shah know-
ing the violence and the large number of the rebels. left the palace
with 5Khan-i-Jahan by a door towards the river Jumna. Malik
Rukn-ud-din coming there, and pursuing them, seized them, and put
them to death and hung up their heads over the ® same gate. This
event occurred on the 72l1st of the month of Safar 791 A H. (1389
A.D.); and the périod of his Saltanat was five months and three
days.  And God knows the truth'!

SULTAN ABU BAKR SHAH.
After this event the foolish Amirs raised Abu Bakr. the son
of Zafar Khan. the son of Sultan Firoz on the throne and gave
him the title of Abu Bakr Shah. The post of vazarat was conferred

Salar Shah: but he mentions Abu Bakr who he says became panie-stricken,
and went to his father a8 2% lsu ) but neither the lith. edn. nor any
of the MSS. of the Tabaqgat says anything about his going to his father. They
say s ) I e ;" w)f Mjf . The word )3 may have been changed to o .

1 He was a son of Fateh Khan. .

2 Badaoni calls him Malik Ruknuddin Chanda, Vazir and not deputy Vazir.

3 Ferishtah calls him Amir-ul-umara.

4 The word both in Bad&on and in the Tabagat is sy« .  Col. Ranking
has translated it as rest house.

5 Badaoni calls him Khan-i-Jahan the Vazir.

¢ Badaoni says_ﬂ—f'» g)";)é >

7 Baddoni does not give the date and he gives 5 months and 18 days
as the period of his rule. The lith. edn. of the Tabaqat mentions 6 months
and 18 days but the MSS. give 5 months and 3 days and from the 18th
Ramazan 790 A.H. the date of his accession to the 21st Safar 791 A.H. is 5
months and 3 days.
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on Rukn-ud-din. After a time it came to the knowledge of Abu
Bakr Shah that Rukn-ud-din !Jandah combining with some of the
Firoz Shaht Amirs wauted to remove him and become Badshah him-
self. Abu Bakr Shah acting more quickly in conjunction with certain
Amirs put him to death and had him hanged ? ; and the group of men
who had combined with him also became food for the sword. Abu
Bakr Shah having now taken possession of Dehli and got the
clephants and treasures of the badshahs into his possession, acquired
great power and ascendancy.

At this time news came that the amirs of hundreds had killed
3 Sultan Shah Khushdil who was the governor of Simanah on the 24th
of the month of Safar of that year on the bank of the veservoir of
4 Sunam, having stabbed and wounded him with their daggers and
swords, and sacked his house and sent his head to Shahzadah Muham-
mad Shah at Nagarkot. Sultin Muhammad Shah marched from
Nagarkot and came to Samanah by way of Jalandhar; and in the
month of Rabi-ul-Awwal sat on the throne of empire a second time.
The Amirs of the hundreds of Simanah and the Zamindars of the
country at the foot of the hills paid fresh homage to him, and some of
the Amirs of Dehli also turning their faces from Abu Bakr Shah joined
him; and® twenty thousand horseman and innumerable foot soldiers
gathered round him. When he marched from Samanah towards
Dehli, and hy the time he reached the neighbourliood of that city,
the number of his followers amounted to fifty thousand horsemen.
On the 25th of the month of Rabi-'ul-ikhir, 791 A.H. (1389 A.D).
he alighted at the palace of Jahinnuma. Abu-Bakr Shah had left
his troops in Firozibad to fight with and oppose the troops of
Muhammad Shah. Tbese troops fought with Sultin Muhammad’s
troops in the lanes of Firozabad on the 2nd Jamadi-ul-Awwal of that

1 He is called Jandah here for the first time. Badaoni as we have seen has
been calling him Chandah from the beginning.

2 One MS. has Sy %4 Jese slyws 5! 5, and he obtained the reward
of his deeds.

3 Badaoni says he had been sent against Sultin Muhammad Shah in the
country at the foot of the hills, 352 ¥ 3300 £ p0ld 33 5Lb ez bl 1 &S,

¢ Baddoni calls it the reservoir of S&manah.

5 Badaoni gives him fifty thousand followers without specifying horsem®+
and foot soldiers.
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year. The same day ! Bahadur Nahir came into the city with a great
force, which strengthened Abu Bakr Shah greatly. On the following
day Abu Bakr Shah arranged his troops and began a fight. ' Muhammad
Shah was routed and crossing the Jumna went into the Doab. He
sent Humayiin Khan, his second son, to Simanah so that he might
collect a force there; and he sent Malik Zia-ul-Mulk Abu-Raja and
Ray Kamail-ud-din Miiin, and Ray Khaljin Bihti who were jaigirdars
of that country, and himself took up a post at 2 Jalesar on the banks
of the river Ganges.

Some of the Firoz Shahi Amirs such as Malik Sarwar3 the
Shahna or Superintendent of the city, and, the Malik-ush-Sharq
and *Nasir-ul-Mulk governor of Multan, and Khawas-ul-Mulk the
governor of Behar, and Malik Hisamuddin governor of Oudh and
Saifuddin and Malik Kabir, and the sons of Hisimuddin, and the
sons of Doulat yar, and the governor of Kanouj, and Ray Shir and
other Rays, and fifty thousand cavalry, and many infantry joined
Muhammad Shah. He conferred the title of Khwajah-i-jahan on
Malik Sarwar and made him his Vazir, made Khawas-ul-Mulk,
Khawas Khan, Saif-ud-din, Saif Khan, and Nasir-ul-mulk, Khizr
Khan, and Ray Shir, Ray-Rayan. in the month of Safar the
same year he raised his standards and marched a second time towards
Dehli. A battle took place with Abu Bakr Shah at a place called
Kundli, and as the turn of sovereignty had not yet come to Sultan
Muhammad, his army was defeated. Couplet :

As long as the time does not come for any deed,
The help of no friend does thee any good.

1 Badsoni calls him the (s 80"131': . Inhis translation Col. Ranking callx
him the Khanzada of Miwat. I suppose Khanzada means prince.

2 In Baddonli the place is named Chaptar or Chitar which may be a mistake
for Jalesar. Col. Ranking says Ferishtah calls the place Jalesar, but he does
not mention the Tabaqat-i-Akbarl.

3 One MS. calls him the )1—'5 d-*-' A=l the superintendent of the
elephants of the city.

Baddoni says that Muhammad Shah immediately on taking up his quarters
in the éslace of JahannumA conferred offices and patents of nobility and
among others he made Malik Sarwar-ul-mulk Khwajah-i-Jahan, and Malik-ush-
Sharq Nasir-ul-mulk, the governor of Multan, Khizr Khan.

* Badaoni makes the Malik-ush-Sharq Nasir-ul-Mulk the governor of Multan
one man (see the preceding note) and not two men.
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Abu Bakr Shah pursued him for three karos and then returnec
towards Dehli.

Muhammad Shah again took up his station at Jalesar. In the
month of Ramazan of that year Farmans and orders were issued
to the people of Multain and Lahore and other towns for the
! massacre of the Firoz Shaht slaves wherever they might be found
in any mahalla (quarter of a town) or lane; and in most places
where these orders were carried into execution a great slaughter
and immense pillage and destruction occurred on that day, and a
strange disturbance took place among the people ; roads were closed,
and houses were sacked and destroyed. Most of the raiyats of that
country withheld the payment of rents and taxes, and did a great
deal of disturbance.

In the month of Muharram 792 A.H. (1389-90 A.D.) Shah-
zida Humayun Khan with other noblemen such as 2 Ghalib Khan.
goverunor of Samanah, and Zia-ul-mulk, and Abu Raja and Mubarak
Khan, and ® Mullahun and Shams Khan, governor of Hisar Firoza.
collected a force, and came to Panipat and devastated the country
round Dehli. Abu Bakr Shah sent Imad-ul-mulk with four thousand
horse men, and a large number of foot-soldiers to oppose them :
and a battle occurred in the vicinity of Panipat. Shahzada
Humayiin’s army was defeated, and retired in the direction of
Saminah. As Abu Bakr Shah had the good fortune to gain repeated
victories, in the month of Jamaidi-ul-awwal, of that year, he with
a large and powerful army started towards Jalesar with the object
of destroying Muhammad Shah. He encamped at a place 20 karohs
from Dehli. Muhammad Shah leaving most of his army at Jalesar
and taking with him four thousand *warlike men without giving
battle to the army of Abu Bakr Shah, betook himself to Dehli, taking
the® left road. The men whom Abu Bakr Shah had left for pro-

1 Badaom makes no mention of bhls

2 Badaoni does not give any of the names. He only says that Humayun
Khan called together many amirs from the frontiers of Samanah.

3 This name is given variously in the lith. edn. and in the MSS. as
w&lﬁ,w M/oand wr> Yo .

4 USAnT )lf LTS )"Jb 4o . Badaoni simply says 5 )l')m e b
Ferishtah says with 4000 chosen cavalry.

5 The lith. edn. has &3,8 x> #l;, the MSS. have 33,5 - ¥) or 3,8 a8,
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tecting the gates of the city fought a little. Muhammad Shah set
fire to the Badaon gate of the city, and entered it, and took up
his abode in the ! Humayun palace. The inhabitants of the city,
both high and low, joined Sultdin Muhammad Shah. Abu Bakr
Shah received this information, and the same day at the time of
the early meal, entered the city with a great force by the same way ;
and having put Malik Baha-ud-din Jangi, whom Muhammad Shah
had left to defend the gates, to death went towards the Humayin
palace. Muhammad Shah, being helpless went out by the gate
of the hauz-i-khas, (the Sultan’s reservoir) and again going back to
Jalesar joined his own army. Some of the amirs who were partisans
of Muhammad Shih, such as 2 Khalil Khan Barbak and Malik Adam,
and Ismail, nephew of Sultan Firoz Shah, were taken prisoners and
were put to death ; and some were killed in battle.

In the month of Ramazan of that year ® Mir Hajib Sultant
became hostile to Abu Bakr Shah and some of the slaves of Firoz
Shah, who had become amirs, also became his enemies, and also
wrote letters secretly to Muhammad Shah. Abu Bakr Shah became
completely * powerless and retired towards ®Kotla-i-Bahadur Nahir

Badaoni has ]( S 8l )l m).( hle w2 . Col. Ranking has translated this as passing
unobgerved round his right flank. Ferishtah has ¥ )5 T L

1 w).-tlt‘l ;'4—‘ . Col. Ranking translates it as the palace of Humayun, 1
think this incorrect and misleading. (., sle2 is not the name of any person
here. It ig an adjective meaning auspicious.

2 Badaonl does not give these names but says gﬁU ‘5’}&' )" ulgo F)

3338 &S 4l oo oh&esa 5 and & number of great noblemen and his
special servants were put to death.

3 There is much difficulty about this name. I have adopted the reading
of MS. A which probably means the great chamberlain of the Sultan. The lith.

edn. and MS. C has (gilblw aaphno ; MS. B has (glble ooapd. MSS.D and E
leave the name out altogether, and say L& ,‘-'yb ))S o e lany slo 4o ey
LEYESY) e, and some of them having become hostile to Abu Bakr 8hah in the
month of Ramazan of that year wrote letters, etc. Badaoni gives the name of

- ;3»\& which Col. Ranking transliterates as Mubashjr chap, which seems mean-
ingless.

4 The state of his great weaknesd is expressed both in the text and in
Badaoni by the phrase 304 {4 3 = having lost hands and feet.
5 Baddoni icalls it Kotla-i-Miwat. Bahadur N&hir as we have seen was
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to ask for his help and left * Malik Shahin ‘Imad-ul-mulk, and Malik
Bahri and Safdar Khan Sultany, in Dehli. The period of his reign
was one year and six months.

SuLTAN MuHAMMAD SHAH, SON OF SULTAN FIRoz SHAH.

On the 16th of the said month of Ramazan the petition of Mir
Hajib, and of some of the slaves of Firoz Shah reached Muhammad
Shah, informing him that Abu Bakr Shah with some of his partisans
had gone to Kotla, and that the Kban-i-Khanan had placed Sultan
Muhammad Shah’s youngest son on an elephant and had the royal
umbrella held over his head. On the 19th of the month of Ramazan,
Muhammad Shah arrived in Dehli and ascended the throne. He gave
the post of Vazir to 2Mir Hajib Sultanl and the title of Islam Khan,
and the slaves of Firoz Shih, and all the citizens of Dehli, joined him.
After a few days he came into the city from Firozabad, and took up
his abode in the Humayin palace.

He took all the elephants which were 3 with the Firoz-shahi
slaves and *made them over to the former elephant-drivers. The
former were dissatisfied on this account, and leaving the city fled
in the course of a night, and with their wives and children went to
Kotla-i-Nahir and jomed Abu Bakr Shah. Muhammad Shah gave

the chief or prince of Miwat. Col. Rankmg after giving the correct meaning of
Kotla (Hindi ®12¥1) as a small fortress goes on to say that by Kotila (sic.) of
Miwat Hardwar or a town in its vicinity given as Coupel in Rennel’s map
G.m. is meant. He gives as his authority a note in Elliot III p. 455 where
because the MSS. of Zafarnamah have &kt 5 instead of &5y (or &35 as in the
Malfuzat-i-Timuri)» &l is somewhat arb:tmnly changed into Kupild said
to be an old name for Hardwar.

1 Malik Shéhin and Imadul-mulk are, according to Badaoni, two separate
persons, but according to the lith. edn. and the MSS. of the Tabaqat they
are not different persons, but the name and the title of the same man.

2 See note 3, p. 266.

8 The word which I have translated ¢ with’ is (542 which literally means
¢ before. ’

4 Badaoni does not mention this reason of the quarrel specifically. He
simply says (sl AE 2l o 05 2 50 e 53 8 (it ok Uiy oSa
855 pyes (3252 333y, he gave orders for the general slaughter of the Firozi

slaves, who had been in the period of disturbances the cause of tumult and
rebellion.
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order that whoever among the Sultan’s slaves might be in the
city must leave it, and they should have three days to do so
The majority of them did so, and such of them as could not leave
the city within the three days were seized and put to death. It
is well known that some of the Sultin’s slaves were caught after
three days, and ! for fear of death said «“ we are astls.” Muhammad
Shah ordered that whoever among vou says ‘Gharaghari' is asil.
As they could not pronounce in the way that Muhammad Shah
wanted, and spoke with the tongue of the people of the east and
Bengal they were killed ; and many of the people of the east who were
asils (natives) and could not 2speak well were also killed. After three
days the city had no more slaves and Khanahzads (slaves who
were the children of slaves or were born in the house of the master)
of Firoz Shah, who had become hostile to Muhammad Shah.
Mubammad Shdh now occupied himself with the work of
the government, and collecting troops from all sides and directions
became very powerful. HumAyun Khan his son who was in
Samanah came to Dehh with a complete army and jomed lum and

1 Badaoni says about this bu)su. S kuJJsJa v;l{,) .u )):.

L\A 3
>iduihyds PJ > aknils (01" YL oM UAA Col. Ranking says this passa.ge is
not intelligible in itself and quotes a passage from Ferishtah Bo. text, p. 267,
which is identical with the passage in the text of the Tabagat to explain it.
Col. Ranking was apparently not acquainted with tho Tabaqat-i-Akbari. The
explanation is not however clear in spite of what is said in the Tabaqgat or in
Ferishtah. Col. Ranking says that Muhammad Shah said that whoever among
you sa.ys Khara instead of Kharl is not a native (asil) and goes on to explain
that Kharl as applied to water means brackish. Natives of Eastern Bengal use
the word Khara instead of KKharT as an adjective topa  water, which is & mas-
culine word. The objections are (1) that neither our * hor nor Ferishtah says
Sus¥ LSJ'(" b ';‘—{ as they would have, if Col. Ranking’ s xplanation was correct ;
(2) neither of them uses 'Y$ and WS but bothhave 'y§ and et -
without the !, between 445 and ) (3) there is no reason why the people of Eastern
Bengal should be such sticklers for the correct gender of the word hS and nos
those of Dehli. I am diffident about suggesting an explanation, but I think
‘-_;,-Jé ’)-gf or ,_5;(3’ ')1" was some dialect used by the asil or native elephant-
drivers, so that whoever could not speask or pronounce words in this dialect was
adjudged to be & fqreigll')er, and not an asil. .

* Tha Lith. edn. as well 85 all the MSS. have iS G e o :  which
does not make good sense- R4 may be a mistake for uﬂf
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Muhammad Shah became still more powerful. He sent Humayiin
Khan with Islam Khan, and Ghalib Khan and Ray Kamal-ud-din and
Ray Khaljin against Abu Bakr Shih. When the army reached Kotlah
Abu Bakr Shah and Bahadur Nabhir, and the Khanahzads of Firoz
Shah attacked the army of Shahzadah HumAyin Khan, when he was
totally unprepared, on a day in the month of Muharram 793 A.H., and
wounded some of the men. In the meantime Islim Khan came from
one side. and at the same time the Shihzdadah having arranged
his troops began the hattle. At the first onset Abu Bakr Shah with
his partisans was routed, and retired into the fort of Kotlah.

When this news reached Muhammad Shah he came to Kotlah
by forced marches. Abu Bakr Shah and Bahadur Nahir begged
for quarter, and came and did homage. Bahadur Nahir was present-
ed with a robe of honour and sent back. Abu Bakr Shah was
made to accompany them to Kandi ; and from there he was separated
(from the army), and sent to the fort of Mirat, and while imprisoned
there he died ; and Sultan Muhammad marched back towards Dehli.

In the course of that year news came of the rebellion and tyranny
of Mufarrah-i-Sultini the governor of Gujrat. Zafar Khan, son of
Wajih-ul-mulk, was sent as governor of that province. In the year
794 AH. (1391-92 A.D.) the news of the rebellion of ! Narsingh
Mazkir and Sardadhavan and Bir Bhan who were among the
Zamindars of the Doab came, and under the orders of the Sultan
Islam - Khan went to attack them. Narsingh gave battle to Islam
Kban and was defeated, and a great many of the Kifirs were
slain, and the Sultan’s army pursued him. At last he begged for
safety and came with Islim Khan to Dehli. At this time news came
that Sardadharan had attacked the town of 2 Balaram. The Sultan
then marched against him in person, and when he reached the bank
of the 2black river they fled into the fort of Itawah. The day the

! These names cannot be made out from the lith. edn. and the MSS. The
names I have given are the results of guesses. The first name is either
Nar Singh or Bar Singh. Badaoni has only one name Har Singhrai, which is
nearly the same as Bar Singh and Nar Singh. . What Mazkir means I do not
know. It may be a mistako for the name of some Rajput clan,

2 The lith. edn. has Malakaram and the MSS. Balaram and Dllirﬁm
Bad#oni also has Baldram.

.3 The &b Siydah or the Kalapani, or Kali Nadi or Kalini is astmm lym;_
batween the Jumna and the Ganges.
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Sultan reached Itawah, the Kafirs after making a last dying struggle
left the fort at night and fled. The next day the Sultan demolished
the fort, and marched towards Kanouj, and having punished the
Kafirs of Kanouj and the Rays of Dalmau came to Jalesar, and laying
the foundation of a fort here, named it Muhammadabad.

In the month of Rajab of that year, a letter of ! Khwajah-i-jahan
Naib, who was in the city (Dehli) arrived, to the purport that Islam
Khian intended to rebel, and to go away to the Punjab to create
disturbances there. The Sultdn as soon as he heard this news, came
to the city with the army of Jalesar, and constituted a court and
summoned Tslam Khan, and directed him to explain the truth of
the matter. He denied it. A Hindu of the name of Gaju, and his
nephew who were among his enemies, gave false testimony in the
matter. The Sultin punished Islam Khan, and confexred the post of
Vazir on Khan-i-Jahan. He sent Malik Muqarrab-ul-mulk with an
army to Muhammadabad.

In the year 795 AH. (1392-93 A.D.) the news of the revolt
and insurrection of 2 Sar didharan and Jit Singh Rathore and Birbhan
the headman of Bhasunhu reached the Sultan. He appointed Malik
Mugarrab-ul-Mulk to suppress this rebellion. When the two sides
met, Malik Muqarrab-ul-Mulk started negotiations for peace, and
having satisfied the Rays by engagements and promises made them
submit and swear allegiance to the Sultan and brought them with
bhim to Kanouj and there treacherously had them put to death.
Ray? Sir however escaped and reached Itawah and Malik Mugarrab-
ul-Mulk returned to Muhammadabad.

In the month of Shawwal of the same year the Sultan proceeded
in the direction of Miwat, and pillaged and .devastated (the coun-

1 Badaoni has a single sentence about this in the Persian text, Jbe BILE)
3g0p0 camline (ko B3y maapd &5 yila ¢da!; but in the English translation even
this is omitted.

2 Badaoni does not name any of the rebels. He calls them collectively
the ¥y} ¥, @'9y&0 , which Col. Ranking translates as the mutineers in the
distriet ,of Itawah. The names I have got are the best guesses that I could
make after collating the lith. edn. and the MSS. The name of the place of

which Birbhan was the headman may.be anything from Bhu or Su to Ph#sulo-
thu or Bhasunhu.

8 The lith. edn. and all the MSS8. call him Sir or S8ar. I wonder whether he
is the same as Sardadharan.
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try); and going from Muhammadabad to Jalesar, there fell ill.
At this time news was brought that Bahadur, Nahir had attacked
_some places near Dehli, and had caused damage. The Sultdn in
spite of his weakness marched towards Miwat. When he reached Kot-
lah, Bahadur Nahir came and confronted him, but being defeated took
shelter in Kotlah ; but as he could not maintain himself there he
fled and went to! Jar Jar. The Sultan came to Muhammadabad to
superintend the erection of buildings which he had commenced, and at
this time his illness increased. In the month of Rabl’-ul-awwal 796
AH. (1393-94 A.D.) he appointed Shahzadah Humayin Khan to
lead an army against Sheikha Khokar who had revolted and taken
possession of the fort of Lahore. The Shahzadah was about to march
towards Lahore, when on the 17th of the month of Rabi’-ul-awwal
of that year the news of the? death of the Sultin came; and the
Shahzadah waited in the city. The reign of Sultdan Muhammad
Shéah extended to six years and seven months.

SULTAN ‘ALA’UDDIN SIKANDAR SHAH.

(He was) the second son of Sultan Muhammad Shah who had
borne the title of Humayin Khan. When Sultin Muhammad Shah
died, he performed the rites of mourning for three days ; and then on
the 19th Rabi’-ul-swwal of that year he ascended the throne by
the consent of the amirs, and maliks, and Saiyads and gazis, and
the great men of the city (Dehli). He appointed Khwajah-i-Jahan
to.be his Vazir; and he confirmed all the officers in their appoint-
ments. On the fifth day of the month of Jamadi-ul-iwwal of the
same year he became ill and ® died. Couplet :

1 The name of the place cannot be made out. The lith. edn. has O3y 4> 30
and the MSS. have ow! 33 5> 52 )9, and owf )0 sy 30 and O ya o> )% and
Caiub

2 Badaoni says o& Lp900 Leld (séya JUS you §,3k4 35, which Col. Ranking
translates, ‘and was buried in the Mausoleum of his father on the bank of the
Hauz-i-Khés.” This latter was a reservoir constructed by Firoz Shah. It issaid
in the Zafar-n@ma of Yazdi to be *eolarge that an arrow cannot be shot from one
side to the other. It is filled by rain in the rainy season and the people of
Dihli obtain water from it all the year round. The tomb of Firoz Shéh is by
its side.”” (Elliot III.)

8 He was buried beside his father and grandfather on the edge of the Hauz-
i-Khas. )
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What is fortune.and wealth, Sir ! if fate is not thy friend !
None can eat at this table but his allotted share !

The period of his reign was one month and sixteen days. And
Glod alone knows all.

SULTAN MARMUD SHAH (youngest son of Muhammad Shah).

When Sultan ‘Ala-ud-din passed away, most of the amirs such as
Gha  Khan, Governor of Samanah, and Riy Kamadl-ud-din Mu‘in,
and Mubarak Khan Halaju, and Khawas Khan, Governor of Anderi
and Karna' left the city and wanted to go away to their jagirs, with-
out taking leave of Sultin Mahmiud. Khan-i-Jahan receiving infor-
mation of this, and having given them hopes of favour brought them
into the city, and on the 20th day of the month of Jamadi-ul-awwal
of that year by the help of the amirs and the maliks and the great
men of the city he ascended the throne in the Humaiyin palace
and received the title of Sultin Nasir-ud-din Mahmad Shah. He con-
firmed Khwajah-i-Jahan in the post of Vazir; and conferring on
Mugarrab-ul-Mulk the title of Muqarrab Khan made him his !heir;
and bestowing the title of S‘dadat Khan on ‘Abdur Rashid Sultani
made him the Barbegi (the chamberlain) ; and Malik Sarang received
the title of Sarang Khan, and was made the Governor of Dibalpur;
and the title of Doulat Khan was conferred on Malik Daulatyar Dabir,
and he was made the 2’Ariz-i-Mumalik which was formerly the post
of ’Tmad-ul-Mulk.

As the affairs of ® furthest Hindustin, i.c. Jaunpar and the country
round it had passed out of control on account of the violence of the
zamindars, the Sultin made over the country from * Kanouj to Behar

= R “— — e e eme——

1 Ferishtah says he was made Vakil-us-Saltanat and Amirul-Umra

2 The SJex (éyle wis the pay-master of the forces. He had to bring
all who' sought employment or promotion before the Sultdn and to explain
the faots of his case. He was afterwards called the Bakhshi, sec Irvine ¢ The
Army of the Indian Moghals,” p. 38. -

'8 The various readings are ollo and bl and,uum)m YUY The last is
mmife'stly incorrect as the Rays could not be Jaunpir and that neighbourhood.
‘I'he correct reading, I think, is UL"-J meaning the furthest part..

4 This agrees generally with the Persiun text of BadAoni where it is said
aas 5 JUEAY Bagmr g B 56 51 Al Cubldne 80t gl Ty ol ke
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to Khwajah Sarwar, who had been made Khwajah-i-Jahan, and whom
Sultan Muhammad had nominated to be the Governor of Jaunpir,
conferring on him the title of Sultan-ush-Sharq. and in the month of
Rajab 796 A.H., sent him with 20 elephants and a powerful army to
that country. The Sultin-ush-Sharq acquired great power in those
districts and subjugated the 'zamindars and brought them under
control He rebuilt some of the ?fortresses which they had demo-
lished. The Ray of Jijnagar and the badshah of Lakhnouti sent
to him the presents and the tribute which they had every year sent
to Sultan Firoz Shah.

The same year 3Sarang Khan was despatched under the orders
of the Sultan to bring Dibalpur under control, and to suppress the dis-
turbances caused by Sheikha Khokhar; and having reached Dibalpur
in the month of Sh’aban of that year, and having put his army in
good order, he, in the month of Zigadah of the year 796 A.H. (1393-94
A.D.) marched towards Lahore taking with him Rai Khaljin Behti,
and Rai Da’ud, and Kamal Mu‘in and the army of Multan; and when
he arrived near that city, Sheikha Khokhar met him with a complete
force, fully equipped for battle, and at a *place twelve Karohs from
Lahore the two armies met and a battle took place. A breeze of
victory and triumph blew over the standard of Sarang Khan; and
Sheikb& Khokhar being routed retired to the hills of Jamun. The
following day Sarang Khan took possession of the fort of Lahore and
leaving Malik Kandhu, his brother, to whom hc gave the title of

’Adil Khan there, came himself to leqlpur

é;ﬂf Hladl cwady &\w"-\f)b o )1o35! which means that he was made gov-
ernor of the whole country from Kanouj to Behar. Col. Ranking howevor in-

correctly translates the passage and says “and transferred him from Qanouj to
Behar with full powers,” etc.

1 Badaoni says ho went as far as Jajnagar.

4 Badaoni says that the fortresses which he rebuilt were in the districts of
Karra, OQudh, Sandila, Maliita, Bahraich and Tirhut. Malata may be a mistake
for Dalmau. Col. Ranking says one MS. has 'l and his Persian text has a re-
dundant 3y L’)lﬂ) 9 ahsde, The 9 may be a mistake for © .

3 According to Badaoni (both Persian text and translation) Sarang K.han
was sent by the Sultan-ush-Sharq ; but the latter apparently had nothing what-
ever to do with his appointment.

4 Badaoni calls the place &Uyxlw which should, I think, be transliterated
as Samothla. Col. Ranking makes it Samothala.
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Tn the month of Sha‘ban of the aforesaid year, Sultan Mahmiid
Shah marched towards Gwaliar and Bignah taking S’adat Khan with
him and leaving Muqarrab Khan with some elephants and some troops
of the special regiments in the city. 2When the Sultdn reached the
neighbourhood of Gwaliar Malik ’Ala-ud-din Dharval, and ® Mubarak
Khan and the son of Malik Raju and Mallu brother of Sarang Khan-

“conspired against S’adat Khan. The latter receiving information of
this seized Malik ’Ala-ud-din and Mubarak Khan and put them to
death. Mallu fled and went to Mugarrab Khan in Dehli. The Sultan
returned with great speed and came to *Dehli. Muqarrab Khan
hastened to receive him, and as he noticed some displeasure in his
mind owing to Mallu having come to him, he® got into the city by deceit
and stratagem and raised the standard of hostility. The Sultin with
S’adat Khan besieged the city for three months and skirmishes took
place everyday. For three months °this state of things continued.
During this time 7some of the well-wishers of Muqarrab Khan de-

1 s xeld gl gnea .

2 Badaoni says that a spacious mosque toL; I~ wag built of stone by
the Sultdn when he was marching to Gwaliar at a place called Basaur, which
was still standing in hia time.

3 Badaoni makes Mubarak Khan the son of Malik Raju but the lith. edn.
and the MSS. all have a s between the words & <S)lac and the words Pand
saly o, He also calls Mallu, Mallu Khan.

4 Badsoni says ol .3))5;‘.& ol)..a ), which Col. Ranking translates ‘en-
camped at some distance from the city.’

5 Badaoni says && G)lda, i.e. he entrenched himself.

6 The lith. edn. says 3y af camwo pmid sle & U all the MSS. say
S l‘; <m0 oyl #lo & U; the meauning is not clear. The literal meaning is
for three months this companionship remained warm. Did the author wish to
be mildly humorous! I have given a somewhat free translation.

7 Col. Ranking says that the account given by Badaoni is unsatisfactory
and quotes from Ferishtah Bo. text, p. 279, to clear up matters. 1t does not ap-
pear however, that there is much difference between Badaoni and the account
given in the text and that given by Ferishtah. The only differences are that
Ferishtah says, (1) That Muqarrab Khan became atarmed at the splendour and
array of the royal court, because of his having given asylum to Mallu Khaén and
fled to the city and (2) Sultan Mahmid recognised that the fighting was all due to
§’adat Khdn and he joined Mugarrab Khan at the instigation of his own inti-
mates.”” As regards (1) there is no reason why Mugarrab Khén should be
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ceived the Sultan and brought him into the city, but the elephants and
horses and other paraphernalia of the empire remained with S’adat
Khan. Mugarrab Khan feeling stronger on account of the coming of
the Sultan came out of the city with the intention of giving battle, but
being defeated again took shelter in the fort. When S’adat Khan saw
that the capture of the fort of Dehli was difficult, and the rains had
commenced, he left the vicinity of the city and went to Firozabiad, and
acting in concert with his partisans, sent for Nasrat Shah, son of
Fateh Khan, son of Firoz Shah who was in Miwit, and in the month of
Rabt’-ul-awwal of that vear, placed him on the throne at Firozabad
and gave him the title of Nasir-ud-din Nasrat Shah.

When Nasrat Khan’s amirs saw that he was nothing more than
a puppet, they by means of deceptions and tricks separated him
from S’adat Khan. and a number of them attacked S’adat Khan,
who was taken by surprise. He, being unable to withstand them,
went to Dehli, and joined Muqarrab Khian, and that traitor treacher-
ously seized him and put him to death. The Nasrat Shahi amirs
such as Muhammad Muzaffar and Shahab Nahir and Fazl-ul-lah
Balkhi and the Firoz Shahi slaves all renewed their allegiance to
Nasrat Shah. Muhammad Muzaffar was made ! Vakil-i-Mumalik and
received the title of Tatar Khan. Shahab Nahir was made Shahab
Khan, and Fazl-ul-lah Balkhi, Qutlugh Khan. And between Dehli and
Firozibad there were two badshahs. Mugqarrab Khan left Bahadur
Nahir with a great force in the fort of old Dehli, and he entrusted
the outer fort to Mallu whom he gave the title of Iqbal Khan.
There were skirmishes and battles everyday between Dehli and
Firozabad, and the two sides were generally on a footing of equality.
Some of the parganas in the Doab, and Panipat and 2Sonpat and
Ruhtak and Jhajar upto twenty Karohs from Dehli remained in the

alarmed at the splendour of the court. He was probably quite accustomed
toit. As regards (2) both Badaoni and our author says that Mahmiid Shah was
deceived by some partisans of Mugarrab Khan and there is no reason why they
should be disbelieved and preference should be given to a much later historian.

1 The lith. edn. has Vakil; the MSS. except one, which has Vakil Vazir,
have Vazir.

? The lith. edn. and one MS. has < =, the other MSS. have wu (-

Badaoni gives the names of all the places except Sunpat and he has Ul Samba
in addition.
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possession of Nasrat Shah, while Mahmiad Shah had no place but
the fort of Dehli, and the treasury. Each of the amirs and maliks
of these two badshahs. taking possession of a province aspired
to independence. and hecame rulers and kings on their own
account; and for three years the affairs of the country remained
in this state. Hemistich. Distraction seizes a land that has two
kings.

In the year 798 A.H. (1395 A.D.) Sarang Khén, the governor of
Dibalpur and Lahore, who had in fact been appointed by Mahmid
Shah became hostile Yo Khizr Khan, the governor of Multdin. Some
of the slaves of Malik Behti joined Sarang Khan. The latter gaining.
strength seized Multan. And in the month of Ramazan in the vear
799 A.H. (1396 A.D.) attacked Ghalib Khan who was the governor
of Saméanah on the side of Nasrat Shah. Ghalib Khan gave him
battle, and being defeated came to Tatar Khan at Panipat. Nasrat
Shah hearing this news sent ten elephants and some troops to
reinforce Tatair Khan. On the 15th day of Muharram in the year
800 A.H. (1377 A.D.) a battle took place near the town of Kotlah.
Sarang Khan was defeated and retired towards Multan. Malik 3 Almas
took possession of Saméanah and made it over to Ghalib Khan and
* pursued Sarang Khan as far as Talwandt and returned. .

In the month of Rabi’-ul-awwal Mirza Pir Muhammad, grandson

1 The lith. edn. has &’ﬂ . the MSS. have &J'} T have adopted the read-
ing of the MSS. though &l )a can scarcely be called a place. Badaoni says
silo dyemm lblu 23 33 lpies (apm g S e &S oy s olaa .
i.e. and a few forts, in ruins and old, suvh as Dehli and Siri, ete., remained in
the possession of Sultan Mahmiid; and he also quotes the proverb & IAREN ‘JA
‘,JL; ] uhé 3 ‘Jlﬁ i.e. the rule of the lond of the world is from Dehli to Palam.

2 There are different readings !,y by (!5 1) ps (0!,

8 The lith. edn. and all the MSS. have (sl Klo Malik Almas. The
Persian text of Badaoni has UU' Almas, but Col. Ranking has Ilyas in the Eng-
lich translation; and in anote says “MS. (A) (»W!,” . TForishtah has Ko
! Malik Ilyas,

¢ The lith. edn. and one MS. have ._-,sal}c BN 64 “)03 s lad u‘”)b Gy
%3y3.  The other MSS. have ¢ waalpe ¥sed 5l Cdlad (o35 G
It is not clear whether Malik Almas was in command or Tatar Khan.

Badaoni says Tatar Khan proceeded to the frontier of Talwandi and sending
Kamal-ud-din Mubin in pursuit of Sarang Khan returned.
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of the Amir ! Sihib Qiran Taimur Gurgan crossed the river £ Indus,
and besieged the fort of Uchh. Malik ‘Al who was the governor
of Uchh on behalf of Sarang Khan, entrenched himself and for a month
did 8 his best to defend himself. Sarang Khan sent ? Malik Taj-ud-din
Naib with four thousand brave horsemen to aid and reinforce Malik
‘Ali. Mirza Pir Muhammad becoming aware of this left the fort,
and advancing to meet the enemy suddenly fell upon him. Malik
Taj-ud-din was routed and Mirza Pir Muhammad following close on
his heels, besieged the fort of Multan. The warfare went on for six
months, and there were battles everyday. At last he begged for
quarter and went and did homage to Mirza Pir Muhammad. The
latter after the capture of Multan waited for a few days in those
parts.

In the month of Shawwal of that year ®1qbial Khan went to
Nasrat Shah and they entered into an engagement in the tomb of
Sheikh Qutb-ud-din Bakbhhtyar Kaki, may God make his grave holy !
with the holy words (the qurin) between them, and he took Nasrat
Shah into the citadel of ¢ Jahanpanah. Mahmad Shah with Muqurrab
Khan and Bahadur Nahir remained entrenched in old Dehli. On the
third day (after that) Iqbal Khan, making Nasrat Shah careless by
deceit and treachery, tried to seize him. Nasrat Shah in a helpless
condition came out of the citadel and betook himself to Firozabad.

1 u'," means the conjunction of two beneticent planets, Jupiter, the Lord
of felicity and Venus. Taimur was called Sahib-i-qirin as he was born under
such & conjunction. Col. Ranking has translated it by the word great. Gurgan,
according to note 1, p. 353, Vol. 1, of Col. Ranking’s translation of Badaoni
means a son-in-law or a prince allied by marriage with some mighty monarch.
The author of the Tabaqat always calls him g"}’ —abo wyaa

2 Ferishtah says ¢ by a bridge of boats.’

3 8)Ls y «wd beat out his hands and feet, i.e. struggled in vain.

4 Badaoni calls him Malik T&j-ud-din Bakhtiar and says he had only 1,000
borsemen.

w

5 Baddoni says sles ))-g:w, i.e. better known as Mallu.

6 Badaoni both Persian text and translation has Jah&n-numa but it is said
in a note that one of the MSS. has Jahan-paniah but as Ferishtah has Jahan-
numd Col. Ranking has adopted that reading. The lith. edn. and all the MSS
of the Tabaqat have Jahan-panah. This was the name given to the central
portion of the triple citaddl of Dehli, connecting old Dehli with Siri. See
Elliot ITT, p. 448, Jahan-numa was a palace.
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but did not stay there also and went to ! Tatsr Khan (his) Vazir ; and
Firozabad came into the possession of Iqbal Khan. Mugarrab Khan
then took shelter in the citadel of Jaha@npanah and attended to his
own saféty. 2Iqbal Khan collecting a force attacked the house of
Muqurrab Khan by surprise, and 2 refusing to give him quarter put him
to death. He did not however cause any injury to Sultin Mahmid
Shah, and making him a puppet managed the affairs of the State
himself.

In the month of Zigadeh of that year he marched to Panipat to
attack Tatar Khan. The latter leaving a force with some elephants
in the fort marched towards Dehli by another route. ~After three days
the fort of Panipat was captured and the elephants and equipage of
Tatar Khan came into the possession of Iqbal Khan. Although he
tried his best Tatar Khan was unable to capture Dehli, and on hearing
of the capture of Panipit he ¢ became helpless and went to his father
in Gujrat. Iqbal Khan came to Dehli and he conferred the title of <Adil
Khan on Nasir-ul Mulk who was a partisan of his own, but who was a
relation of Tatar Khan, and had been the cause of his going to Pani-
patb to attack the latter, and placed Samanah as far as the Doab under
his chatge and he laid the foundation of his rule with sohdnty

1 Accordmg to Badaoni he was at Pamp&t
2 The lith. edn. and all the MSS. read as above but it is clear that there is
some omission here. Badaoni is clearer, he says (s al% ufm J ) rau: (olo)
.)) ;@ ul:; d(uf ) UL; u;ﬂ.oo uL\/C o }.) [ORAV) lJ) (oh:f ;JM (& ‘JL\,' NOVARY)
é’o ?o](gl._v By Jogus 30 5o (il 830l yo Jluoys fyol an g 89 Jloa y K
W56 Ko ly )' J’)A &.\9) UL‘ UJM)&JJ UL; dl.\" ‘5)5)0.\5 3 oy ) asoly
by woleh &.;)w Iy ol 3ots el o sjf $polms, | i.0. the whole of the army and
elephants of Nasrat Shah fell into tite hands of the astute Iqbal Khan, and for
two whole months daily battles were fought between Mugarrab Khan and Igbal
Khan, until by the intervention of certain Amirs, peace was established between
these two leaders, but after a few days Iqbal Khaén proceeded against Muqarrab
Khan, and without warning suddenly surrounded him and besieged him; and
after giving him assurances of safety raised him to the dignity of martyrdom.
3 The lith. edn. and most of the MSS. say 5°'N X! One MS. like Badaoni
says M) Lo'
4 The lith, edn. and all the MSS. say 334U (o His father was Zafar

Kbhén. According to Badaoni he went to his father' Byl amea L', i.e. with &
great following. :
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In the month of Safar 801 A.H. (1378 A.D.) news came that the
great Amir Taimiir Gurgin having attacked ! Talambah had arrived
in Multdn ; and he put to death all those whom Mirza Pir Muhammad
had taken prisoner. Iqbal Khan became 2frightened on hearing this
news, and began to collect and equip his troops. Amir Taimir (or
Hazrat Sahib Qirani) marching from Multan, besieged the fort of
% Bhatnir, and having made Rai * Khaljin Behti prisoner, put all the
people who had taken shelter in the fort to death, and from that place he
overran the districts of Samanah, and a number of men from Dibilpir
and ®Ajodhan and Sarsuti fled from those places and came to Dehli,
and most of the people were taken prisoner and slain. The Amir Sahib
Qiran leaving that place and being guided by fortune and his high
destiny came to the country of the Doab; and having plundered the
country and taken the ®people captive, encamped in the town of
"Luni. People say that between the river Indus and the river
Ganges about fifty thousand people were taken captive and an enor
mous number were killed; and a number of people fled into 8the
hilly country.

In the month of Jamadi-ul-awwal of the year 801 A.H. he crossed
the Jumna and encamped at Firozabad, and on the following day he

1 Situated at the junction of the Jhelum and Chenab rivers.

2 Thelith. edn. and all the MSS. except one have SU %y ; the remaining MS.
has S ‘Q-C'.

3 The name of the place is given differently from ';:\,4{ Bhira or Bahira
to ;-,\.K‘A Bhatnir. Badd@oni has Bhat but Col. Ranking says one MS. has ),u.‘,;
which he says should be Bhatnir.

+ The lith. edn. and two of the MSS. have (nwaba ' ; the others have
L._;}.?J /90 6’)‘ Badaoni calls him ug:,?J-,a Jaljin. The Bo. text of Ferishtah calls
him ®& !y R@o Khaljl. The Malfuzat-Taimiri calls him (p¥Jy0 4!) Rao
Dulchain. BBadaoni says he was also put to death but the Tabaqat does not
oxplicitly say so.

5 Ajodhan is Pakpattan. It contains the tomb of Sheikh Farid-ud-din
Gianj-i-Shakar, which was visited by Taimir.

¢ The lith. edn. and the MSS. all say 3,5 y=!y D)0 1) lals 1. Probably
the words |y (3:Y% have been omitted before 83,5 sl

7 Lini was 7 miles N.N.W. of Dehli on a doab between the Jumna and
the Halim. Taimir arrived there on the 27th Rabi’-ul-awwal.

8 Two of the MSS. say >o& unsuo 80wl 3> L2%,8 43 coming into the hilly
country concealed themselves. )



280 . SULTAN MAHMOD SHAH.

arrived on the bank of the Hauz-i-khas. Iqbal Khan coming out of
the city made a last dying effort, but at the first charge he was
routed by the heroes of the victorious army ; and vast numbers were
trodden down and others were killed and taken captive ; and most of
his elephants and equipages fell into the hands of the great Taimir:
when night approached !Mallu Khan abandoning his family and
children went to the town of 2 Baran ; and Sultan Mahmiid taking a few
of his servants ® and special adherents took the road to Gujrat. On the
following day the great Sahib Qirani gave quarter to the citizens of
Dehli ; and appointed men to collect the price of the quarter he had
granted. By accident a few of the citizens on account of the harsh-
ness of some of the collectors refused to pay, and slew some of the
latter. This became the cause of the bursting out of the flames of
the wrath of the great Taimir; and he gave orders for the slaughter
and capture of the inhabitants of the city. During that day an im-
mense number were killed and taken captive; but in the end
the ¢royal clemency drew the pen of forgiveness over the guilt of the
citizens, and he proclaimed quarter and pmtection to them. After

1 With the downia.ll of his fortune he ceased to he 1qba] Khén and became
Mallu Khan. The lith. edn. and two of the MSS. give him that name. The
other MSS. have the pronoun !

2 Baran is the modern Bulandshahar.

3 The lith. edn. and onc MS. has !;Ss} the other MSS. have /S0y e,
those near him,

4 According to Bad#oni it was the intercession of Sheikh Ahmad Kathu
which evoked the clemency. He says il 1) der g oge, ’ Lc..xu ‘. r.)L‘,a 39
Sbloeals ua).! u)s.f ),\a.).,w )0 M)) J‘ﬂf Seant gad v._ul.p (W Sy J.\.ﬁ.”))bc
‘J.n ENIW- LI VST INCN ENy AVA ) gﬂ}o alo ais, St 3lgen ._,,.,! Ipno
5 dMopldl K8 lenmy slhple Koo oldsy lde by wdle jalb 1) sya
) ot lelo 4 o8 louy ‘.l..'i Slaiel yly i 1y q.;')ﬁ.}glm}éri u';.‘.“" celd
ole ola 1ilods aen 0,8 Js3 which means that on the fourth day he ordered
all the inhabitants to be made prisoners, and took them all off towards Trans-
oxiana. Eventually Sheikh Ahmad Kathi whose tomb is well known at Sar
Khez in Gujrat near Ahmadabad went along with the army, and had an inter-
view with the great Taimir and made apparent to him his condition as a Dar-
vesh and the greatness of his learning and he had many discussions with the
learned men accompanying the Transoxianan army and confuted them and
interceded for the prisoners, and the great Taimiir became a firm believer in him,
and accepting his representations he released all the prisoners.
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some days Khizr Khan who had escaped into Miwat asked for safe
conduct and came with Bahadur Nahir, and Mubarak Khan and
Vazir Khan and rendered homage to Taimir. The latter ordered all
of them, except Khizr Khan,! whom he knew to be a Saiyad and a
pious man, to be taken prisoner; and raising his standards for the
return journey started by a route along the foot-hills ; and the 2heights
of the country at the foot of the Sivalik hills were rendered low
by the trampling of the feet of the victorious army.

When he reached Lahore he by means of a stratagem seized Sheikha
Khokar (who had on account of the enmity which he bore to Sarang
Khan had entered the service of Taimir, and had become his guide
and well wisher, and had by means of fraud taken possession of
Lahore), with all his family and adherents, and pillaged and sacked
Lahore. He made over Multin and Dibalpar to Khizr Khan and
marched away to Samarkand by way of Kabul.

For two months Dehli *was in ruins. In the month of Rajab of
the aforementioned year, Nasrat Shah, who after watching Iqbal
Khin, had gone into the Doiab, went with a small force to Mirat, and
Adil Khan with his own troops and four elephants joined him, and
the men who escaping from the Mughals were in the Doab also joined
him. And he came to Firozibad with two thousand horsemen; and
took possession of Dehli which was still in ruins. Shahab Khan
came from Miwat with ten elephants and a well-equipped army,
Malik 4 Almas came from the Doab. When the forces increased in
number Nasrat Shah sent Shahab Khan against Igbal Khan who
was in Baran. On the way some zamindars at the instigation of
Igbial Khan made a surprise attack by night; and Shahab Khan
becoming a martyr, his forces were scattered, and his equipage and
clephants fefl into the hands of Iqbal Khan. The latter gained

1 Badaoni says he spared Khizr Khan because the latter (So0a &lsias | 2l
<~a!d which Col. Ranking translates who had apparently done some former
good service.

2 Badaoni compares the effect of the march of the army to that of an earth-
quake,

3 Badaon] says there was a famine and pestilence and the inhabitants who
were left died.

4 Some of the MSS. have (wW! e Malik Ilyas.
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strength and power day by day, turned towards Dehli and Nasrat
Shah being unable to meet him left Firozabad and retired into
! Miwat; and Dehli came into the possession of Igbal Khan. The
people who for fear of the Mughal had left Dehli and gone to various
places, came back within a short time; and Hisar Sirl again became
populous.

Ighal Khan was in possession of the country of the Doab, and
the environments of the city, and the whole country of India remained
in the possession of 2 different nobles. Gujrat was in the possession of
Zafar Khan and his son Tatar Khan. Saiyad Khizr Khan had Multan
and Dibalpar with parts of Sind. Mahoba and Kalpi were in
the hands of Mahmid Khan son of Malikzadah Firoz. Khwajeh
Jahan Sultan-ush-Sharq was in possession of Kanouj and Oudh
and Dalmau, and Sandila, and Bahraich, and Behar and Jaunpar;
Dilawar Khan had Malwa; and Ghalib Khian had Samanah, and
Shams Khan Auhadi had Bianah ; and each one of them aspired to
be independent, and none of them owned submission to any one
else.

In the month of Rabt-ul-awwal 802 A.H. (1399 A.D.) Iqbal
Khan marched towards Bianah and Shams Khan came and 3 opposed
him, but being defeated retired into the fort of Bidnah and *his ele-
phants fell into (Igbal Khan’s) hands. He then marched towards
Kaithar which is the well-known ocountry round Badatan, and after
levying tribute from Ray °Narsingh returned towards Dehli. The
same year Khwa]ah -i-Jahan S¢died in Jaunpm and Malik Mubarak

1 Badaonl says =3l i JLJ lxile2 304, and there he hastened to the
permanent home, i.e. died.-

2 Col. Ranking says (see note 2 p- 359 of his translation of Badaoni Vol. 1)
“ Ferishtah tells us the names of these various independent rulers.” He ap-
parently did not know that they were also given in the Tabaqét-i-Akbari.

3 Badaoni says the engagement between them took place at d-*;' PR
Nuh wa Patal.

4 The lith. edn. and most of the MSS. have slist e dy )| dA-’ 9 One MS.
has Slilst IR Y) )' ‘}.9.)«) 9.

5 The name is given as Nar Singh or Bar Singh in the lith. edn. and the
MSS. Baddoni calls him Harsmghrm or Ray Harsingh. He was the chief of
ftawah.

6 Or as Bad@oni in his poetical and pious language 8ays Camesdd (3 e ypy
i.e. united with the mercy of God.
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t Qaranful who was his adopted son was made Sultan in his place, and
received the title of Sultdn Mubarak Shah and the territories of
Khwajah-i-Jahdn came into his possession.

In the month of JamAdi-ul-awwal in the year 803 A.H. (1400 A.D.)
[qbal Khin marched against Mubarak Shah Sharqi; and Shams
Khan governor of Biinah, and 2 Mubarak Kbhan and Bahadar Nahir
acenmpanied him as his allies, and when they reached the town
of 3 Baitali on the back of the Ganges, Ray Sir and all the Zamin-
dars of that country came forward and after a conflict were routed
and retired to [tawah, and [qbal Khan went to Kanouj. Mubarak
Shah now came forward and for two months they opposed each other
on the bank of the river Ganges. At last they came to terms and
returned. On the way Iqbal Khin became suspicious of Mubarak
Khan, and Shams Khan Auhadi and seized them both by fraad and
treachery, and put them to death. The same year Taghi Khan Turk
bachah, the son-in-law of Ghalib Khan, the governor of Samanah
with a large army attacked Khizr Khan, and on the 9th of the month
of Rajab of the aforesaid year the parties met at Ajodhan which
is celebrated as the Patan of Sheikh Farid, and after a conflict and
battle Taghi Khan was routed and retired to the town of *Bhaudar.
Ghalib Khan and other Amirs who were with him seized Taghi Khan
and put him to death. And in the year 804 A.H. (1401 A.D.) Sultan
Mahmid who for fear of Taimiir, had retired to Gujrat, and after the
departure of the latter had come to Dhar and stayed there, after the

L Badaoni calls him Qaranqal. The lith. edn. and the majority of the MSS.
give him the namo I have adopted. Col. Ranking in a note says he was Khwa-
jeh-i-Jahan's adopted son Malik Wasil.

2 Bad#Aoni calls Mubarak Khan (who is of course to be distinguished from
Mubarak Shah Sharqi) the son of Bahadur Nahir, ;U ylp oy & SHlw
in the Persian text, but neither the lith. edn. nor any of the MSS. of the Tabaqat
says that they were related in this way.

3 Bad#oni says that the town was on the Blackwater I &5 sl ot S
2! ygpdan Sl Col. Ranking says in & note that the Kalapani is the Kalinadi
or Kalini (I:iunter Imp. Gaz. VII, p. 327) lying between the Jumna and the
Ganges. Taimir calls it the Kardsti (Blackwater) Elliot 14, p. 452. Ferishtah
however says ! SiE }gi JUS &S, which Briggs translates which is on the
Ganges,

4 The name is variously given in the lith. edn. and in the MSS. as , Sy
)5st?s Badéonl Persian text has y2s4. Col. Ranking has Bhiihar.
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restoration of safety came back from Dhar to Dehli. Iqbal went for-
ward to welcome him and placed him in the HumAyiin palace in
! Jahanpanah. Bat as the reins of the sovereignty and rule werein his
hands he behaved with hypocrisy towards the Sultan. The latter
taking Igbal Khan with him started toward Kanouj; and while they
were on their way, news came that Mubarak Shah Sharqihad died and
Sultdn Ibrahim his brother had taken his place. Sultain Mahmuad
having resolved to seize Jaunpiir made an attempt to do so. Sultan
Thrahim also with a well equipped army and elephants of the size of
mountains came forward and opposed him ; and for a few days brave
warriors belonging to the two armies fought together, As Sultan
Mahmid had great ? suspicion and fear of Iqbal Khan, and considered
Sultan Ibrahim to be his servant and born and bred in his family,® one
night he left his own army and alone and unattended went to Sultan
Ibrahim’s army ; and as the latter on account of his want of breeding
and ingratitude did not perform the rites of hospitality and service,
Sultan Mahmid did not stay there also on account of the incivility
he was treated with ; and came to Kanouj, and having expelled * Shah
Zadah Hariwi who was the governor under the Sharqia kingdom,
took possession of the city. Iqbal Khan went away towards Dehli
and Sultdn Ibrahim also returned to Jaunpar. All the inhabitants
of Kanouj, high and low, joined Sultin Mahmid, and the slaves
and all his adherents who had become scattered came from all places,
and he contented himself with Kanouj.

1 The lith. edn. has _gleil¢; all the MSS. have 8Usilea. Badaont has SbyS
W Ly

2 Badaoni says, Sultan Mahmiid had hostility to Igbal Khén in his heart
ai&lo Jo 53 1y o &LS on account of his being, in possession of the parapher-
nalia of sovereignty, wdble Slwt,

3 Badéont has a different account, he says ) ¢ g 3 Gl cgemn e
05 wlille malpl b b dowl 5 (& JUSI KL 51 KE &l &) o 5 Lia
ol Jag Batels 4t ‘..\.Q'JJ' otbbke 4 ie. and Sultan Mahmiid before the com-
mencement of conflict and war left the army of Igbal Khan on the pretext
of going on a hunting excursion and went and met Sultan Ibrahim and the
latter treated him with great discourtesy.

4 The name is given in_ the lith. edn. and in the MSS, as (¢ Bk -‘_50;-,' Bk

53 s and (g9is%. Badaoni calls him (g35? & fo and Col. Ranking Fateh
Khan of Herat.
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In the month of Jamadi-ul-awwal 805 A.H. (1402 A.D.) Iqbal
Khan marched towards Gwalidr, and ! (besieged) the fort of Gwaliar
which at the time of the arrival of the army of Taimir had gone out
of the possession of the Sultans of Dehli and had come into the hands
of Ray Narsingh, and after his death into those of his son Biram Deo,
but as it was extremely strong he could not take it, so he devastated
the districts round it and went back to Dehli. The next vear he
again marched to Gwaliar. Biram Deo came forward to meet him,
and fought a battle in tront of the fort of Dholptir but was defeated
and retired into the fort. When night came he vacated the fort and
went towards Gwaliar. lqgbal Khan pursued him as far as the fort

of Gwaliar, and having carried out the procedure of pillage and des-
truction, came back to Dehli.

In the year 806 A.H. (1403 A.D.) news came that Tatar Khan
the son of Zafar Khan, Governor of Gujrat, had removed his father
from Amirship and his government, and had given himself the title
of 2 Nasiruddin Muhammad Shah.

In the year 807 A.H. (1404 A.D.) Iqbal Khan marched out to
subdue the Zamindars of the country of Itiwah, and * Ray Sarwar
and the Ray of Gwaliar and Ray Jalhar and other Rays fortified
themselves in ltawah, and for four months carried on a warfare, but
in the end made peace, agreeing to give every vear four elephants
and the amount which the Ray of Gwaliar used to send to the ruler
of Dehli. In the month of Shawwal of the aforesaid year, Igbal
Khan went to Kanouj and besicged Sultan Mahmid and although
he fought many engagements, he gained nothing, and had to return
without achieving his object.. And in the month of Muharram

1 The sentence appears to me to be incomplete in the lith. edn. and in all
the MSS. 1 have ventured to inscrt the words 3)5 tfolsw (besieged) in order
to complete it. The names of Nar Singh and Biram are Bar Singh and Nar
Singh and Biram and Param in the different MSS. The name of Narsingh is
given as Harsingh in one place and as Barsingh in the next line in the Persian
text of Badaoni; who also says that Harsingh had scized the fort by treachery,
ks

2 Badaoni adds that he was marching towards Dehli to seize it but his uncle
Shams Khan gave him poison and then released Zafar Khan from imprisonment.

3 These names are all very doubtful. The lith. edn. and the MSS. give
different names more or less difficult to decipher. Badaoni does not give any
names.
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808 A.H. (1406 A.D.) Igbal Khin marched towards Samanah.
Bahram Khan Turkbacha, who had become hostile to Sarang
Khéan, abandoned his place for fear of Iqbal Khan, and retired to
the hill of Badhnor. Iqbal Khan pursued him and encamped
near a valley of that hill. After a few days Sheikh! ‘Ilm-ud-
din, grand son of Sheikh Jalal Bakhari, intervened and made peace
between them. Iqbal Khén took Bahram Khan with him and
marched towards Multan. When he arrived at Talwandi? he seized
and imprisoned Riy Daud and Kamal Miin and Ray Bhau, son of
Ray Khaljin Behti, and on the third day he broke the terms of peace
and had Bahram Khan flayed. When he encamped near 3 Ajodhan
on the bank of the river * Dehenda, Khizr Khan came from Dibalpiir
and opposed him with the determination of giving him battle, and on
the 19th Jamadi-ul-awwal of the aforesaid year a battle took place
and in the first onset ®Iqbal Khan fell into the hands of Khizr
Khan’s soldiers and was put to death; and the reward of his base

ingratitude and of his repeated breaches of faith was quickly allotted
to him.

Couplet : Be not bold in breaking faith, for the revolving heavens
Will quickly place the reward of your deeds in your lap.

! Badaoni says he went from Multan to Rupar (43 miles N. of Ambala city)
and there scized Bahram Khan and flayed his head.

2 There are as usual doubts about these names. Kamal or Kamaél-ud-din
Miin is called Kamaluddin Mabin by Badaoni, and he is the only Ray mention-
ed by name by him. According to him Igbal Khan met the Riys after he had
flayed the head of Bahram Khén ; and he did not imprison them, but took them
with him when he went to attack Khizr Khan. Ray Khaljin Behti is elsewhere
called Ray Dulchain. His son’s name~appears as s ¢ ).m and ¢ in the lith.
edn. and the MSS.

3 Ajodhan is as T have already noted the modern Pakpattan or Pattan-i-
Shaikh Fariduddin Ganj-i-Shakar. Col. Ranking has a rather long note in p.
362, Vol. I of his translation of Bad&oni. He has translated P&kpattan as the
ferry of the pure. Pattan may however mean city as in the names of many
places in 8. India. (Sans: THHY)

4 Dehenda is a stream which leaves the main stteam of the Satlej to the
eagt of Ajodhan flowing S.-W., and joins it again about 36 miles lower down
See note 3 in the same page of Col. Ranking’s translation of Badaond.

5 Badéoni says his horse was wounded and could not bear him off the field
and he was pursued and his head was cut off.
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When this news reached Dehli, Doulat Khan and Ikhtyar Khan
and other Amirs who were there summoned Mahmid Shah from
Kanouj ; and in the month of Jamadi-ul-dkhir of the aforesaid vear,
Mahmiid Shah came to Dehli and, again sat on the throne; and the
family and children and relations and dependants of Tqbal Khan
were expelled from Dehli and sent to Kol, but none of them was
injured in any way. The Foujdari of the Doab was entrusted to
Doulat Khan, and Firozabid was placed in charge of Tkhtyvar Khan.
At this time Aqlim Khan and Bahadur Nahir each brought two
elephants as tribute, and rendered homage.

Sultdan Mahmid, after achieving success and gaining his object,
in the year 809 A.H. (1406 A.D.) raised his standard and marched
towards Jaunpir with the object of avenging the insult with which
he had been treated ; and he sent Doulat Khan with a large army
against ! Biram Khan Turkbacha, who after Bahram Khan Turk-
bacha had been slain had taken possession of Samanah. When
Mahmud Shah reached the neighbourhood of Kanouj, Sultan Ibrahim
came to oppose him from Jaunpir; and the two armies encamped in
front of each other on the bank of the river (Ganges ; and for ome
days battle raged furiously. But in the end, by the exertions of the
amirs, peace was concluded. Each one went back to his own place.

After their return, Sultin Ibrahim Shah being under the im-
pression that most of Sultan Mahmiid’s amirs and soldiers had at
this time become scattered, and knowing it to be a good 6pportuuity,
came to Kanouj. Malik Mahmiid Tarmati who was the Governor of
Kanouj on behalf of Sultan Mahmiid remained in the fort and fought
for four months, but when he became despondent of help and re-
inforcement from Sultin Mahmid begged for safety, from Sultan
Ibrahim and handed Kanouj over to him. Sultan Ibrahim placed
Kanouj in charge of lkhtvar Khin, grandson of > Malik Doulatyar
Kambala ; and spent the rainy season there.

And in the year 810 A.H. (1407 A.D.)® Nasrat Khan Karkindaz,

1 Bad#éoni does not mention him at all, or the expedition against him.

2 The lith. edn. and all the MSS. have alsiS )l; eJgs Slo. Badaoni Persian
text has a.l.uv.\{ sli =Jge e and the English translation Malik Doulatydr of
Kampila.

3 In the Persian text of Baddon he is ealled)".)i'f f & @yai Nasrat Khin
the wolfslayer, but in the English translation it is Karkandaz.
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and Tatar Khan, son of Sarang Khan, and Malik Marhaba a slave of
Igbal Khan separated themselves from Mahmid Shah and went over
to Sultan lbrahim. The latter went from there (Kanouj)and went to
! Sambal. Asad Khan Lodi who was the agent of Sultan Mahmid,
after two days, handed over the fortress of Sambal to him without
any struggle. Sultdn Ibrahim entrusted that place to Tatar Khan;
and turned towards Dehli. When he arrived on the bank of the
2 fumna, and was about to cross it, news came that Zafar Khan, the
ruler of Gujrat, had conquered the country of Malwa, and ® Alap Khan
son of Dilawar Khan, who had assumed the title of Sultain Hoshang,
was a prisoner in his hand.* Immediately on (receipt of) this news
he turned back and went to Jaunpar.

In the month of Zigadah of the aforesaid year Sultan Mahmiud
marched to the town of Baran to attack Malik Marhaba, who had
heen appointed to be governor of that place by Sultan Ibrahim. He
came out of the fort to give battle; but in the first onset was
defeated, and retreated into the fort. The troops of Mahmuad Shah
pursued him and entered the fort, and slew him. Mahmid Shah
then marched to Sambal. Tatar Khan did not fight, but leaving
Sambal fled to Kanouj ; and » Mahmud Shah left Asad Khan Lodi at
Sambal and went back to Dehli.

On the® 5th Rajab 809 A.H. (1406 A.D.) there was a battle

1 In Rohilkhand.

2 Baddon adds 23 slya 30 438 )3%, which Col. Ranking translates near
the fort of Kicha in the vicinity of Dehli. Fort is evidently a misprint for
ford.

3 The name is given variously in the lith. edn. and in the MSS. as
NS :J' and !, The fact of his Jeing taken prisoner is not mentioned
by Badaoni who says wlhlm) .))'.) )J’o};)‘? KW 80).5 }as...J' ') )lné M).c k’)li ’D.E
.).}.J.L») )):)j}?:’ ')))';Jj').:uo d ’KJ' l,.\k')_ﬂ

4 The lith. edn. and all the MSS. have JA o OyPe) without any word
like 4wy or owol,

5 Badaoni has (3:lew yphwdy ¥4e f\ﬁ Ko o h e Sgemo ol
elds o >l Col. Ranking translates this, Sultan Mahmiid taking Sambhal
without a fight left there Basad Khan §fter his usual custom; instead of saying
left it as before in charge of Asad Khan,

6 We have already had an account of events occurring in 810 but we are
now having an account of some events of the preceding year. The lith. and
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between Daulat Khan and Biram Khan Turkbacha at a distance
of two Karohs from Samanah, and Biram Khan was defeated and
going to! Sirhind entrenched himself there ; and at last begging for
quarter saw Doulat Khan. As Biram Khan had before this sworn
allegiance to Khizr Khan, and afterwards broken faith with him,
Khizr Khan collected a force and attacked Doulat Khan. The latter
unable to oppose him crossed the river Jumna. All the Amirs who
had joined him, now left him and came to Khizr Khan. (The latter)
made over Hisar Firoza to Qawam Khan. He took Samanah and
Sunam from Biram Khan and made them over to Zirak Khan
and entrusted Sirhind with a few other parganas to Biram Khan, and
himself returned towards Fatehpur. At this time only the Doab and
Rohtak remained in the possession of Sultan Mahmud.

In the year 811 A.D. (1408 A.D.) Sultdn Mahmid marched against
Qawam Khan and the latter took shelter in Hisar Firoza, and after
some days sent his son with a large tribute to the Sultan, and made
his excuses, and the Sultan returning from there went to Dehli.
Khizr Khan hearing this news came to Fatehabad; and harassed
the people of the place, who had joined with Mahmad Shah ; and
appointed Malik Tuhfa to overrun the Doab, and? Dehatarat which
had been in the possession of the Sultin. 3 Fateh Khan marching
from Dehataral went towards the Doab ; and some people who had
remained in Dehatarat were taken prisoner and Khizr Khan came
from Rohtak to Dehli. Mahmad Shah, getting into FKirozabad,
gained some strength, and after besieging the citadel of Firozabad
returned to Fatehpar without achieving his object.

some of the MSS. have no date though they have the word fJ Hl . Two MSS.
have ¢=\-\g , 5th.

1 It is called Od2 yews , 332 12 and 982 yo g

2 Tt is difficult to make out this name. The lith. edn. has »._.-JSlu and the
MSS. have wylles, "5)3133 and ‘4’)3(‘50 . Badaoni in his account of the events of
this year, i.c. 811 A.H. says Sultan Mahmid having taken Hisar Firoza from
Qawam Khin é;; Oy ‘_}m) $3um) &5y wlad which Col. Ranking has translated

“on arriving at the village of Rata returned to Dehli” @;-’L‘l‘- is therefore
&J) wl2d or as one MS. of Badaoni has & ) @l2d put I cannot say where Rata
or Rana was.

3 The lith. edn. and the MSS. all say Fateh Kh#n but it does not appear
who he was. The name may be a mistake for Khizr Khan.
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And in the year 812 A.H. (1409 A.D.) Biram Khan, becoming
hostile to Khizr Khan, went to Doulat Khan, and sent his family
and dependants to the hilly country. When Khizr Khan pursuing
him arrived on the bank of the river Jumna, he became repentant,
and again went back with humility into the service of Khizr Khan.
and the parganas which were formerly his jiigir were confirmed
to him. Khizr Khan returning from there came to Fatehpur.

In the year 813 A-H. (1410 A.D.) Khizr Khan marched to attack
Malik Idris who was governor of Rohtak on the side of Mahmid Shah :
and the latter took shelter in the fort of Rohtak, and went on fighting
for a period of six months ; but at last feeling his weakness sent his son
as a hostage, and sending large sums as tribute did homage. Khizr
Khan then went to Fatehpur by the way of SAmanah. After the re-
turn of Khizr Khan, Mahmid Shah came back to Dehli, after!
hunting in Kaithal, and# in these circumstances occupied himself
with play and amusement.

And in the year 814 A.H (1411. A.D.) Khizr Khan marched
towards Rohtak which was among the countries in the possession
of Mahmid Shah. Malik Idris and Mubiriz Khan his brother went
forward to welcome him, and rendered homage to him at Hansi.
Khizr Khan made their hearts glad by shewing them great kindness
and favour, and after that pillaged the town of Narnoul which was held
by Aqlim Khan and Bahadur Nahir, and then went to Dehli and be-
sieged the citadel of Siri. Mahmid Shah took shelter in the citadel
and made dying efforts ; and Ikhtiyar Khan who was his governor in
Firozabad joined the service of Khizr Khan. The latter then march-
ed from before the gate of the citadel of Siri and alighted in the
palace of Firozabad, and took possession of the towns of the Doab and
the environs of the capital. But on account of the dearth of grain
and fodder abandoned the siege ; and went by the way of Panipat in
the year 815 AH. (1412 A.D.) to Fatehpir. And in the month of
Rajab of the aforesaid year, Muhmiid Shah went towards Kaithal on
a hunting excursion, and returned to Dehll, and on the way in the
month of Zigadah of the same year he fell ill, and in the course

1 Badaoni mentions the expedition to Kaithar (same as Kaithal) but he
does not say what the object of the expedition was.
2 i.e. I suppose in spite of his enemy being at his door,
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of the mouth died. From that date the sovereignty passed from the
dynasty of Firoz Shah. The reign of Sultin Mahmiad Shah, son
of Sultain Muhammad Shah, son of Firoz Shah which was nothing
but a name extended to twenty years and two months.

After that, for two months, there was great disturbance in
Dehli. The Amirs of Sultin Mahmid Shah did homage to Doulat
Khéan. Malik Idris and Mubariz Khan, turning from Khizr Khan
joined Doulat Khan. Khizr Khan passed this year in Fatehpir. In
the month of Muharram 816 A.H. (1414 A.D.) Doulat Khan marched
towards Kaithar ; Ray Narsingh and other Rays came and did him
service. When he arrived in the town of Patiali ' Mahabat Khan
Baddoni came to his service. At this time news came that Sultan
Ibrahim Sharqi had besieged Qadir Khan, son of Mahmid Khan,
at Kalpi and Doulat Khan did not have such a force that he could
match himself against 2 Sultan lbrahim, so he turned back and came
to Dehli. 1In the month of Ramazin of that year, Khizr Khan
turned towards Dehli, and when he arrived at Hisar Firoza, the Amirs
of that country came to render him service, and became his well
wishers. Malik ldris remained in the fort of Rohtak. Khizr Khan
did not interfere with him, and leaving that place went to Miwat.
Jalal Khin. nephew of Bahadur Nahir there came to do him service.
? From that place he went to the town of Sambal and after pillaging
and devastating the place, came again to Dehli in the month of Zihif-
jeh of that vear, and encamped before the gate of Siri; and Doulat
Khin defended the place for four months. At last Malik * Yinan and
other supporters of Khizr Khan seized the gate of the® Butkhanah
by stratagem ; and Doulat Khan, finding that things had passed
beyond his power, had out of necessity to ask for quarter, and came
and saw Khizr Khan. The latter placed him in charge of Qawam

1 BadAoni calls him the Wali of Badaun.

2 Two of the MSS. have Sharg after Sultan Tbrahim’s name.

3 The lith. edn. and one MSS. has 4L 5 Lill '

¢ This name is very variously given. The lith. edn. has Uy’ and the MSS.
have wUs: and Uy and Us2 Bad@oni has Uy, Lana,

5 The. lith. edn. has !,il& =Jyd %ls)9 the gate of Doulat Khan which is of
course incorrect, The MSS, have &ilsi; ¥;ly)9, except one which has <) g 3)",)-5
ala,
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Khan ; and ordered that he should be kept under imprisonment in
Hisar Firoza ; and this happened in the month of Rabi-ul-awwal!
817 A.H. (1415 A.D.)

2 RAYAT ’Avl Kuizr KHAN SON OF MALIK SULEMAN,

It is related that Malik Marwan Doulat who was one of the
Amirs of Sultan Firoz Shah had adopted Malik Sulemén the father of
Khizr Khan in his childhood, and had brought him up; and it is cor-
rectly related that Amir Marwan Doulat had Amir Jalal Bukhari,
may his tomb remain holy, as a guest, and at the time of beginning,
their repast Malik Suleman was employed by order of Malik Marwan
Doulat in washing the hands of the assembled guests. Saiyad Jalal
declared that this service was not proper for the young Saiyad-zadah ;
and from the words of Mir Saiyad Jalal the fact of Malik Suleman’s
lineage was verified. Khizrr Khan was a voung man, pious, truthful,
of amiable manners, and of pure morals ; and the purity of his beliefs
and the greatness of his position are proofs of his noble lineage.

Couplet : Although from training come actions good, but
Praiseworthy qualities from noble lineage spring.

In short in the time of Sultan Firoz Shah, Malik Marwan Doulat
was in charge of Multan ; and after his death Malik Sheikh held charge,
and after a short time died. Then Sultan Firoz Shab made Multan
over to Khizr Khan, and from that time Khizr Khan became one of
the great Amirs: and even before he took possession of Dehli, he had
carried on great wars, and obtained great victories, as has been
narrated. On the 3 15th of the month of Rabi’-ul-awwal 817 A.H.

1 The lith. edn. has &ileles o ;iim &ws year 810 A.H. which is certainly
incorrect. All the MSS. have &ililes o y‘-'w 5 B & year 817 A H. Badaoni
has &ileile wa P & year 816 AH. He also gives the date of the
month, 17th.

2 That is the heading of the lith. edn. and most of the MS8S. One MS. has
o yas wible. Baddoni has Khe o Spdl Ko o s paa e sheo
wlels  Although in the heading Khizr Khan is said to be the son of Malik
Ashraf, the latter is not mentioned at all later on.

3 Badaoni says he took possession of Dehli on the 17th Rabi’ul-awwal of

816 A. H.; but the lith. edn. and all the MSS. of the Tabaqat give the date and
year given in the text.
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(1415 A.D.) he took possession of Dehli and although he possessed the
status of sovereignty and the paraphernalia of royalty he never gave
himself the title of Badshah, but assumed the title of Rayat-i-'ali;
and had the name of Amir Taimiir in the coin and in the public
prayer in the early part of his reign, and later that of Mirza Shah
Rukb ; and in the end, the name of Khizr Khan was inserted in
the coin and in the public prayer.

He conferred the title of Taj-ul-Mulk on ! Malik Tuhfa and made
him the Vazir ; gave the province of Saharanpur to Saiyad Salim ; and
Multdin and Fatehpir to Malik ‘Abd-ur-Rahim, adopted son of Malik
Sulemén, on whom he conferred the title of ‘Ala-ul-Mulk. He made
Malik Sarwar the Shahna (Superintendent) of the city, Malik
Khair-ud-din Khani the paymaster of the forces, Malik Kald the
superintendent of the elephants and Malik Da’ud the secretary. He
appointed Ikhtiyar Khan to the government of the Doab, and confirm-
ing to all the Khanazadas of Sultin Mahmid such stipends and
gratuities as they had, sent them to their jaigirs.

In the same year he sent Taj-ul-Mulk with a large army towards
Badain and Kaithar so that he might punish the rebels of that
country and make them (peaceful) raiyats. Taj-ul-Mulk crossed the
Jumna and the 2 Ganges, and arriving in Kaithar severely punished
the Zamindars of that country. Ray ® Narsingh fled and took shelter
in the * Valley of Aniila and when he was reduced to great straits, he
humbly paid revenue and became a rayat; and Mahabat Khan the
governor of Badaun also came in and rendered service. From that
place ® (Ta] ul- 'VIulk) marched along the bank of the Rahab, came to

1 Badaonl calls him Malik Nahr but one MS. has Tuhfa. The lith. edn.

of the Tabaqat has s> and one MSS. s3 but the other MSS. have PrE

2 Badaoni says he crossed the Ganges at the ford of Piraha.

3 Badaoni as before calls him Rai Harsingh ; so does the lith. edn. of the
Tabaqét, but two of the MSS. have Narsingh, one Barsingh and one Bir Singh.

4 The lith. edn. and most of the MSS. have &),/ ¥ )0. One MS. has
Jy! 8;'& ). Badaoni, Persian text has oy 3l &lyil s 9, j.e. took shelter
in the jungle of Aniila; but in the English translation it is ‘“in the forests of
that country,” and in a note it is said that one MS. has =¥yl Sia LN &5)5'
geems to have been converted to =¥yl .

5 Badaoni says that Taj-ul-Mulk and Mahabat Khan marched along the
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the ford of Sargadwari, and crossing the river Ganges, punished the
Kafirs of Kahwar which is now known as ! Shamsabad and 2 Kambala
marched to the town of Badham by way of the town of3 Sakit.
Hasan Khan ruler of ¢ Rapari and > Hamza his brother came and saw
him; and Ray® Sar also becoming humble and submissive came and
did service; and the Rajas of 7 Gwaliar®* Rabri and Chandwar also
paid revenue. He took the town of Jalesar from the possession of the
Rajputs of Chandwar, and made it over to the Musalmans who had
formerly held it, and appointed a superintendent of it, and marching
thence to the country of Gwaliar pillaged and devastated it, and took
from the Rav the annual tribute which had been fixed before; and
from there went to Chandwar and taking revenue from Narsingh
zamindar of Kambala and Batiali, crossed the river Jumna near
Chandwar, and so returned to Dehli.

In the month of Jamadi-ul-iwwal news came that a? horde of

Rahab. In the Tabaqat, neither the lith. edn. nor any of the MSS. says dis-
tinctly who did so, but of course Taj-ul-Mulk is understood.
1 Shamsabad is a town in Farrukhabdd district, N.-W.P., situated on the

S. bank of the Buriganga, 18 miles N.-W. of Fatehgarh. Hunter Gaz. Ind.
vol, TI. 375.

2 BadAoni has Kampila. The lith. edn. of the Tabaqat has &3S and the
MSS. have 4bS and dl-}‘kf .

3 Sakit is on the direct route between Kampila and Rapari, 12 miles S.-E.
of BEtah town. See note 4, p. 377 of Col. Ranking’s translation of Badaoni.

4+ Rapari is a village with ruins 44 miles S8.-W. of Mainpiiri town. See note 5,
p- 377 of the Eng. trans. of Badaoni.

5 He is turned into Hamra in the Eng. translation, though he is Hamza
right enough in the Persian text of Badaoni.

6 He is called Rai Sarin Ba,diiogi. The lith. edn. of the Tabaqat has jyyw
but the MSS. s except one which has yimw . .

7 The readings vary ; the lith. edn. has ;U )’)éi% 299 SWLE &aly, and
one MS. has ) 5 Na 5 (o) 5 (0 3 WS &by, two (53 JbSS 2l
5'y oo Badaoni has tox! de ;WIS s 5y sia Fﬂ“}“ <l

8 Rabri is written differently from Rapari above.

9 The author of the: Tabaqat has omitted to mention that Khizr Khan took
away the territory of Firozpir and Sirhind from Biram Khan and made them
over to Saiyad Khizr Khan the younger son of Malik Mubarak and the latter
appointed Malik Sudhu Nahir to be his Naib. This is narrated by Bad&oni, who

however calls Sudhu N&hir ¥)0U s20.. Shahzada Mubarak Kh&n of the
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Turks of the tribe of Biram Khan Turkbacha had taken possession of
the fort of Sirhind. after treacherously slaying Malik Sudhu Nahir
who had been appointed Governor of that place on behalf of Shahzada
Mubarak Khan. Khizr Khan sent Zirak Khan with a large army
against them. The Turks crossed the river Satlad (Sutlej) and went
into the hilly country. Zirak Khan pursued them there ; and for two
months tried his best. but had to return without attaining his object.

And in the month of Rajab of the same year Sultan Ahmad
Gujrati besieged the fort of ' Nagor. Khizr Khan started for the place
by way of Tadah in order to suppress this disturbance. Sultan
Ahmad returned to his own kingdom without meeting him in battle.
Khizr Khan turning back went to the city of? Nau-urus-Jahan,
which was among those founded by Sultan ‘Alauddin Khilji. Tlyas
the Governor of that city came and saw him. The Sultan after
punishing the disturbers of peace of that country turned towards
Gwaliar.  As it was difficult to capture the fort, he took the revenue
which was fixed, from the Ray; and marched to Bianah ; and levied
tribute from Shams Khan Auhadi the governor; and then returned
to Dehh.

And in the year 820 A.H. (1417 A.D.) news came of the
 rebellion of Taghan and some Turks who had killed Malik Sudhu.

text is according to Bad@oni Saiyad Khizr Khén the younger son of Malik
Mubarak.

) Nagor is in Jodhpur State, Rajputuna, 48 miles N.-W. of Nasirabad and
75 miles N.- L. of Jodhpur city. In Briggs’ translation of Ferishtah (I. 507) it is
changed into Bagor.

2 Theve is considerable ditticulty about this name. 'The lith. edn. and most
of the MSS. read ol Uw)fﬁ ﬂw One MS. has b= u"))-c)j gt~ - Icon-
sider this last the correct reading; the meaning being the city (called, the new
bride of the earth;) if .l is read as (2= on (42 as in different MSS. of
Badaoni or as Jalwar or Javiidr ag in Ferishtah then the phrase 9y )5 ﬂ«'ﬁ
is meaningless: whereas l¢> 9yc 3 although poetic and bombastic has a
very clear meaning. It is the separation of Jahén from Nau-urus and the
attempt to make Jah&n the name of some city which has been the cause of all the
confusion. 1t is true that Bad@oni has not got (myye )5 }‘,.3; but Ferishtah has.
See note 2 p. 379 of Ranking’s trans. of Badaoni vol. I.

3 Bad#oni does not give any of the details. He only says (. )«fw Lo LI
535 yd 333y pasue Sho LW &S 5 Eelen 5 el Wlép (AP ) BLILS

) L3ilaf bl 1) alelen ly 3 0yel b & S5
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Zirak Khan the Governor of SamAnah was appointed to attack them :
when he came near ! Simanah the rebels abandoned (the seige of) the
fort of Sirhind, and returned to the hiils. Malik Kamal Budhan
who had been beleaguered in the fort, having obtained his release
came to do service to Zirak Khan. The latter pursuing the enemy
reached the town of Pael. Tughan, who was the leader of the Turks.
made his submission, agreed to pay tribute, and gave his son as
hostage, and separated the Turks who had slain Malik Sudhu from
himself. Zirak Khan returned towards Samanah and sent the tribute
and Taghan's son to Khizr Khan.

In the year 821 A.H. (1418 A.D.) Khizr Khan sent Taj-ul-Mulk
to attack Ray Narsingh, the Raja of Kaithar. When the army crossed
the Ganges, Narsingh vacating the country returned to the jungle of
% Anulah, and after some struggles under the shelter of the forest was
routed ; his horses, and arms, and all equipage were seized, and some
troops, having pursued him to the mountains of Kamalin. acquired
much booty and on the fifth day again joined the main army. After
that Taj-ul-Mulk came to the bank of the river Ganges by way of
Badaun, and having crossed the river by the ford of Bajlaneh, he
dismissed Mahabat Khan, the governor of Badain, and advanced on
Itawah. Ray ® Sar took shelter in the town. Taj-ul-Mulk plundered
the country, but at last entered into an agreement, and in the month
of Rabl’ul-akhir of the same year returned to Dehli. In the same
year Khizr Khan marched out with the object of punishing the dis-
turbers and insurgents of Kaithar. He first punished the rebels of the
country of Kol, and then crossing the river Rahab devastated Sambal.
He then, in the month of Zi-qadeh of the aforesaid year, moved in the
direction of Badaiin, and crossed.the river Ganges near Patiali. From
these incidents Mahabat Khan’s heart was panic-stricken. He went

1 The lith. edn. and all the MSS. have Samanah and 1 have retained it in
the text but I think the correct reading should be Sirhind. Zirak Khan would
start from Samanah to go to Sirhind.

2 Bad#@oni here gives the correct name of the jyngle, (and says that it has «
circumference of 24 karohs) instead of, as in the narration of the events of a pre-
vious attack on the country, calling it the <x¥y)! USa . Col. Ranking has
anwla as the transliteration of 6’)5' .

3 There is the usual variation about this name between g« and jgyw and yiw:
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to Badaun and in the month of Zi-hijjeh he shut himself up in
the fort, and six months were passed in battles and warfare. About
this time some nobles such as Qawam Khan and lkhtivar Khan and
all the adherents of Mahmad Shah, who had separated from Doulat
Khan and joined Khizr Khan, meditated treason against the latter.
Khizr Khan became aware of this. abandoned the siege and turned
towards Dehii, and in the course of the march on the bank of the
Ganges on the 20th of the month of Jamadi-ul-awwal of the year 822
AH. (1418 A.D.) he put Qawam Khan, and Ikhtiyar Khan and the
adherents of Mahmiid Shah, and all the traitors to death and then
arrived in Dehli.

After a few days news came that a ' man had got an idea of
creating a disturbance into his head. and giving himself the name of
Sarang Khan was collecting men in the hills of Bajwarah. (Khizr
Khan), conferred the government of Sirhind on 2Malik Sultan Shah
Bahram Lodi and appointed him to attack him. Malik Sultan Shah
reached Sirbind in the month of Rajab of that vear. and Sarang issu-
ing from the hills came as far as the river Satlad. The people of
Riapar joined him, and a battle took place in the neighbourhood of
Sirhind. Sarang was defeated and went towards the town of 3 Lahori.
one of the dependencies of Sirhind. Khwajeh ‘Ali Indrani, came with
his forces and saw Sultan Shah ; and * Zirak Khan, governor of Sama-

1 Badaonl calls him ..;J)&’.V" &y i.o. an obscure person, and as regards
Sarang Khiin he says Sy ¥4 &4S il (s &5 who had before this been
killed. As regards the place he says !y 333> 33 in the limits of Bajwarah
but Ferishtah has ¥)lsa Lo ~J-¢}J near Machiwarah. Michiwarah according to
the "Ain Akbarl was situated on the bank of the Satlaj and in Rennel's map it is
figured between Rupar and Liidhianah, and lies 23 miles S. of the last named town
and is a very anciont city mentioned in the Mahabharata. Bajwarahis further N.
uear HoshiArpur. (See note 2, p. 380, Col. Ranking’s trans. of Badaoni; vol. 1.

2 He is called in the Persian toxt of Badaoni d“))J &% uUﬁL» , but in the
Eng, trans. he iy called Sulta@n Shah Lodi.

3 That is the name in the lith. edn. and the MSS., Bad&oni says 6—"«8’\3;5
ool yo wu...k)ﬁ.g .

4 Badaoni does not mention the various leaders who with their forces were
sent against the imposter Sarang. Col. Ranking makes some additions from
Ferishtah who according to him says that Sultdn Shah Lodi was called Islam
Khan and was the Governor of Sirhind. He also adds that Isldm Khan pur
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nah and Taghan Turkbacha, governor of Jalandhar, also came to
Sirhind to help Sultan Shah. Sarang turning back went to Ripar,
and when the armies pursued him to that place he fled into the hilly
country ; and the troops halted there. And in the meantime Malik
Khair-ud-din who had also been directed to attack Sarang came with
a large force ; and in the month of Ramazin of the aforesaid year
reached Ripar, and for some time they all remained in the hilly
country, and when Sarang’s followers became dispersed he with a few
men concealed himself in the hills, and the armies returned. Malik
Khair-ud-din turned his face towards the capital and Zirak Khan went
back to Samanah. while Sultan Shah with his troops stationed himself
at Rupar. At this time Sarang came out of the hills and in the month
of Muharram 823 A.H. (1420 A.D.) joined Tighan and the latter
treacherously slew him. During this time Khizr Khan was taking some
rest in the capital ; and sent Taj-ul-Mulk to subdue the Zamindars
of Ttawah and its neighbourhood ; and he marched to ! Kol by way
of Baran and exterminated the vebels of that country and having
sacked Mouza Dahli, which was a place of great strength, went to
Itawah. Ray %8ar held out in Ttawah but in the end came to terms.
and agreed to pay the revenue that had been fixed. Taj-ul-Mulk went
to Chandwar and plundered and laid it waste and then went to Kaithar,
and having taken tribute from Ray Narsingh returned to the city.
And in the month of Rajab of the aforementioned year news came
that * Taghan Turkbacha had again shown hostility, and had besieged
the fort of Sirhind, and had overrun the country up to the houndary
of Mansurpur and Pael. Khizr Khan sent Khair-ud-din against him,

sued Sérang Khan with certain other Maliks, but returned upon finding that
he had hidden himself. See notes 3 and 4, p- 380, vol. T of his translation of
Badaoni.

1 Badaoni does not mention these movements. He contents himself with
saying that T&j-ul-Mulk was sent to Itawah.

2 Written )syw in the lith. edn. and ™ or g~ in the MSS. 1In the Persian
text of Badaoni he is_pw u?' » Ray Sir, but in the Eng. trans. he is changed into
Rai Sipar.

3 Badaonl does not also give any details of “Tughan’s rebellions and of the

=teps taken against him. He only says 5 &isufi! ails Sy 30 3k ) Lok
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and he arriving at Simanah in concert with Zirak Khan pursued him.
The latter crossing the Satlad near Ludhianah came to the territory
of Jasrath Khokhar. Tughan’s Jaigir was then conferred on Zirak
Khan ; and Malik Khair-ud-din returned to Dehli.

Khizr Khan placed the foot of determination in the stirrup of
bravery in the year 824 A H. (1421 A.D.) for the subjugation of the
insurgents of Miwat. Some of them betook themselves in the fort
of the Kotla of Bahadur Nahir, and some came and had interview
with Khizr Khian. When the fort was beleaguered the Miwatians
came and opposed him; but in the first charge they fled and the
Kotlah was seized. The Miwatians retired to the hills. Khizr Khan
demolished the fort, and marched towards Gwaliar. On the 8th
Muharram of that year Taj-ul-Mulk died, and Sikandar his eldest son
was made Vazir and obtained the title of Malik-ush-Sharq. The
Raja of Gwaliar shut himself up in the fort. his territory was pillaged
and (Khizr Khan) having also levied tribute from him, marched
towards Itiwah. Ray Sar was® dead but his son did homage and
agreed to pay tribute. At this time Khizr Khan became ill and re-
turned towards Dehli, and on the 17th of Jamadi-ul-awwal 824 A H.
(1421 A.D.) he was united with the mercy of God. The period of
his reign was seven years and two months and two days. 2 Many
charities and benefactions came into existence from him and people
who had during the disturbances caused by Taimdar's invasion had
lost everything and been reduced to poverty during his auspicious
day+ again became happy and prosperous.

SULTAN MUBARAK SHAH SON OF Rivyar-A’ra KHizr KHaAN,

When the illness of Khizr Khan became severe, three days before
his death, he made Mubarak Khan his successor ; and one day after his
death Mubarak Khan with the consent of the amirs sat on the throne
of sovereignty and adopted the title of Mubarak Shah. He conferred
on everyone of the amirs and maliks and great men and Imams who

1 Badaoni instead of our author’s 3y l‘é)f u)-’ i.e. had died, has 435) S
d42 had gone to hell.

2 Badaoni does not suy anything about Khizr Khan’s qualities and virtues.
Col. Ranking quotes from Ferishtah that he was a just and wise King and his
subjects loved him and mourned for him. Note 2, p. 381, vol. I.
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had during the reign of Khizr Khin any stipend or gratuity from
any !parganah or village the same stipends and increased them in
some cases. He transferred Firozabad and Hansi from Malik Rajab
Nadirah to his own nephew Malik Badah ; and in place of these gave
Dibalpur to Malik Rajab.

At this time the news of the rebellion of 2 Sheikba Khokhar and
Tughan Rals came. The reason of Sheikba’s revolt was this, that in
the month of Jamadi-ul-awwal 823 A.H. (1420 A.D.) Sultan ‘Ali the
badshah of Kashmir had come to Thatha. When he was returning
from Thatha, Sheikha met him and engaged him in battle. Asthearmy
of Sultan -Al: was scattered about. he was defeated and taken prisoner
by Sheikha. The latter’s brain was deranged on account of the enor-
mous plunder and the large quantity of riches he had got, and the
thought of revolt entered his head. He formed a resolution of seizing
Dehli and the empire of Hindustan. He overran the parganas in
his vicinity and crossing the river Satlad, sacked the * Talwandi of
Rai Kamal M#’in. Ray Firoze, the Zamindar of that place fled, and
retired towards the Jumna. Sheikha coming to the town of Liadhiana,
overran the country as far as the boundary of Rapar ; and afterwards
crossing the Sutlej besieged the fort of Jalandhar. Zirak Khan, the
governor of the fort, shut himself up in it and gave battle. Sheikha
proposing terms of peace required that Zirak Khan should vacate the
fort, and make it over to Tughin who would send his son to do service
to Mubarak Shah and Sheikbd himself should also send tribute to the
latter. On the 2nd of Jamadi-ul-akhir 824 A.H. (1421 A.D). Zirak
Khan came out of the citadel of Jalandhar, and with* a group of the

1 The lith. edn. and some of the MSS. have %3/ &*5}3)' t.e. from the par-
ganas of Oudh ; two MSS. omit ¥5,! ;m‘but one MS. has ¥4 &»\f)—’ i.e. from par-
ganah and village. This is clearly the correct reading and 1 have accepted it.

2 Badaoni says that it was Jasrat Khokar, the son of Sheikha that raised the
revolt. Ferishtah also says that it was Jasrat but he says he was the brother of
Sheikha. The lith. edn. and most the MSS. of the Tabaqat say that it was
Sheikha; but one MS. says it was Sheikha and Jasrat.

3 This agrees with Badaoni and Ferishtah. Talwandi Col. Ranking thinks is
identical with Tulloom or the N. bank of the Satlaj in Rennel’'s map 20 miles
S.8,W. of Ludhiana. Ray Kamal Miin is Ry Kamaluddin Miibin of Bad&oni,

¢ The Readings of this sentence are various and doubtful. What I have

translated as with a group may be (s )Jj or be ;29 )f 4J with three groups or
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army of Sheikha encamped on the bank of the river Md’in. On the
following day Sheikha broke the agreement and attacking Zirak Khan
made him prisoner; and raised the standard of hostility anew. He
crossed the Sutlej and came to Lidhidna, and on the 20th Jamadi-
ul-akhir of the aforesaid year arrived in Sirhind. Sultan Shah Lodi
governor of the place shut himself up in the fort, and as the rainy
season had commenced Sheikha although he tried hard could not
take it.

And in the month of Rajab of the aforesaid year Sultain Mu-
barak Shah marched out of the capital in spite of the rain, and
advanced towards Sirhind. When he arrived near Samanak Sheikha
went towards Ludhianah. Zirak Khan joined Sultan Mubarak Shah
at Samanah, and the latter advanced to Liudhianah. Sheikha cross-
ing the Sutlej, encamped on the other side of the river opposite to
the Sultan’s army. 'As the river was broad, and all the boats had
tallen into Sheikha’s hands Mubarak Shah was unable to cross it;
and for forty days the two armies faced each other. When Canopus
rose and the river became narrower Mubarak Shah marched along the
river towards Qabulpur and Sheikha also marching along his bank of
the river, everyday, encamped opposite the Sultan’s army ; till on
the 11th of the month of Shawwal of the aforesaid year, the Sultan
sent Malik Sikandar Tuhfah, and Zirak Khan, and Mahmid Hasan,
and Malik Kalt and other amirs with a large army and six elephants
higher up the river. so that on the following morning they might reach
a ford and cross the river; and he himself made arrangements for
doing so. Sheikba not having the strength to oppose him fled

=t ;;f o with a leader. The MSS. which have 4-:. with three, have the figure
" above the &= so that there may be no doubt at all. The namo of the river
or stream may be anything = men or ¢»< Miin or  y* Hein. Baddaoni says
s Sy s g 3l c!Lo 3 fl.o oF g ol ");" gw).q ol us & gt
e le Sl ie. Jasrat encamped on the bank of the Sarasvati and thero were
words of peace and agreement and he treacherously made Zirak Khan prisoner.
The river according to Badaoni is Sarasvati but the word in the lith. edn. and in
the MSS. cannot be tortured into that.

1 Badaoni does not give all these details. He only says t.,L\t-w t)U: /’.' D)
ey, @rma 5 08 Bas Lo ot 3 ke 5 0% S Of e, and after the rising
of Canopus the river hecame fordable and the Sultan crossed it and Jasrat fled.
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towards Jalandhar and a large quantity of equipage, and wealth
fell as booty into the hands of the Sultan’s army; and a large number
of Sheikha’s troops both cavalry and infantry were slain. The
Sultan’s army pursued Sheikha as far as the river ! Chinab. Sheikba
crossing the river got into the? mountains. * Ray Bhim, Raja of
Jamiln, came to vender service to the Sultin and guiding the troops
took them across the Chinab to *Thikah which was the strongest of
Sheikha’s strongholds, and they laid it waste; and taking Sheikba’s
followers who had been scattered among the mountains, prisoner, the
Sultdn returned safe and loaded with much booty in the month of
Muharram of 825 A.H. (1421 A.D.) to Lahore. He stayed for a month
in Lahore, which had been reduced completely to ruins: and occupied
himself with the rebuilding of the fort and the gates. When the fort
was restored, and most, of the people came back and settled in their
old residences, he appointed Malik Mahmad Hasan to be the governor,
and left 2000 horsemen with him, and giving him a complete equipage
for holding the fort, returned to Dehli.

In the month of Jamadi-ul-akhir of the aforesaid vear ® Sheikha
Khokhar in concert with the zamindars, collected a large body of
horsemen and foot soldiers, and laying the foundation of disturbance
and revolt came to Lahore ; and encamped near the tomb of Saiyad
Hasan ® Zinjani. May God sanctify him ! and on the 11th of the afore-

1 Badaoni calls it the ’JL\&? Chhindo, though C'ol. Ranking transliterates it
as Chhinab.

: Badaoni is more definite and says So! )3 §5 Lo )-\J«—'\'-’ s which Col. Rank-
ing translates ‘ to Talhar in the hill tracts,” and adds in a note that it is iden-
tical with Talwarah in the Kashmir hill tracts. .

3 The lith. edn. and some of the MSS. have ‘,,J‘,, s Ray Bhalim or g
'bleﬁ Ray Bhilam. Two of the MSS. read o ,__c') , Ray Bhim, and so do Ba-
daoni (though one MS. has r-,\_iw Salim,) and Ferishtah.

4 It is dificult to make out thisname. The lith. edn. has;(jf; . Thankar, and
the MSS. have & Thatkah, ,%¢ Bhatkar, ;54 Bhatkar, &4 Thikah. It
may be the same as the ;‘JS of Badaoni (see note 3); Ferishtah says that Ray
Bhim offered his services, and guided the army to Bisal the strongest of Jasrat's
strongholds. The language is similar to that of our author, el o ).t r.isuc .

5 1t is still Sheikha in the lith. edn. and all the MSS. of the Tabuqat. though
in Baddoni and Ferishtah it is Jasrat.

6 The lith. edn. has g_;jls‘-g) but the MSS. have the correct name.
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said month and year attacked the * mud fort of Lahore, and slew many
men ; and again on the 21st of the same month he attacked the fort
with great force; but failing to do anything, sat down a few karohs
behind his fiest position ; and went on fighting for a month and five
days, but was unable to do anyvthing. When Sheikh& was unable to
do anything he retnrned towards 2Kalaniir. and fought with Ray
Bhim who had come to Kalanir in order to render help to Malik
Mahmid Hasan. Tu the month of Ramazin of the aforesaid year
peace was concluded, and Sheikhd went towards the river Biah.
At this time Malik Sikandar Tuhfah arrived at the ford of * Pahi
with the army which had been sent by Sultan Mubarak Shah to
help Malik Mahmad Hasan. Sheikha had no strength left to fight, so
crossing the Ravi and the (‘hinal he retired into the hills. Malik
Sikandar crossed the river Biah by the ford of Pihi. and on the 12th of
the month of Shawwal of the aforementioued vear arrived in Lahore.
Malik Mahmiid Hasan went forward to receive him and esteemed hix
arrival a great honour. *Malik Rajab governor of Dibalpur. and
Malik Sultan Shah governor of Sirhind and Ray Firoz Ma’in and the
zamindars had before this joined Malik Sikandar The whole army.
following the bank of the river Ravi, marched towards Kalaniir: and
when it reached the boundaries of Jamian, RAy Bhim came and joined
! ‘JA &=l3 . Badaoni does not give any of the details. He says 35 J)‘;"

Ay &LLT /\l.» 8.;..\.,«‘}5 oj,ai.:)»llljsl ,ajﬁ,yo e j{"“’u“’}’/ ~afy ey gt - [{NERY]
L )

2 Seventcen miles west of Gurdaspur town Lat. 32° 17 N. Tong. 75° 117 307
East. 1t was hore that Akbar in later times reccived the news of his father's

death and ascended the throne. (Note 8, p. 383, vol. 1 of Col. Ranking’s trans.
of the Muntakhabat-ut-tawarikh.)

3 The name is given as (s2s¢ Bithi or _s2s2 Pithiin the lith. edn. and the
MSS. It appears that Malik Sikandar crossed the Biah by this ford, as noted
a few lines further on. 1In the Persian text of Baddoni Malik Sikandar is said
to have crossed the Biah by the ford of Piihi, but the Knglish translator makes
him cross the Ravi by this ford, and in the index of the Eng. trans. Piihi is
said to be a ford on the Ravi. Badaoni has Pithi. Ferishtah has ‘_,-f‘)o' , Lai.
Col. Ranking thinks that Pahi is identical with Poni. See note 1. p. 384, of
his trans.

4 Badaont does not mention that these officers came and joined Malik

Sikandar. Ferishtah does, but he calls the governor of Sirhind Islam Khan
Lodi.
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them also and did service. A band of Khokhars who had become
separated from Sheikha were plundered and then the army returned
towards Lahore. About this time !Malik Mahmad Hasan in accord-
ance with a firman of Sultan Mubarak Shah went to Jalandhar and
after making his arrangements there went to Dehli; and Malik Sikan-
dar came to Lahore ; and at the same time the appointment of Vazir
was transferred from Malik Sikandar to Sarwar-ul-Mulk.

In the year 826 A.H. (1422 A.D.) Sultin Mubarak Shah crossed
the Ganges with the object of subduing the infidels and the insurgents
of that country; and in the month of Muharram of that year he
entered the province of Kaithar, and collected the revenue; and
meted out their dues to some insurgents. At this place Mahabat
Khan the governor of Badadn who had been afraid of the dis-
pleasure of Khizr Khan. came and saw him. The Sultin crossed
the Ganges and overran and pillaged the country of the 2 Rdthors,
and slew a large number of people and made others prisoner. He
stayed for a few days on the bank of the Ganges; and left Malik
Mubariz, and Zirak Khan, and Kamaéal Khan in the fort of Kambalah
with a large army for the subjugation of the Rathors; and he sent
Malik Khair-ud-din Khani against the son of Ray * Sar who had fled
from Khizr Khén and had kept aloof ; and the former overran and
pillaged his country ; and went to Itawah. The Rajputs shut them-
selves up there and fought ; but in the end made their submission and
did homage with humility and meekness. The son of Ray Sar render-
ed homage, and paid the revenue that was fixed for him. Sultan
Mubarak Shah then returned to Dehli with victory and triumph.
About this time Malik Mahmid Hasan came with his army from
Jalandhar to Dehli, and was honoured with the post of Bakhshi,
which in those days was called the Arizi of the army.

1 These transfers are not mentioned by Badaoni.

2 A well-known tribe of Rajputs. Badaoni says that the Sultan crossed
the Ganges and invaded the country of the Pauwdars in the neighbourhood of
Khor, otherwise called Shamsabad and having put the majority of them to
the sword ravaged the country, but this is not mentioned by the author of the
Tabagat. The Pauwirs were another tribe of Rajputs.

3 As usual the name is variously givon as Sar, and Sir and Sarwar. Bada-
oni issilent about the attack on the son of Ray Sar, and also about the battle
of Sheikhé with Ray Bhim, and the death of the latter, and also about the
unsuccessful expedition ot Malik Sikandar.
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In the month of Jamadi-ul-awwal of the aforesaid year, there was
a battle between Sheikha and Ray Bhim, and the latter was killed :
and his treasure and equipage fell into Sheikha’s hands. Sheikha felt
stronger on account of this, and overran the countrv of Dibalpir
and Lahore. Malik Sikandar marched out with the intention of
crushing him, and crossed the Chinab, but returned without effecting
anything. Ag this time the news of the death of Malik ‘Ala-’ud-din,
the son of ‘Ala-ul-Mulk the governor of Multdan came. News also
came that Sheikh ‘Ali the son and deputy of !Sur Ghanamish was
marching from Kabul with a great army for attacking the territory of
Bhakar and Siwistdin. The Sultan appointed Malik Mahmid Hasan
with a large army to suppress the disturbance created by the Mughals,
and made over Multin and the territory of Sindh to him. When
he arrived at Multan, he gladdened the hearts of all the people and of
the Musalmans in general living there, by favours and gifts, and began
to rebuild the fort of Multan, which had become dilapidated owing to
the inroads of the Mughals. At this time the Mughal army turned
back.

At this time news came that Alp Khan, the governor of * Dhar
who had taken the name of Sultin Hoshang was advancing to seize
the fort of Gwaliar. Mubarak Shah advanced towards Gwaliar. When
he arrived in the neighbourhood of Bianah he heard that * Amir Khan
son of Auhad Khan the governor of Bianah had slain his uncle
Mubarak Khan, and having laid Bianah waste, had entrenched him-
self on the top of a hill. Mubarak Shah encamped near the foot of the
hill, and after the interchange of messages Amir Khan agreed to pay

! This name is variously given. The lith. edn. has (e3¢ )pw Siir Ghatmash,
the MSS. have ul'a (eef 9w Sir Ghamish Khan, (hede yeam Siur “Utmish
and eds 29~ Siar Ghanmish. Badaoni does not mention this invasion.

2 Dhar and Ujjain have at various times been the capital of Malwa, the
Malava Kingdom of the Hindus. Ferishtah calls Sultdn Hoshang the Wali of
Malwa.

3 He is s0 called in the lith. edn. and in all the MSS. Badaoni calls him in
the Persian text (gday! & oayl =2 In the Eng. translation he is called
Shams Khan Auhadi the son of Auhad Khan Auhadi, as he is called in one MS.
Forishtah calls him Amir Khan ibn-i-Daud Khan, ibn-i-Shams Khan. The name
given by Ferishtah agrees with that given by our author. Ferishtah also says
that he entrenched himself on the heights.
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a yearly tribute and did homage. !Sultain Mubarak Shah went
from that place to Gwaliar. Alp Khan had encamped at a place
which commanded a ford of the Chambal. Mubarak Shah discovered
another ford and quickly crossed the river. Some amirs who were in
the vanguard of the army plundered the outskirts of Alp Khan’s
army and brought in a large number as prisoners. As the prisoners
were Musalmans the Sultin ordered their release. The next day Alp
Khan proposed terms of peace and having sent a fitting tribute re-
turned towards Dhar, and Mubarak Shah staved on the bank of the
Chambal ; and after taking tribute according to the ancient custom
from the zaminddrs of that country, returned to Dehli in this month
of Rajab 827 A H. (1423 A.D.)

And in the month of Muharram? 828 A.H. (1424 A.D.) the
Sultan proceeded towards Kaithar. Nar Singh the Rayv of Kaithar
came to the bank of the Ganges, did homage, and was imprisoned for
a few days on account of the arrears for three years but was at
last released on payment of the revenue. The Sultan crossed the
Ganges from that place and after punishing the disturbers of the peace
on that side returned. At this time the news of the insurrection and
violence of the Miwatians came. The Sultan marched in that direction
and plundering and destroying devastated the greater part of Miwat.
The Miwatians leaving their country unoccupied and in ruins, went
to the hills of ® Jhar. The Sultan returned to Dehli on account of the
scarcity of grain and fodder and the strength of the country and send-
ing the amirs to their jaigirs gave himself up Yo enjoyment. And in
the year 829 A.H. (1425 A.D.) he again marched towards Miwit with

1 Badaoni's account of what happened at Giwalifir agrees generally with
that of our author, but is not nearly so picturesque and rich, in details. Forish-
tah’s account agrees with that in the Tabaq#t and is evidently based on it. The
Chambal is the principal tributary of the Jumna. Tt rises in Malwa, is joined
by the Kali Sind, Parbati and Banas and falls into the Jumna 40 miles helow
Itawah town. (Hunters Imp. Gaz, IT1. 33L.) It is the Charmanvati of the
Sanskrit writers.

2 Variously given us Jhar, Jharah and Chharah in the MSS. and in the lith.
edn. .

3 Badaoni says that this inroad into Kaithar took place in 827 A.H. but his
account is extremely sketchy; the events of 827 (?)--829 occupy 5 lines in the
Persian text and about the same in the English translation.
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the object of punishing the rebels of that country. !'Jallu and Qaddu
and all the Miwatians, who were joined with them left their places
unoccupied and waste ; and entrenched themselves in the hills of
¢ Androon; and after making dying struggles they vacated the fort
and retired into the hills of Alwar. The Sultan attacked them
everyday and men of both sides were slain. At last the Miwatians
became too weak and begged for quarter. Qaddu came and made his
obeisance, and was imprisoned. The Sultan pillaged the country of
Miwat and returned.

He again marched with his troops towards Miwat. after four
months and eleven days. in the month of Muharram 830 A.H. (1426
A.D.), and after punishing the rebels of that country went to Bidnah.
3 Muhammad Khan, son of Auhad Khan, entrenched himself on the
top of the hill and fought for sixteen days. Most of his men left him.
and joined Sultan Mubarak Shah ; and when he had no strength left to
oppose the latter. he came out of the fort with all humility and sub-
mission with a rope round his neck and did homage ; and he gave as
tribute the horses, and arms, and other valuable things which he had
in the fort. Mubarak Shah brought out his family and adherents from
the fort, and sent them to Dehli. He made over Bianah to Maqgbal
Khan ; and Sikri which is also known as Fatehpur to Malik Khair-ud-
din Tuhfah and himself marched toward Gwaliar. The Rays of
Gwaliar. and *Thakar and Chandwar made their submission, and paid
revenue according to previous custom ; and the Sultan arrived in
Dehli in the month of Jamadi-ul-awwal of the aforesaid vear. He

1 The two names are given as in the text in all the MSS. and the lith. edn.

2 The lith. edn. two of the MSS. have o3>3 %5 33 . one MS. has 58 30
)))-\J’ while one MS. has o4& vmst.'\'ao {,{ ;9. Badaoni has ) ,‘;-” )))J-;' &als
MASC  he seized the forts of Indore and Alwar, c)))&‘." or )3)o3! may be ))65' .

3 He is so called in the lith. edn. and in all the MSS. Badaonf also calls him
Muhammad Khan Auhadi, but we have previously had Amir Khan, the son of
Auhad Khéan, according to the Tabaqat and Shams Khan, son of Auhad Khan,
according to Baddoni and Amir Khén, son of Daud Khan, according to Ferish-
tah as the governor of Bianah.

4+ The name is doubtful. 1t is given as fﬁ , Thakar, ;C\-H » Thankar and
;;H, Bhakar. Bad#oni says generally, receiving the submission of the Rays
of that district.
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changed the Jagir of Malik Mahmiid Hasan, and gave Hisar Firoza
to him, and Malik Rajab Nadirah got Multan.

!Muhammad Khan fled with his family and went into Miwat.
Some of his adherents who had separated from him. again joined him.
At this time he heard that Malik Abhmad Maqbal Khani had gone
away with his army to Mahawan, and had left Malik Khair-ud-din
Tuhfah in the fort, and the city of Bianah was empty (i.e. unguarded).
Muhammad Khan, taking advantage of this, and putting his trust in
the zamindars of Bianah, went there with a small force. The majo-
rity of the people of the town and the territory joined him. Malik
Khair-ud-din could not hold the fort. He asked for quarter, and mak-
ing the fort over, came to Dehli. Mubarak Shah made Bianah over to
Malik Mubdriz and sent him against Muhammad Khan. The latter
shut himself up in the fort. Malik MubAariz took possession of the
territory and brought it into control. Muhammad Khan left a band
of his special adherents in the fort, went alone by forced marches to
the court of Sultin Ibrahim Sharqi. Mubarak Shah thought it
expedient to send for Malik Mubariz, and marched out in his own
august person for the conquest of Bianah.

On the way a petition from Qadir Khan, governor of Kalpi.
reached him to the effect that Sultan Tbrahim Sharqi, was advancing
with a well equipped army to attack Kalpi. Sultan Mubarak Shah
kept the matter of Bianah in abeyance and advanced to meet Sultan
Ibrahim. At this time the Sharqgi troops had attacked ? Bhugaon
and had advanced towards ® Badatin. Sultan Mubarak Shah having -

1 Badadoni does not give any account of these transactions. He sayx
nothing about Muhammad Khan’s retugn to Bianah and his subsequent appeal to
Sultdn JTbrahim Sharqi. He begins the narration of the events of the year 831
A.H. with the arrival of ambassadors from Q&adir Khan to inform Mubarak Shah
of the advance of Sultan Ibrahim Sharqi to attack Kalpi.

2 All the MSS. except one and the lith. edn. have got the name of this
place as ;-;K 3¢ - One MSS. has )5({ ¢’ - Baddaoni has .w-;[{ wt? - Ferishtah
has ;3K ¢ the same as the Tabagat. Bhongaon is in the Mainpuri district, 9}
miles east from Mainpuri town, at the junction of the Agra and Grand Trunk
Roads. The town was founded according to tradition by R&ji Bhim Sen who
was cured of leprosy by bathing in the Jhil or lake. Hunter, Imp, Caz. ii, 403.
(a8 quoted by Col. Ranking, trans. vol. 1, p. 386, note 3).

3 Badaiin is about 50 miles north of Bhongéon. Col. Ranking, ibid note 4.
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crossed the river !Jumna, attacked Mauza' *Jartoli which was
among the celebrated towns of Mawas; and from there went to
3 Atrauli; and he sent * Mahmid Hasan with ten thousand horse-
men to attack Mukhtas Khan, brother of Sultan Ibrahim Sharqi.
who had advanced against [tawah. When Mahmud Hasan came upon
the Sharqi army, the latter unable to meet him, rcturned and went
back to its own Sultin. Mahmid Hasan waited for a few days and
joined his own (i.e. Sultan Mubarak Shah’s) army.

Sultdn Ibrahim Sharql hugging the bank of the® Al sigh, came
near Burhanabad, one of the dependencies of ® Marharah. Mubarak
Shah advanced from Atrauli to the town of 7 Mali Kotah. The
Sultan Sharqi seeing she greatness and splendour of Sultan Mubarak
Shah’s army gave up the idea of carrying on the warfare and in the
month of Jamadi-ul-awwal of the aforesaid vear marched towards
the town of Rapri. From that place he crossed the Jumna and went
to Bianah; and encamped on the bank of the river of Kaithar.
Mubarak Shah crossed the Jumna near Chandwar and encamped at
a distance of five karohs from (Sultan Ibrahim’s) army. His troops
attacked the outskirts of the latter army everyday, and seizing
horses, and cattle and men, took them to their own army. For
twenty days things went on like this, till on the 7th of the month
of Jamadi-ul-akhir of the aforesaid year, Sultdn Sharqi mounted
his horse with the determination of giving battle. Sultan Mubarak
Shah sent Mahmad Hasan and Fateh Khan son of Sultan Muzaffar,
and Zirak Khan, and Islam Khan, and Malik Chaman the grand-

1 Baddoni says J& %3 )& 50, at the ford of Nuh Patal.
2 The lith. cdn. has (/55 y® but all the MSS. and Badaoni, and Ferishtah
has u«‘_,3 s> - Col. Ranking says he is unable to find the place.

3 Atrauli is 16 miles from Aligarh town. Hunter, Imp. Gaz., p. lax
Col. Ranking ibid p. 386.

4 He was the g_,;&” o Malik-ush-Sharg.

b The lith. edn. has ¥ <! but the MSS. have *u~ <!. Bad#oni has
ujl\a‘ UJK \-5;: Bl u,a' i.e. the Kalini or the Karasa of the Malfazat-i-Taimiri.
" 6 The lith. edn. and one of the MSS. omit %%le &l 5l but all the
other MSS. have the name as I have given it. Badaoni has after Burh@nabad
VAR S)Ul.} élu &s .,

7 Baddoni has Kotah but Ferishtah has Mali Kotah.
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son of Khan-i-Jahan, and Malik KalGd the superintendent of the
elephants. and Malik Ahmad Maqbul Khani to oppose him ; and they
fought from midday till evening ; when they returned and sat down
facing each other. On the ! following day which would be the 17th of
the month of Jamadi-ul-akhir Sultan Sharqi started, and took the
way to Jaunpir; and Mubarak Shah went to (iwaliar by way of
* Hatkanat.

He took tribute from the Ray of Gwaliar in accordance with the
former practice ; and then returned to Bianah. Although Muhammad
Khan Auhadi made frantic efforts he accomplished nothing ; and as
he despaired of aid from Sultan Tbrihim Sharqi he prayed for quarter
and came and rendered service to Mubarak Shah. The Sultan drew
the pen of pardon across his offences, and gave him protection ;
and on the 20th of the month of Rajab came out of the fort and
went away towards Miwat. The Sultan left Mahmud Hasan to guard
the fort and administer the province ; and marching back arrived
at Dehli on the 11th of the month Sh’aban 831 A.H. (1427 A.D.).

In the month of Shawwal of the aforesaid year the Sultan had
Malik Qaddu Miwati seized and put to death. and sent Malik Sarwar
to govern the province of Miwat. Most of the inhabitants laid their
places waste, and retired into the hills. 3 Jalal Khan brother of Qaddu,
and Ahmad Khan and Malik Fakhr-ud-din and all his relations assem-
bled in the fort of * Andarun.  Malik Sarwar after collecting the reve-
nue rveturned towards the city. And in the month of Zi’qadeh news
came that ° Jasrat, son of Sheikha Khokhar, had hesieged Kalanir,
and VIa,hk Slka,ndar the govemol of Lahore who had gone to attack

1 All the MSS. and the lith. edn. say }aw déloa 3o ,mm d.fjb.) 39
235, after giving the r\-ﬂﬁ of the momé¢h as the date of the battle. 1 cannot
make this out unless ;\ S ys) means another day and not the next day.

2 Badaoni says Mubarak Shah did not pursue Sultan Ibrdhim, because
both sides were Musalmans; as if this fact had suddenly dawned upon him.
The placo is =542 in all the MSS. The lith. edn. has <&wo (7) which is
probably Hastkanat. Bad&oni has & Satganah, and Ferishtah Halghat.

3 He had previously been called Jallu.

4+ Written so in one MS. and in the lith. edn. The other MSS. have jyodu!
and )>!.  Badaoni does not mention .these events at all, but on a previous
occasion he had mentioned Indor and Alwar as two forts in Miwat.

5 The name is spelt Wy~ 1n the lith. edn. and in Badaoni, but the MSS.
have &3, wa.,
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him, had been defeated ; and had returned to Lahore. Jasrat orossed
the river Beds, and attempted to seize the fort of Jalandhar, but
as he was unable to do this, he overran the neighbouring country and
taking many prisoners again turned to Kalanir. Mubarak Shah sent
orders to Zirak Khan, governor of Samanah and Islam Khan, the
amir of Sirhind that they should help Malik Sikandar. But before
they could arrive, Malik Sikandar taking Ray Ghalib Kalaniri and
his forces with him, advanced to the river Beds. Jasrat came and
confronted him, and being defeated went towards !Thikah, and of
the various kinds of plunder, all that he had taken in the dis-
tricts round Jalandhar fell into the hands of Malik Sikandar’s
troops.

In the month of Muharram 832 A.H. (1428 A.D.) Malik Mahmid
Hasan came to Dehli, after putting down the disturbances which
Muhammad Khan Auhadi had caused in Bianah. After that Sultan
Mubarak Shah advanced to the foot hills of Miwat, and came to
Mahdorai and stayed there for a few days. Jalal Khan Miwati and
all the Miwatians, who were weak accepted the revenue demanded of
them, and some of them came and rendered homage to the Sultan ;
and the Sultan returned to Dehli in the month of Shawwal of the
aforementioned year. About this time the news of the death of Malik
Rajab Nadirah, the governor of Multan, came. The Sultan sent Malik
Mahmid Hasan to Multan, after conferring on him the title of ‘Imad-
ul-Mulk.

In the year 833 A.H. (1429 A.D.) the Sultin went with his
army towards Gwaliar, and arrived there by way of Bianah; and
having put down the disturbances in that country he went to-
wards Hatkanat. The Ray being routed retired among the %foot
hills. The Sultan plundered his country, and taking a large number
of the inhabitants prisoners came to ®Rapri, and transferring that

have &f')*ﬁ . Badaoni makes no mention of these events, ho only mentions
Jasrat’s attack on Malik Sikandar in 8356 A.H.

1 This name is variously given in the MSS. and in the lith. edn. as,
"":‘t’ ’ ‘&'\r’ s &5, S and )Iﬁ . See note 4, p. 37.

2 The lith. edn. and two of the MSS. have <! 3 &l %5 but one MS. has
,&Sls 3,53 and another &ilwlo ;l-n),({ .

3 The lith. edn. and several MSS. have (g5 .
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province from the son of !Hasan Khan made it over to Malik
Hamzah ; and in the month of Rajab of the aforesaid year returned
(to Dehlr). On the way Saiyad Salim died, and the Sultan conferred
the title of Salim Khan on his elder and Shuja’-ul-Mulk on his other
son. The aforesaid Saiyad had for a period of thirty years been in
the service of Khizr Khan, the pardoned ; and was one of the great
amirs, and for many years he had collected much treasure as the keeper
of the fort of Tabarhindah. 2In the month of Shawwal of that year
Faulad Turkbacha came into the fort of Tabarhindah and raised the
standard of hostility. Mubarak Shih imprisoned the sons of Saiyad
Salim and sent ® Ray Hanu Behti to Tabarhindah in order to put down
Faulad, and to recover the property of Saiyad Salim. When they ar-
rived in the vicinity of Tabarhindah Faulad proposed terms of peace,
and made them careless, and on the next day sallying out suddenly
from the fort, made a night attack on the troops. Malik Yusuf and
Ray Hanu who knew nothing of the intended treachery, gave battle,
but were defeated, and returned towards Sarsuti, and their equipage and
goods fell into Faulad’s hands; and became the cause of an increase of
his strength and power. The Sultan hearing this news started towards
Tabarhindah and amirs, and troops from all directions came and joined
the Sultdn’s army, and the zamindars also came to render service. As
Faulad had great strength, he shut himself up in the fort of Tabar-
hindah. Sultan Mubarak Shah sent Zirak Khan, and Malik Kala and
Tslam Khan and Kamal Khan from the way to besiege Tabarhindah.

1 The MSS. as well as the lith. edn. have & (s> but Baddoni has
vl’a um& . . .

2 The facts are not clear. Badaoni says that Fauldd who was a aps rl‘-c
one of the slaves of Saiyad Salim revolted and took possession of Saiyad Salim’s
immense hordes of treasure, but neither he nor the author of the Tabaqat says
that Saiyad Salim’s sons had anything to do with the revolt, but the fact that
Mubarak Shah imprisoned them points in that direction. Ferishtah says that
the favours conferred on them were not sufficient to secure their fidelity and
they incited Faulad Turkbachah.

3 Badaoni says that Malik Yusuf Sarwar and R&y Hansu Behti were sent to
Tabarhindah. In the Tabaqat Malik Yusuf Sarwar is not mentioned in the first
instance though Malik Yusuf is mentioned later on. The other name is given as
s gly, Ray Hanu, s¢ (s') Ray Bhii, s (o!)s Ray Hapu and s2 ).
Ray Hipu.



SULTAN MUBARAK SHAH. . 313

’Imad-ul-Mulk, the governor of Multan, was also summoned to put
down Faulad’s rebellion. In the month of Zi-hijjeh of the afore-
said year ’Imad-ul-Mulk arrived at Sarsuti, and attended on the Sultan.
As Faulad had faith on ’Imad-ul-Mulk’s words he was sent to Tabar-
hindah to give assurances to Faulad. The latter talked a great deal
but persisted in the revolt; and ’Imad-ul-Mulk came back to
Mubarak Shah without achieving his object.

The Sultan gave permission to 'Imad-ul-Mulk, in the month of
Safar 834 A.H. (1430 A.D.) to return to Multan, and himself went back
to Dehli, leaving Islam Khan, and Kamal Khan and Ray Firoz Md’in,
to carry on the siege of Tabarhindah. ’Imad-ul-Mulk went there and
having directed the amirs about the siege went to Multan. Faulad
carried on the war for six months, and sent a large sum to Sheikh ‘Ali

Yeg in Kabul, by trustworthy agents, and requested his help.  Sheikh
’Ali started in the direction of Tabarhindah in the month of Jamadi-ul-
awwal of that year. When be arrived within ten karohs from Tabar-
hindah, Islam Khan and Kamal Khan, and all the amirs raised the
siege, and went to their own governments. Faulad came out of the fort
saw Sheikh ’Ali, and paid to him the sum of two lakhs Tankas promised
by him. Sheikh ’Ali took ! the family and children of Faulad with him,
and veturned, and having made the raiyats of the province of Jalan-
dhar prisoners proceeded in the month of Rajab of the aforesaid year
towards Lahore. Malik Sikandar paid to him the sum which he used
to pay to him every year, and made him turn back. From there
Sheikh "Ali went to 2Talwarah and tried to lay it waste. ’Imad-ul-
Mulk came to the town of ®Tulumba to oppose him. Sheikh ’Ali not
having the strength to meet him went towards * Khatibpur. At this

1 Baddoni says Sheikh ’Ali took Faulad as well as his family and children
with him.

2 Badaoni does not mention Talwarah here. He says Sheikh ’'Ali made
towards Dibalpdr and ’Imad-ul-Mulk came out from Multdn to meet him.
{See vol. I, p. 389, of the translation.) As regards Talwarah see note 2 p. 302.

3 On the left bank of the Ravi, 52 miles N.-E. of Multan. It hasbeenidenti-
fied with a town of the Malli conquered by Alexander the Great during his
campaign in the Punjab, and also as the placoe where he crossed the Ravi.
Hunter, Imp. Gaz. XIII, p. 63 and also Cunningham, Anc. Geo. of India, p. 224,
as given in note 2, p. 389 vol. I of the trans. of the Munt.-ut-Tawarikh.

4 Badaoni has )sAksa , Khitpir. Ferishtah has )y wba | Khatibpir.
S o ol ; P
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time the order of the Sultan came that !’Imad-ul-Mulk should leave
Tulumba and go to Multan, and on the 24th of the month of Sha’ban
of the aforementioned year, he commenced his march towards Multin.
Sheikh 'Ali who had become proud, crossed the river Ravi near Kha-
tibpir and began to pillage and lay waste the parganas on the bank of
the Jhilam which are known as the Punjab, and then turned towards
Multan. When he arrived within ten karohs of Multan *Imad-ul-Mulk
sent Sultdn Shah Lodi who was the uncle of Malik Bahlol Lodi to oppose
him. He met Sheikh "Ali on the way, and fighting with him attained
to martyrdom, and a part of his army were glain, and the rest fled and
returned to Multan. On the third day of the month of Ramazan of the
aforementioned year Sheikh ’Ali encamped at ? Khairabad, which is
close to Multan ; and 3 on the 4th Ramazan began a battle at the gate
of the fort. ’Imad-ul-Mulk sent out the infantry so that they might
keep Sheikh ’Ali’s troops in the gardens, and the latter did nothing that
day and went back to his encampment. He again began a battle
on Friday the 27th Ramazan, and advanced on the fort, and many
men were slain and Sheikh ’Ali turning back, took up his position in
his own camp. 1In this way for some time the warfare went on.
Sultan Mubarak Shah sent Fateh Khan son of Zafar Khan
Gujrati with celebrated amirs such as ¢Zirak Khan and Malik Kala
superintendent of elephants, and Islam Khin, and Malik Yusuf, and
Kamal Khan and Ray Hanu Behti to help ’Imad-ul-Mulk. They
arrived in the neighbourhood of Multan on the 26th of the month of

1 Badaoni says 'Imad-ul-Mulk himself was defeated, and Malik Suleiman
Shah Lodi, who was in the advance guard of the army, wasslain. He is how-
ever called Sultan Shah Lodi in all the MSS. and the lith. edn. of the Tabaqat.

2 Badaoni says that after the battle in which ‘Imad-ul-Mulk was defeated
and Malik Suleiman Shah Lodi was slain, Sheikh ‘Ali came to Khusruabad.
Ferishtah says that the battle took place at Khairabad 3 stages from Multan.

3 Badaoni does not give any of the details. He only says u‘-:\,ﬂ o0 ‘_536'0 P)
59 K jgy po Sl Slee (gl; f—y& ) s, ie. for a long time between him
(i.e. Sheikh ‘Ali) and ‘Imad-ul-Mulk there were battles overyday.

4 These names are not given by Bad#@oni, who says that Sultdn Mubarak
Shah sent a very large force and made Fateh Khan, the son of Sultdn Muzaffar
Khan Gujrati its commander.  All the MSS. of the Tabaqat and the lith. edn.
agree in calling Fateh Khan's father Zafar Khan. There is much diversity about
the name of Ray Hanu Behti in the MSS.



SULTAN MUBARAK SHAH. 315

Shawwal ; and on the following day engaged Sheikh ’Ali and defeated
him. The latter being no longer able to oppose them went into the en-
trenchment which he had erected round his army. He did not even stay
there ; crossed the river Jhilam and decided on flight. The majority of
his troops were drowned, and a part were slain, and a part taken
prisoners. He himself with a few followers went to the town of
1Shir ; and his horses, and camels, and weapons, and all the equi-
page of his army were taken. ’Imad-ul-Mulk and all the amirs
pursued bim as far as Shir; Mir Muzaffar, Sheikh ’Ali’s nephew
entrenched himself there ; and Sheikh ’Ali himself with a small band
turned towards Kabul. The amirs who had come to reinforce Imad-
ul-Mulk started towards Dehli in accordance to orders. Mubarak
Shah transferred Multan from 'Imad-ul-Mulk and placed it in charge
of Khairuddin Khani.

At this time 2Sheikha Khokhar taking advantage of his oppor-
tunity, and gaining strength and power, commenced disturbance and
rebellion. *Malik Sikandar Tuhfah advanced towards Jalandhar to
put down the disturbance. Sheikha collected a large force and com-
ing out of the hills of *Sakar, and crossing the rivers Jhilam, and
Ravi and Biah encamped on the bank of the river 3 Main near
Jalandhar and making Malik Sikandar careless, suddenly attacked
him. The latter was defeated and taken prisoner. Sheikha in great
force went to Lahore and besieged it. Saiyad Najm-ud-din, Malik
Sikandar’s deputy, and Malik Khushkhabar, his slave, shut themselves
up, and everyday engagements took place. At this time ¢ Sheikh *Ali
again came from Kabul, and overran the country round Multan, and
took the men of 7 Khatpir and most of the villages on the bank of the

! The name is j»» Shir in the lith. edn. and in one MS. and ¥~ Sandr,
in the others. Badaoni has ))53» Sanpur or ),L,Ew Sintir. Ferishtah has );»:3'
Shiwar which Col. Ranking has adopted.

2 1t is Sheikha in the MSS. and in the lith. edn. Bad&@ont has Jasrath.

3 He was the governor of Lahore.

4 Two of the MSS. have ;‘-w , Sakar, others have 45U Batkah, and )5—\-'
Batkar. The lith. edn. has ;‘H Thakar, Badaoni has no name.

5 The MSS. have (»<, Min, and (#»~ Sin. The lith. edn. has U‘-‘:“"
Mi'in.

6 According to Ferishtah, at the instigation of Jasrat.

7 It is )y kA in thelith. edn. The MSS. have )ybka Khatpir.
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Jhilam prisoner. And on the 17th of Rabr’-ul-awwal of the aforesaid
-year he arrived in the town of !Talambah, and having got the resi-
dents of the place by promises and terms of agreement into his
power, made the well-known men among them prisoners, and took
possession of the fort. He slew some of the Musalmans, and, 2 released
some, and various calamities happened to them. And at this time
Faulad Turkbachah leaving Tabarhindah with a force overran the
country of Ray Firoz, and the latter was Kkilled in battle. Sultan
Mubarak heard of these events, marched towards Lahore and Multan
in the month of Jamadi-ul-awwal of that year, and made Malik Sar-
war the commander of the advance guard. When the latter reached
Samanah, Sheikha Khokhar abandoned the siege, and going towards
the foot hills of 3 Sakar took Malik Sikandar with him. Sheikh ‘Ali
being afraid of the army of Sultin Mubarak Shah, turned back
and went to *BalGt. Sultan Mubarak Shah transferred Lahore from
5 Malik-ush-Sharq 'Imad-ul-Mulk and made it over to Nasrat Khan
Gurg-anddz. Malik Sarwar brought the family and dependants of
Malik-ush-Sharq from the fort of Lahore and sent them to Dehli.
And in the month of Zihijjeh of the aforesaid year Sheikha again
came out of the hills with a large force ; and having harassed some par-
ganas went back to the hills. At this time Sultan Mubarak Shah
had his camp in the town of Panipat on the bank of the Jumna ; and
having stayed there for some time, and sent ’Imad-ul-Mulk with a well
equipped army, in the month of Ramazan of that year, for the subju-
gation of the Zamindars of Bidnah and Gwaliar, returned to Dehli.

' The MSS. have &l . The lith. edn. and Bad@oni have &k .

2 According to Badaoni he was not so merciful. He says (.l.i.; ';“ s als]
g Sy a¥ys S 5 oo 1) &by 5 S EG ) (o STy edles 210 5 gy gk
i.e. he took all the men of the place prisoners and pillaged and destroyed them,
he slew most of them and took the remainder both great and small into his own
country. 3 See note 4, page 315.

4 Three MSS. have ‘-'-'-')1-! , Baliit, one has wyi)li Bartit, and one '-'D)—'l‘

Maliit, and the lith. edn, has --y slo Martut. Badaoni says Sheikh 'Ali retired
to his own country.

5 Badaoni says it was Shams-ul-Mulk from whom the Government of Lahore
and Jalandhar was taken to be made over to Nasrat Khan Gurg-andaz. Asa
matter of fact Malik Sikandar appears to have been the governor of Lahore and
neither 'Im&ad-ul-Mulk nor Shams-ul-Mulk. ’ITmad-ul-Mulk had been governor
of Mult@n till it was taken from him, and made over to Khair-ud-din Khani.
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And in the month of Muharram !836 A.H. (1433 A.D.) (the
Sultan) marched out to put down the disturbances in the country of
Saméanah and sent Malik Sarwar to attack Faulad Turkbacha. The
latter entrenched himself and went on fighting. 2Malik Sarwar left
Zirak Khan, and Islim Khan with a large army round the fort
of Tabarhindah and himself went to attend on the Sultan. The latter
disallowed his return; and took away Lahore and Jalandhar from
Nasrat Khan, and made them over to Malik 3Ilhadad Lodi. When
the latter reached the country of Jalandhar Sheikha crossed the
river Biah and gave him battle. Malik Ilhadad was defeated and
retired towards the foot hills of * Kothi Bajwara, and the insurrection
of Sheikha became stronger.

The Sultan marched towards Miwat in the month of Rabi’-
ul-awwal of the afore-mentioned year; and when he arrived at the
town of 5Nawar, ¢ Jaldl Khan Miwati shut himself up with a large

1 Badaont says that in 836 A.H. the Sultén went to Samanah to put down
the rebellion of Jasrat, but this is not mentioned in the Tabaqat except that in
two MSS. the name of Jasrat occurs, but the sentence is apparently incorrect and
meaningless. It is this )¥dw &luw lawy o yo alelyl LUL 1) LIt Slee
06‘0)5 )l:‘.'”)f 5 &l u')'“h“’)ﬁ*“s -’*t?;{)\'{ g )L . Baddoni also say,
that at this time Mubarak Shah's mother, who was known as Makhdim-i-Jahan
died at Dehli; and he went to Dehli from the camp with a small retinue, and
after performing the rites of mourning went back to the camp; but there is
no.mention of this in the Tabaqat.

2 All the MSS. and the lith. edn. have el y & 5y yapm She
&e. b KWL 1 & but this does not make sense: so I have omitted the
conjunction, and between Malik Sarwar and Zirak Khan.

8 Badaon calls him (g3 ¥ 3!ogl. In two of the MSS. of the Tabaqat he
is called (04 5 81o¢)!; in one sYSS slag!, while the others and the lith.
edn. call him g3y Slog!.

4 Badsoni says that Malik Ilhaddd was defeated at Bajwarah which Col.
Ranking in a note says is a village 14 miles E. of Hoshiarpur and about 25 miles
N.E. of Jalandhar. Badaoni does not name the foot hills to which he retired ;
but only says he retired to the “-.%l;! %S,

5 The lith. edn. has 3; &« which is manifestly incorrect. The MSS.
all have &-\'Ai-' to the town of, correctly ; but the name of the town is given
variously as 3U, 3ol )b, oysli.  BadaonT does not give any name.

8 Badaoni does not give these details, and he simply says Jw w® c}“ﬂ» 5]

aulis KA wheo yo Y& Jla pe y
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force in the fort of Andarin. The next day Jalal Khan fled out
of the fort; and the grain and things stored in it fell into the Sultan’s
hands. The latter marched from there and going to Tajarah laid
waste the greater part of the country. Jalal Khan then came with
humility and made his submission, and paid the revenue according to
previous custom. ’Imad-ul-Mulk came with a large force from the
country of Bianah and paid his respects. The Sultan sent Malik
Kamal-ud-din with a few other noblemen for the purpose of putting
into order the country of Gwaliar and Itdwah; and in the month
of Jamadi-ul-awwal of that year went to Dehli.

About this time news came that Sheikh ‘Ali was marching against
the Amirs who were besieging Tabarhindah. The Sultin sent an
army to reinforce the Amirs. At this time Sheikh ’Ali came by
forced marches from !Shur and overran the countey on the banks of
the river Biah, and taking a great number of people as prisoners went
towards Lahore, and 2Malik Yusuf and Malik Ismael who were
the governors of the city, shut themselves up and placed the shield
of prohibition in front of them, and made very great efforts in the
defence of the fort and the city. But when they became aware of
the hostility of the residents of the city, they decided upon flight
and left the fort. Sheikh ’Ali sent troops to pursue them ; and they

1 See note 1, p. 315.
2 Badaoni gives a different account. He says & ';/"' ;(.P s B < 3B

gf}a,) U';L\“L' )é ul.'\flm U‘M\“ ¥} NO}S ‘_540 .ﬁa,b)s&)é&}@m Aisb._! )}“” )é
W Sl G (2d dameel Koy Ll ype anyy o y Singyy el

* 30k wydo 83,8 Kia 5 diowel yepts E3sed
Col. Ranking translates this thus “Zirak Khan and the other amirs who
were in Lahore fortified themselves there, and fouglt repeated engagements with
him, till one night the inhabitants of Lahore were, careless about their guards
and sentries, and Malik Yusuf Sarwar-ul-Mulk and Malik Ismail under cover of
night succeeded in joining Zirak Khan, then sallying from the fort, gave battle
and were defeated.” This does not appear to me to be accurate. Col. Ranking’s
translation implies that Sarwar-ul-Mylk and Malik Ismail got into the fort
owing to the carelessness of the guards and joined Zirak Khan and sallied out ;
whereas it appears to me that they were in the city from the beginning and they
left it on account of their suspicion about the loyalty of the citizens. This
is clearly the meaning of the version of the Tabaqat, and I think it is also the
meaning of Badaoni’s version.



SULTAN MUBARAK SHAH. 319

slew a great host, and took some prisoners; Malik Raja who was
one of the chief men was among the prisoners. Sheikh ’Ali having
taken possession of Lahore completely plundered and destroyed it ;
and commenced the reconstruction of the fort, and leaving two thou-
sand selected horsemen to defend the city ! turned towards Dibalpir.
Malik Yusuf who after leaving the fort of Lahore had taken shelter in
the fort of Dibalpiir remained shut up in it. When news of these
events reached 'Imad-ul-Mulk at Tabarhindah, he sent his brother
Malik Ahmad with a large force to help Malik Yusuf. Sheikh ’Ali
left Dibalpiir, on the arrival of the reinforcements; and took posses-
sion of the towns between Lahore and Dibalpar.

In the month of Jamadi-ul-akhir of the aforesaid year, when the
news of the trouble and disturbance caused by Sheikh ’Ali reached
Mubarak Shah, he marched to Samanah, and waited for a few
days for the assembling of the troops. When Malik Kamal-ud-din,
and some other Amirs arrived, he marched to Talwandi. ’Imad-ul-
Mulk and Islam Khan, who were nominated for Tabarhindah came
and offered homage. A firman was sent to other Amirs to leave
the neighbourhood of Tabarhinda. He himself went with great
rapidity to the ford of 2 Pahi. Sheikh ’Ali turned and fled. Sultan
Mubarak Shah arrived at the neighbourhood of Dibalpiir, Sheikh
’Ali had then crossed the river Chinab. The Sultan conferred the
title of Shams-ul-Mulk on Malik Sikandar Tuhfah, who had been
released from the imprisonment into which Sheikha Khokhar had
thrown him, and made him governor of Dibalpir and Jalandhar, and
sent him in pursuit of Sheikh ’Ali. The latter had however 2cscaped,
leaving * Muzaffar his nephew in the fort of ® Shur, and portions of his
equipage and arms had fallen into the hands of the troops of Shams-
ul-Mulk. The Sultdn crossed the river Ravl opposite to Talambah,
and besieged the fort of Shur. Muzaffar struggled for a month,
and at last with great humility knocked on the door of peace, and gave

1 The MSS. differ considerably I have taken the reading which appears to
me to be correct; and agrees generally with the account given by Baddoni.

2 See note 3, p. 303. 3 &33) )99 lit. gone out.

4 Badaoni calls him )ﬂb& )M' Amir Muzaffar and in the English translation
he is described Amir Muzaffar Khan,
6 See note 1, p. 315.
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his own daughter, with much tribute, to the son of Sultan Mubarak

Shah. The Sultan turning back, sent Shams-ul-Mulk to Lahore and

the troops of Sheikh ’Ali who were in Lahore sued for quarter in the

month of Shawwal of the aforementioned year, and evacuated the
fort. Shams-ul-Mulk took possession of it. When Mubarak Shah

had completed his work in connection with Shar and Lahore, he went

with !a light retinue on a pilgrimage to (the tombs of) the Sheikhs of

Multan ; and from there came to Dibalpur.

As he had no better (officer) than ‘Imad-ul-Mulk, he took the
provinces of Dibalpir and Jalandhar from Shams-ul-Mulk and con-
ferred them on him; and Bianih which was the Jagir of ‘Imad-ul-
Mulk was transferred to Shams-ul-Mulk. The Sultan then 2went to
Dehli. As the duties of the Vazarat could not be carried out by
Sarwar-ul-Mulk, and Malik Kamil-ud-din was 3 trustworthy in all mat-
ters, the Sultdn made over the affairs of the nobles to his jurisdiction,
and decided, that the two should attend to all affairs in consultation
with each other. *Malik Kamal-ud-din was a man of understand-
ing and experience; he became the refuge of the people, and gained
an ascendancy in the discharge of official matters. Sarwar-ul-Mulk
had been hurt in his feelings on account of the transfer of Dibalpir and
his old Jagirs and became hostile through envy, and made the sons of
5Kanku and Kaju who had been brought up by this (i.e. the Sultan’s)
family, and had acquired wealth and followers join him, and having
made the ® Miran-Sadr Naib ‘Ariz Mumalik and Qazi Abdus Samad

1 ¥>.,a , alone, or with a light retinue.

2 Badaoni says i) g’““” ul?;; e 59y 98 e ! )l‘u.fl-.' LE TS
i.e., with a light retinue he came by forced marches from those parts and
arrived in Dehli, on the day of the ‘Id of sacrifics.

3 The lith. edn. has Sk, ready, the MSS. have &edae or ,.\’:%ﬂ trust-
worthy. Baddonl calls the man Malik Kamal-ul-Mulk, but Ferishtah has Kamal-
ud-din, but later he is called Kamal-ul-Mulk in Ferishtah also. In fact there is
a good deal of confusion between Kamél-ud-din and Kamal-ul-Mulk in the MSS.
and in the lith. edn. of the Tabaqat Akbari also.

4 Badaont calls him 9! ;&8 uli & KLIILS Lo Malik Kamal-ul-Mulk
who was the deputy (superintendent ?) of the army.

5 Baddoni calls them ‘5,;\—‘ @™y _,-(Jlf ,» Kangu and Kajwi Khatri.
6 1 do not know whether the whole of this is the title of one man.
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lgpecial chamberlain also join him in the enmity, was on the look-
out for an opportunity. At this time Sultan Mubarak Shah laid the
foundations of a city on the bank of the river Jumna on the 17th

day of the month of Rabr’-ul-awwal 837 A.H. (1433 A.D.) and
called it? Mubarakabad.

At this time the news of the victory at Tabarhindah and the head
of Faulad Turkbachah were brought to Dehli. Sultan Mubarak
Shah went to Tabarhindah on the 3 pretext of hunting there, and, in a
short time, having made the zamindars of that country obedient to
orders and submissive, came back to Mubarakabad. At this time
intelligence was brought that warfare was going on between Sultin
Jbrahim Sharqi and Sultan Hoshang Malwi at Kalpi, and Sultan
Mubarak Shah started for Kalpl in the month of Jamadi-ul-akhir of
the aforementioned year, after issuing farmans summoning the amirs of
the provinces ; and encamping in the neighbourhood of Dehli waited
there for a few days to enable the troops to assemble. It so happen-
ed that on Friday the 9th of the month of Rajab 837 A.H. * Sultan
Mubarak Shah went to superintend the works at Mubarakabad ; and
he had no one with him except a few particular and intimate com-
panions. Sarwar-ul-Mulk, who was waiting for an opportunity, gave a
signal to the desperate men who had conspired with him; and they

1 ._..\él.‘; wl:; .

2 Doubtless after his own name ; but Badaoni indulges in apun on the mean-
ing of the word MubArak (auspicious), and says 3y Sblya  dao yo as obl Syl
°l‘—; ‘.U i.e. and named it Mubarakabad (the auspicious ci'i;y) though in meaning
(i.e. in reality) it was Kharababad (or the city of ruin); in allusion to the fact
that the Sultdn was assassinated there.

3 The use of the words &ilys, pretext, is explained by the followings passage
in Badaoni 30425 il Hlabl oamili gy o gjlsl.u\s)a. ool W Sl
<) from which it appears that he did not really go on a hunting excursion,
but was so overjoyed at the news that he was ready to jump out of his skin and
could not deny himself the pleasure of paying a hurried visit to Tabarhindah.

4 Bad#onl does not give the date but he gives some details. He says

OyKa0 dnea L Slowiul Bod e ila oy SIS o dg0ak e b B
< =y c,'a):' 8359 (yxe )0 dlugas Ko Jag u.',.cb &g yowo My c)')”l{
@S By JU domy oty Kily &) 2ld Syle Jsue jo 83,8 G, ddkea

codle Sl 1y uane Bl Lt wmudy (oyied
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at once lifted up their swords, and made Sultan Mubarak Shah a
martyr. The period of his reign was thirteen years, three months and
sixteen days,

MUHAMMAD SHAiH, !SON OF MUBARAK SHAH, SON OF
Kuizr KHaN,

Muhammad Shah was the son of Shahzadah Farid son of Khizr
Khan. As Mubarak Shah had called him his son, the author of the
Tarikh-i-Mubarak Shahi which was written in his (Mubarak Shah’s)
reign has mentioned him as the son of Mubarak Shah. The author
of the Tarikh-i-Bahadur Shahi has described him as the son of Farid
Shihzadah. And in other histories the sonship of Mubarak Shah has
been attributed to him. I[n this book also the relationship has
been mentioned, as it is ordinarily known.

In short in the late hours of the Friday on which Sultan Mubarak
Shah attained to martyrdom, Sultan Muhammad Shah ascended the
throne of sovereignty by consent of the amirs and the great pillars
{officers) of state. Sarwar-ul-Mulk, although he had outwardly declared
his allegiance, still kept possession of the paraphernalia of sovereignty,
such as the treasury, the elephants and the armoury. Sarwar-ul-Mulk
received the title of Khan-i-Jahan, and Miran Sadr that of Muin-ul-
Mulk. 2Malik-ush-Sharq Kamal-ud-din waited for an opportunity
for avenging the murder of Mubarak Shah against Sarwar-ul-Mulk
and Miran Sadr and ? all the base ungrateful wretches. On the day
following the accession of Muhammad Shah, Sarwar-ul-Mulk sent for
such of the slaves of Mubarak Shah, as possessed any forces, on the
pretext of their declaring their allegiance, and seized some of them and
¢ put them to death and imprisoned others, such as Karamchand and

-,

1 This is the reading of all the MSS. and the lith. edn. Muhammad Shih
however was really the son of Farid Khén and he is described as such by Badéoni.
The reason why he is called the son of Mubarak Shah is explained in the open-
ing lines of the account of his reign in the Tabaqat.

2 Badionl says he resided outside the city Oyt LAl ,byS )f‘:' Wt
and he seems to have remained quiescent, and it was Sarwar-ul-Mulk that
took aggressive steps. .

3 The actual words ohha ol ;o yle.

4 There are some variations in the madinés. One MS. omits 'y (-aa
3355 wliw and the same MS. has the word <Slo before >ig- ;S and reads



MUHAMMAD SHAH. 323

Malik Magbiil and Malik Fatiih ; and began to make all sorts of efforts
for completely destroying the Mub&rak Shahi slaves. He also kept in
his own possession the parganas in the vicinity of the capital, which
were the epitome and the select (i.e. the most valuable) of all ; and
distributed a few amongst the other Amirs, and he made over the
parganas of Bianah, and Amroha, and Narnol and Kuhram and some
parganas in the Doab to ! Sidh Pal and Sidharan and their relations.
He also sent 2 Abu Shah his own slave to ® Bianah for collecting the
(arrear) revenue of some years. The latter arrived in the town
of Bidnah on the 12th of the aforesaid month, and tried to seize the
fort. Yusuf Khan Auhadi receiving information of this, came to
Bianah from ¢ Hindwan, and fought with and slew Abu Shah, and
the members of his family, and his sons were taken prisoners. As the
ingratitude of Sarwar-ul-Mulk was patent to everybody, most of the
amirs, who had been nourished by the salt of Khizr Khan and Sultan
Mubarak Shah were thinking how they could do for him. Sarwar-ul-
Mulk was also planning how he could seize them. At this time news
came that °Tlhadad Kaka Lodi governor of Sambal and ¢ Ahar, and
Malik Chaman governor of Badain, and Amir ‘Ali Gujrati, and Amir

C);" as z ;15- Ferishtah also has e before ‘N% '4)5 and has z )-’-’ for C)'“
ho also says that Sarwar-ul-Mulk conferred the title of Khan-i-’azam Saiyad
Khan on the son of Saiyed Salim, and large Jagirs, to bring him to his own
side, and that he intended ultimately to make himself the Sultan.

1 There are some variations in these names. Badaoni describes them as
sidh Pal and Sidharan Khetri and describes them as the 15U or murderers of
Mubarak Shah. Sidh Pal was the man who according to Badaonti, actually cut
down the Sultan (see note 4, p. 321).

2 He is called Abu Shah in the lith. edn. and some MSS. and &%,
in other MSS. Badaoni calls him & !y Ranan Siah, the slave of Sidh Pal.

3 Badéonl also has Bidnah, but the lith. edn. of Ferishtah has Samanah
which is of course incorrect.

4 Col. Ranking says that the text and both MSS. read u)m which he
transliterates as Hindén but Ferishtah has s> Hindwén, so he adopts that.
He also says that Hindaun which is nearer c))éiﬁ than w')-\iﬁ is about
20 miles south of Bianah and is situated in the Jaypur State.

5 That is how he is called in most of the MSS. In one MS. and in the lith.
edn. and in Ferishtah (lith. edn.) he is called Ilhadad Lodi. Bad&oni, calls him
Ilhad&d Kéld Lodi.

% In Buland Shahar district, U.P., 20 miles north-west of Buland Shahar.
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1Kabtk Turkbachah had raised the standard of hostility; and
Sarwar-ul-Mulk sent 2 Kamal-ud-din, and Saiyad Khan, and Yusuf
Khan, younger son of Sidharan Kanku to crush their rebellion.
Kamal-ud-din encamped on the bank of the Jumna in the month of
Ramazan. He went from there to the town of Baran and
waited there with the object of avenging the murder of Mubarak
Shah on the son of Sarwar-ul-Mulk and on Sidharan. Malik Ilhadad
knowing Kamal-ud-din to be a friend did not advance from Ahar.
Sarwar-ul-Mulk was now aware of Kamal-ud-din’s treachery and sent
3 Malik Hushyar his slave on the pretext of helping Kamal-ud-din,
so that being aware of his treachery he might attend to the safety
of Yusuf and Sidharan. At this time Malik Chaman came to Ahar,
and joined Malik Ilhaddd. Malik Yusuf and Sidharan and Hushyar
were already suspicious of the treachery of Kamal-ud-din ; and their
suspicion increased ; and they separated themselves from the army,
and came to Dehli; and in the end of the month of Ramazan Malik
Hhadad and Malik Chaman with the other amirs who were of the
same opinion as themselves joined Kamal-ud-din. The latter then
with a great force turned towards Dehli and Sarwar-ul-Mulk shutting
himself up in the fort of Dehli * fought with them for a period
of three months.

At this time the news of the death of Zirak Khéan, governor of
Samanah, reached Dehli.  His Jagir was entrusted to his son Muham-
mad Khan., Muhammad Shah, although outwardly he remained on
friendly terms with the people in the fort, yet waited for the right

1 This name is given as <SS and o5 in the MSS. Baddoni does not
give his name at all. Ferishtah calls him 3, Kank,

2 There is a great deal of diversity and douht, about these names. I have
adopted the reading which appeared to be the most correct on a comparison of
the MSS. and the lith. edn. Baddonl names Malik-ush-Sharq Kamal-ul-Mulk
and Saiyad Khan son of Saiyad Salim as the two who were actually nominated,
but Malik Yusuf son of Sarwar-ul-Mulk and Sidh@ran and Kankd also were
appointed to go with them. Ferishtah (lith. edn.) says that Sarwar-ul-Mulk
sent Saiyad Khan and Sidharan and Yusuf Khén his own son with Kamal-ul-
Mulk. .

3 Baddoni calls him Sarwar-ul-Mulk’s Naib, and says he was sent on the
pretext of helping Malik Kamal-ud-din, but really as a 8py.

4 Baddaoni gives some details of the fighting.
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moment and right opportunity for avenging the murder of his father;
and Sarwar-ul-Mulk also being cognisant of this waited for an
opportunity for murdering Muhammad Shah. Suddenly on the 8th of
Muharram 838 A.H. (1434 A.D.) Sarwar-ul-Mulk and the sons of
Miran Sadr deceitfully and treacherously lifted up their swords, and
came into the pavilion of Muhammad Shah. The latter, for fear of
these, was always accompanied by a large body of his friends and
well-wishers, and was always ready to fight. They killed Sarwar-ul-
Mulk on the spot; and seizing the sons of Miran Sadr had them
punished in front of the darbar. Couplet:—

The gazelle that seeks the lion to fight,

The earth with its blood becomes tulip-red.

Sidh Pal and other base wretches shut themselves up, and
prepared for battle. Muhammad Shah brought Kamal-ud-din into
the city. Sidh Pal ! set fire to his house and making his wife and son
food for fire, was slain. By order of Muhammad Shah, Sidharan,
Kanku and the 2 Khetris who had been seized were all punished near
the ° khatirah of Mubarak Shah. Malik Hushyar and Mubarak
Kotwal were beheaded in front of the red gate.

On the next day Kamal-ud-din, with all the amirs who were
outside the fort, did fresh homage to Muhammad Shah ; and in con-
cert with the people in general seated him on the throne of sover-
eignty. Kamil-ud-din received the post of Vazarat. and the title of
Kamal Khan. Malik Chaman received the title of Ghazi-ul-Mulk,
and the districts of Amroha and Badaun were confirmed to him
as before. Malik 1lhadad Lodi did not accept any title for himself

1 Baddoni is more explicit. 3 &) %& Ylo Y& Ho G cdus U Ko
@S ol s..(u.c) S gdd &suo).& 8&; (._M')”&n d‘-’:“ Ul‘}}'«' ‘\S);n)a

2 There is some difficulty about this word. The lith. edn. has (siloyS
and the MSS. have slnS, (JlUy¢S and (FlopeS. Badoni has (placw
S arlb Ko 5 & and Ferishtah has WlifeS e b wpleow from
which it is clear that the doubtful word is UJL:';"-Q-( . As to the punishment
Badaioni says 0J3,5 =l )15, i.e. were impaled. Ferishtah says pled waydas
O3y S were put to death with great tortures.

8 3)55-& literally means an enclosure, but here it means a tomb enclosed
by walls or a palisade.
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but took the title of Darya Khan for his ! brother. Malik 2Khutaraj.
Mubarak Khani got the title of Iqbal Khan and the district of Hisar
Firoza was confirmed to him as before; and all the amirs were
honoured with rewards and increase of stipends. The elder son of
Saiyad Salim got the title of Majlis-i-’Ali Saiyad Khan, and his
younger son Shuja’-ul-Mulk; and 3Malik Badah, ’Ala-ul-Mulk.
Malik Rukn-ud-din was made Nasir-ul-Mulk; and *Malik-ush-Sharq
Hajt was made Shahna (Superintendent) of Dehli.

Ju the month of Rabi’-ul-awwal of the afore-mentioned year,
Muhammad Shah travelled towards Multdn. At the camp at Muba-
rakpir most of the amirs such as °’Imad-ul-Mulk, and Islam Khan,
and Muhammad Khan son of Nasrat Khan, and Yusuf Khan Auhadi,
and Igbal Khédn, and all the royal servants came and joined him.
Muhammad Shah, after making pilgrimages to the shrines of the

1 Only one MS. has 3y& Mys& 3!y, his younger brother; the other MSS.,
the lith. edn., Baddoni and Ferishtah all have only & )a?).g , his brother.

2 The name is doubtful and its meaning is not at all clear. One MS.
has & SHle C’)J d}\'{ , other MSS. have L& J)lio G'Jjﬁj’ the lith. edn.
has & )l E’Jb‘; . Ferishtah has u)l.; SHlue c’f;&‘ . but Briggs does not
give the name, but includes him among the rest of the nobles. Badaoni does
not name him at all.

3 He is called Malik Badah 385 <%« in most of the MSS., but in one he is
called Malik Saida and in one Malik Sadah, and ¥&o Xko in the lith. edn.
He is not mentioned either by Badaoni or by Ferishtah.

4 He is Malik-ush-Sharq Haji or Jaji or Hajib in the MSS. and in the lith.
edn. He is not mentioned by Bad&oni. Ferishtah calls him uj'-\»‘ gﬂt&
& plesy yeedel! Haji Sandali-al-Mashhir ba Hisim Khan. Hisam Khin is
of course repeatedly mentioned further on.

5 Bad#@ioni does not give any names. He sm\ply says ))—\f )LW PLIY)) NA,
igdh (ymlo gou Okl ool U 0ged B33, e o waited for a fow days at Mu-
barakplir, so that the Amirs of the provinces might join him. Ferishtah says
Sy sy Jlile sE L slee 4 cd..s,o)! olio yowel yo Tpel JSH

o Just oy Y& Samiye g 20y &l o s fym 5 Lol &ep
MELS ‘:;-‘LW 5)3(—’ g”w LAV 5@)~>~:, i.e. most of the nobles hesitated about
coming, but when 'Imad-ul-Mulk came from Multén, all thq amirs and com-
manders of armies, etc., such as Islam Khan Lodhi and Yusuf Khan Auhadi

and Igbadl Khén came to the court and were' honoured with valuable robes
of honour.
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Sheikhs of Multan, and leaving Khan-i-Khanan there, returned the
same year to Dehli, and in the year 840 A.H. (1436 A.D.) he marched .
towards Samanah, and sent an army against ! Shelkha Khokhar and
after laying waste his country came to Dehli.

In the year 841 A.H. (1437 A.D.) news was brought that owing
to the turbulence of a band of 2Lankahs there was disturbance
in Multan. News also came that Sultdn Ibrahim Sharqi had taken
possession of some parganas ; and the Ray of Gwaliar and other Rays
were withholding payment of revenue.  As the vein of honour was
not in motion in Muhammad Shah and indolence and carelessness
prevailed on him, a madness was produced in every head and a
hankering in every heart. :—Couplet :—

When the Shéah his domain forgets to rule,
Every head doth hanker after it.

Some of the 3 Miwati amirs summoned Sultan Mahmad Khilji the
badshah of Malwah; and in the year 844 A.H. (1440 A.D.) Sultan
Mahmad arrived in Dehli. Muhammad Shah having arrayed his
troops sent his own son outside (the fort or the city) and made Malik
Bahlol Lodi the commander of the vanguard. Sultain Mahmad
Khilji also sent his two sons *Sultan Ghids-ud-din and Qadn Khain.
From morning till evening the dust of disturbance and battle rose ;
and at night both parties returned and took up their position in
their own places. The next day Muhammad Shih proposed peace.

1 One MS. has Sud 4 Wymas . Baddoni also has Sheikha here, but Ferish-
tah has Jasrat.

2 They are so called in all the MSS. (except in one where they are called
3! which is evidently a mistake) and in the Persian text of Badaoni. In the
Persian text of Ferishtah they are called #SU. Col. Ranking calls them * the
tribe of Langahs,” and Col. Briggs ‘“ the Afghans called Lunga.”

3 Some of the MSS. have lilyo (da, onehas Wilyse Lol (goans ,
the lith. edn. has (g!wo! 4ay. Badaoni has whae glash &la

4 All the MSS. and the lith. edn. prefix Sultsn before the name of Ghias-
ud-din. As to the second name they have Qadn and Fadn and Fadain Khan.
The lith. edn. has )% . Badaoni has Ghiais-ud-din without the Sultan and Madn
Khain, but Col. Ranking has Qadr Khan in the translation and he says in a note
that * the text has & 00 and MS. A. & 03, but Ferishtah has BTy
and so has the Tabaqdt Akbari.” Ferisht&h has Ghigs-ud-din and Qadr Khan
but the MSS. of the Tabagat Akbari that I have seen have not got Qadr Khan.
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In the meanwhile news was brought to Sultan Mahmiid that ! Sultan
Ahmad Gujrat! was advancing towards Mandu. He therefore
consented to a settlement, and turned back. And this peace became
the cause of a greater humiliation for Muhammad Shah, in the eyes
and in the hearts (of men). As Sultan Mahmiud started on his return
journey Malik Bahlol Lodi pursued him and seized as plunder a 2 part
of his camp equipage and heavy baggage. Muhammad Shah was
very pleased with this service rendered by Malik Bahlol, honoured
him with royal favours and called him by the name of son.

In the year 845 AH. (1441 A.D.) Sultan Muhammad Shah
marched towards Samanah ; and having made Dibalpir and Lahore
over to Malik Bahlol, and sending him to destroy Jasrat Khokhar,
himself returned to Dehli. Jasrat made peace with Malik Bahlol, and
3 gave him the pleasant hope of his becoming Sultan of Dehli.
The ambition of becoming the Sultan having entered his head, Malik
Bahlol commenced to collect men ; and summoned Afghans from all
sides and directions, and retained them (in his service). In'a very

1 Badoni does not say so. He says il ly  dao (il Ogesio bl
tlle il 3og,a odlid alile &l 1y Bllo Sho (oA o hA |, diuils
015 d 5, i.e. Sultin Mahmiid taking advantage of this (i.e. of the proposal of
peace) and making a pretext of having seen the ruin of the kingdom of Malwah in
a dream, started at night in light order for Malwah. Both the Sultans appear
to have vied with each other in pusillanimity. According to Ferishtah however
Sultdan Muhammad was the worse coward of the two. He says, that in spite of
the pomp and vast number of his army Sultan Muhammad repeatedly said
that there was no necessity of his mounting to face the enemy ; that his troops
gained a victory mainly through the bravery of Bahlol Lodi; that in the night
Sultdn Mahmiid had his dream ; and in the morning heard of the invasion
of Malwah by Sultén Ahmad, but he could not for very shame propose terms
of peace, when Sultdn Muhammad without amy reason or necessity and without
consulting anybody sent proposals of peace.

2 Ferishtah says %)yl cewdy jlms Jline 5 Jlo 3 suile) ks ) S aea

-..;J-'-'Nﬁ ghw J.(.J ) )eT , l.e. slew a large body and seizing much property
and wealth preserved the honour of the Dehli army.

8 Badoni has wale lue glno ikl ehylly &, Ferishtah says
g & ool ] pLYw uUb\;' o L.")’ waliy ye2d 20Yy 00 ol Ko
MY ...o»g-c; ghé gnL.‘taLu 3yead g;w)b L",;JJ; )Lg }f‘! - Tt appears that the
wily Jasrat, like the witches in Macbeth, all hailed Bahlol as Sult&n of Dehli.
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short time a great multitude joined him; and he took possession of
many parganas in his neighbourhood; and laying the foundation
of hostility with Sultin Muhammad Shah, with little ostensible
reason, with great pomp and power, marched on Dehli, and having be-
sieged it for a considerable time, returned without attaining his object.
The ! affairs of Sultin Muhammad Shah declined from day to day, and
things came to such a pass that amirs who were within twenty Karohs
of Dehli, having turned their heads from obedience (to Dehli), openly
declared their independence. At last in the year 2847 A.H. (1443
A.D.) Sultain Muhammad Shah returned the deposit of his life to its
giver. The period of his reign was ten years and some months.

Verse :—Such is the custom of the revolving age;
It gives now kindness, and hardship now ;
To hope from it for faith and loyalty,
Is like to hope for light from dim ® Suha ;
For two days is its fickle unstable love ;
No sign there is in its face of faith and truth.

1 Ferishtah also has 33’)-"-\3 ‘_;LM?)'))J. 39 ié semo wdble Col, Briggs
leaving out the first two words translates the rest, as becoming day by day
weaker; as if the passage referred to the Sultén’s health.

2 All the MSS. give 847 A.H. as the year of his death. The lith. edn. has
844 A.H. which is manifestly incorrect. Bad&oni has 847 A.H. as the year of
the Sultan’s death, but he gives him a reign of 14 years and some months which
is certainly incorrect. Ferishtéh says Sultdn Muhammad Shah died in 849 A H.
Col. Ranking thinks that Ferishtah’s date is probably correct and has a fairly
long note in support of it. He says that there is no evidence to show that
Sultan ‘Ala-ud-din ascended the throne in 847 A.H. and as Sultdn Muhammad
Shih ascended the throne in 837 A.H. and Ferishtah says he reigned for 12 years,
he must have died in 849 A.H.; but there is no reason, why if Ferishtah made a
mistake about the year of Muhammad Shah’s death he should not have made a
mistake about the length of his reign also. Col. Ranking says we should accept
Ferishtah’s plain and coincident statement. The difficulty however is that
neither Ferishtah himself nor any other historian says what happened in the five
years between 845 A H. and 849 A.H. There is of course & similar difficulty
about there being no mention of any event between 845 A.H. and 847 A.H. sup-
posing that to be the correct date of Muhammad Shah’s death and between 847
A.H. and 850 A.H. when Sultén ‘Ala-ud-din marched towards Sam&nah.

3 Suha is the name of an obscure Star in the Lesser Bear.
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SuLTAN ‘ALA-UD-DIN SON OF MUHAMMAD SHAH, SON OF
MuBARAK SHAH, soN ofF KHizr KHAN.

On the death of Sultan Muhammad Shah the amirs and the great
officers of State seated his son on the throne of sovereignty, giving
him the title of Sultan ‘Ala-ud-din. ! Malik Bahlol and all the amirs
did homage to him. Within a short time it became clear that Sultan
‘Ala-ud-din was even less intelligent, and weaker in affairs of state
than his father. The madness in the brain of Malik Bahlol became
stronger. Couplet :—

When he sees that from the serpent there’s no fear,
The wise from the treasure does not his hand withdraw.

In the year 850 A.H. (1445 A.D.) Sultan ‘Ala-ud-din rode out to-
wards Saiméanah; and while he was on his way, news reached him
that the badshah of Jaunpir was marching to attack Dehli.  The Sul-
tan returned quickly and came to Dehli. 3 Hisam Khan who was the
Vazir of the empire, and the regent during the absence of the Sultan,
represented (to the latter) that the return of the Sultan, merely on
hearing a false rumour of the approach of the enemy, was not
befitting to the dignity of his state. Sultdn ‘Ala-ud-din was vexed
and pained at these words, which were contrary to his disposition.
In the year 851 A .H. (1447 A.D.) he moved towards Badain; and
after staying there for some time returned to Dehli. He then
declared that he was pleased with Badaun, and wished to stay there
permanently. Hisam Khan again, out of the sincerity of his heart,
explained to him, that to abandon Dehli, and to make Badain the
seat of the throne was not advisable for his good. The Sultan was

still more vexed at these words, and separating him from himself, left
him in Dehli.

1 This agrees with Badsoni ol y8 s yo S et b g“\'f' Sl Ko
i.e, and Malik Bahlol Lodi with the other amirs came to do him homage.
Ferishtah however makes a contrary statement. e says o )" y_w ';9’ alex
-55'-3)‘ o Bowl RS & u&b)} Jol ie. all the amirs, except Malik Bahlol
Lodhi, came to the foot of the throne and did homage.

2 The allusion is to the fable that hidden treasures are guarded by serpents.

3 Baddoni does not mention this representation or remofstrance of HisAm
Khan, Ferishtah does, Hisam Khan is later mentioned by Badaoni, as «SJeJ! ¥see

oldw 81,4198 5 and has his right name in the Persian text, but in the English
translation he is changed to Husain Khan,
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He made the two brothers of his wife one the Shahnah (Superin-
tendent) of the city, and the other the Superintendent of the
roads. Couplet :—

He had no skill in affairs of state.
Shame and disgrace he got from the hands of fate.

Again in the year 852 A.H. (1448 A.D.) he went to Badain, and
there giving himself up to sensual pleasures, was contented with
the small tract of country that was under his rule. After a time
there was enmity between the two brothers of his wife, who were in
Dehli; and they fought with each other, and one of them was
killed. On the following day the people of the city, under the
instigation of Hisam Khan, killed the second brother in revenge for
the death of the first. At this time the Sultin on the *instigation
of treacherous men attempted to put Hamid Khan, who was the
Vazir, to death ; and he fled and coming to Dehli joined Hisim Khan
and took possession of the city and summoned Malik Bahlol to take
up the empire ; and the details of this brief account will be mentioned
in the history of Malik Bahlol. In short >Malik Bahlol Lodi came
with a large force to Dehli and took possession of it.  After a few days
he left a body of his well-wishers at Dehli, and himself marching
towards Dibalpir commenced to collect an army. He also sent a
representation to Sultin ‘Ald-ud-din to say that he was only striving
for the good of the Sultan; and he knew himself to be the slave of
the latter. Sultdn ‘Ala-ud-din wrote in reply *“ As my father called
you by the name of son, and I have no anxiety for provision for my
few wants, I am contented with the one parganah of Badain, and
am giving up the empire to you.” Couplet :—

1 Col. Ranking says that Ferishtah gives a full account of the attempt
on Hamid Khin’s life and says that Qutb Khan and Ray Pertab, the latter of
whom had a blood feud against Hamid Khan, instigated the Sultan. The author
of the Tabaqat Akbari (from whom no doubt Ferishtah copied it) gives the
same account, only he does so in his account of the reign of Sultdn Bahlol
Lodi.

2 According to Badaoni, Bahlol Lodi after he had been made Sultan at
Dehli went in the absence of Sultan ¢‘Ala-ud-din to Sirhind and there assumed
the title of Sultdn and had the Khutbah read in his name; he then came with a

. large force to Dehli and took possession of it, and then again left the capital in
charge of his Naib and went to Dibalpdr to raise an army.
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Without the headache of the lance and the drawing of the sword,
The object, which was the hankering for dominion, was attained.

Malik Bahlol with victory and daily increasing prosperity, and
finding that the garment of sovereignty fitted his stature, achieved
his purpose. He came from Dibalpir to Dehli and seating himself
on the throne of empire, assumed the title of Sultan Bahlol. Among
the amirs of Sultan ‘Ala-ud-din, those who had joined him, had their
stipends confirmed and made permanent. After some time Sultan
‘Ala-ud-din, made the last journey ; and the world became the pos-
session of Sultan Bahlol. The period of his (Sultdan ‘Ala-ud-din’s)
reign was seven years and some months.

2SuLTAN Banmron Lobi.

It is current from tradition, that Malik Bahlol is the nephew of
Sultan Shah Lodi who had the title of Islam Khan, and was one
of the great amirs of Khizr Khan and Sultin Mubarak Shah and
ruled in Sirhind. As he saw signs of ability and nobility in his
nephew, Islaim Khan brought him up as his son, and about the end
of his life having appointed him to be his successor, passed away.
Islam Khan had a son of the name of Qutb Khan. He turned his
head aside from submission to Malik Bahlol, and went to Sultan
Muhammad. The latter sent 3Haji Shudni who had the title of

1 The year of his deadh is not mentioned in the Tabagat. Badaoni says
it took place in 8556 A.H. According to Ferishtah however, although his reign
as emperor terminated in 8556 A.H., he lived for quite a long time afterwards
apparently in peaceful and contended obscurity in Badaiin and did not die till
883 A.H. (1418 A.D.) having ruled in Badaun for 28 years.

2 The heading is given as above in all the MSS. (except one which omits
Lodi), in the lith. edn. and in Ferishtah. Bad&oni has Sultén Bahlol son of
Kala Lodi but one MS. of Bad&oni omits ¥ .y .

$ This name is very doubtful. Two of the MSS. and the lith. edn. have
o5 ala as T have given it in the text. The other MSS. have (Jiy% al>
Haji Sharni or (5y% (sala Haji Sharfi or (73 (>l Haji Shargl. Badsoni
does not mention these transactions at all. Ferishtah says, Muhammad Shah
first sent Malik Sikandar Tuhfa with a strong army in support of Qutb Khan.
Bahlol Lodi divided his followersin three parts y an engagement took place, and
the Afghans were defeated. Bahlol had not however been present at the battle.
He now became a freebooter and collected many Afghans and some Mughals
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Hisaim Khan with a large army against Malik Bahlol. The two
parties fought at the village of  Kadha, one of the villages in Parga-
nah Khizraibad and 2 Sadhorah, and Hisim Khan was defeated and
went back to Dehli. Malik Bahlol then acquired much strength and
power.

They say that one day in the beginning of his career, Malik Bahlol
went with two friends to Samanah. There was a darvesh there of
the name of Saiyad 2 Ibn. Malik Bahlol with his two friends went to
pay their respects to the holy man ; and sat down respectfully. The
‘absorbed one said ; is there any of you who would buy the badshaht
of Dehli for two thousand tangahs ? Malik Bahlol had one thousand
and six hundred tangahs in his bag. He brought it out, and placing
it in front of the darvesh said “I have not more than this.”
The Fagir accepted it and said “may the badshahl be auspicious
for thee.” ‘“His companions jested with and mocked him. He said
in reply. “This cannot but be one of two things. If this story
comes true, I shall have made a very cheap bargain, and if it does not,
to do a service to a darvesh is surely not devoid of profit.” Couplet :—

The wayfarers on the spiritual path when they see true piety,
Bestow the empire of Kais and the dominion of Faridun on a faqir.

And what is mentioned in some histories that Malik Bahlol had
been engaged in trade, has no foundation whatever. Probably
his paternal ancestors were traders and used to come to Hindu-
stan.

In short, Malik Bahlol with his uncle Malik Firoz, and all his re-

and again took possession of Sirhind. It was then that Hisam Khan was
sent against him.  Ferishtah does not give any other name of Hisam Khan
(see however note 4 p. 326).

1 The name is given as ¥5 in most of the MSS, and in Ferishtah, In the
lith. edn. and in one of the MSS. it is written as 42,5 .

2 It is Sadhorah ¥)y#5lw in most of the MSS. and in the lith. edn. Ferishtah
has Shahpdrah.

8 The MSS. give the name as given in the text (2! & . Thelith. edn. has
only (y! without the prefix &aw. Ferishtah calls the darvesh Saida 'dses .
He says that Bahlol went to Sam#&nah (or Sam#nah as he calls it) on a visit
to his uncle Islam Khan, and then went to the darvesh.

¢ The word used both in the Tabaqat and in Ferishtah is w339« i.e, one
who is absorbed (in the love or contemplation of God).
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lations was in possession of the district of Sirhind and acquired great
power and strength. From the words of the Darvesh which he had
in his mind from youth, and from the incitement of Jasrat Khokhar
as has been narrated already, the bird of empire having laid an egg
in his brain, he began to extend his territories. ~After his victory over
Hisam Khan, Malik Bahlol sent a representation to the Sultan,
containing an account of the unpleasantnesses of Haji Shudni, and his
own sincerity and loyalty ; and also mentioned in it, that if the Sultan
should put Haji Shudni to death, and confer the post of Vazir
on Hamid Khan, his slave (i.e. he himself) would be a loyal servant.
Sultin Muhammad without any consideration and hesitation put
Hisam Khan to death and made Hamid Khan His Vazir.

Doubtless from fate he would enmity sce,
Who his friend, without reason, would slay.

The Lodis now came forward with sincerity and did homage to
the Sultan ; and their Jagirs were confirmed to them afresh. After
Malik Bahlol had fought against Sultan Mahmad Malwi on the side
of Sultan Muhammad, he was honoured with the title of Khan-i-
Khanin. Gradually the Lodis, feeling stronger, took forcible posses-
sion of Lahore and Dibilpur, and Sunim and Hisar Firozah and
other parganas; and acquired very great power and influence.
They had also become hostile, on account of their having taken
possession of Lahore and Dibalpiir without the permission of Sultdn
Muhammad, so they now raised the standard of enmity, and advanced
on Dehli against Sultan Muhammad. They besieged Dehli for a
long time, but being unable to take it returned to Sirhind. Malik
Bahlol then assumed the title of Sultan, but ! postponed the inser-
tion of his name in the public prayer and the minting of coin in his own
name, till the conquest of Dehli. At this time Sultin Muhammad
died, and Sultan ‘Ald-ud-din was placed on the throne by the endea-
vours of the Amirs and the great men of the kingdom. Couplet:

1 This agrees with what Ferishtah says, who has almost the same words as
the author of the Tabaqat. Badaoni is slightly different. Hé says y= ulhl.«z
¢ il dabd 8010 1,8 9y5n il lbA &05) 3i# this was however after he had
taken possession of Dehli and been raised on the throne by Hisam Khan and
Hamid Khan.
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How excellent are ! empire and wealth, with their heads
hanging down.
The father’s gone and the son’s foot is in the stirrup.

At this time the whole of Hindustan being in the possession
-of different tribes, the Lodis had acquired very great power. 2 Ahmad
Khan Miwati was in possession (of the territory) from Mehrouti as far
as Lada Sarai, which is close to the city of Dehli.  The Lodis held the
territory of Sirhind and Lahore as far as Panipat. Darya Khan Lodi
was the ruler of the territory of Sambal to the ford of Khwajah-i-
Khizr which is adjacent to the city of Dehli. ‘Isa Khan Turkbacha
held Kol. Qutb Khan son of * Hasan Khan was the ruler of 4Rabrl.
Ray Partab was in possession of the towns of Bhongdon, Batiali and
Kampila. Bianah was in the possession of Daiid Khan Auhadi. And
Gujrat, and Malwah and the Deccan and Jaunpiir and Bangilah
each had an independent badshah. Sultan ‘Ala-ud-din had the city
of Dehli and a few villages ; and he was badshah with this territory !

Sultan Bahlol after collecting an army came a second time from
Sirhind to Dehli. He could not capture the citadal of Dehli, so he
went back to Sirhind. At this time Sultan ‘Ala-ud-din had a consulta-
tion with Qutb Khan, and ‘Isa Khan, and Riy Partab, as to how he
might strengthen his own position. They told him in reply, ¢if
‘the Sultan would imprison Hamid Khéin and dismiss him from the
post of Vazir, we would seize a few pirganahs from the Amirs, and
add them to the Sultan’s dominion.” The Sultan ordered the arrest
-of Hamid Khan. Couplet:—

As if to the rose one said that amongst the birds of thy garden,

Thou hadst none but the bulbul, why dost thou keep its wings tied
up ?

1 Some of the MSS. have i )3 yw & oy y Sho - I have
adopted this. Other MSS. and the lith. edn. have i )3 yw yhyd Sdo g2
s y0 B ad (fit.) head hanging down; i.e. all topsy-turvey.

2 These divisions and the names of the rulers are given in Ferishtah in his
account of the reign of Sultdn ‘Ala-ud-din.  Col. Briggs says ‘ This description
of the territorial divisions is extremely useful. Besides these Kandeish, Sind
and Mooltan had each its separate Mahomedan King.”” He however makes no
attempt to identify the places. The divisions are not mentioned by Badaoni.

3 He is Hasan Khi#n in some MSS. and Husen Khan in others.

¢ Rabri is variously given as , gy 'y Rabri, , (g5? ') Rapri, (gy) Rabri
and (gy3) Rapri.
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The Sultan then started from Dehll and came to ! Burhanabad
near Marharah. Qutb Khan and ‘Isa Khan and Ray Partdb there
rendered- homage to him, and said that they would include forty
parganas in the Sultan’s dominion on condition that he would put
Hamid Khan to death. As before this Fateh Khan, father of Hamid
Khan, had laid waste Ray Partab’s territories and had taken posses-
sion of his wife, the latter incited the Sultin to put Hamid Khan to
death on account of this old enmity. Sultan ‘Ala-ud-din who had no
acquaintance with the administration of an empire, gave the order
for the death of Hamid Khian without any deliberation or delay.
The brother of Hamid Khan and his friends however, obtained his
release from imprisonment by such stratagems as they could think of.
He fled and came to Dehli. Malik Muhammad Jamal who was
his jailor or guard pursued him, and arriving at his house attacked it.
He was however wounded by an arrow and slain, and a large body of
men gathered round Hamid Khan. There was a great disturbance
and uproar and turmoil. Hamid Khan entered the harem of the
Sultan, and driving out his wives, daughters and sons with 2bare
uncovered heads from the citadel of the city, took possession of the
treasures and paraphernalia of sovereignty. Sultin ‘Ala-ud-din on
account of the wretchedness of his fortune, delayed the taking of all
revenge from day to day, and remained in Badaun, on account of
the rains.

Hamid Khan taking advantage of this, began to think of placing
another on the throne instead of Sultan ‘Ala-ud-din. As Sultan
Mahmid Sharqi, the badshah of Jaunpir, was a 3relation of Sultan

1 One of the dependencies of Itawah, Marharah is given variously as
3;%)L, Barhrash, ¥y%)ly, Parharah and el ;Lo Marharah. It appears to
have been a township in the Dodb.

2 Ferishtah says oly=d 5 ofF&0 5 U Sowl 0 sl Osu S dues
;*..»)La.a)? Ls"Jw) el e 3 A.\n)_v LSbJ)‘ ) a.z, @ ') Lol
ob GSpaio 1y aldol clwl 5 (ula 8008 9w e, Hamld Khan entered
the haram of the badshah and dragged out the wives and daughters and sons
of the badshah and drove them out of the citadel of the city with their heads

"and feet uncovered with the greatest insult and disgrace; and took possession
of the treasure and the paraphernalia of the badshahi.

3 Sultan Hasan Sharql one of the sons of Sultan Mahmid Sharql was
‘married to Malkah-i-Jah#n, a daughter of Sultén ‘Ala-ud-din.
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‘Ala-ud-din he did not consider it proper to summon him. Sultan
Mahmiid the badshah of Mandu was at a distance. ~The Lodis were
near. He summoned Malik Bahlol who was at Sirhind, and the
latter came to Dehll with a large force after making terms and condi-
tions. Hamid Khan gave the keys of the citadel to Malik Bahlol.
The latter sat on the throne of sovereignty on the '17th of the
month of Rabr’-ul-awwal, 855 A.H. (1451 A.D). 2 Quatrain:

On this turquoise throne every morn and eve,

One die of fortune is shaken to the goal of success;

None has this fortune and this die borne away,

Nor with full joy, the fruits of sovereignty did tasie.

At that time Sultan Bahlol had 3nine sons, viz. Khwajah
Bayezid, his eldest son, Nizam Khan who took the title of Sultin
Sikandar, Barbak Shah, Mubarak Khan, ‘Alam Khan celebrated as
Sultan ‘Ala-ud-din, Jamal Khan, Mian Y’aqub, Fateh Khan, Mian
Musa and Jalal Khan ; and he had ¢ thirty-four Amirs and relations;
viz. Qutb Khan son of Islim Khan Lodi, Darya Khan Lodi, Tatar
Khan son of Darya Khan Lodi, Mubarak Khan Lohani, Tatar Khan
Yusuf Khail, Umar Khan Sharwani, Qutb Khan, son of Hasan Khan
Afghan, Ahmad Khan Miwati, Yusuf Khan Jilwani, Ali Khan son of
Yusuf Khan Jilwani, Ali Khan Turkbachah, Sheikh Abu Sa’id
Farmuli, Ahmad Khan Shami, Khan-i-Khanan Lohani, Shams Khan,
Vazir Khan, Khan-i-Khanan son of Ahmad Khan, Sheikh Ahmad
Khan Sharwani, Nihang Khan, Lashkar Khan. Shahab Khan, Dabir

1 Badaoni gives the year of the accession 8556 A.H. but not the date.
Ferishtah says he was already in possession of Dehli for some time, but he
removed the name of Sultan ‘Ala-ud-din from the Khutbah and openly and
formally declared himself to be the Sultan, on the 17th Rabi’-ul-awwal 855 A.H.

2 One MS. calls these lines a (¢ )*140 but others and the lith. edn. call
thern verses.

3 Although our author and Ferishtah both say that Bahlol had nine sons,
they both give ten names. Col. Briggs gives only nine names, by omitting
Mubarak Khan.

4 Ferishtah also says 34 but Col. Biggs says 36. The names given above
generally agree with those in Ferishtah. The latter however prefixes the title
of Khan-Jahan Lodi to the name of Darya Khan Lodi, substitutes Yusuf Khan
Khas Khail for Tatar Khan Yusuf Khail, omits ‘Ali Khan son of Yusuf Khan
Jalwani, etc., ete.
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Mubariz Khin Bahta, Rustam Khan, Junan Khan, son of Malik
Ghazi, Mian Chaman son of Khan-i-Jahan, Hisam Khan Daur (?),
‘Imad-ul-Mulk, Iqbal Khan, Mian Farid, Mian M’aruf Farmuli.
Ray Partab, Ray Kilan and Ray Karan.

Sultan Bahlol, outwardly, was adorned with piety, and was
completely bound in obedience to the law of the prophet. In all
matters he followed the path of the law; and was very enthusiastic
in attending to justice and equity. He passed a great part of his time
in the society of learned men and in the company of faqirs; and
considered it right to show kindness to the poor and needy.  In short,
when Sultan Bahlol came to Dehli, Hamid Khan had much pomp
and power.  He (Bahlol) considered it ?advisable at the time to show
consideration and gentleness to him; and everyday he went to offer
him salutation. One day he became a guest of Hamid Khan, and
he instructed the Afghins, to do certain acts which should be remote
from reason and intelligence, so that he might consider them to be
simple, and fear and respect for them might leave his mind, and
he might not be careful about them. When the Afghans came into
the place of assembly, they commenced behaving in a strange manner,
Some of them placed their shoes on a shelf above Hamid Khan’s
head. Hamid Khan said ¢ what conduct is this 2> They said “ we
are keeping them in safety from thieves.” After a time the Afghans
said to Hamid Khan “ Your floor coverings have wonderful colours.
If you would kindly give us one blanket from these, we would have
caps and Zfillets made out of it for our sons, and send them as
valuable presents; so that the people of the world would know
that we had acquired much honour and dignity in the service of
Hamid Khan. Hamid Khan smiled and said; *I shall make presents
of fine fabrics to you for this purposg.” When (the attendants)
brought fragrant dishes into the place where they were, some of the
Afghiins licked up the gravies, and ate the flowers, and some of them
opened the packets of betel-leaves and ate the lime alone and when

1 Tt is rather difficult to understand why Malik Bahlol acted in this puerile
way. He could apparently have got rid of Hamid Khan*and need not have
told his Afghans to act in this grotesque way.

2 The word is :3\5 which means a fillet specially one worn round & head
dress,
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their mouths were burnt, they threw down the packets from their
hands. Hamid Khan asked Malik Bahlol, why they were behav-
ing in this way. He replied that they were foolish rustics, and had
been very little among men. They have no skill except in eating
and in dying.

Another day, Malik Bahlol was Hamid Khan’s guest. It was
the custom that when Malik Bahlol went into the house, a few went in
with him, and most of his men stood outside.  On this occasion, when
Malik Bahlol became a guest, the Afghans, at his instigation kicked
the gate-keeper, and forcibly entered the house, and said. We are also
servants of Hamid Khan, why should we not be allowed to salute
him. As there was a noise and uproar, Hamid Khan inquired of the
reason. He was told that the Afghans were abusing Malik Bahlol
and were saying ‘ we are also servants of Hamid Khan, just like Malik
Bahlol; he has come inside; why should we also not do so and
make our salutations to him? Hamid Khan said ‘leave them alone.’
Couplet :

No more for life do you dare hope ;
If in your garment you keep a snake.

The Afghans rushed in, in a crowd and two of them went and
stood by the side of each of the attendants of Hamid Khan who
were round him. At this time Qutb Khan Lodi brought out a chain
from his bosom, and placing it before Hamid Khan said, “it is
advisable that you should remain in seclusion for a few days; on
account of the right of salt I do not make an attempt on your life.”
They seized Hamid Khan and made him over to guards. Malik
Bahlol then took possession of Dehli without any prohibition or
enmity from anybody; had his name inserted in the Khutbah (pub-
lic prayer) and Sikkah (coin); and assumed the title of Sultan
Bahlol. He then wrote to Sultan ‘Ala-ud-din, “I was brought up by
your father, and in reality, I am giving currency and dignity to the
affairs of the government, which had got out of control, as your
agent; and I do not strike off your name from the public prayer.”
The Sultan wrote in reply ¢ my father called you son, I consider you
as my elder brother, I am leaving the empire to you and will be
contented with Badain. Sultan Bahlol having now fully attained
his object, commenced to attend to the affairs of the government ;



340 SULTAN BAHLOL LODI.

and . the same year, he marched to Multan and that neighbourhood
in order to regulate the affairs of those districts.

The amirs of Sultan ‘Ala-ud-din, who were dissatisfied with the
Lodis, having obtained the empire, summoned Sultdan Mahmid
Sharqt from Jaunpir and in the year 856 A.H. (1452 A.D.) Sultan
Mahmiid arrived in Dehll with an immense force, and besieged it.
Khawjah Baezid son of Sultdn Bahlol shut himself up with other
nobles. Sultan Bahlol on hearing the news returned from Dibalpir
and encamped at the village of ! Nalira, which is fifteen karohs from
Dehli, and his troops seized and brought away some Zcamels and
bullocks which had been sent to the pastures from the army of Sultan
Mahmiad. The latter deputed Fateh Khan 3Harawi with thirty
thousand horsemen and thirty elephants towattack Sultan Bahlol.
"The Lodis divided themselves into three armies and commenced the
battle. Qutb Khan Lodi who was a specially distinguished archer
wounded the elephant which led the vanguard of Fateh Khan’s army
and made it useless, so that it had to be withdrawn from the battle.
Qutb Khan Lodi said in a loud voice to Darya Khan Lodi who had
joined Sultdin Mahmud and was arraying the troops. ¢ Your mothers
and sisters are shut up in the fort. Is it fitting that thou shouldst fight
on the side of a stranger, and shouldst not protect the honour (of your
own people)”’. Dariya Khan said *‘ I am going, do not you pursue me.”
Qutb Khan took an oath. Dariya Khan turned his face ; and at once
on his doing so, Fateh Khan was defeated and taken prisoner. As
Fateh Khan had killed ¢ Pithora brother of Riy Karan. the latter

1 That is the name according to the MSS. (except one which omits the

name altogether) and in the lith. edn. Badaoni does not mention the place at all.
Ferishtah calls it Bir. -

2 The readings are difficult. Some of the MSS. and the lith. edn. have
oS 5 A4 )L 4. Other MSS. have ;& H)ly Ferishtahas o 5 lysl
@J& {0 Sye0 ;(.‘.‘J U*S3L which gives the best meaning ‘ some camels and
bullocks which carried loads, belonging to the army of Mahm@d Shah Sharqi.’

3 This word is given as ‘.,5)-'}0 » Harbi, u:’):‘ﬁ and (g9y? Harawi.
This last which means ¢ of Herat’ is the correct reading. .

¢ The different readings are (g)'si¢?, Bahtudri, )lyw &w, Seh Sawar,
'»s¢h2 ‘Pithors and sy Bhaneu in the MSS. and in the lith. edn. Ferishtah
has ‘5)';31«-!- Badaoni does not mention the details of the battle at all. I have
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-severed Fateh Khan’s head and brought it to Sultan Bahlol. Sultan
Mahmid was unable to bear this calamity and retired towards
-Jaunpir.

After this, Sultin Bahlol having acquired stability, became strong
.and powerful, and ! marched out for putting his dominions in order.
He went first to Miwat. Ahmad Khan Miwati went forward to
receive him, and declared his allegiance. The Sultan took seven
parganas out of his possession and left the remainder with him.
Ahmad Khan Miwatl placed Mubarak Khéan his uncle permanently
in the service of the Sultdn. The latter then went from Miwat to
Baran. Darya Khan Lodi, the ruler of Sambal, also came and tender-
-ed his submission and allegiance, and gave up seven parganas as a
tribute. The Sultan came from there to Kol, and confirmed it to ‘Isa
Kbhan as before. When he arrived at Burhanabad, the ruler of
Saket came to render service and his jagir was also not taken from
him. In the same way the territories of Ray Partab ruler of Bhon-
gaon were left with him. The Sultan then went to the fort of Rapri
Qutb Khan, son of Hasan Khan, the ruler of the fort shut himself up
in it, but in a short time, it was captured. Khan-i-Jahan gave
his word to Qutb Khan and brought him to the Sultan, and his
Jagirs was confirmed to him.  From that place he went to Itawah,
and the ruler of that place also declared his allegiance.

At this time? Sultan Mahmid Sharqi again came to attack
Sultin Bahlol and encamped in the territory of Itawah. On the
first day the two armies fought with each other., The next day
Qutb Khan and Ray -Partib proposed terms of peace and it was
settled that whatever had been in the possession of Mubarak Shah,
bidshah of Dehli should belong to Sultan Bahlol, and whatever had
been in the possession of Sultdn Ibrahim Bidshah of Jaunpir should
appertain to Sultin Mahmud; and Sultin Bahlol should send back
the seven elephants belonging to Sultan Mahmud which had fallen
into his hands at the time of the defeat of Fateh Khan Harawl.

taken Pithora which was the name given by Musalman historians to Prithvi
Raj of Dehli,

1 Ferishtah agrees generally in the account of Sultdn Bahlol’s progress.
Badaoni does not mention it at all.

2 Ferishtah copies this almost word for word. Badaoni is very brief.
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It was also settled that Sultan Bahlol should at the end of the rains
take Shamsabad from Juna Khan, who was the governor there on
behalf of Sultan Mahmiid.

After this Sultan Mahmid went to Jaunpdr; and Sultan Bahlol.
sent & farman to Jina Khan that at the appointed time, he should
march out of Shamsabad. The latter did not comply and Sultan Bahlo}
went against him ; he fled. Sultan Bahlol gave Shamsabad to Ray
Karan. Sultan Mahmid, on hearing this news, came to Shamsabad
to attack Sultan Bahlol. Qutb Khan and Dariya Khan Lodi then
made a night attack on the army of Sultin Mahmiud.  Accidentally
Qutb Khan’s horse !stumbled and Qutb Khan fell off and was
taken prisoner. Sultin Mahmid sent him to Jaunpir; and he
remained in prison for seven years. Sultan Bahlol left Shahzadah
Jalal and Shahzadah Sikandar and ‘Imad-ul-Mulk to fight with the
army of Sultan Mahmiid and to help Ray Karan, who was in the
fort ; and himself engaged in warfare with Sultan Mahmuad. But at
this time the latter became ill, and gave up his life. Verse:—

In this glass, there-is sugar and poison too,

1t eats up life now, and now nourishes it.

On the head of one, it places a crown of gold,
Another enviously with sword it smites.

Its malice is not in right place, nor is its love;
No softness in thig, nor loyalty in that.

Bibi Raji his mother, with the consent of the amirs placed
Shahzadah Bhikhan Khan on the throne of empire and gave him the
title of Muhammad Shah. Peace was concluded between the two
badshahs; and they bound themselves by an agreement that the
territories of Sultan Mahmud should be in the possession of Sultan
Muhammad ; and Sultan Bahlol should continue to hold whatever
wags in his possession. Muhammad Shih went to Jaunpiir and Sultan
Bahlol returned to Dehli. When he came to the neighbourhood
of Dehli, Shams Khatiin, the sister of Qutb Khan, sent him a
message to the effect that as long as Qutb Khan should remain in

L3

1 All the MSS. and the lith. edn. have Sy (5 Ferishtah has ()83
Q))‘h .
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Muhammad Shah’s prison, rest and repose and sleep should be un-
lawful for the Sultan. The latter was grieved at this, and returning
from !Dbhankur, marched towards Jaunpir to attack Sultan
Muvhammad. The latter also started from Jaunpir. When he
reached Shamsabad, he took it from Ray Karan, who was its gov-
ernor under Sultan Bahlol ; and made it over to Juna Khan. Ray
Partab who had formerly been united with Sultan Bahlol, seeing
Muhammad Shah’s pov;;er joined him. Muhammad Shah came to
Sarsuti; and Sultan Bahlol encamped at Rabri near Sarsuti, and for
sometime they fought with each other. = Muhammad Shah wrote
an order to the Kotwal of Jaunpir from Sarsuti directing him to
put to death, his (i.e. the Sultan’s) hrother Hasan Khan, and Qutb
Khin, the son of Islam Khan Lodi. The Kotwal sent a representa-
tion to the effect, that Bibi Raji protected them both in such a way,
tbat he was unable to put them to death. = When Muhammad Shah
got this writing, he summoned his mother from Jaunpir, so that she
might conclude a peace between him and Hasan Khan, and give
a part of the kingdom to the latter. Bibi Raji then started from
Jaunpir. The Kotwal put Shihzddah Hasan Khan to death, in ac-
cordance with the furman of Muhammad Shah. Bibi Raji performed
the mourning ceremonies for Hasan Khan in Kanouj, and waited
there; and did not go to Muhammad Shah. The latter wrote to
his mother that as all the Shahzadahs would have the same fate,
his revered mother should do the mourning for all of them at
once.

Mubammad Shah badshah was wrathful and blood thirsty.
The amirs were in dread and terror of him. One day Shahzadah
Husen Khan, his brother, in company with Sultan Shah and Jalal
Khan Ajodhani informed him, that Sultin Bahlol’s army intended

1 The name of this place is given as 5% Dikiid, )s5¢ , Dathkir, ) S5,
Dinkur and ))-C\‘w > Dhankur, in the MSS. and in the lith. edn. Bad&oni only
says that as his cousin Qutb Khan had fallen a prisoner into the hands of
Muhammad Shah, Sultan Bahlol in contravention of the existing treaty went
to attack Muhammad Shah. He does not mention Shams Khat{in’s appeal to
Sultan Bahlol. Ferishtah does, but he says that on receiving her message, the
Sultén did not go to Dehli but went towards Jaunpiir. He does not mention
the place whence he changed the direction of his journey.
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to make a night attack on them, and taking with them thirty
thousand horsemen and thirty elephants separated themselves from
Muhammad Shih’s army with the avowed intention of marching
against the enemy; and remained on the bank of a ! waterfall.
Sultan Bahlol hearing this news sent at army against them. Shah-
zidah Husen Khan wanted to take Shahzadah Jalal Khan with him
and sent somebody to summon him. At this time Sultan Shah
said that it was not advisable to wait there. Jalal Xhan would
come up to them from behind ; and they started in the direction of
Kanouj. It happened, that the army of Sultan Bahlol that had
been deputed against them, came up, and occupied the place which
they had previously occupied. Shahzadah Jalil Khan left the army
of Muhammad Shah in compliance with the summons of Husen Khin,
and started towards the waterfall ; and on arriving there thought
the army of Sultan Bahlol to be that of Shahzidah Husen Khan,
and went close to it. Sultan Bahlol’s troops seized him, and took
him to Sultdn Bahlol; and he knowing that he would be an exchange
for Qutb Khan kept him in confinement. Muhammad Shah being
unable to meet him took the road to Kanouj. Sultan Bahlol pursued
him as far as the river Ganges, and taking a part of his equipage and
war-material returned.

When Shahzadah Husen Khan in the year 855 A.H. (1451 A.D.)
came to his mother RAaji Bibi, he was placed on the throne by
her exertions and those of the chief men of the Sharqi Kingdom ;
as has been narrated in the Sharql section, by the gem-stringing pen.
2Malik Mubarak Guong, and Malik ‘Ali Gujrati, and other amirs
were sent against Muhammad Shah, who had encamped on the bank
of the Ganges, near the fort of Rajgar. When the army of Sultan
Husen Khan arrived, some of the amirs, who were with Muhammad

1 All the MSS. and the lith. edn. say 3ol “3;1-? JBS 0.  Ferishtah

says =) C)@ 8,8 e ke 3MT}{;S~M 3, i.e. coming out of the (i.e.
Muhammad Shah’s) army, and turning their bridles, went to Kanouj. He does
not say that Husen Kh#n summoned Jalal Khan, but he says that the latter
when he came afterwards, was taken prisoner by some amirs sent by Sultdn
Bahlol. .

2 These incidents are not mentioned by BadB&oni or Ferishtah, at least in
the general history.
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Shah, separated from him. Muhammad Shah fled with a few horse-
men, and went into a garden which was in that neighbourho od
and he was besieged there. Verse :—

When fortune did him yet befriend,

A steel plate was like felt before his shaft.

When fortune no longer did him help,

His arrow could not pierce the softest silk.

As Muhammad Shah was a powerful archer, he took up his bow
and arrows. Bibi Raji had made matters straight with his armourer,
and had removed the heads of the arrows in his quiver. All the
arrows that Muhammad Shah drew from his quiver came out of the
quiver without heads. At last taking up his sword, he slew some
men. Then an arrow shot by Mubarak Gung struck him in the neck,
and he fell from his horse and died. Verse:—

Mother earth hath not a son that she slayeth not ;
Never lay thy heart on this son-slaying witch.
Death on the fated day, not beggar regards, nor king ;
Empire gives not greatness, and greatness is of no use.
Assume that all the world, from east to west is thine

! On the day of anguish, will not death from thee it take ?

After that Sultdn Husen made peace with Sultdan Bahlol, and
they entered into an agreement that for four years both of them
should be contented with his own dominions. Ray Partab who had
before this joined Muhammad Shah, was encouraged by Qutb Khan
Afghan to join Sultin Bahlol. When Sultan Husen marching from
Kanouj came to a reservoir which is called ? Hariyah and encamped
there, he sent for Qutb Khin Lodi from Jaunpur and having
honoured him with the gift of a horse, and a robe of honour and
other favours, sent him with all honour and respect to Sultan Bahlol.
The latter also made Shahzadah Jalal Khan happy with honours
and fayours, and sent him to Sultan Husen.

3 After some time Sultin Bahlol marched towards Shamsabad,

1 The readings of the last line are different in the diffrent MSS. I have
adopted the reading which appeared to me to be the best.

2 The name is given as &yly? , Hariyah, &>,%, Harhah, &e2,% , Harhamah,
and &y, Harsah, in the MSS. and in the lith. edn.

8 Ferishtah says o3 ¥oub 35500 Wowo ul@'ﬁjt & Af&-‘e )" o, j.e, after
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and taking that place from Juna Khan made it over to Ray Karan,
and at that place ! Narsingh Ray, son of Ray Partab, came and did
homage to Sultan Bahlol. Before this, Ray Partab had taken by
force a lance (which in those days, was considered to be of the status
of a standard of a chief), and a kettledrum from Dariya Khan.
The latter in revenge for that put Narsingh, his son, to death with
the consent of Qutb Khan. About this time 2Qutb Khan son of
Husen Khan Afghan, and Mubariz Khan Behtah and Ray Partab
united with Sultan Husen Sharqi. Sultan Bahlol did not now have
the strength to meet him, and he returned to Dehli.

After a few days Sultan Bahlol marched towards Multdn in order
to put affairs in the Punjab into order, and to suppress the rebellion
of the governor of Multan; and left Qutb Khan Lodi and the
Kban-i-Jahan in Dehli as his deputies. Sultan Bahlol was yet on
his way when they sent him news that Sultan Husen with a well-
equipped army and elephants of mountain-like size was advancing
towards Dehli. ® He returned quickly and came to Dehli; and going
forward to meet the enemy opposed him at Chandwar, and for seven
days the armies of the two sides fought against each other. At this
time Ahmad Khan Miwati and Rustam Khan, governor of Kol,
joined Sultan Husen and Tatar Khan Lodi joined Sultan Bahlol.

After this when the warfare and slaughter went on for a length
of time, it was settled by the exertions of the chief men (of the two
kingdoms) that for three years, the two badshahs should be contented
with their own kingdoms, and should not engage in any further wars
with each other.

After this settlement *Sultan Husen besieged Itawah. Sultan

sometime when the term agreed upon had passed. We have seen that that
term was four years.

1 The name is given as 34V g, dﬁwj without any dots above or below
the first letter and 4% y# . Ferishtah has alles JJ , and I have adopted that.
Badaoni does not mention the incident.

2 These names are also given by Ferishtah, but he omits the suffix to
Mubariz Khan’s name.

3 The account given by Ferishtah agrees mainly with the account given
here. He only adds that Sultdn Bahlol left Qutb Khan Lodi Khan-i-Jahan
in charge of affairs in the Punjab. '

4 Ferishtah says that Sultéin Husen besieged Itawah after the expiry of the
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Bahlol came to Dehli and stayed there for three years occupying
himself with the affairs of his kingdom and his army. Within this
period, Sultdan Bahlol marched against Ahmad Khan Miwati, who
before this had joined Sultdan Husen. When he arrived in Miwat,
Khan-i-Jahan who was one of the great amirs of Sultan Husen gave
hopes of favour to Ahmad Khan, and took him to Sultan Husen.
About this time, Ahmad Khan, son of Yusu{ Khan Jilwani the gov-
ernor of Bianah had the public prayer read in Bidnah in the name of
Sultan Husen.

As the period of three years had now elapsed Sultin Husen
advanced towards Dehli with a !hundred thousand horsemen and
-one thousand elephants. Sultdn Bahlol came out of Dehli and met
him near the town of ?Bhatwarah. Khan-i-Jahin intervened and
effected a settlement.  After that Sultan Husen went to Itawah:
and remained there; and Sultan Bahlol went to Dehli. 2 After a short
time Sultan Husen again attacked Sultin Bahlol. The latter came
out of Dehli and near Raysingh the two armies met and fighting
went on for a few days, and at last there was peace. Sultan Husen
went towards Itiwah and Sultin Bahlol returned to Dehli.

At this time Bibi Raji the mother of Sultin Husen died at 1tawah.
* Kalyan Mal, son of Ray Karn Singh Raja of Gwaliar, and Qutb Khan
Lodi, who had gone from Chandwar to Gwaliar, went to Husen Shah.

three years; and he took Itawah from its ruler, who was a relation of Sultan
Bahlol. He also drew Ahmad Khan Miwati and Rustam Khian, governor of
Kol, and Ahmad Khan Jilwani to his side.

1 These numbers agree with those given by Badaéoni (Persian text) and

Ferishtah. Col. Ranking however reduces the number of the horsemen to ten
thousand.

2 The name is given as ¥)sc Matura, 1‘)';1»3 Nahwarah and l‘)b-iﬁ Bhat-
warsh in the different MSS. The lith. edn. has ¥!yi¢3 Thhanwarah. Badaoni
{(Persian text) has ¥)ly%2 and Col. Briggs and Col. Ranking both have Bhatwarah:
Ferishtah (Persian text) has ¥)!y¢3 Thhawarah.

3 This is not mentioned by Badaoni. The name of the place where the
fighting took place is given in the different MSS. as ality Raysingh, )1-90)
Zamkhar, and ;%) Ranghar. The lith. edn. has ;<& Iy Ralshkar. Ferish-
tah has 3y¢Kiw, and Col. Briggs Sunkur.

4 Badaoni does not mention this. Ferishtah says that the Raja of Gwaliar

and not his son, and Qutb Khan Lodi went to Sultdn Husen Sharqi to join
in the mourning for the death of his mother.
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As Qutb Khén found that Sultdin Husen had great enmity towards
Sultan Bahlol, he began to flatter him and said *“ Sultdn Bahlol is like
one of your servants. He cannot be your equal and I shall not rest
till I bring Dehli into your possession.” He then by various artifices
took his leave of Sultan Husen, and came to Sultan Bahlol, and told
him “I have freed myself from the clutches of the Sultan by
deception and plotting. I found him to be very strong in his
hostility to you. You should look after yourself.”

At this time Sultan ‘Ala-ud-din passed away in Badain. !Sul-
tan Husen went there from Itdwah to join in the mourning for him,
and after the mourning ceremonies, took Badaun from the son of
Sultan ‘Ala-ud-din into his own possession. He allowed himself
to act in this ungenerous way. Irom that place he went to Sambal,
and imprisoning 2Mubarak Khan son of Tatar Khan the governor
of that place sent him to ®Saran. He came then with a powerful
army and one thousand elephants and in the month of Zi-hijjeh
4883 A.H. (1479 A.D.) he encamped on the bank of the Jumna,
near the ford of ®Kunjah. Sultan Bahlol sent Husen Khan son of
Khén-i-Jahan towards Mirat ; and himself came to Dehli from Sirhind.
They fought with each other for a time.  The Sharq! was very power-
ful on account of their greater number and strength. At last
Qutb Khan sent a man to Sultdn Husen, with a message to the effect
that he was a slave of Bibi Raji who had received many favours
from her. When he was a prisoner at Jaunpir various acts of bene-

1 Badaoni says that Sultan Husen was the son-in-law of Sult@n ‘Ala-ud-
din. Hesays 0y i~ ylolw s s e &lo 5l dao as palt ;’L‘ wibls
<BA8 30 eld 33, ie. Sultin ‘Ala-ud-din whose daughter Malkah-i-Jahan
was married to Sultan Husen passed away in Badaun.

2 Badaoni says it was Tatar Khan who was the governor and who was im-
prisoned. Ferishtah gives the name of Mubarak Khan, but does not give his
father Tatdr Khan’s name.

8 Badaoni calls the place Saran. There is a variant ))l% in the Persian
text of Baddoni.

¢ Baddoni says this happened in 880 A.H., but the correct year is given in
the Tabaqat and in Ferishtah. *

5 All the MSS have &wiS Kunja. The lith. edn. has &S which means.
old. Badsoni has &gaS Kichah but anothet MS. has &usiS Ganjinah.
Forishteh has %¥S Kachha.
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ficence had been done towards him by that chaste lady. Now it was
advisable that Sultin Husen should conclude peace and return to
Jaunpiir; and the territory on the other side of the Ganges should
belong to him, while all that was on this side should be left to
Sultan Bahlol. The two parties agreed to this and the disputes
ended. Sultan Husen trusting to the treaty started, leaving his
equipage behind. Sultdn Bahlol seizing the opportunity pursued
him and plundered a part of the equipage of Sultin Husen, and a
quantity of treasure and much chattel which had been loaded
on horses and elephants fell into his hands. About forty famous
amirs belonging to Sultan Husen’s army, such as ! Qutlugh Khan,
Vazir, who was the most learned of the learned men of his own time
and 2 Biadhil the pay-master of the forces and others like these were
taken prisoners. Qutlugh Khan was placed in chains under the
charge of Qutb Khin Lodi and Sultan Bahlol went in pursuit (of
Sultan Husen), and took possession of some parganas belonging to
the latter, viz. ® Qasba-i-Kambal and Patiali, and Shamsibad and
Saket, and Kol, and Marharah and Jalali and appointed an officer in
charge of each. As the pursuit went beyond limit, Sultan Husen
turned back at a village called * &ram Mahjir one of the depend-

1 His name according to Badaoni was Qazi Sama-ud-din.  Ferishtah calls
him 8y =3y (gleke 5 a8 1y & UGS,

2 This name is variously given in the MSS. as s&ws! Austd, 3¢5 o/ Audhu,
and sws! Ausu. The lith. edn. has »2 ' Autchii. Badaoni has not got the
name. Ferishtah has y2ov o Malik Budhu. I have adopted $2° 5 as it
may easily be changed to 29 )' by writing the ! as <.

3 Badaoni says he himself pursued him as far as Shamsabad in the Doab,
which had been in the possession of Sultan Husen, and took possession of that
country, and appointed his own officers. Ferishtah names the parganahs of which
he took possessibn. He gives the first four and the sixth names as in the text.
He has omitted Kol and for Jalall he has Jalesar. Asall the MSS. and the lith.
edn. have Jalali, I have retained it.

4 The name of this place is given as ‘.T)T Aram in some of the MSS.; in
one it is Yoy rT)T Aram Mshjir, in another, ;&CJ rT)T Aram Lahju. The
lith. edn. has 5 ‘J)T which may be Aram Bakho or Aram Najo. Badaoni
does not give the name. He says the battle took place ‘5;3') u—‘s'y )%,
in the vicinity of Rapri, Ferishtahhas 3,43 o) Ram Punjhrah. Col. Briggs
has Rampinjim.
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encies of Raprl and gave battle ; but at last an amicable settlement
was made, on the condition that the two Sultdns should remain
contented with their own territories and the ancient boundaries.
After the conclusion of peace Sultdn Husen went to Rapri and Sultan
Bahlol came to * Dhobamau.

After some time Sultan Husen again collected a large force and
came to attack Sultan Bahlol, and there was a fierce battle in the
vicinity of 2 Sonhar, and Sultan Husen was again defeated. Quatrain :

If fortune’s dull what profits a mighty bow

With fortune, the arrow strikes home, in the battle line.
Many brave-hearted warriors, when fortune was low,
Were worsted in war by a pusillanimous foe.

An inestimable quantity of wealth fell into the hands of the
Lodis, and became the cause of a great increase in the strength
and splendour of Sultan Bahlol. Sultan Husen again went to Rapri;
and Sultin Bahlol encamped near Dhobamau. At this time the
news of the death of Khan-i-Jahan who was at Dehli reached Sultan
Bahlol. The Sultan conferred the title of Khan-i-Jahdan on his son,
and confirmed him in his father’s position. From that place he went
to Rapri and attacked Sultan Husen ; and after battle and slaughter
he was distinguished by victory and triumph. In the course of the
flight and the crossing of the river Jumna, some sons and other
members of the family of Sultan Husen were drowned in the sea
of destruction.

Sultan Husen then proceeded towards Gwaliar. In the neighbour-
hood of ®Hatkant a band of Bhadwariahs, attacked and plundered

1 Two of the MSS. have )-‘L,'ﬁé Dhobamau, and the others have Q)ﬁé .
Dhoya and U<, Dumond. The lith. edn. has <l s® Harpamau. The
Persian text of Badaoni does not say where Sultan Bahlol stayed; but it
appears from a note in‘the English translation that two MSS8. say that he stayed
at Dhop@mau. Ferishtah says that it was settled that mouzah Dhopamau
should be the boundary, that Sultén Husen went to Rabri and Sultdn Bahlol
returned to Dehli.

2 All the MSS. and the lith. edn. and Bad&oni have Sonhdr. Ferishtah
(lith. edn.) has )¢~ Saharan and Col. Briggs has Sirsar.

8 Hatkanth is said by Abul Fazl to be the chief town of Bhadawar, a
district to the south-east of Agra. Its inhabitants were called Bhadwariahs.
They were known as daring robbers, and though so near the capital, managsd
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his camp. When, however, he reached Gwaliar 'Ray Kirat Singh, Raja
of Gwaliar, came and offered his submission and behaved like a
servant towards him. He offered as tribute some lakhs of tangahs, in
cash, and some tents and pavilions, and some horses and elephants
and camels ; and placing himself in the band of his well-wishers, and
sending an army to accompany him, % came with him as a dependant
as far as Kalpi. While these things were happening, Sultan Bahlol,
went and % attacked Itawah. Ibrahim Khan, brother of Sultan Husen
and Haibat Khan alias Malik Karkar shut themselves up and fought for
three days, but at last asked for quarter, and surrendered Itawah.
Sultan Bahlol placed it in charge of Ibrahim Khan, son of Mubarak
Khan *Lohani. He conferred several parganahs belonging to the
territory of Itiwah on Ray ®Daud as his remuneration and went
with a large force to attack Sultan Husen. When he arrived in
the village of Rakanau, one of the dependencies of Kalpi, Sultan
Husen advanced from Kalpi to meet him, and they passed several
months in skirmishes. At this time Ray Tilok Chand, ruler of the
territory of ¢ Baksar, came to Sultan Bahlol, and took him to a place

to maintain their independence, till Akbar had their chief trampled to death by
an elephant. Ain-i-Akbari (B) 1488; Elliot, Races of N.W.P. vol. 1, p. 25
(quoted from note 1, p. 408, of Col. Ranking’s translation of the Muntakhabat-
ut-tawarikh).

1 Badaoni calls him yW/,¢ ‘J o K u}Af ‘5' ). Ferishtah does not give
his name but calls him the Raja of Gwaliar.  Girat Sing is of course incorrect.
Kirat Singh is a good variant of Sans. afa fov.

2 Roth our author and Badaoni says 3,§ <wsslio. Ferishtah has ailie
dses Col. Ranking thinks that —ailiw is perhaps better than wwulic . T think
<aslio g quite good.

3 This attack on TtAwah is not mentioned by Badaoni. Ferishtah
mentions it, and gives the names of Ibrahim Khan and Haibat Khan. He gives
the alias of the latter as Karkar without the Malik.

4+ Several MSS. and the lith. edn. have this word as (> s Niihani.

5 This name is given as !9, Dand, y4!9, Dands, and, ¥yl Dandwah.
Ferishtah has ¥y5i! Dandwah. Col. Briggs omits the passage.

8 Baksar is situated on the left bank of the Ganges, 34 miles south-east of
Unas town, and has an interest in connection with the massacre at Cawnpur

in 1867 ; see Hunter Imp. Gaz. p. 450. Ferishtah has )f:; Khatehar or Rohil-
khand, in place of Baksar.
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where there was a ford, where he crossed the river. Sultdn Husen
being unable to meet him retired into the territory of ! Bthtah :
Verses : The tiger, that has felt the blow of a lion’s paw,
Would not & second time in front of it stand ;
The hawk that from a falcon’s claws its prey has drawn
After that on the hunting field thinks it a pigeon poor.

The Raja of Bihtah came forward to meet him treated him with
humane consideration, and offered him a tribute of some lakhs of
tangahs, and some horses and elephants, and sending some troops
with him, attended him to Jaunpir.

After that Sultan Bahlol again raised the standard of determina-
tion, and turned to Jaunpir. When he arrived near it, Sultan Husen
abandoned the place; and retired to Kanouj by the way of Bahraich.
Sultan Bahlol also moved towards Kanouj; and they met on the
bank of the Rahab. In the battle, a defeat which had now become
almost natural to Sultan Husen fell on him, and his regalia and
paraphernalia of ompire fell into the hands of the Lodis. His
honoured wife 2 Bibi Khunza, who was the daughter of Sultan ‘Ala-ud-
din, the 3grandson of Khizr Khan was also taken prisoner. Sultin
Bahlol protected her with great honour and consideration ; and after
some time when he again went to conquer the kingdom of Jaunpar,
Bibt Khunza managed, by some stratagem, to obtain her release, and
returned to her husband. On this occasion, Sultan Bahlol seized
Jaunpiir and gave it to Mubarak Khan Lohant; and leaving some

1 All the MSS. and the lith. edn. have djg&-} Bihtah. Badaoni has &
Bhatta as Col. Ranking transliterates it. It may, however, also be Bihta. Ferish-
tah has &¢i¢d , Thathah, which Col. Ranking thinks is correct, and has adopted.
1 think Bihtah more probable. There is a Bithur near Cawnpur where the
Nana 8ahib used to live. This may be the place.

2 She is called ";3)& in several MSS. and ';’)-a in others. Bad&oni has
¥yigs in the text though the MSS. read |) wys and 'y which come to the
same thing. Ferishtah has Sf,a which Col. Briggs and Col. Ranking have
adopted. Is she the same as Malkah-i-Jahan (see note 1, p. 348).

8 Sultan ‘Ala-ud-din was really the great grandson of Khizr Khan. He was
the son of Muhammad Sh&h who was the son of Mubarak 8hah (or of Farid
Khan) who was a son of Khizr Khan. Bibi Khynza was therefore the daughter
of the great grand-son of Khizr Khan and cannot be called the grand-daughter
of the latter, as Col. Ranking has called her.
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other amirs, such as Qutb Khan Lodi and Khan-i-Jahan and others
like them in the town of !Majhauli, marched towards Badain.
Sultan Husen, finding it a fit opportunity, came with a great force to
Jaunpiir ; and the amirs of Sultdn Bahlol, abandoning Jaunpir, went
to Qutb Khan in Majhauli, but they did not stop there also, and
going to Sultan Husen in the way of sincerity, spoke words expressive
of goodwill towards him and passed the time with courtesy and
gentleness till the arrival of reinforcements. Sultan Bahlol became
aware of the discomfiture of his troops that were with Qutb Khan
Lodi, sent Barbak Shah, his son, to their assistance and himself also
went towards Jaunpdr behind him. Sultan Husen, being unable to
oppose him, retired to Behar.

When Sultdn Bahlol reached the town of Haldi, he heard the
news of the death of Qutb Khan Lodi. He spent some days in
performing the rites of mourning, and then went to Jaunpar.
There he placed Barbak Shah on the throne of the Sharqi Kingdom,
left him there. He then marched to Kalpl and made over that
territory to 2 A’zam Humayun, the son of Shahzadah Khwajah
Bayezid. Then he went to Dholpir by way of Chandwar. The
Ray of Dholpiir, came forward to welcome him, and offered some
mans of gold as tribute, and became one of his well-wishers. When
Sultan Bahlol came near parganah 3Barl, Iqbal Khan, the ruler
of that place performed the rites of service and was enrolled in the
class of his servants. He also offered some mans of gold as tribute
and Bari was confirmed to him. From that place Sultan Bahlol

1 Two of the MSS. have (s's®= Mahjouli, and third has _sJs%=< Majhauli
in one place, but ‘_;J,m in the other; another has ‘_,))W Majhouli. The
lith. edn. has ‘_.,J,osw Mahmuti. Badaoni has ‘;’,S\-‘w Mahjauli. Ferishtah has,
according to Col. Ranking ‘_g")m y but in the lith. edn. of Ferishtah which I
have the place is called UJ)@A » Majhauli. Thero is a village called Majhauliin
the Gorakhpur district on the bank of the Gandak. Hunter’s Imp. Gaz. IX, 213.

2 Badaoni describes ‘A'zam Humayiin as & 'yl dala af )‘30 B3ty oty
<ble ‘-U which Col. Ranking translates quite correctly as another nephew who
had the name of Biyezid, but Badaoni is of course wrong. Both in the Taba-
qit and in Ferishtah A’zam Humay@in’s correct relationship to Sultan
Bahlol is given, and this has been pointed out by Col. Ranking in a note.

8 Ferishtah does not mention either Bari or its ruler Iqgbil Khan, and
Baddoni only says that Sultdn Bahlol passed through it.
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went to ! Alhanpur, one of the dependencies of Ranthhambore and
he plundered the territory of Alhanpur and laid waste the orchards
and cultivated land in it and then came to Dehlr.

And after a few days there, he went to Hisar Firozah, and stayed
there for some months, and then again came to Dehli. After some
time, he started towards Gwaliar. Raja Man, the ruler of Gwaliar, sub-
mitted to him, and offered eighty lakhs of tanghas as tribute. He
confirmed Raja Man in the territory. From that place the Sultan went
to Itdwah, and taking away that territory from 2Sakat Singh, son of
Ray Dando, returned. On the way he became ill and died near Mouzah
3Tilawalt one of the dependencies of parganah Saket in the year 8§94
AH. (4188 AD). The period of his reign was thirty eight years
and eight months and eight days.

Verse: Whether it is Afrasiab or the *son of Zal,

He will meet with punishment, at the hand of fate;
To the cup which the cup-bearer has measured.
It is not in human power to add a drop.

1 Two of the MSS. have ));\if” , Alhanpiir quite distinctly, another has
sexdae! , which may be read as Alhanpir or Ashanpiir. Another has );:‘e-w'
which is apparently a mistake. The lith. edn. has ) );}-U' Alanpiir which is
almost the same as Alhanpiir. One MS. and the Persian text of Badaoni have
Alhanpiir. Col. Ranking has however followed Ferishtah and adopted Ilahipar.
The lith. edn. of Ferishtah which I have seen has )y? &_“ Ilahpur.

2 He is not mentioned by Badaoni. Ferishtah has Saket Singh but as
most of the MSS. and the lith. edn. has &fiw =K« Sakat Singh, I have re-
tained it. Besides Sakat Singh or WAfEY hasa meaning.

3 Two MSS. have UJ)!G Tilawali, one has (Js10 or (Jsd2 Tilawali or Bila-
wali and one has $sdo malawah. The lith. edn. has u})ﬁ-y Bilawali. Badaoni
does not give the name of the place. Ferishtah as (!soy2 Bhadwali, Col-
Ranking has adopted Bhadaull from the text of Ferishtah which he has seen,
He also says in a note ¢ that Sakit is in the Etah district of the N.W. Provinces
and it is here according to Hunter (Imp. Gaz. XII. 146) that Bahliil Lodi died.
Abul Fazl says that he died near the township of Sakath, but places Bhadawali
in the Sarkar of Sahar in the Agra S@bah, while he places Saketh in the Sarkar
of Kanouj (see Ain-i-Akbari, Jarrett. II 309 p. 3). I have preferred to keep
Tilawali.

4 The same verses are to be found in Badaoni, but there is a most curious
mistake in Col. Ranking’s translation of the first line which is ¢ whether it be
Afrasiab or his son Zal’, according to which Zal instead of being father of

Rustam, the Persian Champion (J!; )»2 son of Zal. is of course Rustam) is con-
verted into the son of Afrésiab.
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Whether it is the king, or a seller of * grass.
The angel to his ear, the sound of death will bring.

And they have written this quatrain to record the date of his
death. Quatrain:
In eight hundred ninety-four departed from the world,
Bahlol the King, that conquered countries and the world.
With his sword, he conquered the earth, but the angel of
death.

'T was impossible to defy with sword and dagger bright.

SULTAN SIKANDAR SON OF SULTAN BanrLorn Lobl.

When Sultan Bahlol entrusted the deposit of life to the holder
of souls, #Shahzadah Nizam Khan was in Dehli. Exceeding the
wind in quick motion, he went to the town of Jalali, with the hearse
of Sultan Bahlol and sending the corpse of the latter to Dehli placed
himself on the throne of sovereignty, on an eminence on the bank of
the Ab Siah (i.e. the black river or the Kali Nadi) which is called the
palace of Sultan Firoz near the town of Jalali, on Friday, the 17th
of Sha’ban in the year 894 A.H. (1488 A.D.) with the consent of Khan-
i-Jahan, Khan-i-Khanan Farmuli, and all his father’s amirs, and
assumed the title of Sultan Sikandar. Verse:

When the moon hid her face behind the veil of blue,
The sun above the horizon raised his face.

The Jasmine dropped but the 3pomegranate bloomed ;
Each blossom in the garden opens in its turn.

1 The word actually used is u:'))—’mA, the seller of khas, which is a kind of
fragrant grass, andropogon muricatum, of which screens are made, which are,
hung before doors and kept wet with water for cooling rooms, in the hot season,
by the air which passes through them. These screens are commonly called
khas khas tattis.

2 There was considerable opposition to the accession of Niz&m Khan or
Sultan Sikandar owing to his mother having been a goldsmith’'s daughter, but
Khan-i-Khanan Farmuli espoused his cause (see Brigg's Ferishtah and Col.
Ranking’s translation of Badaoni, p. 412, note 2).

3 The Persian word is o)!s<)!. I cannot find out what it is. The dictionary
says it is a tree with a red flower and a red fruit.
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Sultan Bahlol had at that time !six sons; Ibrahim Khan, and
Jalal Khan, and Ismail Khan, and Husen Khin, and Mahmiid Khan,
and Sheikh A’zam Humayiin; and he had 2 fifty -three notable Amirs;
Khan-i-Jahan son of Khan-i- Jahan Lodi, Ahmad Khan son of Khan-
i-Jahan Mubark Khan Lohani, Mahmiad Khan Lodi, 'Isa Khan son
of Tatar Khan Lodi Khan-i-Khanan Shaikhzadah Muhammad
Farmuli, Khan-i-Khanan Lohani, A’zam Humaydn Sharwani, Dariya
Khan son of Mubarak Khan Lohani Naib of Bihar, ’Alam Khan Lodi,
Jalal Khan son of Mahmiid Khan Lodi Naib of Kalpi, Sher Khan Lodi,
Mubarak Khan Lodi Musa Khail, Ahmad Khan son of Mubarak Khan
Lodi, ’Imad son of Khan-i-Khanan Farmuli, Umar Khan Sharwani,
Bhikhan Khan son of ‘Alam Khan Lodi, governor of Itawah,
Ibrahim Khan Sharwani, Muhammad Shah Lodi, Babar Khan
Sharwani, Hasan Farmuli Naib of Saran, Suleiman Farmuli, second
son of Khan-i-Khanan Farmuli, Sa’id Khan Lodi, son of Mubarak
Khan Lodi, Isma’el Khian Lohani, Tatair Khan Farmali, ‘Usméan
Khin Farmuli, Shaikhzadah Muhammad son of ‘Imad Farmuli,
Sheikh Jamal ¢ Usmdn, Sheikh Ahmad Farmuli, Adam Lodi, Husen
Khan brother of Adam Lodi, Kabir Khan Lodi, Nasir Khan Lohani,
Ghazi Khan Lodi, Tatar Khan governor of Jathra,® Moulana Juman
Kambu, hijab khas, Majd-ud-din, hijab khas, Shaikh ‘Umar, hijad
khas, Shaikh Ibrihim, hijab khas, Maqbil, hijab khas, Qazi Abdul
Wahid, son of Tahir Kabuli, *hijab khas (gentleman-in-waiting),
5Bhirah son of Khawas Khan, Khwaja Nasrallah, Mubarak Khan,
Igbal Khan governor of the town of Bari, Khwaja Asghar son of
Qawam, governor of Dehli, Sher Khan brother of Mubarak Khan
Lohani, ‘Imad-ul-Mulk Kambu, appertaining to Dariya Khan Lohani
who had been Mir ‘Adal or chief Judge.

1 That is omitting Niz&m Khan. According to Ferishtah, Sultén Bahlol
had nine sons at an earlier period but the list given by him contains 10 names.

2 There is considerable differences in the names. I have tried to make &
correct list, but I doubt if I have succeeded Lohani is sometimes written ,_;JB)J
Nohani or Nuhani in the MSS.

8 The place is ¥,ti> Jathra, 3,i¢> Jahtra, 8 y¢= Jhareh, and $si¢a Jhatwah
in the MSS. and the lith. edn. Ferishtah has 3)l%J Tijara. .

4 Ferishtah has 9 persons described as I-Iuﬂb Khas, Col. Briggs calls them
Lords of the bed chamber.

5 Ferishtah has o' ¥s¢2; Col. Briggs has Mian Bhoory.
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After some time Sultan Sikandar marched towards parganah
Rapri; ! Alam Khan the brother of the Sultan remained shut up for a
few days, in the fort of Rapri and Chandwar; but in the end he
fled and went to ? ‘Tsa khan, son of Tatar Khan Lodi in Patiali. The
territory of Rapri was conferred on Khan-i-Khanan Lohani. The
Sultan went to Itawah, and passed seven months there : He went for
‘Alam Khan and brought him to his side, and separating him from
‘Azam Humayin gave the territory of Itawah to him. He sent
$Isma'il Khan Lohani to Barbak Shah, badshah of Jaunpar, for
effecting peace, and himself went and attacked ‘Isa Khan governor
of Patiali. The latter after some fighting was wounded, and in the
end came humbly and offered his submission. He died afterwards of
his wounds.

Ray * Ganesh who had been on the side of Barbak Shah came and
joined the Sultan. The districts of Patiali were allotted to him. The
Sultan then went and attacked Barbak Shah. The latter went from
Jaunpir to Kanouj, and the two sides engaged each other, and after
gsome fighting °® Mubarak Khan was taken prisoner, and Barbak Shah

1 Ferishtah says that before his death Sultan Bahlol divided his kingdom
in the following way: he gave Jaunpiir to Shihzadah Barbak Shah, Kardah
and Manikpur to Shahzadah ‘Alam Khan, Bahraich to his sister’s son Shaikh
Muhammad Farmuli, who became famous as Kalapahar and Lucknow and Kalpi
to ‘Azam Humayiin, the son of Khwajah Bayazid, his own eldest son who had
before this been killed by one of his' Khidmatgars, Badaun to Khan-i-Jahani
who was one of his trustworthy Amirs and was also related to him, and Delhi
with vast territories in the Doib to Shahzadah Nizam Khan whom he made his
heir and who afterwards became Sultan Sikandar Lodi.

2 Isa Khan was Sultan Sikandar’s cousin and had strongly opposed his
succession.

8 The name is spelt as & Jaslews! and wl'“ Jamenel, Tt is not clear
what kind of peace the Sultdn wanted.

4 The name is given as w*-‘-{ ‘51 ) Ray Kanes in all the MSS. and in the
lith. edn. The two MSS. of Badoni have .S (') Ray Kishun and = (gl
Ray Kanes and the text has (& sy Ray Ganesh. Ferishtah has wls «h
Ray Kilan. Col. Ranking has adopted Ray Ganesh, and I have followed him.

5 Badaoni says Muba@rak Khan Lohdni who was with the army of Béarbak
Shah was taken prisoner. It appears that Muhammad Khén Farmuli, called
the Kala Pahar or the black mountain, was also taken prisoner in the battle.
See note 1, Elliot IV, 466 for a curious anecdote about the generous way in
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being defeated went to Badaiin. The Sultan pursued and besieged him.
Barbak Shah then made his submission with great humility. The
Sultan shewed him favour and made his heart glad, and took him
with himself to Jaunpur. and placed him, as before, on the Sharqt
throne, but he divided the parganahs appertaining to the kingdom
among his own Amirs, and !everywhere left his own officers and
employed trustworthy men in his service.

From that place he went to Kotlah and Kalpi and taking away
Kalpt from A‘zam Humayan son of Shahzadah Khwajah Bayezid,
allotted it to Muhammad Khan Lodi. From there he went to
2 Jathra. Tatar Khan the governor of Jathra performed the duties of
allegiance and fealty, and the government of the place was con-
firmed to him. He then moved towards the fort of Gwaliar; and
sent Khwajah Muhammad Farmuli with a special robe of honour to
Raja Man of that place. The latter also behaving with humility
sent his nephew to attend on the Sultan, with direction to accompany
him as far as Bianah. Sultan 3 Sharf, governor of Bianah, son of
Sultdn Ahmad Jilwani also came f()rwarglll.to offer homage. The

) ‘di,

which he was treated by Sultén Sikandar when he was taken prisoner, and his
gratitude towards the Sultdn in consequence. Ferishtah also mentions the
incident.

1 The meaning of the passage is not quite clear. The readings vary
slightly. One MS. leaves out -1 4 Gldedan ol cwodA 30 4, and several leave
out the word 3! after woda. The corresponding passage in Badaoni is
.",a.'.f ;J E'},' l.; ),m 80).3 ‘.Am.i) O)'A ‘S'jaob |) ._",.))J) u“).‘ Lo’,
ggla)f USye 5i g b olaedaey, from which it will be'seen that according to
Badaoni, he left detachments of troops and not officers. The difficulty as
regards the passage in the text consists in_the word )' ; either Oy ‘oKA or
RJEN u';b )" rlf-‘h would have been clearer; and also in the word s!. Whois
referred to? If it is the r\fa then the proper pronoun would be st  Col.
Ranking thinks that these officers were left to control Barbak Shah.

2 See p. 356, note 3. Col. Ranking has adopted Jahtara from Ferishtah,
but says he has failed to locate it.

8 The name is given as J)A or Jf'.?.l in the MS8S. and the lith. edn. The
text of Badaoni reads (34! \hle. MSS. A and B read (3,4 lakw. Ferish.
tah has S;& lhlw. Col. Ranking has adopted 3y olele in one place and a
fow lines later on, & )y ke,
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Sultan ordered him to give up Bianah, so that in exchange for it
Jalesur, and Chandwar, and Marharah, and Saketh might be con-
ferred on him. Sultin Sharf took ‘Umar Khan ! Sharwén! with him
to Bidnah, so that he might make over the keys of the fort to him.
When he came to Bianah, however, he broke his promise, and
strongthened the fort. Sultdin Sikandar came to Agra. Haibat Khan
Jilwani who was one of the retainers of Sultan Sharf shut himself up in
the fort of Agra. The Sultin left some Amirs to continue the siege
of Agra, and himself went again to Biinah, and made very great
efforts in besieging it. When Sultan Sharf was reduced to great
straits, he humbly prayed for quarter. And in the year 897 A.H.
(1491 A.D.); Bianah was taken; and the territory was allotted to
Khan-i-Khanan Farmuli. Sultin Sharf was expelled from the place,
and went to Gwaliar. The Sultan returned to Dehli and remained
there for twenty-four days.

At this time news came, that the Zaminddrs of the territory of
Jaunpir, and 2 Bachgotis, and other men numbering about a lakh of
foot-soldiers and horsemen had collected together, and Shir Khan
brother of * Mubirak Khan had attained to martyrdom (i.e. had been
killed by them); and Mubirak Khin also, when he was crossing at
the ferry of *Josi Prak, which is at the place, where the city of
5Ilhabad (Allihibid) has now been established, and is one of the
cities founded by Hazrat Khalifa-i-llihi (the emperor Akbar),

1 All the MSS. and the lith. edn. have ‘55 '))m Sarwani but I have adopted
u‘”)}‘i' Sharwdni following the remaining MS., as that is the name of the tribe
as given in previous passages.

2 A tribe of Rajputs said to be descended from the Mainpiiri Chauhans
notorious for their turbulence, originally Muhammadans (see Elliot, Races of
N.-W.P., p. 47). It appears from the Tarikh-i-Daudi (Elliot IV, p. 457),
that they were led by a Hindu named Jiiga.

3 Mubarak Khan Lohani governor of Karra.

4 Probably Prik is a corruption of Praysg the Hindu name for Allahabad
at the confluence of the Ganges and the Jumna. Ferishtah has JL}\,' g‘wﬁf .
T find that there is & place in Allahabad, which is now known as Jhunsi, which
probably is identical with the Josi in the text. Badaoni a few lines later has
<L in the text, and Sy and < L,’,! in the two MSS.

5 Written in some MSS. as (U L)l Tlhayss.
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was taken prisoner by the !boatmen. 2Ray Bhid Raja of Patna
becoming aware of this took Mubarak Khan from his captors and
kept him in prison. Barbak Shah becoming aware of the power of
these men came from Jaunpiir to Muhammad Farmuli, who was
known as Kala Pahar at Dariabad.

Sultan Sikandar again in the year 897 H. (1491 A.D.) marched
in that direction, and after crossing the river Ganges, he came to
$Dalmau. Barbak Shah with all his Amirs came to attend on him
and was honoured with favours and kindnesses. Ray Bhid was so
impressed with awe at the splendour of the arrival of the Sultén,
that he released Mubarak Khan Lohani, and sent him to attend on
the Sultin. The latter marched from there to *Kahtar. There the
Zamindars assembled in large numbers, and offered opposition; but
at the end were defeated and many became food for the sword and
the rest were dispersed. Much booty fell into the hands of the
Sultan’s troops. The Sultan then went to Jaunpidr, and again
leaving Barbak Shah there, returned. He spent about a month in
the neighbourhood of Audh in travelling about and hunting. When
he arrived in Kahtar, news was brought to him that Barbak Shah
was unable to remain in Jaunpiir, owing to the turbulence of the
Zamindars. The Sultan ordered that Muhammad Farmuli and
A‘zam Humayin and Khan-i-Khanan Lohani should march to
Jaunpiir by way of Audh, and Mubarak Khian by way of Agra, and
seizing Barhak Shah, should send him to the Sultan. They in com-
pliance with the orders, went to Jaunpdr, and seizing Barbak Shah
sent him to the Sultan. When Barbak Shah was brought to the

1 According to the translation of the Tarikh-i-Daudi in (Ell. IV, p. 457)
Mubgrak Khan was taken prisoner by Mulla Khan, Of course there is the
difference of only a dot between (> Yo boatmen and & Yo Mulla Khan but
it was not likely that there should be a Musalman among the Hindus to seize
Mubarak Khan. l=Ye is also transformed into !4 Y0 Mulla Khan in the trans.
of the Tar-i-Khan Jahan Lodi (El. V, p. 93). Col. Briggs says Mubédrak Khan

was captured by Saha Dev Raja Kutra which may be a variant of Raja Bhid of
Patna.

2 The name is given in the MSS. as &l daly oy u‘),;iq-! aaly s o)
&'lg &_s’) Oy J’) or My© QS") and in the lith. edn. as &iw aaly odi ‘5')-

8 Dalmau was opposite to Karra on the other side of the Ganges.

4 i.e. the country now known as Rohilkhund.
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presence, the Sultan placed him in charge of Haibat Khan, and
‘Umar Khan Sharwani. The Sultan then marched towards the fort of
! Chunar from the vicinity of Jaunplir. Some Amirs of Sultan Husen
Sharql, who were there, gave battle, but were defeated and shut
themselves up in the fort. As the fort was strong, the Sultan did
not besiege it, but marched towards 2 Kantat, one of the dependencies
of Patna. Raja Bhid, the Raja of the place advanced to welcome
him, and did homage. The Sultan confirmed him in the possession
of Kantat and went away towards 3 Aril. In the meantime Ray
Bhid became suspicious, and abandoning his equipage and regalia
fled towards Patna. The Sultdn sent all his property and equipage
to him.

When the Sultan arrived at Aril, he stretched out his hands for
plunder and laid waste and destroyed orchards and gardens and build-
ings; and proceeded to Dalmau by way of Karra; and marrying
the nikah wife of Shir Khan, the brother of Mubarak Khan Lohanti,
came to Shamsabad, and staying there for six months, went to
Sambal ; and again from Sambal, turned towards Shamsabad. On
the way he plundered and slew the inhabitants of the town of
* Madmaunakal which was the abode and the place of shelter of

1 All the MSS. except one, which has ¥ )u-,; Junarah, have lia or )Ue Junar
or Chunar, Thelith. edn. has )& Chunar. Badsonihas i3> Junhar, YU (%)
and )Ue- Ferishtah has ylia. Col. Ranking transliterates )ig as Chinar and
not Chunar, as I think he should have done.

2 The name of this place is given as eas Kantat, < Kastat and ;1-:«5
Khild in the MSS. The lith. edn. has =<&S Kantanat. Badaoni does not
mention the place. Ferishtah has Katanba. Kantat is on the S.W. bank of the
Ganges in the Sarkar of Allahabad. See Ain-i-Akbari (Jarett), II, 89 ; 158,

8 Two of the MSS. and the lith, edn. have d.{)' Aril or Arial, one leaves out
the name and one leaves out a whole line where the name would have occurred.

Badaoni has dg)', but a footnote has a variant US)!. Ferishtah has d.i)'- Arail
is mentioned by Abil Fazl (Ain-i-Akbari (B.) 1,425. * He held Jhosi and Arail
(or Jaldlabad) as Jaigir.”’ Jhosi is apparently identical with Josi (see note,
4, p. 359).

¢ The name of this place is given as USU yoow, USU yuow, U &5 g0
(where the »2° and the AJJ’ have apparently got transposed) in the MSS. and
tho lith. edn, Badaoni doesnot mention the place at all. Ferishtah has ()b o
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rebels and turbulent men. The latter fled to Vazirabad. The
people of Vazirabad were also slain and taken prisoners; and the
Sultdin then came to Shamsabad and spent the rainy season
there.

In the year 900 H. (1494 A.D.) the Sultin started towards the
country of Patna with the object of chastising ! Raja Bhid; and on
the way the villages of rebels werc laid waste, and the inhabitants
were slain or taken prisoners. When he arrived at > Kharan Ghati
he had a battle there with ® Narsingh the son of the Raja of Patna.
Narsingh was defeated and abandoning Ghati, fled towards Patna.
When the Sultan arrived at Patna, the Raja fled towards *Sarkanjah
(Sargujah ?) but died on the way. The Sultdin moved from Sarkanjah
towards ®Saund ome of the dependencies of Patna. When he
arrived opium, and °® Koknar, and salt, and oil, became extremely

Deotari, in the lith. edn., and Col. Briggs has Deonarry. Badaoni omits all
mention of these incidents. Ferishtah follows our author.

1 Bad@oni says o& &gy AAKJ oYy u")j‘i‘ J(.&)f <eeryas, e, he started
with the intention of chastising the rebels of the country of Patna, but does not
mention any Raja; Ferishtah calls the Raja Ray Balbhadar.

2 The MSS. and the lith. edn. have (3% )4 Kharan Kh(or Gh)ati and
u“g} 4 Kharun Lhali, Badaoni does not mention the place. He only says
that the Sultén after staying and taking prisoner a great many in the districts
of Patna went to Jaunpiir. Ferishtah, lith. text, calls the place ilsS 4 ;LS
but Col. Briggs does not mention the place where tho Sultin halted, but he
calls the place where Narsingh was defeated Hundia Ghat. The place is called
Khan Ghati in the trans. of the Tar-i-Khan Jahan Lodi (Ell V, p. 94).

3 The MSS. and the lith. edn. has &wf Narsingh and dﬁwj-j Barsingh.
Badaoni as already mentioned in note 4, p. 361 passes over the incidents.
Ferishtah has Narsingh. He is called Bir Singh Deo in the trans. of the Tar-i-
Khan Jahan Lodi (EL. V, p. 94). =~

4 The MSS. have &= >y and &pis s the first may be anything, the
second in Sarkanjah. Ferishtah has &xS g~ Sarkachh. Col. Briggs has
Surgooja.

6 The MSS. have >3sw Saund, and )',é-gm Sahdwar. Ferishtah has s0¢
Sahdeo. Col. Briggs has Suhsdwar. The trans. of the T#r-i-Khan Jahan Lodi
(Ell. V, p. 95) has Phaphiind and it is said in a note that theré is a Phaphiind in
the Do&b, but this Phiphind (if that is the correct name) must be some other
wild district in the Bundelkhund hills. The lith. edn. has 5w,

6 I cannot find the Eng. equivalent for Koknar. The dictionary says that
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dear. The Sultan went from there to Jaunpiir. The horses, which
during the journey to Patna had been worked very hard, died in
large numbers; so much so that, one who had a hundred horses in
the army lost ninety of them.

Ray Lakhmi Chand, son of Ray Bhid, and all the Zamindars
wrote to Sultan Husen that there weve no horses left in the army
of Sultan Sikandar, and provisions were scarce; it was a very great
opportunity. Sultan Husen collected his forces, and came with a
hundred elephants from Behar to attack Sultan Sikandar. The
latter crossed the Ganges by the ford of Kantat and came to Chunar
and thence to Benares; and sent the Khan-i-Khanan to !Salbahan,
son of Ray Bhid, to bring him in with promises of favours. At that
time, the army of Sultan Husen was eighteen karohs from Benares.
Sultan Sikandar marched with great rapidity against Sultan Husen.
On the way Salbahan came to attend on him. After skirmishes, a
regular battle was fought, and Sultan Husen being routed went to the
country of Patna. The Sultin, leaving his camp behind, pursued
Sultin Husen with one lakh (light) cavalry, and on the way he was in-
formed that Sultan'Husen had gone to Behar. After nine days the
Sultan returned, joined his camp and turned towards Behar.
Sultan Husen, left 2 Malik Kandu in the citadel of Behar and went
to Khul-Ganon, a dependency of Lakhnauti. Sultan Sikandar sent
from his camp at 3 Deobir an army to attack Malik Kandu. The
latter fled, and Behar fell into the hands of Sikandar’s officers.

after the opium has flowed from the poppy the heads are bruised and

boiled and the oil thus obtained is called Koknar. It has a strong inebriating
effect.

1 Tt is curious that one son of Raja Bhid should be on the side of Sultén
Husen and another on the side of Sultan Sikandar. Badaoni calls
Salbahan, oy ,#M)'éwﬁ)‘ &S &\-\3 6-_3'), i.e., the Raja of Patna, who was a
trustworthy and well-to-do Zamindar. Ferishtah calls him Me ‘_;' ) g3 -

2 The MSS. and the lith. edn. call him ,«-\-'\f Slo. Badaoni does not give
any name, but says Sultan Husen left his deputy at Behar. Ferishtah has in
the lith. edn. ;'534‘5 Sdo Malik Khandu. According to a note in Col. Ranking’s
transl. of Badaoni another text of Ferishtah has Malik Kandhd.

8 The name is given as )l 523, Deobar, or jle 320 Deomar in the MSS. and
the lith. edn. Ferishtah has )i 329 Decbar.



364 SULTAN SIKANDAR.

The Sultan left Muhabbat Khan with some other Amirs at
Behar, and went to Darveshpir, and, having Kha&n-i-Khanén and
Khan-i-Jahan in charge of the camp and the equipage, marched
towards Tirhut. The Ray of Tirhut advanced to welcome him and
offered his allegiance. The Sultén fixed a certain number of lakhs of
tangahs as tribute to be paid by him, and leaving Mubarak Khan
Lohant to collect it, again returned to his camp at Darveshpur.

On the 16th of Shawwal 901 H. (14956 A.D.) Khan-i-Jahan died.
The Sultan honoured his eldest son Ahmad Khan with the title of
A‘zam Humaytin. After that he went on a pilgrimage to the tomb
of Shaikh Sharf Muniri (may God sanctify his resting place) at
Behar; he made the Faqirs and the poor of the place happy; and
then came back to Darveshpir. From that place he advanced
against Sultan ‘Alaud-din Badshah of Bangalah. When he arrived
at 2 Tughlagpiir, one of the dependencies of Behar, Sultan ‘Ala-ud-din
sent. his son Danidl to meet him. Sultdin Sikandar sent
Mahmud Khan Lodi and Mubarak Khan Lohant from his side to
oppose him. The two armies came into contact at Mouzah Barah;
and terms of an agreement were proposed, and it was settled that
Sultan Sikandar should not trespass into Sultan ‘Ala-ud-din’s king-
dom, and in the same way the latter should not in any way interfere
with Sultan Sikandar’s dominions, and should not give shelter to
his enemies. After the settlement, Mahmid Khan and Mubarak
Khan Lohani returned ; and Mubarak Khan died in the town of Patna,
one of the dependencies of Behar. Sultan Sikandar went from
Tughlaqpir to Darveshpir and stayed there for some months. That
territory was given to A‘zam Humdayiin, and Dariya Khan, son of
Mubarak Khan, received the province of Behar.

s

1 The MSS. and the lith. edn. all call him by the name in the text with
some erroneous variations in the word ‘_5}-_\-'\& in two of the MSS, Bad&oni gives
him the high sounding name of ‘5)-“40 = o) ‘-’}3' fﬂwf «b’. Howas
the son of Yahiya-bin-Israil, the head of the Chishtis, a disciple of Ganj-i-
Shakar. His burial place is in Behar, see Aln-i-Akbari (g) iii 370.

2 Two of the MSS. and the lith. edn. have Tughlaqpiit. One MS. and
Ferishtah has Qutlaghpur. One MS. has omitted a part of the sentence contain-
ing the name. Bad#&oni does not name the place but says Danial came to meet
him )l a1y 59, in the neighbourhood of Behar.
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During this year, there was scarcity of grain, and for the welfare
of the people (the Sultan) remitted the collection of an !alms rate
in grain in the whole of his dominions, and farmdns were issued
prohibiting the levying of the alms rate, and from that day, the
collection of alms rates in grain was abolished.

At this time the Sultan came to the town of Saran, and taking
some parganahs, in the vicinity of the town from the possession of
the Zamindars, granted them in jaigir to his own men. From
Saran he came by way of 2 Mahligarh to Jaunpiir, and after staying
there for six months marched towards ®Patna or Panna. It is
related that the Sultan had asked for one of his *daughters from
Ray Salbahan, Ray of Patna; and he refused the request. The
Sultan, to take his revenge, marched towards Patna in the year
904 H. (1498 A.D.); and when he arrived there, he stretched out his
hand for pillage, and did not leave a sign of cultivation. When he
arrived at the fort of > Bandhigarh, which was the strongest fort of

1 The actual words used both in the Tabaq#at and in Badaoni and Ferishtah
are &l¢ 3l H §l{) means alms, for which all true Musalmans are enjoined
to give a certain percentage on all kinds of their annual incomes. I suppose the
collection of the &l¢ §l§)' was something like the levy of a poor rate in grain
which the Sultan used for the relief of the poor. I consider that Col. Ranking is
not quite correct in calling it the customary tribute in grain; and Col. Briggs
quite wrong in calling it the transit customs on grain,

2 The MSS. and the lith. edn. have Mahligarh with some slight variations
Badaoni also has Mahligarh. Ferishtah has Machhligarh.

8 It is difficult to make out the correct name from the MSS, and the lith,
edn. Col. Ranking says that one MS., of Badaoni has 333_ Panna but the text
and the other MSS. have &&_g Patna. Ferishtah has 6143;) Pathnah. Briggs in
his transl. has Panna, and Col. Ranking thinks that he must be correct, from the
mention of Madhogarh or Bandhiigarh, which he says was one of the two
chief fortresses in the province of Bandhu which corresponds nearly with the
State of Rewa, distant about 70 miles 8. S.E. from Panna. It may be mentioned
that according to the trans. of the Tarikh-i-Khan Jah#&n Lodi (Ell. v, p. 93)
Ray Bhid and his son Salbahan, whom Col. Ranking and I have called Réjas of
Patna, were Rajas of Panna.

4 The demand of Salbahan’s daughter is not mentioned by Badaoni, but
is mentioned by Ferishtah.

5 Variously given as 5)5 s25l, Bandhiigarh, s;! s20le MAdhogarh and
55 3%l Madogar (see note 3 above).
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that country and the place of residenoce of its ruler, bold warriors
performed deeds of bravery, but on account of the strength of the
fort, the Sultdn went away from there to Jaunpir; and staying
there for a few days, occupied himself with affairs of State. In the
course of his inquiries the accounts of * Mubarak Khan Miajikhail
Lodi, who had been placed in charge of Jaunpir at the time when
Barbak Shah was imprisoned, came under inspection ; and although
Mubarak Khan tried by various devices to get them passed, and got
several Khans to intercede for him, it was of no avail, and orders
were passed that the collections of some years, according to the settle-
ment of the Sultan, should be realized from him.

It so happened that at this time the Sultan was (one day)
playing 2 chaug@n. In the course of the play the ?stick of Suleimin
son of Dariya Khan Sarwani, having hit the stick of Haibat Khan,
Suleiman’s head was broken, and between them an altercation took
place on this account, and became the cause of displeasure-
Khizr, brother of Suleiman, in order to avenge his brother, inten-
tionally hit Haibat Khan on the head, with a stick, and there was
noise and turmoil. Mahmid Khan and the Khan-i-Khanan took
Haibat Khan to his house after comforting him ; and the Sultan left
the field and went into his palace. After four dayshe again mounted
his horse for playing chaugan. On the road Shams Khan Nami, a
relation of Haibat Khan, was standing full of wrath, as he saw
Khizr, the brother of Suleiman, he at once smote the latter on the
head with his chaugdn; and by ovder of the Sultan, Shams Khan

received many kicks. The Sultan turned back and went into the
palace.

After this, he became suspicious of some of the Amirs, and ap-
pointed some others whom he knew to beJoyal and devoted to him to
be his bodyguard, and these Amirs guarded him every night after

1 This is also not mentioned by Badfoni but is mentioned by Ferishtah
who however calls Mubarak Khan, Mubarak Khan Mdji; and adds that this
became the cause of the displeasure of the Afgh#n Amirs.

2 Col. Ranking says that it is called Q,‘?-’y" Sauljén in Arabic. It is the
original and oriental form of the game of polo. *

3 Col. Briggs calls it the bat. The incidenta are mentioned very briefly by
Bad#oni. Ferishtah gives a detailed account which agrees generally with that
given by our author.
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arming themselves. At this time, some (Amirs) acted with deceit
and treachery. Twenty-two of the SardArs conspired together, and
incited Shahzadah Fateh Khan, son of Sultdan Bahlol, to make an
attempt for the throne; and after oaths and engagements tried to
croate a disturbance and revolt. The Shahzadah divulged the
matters to ! Sheikh Tahir and to his own mother ; and mentioned the
names of the conspirators. The Sheikh and the Shahzadah’s mother
counselled him and it was settled that he should state everything to
Sultan Sikandar, and thus cleanse his skirts from the stain of rebel-
lion. Hedid so and the Sultan becoming cognisant of the treason and
disloyalty of that band, with the advice of his ministers, in order to
put down the revolt dispersed every one of them to a different place.

After that in the year 905 H. (1499 A.D.), the Sultin went to
Sambal and stayed there for four years attending to affairs of
State and living in happiness and luxury. He spent the greater
part of his time in playing chaugin and in hunting.

At this time the Sultan received information of the evil deeds
and malpractices of Asghar, governor of Dehli, and sent orders to
Khawas Khan, the governor of 2 Machhiwarah, that he should seize
Asghar and send him to the Sultan’s presence. Khawas Khan in com
pliance with the order started towards Dehli; but before he could
arrive there, Asghar came out of the fort (of Dehli) on the night of
8 Saturday in the month of Safar 906 (1500 A.D.), went to the pre-

1 He is called Sheikh Tahir by Badaoni and Sheikh Tahir Kabuli by Ferish-
tah, but he is called Sheikh Taha in the trans. of the Tar-i-Daadi (Ell 1V,
p. 464).

2 The MSS. have ¥y s42l® Machhiwarch except one which has 5lymn
Majwarah; the lith. edition has ¥)s4ale Machhwara. Baddoni has 3/)saale
and 3)')ﬁl/° Ferishtah has g)'):\,é'w. The trans. of the Tar-i-Khan Jahan Lodi
has Machiwara. Machiwara is on the bank of the Sutlej where Bairam Khan
and other commanders of Humayiin’s army defeated the Afghans when Humayiin
was returning to Dehli after his wanderings. .

3 The MSS. and Ferishtah all say Eilennd &lu dine B and o &3-.\3 wﬁv pL
but leave out the date. The lith. edn. gives the same words but calls the
month Muharram and not Safar. The trans. of the Tar-i-Khan Jahan Lodi
(EIL V, p. 98) says 1st of Safar 906 H (27 Aug., 1500). This work also says that
Khawas Khan on arrival at Dghli left his son Ismail Khan there, and went
according to orders to Sambal. The Sultdn received him graciously and
presented him with an honorary vest.
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sence of the Sultan in Sambal, and was sent to prison. Khawéds Khan
took charge of Dehli and began to govern it. ,

It was reported that there was a man with a sacred thread
(i.e. a Brahman) of the name of ! Laudhan who lived at Kaner. One
day in the presence of some Musalmans he had admitted that Islam
was true, and his own religion was also true. This statement of his
having been published came to the ears of the learned men. 2Qazi
Piyara and Sheikh Badah who were both in Lakhnauti gave faiwas,
contradicting each other. A‘zam Humayun, the governor of that terri-
tory, sent the Brahman with Qazi Piyara and Sheikh Badah to the
Sultan at Sambal. As the Sultin had a great inclination for hearing
learned dissertations, celebrated learned men were sent for from
all directions. 3 Mian Qadan, son of Sheikb Khiiju, and Mian
‘Abdullah son of Ilahadad Talanbi; and Saiyed Muhammad, son of
Sa‘id Khan, came from Delbi, and Mulla Qutb-ud-din, and Mula
T'lhadad, and Saleh from Sirhind, and Saiyad Amian and Miran
Saiyad Akhanfrom Kanauj and the band of learned men who were
always with the Sultan, such as Saiyad Sadr-ud-din Kanauf1, and
Mian ‘Abdur-Rahméan resident of Sikri, and Miyan Azizullah
Sambali, were also present at the discussion. The learned men all
agreed on this that the man should be imprisoned, and should be

1 The name is given as ,3) Laudan, and (»2%s) Laudhan (or Lodhan), and
49y Naudhan (or Nodhan) in the MSS. and the lith. edn. Ferishtah has in the
lith, edn. (y#2s Yudhan. Col. Briggs has Boodhun. The trans. of the Tar.-i-Dadadt
(ElL 1V, p. 464) has Laudhan. Kaner is variously written as ;ﬁ-ﬂ{, f}f’[{ and
506 in the MSS. UK in the lith. edn. Ferishtah (lith. edn.) has &
Kaithan. Col. Briggs has Katnen near Lucknow but I do not know where he
got the ‘near Lucknow’ from. From what follows it appears that the place

was near Lakhnauti and not near Lucknows The trans. of the Tar.-i-Daddi
(EIL IV, p. 464) has Kaner.

2 About Qazi Piyars there is no doubt though Ferishtah (lith. edn.) has
Qazi Piadah and Col. Briggs Qazi Puala. As regards the other man some of the
MSS. have 389, while others omit the sentence containing the names. The lith,

edn. has .  Ferishtah has > Col. Briggs. Budr, and the trans. of the Tar.-i-
Daddi, Badr. . .

3 The first learned man had a most out-landish name, he is called 3t
and Y in the MSS. and in the lith. edn., Ferishtah has 313, and the trans. of the

Tar.-i-D&adi, K&dan. His father’s name is yasa, or sy OF yasa or salyd.
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asked to accept Islam ; if he declined he should be slain. Laudhan
refused to accept Islam and was killed. The learned men were all
rewarded and sent to their own residences.

After a few days, Khawas Khan leaving Delhi in charge of his
son Ismail Khin, came in accordance with the Sultan’s orders to
Sambal, and received a 'robe of honour and other favours. At this
time, Sa‘tld Khan 2Sharwani came from Lahore, and did homage.
As he was among those who intended treason, the Sultin banished
him, and Tatar Khan and Muhammad Shah, and all the traitors from
his dominions. They went to Gujrat by way of Gwaliar. At this
time Raja Man, Raja of Gwaliar, sent one of his eunuchs of the name
of Nehal with fine and valuable presents and gifts for the Sultan.
When the Sultan asked him questions, he gave discourteous replies.
The Sultan by way of protest sent the man away with threats of
coming himself and seizing the fort.

At this time news came of the death of Khan-i-Khanan Farmuli,
governor of Bianah. For some time, Bianah was kept in charge of
8 ‘Imad and Suleiman, sons of the Khan-i-Khanan. But as Bianah
owing to the strength of the fort and its being on the frontier
became a place of disturbance and revolt, ‘Imad and Suleiman came
from Bianah with their dependants to Sambal. The Sultan took
Bianah and made it over to Khawas Khan; and after some days
Safdar Khan was appointed administrator of Agra, a dependency of
Bianah. *Shamsibad and Jalesar and Manglor and Shahabad and

1 This is evidently the ¢ honorary vest’ mentioned by the translator of the
Tarikh-i-Khan Jahan Lodi (see note 3, p. 367).

2 Sarwani and Sharwani in different MSS. in Ferishtah.

3 All the MSS. and Badaoni and the Tar.-i-Khan Jahan Lodi agree in
saying that the sons of Khan-i-Khanan, ‘Imad and Suleiman succeeded him.
Ferishtah in the lith. edn. has in one place U & ymd lywd Lotk 5 oeal
Ahmad and Suleimén, sons of the son of the Khan-i-Khanan andin the next line
JUldila ,_.)')..\4_ wleals y deal.  Ahmad and Suleiman sons of Khan-i-Khénan.
Col. Briggs does not give the names, but says the sons of the Khan-i-Khanan
succeeded him. Col. Ranking thinks that Ferishtah is right and that Ahmad
and Suleiman, grandsons of the Khan-i-Khanan, succeeded him.

4+ Badaoni does not mention this. The author of the Tar.-i-Khan Jahan
Lod! agrees with the text. Ferishtah also does 8o, except that he substitutes
Kampila for Manglor.
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some other perganahs were conferred on ‘Imad and Suleiman in
Jaigir.

‘Alam Khan, governor of Miwat, and Khan-I-Khanan Lohéni,
governor of Rapri, were ordered that they should in conjunction
with Khawas Khan, engage in the capture of the fort of Dholpiir and
take it from the possession of ! RAy Vinayak Deo. The Ray came
forward to oppose them and much severe fighting took place, and
2Khawdajah Bain who was among the heroes who broke the (enemy’s)
battle array, there attained to martyrdom ; and every day large num-
bers were slain. When this news reached Sultan Sikandar he in
great anxiety left Sambal for Dholpir on Friday the 6th Ramazan of
the aforementioned year. When he arrived in the vicinity of
Dholpiir, Ray Vinayak Deo went away to Gwaliar, leaving his depen-
dants in the fort. The latter, being unable to withstarid the attack
of the Sultan’s army, left the fort in the midnight and fled. In the
early morning, the Sultdin entered the fort, and after 3 offering
a brief thanksgiving, carried out the rites of victory ; and the soldiers
stretched out their hands for pillage and destruction, laid waste the
houses and uprooted the orchards all round Dholpir which had cast
their shade to a distance of seven karohs.

The Sultan stayed there for a month, and then started for
Gwaliar, and leaving Adam Lodi and many Amirs at that ¢ place
crossed the Chambal and encamped on the bank of the 5Asl otherwise

1 The name is very distinctly given in one MSS. as s Sl Vinayak Deo;
in the others and in the lith. edn. it is (s0SW or (0¥l or (c3Kclw Binakdi,
or Salkdi and Samkdi. Ferishtah and Col. Briggs have o Sulis «hHs Ray
Vin&yak Deo. Bad&oni omits the name and so does the author of the Tar.-i-
Daidi, calling him the Ray of the place but a few lines further down, the
former calls him Manik Deo. The Tér.-i-Khait"Jah#n Lodi has Réy Manik Deo.

Dholpiir is one of the Rajput States. The town of Dholpfir is 34 miles 8. of
Agra and 37 miles N.W. of Gwaliar.

2 The name is given 8 (s (" ¥ and % in the MSS. The lith. edn.
has md. Ferishtah has (. Col. Briggs has Babun. Baddoni, omits his
name. The Tar.-i-K.J. has Khwaja Ben; the Tari-D. does not mention him.

8 The actual words are $oailw) rs‘”“‘;-.’ ;G' &3(%0 H 43({30 appears to be a
prayer with two genuflexions; a short prayer.

¢ Apparently Dholpir. :

5 Col. Ranking says that he cannot definitely identify this river, the
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called the Mendaki, and stayed there for two months. On account
of the bad water of the place, illness prevailed among the men ; and
it became the source of a pestilence. The Raja of Gwaliar
offered his submission and sued for peace. He expelled Sa‘id Khan
and Babi Khan and Ray Ganesh who had fled from the Sultin and
taken shelter with him, from the fort and sent his eldest son
! Bikramijit to attend on the Sultan. The latter gave him a horse
and a robe of honour, and granted him permission to return, and
himself turned back towards Agra. When he arrived at Dholpir, he
conferred that territory on Vinayak Deo, and coming to Agra, spent
the rainy season there.

After the 2rising of Canopus, in the month of Ramazan in
the year 410 H. (1504 A.D.), he raised his standards for the conquest
of the fort of ® Mundrael. He staved for a month in the vicinity of
Dholpiir, and sent his troops that they might plunder and ravage the
country round Gwaliar and Mundrael. After that he went himself
and besieged the fort of Mundriel. The garrison begged for quarter
and surrendered the fort. The Sultan demolished the idol temples 4

Asan in Keith Johnston (India) e f. flowing west of Gwalidr would answer to the
Asi in position. Rennel’s map gives no name to the river. Medaki, as Ferish-
tah has it, Col. Ranking says, means frog-haunted. The correct Sans. word
would be Mandiki and Mendaki as the Tabaqat has it, is a nearer approxima-
tion than Medaki.

1 The correct Sanskrit name is Vikramaditya. The name given in the
text agrees with those given in Badaoni, Ferishtdh and in the Tar.-i-K.J.L.
Col. Briggs (trans. of Ferishtah) says that Sa’id Khan and Bibd Khin were both
Sheerwanis and the Ray sent his son with costly presents. In the lith. edn
(of Ferishtah) Sa d Khan and Babu Khan are not called Sheerwanis or anything
else, nor does it contain any mention of presents.

2 Which indicates the end of the rains.

3 Col. Ranking says that Mundrael is not marked in Rennel’s map, but
Tuffenthaler (I, 174) mentions it under the name of Mandalayer or Madrael
and says that it is upon the side of a round hill distant two miles from
the wostern bank of the Chambal and 12 miles S.S.E. of Caroli (Kerauli).
See Keith Johnston’s Atlas India E.F. Mandler. See Ain-i-Akbari (J) 1I
190, Mandlair.

4 The actual words are lf-‘ls'-U, w8, Col. Briggs translates them as
idol temples, and Col. Ranking as idol temples and churches. Kanayes,
¢pl. of &ws3S) are fire temples. For an essay on Fire-worshop in Upper India
see Elliot V, appendix (p. 559).
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and fire temples and founded mosques. He left *Mran Maken,
deputy of Mujahid Khan, in charge of the fort and himself moved
about plundering and ravaging that country, and seized and took
prisoner a large number of people, and after razing to the ground or-
chards and buildings started towards Agra, and when he arrived at
Dholpiir he rebuilt the fort there; and taking it away from Ray
Vinayak Deo, placed it in charge of Malik 2 Qamr-ud-din, and himself
remained in Agra, and sent the Amirs to their jaigirs.

At this time on Sunday the 3rd of Safar in the year 911 H.
(6th July, 1505 A.D.) there was a violent earthquake in Agra, so
that hills began to shake and lofty and strong buildings also fell down.
The living thought it to be the day of resurrection and the dead
thought it the day of rising.

31n nine hundred and eleven, from earthquakes,
The land of Agra became like places of death.
As the foundations were very strong
From the earthquakes the high became low.

From the time of Adam till this time, such an earthquake had
not occurred in any parts of Hindustdn; and no one remembers
such an earthquake. They say that on that very day, there were
earthquakes in many cities of Hindustdn. After the rising of the
Canopus in the year 911 H. (1505 A.D.) the Sultan moved towards
Gwaliar: and after waiting in Dholpir, for one and half month,
encamped near the ford of *Kusla on the bank of the Chambal and

1 The name is not given in either Badaoni or Ferishtah. The latter says
he left it in charge of a trustworthy man.
2 Some of the MSS. and the lith. edn. have Malik Qamr-ud-din ; other MSS.

have (w39 Klo Malik Fakhr-ud-din and op:8)lys Kho Malik ‘Izz-ud-din,
Ferishtah (lith. edn.) has (.ys0) )o’ & Shaikh Qamr-ud-din, Badaoni does not
mention the name. Briggs has Shaikh Qamr.ud-din.

3 The same verses occur in Bad@oni. The only difficulty is about the
word HJA Pl A da y® is a place of starting eday u,-l%; hence a stage in a
journey. Col. Ranking has translated it as the goal of several successive earth-
quakes. I have translated it as places of departure or death..

4 The MSS. have &l.S' Kuslah, &S )f Kirkuhnah, & ¥ Kirksh,

The lith. edn. has & Kuhnah. Ferishtsh has' 4¢5sS Kdkha. In the Tar.-is
K.J.L. it is called the ferry of Gour.
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stayed there for several months. Then leaving Shahzadah ! Ibrahim
and Jalil Khan with other Khans there, he marched out with the
intention of carrying on & war of religion and of plunder. He pillaged
and took prisoner and slew the greater part of the people who had
escaped into the jungles and hills. As owing to the non-arrival of
the 2 Banjarahs to the army, grain came only in small quantities.
The Sultan sent A‘zam Humayin and Ahmad Khan and Mujahid
Khan to bring them, and 3although the Ray of Gwaliar withstood
them on the road he was unable to do anything. Couplet:

The moth that hurls itself on the lamp

With envy, on its own heart doth put a stain.

When the Sultin, in the course of his marches, came to
4 Hashawar, one of the dependencies of Gwalidar, an advance
guard went forward everyday ten karohs ahead of the army towards

the enemy and kept watch, and knew the movements of the latter.
Verse :
5For if in that brave and warlike host

Thou, shotst an arrow sharp and fast ;

1 All the MSS. and the lith. edn. have & $3I'y#l% Shahzadeh Khan.
Badaonit is silent about all that occurred between the earthquake and the siege of
Untgarh. Ferishtah (lith. edn.) has ‘.w';.sl tolyald. The Tar-i-K.J.L. has
prince Jalél Khan.

2 Col. Briggs says that this is the first mention of this useful class in
Muhammedan history. He says that they form a very ancient Hindu mercantile
community who live in tents, have laws of their own and do not intermarry with
the people of the towns. The men are remarkable for their courage, integrity
and enterprise and the women for their chastity. An account of this race in the
Deccan will be found in the first vol. of the Bombay literary transactions.
They appear to be extinet now, but I heard the name Banjarin, i.e. a Banjara
woman, in a child’s doggerel, when I was a boy at Lucknow, about 60 years
ago.

3 This agrees almost word for word with Ferishtah (lith. edn.), but Col.
Briggs says that A’zam Humayiin and the other generals effected the work
at great risk owing to the vigorous efforts of the inhabitants in the vicinity
of Gwaliar,

¢ All the MSS have jslis Hashawar, but the lith. edn. has y9lia, Chitawar,
and so has the translator of the Tar-i-K.J.L. Ferishtah (lith. edn.) has
)%, Janur, and Col. Briggs, Chinoor.

5 Two of the MSS. omit the verses altogether, one MS. and the lith.
edn. and Ferishtah (lith. edn.) all have the reading I have adopted. Another MS.
has a somewhat different reading.
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From the bow while yet it had not gone far,
The king on his sky-high throne received the news.

The army of the Riy of Gwaliar at the time of the return came
out of ambush, and a severe battle took place. ! Audh Khan and
Ahmad Khan son of Khan-i-Jahan were in that detachment ; and it
was on account of their exertion and bravery, and the help of the
Sultan’s army, that the Rijputs were defeated, and a large number of
them were slain and taken prisoner. The Sultan conferred the title
of Malik Audh on Audh Khan and showed him favour; and on
account of the approach of the rains turned towards Agra. When he
arrived at Dholpir, he left a large number of notable Amirs at that
place, and going himself to Agra stayed there during the rains.

After the rising of Canopus, in the year 912 H. (1506 A.D.), he
marched towards the fort of 2Uditnagar. When he arrived
at Dholpir he sent ’Imad Khan Farmuli and Mujihid Khan, with
3 some thousands of horsemen and one hundred elephants towards the
fort, and remained where he was. He appointed Qizi Abdul Wahid,
son of Tihir Bag Kibuli, resident of the town of Thaneswar, and
Sheikh "Umr and Sheikh Ibrihim to the posts of chamberlains. The
governorship of Kalpi had been confirmed to Jalil Khan the son of
Mahmiid Khan Lodi, after the latter’s death. Bhikhan Khan and
Haji Khan, brothers of Jalal Khan having qoarrelled with each other,
made a representation of their affairs to the Sultan. The latter sent
Firoz Aghwan to them. The Aghwans are a tribe akin to the
Afghans. The Sultin then left Mujihid Khin at Dholpir and

1 Several of the MSS. have & %3,! Audh Khan, but one or two and
Ferishtah and the translator of the Tar-i-K.J.L. have & 9! Daid Khan,
The latter make both the men named sons af Khan-i-Jahan, while the MSS.

and the lith. edn., and Ferishtah all have the word _J=3 son, in the singular,
making Ahmad Khén alone the son of Khan-i-Jahan.

2 The MSS. have !, \Siisl, Kwsly which are difficult to decipher
correctly, and ;‘»'\30' Uditnagar. The lith. edn. has j&é' Uditnagar. Badaoni

has /55 5! Auntgar. Col. Ranking has Antgarh. Ferishtahhas ;£ijso! Udwant-
garh and Col. Briggs Hunwantgarh. Col. Ranking says thak this fortress lay
just south of Mandlaer, and is shewn in the map as Deogarh, see Ain-i-Akbari
(B) 1380, n. 1. )

8 One MS, has )")ﬁ t-\;' U, with five thousand (horsemen).
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encamped on the bank of the Chambal. Bhikhan Khan and Hait
Khéan came and did homage and were honoured with favours.

The Sultan came to Uditnagar on the 23rd of the afore-mentioned
month and besieged the fort. He ordered that the whole army should
be ready to fight stoutly and should devote themselves to the capture
of the fort, with all weapons of warfare and destruction. The Sultan,
in his own person, engaged in the battle, at the moment which astro-
logers had accepted, and the conflict raged in all directions. The
soldiers clung like ants and locusts and showed their bravery and manli-
ness, and the breeze of victory and triumph began to blow on the
plumes of the Sultan’s standards and a breach was made on the side on
which Malik ’Ala-ud-din was leading the attack, and brave warriors
having entered, carried on the Jahad and although the garrison raised
cries for quarter, it did not reach anyone’s ears. There were other
breaches on other sides, and the fort was captured. Couplet :

Should the fort of heaven be high
The warrior would throw his sunlike noose.

And the Rajputs taking shelter in their houses fought and then
killed and burnt their wives and children. At this time an arrow hit the
eye of Malik ‘Ala-ud-din, and made his world-seeing eyes lightless.
After the victory the Sultan performed the rites of thanksgiving,
and placed the fort in charge of ! Makan and Mujahid Khan. He
destroyed the idol temples and ordered the erection of mosques. As
it had reached the ears of the Sultan that Mujahid Khan had taken
a bribe from the Raja of Uditnagar, and had promised, that he
would turn the Sultan back from the fort, he, on the 16th of the month
of Muharram, 913 H. (28th May, 1507) imprisoned 2Mulla Juman, his

1 Some of the MSS. have Makan and Mujahid Khéan, so has the lith. edn.
and the Tar-i-K.J.L. Some of the MSS. have omitted the clause about
the charge of the fort. Ferishtah has Bhikhan Khan son of Mujahid Khan.
1 have thought it proper to retain Makan, as it was stated in a previous
page, that he, as agent of Mujahid Khan, was placed in charge of the fort
of Mandrail and Bhikhan Khan was mentioned, only a few lines before this, as a
son of Mahmdd Khén Lodi. It is not likely that there should be two Bhikhan
Khans.

2 The Tar-i-K.J.L. calls him Moulana Juman, Ferishtah calls him Malik
Chaman. The T#r-i-K.J.L. says that the fort was placed in charge of Malik
T8&j-ud-din Kambu,
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chamberlain, who was a special intimate of Mujahid Khan and made
him over to Malik Taj-ud-din Kambu, and an order was sent to the
Khans, who were at Dholpir, that they should imprison Mujahid
Khan.
The army marched towards Agra in the month of Muharram

913 H. (1507 A.D.).! On the way, one day on account of the narrow
ness and unevenness of the road, which required the men to go now up
and now down, a halt was ordered for the passage of the army, and
many people died on account of the want of water and the great multi-
tude of animals. On the day the price of a goglet of water rose to
fifteen tangahs, and some who obtained water, on account of their great
thirst, drank so much of it that they died. When, according to orders,
the corpses were counted, they were found to be eight hundred in
number. Couplet :

When the days of one’s existence are finished,

Water in a man’s mouth acts like poison.

The Sultan arrived in Dholpar on the 228th of the aforesaid month,
and after staying there for a few days he came to Agra and passed
the rainy season there.

After the rising of Canopus, in the year 913 H. (1567 A.D.) the
Sultan determining on the capture of the fort of Narwar, a dependency
of Malwah, sent an order to ¢ Jalal Khan, the governor of Kalpi, that he
should go and besiege it, and if the garrison should seek for peace, he

1 These incidents are mentioned in the Tar-i-K.J.L. and in Ferishtah and
also in less detail in the Tar-i-Daudi.

2 The Tar-i-K.J.L. makes it the 27th. Ferishtah gives the month, but not
the date.

8 It appears from a note in Col. Ranking’s trans. of Bad&oni that Narwar
lay about half-way between Gwaliar and Dhiar. He also says that Tieff. 1. 176
has a description and map of the fortress, and that according to the Ain-i-
Akbari (J.) 11. 190 it lay on the right bank of the river Sind 44 miles south of
Gwaliar city. He also refers to Hunter, Imp. Gaz. X, 227. As I was doubtful
about Narwar being on the bank of the river Sind I looked into Ain-i-Akbari
(J.) 11. 190. What I found there did not agree exactly with Col. Ranking’s note.
1t appears there that Narwar is a strong fort, and in ,certain parts of it,
there are Hindu temples built of stone. The Kali Sind is one of the rivers in
Sarkar Narwar. .

4 He was the son of Mahmiid Khan Lodi and had become governor of
Kalpi on the death of his father.
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should not reject their prayer. Jalal Khan Lodi went and besieged
the fort. The Sultan also after a few days arrived there. On the
following day, when the Sultan mounted to go and reconnoitre the
fort, Jalal Khan stood on the road having arranged his army ; so
that its multitude might come under the Sultan’s eye, and the value
of his services may be known. He had divided his forces into three
armies : one of infantry, a second of cavalry and the third of elephants.
The Sultdn saw the multitude of his army, became envious, and
determined in his mind, that he would gradually ruin him and subvert
his power. The Sultan carried on the siege for a year, and as the
fort was very strong, and its length eight karoks, the troops went to
attack it every day and were slain.  After a few days had passed in
this way, the Sultan ordered that the troops should get ready !twisted
leather thongs, large knives, shovels, and spades and battle axes for
the purpose of undermining the fort, and then attack it. The troops
acted in accordance with the orders, and attacked the fort from
all sides, and showed great bravery and courage. The Sultan stood
on the roof of a house and inspected all that was going on. He saw
that the fort was breached at one place, and immediately the breach
was closed from within : and large numbers of his men were slain.
The fort could not be taken that day, and he therefore brought back
his army. Even during this time, the Sultin was busy planning to
seize and ruin Jalal Khan. He drew his best men to his own side,
and disorganised his troops. After that two farmans were issued ;
one for the seizure of Jalal Khan, addressed to Ibrahim Khan Lohani
and Suleiman Farmuli, and Malik ‘Ala-ud-din Jalwani; and another
addressed to Mian Bhuah who was the Vazir, and Sa‘id Khan, son of
Zakuh, and Malik Adam. And the aforementioned Khans put Jalal
Khan and Shir Khan in chain, carried them to the fort of Uditnagar
and kept them imprisoned there.

1 The weapons named would hardly be very effective in undermining and
capturing a strong fort, but apparently those were the only ones available.
The actual words are by, Jyiély , yokluw, 8,k ¥,k ordinarily means a tress of
curling hair. The only meaning given in the dictionary that would at
all apply are twisted leather thongs; a s9kls according to the dictionary is
a butcher’s large knife; a Jyi¢!} is a mattock, or battle axe; and a U is a
shovel, or spade.
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After these events, the garrison of Narwar, after suffering much
privation for want of water and the dearth of grain, begged for
quarter, and went out with their goods and chattels. The Sultan
destroyed the temples and laid the foundations of mosques; and
fixed stipends, and allowances for learned men and students, and
gettled them there; and stayed for six months at the foot of the fort.
At this time news came, that Shahab-ud-din, the son of Sultan Nasir-
ud-din, the ruler of Malwa, being annoyed with his father was coming
to the court of the Sultan. When he came near !Sii, one of the
dependencies of Malwah, the Sultan sent a horse and a robe of
honour to him, with the message that if he would surrender Chanderi
which was a dependency of Malwah, he should receive such help that
Sultan Nasir-ud-din would have no power over him. It so happened
however, that certain things occurred which prevented Shahzadah
Shahab-ud-din’s coming out of Malwah, as is narrated in the section
about that kingdom.

Sultan Sikandar marched from the fort of Narwar on the 26th
day of the month of Sha‘ban, 914 H. (1508 A.D.), arrived on the bank
of the river Jdipra in the month of Zi-quadah of the same year, and
there it came into his mind, that as the fort of Narwar was so extreme-
ly strong, that if it should fall into the hands of an enemy, it could
not be recaptured from him. For this reason, he erected another
fort round it, so that an enemy should not be able to seize it.
Having freed his mind from this anxiety he came to the town of
ZLahayer and stayed there for a month. At this time 3N‘amat

1 The MSS. have (g P ot Stri, 0l Sipri, @ which is difficult to
decipher. The lith. edn. has G}"“‘" Tisri. Ferishtah (lith. edn.) has gy,
Badaoni does not mention Shahab-ud-din af all, but says that Muhammad Khén,
grandson of Sultan Nasir-ud-din, sought the protection of Sult@n Sikandar,
but that was in 915 A.H. (1609 A.D.).

2 The MSS. have )ﬂlf’ Lahayer except one which has ylJ Lahabar. The
lith. edn. has yl) Labhayer. Ferishtah (lith. edn.) has yl2. Behar. Col.
Briggs has Yehar. Badaoni does not mention the Sultan’s coming to the place,
but he says that in 916 A.H. he marched from j,l’-(-' Lahayer, Col. Ranking
transliterates it as Lah@yar and says in a note that Lahar is placed in

Renuel’s map about 50 miles 8.E. of Gwaliar. He also refers to Hunter Imp.
Gaz. VIII, 400.

8 Ferishtah says that the Khatlin was the &aéyc foster-mother of the
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Khatin, wife of Qutb Khan Lodi, came with Shahzadah Jalal Khan
and joined the Sultan’s army. The Sultan went to see them, and
sought their affection, and after a few days, the Sarkar of Kalpi was
conferred as a Jaigir on Shahzadah Jalal Khan. He also gave him
120 horses, and 15 elephants with a robe of honour, and a sum in
cash, and sent him off with the Khatiin towards Kalpt. Couplet:

Be generous, for generosity

Doth make the free man thy bounden slave.

On the 10th Mubarram 915 A.H. (1609 A.D.) the Royal
Standatrds marched out from Lahayer, and when they arrived in the
neighbourhood of ! Hatkant, he sent troops against the rebels of those
districts, and purified them from rebels and disturbers of the peace ;
and leaving posts in different places, went and stayed in the
metropolis of Agra. At this time news came that Ahmad Khan, son
of Mubarak Khan Lodi, the governor of 2Lakhnauti had, associating
with infidels, become perverted and had turned back from the
religion of Islam. An order was sent to Muhammad Khan, brother
of Ahmad Khan, that he should arrest the latter and send him to
the Sultdin; and the Sarkar of Lakhnauti was placed in charge of
Sa‘id Khan, his brother.

At the same time Mubammad Khan, the grandson of Sultdin
Nasir-ud-din Malwi, became suspicious of his grandfather, and sought
Sultan Sikandar’s protection, and the Sarkar of Chandari was
appointed as his j@igir, and an order was issued to Shahzadah Jalal
Khan, that he should help and support him, so that he might not
suffer any injury from the army of Malwah. At this time the Sultan

Sh&hzadah. Col. Briggs calls her his wet nurse. Qutb Khan Lodi is described
as Sultan Bahlol’s cousin in the Tar-i-D&udi, Ell. IV, p. 468.

1 See note 3, p. 350.

2 Most of the MSS, and the lith. edn. have (55 Lakhnauti; one MS. has
9 ):\1-‘-' Lakhnau with a superfluous 3. Badaoni does not mention this matter
atall. Ferishtah (lith. edn.) also has (fy4<, Lakhnauti; but Col. Briggs
and the translator of the Tar-i-K.J.L. have Lucknow. Col. Briggs thinks
that it is not likely that a Musalméan like Ahmad Khan should have become
an idolater, He thinks that Ahmad Khan was probably forbearing and

tolerant to the Hindus, and this was sufficient for his being considered to
be & Hindu.
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had a great desire for travelling about and hunting; and he moved
towards Dholpiir ; and from Agra to Dholpidr he erected mansions
and palaces, at each stage. As fortune was his friend, when he was
engaged in hunting, he obtained a kingdom as his prey. The
details of this brief statement are these, that !¢Ali Khan and Aba
Bakr, relations of Muhammad Khan, ruler of Nagor, acting
treacherously towards the latter wanted to kill him by deceit, and take
possession of his territory ; and he having received information of
this treachery, attacked them. They fled and came to the court of
the Sultan. Muhammad Khan knowing the enmity of his brothers
and relations, and also that they had asked for the protection of the
great Sultan, acted with great foresight, and sent representations
couched in sincere language, and many gifts and presents, and inserted
the name of the Sultan in the public prayers and coinage of his
territory, and the Sultian sent him a robe of honour and a horse. He
then returned from Dholpiir and took up his residence in his Capital
of Agra. And for some time, having spread a bed of pleasure,
wandered about in gardens, and enjoyed himself in festive society
and pleasure and rest. It should be known that ? Agra became the
seat of the throne in his time.

After a considerable time, he again marched towards Dholpir.
At this time he ordered Mian Suleiman, son of Khian-i-Khanan
Farmuli, that he should go with his army and equipage to Uditnagar
to the confines of ® Sui Siiir to help and reinforce Hasan Khan newly
converted to Islam, who had the name of Ray Dingar, and he

1 Badaoni does not give these names, but Col. Ranking in a note says
that Ferishtah calls them ’Ali Khan and Abd Bakr. But the lith. edn. of
Ferishtah which I have got and Col. Briggsgive Aba Bakr as the name of one
of them. The Tar-i-K.J.L. however has AbQi Bakr.

2 It appears that up to this time Agra was a dependency of Bianah.

3 It is difficult to decipher this name. The MSS. have (gys Siri,

I (g9 , Bui Sidr and )»o (gew Sul Miur. The lith. edn. has yyw (Jud
Tabni Suir. Ferishtah and Badaoni do not give the name, The Tar-i-K.J.L.
has Suisipiir. The name, however, occurs in Badaoni in another connection. It
is there given y!gw (gow Sil Sfir with a variant g 92w 3 (gs2w Siui wa Siiipur.
Col. Ranking says in & note that at that place Ferishtah has j» s~ Sidpir.
The lith. edn. of Ferishtah has )s2 »+% Shidpir at that place.
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excused himself, and said that he should not go away from
attendance on the Sultan. These words became the cause of the
displeasure of the Sultan, and he ordered that he (i.e. Miin Suleiman)
should be dismissed from his (the Sultan’s) service, and whatever of
his goods and chattels he should be able to carry away during that
night should belong to him, and whathe would be unable to take away
should be allowed to be pillaged by the people. The parganah of
Indari was given to him as a means of subsistence, and he went and
took up his residence there.

At this time Babjat Khan, the governor of Chanderi, whose
ancestors had for generations been the subjects of the badshah of
Malwah, on account of the weakness of Sultan Mahmad Malwi, and
the decay of his government, came into relation with the Sultan by
sending presents. The Sultin sent ‘Imad-ul-Mulk Badah whose
name was ! Ahmad, towards Chanderi, that he, in concert with Bahjat
Khan, might have the public prayer read in the Sultan’s name in
Chanderi and its neighbourhood. After that the Sultin returned
from Dholpiir and came to Agra; and by Zsending farmdns contain-
ing the good news of the submission of Bahjat Khan, and the
reading of the public prayers in his name in the territory of Chanderi,
and the gaining of fresh victories, his fame became high in all sides
and directions.

At this time the Sultan considered it proper for reasons of
State to change and alter the jaigirs of some of the Amirs. He took
the Sarkar of Ita&wah from Bhikhan Khan, son of ‘Alam Khan Lodi,
and entrusted it to Khizr Khan, his younger brother. In the same
way the jaigir of Khwajah Muhammad ‘1mad Farmuli was trans-
ferred to Khwajah Ahmad, his brother ; and jaigirs of other Amirs in
the same way. After that (the Sultan) deputed Sa‘id Khan, son of
Mubarak Khan Lodi, and Shaikh Jamal, son of Usman Farmuli, and

1 The lith. edn. has ol& oeal; the MSS. have dea! Ahmad and oues
Hamid. Ferishtah (lith. edn.) has oeal. Col. Briggs simply says ‘Imé&d-ul-
Mulk.

2 There are considerable variations in the readings here in the different
MSS. Thave adopted the reading in which two of the MSS. and the lith. edn.
and Ferishtah (lith, edn.), who generally follows the Tabaq&t sometimes almost
verbatim, agree.
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Ray Jagar sen Kachwahah and Khizr Khan and Khwajah Ahmad
to Chanderi, and they brought that territory into the confines of
their possession and acquired great power there; and in accordance
with the orders of the Sultan, Shahzadah Muhammad Khan the
lgrandson of Sultin Nasir-ud-din Malwi was interned in the city;
and the dominion of that territory was confirmed to him as before,
but all the power passed into their hands. As Bahjat Khan saw all
these things, he did not consider it a.dvxsable to remain there, and
came to the Sultan’s presence.

At this time the heart of the Sultdin turned from Husen Khan
Farmuli, the governor of the town of Saran; and, as a matter of
good policy, he sent Hajt Sarang to the place, and having attracted
the army of Husen Khan towards himself was thinking of putting
him in prison, when he becoming aware of this went with a few of
his friends to the country of Lakhnauti, and took shelter with Sultan
‘Ala-ud-din, the ruler of Bangalah. At this time ‘Ali Khan Nagorl,
who had been stationed in the Sibah of 2Sul Suir, having formed
relations of agreement and union, and engagements and brother-
liness with Shahzadah Daulat Khan, who was the ruler of Rantham-
bor, and a subject of Sultan Muhammad Malwl, and by his friendly
behaviour persuaded him to submit to the Sultan (Sikandar); and
settled that he should surrender the fortress of Ranthambor to the
latter. ¢ Ali Khan sent a representation to the Sultdn about this.
The latter was very pleased with this good news and resolved to
march in that direction and arrived in the neighbourhood of Bianah
by successive marches. He spent four months there in travelling
about and hunting ; and in visits to learned men and Shaikhs. He
specially spent his time in the company of Saiyad Na‘mat-ul-lah,

.

1 The meaning is not quite clear, though one can understand that Shah-
z3dah Muhammad Kh#n was kept as a figure head, but all power passed in-

to the Sultn’s hands. Ferishtah makes this clear. He says, =¥yl Uit 3
By A Semo solyald f"d‘%“"‘“ 9 OALLS dﬁi«nlé),f)é J)-A:D ahamy
frale 55 apiliy h Lo of cible 358 0y b 1) (golle rallpel fau
oy ypd. odidlo ) (s3y isgiven in the dictionary as meaning city walls or a
prison. I have thought it best to translate ¥3,5 oy y& as having interned

in the city; as the prince was kept as a figure head, he was not, very likely,
actually thrown into prison. 2 See note 3, p. 380,
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and Shaikh ! ‘Abd-ul-lah Huseni who were celebrated for revelations
and miracle-working. Verse :
Don’t pass the righteous, for at the time of weighing,
The stone is placed opposite to gold, in the proximity of the
balance.

In short ’Ali Khan so bewitched Shahzadah Daulat Khén and his
mother, who held authority in the fort of Ranthambor, with many
promises that the Shahzadah came with all quickness to attend on
the Sultan. In accordance with the orders of the latter, all the
Amirg went forward to receive him, brought hirm with all honour and
respect to the Sultan’s presence. The latter treated him with
fatherly affection and conferred on him a special robe of honour and
some horses and elephants, and asked him to take the trouble of
surrendering the fort of Ranthambor, according to the engagements
already entered into. It so happened, however, that % that very
‘Ali Khéan acted with hypocrisy, and induced Shahzadah Daulat Khan
not to surrender the fort, and emboldened him to break his promise.
The Shahzadah then evaded surrendering the fort. The Sultan
became aware of the duplicity of ‘Ali Khan, and transferred the
Sarkar of Sui Suir from him to his brother Abd Bakr; and on
acoount of his patience and his natural kindliness did not shew any
greater disfavour toward ‘Ali Khan; and did not also show any
displeasure or anger towards the Shahzadah of Ranthambor.

The Sultan, having composed his mind about the affairs of the
territory of Bidnah and its neighbourhood, started from there towards
8 Thankar; and from that place he arrived at ¢ Barl and after transfer-

1 Two of the MSS. call him Shaikh ’Abd-ul lah Huseni, while others call him
Shaikh 'Abd-ul-lah Al-Huseni. The lith. edn. has Shaikh ’Abd-ul-lah Huseni,
Bad#oni has Shaikh *Abd-ul-lah Huseni. Ferishtah (lith. ed.) has Shaikh Huseni.

2 All the MSS. (except one, which omits the word .le® before the ‘Ali

Khin) and the lith. edn. and Ferishtah (lith. edn.) have the word l# before
the name of ‘Ali Khén.

3 The MSS. and the lith. edn. have /3¢} Thankar and /¢ Thahkar. Badaoni
also has ;5443 Thankar; Ferishtah has ;G5 Thankar. According to Col. Rank-
ing, the place is called Thankar, (or, he says, more properly) Bhankar or Thankir
or Thangir. It was a fortress in the territory of Bidnah.

¢ A township in the Sarkar of Agra.
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ing that parganah from the sons of Mubarak Khan to Shaikhzadah
Makan, went to Dholpir ; and from there came to his capital Agra;
and according to his ancient custom sent farmans in all directions,
and summoned the amirs from their governments.

As life has no faith, and sovereignty no permanence, at this time
the Sultdn contracted an illness, and although on account of his
high spirit !he thought nothing of it, and in that condition sat in the
dewan or audience hall and rode about. But gradually the illness
became more and more serious, so that even a morsel of food and
water did not pass through his throat; and the passage of the spirit
became closed. Verse:

In this festive hall, the cup-bearers are so unkind,

That at the time of joy they hold the poisoned cup !

Alas for pleasure, with clay they Sikander make,

The wine of delight from Sanjar’s heart-blood they quaff !

On Sunday, the 27th of the month of Zi-qadah, 923 A.H.
(Jany. 1518 A.D.) he separated from the world. Verse:
Sikandar the ruler of the seven climes liveth not,
None lives, as Sikandar liveth not.

The period of his rule was 28 years and five months.

As so much has been said in certain histories in praise and
glorification of Sultan Sikandar, that a great part of it is suspected
to be exaggeration and hyperbole, and only that which was nearest to
correctness has been mentioned here. They say that Sultan
Sikandar was adorned with personal beauty and decorated with
mental perfection. Everything was very cheap in the period of his
dominion, and there was peace and security. The Sultan sat every-
day in public and was accessible to all seekers after justice; and

1 The lith. edn. has O))T ‘é"’ “ad dydny uf,!-c w3, owing to his high
spirit he did not confess any loss of strength. 'This makes sense, but all the
MSS. have left out the word #as weekness or want of strength. Ferishtah
in the corresponding passage has, 35105 ¥ty oy%u QJL& wps g9y 3l ie. owing
to his high spirit he did not allow a thought to enter his mind,

2 Some of the MSS. and Bad&oni has 17th : other MSS. and the lith. edn.
and the Tar-i-Daddi has 7th. As regards-the corresponding month and

year of the Christian era Col. Ranking has Jany., 1518, and the translator of the
Tar-i-Daddi, Nov., 15617.



SULTAN SIKANDAR. 385

sometimes from morning till evening and the time of going to sleep
he was engaged with matters in dispute, and performed the prayers
for the five times (in the day) in one sitting. In the time of his
sovereignty the arm of oppression of the Zamindars of India became
short ; and they were all obhedient and submissive. The strong and
the weak were equal. In all affairs justice was administered and
on most occasions, he did not run after sensual pleasure, and was
extremely God-fearing and kind to the people. On the day on
which he had a battle with his brother, Barbak Shah, a calender or
darvesh appeared when the battle was going on, and catching hold
of the Sultin’s hand said “The victory is thine.”” The Sultan
snatched away his hand roughly. The darvesh said “I am giving
thee good omen. and bringing thee good news of victory ; why dost
thou snatch away thy ‘hand ?’ The Sultan said in reply, that
whenever there was war between two parties of Musalmans, the
victory should not be predicted for one side, but it should be said
that that should happen which would be for the good of ! Islam ; and
in victory one should pray to God for whatever should be for the
good of the people. %7Twice every year, he ordered the fagirs, and
other deserving people of his kingdom, that they should bring a
writing in detail (of their needs); and he would send to each one,
according to his condition, an amount for the next six months; and
whoever came for (military) service, he asked a great deal about
the descent of their fathers, and in accordance with that ¢engaged

1 The readings are different, ‘-nw', Islam, f.)L.»f J2!, the followers of Tslam,
and Ulelwo, Musalmanan, Musalmans.

2 Two of the MSS. have a different reading viz. 'J‘“U o 50 Jle o
stogwe uw\zlﬁhg Lo 5 Lay; 4 Lol 3,8 bty Ul alyd y aSlee
i.e. twice every year he summoned the fagirs, and the poor and those who
sat in seclusion, and gave them garments and gold and whatever they needed
for the six months.

8 Here also the readings of the MSS. are different, viz. (1) 5! ! JL b.»«--;)'
about the descent or family of their forefathers, (2) byl wawd 5 Jhog Jlyat
about the condition of their fathers and their relations; (3) 3! oy wawd ;!
as to the relationship or family of their fathers. A similar passage occurs
in the Tar-i-Daudi (Elliot, Vol. IV, p. 446).

4 One MS. has ;K i &3yle, fixed his allowances.
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him (i.e. fixed his emoluments), and without inspecting his horse and
his accoutrements, granted him a jaigir and said ¢ Provide your
accoutrements from your jatgir.” :

His faith (bigotry) in.Islam was to that extent, tha.t he went
beyond the bounds even of:excess. He levelled to the ground all the
places of worship of the kafirs; and left neither their name nor any
vestige of them. In.!Mathirah and other places, where there are
places for the ablution of the Hindus, he built serais, and bazaars,
and mosques, and colleges, and employed men to prevent the Hindus
from bathing. If any Hindu wanted to shave his beard or head in
Mathirah, the barber refused to place his hand on his beard or head ;
and he completely abolished all heathenish practices by public
orders. He forbade the annual 2procession of the lance of Salar
Masa‘iid. He also prohibited the going of women to the tombs
of holy men. In his younger days, i.e. when he was still the
Shahzadah he heard that there was a reservoir in Thanessar
where Hindus assembled and bathed. He asked the learned men
‘“What is the order of the law of the Prophet in this matter.”
They said “ It is not lawful to lay waste ancient idol temples, and it
does not rest with you to prohibit ablution in a reservoir which has
been customary from ancient times.” The Shahzadah put his hand
on his dagger, and attempted to slay that learned man and said,
¢t You take the side of the heathen.” That wise man said ‘I only say
what has come down in the law of the Prophet, and I am not afraid
to tell the truth.”” The Shahzadah was pacified.

In short, in all his dominions he appointed readers of the Quran
or ministers and preachers and sweepers in all the mosques and
fixed stipends and gifts for them. In the winter he sent garments
and shawls for fagirs; and every Fridajhe sent a certain amount to

1 Bathing in the river, and having their heads shaved are more customary
for Hindus in Praydg (Allahabad) and Benares, than in Mathura or Muthra
(Ct., however, Ell IV, p. 447.)

2 8&lair Masa’'iid Ghazi was a celebrated champion of Islém, who after
numberless encounters with the Hindu idolators fell in battle near Bahraich, in
424 A.H. and then gained the title of Sultan.ush-Shuhad& or the prince
of martyrs. The prohibition of the procession of his lance shews that Sult&n
Sikandar was consistent in his opposition to all forms of idolatry, and all
attempts to deify human beings.
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the fagirs of the city; and every day food uncooked and cooked was
distributed in a certain namber of places. And ! every day and on
every Friday and twice every year there were rewards specially for
fagirs throughout his dominions. On all holy days such as the Rama-
zin and the first ten days of the Muharram, and on occasions of
thanksgivings for victories and other successes, he made the hearts of
faqirs and darveshes happy. Couplet :

If thou the splendour of greatness hast,

Take thou the poor men’s heart in thy hand!

?Learning spread in the country, and the sons of amirs, and
soldiers also devoted themselves to the acquisition of excellences in
knowledge. Wealthy men gave to fagirs and deserving people out of
their riches, what was in accordance to the law of the Prophet.

It is narrated that at the time when Sultan Bahlol died, and they
summoned Sultdn Sikandar to take up the empire, and %he intended
to go away, one day he went out of Dehli to do homage to Shaikh
Sama‘-ud-din who was among the holy men of the time, and asked
him for a prayer on his bhehalf. He also said I wish to read the
book of % Mizan Sarf (Arabic grammar) with thee, and made a

1 The MSS. differ slightly here. One leaves out, ._;‘o*oa 3 &19y2 o, daily
and on every Friday, and several have the word &«y,®% after S,

2 Cf. Tar-i-Daddi, Elliot, IV, p. 450. It is said there, that the Argar
Mahavedak or the science of medicine was translated, and received the name

of Tibb-i-Sikandari. Argar is apparently a corruption of Arya. Mahavedak
may be Mahavedah,

8 The readings differ, here one MS. has (k20 ;1 &5 515y 8yei (y09) 30Nl 41 4
Sl oy o wdy A rollles b cesdy spe gy
=) &=l ; another has the same with (mlel! instead of «{al! towards the
end. Another omitsdyes i3y 33!yl ! yand begins (23! slew oy 1o 51 4K 55 50
&5) aslb u-W' P ete.

Another agrees with the first with the exception that it has ) before
is The lith, edn. and Ferishtah (lith, edn.) have (&l slg t—-» Shaikh
Baha-ud-din instead of (yo)ylew fm Shaikh Sama’-ud-din,

¢ One of the MSS. and Ferishtah in the corresponding passage leaves
out the word '-5}‘-

The same anecdote is mentioned in Baddoni and Ferishtah, But the-
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beginning. When the teacher read in it (wylo 8 Jad allt  Sonut
as‘adak allah tala fi darain, may the most High God make the
fortunate in both worlds! the Sultan said ‘say it again’ and made
him repeat it thrice, and then kissing the hand of the holy man, and
taking that prayer to be a good omen started. Verse:

The ! words of the pure and the wise are interpreters of fate,

Their minds and their tongues are like tablet and pen,

Eternal blessing in their 2 harmony is contained,

And ruin eternal, in their 3 enmity concealed.

Every one among the amirs and the wealthy men who gave
stipends and subsistence allowances to the needy and the fagirs
gained the confidence of the Sultan; and the latter said, they have
laid the foundation of something good, in which there never can be
any loss.

He possessed information about the condition of his raiyats and
his soldiers, to such a degree, that details of the domestic affairs of
men reached him ; and sometimes he received information of what
happened to men when they were quite alone; so that men sus-
pected that the Sultan had a jinn who was intimate with him, and
gave him information of what was in the future.

They say that whenever he sent an army to a place, two
farmans reached that army everyday, one early in the morning, which
directed that they should halt at such a place after the day’s march.
and another in the afternoon or the end of the day, which said do
this and that. There was never any change in this; and post horses
were always kept ready on the road. Whenever a farman was sent
to an amir of an outlying district, the latter came out two or three

former does not say that Sikandar went to .he Shaikh and said he wanted
to read Mizan Sarf with him, but he made his customary daily walk a pretext
and asked the Shaikbh the meaning of the expression asa’dak allah, etc.

1 The reading in the MS8S. and the lith. edn. is Us Jal <o, only one
MS. has U Ja! 5. T have not been able to find the meaning of Us .
Probably it means the Sufis, one of whose doctrines is that nothing exists
except God.

2 The actual word is u"; which, the dictionary says: means consent,
agreement, harmony, good understanding.

8 The word is (jw which, according to the dictionary, is hypoerisy. Ihave
thought it best to translate it as enmity.



SULTAN SIKANDAR. 389

karohs to receive it, and for the person who carried the farman, a
1platform was erected, and he stood on that, and the person to whom
the farman was addressed stood below it; and taking the farman
in his two hands placed it on his head. If the order was that it
should be read out at that very place, the bearer conveyed the order ;
and it was read out at that very place; and if the order was that
the farman should be read in a Masjid near the pulpit this was
done, If the farman was specially for that person, or was written
specially for him then it was read secretly to him.

Every day a diary containing prices (of commodities) and
occurrences in the parganas, and provinces was submitted to the
Sultan. If anything unpleasant even by a hair’s breadth appeared,
it was immediately made right. He was always engaged in settling
disputes, and deciding cases, and in affairs of state, and in attending
to the welfare of the people.

About the sharpness of his intellect and his genius, curious
sayings are mentioned. Whatever was nearest the truth, and had
the least exaggeration and hyperbole, that only I have ventured to
narrate. Once on a time two brothers, who lived in Gwaliar, and
who were in great straits and poverty, joined an army which was
sent to attack a particular province. When the soldiers were
engaged in plundering and destroying, a piece of gold and some
pieces of coloured stuffs, and two valuable rubies fell into their
hands. One of the two brothers said ¢ our object has been gained,
why should we endure more hardships; let us go home and live in
comfort.” The other said, *“ Ah brother, as at the very first time
spoils such as these have fallen into our hands, perhaps on the next
occasion, we will get something even better than this.”” The other
said, “I won’t go to any other place.”” Then they divided the spoils.
The elder brother gave his share also to the other, so that he might

1 The word in all the MSS. (except one which has <) and in the lith.
edn. is &%, I can not find any meaning of &0 or o which will go with the
context. I think some kind of a platform was erected and the bearer of the
Jarm@n stood on it and the receiver of it below. (Cf. trans. of Tar-i-Daadi,
Elliot, IV, 448, where it is said that a terrace was erected and the bearer stood
on it and the receiver of the farmdn stood below. It is also said in a note to
this passage that this is a Tat@r custom and prevails even now in China and
some othern Eastern countries.
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make it over to his wife. That man returned home and made over
all the spoils to his brother’s wife except the ruby. After two
years when his brother returned, and made inquiries, he found no
trace of the ruby. He said “ what about the ruby.” His brother
replied “I gave it to your wife.” He said ‘“she says it never
reached her hand.” He replied “ she is telling an untruth she should
be threatened a little.”” The man threatened his wife. She said
« give me time for this night. I shall produce it tomorrow morning.”
Early in the morning she went to the house of ! Mian Bhudah who
was one of the great Amirs and Sultan Sikandar’s Chief Justice ; and
narrated all the circumstances to him. Mian Bhudah ordered her
husband to appear with his brother; and when they came, ques-
tioned them. The brother of the woman’s husband, said “ I gave her
the ruby also.” Mian Bhudah said ‘“ Have you got any witness.” He
replied “ yes.” He wasasked ‘“ whoishe ?”” The man replied ‘* they
are two Brahmans.” The mian said ‘ produce them.”” The man went
to a gambling house and paying something to two gamblers tutored
them, as to the way in whieh they were to bear testimony. The
men were dressed in clean garments and brought to the court.
After they had given evidence, Mian Bhudah said to the husband
of the woman ¢ go and get the rubies from your wife with as much -
severity as you like.” The woman came out of the place, went to
the audience hall of the Sultan and prayed for justice. The Sultan
called her, and asked her to explain the matter. The woman
stated what had happened. The Sultan said ‘“ why did you not go
to Mian Bhudah.” She said ‘“I did go, but he did not enquire as he
should have done.” The Sultdn gave order, and all the parties were
produced before him. He summoned all of them separately, gave to
the husband of the woman and his brosher a bit of wax and ordered
that they should mould it in the form of the ruby. They made two
exact facsimiles. Then he summoned the witnesses separately and
gave them wax. Each of them made a different shape. Every one
of the pieces of wax was preserved. The woman was then summoned

1 This gentleman’s name is given variously in the M8S, and in the lith.
edn, as Sp¢d; 599¢d, ¥)a¢d. Ferishtah (lith. edn,) has 3)y. Col. Briggs has
Meean Bhoory. I can’t say whether the name ocours in Bad@onf, It does
not occur in the very copious index of Col. Ranking’s translation.
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and the Sultdn said to her. Do you also shape the wax in the form
of the ruby ?” The woman said “ how can I make a thing which I
have never seen.” Although she was asked repeatedly, she did not
agree. Then he addressed Mian Bhudah, and afterwards said to
the witnesses, “ If you will tell the truth your lives will be spared,
but if you will not do so, you will be put to death.”” They then nar-
rated the facts with truth. The brother of the woman’s husband
was also summoned, and threatened with condign punishment. He
also now gav.e a truthful version of the incidents. The poor woman
was now acquitted of the accusation!; and the great penetration and
intelligence of the Sultan became patent to all.

He wrote even and simple Persian verse, and his poetical pseu-
donym was Gulrukhi. Sheikh Jamil was one of his courtiers with
whom he had much conversation. He wrote the following couplets
as a memento of the Sultan :—

My garment is made of the dust of thy lane!
That too is wet with the tears of my eyes!

My sides are completely plumed with his arrows,
Now will I fly to him of the bow-like brow !

2 They say that once on a time the Sultin after doing his
nwundz was telling his beads. His major-domo was there. The Sultan
made a sign to him meaning ‘ summon.” The major-domo did not
understand it ; and went out and said to Mian Bhudah. The Sultan
is telling his beads and signed to me to summon. I could not venture
to ask him whom should I summon and now I have not the face to
teturn. 1 can not go and attend on the Sultdn; and I also do not
know whom I shall take with me.” Mian Bhudah asked him “In
what direction was the Sultan’s face and what was he looking at.” He
said *‘ towards the door of the newly erected building.” Mian Bhudah
said < send for the mason and the carpenter and take them with you.”
The major-domo took the mason and the carpenter. The Sultan

knowing that it was strange that he should understand his meaning ;

1 Two of the MSS. have here, duiled 1y o a) 859ei mlins 1y ol yolpy o

i.e. and having punished her (should be her husband’s) brother caused the ruby
to be given to her.

2 The whole of what follows is to be found in only one MS. and in the
lith. edn. but not in the other MSS.
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enquired ¢ how did you know that I wanted these men ?”” The major-
domo, replied “ Mian Bhudah told me.” The faith of the Sultan in
Mian Bhbudah’s intelligence became stronger.

It is narrated that once on a time Sultan Sikandar said to Mian
Bhudah who was his chief Judge and Vazir ‘ Frequently in my
kingdom much?! corruption occurs among my officers, and is the
cause of the ruin of my subjects. My noble mind is frequently very
anxious about it. If any remedy for it comes into your mind it
would be a very good thing.” Mian Bhudah represented to him.
It is very easy to remedy corruption, and it is this that your Majesty
should hold one end of the chain, and give the other end to your
slave and there will never be any more corruption. And in fact
whenever any one is appointed to perfrom any service, he must be
free from avarice, otherwise corruption will not he eradicated.”

SuLTAN IBRAHIM, SON OF SULTAN SIKANDAR,
SoN oF SurLTAN Bamrorn Lobi.

When Sultan Sikandar was united with the mercy of God, the high
mighty and honoured position of the salianat was settled with the
consent of the Amirs and the great officers of state on his 2 eldest son

1 The word which I have translated as corruption appears to be als
Malbah. I have not been able to find the word in any dictionary and have
translated it by the word corruption, as being most suited to the context.

2 He was certainly not the eldest son. Sultan Sikandar’s sons according
to seniority of age were A’zam Humaydn, Jalal, Ibrahim, Ismael and
Husen. According to the Tar-i-Salatin Afghana (Elliot, V, p. 7), the reason
of his selection appears to have been this. Sultan Sikandar left two sons by one
wife, Ibrahim and Jalal. When the former grew up he became celebrated for
his personal beauty and excellent disposition and the nobles determined to
place him on the throne, to which he was raised on the Tth Zil-hijjah, 923 A.H.
(Nov., 1517). As we have seen, however, Sultdn Sikandar died on the 7th
Zilgadah, so the date given above is probably incorrect. The translater of the
Tar-i-8.A. says in a note that the date of Sultén Ibrahim’s accession according to
the M-i-A. Tar-i-K.J.L. was the 8th Zilgadah which is doubtless the correct date.
Apparently the mothers of Sultdn Sikandar’s other sons were of inferior rank ; and
therefore 1brahim and Jaldlsucceeded him the former at Debliand the latter for
a time at Jaunpiir. The T#&r-i-Daudi (Ell., IV, p. 451) however gives a different
list of Sultan Sikandar’s sons. According to it they were six, in the following
order of seniority, Ibrahim Khan, Jalal Khan, Ismail Khan, Husen Kh#n,
Mahmiid Khan and A’zam Humay(in,
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Sultan Ibrahim, who was known and celebrated for the beauty of
his intelligence and penetration, and his courage and praiseworthy
moral qualities. ! But hecause soldiers, and specially men of war and
action, have for the sake of the proper arrangement of their
affairs and the reputation and grandeur of their service and com-
mand, and the greatness of their retainers and equipages, always
directed all their plans and endeavours to this, that the rule of gov-
ernment in the kingdom, and the passing of orders from a well estab-
lished throne should not have great power and complete predomin-
ance, for this reason they decided that Sultin Thrahim should sit on
the throne at Dehli, and his ruJe should extend to the boundary of
the kingdom of Jaunpiir; and that Shahzadah Jalil Khan should set
on the Masnad of Saltanat at Jaunpir, and should govern the terri-
tories on that side. But they did not know that sovereignty cannot
be carried on in partnership, and two swords cannot he put into one
scabbard. Couplet :

Two lives can never in one body exist ;

Nor two kings in one kingdom rule.

In short Shahzadah Jalal Khan, turned towards Jaunpir with
the Amirs and the Jaigirdars of the parganas appertaining to it, and

1 The reason given in the text for the establishment of a separate kingdom
in Jaunpiir does not appear to be at all convincing, and apparently the author
had to write a long-winded and involved sentence because he knew that his
account was not at all convineing. Badaoni gives no reason whatever. The
extracts from other histories in Elliot, are also silent. The Tar-i-S.A. (Elliot,
V, p. 7) says the nobles and pillars of the state then gave lbrahim’s brother
by the same mother, the title of Sultdn Jalil-ud-din and sent him with many
officers and a large army to take charge of the kingdom of Jaunpir; but
¥ives no reason whatever for this action on their part. The only satisfactory
reason is to be found in Ferishtah, according to whom, lbrahim gave great
ambrage to the great Lodi and other Afghan Chiefs by declaring immediately
after his accession, that there should be no distinction among officers, whether
of his own tribe or otherwise, and by saying publicly that kings should have no
relations, or oclansmen; but that all should be considered as subjects and
servants of the state and the AfghBin Chiefs, who had hitherto been allowed to
sit in the presence were constrained to stand in tront of the throne, with their
hands crossed before them. So they conspired together and leaving Ibrahim in
possession of Delhi and a few dependant provinces raised Jalal Khan on the
throne of Jaunpiir. (See Brigg’s Ferishtah, Vol. I, pp. 590-81.)
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being firmly seated on the throne of that kingdom, appointed
A’zam Humayan Sharwani to be his agent and minister (vakil wa
peshwa). At this time Khan Jahan Lohani came from Rapri to the
court of Sultan Ibrahim, and spoke with rebuke and derision to the
Vazirs and Vakils, and said that it was a great error, and a manifest
blunder to have a divided sovereignty and rule; and? the acceptance
of this appeared to be remote from wisdom. At last the officers
of State endeavouring to remedy it (i.e. their own error) thought
it advisable, that as up to that time Shahzadah Jalal Khan
had not acquired power and stability, he should be summoned to
Dehli. They sent Haibat Khan 2 Gurg-andaz to summon him ; and a
farman couched in gracious and kind language was sent to the effect,
that a matter of importance had to be discussed, and that he should
come with a light retinue, by forced marches. When Haibat Khan,
arrived at the court of the Shahzadah, although he tried various
forms of coaxing and flattery and deception, the Shahzadah’s sus-
picion of their deception and treachery became all the stronger and
he did not consent to return; and giving 3soft replies, passed the
time by employing tricks and evasions. Haibat Khan sent a repre-
sentation to the Sultan explaining all this. The Sultan sent
4 Shaikbzadah Muhammad, son of Sheikh Sa‘id Farmili, and Malik
Ismai’l, son of Malik ‘Ala-ud-din Jilwani and Qazi Majd-ud-din Hejab
(chamberlain). Their blandishments had no effect also, and the
Shiahzadah did not return. After that, after consultation with the
wise men and the philosophers of the age, farmans were sent to the

1 This clause appears to be incorrect. It is given in the MSS. (except one
which substitutes J&¢ wisdom for Y3 wise men which I certainly consider
better and have adopted) as -5_,05 )90 (du',' Yde J‘,l L;,'\a..i:-! ,Jj.u 5

2 The circumstances under which Haibat Khaén slew two wolves with one
arrow from his bow and which earned him this honorary surname isgiven in the
Tar-i-8.A. (Elliot, V, p. 33.)

8 All the MSS. (except one which has ‘.J,MU harsh) and Ferishtah, who
follows the Tabaqat pretty closely, have rﬁ(ﬂ soft. '

4 There are slight differences in the names of the emissaries. One MS,
and the lith. edn. has Jaio after <lva one MS. calls Kho puy anans! o

%S  Ferishtah adds the name of wl®a ouwaw Sa'id Hijab after the other
names,
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Amirs and rulers of those territories; and to each one of these a
separate purport, and favour and a different hint and suggestion,
suited to his rank and condition and hereditary status was indicated.
The purport of these farmans was this, that they should abstain and
refrain from allegiance to and association with Shahzadab Jalal Khan,
should not attend at his court, and should not accept service under
him. To some of the Amirs who had large forces in those parts and
had thirty and forty thousand retainers, such as Dariya Khan
Lohani, ruler of the province of Behar, and Nasir Khan ruler of
Ghazipar, and Shaikhzidah Muhammad Farmuli, who held Oudh,
and !Lakhnau, and others, a special trusted agent was sent with a
special robe of honour and a horse and other 2favours. When these
farmans reached them, they all turned from their allegiance to the
Shahzadah and became hostile to him,

At this time the ®Sultan had a throne placed in the Dewan-
khanah, adorned and encrusted with fine gems. He sat on it on
Friday, the 15th of the month of Zilhijjah, in the year 923 A.H.
(1517 A.D.) and held a great court. He conferred on the servants of
the palace, and the officers of state and all military officers, robes of
honour, and belts for swords and for daggers, and horses and
elephants and high offices and ranks, and Jaigirs (fiefs) according
to the rank and status of each. Verse:

If thou wouldst power and greatuess and honour have,

Make captive the hearts of thy friends with favours and grace.

By that did Kads gain mastery over his foes,

That he a Rustam had his behests to do.

Make thy soldier, in battle strong by favours great,

For e’en a lion *falls, in battle with a slayer of men,

1 Two of the MSS. and the lith. edn. has (s Lakhnauti, and one MS.

has ))3\"". ¥ is the correct reading. Ferishtah has .

2 Ferishtah has )SUA }J , belt with dagger, among the presentsin addition
to the robe of honour and the horse.

8 1t is curious that according to the Tar-i-S.A. (Elliot V, p. 9) Shahzadah
Jalal Khan did exactly similar things on the same date. I wonder whether the
translator has by mistake attributed Tbrahim’s doings to Jal&l.

4 All the MSS. have $Uysu!, & lion comes, which does not makesense, The
lith. edn. has b 8dsl, g lion falls, which T have adopted.
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And he cast anew ! rings of obedience in their ears ; and made them
bound and grateful to him afresh by favours and kindnesses. He
made the great and the common people pleased and conformable to
him. He opened the doors of beneficence on faqirs, and the poor,
and increased their subsistence allowances, and stipends and gratuities
and grants, and sent offerings and presents to those who sat in
seclusion, and placed their reliance on God. He conferred new glory
to the acts of greatness and sovereignty; and the affairs of state
became stronger and more stable.

2When Shalzadah Jalal Khan saw these acts of the Sultan, and
the hostilfty of the amirs of those districts, he left Jaunpur and came
to Kalpi, and knew that there was no time now left for negotiation
and evasion with Sultan Ibrahim, and publicly assumed an attitude
of hostility, and in consultation with those who were united with him,
gave up all hope of the territory of Jaunpir, and establishing himself
at Kalpi, had the Khutbah (public prayer) and Sikkah (coins) in his
own name, and assumed the title of Sultan Jalal-ud-din and devoted
himself to the task of looking after his retainers and soldiers and the
improvement of his accoutrements, and gun factories, and the paci-
fication of the Rajahs and Zamindars of the sarrounding parganas,
and became stronger and more powerful. He then advanced towards
‘Azam Humayin 3Sarwani, who with a large force was besieging
the fort of ¢ Kalinjar ; and sent men to him with the fellowing message :
*“ You are like a father or an uncle to me, and you know that I have
committed no fault, and the breach of promise has been from the
side of Sultan Ibrahim. The small portion of territory and wealth

-,
1 Referring to the custom of having rings placed on holes bored through the
lobes of the ears of slaves.

2 Ferishtah follows our author pretty closely. Badaoni is however brief
and has a somewhat different account. He says M,J'» g0 (o ).nl r.U..' W ').9
(L) TR ool H aaisa 5l gty o3y 8550 a.u;! Ihla Jla a5 o yole
wbS Glbldo ol JYa ie. Farmans were issued addressed to the amirs of the
Eastern provinces, that they should geize Jaldl Khan and bring him to the
Court; and he coming from Jaunpiir to Kalpi .... assumed the title of Sultan
Jaldl-ud-din.

‘_,J';fw according to some manusoripte,
4 According to some MSS. ;M Kalinjar.
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which he had decided to allot to me as my inheritance, on that also
he has shut his eyes; and has torn asunder the tie of alliance, and
broken the bond of affection; it behoves you that you should not
abandon the side of justice, and should help the oppressed party.”
Asin fact A‘zam Humayiin had ill-feeling towards Sultan Ibrahim,
and the poverty and broken fortunes, and softness of Sultin Jalal-
ud-din had affected him, and also as he saw that he had not the
power to fight with and oppose the Shahzadah (i.e. Sultin Jalal-
ud-din), he gave up the siege of the fort of Kalinjar and hastened to
attend on Sultan Jalal-ud-din. After strong engagements and
promises, they decided, that they should first obtain poésession of
the territory of Jaunpur and the adjoining districts, and then think
of other things. In conformity with this resolution, they advanced
by forced marches against Sa’id Khin, son of Mubarak Khin Lodi,
who held the province of Oudh. He not being able to withstand
them, withdrew to Lakhnau, and sent a representation containing a
true account of the state of affairs to Sultan Ibrahim.

Sultan Ibrahim determined that he should with some chosen
troops proceed to crush this revolt. At this time, in consultation
with his well-wishers, he ordered that some of his ! brothers who had
been imprisoned, such as Shahzddah Isma’il Khian and Husen Khan,
and Mahmad Khan, and Shahzadah Sheikh Daulit Khan should be
conveyed to the fort of Hansi, and should be kept well-guarded
there ; and for attendance on each of these, two 2 trustworthy servants

1 Some of the MSS. have (lapa 5 ol brothers and relatives
Badaoni only names Isma’il Khan and Husen Khan and addsothers. Ferishtah

in the lith. edn., which I have, copies the Tabaqat closely, but when he comes
to the names he says that Isma’il Khan, Husen Khan and Mahmiid Khan were
made over to Daulat Khan. Col. Briggs says generaly that Ibrahim confined
his other brothers in the fort of Hansi. On further consideration 1 think that
Ferishtah may be right, though the sentence is not quite complete in any of the
MSS. orin the lith. edn. If this view is correct then the translation would be “ He
ordered Shahzadah Shaikh Daulat Khan that he should convey some of his (that
is the Sultan’s) brothers who had been imprisoned, such as Shahzadah Isma'il
Khan, etec., to the fort of Hansi and keep them well-guarded there.”

2 The word used in the MSS. and in the lith. edn. and in Ferishtah is
(s> Badéoni has @y~ Ja! 3l Jledd 40 49, which Col. Ranking translates
¢« two servants from the private establishment.” I prefer two servants from his
harem or seraglio.
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were appointed, and also fixed allowances for their food and
garments and other necessaries. On Thursday the 24th of the
month of Zi-hijjah 923 A.H. (6th February 1518 A.D.) the Sultan’s
standards turned towards the east and by forced marches the army
reached Bhongaon. From that place it started towards Kanauj.
On the way news came that A‘zam Humiy@n with his wise son
Fateh Khan had turned his face from Shahzadah Jalal Khan, and
was coming to attend on the Sultan. This good news gave great
courage and strength of heart to the Sultan. When A‘zam Humayin
arrived near, Sultin Ibrahim sent most of the Amirs to welcome
him, and highly exalted him with royal favours.

At this time ! Manchand, Zamindar of Jartoli. one of the depen-
dencies of pargana Kol which is a celebrated 2 Mawas, had fought
with ‘Umar, son of Sikandar Sar and had raised him to martyr-
dom (i.e. slain him) ; and Malik Qdsim, governor of Sambal, who had
attacked and defeated and slain that rebel, and had thus put an end
to this unforeseen disturbance, came to Kanauj, where the Sultan
was encamped, and offered him his services. Most of the Amirs and
Jaigirdars of Jaunpir such as Sa‘id Khan, and others came to
attend on the Sultan and were enrolled in the band of his well-
wishers. At this time (the Sultan) deputed A‘zam Humayin
Sarwani and ® A‘zam Humayin Lodi and Nasir Khan Lohani and
others with an immense army and elephants of * gigantic size against
Shahzadah Jalal Khan. The latter was at this time at Kalpi.
Before the above-named Amirs could arrive there, he left N¢anat
Khatun and the followers of Qutb Khan Lodi, and ¢ Imad-ul-Mulk,
and Malik Badr-ud-din and his dependents with a body of men in the
fort of Kalpi, and himself turned towgfds the metropolis of Agra
with thirty thousand horsemen and some elephants. The army
of Sultan Ibrahim besieged Kalpi and some days were spent in

1 This name is given as u'-i, Khan, éi@-;&, Khanchand, *3&%‘-5’-‘, Man-
chand and &iyJle, Malchand in the MSS. and the lith. edn. Ferishtah has

é-\;i-\-'t Jaichand. The Tar-i-K.J.L. (Elliot, V, p. 104) ddes not give any
names but says a body of the Zamind#rs of Jartoli.

2 Mawas is a district in the Doab.

3 Ferishtah calls him ‘Az’am Khan Lodi.

4 The actual word used is ;‘N Lad3!, of the size of great serpents.
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warfare with cannon and muskets. At last the garrison found itself
too weak to oppose the Sultan’s forces, and the fort was captured
by the latter. The city was ravaged and much plunder fell into
the hands of the soldiers.

The Sultan sent with great quickness ! Malik Adam with a well-
equipped army to defend Agra. Shahzadah Jalal Khan reached the
neighbourhood of Agra. and wanted in revenge of Kalpi to ravage
Agra. At this time Malik Adam arrived in Agra, and having softened
Jalal Khan with sweet words, which were agreeable to his disposition,
persuaded him to keep the sack of Agra in suspense, till Malik
Ismac‘el, son of ‘Ala-ud-din Jilwani, and Kabir Khan Lodi and Bahar
Khan Lohani and some other amirs with a large army arrived,
following at his heecls, and Malik Adam gained much strength.
 After that he sent a message to Jalal Khan, that giving up all
absurd desires and ambitions, he should resign the Chatar (royal
umbrella), Aftabgir (sun-umbrella) naubat (large kettle drum) and
Naqqarah (kettle drum) and other marks and paraphernalia of
royalty, and conduct himself like the amirs, so that he (Malik Adam)
may make a representation to the Sultan, for pardoning his error;
and the Sarkar of Kalpi may as before remain as his Jaigir. Jalal
Khan having agreed to these conditions gave up the paraphernalia
of royalty. Couplet :

None can, with bragging, take his seat on the seats of the great,

Till he has got all the necessaries of greatness ready.

Malik Adam took charge of the royal umbrella, and the sun
umbrella and the kettle drum, and sent them to the Sultan, who had
returned from Kanouj and arrived in Itawah. The things with

1 He is called Malik Adam in all the MSS. and in the lith. edn. and in
Ferishtah, but Badaoni calls him Malik Adam Kakar. He is also called Malik
Adam Kakar in the Tar-i-Salatin-i-Afaghana (Elliot, V, p. 11) though the trans-
lator in the text calls him Malik Adam Ghakkar, but says in a note that it
is there written as Kaikar. '

2 All this agrees with the Tar-i-S.A. (Elliot, V, p. 12). The English equi-
valents of Aftabgir and Naubat are not given. The author of the Tar-i-S.A.
says that Jaldl Khan like a coward agreed to the conditions, although his
chiefs tried to dissuade him, and pointed out the probable evil consequences

of his action. Bad@oni and Ferishtah also agree, the latter almost verba-
tim.
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Malik Adam’s representation was produced before him, but he did
not agree to the proposed treaty with Jalal Khan and directed his
attention to the destruction of Jalal Khan. The latter, on hearing
this news, took shelter with the Raja of Gwaliar.

The Sultdn remained in Agra, and the affairs of State which
after the death of Sultan Sikandar had been shaken, became stable
and firm. The amirs who had been hostile, asked for pardon, and
returned loyally to their allegiance. After that !Haibat Khén
Gurg-andaz and Karimdad Taugh and Daulat Khan Indar were sent
to look after and guard Dehli; and 2 Shaikhzadah Manjhu was
appointed to take charge of and protect the fort of Chanderi and to
be the Peshwa (guardian or minister) of Shahzadah Muhammad
Khan, grandson of Sultan Nasir-ud-din Malwi.

In course of time the heart of the ®Sultin turned from Mian
Bhudah, who had been one of the great Amirs and the Vazir of Sultan
Sikandar, but who confident of his former services, began to neglect
to seek for the wishes of the Sultan, till things came to such a point
that he was imprisoned and put in chains, and placed in charge of

1 These names are not to be found in Badaoni, who does not mention
anybody having been sent to guard Dehli and Chanderi. The Tar-i-S.A. says
Karimddd Khéan Tagh with other 'umara were sent to take charge of Dehli.
Ferishtah (lith. edn.) gives the same names as in the text, only he calls
Daulat Khén Indar, Daulat Khan Indardya. About this last name the

MSS. vary. One and the lith. edn. has Indar. Another has )!3!, Aidar, while

the others omit Daulat Khan and add a ) dar to Tagh. Col. Briggs
says two nobles Karimdad Khan Tarak and Daulat Khan were sent to
take charge of Dehli.

2 This name does not occur in Badauni"dr in the Tar-i-S.A. Ferishtah
(lith. edn.) has Sheikh Machhu but as all the MSS. and the lith. edn. of the
Tabagat has Shaikhzadah Manjhu. I have retained that name. Col. Briggs
calls him Shaikhzddah Muhammad Farmuli.

3 The reason of the Sultn’s displeasure against his father’s Vazir, as given
by our author, was that the latter confident of his former services, did not care
to seek for and act according to his wishes. In this Feri.shtah follows him
Badaoni gives no reason whatever. The Tar-i-S.A. (Elliot, V, p. 13) gives a
different resson. He says that after the conquest of Gwallar, the Sultén
became very proud and began to maltreat and punish the nobles of his father,

and he imprisoned Mian Bhudah, who had for twenty-eight years been the
absolute minister of his father.
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Malik Adam. The Sultan however pardoned his son and conferring
honours on him put him in his father’s position. !Mian Bhudah died
while he was still in prison.

At this time it entered the mind of the Sultan that as Sultan
Sikandar had always intended to conquer Gwaliar, and the remain-
ing fortresses and cities of those districts, and repeatedly led his
armies, but had never succeeded in gaining his object, if good for-
.tune guided him and victory led him, he might, with kinglike deter-
mination, conquer Gwaliar and all the territories appertaining to it.
With this object he sent A‘zam Humayin Sarwani, the governor of
the districts of Karra with thirty thousand horsemen and three
hundred elephants to conquer Gwaliar. When A‘zam Humayin
reached the neighbourhood of Gwaliar, Shahzadah Jalal Khan
leaving that place went towards Malwa 2to Sultan Mahmad.
About this time 3 Bhikhan Khan, son of ‘Alam Khan Lodi, and Jalal
Khan Lodi,- and Suleiman Farmuli, and Bahadur Khan Lohani
and Bahadur Khan Sarwani, and Isma’el, son of Malik Firoz Aghwan,
and Khizr Khan Lohani, and Khizr Khan, brother of Bhikhan
Khan Lodi and Khan-i-Jahan, were deputed with an immense army

1 The Tar-i-S.A. (Elliot, Vol. V, p. 14) has a story about Mian Bhudah and
Islam Khén and some other amirs. They were asked by the Sultdn to go into
a room and have a consultation there. They did so without any suspicion but
the vault under the room had been filled with gunpowder; and they were all
blown up and were scattered as leaves of trees in a gale of wind. The translator
says in a note that this barbarous gun powder plot is not mentioned by any
other historian, but he says that Mian Bhudah and some other nobles were in
the end privately assassinated. In support of his statement he says that the
author of the Tar-i-D. contradicts himself, saying in one place that he died in
prison and in another that he was murdered. I have not seen any passage
which says that he was murdered, though it is quite possible that he was.

2 All the MSS. and the lith. edn., with minor verbal differences the Tar-i-S.A.
and Ferishtah agree in this. Ferishtah however, calls the King of Malwah
Sult&n Mahmidd Khilji.

3 These names occur, with minor differences, in all the MSS. and in the lith.
edn. I have not found them in any other history. Even Ferishtah who
generally gives details which are not to be found elsewhere confines himself
with K2 ) oo (Jﬂ-‘ LI Boes g';‘")’;"“. il adlaie
o ;‘ ueﬂ-’ )' i.e., and after him (the Sultan) appointed eight of the chief nobles
with a great army and some elephanta to re-inforce him.
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and some elephants to reinforce A‘zam Humayim, and to besiege
Gwaliar and conquer that territory. Jt so happened that at this
time R&ja Man, the ruler of Gwaliar, who had been distinguished
above all his peers and neighbours for bravery and liberality, and
had contended for years with the Sultans of Delhi, ! had died and his
son Ray ? Bikramajit having succeeded him had made great exertions
in strengthening the fortress. The Amirs of Sultin Tbrahim in
accordance with his orders had erected a palace and every day assem-
bled there, and attended to all matters of importance and made all
efforts and endeavours to carry on the siege. 1t so happened, however,
that R4ja Man ®had erected a lofty building below the fort which
surrounded the latter and was very strong. and was called * Badal-
garh. After a considerable time, the Sultan’s woldiers excavated
mines and filled them with gun-powder and set fire to it, and the
walls of the fort having been blown down, they entered it, and that
place was conquered. At that place they found a °brazen bull,
which the Hindus had for years worshipped. 1In accordance with the

1 The author of the Tar-i-S.A. (Elliot, V, p. 13) speaking of the death of
Raja Man ‘“says had departed to the infernal regions.” The translator says
in a note that the mode of expression, however common, sounds more than
usuaily ungracious and intolorant in this particular instance, as the Makhzan-
i-Afghani, (MS., p 130) and the Tdar-i-K.J.L. (MS,, p. 144) represent Raja Man
as only externally a Hindu and in heart inclined towards Islam. Not having
access to the MSS. referred to I cannot say whether this view of Raja Man’s
religious views is correct, but he appears by all accounts to have been a brave
and generous ruler. Ferishtah merely paraphrases the Tabaqat, one MS. of
Badaoni has U-i&éf , passing away, and the text ykiS, slaying, in respect of the
death of Raja Man.

2 A corrupt form of the Sanskrit Vikramaditya. B

8 The meaning is not very clear. The pad¥ige runs &al) aals B3P Glast
8}.? Jsb - 3ol "Ksﬁ\'.w' Al';'b}i e &als u'))b 5 aale wylee L‘)L‘
e 50&5’0; . There are some slight differences in the readings, but the
above may be taken as correct.

4 Col. Ranking says that this Badalgarh should be distinguished from
another fort of the same name. On looking up his reference I find that the

other fort was not Badalgarh but Badalgarh, and is merelysanother name of
the citadel of Agra.

5 The translator of the Tar-i-S,A. (Elliot, Vol. V, p. 13) calls it a copper
bull out of whose mouth a voice issued (!) and that it was carried to the
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orders of the Sultdan that brazen bull was taken to Dehli, and placed
at the Baghdad gate. Up to the reign of the Hazrat Khalifah Ilahi
(the emperor Akbar) that bull was at the gate of Dehli. The writer
of this history has seen it
In short, at that time Sultin Ibrahim lost all faith in the old

amirs of his father, and he imprisoned most of the great Khans
(nobles). At this time also, Shahzidah Jalal Khan who had gone
from Gwaliar to Sultain Mahmiid Malwi, but not having received
proper treatment from him, had fled from him ; and gone to the
country of 'Kara Katinka and therec he was taken prisoner by
a band of Gonds. They sent him under guard to Sultin Ibrahim.
The latter sent him to the fort of Hansi, and on the way he was
sent to martyrdom. Verse:

The sharbat of power and pomp is so sweet,

That kings thirsting for it, shed their brother’s blood ;

Don’t for power shed the blood of the heart-broken ;

For thee, the same draught into the cup, they will pour.

After some time A‘zam Humiayun Sarwani and his son Faleh

Khan, who were besieging Gwaliar, and had nearly captured the fort,
came to Agra in compliance with the order of the Sultain and the
latter ordered them to be imprisoned. On account of this Islam
Khan. the son of Azam Humayin, who was in Karah having
revolted, took possession of the property and equipage of his father;
and refusing to give possession to Ahmad Khan who had been
appointed to be the administrutor of that place. commenced enlist-
ing troops and collecting a force. Ahmad Khan fought with him and
was defeated. Sultin Ibrahim hearing this, wanted to remedy this
and send an army; when all of a sudden A‘zam Humayin and

fort of Agra where it remained until the time of the Emperor Akbar, who
caused it to he melted down for the purpose of making cannon. Badaoni

text has u’.s)) gs)y" a brazen figure, but both MSS. A and B have 043) ‘_g))L»
a brazen animal. Col. Ranking instead of quoting the Tabagat about this,
quotes Ferishtah who only gives a paraphrase of the former. Badaoni and
Ferishtah however adds one new fact namely that the bull was sent by the
Amirs to Agra, and was thence sent by the Sultan to Delhi.

1 The name is so given in several of the MSS. and in the lith. edn. In
other MSS. the name is not quite distinctly written. Badaoni has Kara
Kankah. The Tar-i-S.A. has Garra Kantak. Ferishtah has Rajah Garh.
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Sa‘td Khan Lodi, who were among the great nobles fled from
his (i.e., the Sultan’s) army, and went to Lucknow, which was their
Jaigir, and began to fan the flame of rebellion and disturbance.
Sultan Ibrahim deputed- ! Ahmad Khan brother of A‘zam Humayiin
Lodi, and the sons of Husen Farmuli and Majlis ‘Ali Shaikhzadah
Muhammad Farmuli, ‘Ali Khan Khan-i-Khanan Farmulj, and Majlis
¢Ali Bhikhari Farmuli, and Dilawar Khan, son of Ahmad Khén, and
Sarang Khan, and Qutb Khan, son of Ghazi Khan Jalwani and
Bhikhan Khin Lohani, and Sikandar son of Adam Kakar and
others like them with an enormous army to attack them. When
they reached the neighbourhood of the town of Bangarmau, near
Kanouj, Igbal Khan 2helonging to the tribe of Azam Humayin
Lodi with 5,000 horsemen and some elephants came suddenly out of
ambush, fell on them and having wounded and killed a large number
and put the army in great disorder, left.

When this news reached the Sultan, he wrote many words of
reproach to the Amirs, and sent orders to them, that as long as they
would not recover that territory from the possession of the rebels,
they would be in the ranks of the accursed and the rejected ;
and as a matter of precaution sent another body of Amirs and Khans
with an immense army to reinforce them. On the side of the rebels,
also, there were collected 40,000 well-armed horsemen and 500
elephants. When the two sides approached each other and the
battle was about to commence, Shaikh 3 Raji Bukhari who was the

1 There are some differences about these names in the different MSS. and in
the lith. edn. I have taken what appeared to me to be a correct list. It is
very curious that some of the names are extremely hybrid such as Majlis Ali
Bhikhari Farmuli and Bhikan Khan Lohani No other historian, as far as
I know, has given these names. Badaoni seys Sultan Ibrdhim despatched
Ahmad Khan, brother A‘zam Humiyin Lodi, in command of a vast army.
The Tar-i-8.A. only says that the Sultan despatched another army. Ferishtah,
who is generally so prolific in details, says merely Sl ;9 Sl S KL ](g_o,
i.e. sent another army to reniforce them.

2 All the MSS. and the lith. edn. say (s &old Badaoni says dd ela
Col. Ranking calls him the chief cavalry commander under A’zum HumByiin,
Ferishtah calls him ‘.h', slave, of A’zam Humay@m Lodi. Some of the MSS.
and the lith. edn. have omitted A’zan before Himay{in Lodi.

3 One or two of the MSS. the lith. edn. and Ferishtah (lith. edn.) call him
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chief or leader of that age came between, and stopping the two sides .
sought to guide the rebels with lofty precepts, and noble sermons.
They, after making many excuses, submitted that if the Sultan
would release A‘zam Humayiin Sarwani, they would withhold
their hands from his dominions and from hostility against him, and
would go away to some other kingdom. When this proposal reached
the Sultan, it did not meet with his approval, and he sent orders to
Dariya Khan Lohéni, the governor of Behar and Nasir Khan Lohani
and Shaikhzidah Muhammad Farmuli, that they should advance
from that direction against the rebels, and put down the rebellion.
When those troops arrived from that direction, the rebels, in
their pride, felt no anxiety about the greatness of the Sultan’s destiny,
and the strength of his army, and began the battle; and the well-
arranged troops of the two sides met in dire conflict, and shed such
streams of blood, that the eye of the age become blind and dark on
beholding it. At last as the result of revolt and lingratitude is evil,
and is never of good omen Islam Khan the rebel was slain ; and Said
Khan Lodi was taken prisoner by the troops of Dariya Khan Lohani.
The revoit was crushed and the wealth and the territory of the rebels
all came into the possession of Sultan Ibrahim. Verse:
Do not like clouds be thou to thy benefactor ingrate ;
They get their riches from the sea and yet shoot arrows at
its breast.
Even like the river, make gratitude thy habit,
It gives to the cloud an ocean without getting a drop of rain.

The Sultan on hearing this news was very much elated.2 But
as a matter of fact, as the hatred for the Amirs had not left the heart

)8 (gs>!) z&.  Baddoni does not mention him or his intervention. The
Tar-i.8.A. calls him Shaikh Raja.

1 All the historians, Bad#&oni, the author of the Tar-i-S.A. as well as our
author moralise about the ingratitude of the rebels, but they have no word of
reproach for the tyranny and barbarity of the Sultan. Ferishtah as usual copies
the Tabagat almost word for word.

2 The Tabaq&t and Badaoni and Ferishtah agree mainly but the Téar-i-S.A.
(Elliot, Vol. V, p. 16) contains an account of a battle between the Rajputs under
Rana Sanka and the Sultdn’s troops under Mian Makhan whom he had appoint-
ed commander-in-chief superseding older and braver commanders. It also
gives a circumstantial account of the murder of A‘zam Humaylin. It also
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of the Sultan, and the disagreement of his disposition with the Amirs,
and their open and concealed hostility for him had gone beyond all
limit, and many of the amirs and Maliks such Mian Bhudah, and Azam
Humayiin Sarwani, who was the Amir-ul-Umara, had died while
under imprisonment by order of the Sultan. Darya Khan Lohéni,
governor of Behar, aud Khan Jahan Lodi, and Mian Hasan Farmulj,
and others, like them, from the fear and trepidation, which had over-
whelmed them, turned their heads from allegiance to the Sultdn, and
raited the standard of hostility. It so happened, that at this time,
Mian Husen Farmuli was killed at Chanderi by some low Shaikh-
zadahs of that place, at the instigation of the Sultan ; and this became
a more serions cause of the hatred of the Amirs for the Sultan.

After some time Darya Khan Lohani died, and his son Bahadur
Khén, turning from the Sultan, and?! having determined to follow a
particular course, sat in his father’s place; and the Amirs who had
revolted from the Sultdn, joined him, and they collected ahout a lakh
of horsemen in the territory of Behar and took possession of that
country as far as Sambal, and assuming the title of Sultan Muham-
mad had his name inserted in the public prayer and in the coins he
caused to be struck. At this time Nasir Khin Lohani, the governor of
Ghazipir being defeated by the Sultans’ troops went to him ; and
for 2 some months in the territory of Behir and its dependencies, pub-
lic prayers were read in his name; and during this time he fought
several battles with the troops of the Sultan, and shewed himself to
be his equal.

It so happened that? the son of Daulat Khan Lodi, came from

says that the murderers of Midin Husen Farmuli or as he is there called Husen
Khan were rewarded with 700 gold pieces and ten villages in Inam. The Tar i-
S.A. also calls the son of Darya Khan Lohani 8hahbaz Khéan. It appears from
a note to the translation of this history (Elliot, V, p. 22) that some historians
call him Bihar Khan, but he is more generally called Bahddur Khan.

1 All the MSS. have ¥ &3),(,{ which literally means having turned his
face in one direction. I think I have succeeded in conveying the meaning.

2 Badaoni says s O—'\% for sometime. According to a note to the trans.
of the Tir-i-8.A. (Elliot, V, p. 22) the Waiqat-i-Mushtaqi_says that khutbah
was read in his name for two years and some months.

8 The Tar-i-8.A. (Elliot, Vol. V, p. 23) says that he was Daulat Khan’s
youngest son and his name was Dilawar Khan. It goes on to say that
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Lahore to attend on the Sultin. But he became suspicious of the
latter and fled to his father. As Daulat Khan did not see that he
could in any way escape from the wrath of the -Sultdin and severe
punishment, he went to Kabul and sought the protection of Hazrat
Firdus Makani (His majesty the Dweller in Paradise) Babar Badshah
and brought the latter to invade India. On the way Daulat Khian
died, and in Behar, Sultan Muhammad also died. Although the
requisites for the conquest of Hindustan, and the necessary counsels
and plans were all arranged, His majesty the Badshah mainly relying
on the help of God fought with Sultin Ibrahim in the vicinity of
Panipat, and the latter was defeated ; and he and a number of the
amirs were slain on the field of battle. The sovereignty of Hindustan
passed away from the dynasty of the Lodt Afghans to this auspicious

family. The reign of SultAn Ibrahim extended over 7 years and a few
months.

Daulat Khéin sent him to Bébar in Kabul and Bébar prayed to God that
if he was destined to conquer, God would send him pan leaves and mangoes,
which according to him were the choicest products of India, as a sign. It so
happened that Daulat Khan had sent some half ripe mangoes preserved in pots
of honey and betel leaves, by the hand of Ahmad Khan, and Dilawar Khan
-presented these. Babar at once prostrated himself to offer thanks to God, and
determined to invade India. This account makes no mention of the petition
gent by the nobles by the hand of ‘Alam Khan Lodi as mentioned by our author
and Bad#oni, and the Tar-i-K.J. Lodi (Elliot, Vol. V, p. 106). Ferishtah as far
as I can make out does not give the name of ‘Alam Khan Lodi. He says Daulat
Khan sent a trustworthy person to Babar at Kabul.

Exp oF VOoLUME 1.
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I. PERSONS.

A

Abbasi-Caliph, p. 217, 227-228.

¢ Abdur Rashid, becomes ruler of Ghaz-
nin, p. 31; treacherously attacked
and killed by Tughral, p. 32.

’Abdus Samad (Khwaja Abu Nasr
bin Muhammad), made minister by
Amir Mas’@d, p. 20.

Abu Bakr Shah Sultan, son of Zafar
Khan; ascends the throne, p. 262;
plot of Rukn-ud-din Jandah, p.
263 (see also n. 1); puts him to
death ; the amirs of Samanah kill
Sultan Shah Khushdil, governor of
Samanah ; Sultin Muhammad Shah
sits on the throne a second time,
p- 263; Abu Bakr Shah defeats
him; defeats him again at Kundli,
p- 264; orders massacre of Sultin
Firoz Sh8h’s slaves, p. 265; sends
an army and defeats Shah-Zada
Humayin Khan who devastates
the country round Dehli, p. 265;
marches with a large army towards
Jalesar; Sultén Muhammad Sh&h
goes to Dehli evading him, p. 265;

returns to Dehli; revolt of Mir
Hajib Sultani and other amirs of
Firoz Shah against him; retires to-
wards Kotla-i-Bahadur Nahir, p.
266; Humayin Khan sent against
him by S.M.Sh., p. 269; surrenders
to S.M.Sh., is imprisoned and dies
at Mirat, p. 269.

Ahmad Khan, son of Mubarak Khan
Lodi, governor of Lakhnauti; Sultan
Sikandar orders his arrest for being
converted to Hinduism, p. 379.

’Ain-ul-Malk-Mult&ni, sent to Multan
by Sultdn Kutb-ud-din M.8h. and
brings the province into order,
p- 194; made governor of Deogir,
p. 197; ordered to go to Deogir,
p. 226; battle near Kanouj; taken
prisoner and two of his brothers
killed, p. 227; pardoned and hon-
oured, p. 227.

Akat Khan, nephew of Sultan 'Ala-ud-
din, attacks the latter; is informed by
Paiks that Sultan is dead; sits on
the throne, p. 164; beheaded, p. 165.

'Ala-ud-din Sultén, B&dshah of Banga-
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1ah; Sultén Sikandar advances
against him; treaty between him
and 8.8, p. 364.

‘Ala-ud-din, Khalji Sultan, made feu-
datory of Karah by Sult&n Jalal-ud-
din Khalji, p. 137; his conquest of
Deogir, his attitude raises suapicion
in the mind of 8. J. K’s, amirs,
p. 145; but 8. J. K. believes in his
good faith, p. 147; deceives S.J. K.
and prepares for an expedition to
Lakhnauti; receives affectionate
letter from 8. J. K. whose emissaries
find out his hostility to the Sultan,
but are prevented from report-
ing it; determines on his expedi-
tion to Lakhnauti, p. 148; meets
8. J. K. and has him assassinated,
p. 180; proclaimed emperor, p. 151 ;
most of 8.J. K’s. amirs join him;
sends army to Multan against 8. J.
K’s. son and adherents; 8. J. K’s.
sons blinded and kept prisoners
at Hansi, p. 155; Mughals invade
Hindustan, but are defeated at
Jarnmahmdr, p. 1566 (see also n. 1);
sends an army to invade Gujrat;
Nahrwalah and Kambayat plun-
dered, p. 157; Saldi Mughal takes
possession of Siwistan, p. 158 ; sends
Zafar Khan who re-conquers ib;
Kutlagh Khwija with a Mughal army
comes to conquer Hindustan, and en-
camps near Dehli, p. 158; battle,
Kutlagh Khwaja defeated, p. 1569; his
projects ; new religion; world con-
quest like that of Alexander, p. 160;
gives up the former plan and arranges
to conquer cities in India and to
keep the Mughals out, p. 162; sends
Ulugh Khaén and Nasrat Khan to
conquer Rantambor; starts for Ran-
tambor, p. 163; attacked and
wounded by his nephew Akat Khan ;
Paiks tell Akat Khan that he isdead ;
Akat Ehan, site on the throne,

p. 164; recovers and wants to go
to Ulugh Khén at Jhain, p. 164;
Akat Khan beheaded; besioges
Rantambor, p. 165; conquers Ran
tambor, p. 167; enquiries about
great calamities; escheats all pious
endowments, etc.,, and decides to
take the wealth of all wealthy men;
spies at work everywhere, p. 168,
prohibits use of wine; wine pro-
cured by tricks and illicit distil-
lation ; prohibits convivial meet-
ings; takes measures to check the
tyranny of headmen; decides that
half the produce of the land is to be
taken for the state from everybody ;
Chowdhris’ dues to be paid to the
state; grazing fees to be realised, p.
169 ; strict rules about ministerial
officers ; opinion about ‘the law ;
questions to Kazi Maghis-ud-din
and the latter’s replies, pp. 170-173 ;
rewards K.M.; conquers Chitor ;
Mughal Targhi invades Hindustan
and encamps near Dehli; Sultdn in
Dehli, but his army is disorganised,
p. 173; Targhi goes away without
any apparent cause; makes Siri
his capital and rebuilds the citadel
of Dehli; wants to have an army;
makes seven Rules for improving
the finances, for providing a better
equipped army, p. 174-177; spies
appointed, p. 177; fixes rates for
al! articles, precious artioles and
those of small value; strength of the
army increased ; Mughal invasions
stopped; invasion of 'Ali.Beg, p. 178,
Mughals defeated; 2nd Mughal in-
vagion under Kabek who is slain; -
3rd Mughal inyaders defeated by
Dehli army when returning loaded
with booty, p. 179; 4th Mughal
invasion, Mughals defeated; no
further Mughal invasion till the
reign of Kutb-ud-din Mub&rak
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Shah, p. 180; sends Malik Niib
Kafir Hazar-Dinari against Deogir,
p. 181; sends army to Arangal;
siege of Arangal; outer fort taken;
Rudar Deo makes submission, p.
182; horse dakchauki established
when army is sent ; Paiks or runners
and scribes employed, p. 183; con-
spiracy of neo-Moslems discovered
and all neo-Moslems ordered to be
slain, p. 184; bands of Bahtis, (?)
achismatics, (?) ordered to be slain ;
violence and self-sufficiency of the
Sultan in the latter part of his reign,
p. 185; his victories; his public
works, mosques, etc.; list of great
religious teachers, p. 185; of ex-
oteric learned men ; teachers of the
science of reading the Quran, p. 187;
of poets and others, p. 188; cause
of the downfall of his empire ; Khizr
IKh@in declared to be the heir-appar-
ent; Sultan’s illness, later develops
into dropsy; sends Khizr Khén to
the fort of Gwaliar at the instigation
of Malik Naib Kafar, p. 189; death,
p. 190 ; suspected to have been poi-
soned by M. N. Kafdr.

’Ala-ud-din Khani Izz-ul-Mulk Malik,
made governor of Lakhnauti by
Sultan Shams-ud-din Altamsh, p. 88.

¢ Ala-ud-din Sultén, son of Muhammad
Shab; ascends the throne; weak
and foolish ; marches towards Sama-
nah but hearing the news that_ the
badshah of Jaunpiir was marching to
Dehli returns to Dehli; Hisam Khan
(Vazir) remonstrates with him; goes
to Badaidn, returns to Dehli but
says he wants to stay at Badain;
Hisam Eh#n again remonstrates,
p. 330; again goes to Badaiin; the

» two brothers of his wife whom he
left in Dehli fought with each other
and one of them waa killed at the
instigation of His&m Khin ; attempte
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to kill Hamid Khan who fled, p. 331
has only the city of Dehli and
a few villages ; orders the arrest of
Hamid Khan at the instigation of
Qutb Khan, ete.,, p. 335; orders
the arrest of Hamid Khan, also
to put him to death, p. 336; abdi-
cates in favour of Sultdn Bahlol Lodi
and becomes contented with only
Badaiin, p. 339; death, p. 348.

¢ Ala’-ud-din Sikandar Shah Sultan,
son of Sult&n Muhammad Shah;
ascends the throne, dies after one
month and sixteen days, p. 271.

¢ Ala-ud-din Mas’iid 8hah Sultan,
placed on the throne by the amirs,
p- 81 ; Mughal armies invade the ter-
ritory of Lakhnauti, p. 83 (see also
n. 2) ; Mughal armies invade Uchch ;
the Sultdn moves towards Uchch
and the Mughals run away ; becomes
a tyrant; is imprisoned, dies, p. 84.

¢Ali Mardan Khalji, joins service of
S. Kutb-ud-din p. 56 ; made governor
of Lakhnauti; after the death of
Kutb-ud-din assumes the title of
Sultén *Ala-ud-din; slain by Khalji
nobles, p. 57.

Al-Kadir-Billah, Caliph of Baghdad;
sends robe of honour to § Mahmid,
p- 4

Almas Beg, brother of ¢ Ala-ud-din
Khalji; deceives Sultan Jalal-ud-din
Khalji, and detaches him from his
army and personal attem_ltmte,
p- 149.

*Alam Khan, brother of Sultan Sikandar
and son of Bahlol Lodi; fled to 'Isa
Khan in Patiali when Sultan Sikan-
dar marched against him, p. 357.

¢« Ali Shaikh, son of Sur Ghanamish,
advances from Kabul; Sultan Muba-
rak Shah sends Malik Mahmid
Hasan againss him, p. 308; <Al
Shaikh, receives a large sum from
Faulad and oomes to help him,
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commits depredations, p. 313 ; battle
with Sultdn Shah Lodi who is killed ;
battle with ’Imé&d-ul-Mulk, p. 314;
defeated and fled, p. 315; again comes
from Kabul and overruns the country
round Multan, p. 316; takes posses-
sion of Talambah, p. 316; marches
against the amirs, overruns the
country on the river Biah and goes
towards Lahore, p. 318 ; takes horse-
men of Lahore and advances towards
Dibalpir, p. 319; pursued by Sultan
Mubarak Shah; flees, escapes, p. 319.

’Ali Beg, grandson of Changiz Khan;
invades India, p. 178; defeated,
p. 179.

Ali bin Mas’dd, child 3 years of age
nominated ruler for about three
months, p. 31.

¢ Ali Tandari, measure taken against
him by Amir Mas’id, p. 24.

Alp Khan (Sultan Hoshang), Gover-
nor of Dhar; advances towards
Giwaliar ; Sultan Mubarak Shah ad-
vances against him, p. 305; sends
tribute to S.M.8h. and returns
towards Dhar, p. 306.

AmirNasir-ud-din S8abuktigin, becomes
ruler of Ghaznin, p. 2. (see also
note 2); invades Hindustan; Raja
Jaipal attacks him : his son Amir
Mahmid distinguishes himself ;
Jaipal sues for peace but later
breaks his engagement ; meets him
again ; defeats Jaipal in the battle
of Lamaghan, p. 3; dies, p. 4.

Amir Khan, son of Aubad Khin;
governor of Biagnah ; kills the uncle
of Sultdn Mubarek Shéh, p. 305;
agrees to pay tribute to 8.M.8h., pp.
305-306.

Amir Mahmiid, son of 8. Nasir-ud-din
Babuktigin, distinguishes himself in
the battle against R&j8 Jaipil, p. 8,
for subsequent history see under
Sultan Mahm@d 8abuktigin.

Amir Mag’id, people want him, p. 18 ;
receives homage at Nish&pdr;
comes to Hirat; goes to Balkh,
p. 19; comes to Ghaznin; makes
Khwaja Abu Nasr Ahmad bin
Muhammad ’Abdus Samad his
minister; invades India in 424
A.H.; attacks the fort of Sarsati
in Kashmir, p. 20; seizes the
fort, obtains much booty; takes
measures against Turkmaéns, p, 21,
invades Hindustan; takes Hansi
and Panipat, p. 22; goes to
Balkh; advances to Mawar-un-
nahr; comes to Balkh in pursuit
of Dadd, p. 23; takes measures
against ‘Ali Tandari; agreement
with Turkméns; trouble with
Turkmaéns; goes to Nishapdrs
further trouble with the Turkmans,
p. 24; goes to Merv rejoined by
some of his troops and comes to
Ghaznin by way of Ghur, p. 25;
punishes the rebels; sends Amir
Maudiid, to Balkh, p. 25; sends
Amir Muhammad to Multan; his
slaves (or guards) attack him and
have his head cut off, p. 26.

Amir Maudid, goes to Balkh being
sent by Amir Mas’did, p. 25; wants
to avenge his father’s murder;
defeats Amir Muhammad and puts
him to death, p. 27; engaged with
Jnatters connected with the Turk-
mans, p. 28; summons Tughral, p.
29; starts for Kabul, p. 30; falls
ill at Sy&mkot ; returns to Ghaznin
and dies in 441 A H,, p. 31. )

Amir Muhammad, son of Mahmiid
p- 17; succeeds; people turned to
Mas'iid, p. 18 , was deposed after a
rule of five months; imprisoned in
the fort of Zaleh, p. 19; sent to
Multen by Amir Mas'Gd, p. 26;
defeated and killed by Amir
Mauddd, p. 27.
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Anandpal, son of Jaip#l; opposes
Mahmiid in his journey to Multan ;
is defeated by him, and retires
to the mountains of Kashmir;
defeated again in 399 by S. Mahmid,
p. 6; offers 50 elephants to Mahmid
on his leaving him alone, (see also
note 2, p. 2.); offer rejected and
Mahmiid plunders Thanessar, p. 7.

Aram Shah Sultdn, ascends the throne,
p. 60; defeated by Malik Altamsh,
p. 61.

Arslan Shah, imprisons his brothers,
except one who goes to Sultan Sanjar
in Khurasan, p. 33; defeated by
Sultan Sanjar; retires to Hindus-
tan, p. 34.

Asad-ud-din Malik, cousin of Sultén
‘Ala-ud-din, conspires to murder
Sultdn Kutb-ud-din Mubarak Shah ;
is put to death by S. K. M. Sh,
p. 195. B

Bachgotis, a tribe of Rajputs, p. 359,
(see also n. 2).

Bah#a-ud-din Tughral, Sultan, one of
the slaves of Sultan Muizz-ud-din
Muhammad Shah of Ghaznin, takes
up his residence in the country of
Bidnah; tries to oapture Gwaliar;
hostility with Sultan Kutb-ud-din
Aibak; death, p. 49.

Bahira, Raja of Bhatiah, p. 5; is
surrounded by Mahmid’s army,
stabs himself and dies, p. 6.

Bahjat Khan, governor of Chanderi;
renounces his allegiance to Sultan
Mahmiid Malvi and becomes & sub-
ject of Sultan Sikandar Lodi, p.
381.

Bahlol Lodi Sultan (see Malik Bahlol
Lodi).

Bahlol Lodi Malik, (becomes after-
wards Sultan Bahlol Lodi, attacks
Sultan Mahmiid Khéan's retiring
army ; made governor of Dibalpir
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and Lshor; is sent against Jasrat
Khokhar, who makes peace with
him and gives him the hope of his
becoming Sultdn of Dehli, p. 328;
begins collecting men, takes posses-
sion of some parganas in his neigh-
bourhood, marches to Dehli, returns
without doing anything, 329 ; comes
to Delhi again, assumes the title of
Sultan Bahlol; early history, p
332 ; story of his visit to a darvish
in Samanah, p. 333; in possession
of Sirhind: fights with Sultan
Mahmid Malvi; is made Khan-i-
Khanian ; takes forcible possession
of Lahore and Dibalpiir; advances
on Dehli, is unable to take it, goes
back to Sirhind, p. 334; ad-
vances again to Dehli but goes back
to Sirhind, p. 335; his character;
shows consideration and gentleness
to Hamid Khan who was then very
powerful, p. 338; Sultan ’Ala-ud-
din abdicates in his favour,
keeping only Badafin for himself, p.
339; marches to Multan, p. 340;
Sultan Mahmiid Sharqi advancds to
Dehli, returns from Dibalpir and
encamps at Nalira; his troops
capture some camels, etc., of Sultan
Mahmiid Sharqi’s army, p. 340;
obtains great power and various
chiefs submit to him; S.M.Sh.
again attacks him; peace settled, p.
341 ; orders Jina Khan to march
out of Shamsabad as previously
arranged ; makes Shamsabad over to
Ray Karan ; 8. M. 8h. again attacks
him, p. 342; marches towards
Jaunplr to attack him 343.344;
makes peace with Sultan Husain;
receives presents from him, p. 345;
marches towards Shamsabad and
takes it from Jina Khan and makes
it over to Ray Karan, p. 345-346;
marches ‘towards Multan, p. 3463
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marches against Miwat; meets
Sultan Husain near the town of
Bhatwardh, p. 347; makes peace
with Sultan Husain; again attacks
his army and takes possession of
some parganas, p. 349; again makes
peace with 8. H,, defeats S. H.
at Sonpiir ; becomes more powerful ;
again attacks and defeats 8. H.;
attacks Itd&wah and takes it;
skirmish between him and 8. H., p.
351; seizes Jaunpiir, p. 362;
marches towards Badaan; places
Barbak Shah on the throne of the
Sharqi kingdom; p. 363; dies, p.
354.

Bahram Abih, rebels in Multan, de-
feated and killed by Sultan Muham-
mad Tughlaq 8hah, p. 221.

Bahram Lodi Malik Sult@n Shah, sent
by Khizr Khan, and defeats Sarang
Khan, p. 297, killed in a battle with
Shaikh ‘Ali, p. 814,

Bahram Shah, placed on the throne
by Sultdn Sanjar; invades India,
and leaves a governor and returns
to Ghaznin; the governor revolts
Bahram Shéh attacks him and he is
slain, p. 34 ; dies in 547 A H., p. 35.

Bahtis, a band of schismatics
ordered to be killed by Sultan
’Ala-ud-din, p. 187.

Bakhtiyar Khilji, early life, p. 49;
raids Behar and Muner; joins the
service of Sultédn KXutb-ud-din;
made ruler of Lakhnauti, p. 50;
story of the Brahmans; arrives
in Nudiar; Lakhmania escapes;
founds Lakhnauti in Gour, p. 61;
assumes sovereignty, p. 51; at-
tempts to conquer Tibbet and
Turkistan, p. 52; army worn out,
and returns; finds bridges broken,
p. 83; takes shelter in a temple, p.
54 ; besieged by Rai of Ka&mrud;
falls ill and dies, p. 54.

Baraos, also called Parwaris, tribe of
low class people of Gujrat, p. 199,
200, 201, 208, 204.

Barbak Shah, Badshah of Jaunpiir;
Sultén Sikandar sends Ismail Khan
to him; goes from Jaunpir to
Kanouj, when 8. 8. attacks him, p.
357; defeated by S. 8. but again
placed on the throne by him; 8. 8.
takes away some of the parganas,
p. 368; leaves Jaunpiir, p. 360;
comes to Dalmau to meet S. 8.;
unable to remain at Jaunpiir, p.
360 ; seized, and brought to-S. 8.
p. 361.

Bhadwariahs, tribe of turbulent
people, p. 350.

Bhikhan Khin Shahzada, ascends the
throne under the title of Muhammad
Shah; peace established between
Sultan Bahlol and him, p. 342,

Bughra Khan, younger son of Sultdn
Ghias-ud-din Balban; sent to
Samanah and Sundm conferred
on him by his father, p. 107;
accompanies Sultdn to Lakhnauti,
p. 109; left by Sultan G. B. with
gsome advice, p. 111, sent for by
8. G. B. and requested to remain at
Dehli; goes to Lakhnauti, p. 119;
writes letters to his son 8. Mu'izz-
ud-din Kaikobad, p. 122 ; meets his
son at Audh, p. 123; an account of
the meeting, p. 123 and 124; fare-
Jyell advice to his son, p. 124.

D

Darya Khan, deserts Sultin Muhmidd
Sharqi at the instigation of Qutb
Khan, p. 340.

Daid, ruler of Multan; . Sultan
Mahmiid takes him by surprise;
agrees to pay annual tribute to the
former and to follow the true reli-
gion, p. 6; Amir Mas'dd pursues
him, p. 23,
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F

Fakhr-ud-din Jina Malik, made master
of the horse by Khusru Khan, p.
205; escapes from Dehli, is pursued
but arrives at Dibalpdr, p. 206.

Farid Khan, son of Sultan’Ala-ud-din,
killed by the Baraos, p. 204.

Farrukhzad, placed on the throne
of Ghaznin; troubles with the Sal-
jukians; treaty; death, p. 32 (see
also n. 4).

Fateh Khan, sent by Sultan Mahmad
Shargi to fight with Sultan Bahlol
Lodi; defeated, p. 340.

Faulad, asks the help of Shaikh ’Ali
Beg sending a large sum; arrange-
ment with the former, p. 313; over-
runs the country of Ray Firoz and
the latter is killed.

FirozShah,Sultan Rukn-ud-din,ascends
the throne, p. 72; gives himself up to
dissipation ; amirs revolt; marches
towards the Punjab, p. 73; returns
to Dehli but is seized, and put into
prison and dies, p. 74.

Firoz Shah Sultan, arrives at Pan-
duah; Sultan Sikandar takes shelter
in Ekdalah; Ekdalah is besieged,
Sultan Sikandar submits and agrees
to pay tribute; on his return journey
halts at Jaunpiir for the rains; goes
to J&jnagar; Rai Sarbin of Sankrah
fled; crosses the Mahanadi and
arrives at Benares, capital of the
Rai of Jajnagar; the Rai escapes to
Tilang and begs for peace and sends
presents; returns to Dehli, 772 A.H.,
p- 247; orders excavation of canals;
separates Sarhind from S&maénah ;
marches to Nagarkot; ‘iced shar-
bat’; Raja of Nagarkot submits;
story of Sikandar Zulqarnain’s
(Alexander the Great's, see also
note 1) coming to Nagarkot; image
of Nushaba (see also note 2), p. 248,
library of books of the Brahmans at

Nagarkot; marches towards Thatha ;
the Jam entrenches himself and

- later submits, p. 249; makes Malik
Mufarrah Sultani (Farhat-ul-Mulk)
governor of Gujrat, p. 250 ; marches
to Itawah and obtains the sub-

_ mission of the Zamindars of that
country; p. 250-2561; marches to
Samanah ; marches to Kaithar and
devastates the country, p. 261;
Khan-i-Jahan’s influence over him;
Khan i-Jahan’s plot against Shah-
zdda Muhammad Khan’s friends;
Shahzada Muhammad Khan tells
him of Khan-i-Jahan’s plot; 8.M.K.
attacks K.-i-J., p. 262; abdicates
and puts S.M.K. on the throne, p.
253; his troops rebel against Sultan
Muhammad Shah; fighting between
his troops and those of S.M.S.,
p. 264; makes Tughlaq Shah, son
of Fateh Khan, his heir; dies, p.
255; three regulations about the
government, p. 256; Fatuhat Firoz-
shahi written by him, its contents,
p- 2567; list of public works carried
out by him, p. 260.

G
Ghazi Malik, (Sultan Ghiss-ud-din
Tughblaq Shah), asked to come to
Dehli by Khusru Khan, but he com-
mences hostilities, p. 205; Khusru
Khan sends an army against him;
Malik Bahram Abih comes to him;
defeats Kh. Kh.’s army and advances
to Dehli, p. 206, Kh. Kh. is seized
and executed; advances from the
assembled noblemen, p. 207; be-
comes Sultdn with the title of
Sultan Ghias-ud-din Tughlaq Shah;
stipends to descendants of S.’A, and
8. K., p. 208; grant of- titles and
offices; makes a moderate revenue
assessment, p. 209 ; rules about j@gir-
dérs; resumes the sums bestowed



416

by Kh. Kh.; rewards judges;
adopts financial measures and rules
prescribed by 8. ’A.; resumes im-
proper grants by 8. Kutb-ud-din,
p- 210; lays foundation of fort of
Tughlagabdd, p. 211; sends Ulugh
Khan to Arangal, again sends
Ulugh Khaén to Arangal, which is
captured ; induced to invade Lakh-
nauti, sends Tatar Khan in advance,
p- 213 ; returns to Dehli, arrives in
the pavilion erected by his son Ulugh
Khan near Tughlaqabad; roof of
pavilion falls in and he is killed,
p- 214.

Ghids-ud-din Balban Sultan, made
Vazir by Sultén Nasir-ud-din Mah-
mid, p. 86 ; made Sultén; his virtu-
ous and careful administration, p. 93 ;
his stern justice, p. 94 ; his durbars,
p- 95; his dignity and grandeur of
demeanour ; &dopts the golden mean
between mercy and wrath, p. 96;
gives up drinking, convivial meet-
ings and gambling on becoming
Sultdn, p. 97; objects to conquer
Gujrat, Malwa etc., as it was neces-
sary to protect his dominions from
the yearly invasion of the Mughals,
p- 98; fond of hunting; preserves
game; takes stern measures against
Miwatis, p. 99; appoints strong
jagirdars to put down turbulent
people; opens the road to Jaunpir,
Behar and Bangalah, p. 100; stern
measures against the people of
Katiher; marches to Lahore which
had been ravaged by Mughals, p.
101 ; Mughals give trouble and he
sends his eldest son Muhammad
Sultén to Multan to check them,
p- 103; Mughals again invade, and
prince Muhammad Sult&n is killed
in battle with them, p. 104; precepts
to his son, M. 8. on his last visit to
Dehli, p. 105 ; sends his younger son
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Bughrd Khin to S&manah and con-
fers it and Sund@m on him, p. 107;
revolt of Tughral, governor of
Lakhnauti; sends troops against
him, but they are defeated; sends
another army which is also defeated,
p. 108; marches towards Lakhnauti ;
takes Bughra Khén with him;
arrives at Lakhnauti and pursues
Tughral; arrives mnear Sonar-
gdon; Bhojrai, the governor, joins
him; Tughral disappears, p. 109;
but is pursued and slain p. 111,
leaves B. Kh. with some advice,
p. 111; returns to Dehli; p. 112;
his great sorrow; sends his grand
son to Multén; p. 118; sends for
B. Kh. and tells him to remain at
Dehli, and to send his son Kaikubad
to Lakhnauti, but B. Kh. goes to
Lakhnauti; p. 119; appoints Kai-
kbhusru as his successor; p. 119.

Ghiss-ud-din Khalji Sultan, ruler of

Lakhnauti attacked and defeated
by Sultan Shams-ud-din Altamsh
and brought under subjection, p.
66 ; defeated by Sultdn Nasir-ud-din
taken prisoner and slain, p. 66.

Ghias-ud-din Sultan, becomes Sultan of

Ghiir; his brother who afterwards
became 8. M. M. Ghuri when ruler
of Tiginabad repeatedly attacked
Ghaznin, p. 36; he conquered
Ghaznin, p. 36.

Ghias-ud-din Tughlaq Shah, Sultan

(see (thazi Malik).
H

Haji Moula, a man belonging to the

tribe of the Amir-ul-umra, enters
Dehli; slays the Kotwal and places
Shah Nabasa Muhtasib on the
throne, p. 166; killed by Hamid-ud-
din Amir K4, p. 167,

Hamid " Khan. made Vazir, p. 334;

’Ala-ud-din orders his arrest, p. 335 ;
ordered to be put to death by
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*Ala-ud-din, escapes and the people
gathered round him; drives out the
family of Sultdn ’Ala-ud-din from
the palace and becomes the de facto
Sultdn; thinks of placing Sultdn
Mahmiid Sharqi of Jaunpiir on the
throne, p. 336 ; possesses great power,
and Sultan Bahlol Lodi shows gentle-
ness to him; his Afghéns at the
instance of S. B. L. behave strangely,
p. 338; imprisoned, 339.

Hamid-ud-din Amir K&, kills Haji
Moula and the ’Alawi whom the
latter had placed on the throne,
p. 167.

Harpal Deo, son-in-law of Ram Deo;
in possession of Deogir; Deogir
taken fromhim ; heis taken prisoner,
and is killed by Sultan Kutb-ud-din
Mubarak Shah, p. 194.

Hasan Khwaja, writes the elegy of
Muhammad Sultan, p. 113.

Hazar-Dinari Malik Naib Kafur, a
slave of a Merchant of Kambayat,
taken from his master by Nasrat
Khan and brought to Dehli, be-
comes a great favourite of S. ’Ala.
ud-din, is afterwards made Naib-i-
mulk by him, p. 157, sent against
Deogir, p. 181, sent to invade Dhor
Samundar and Ma’abar, p. 184, insti-
gates S. 'A. to send Khizr Khan who
had been declared to be the Sultan’s
heir to Gwaliar, suspected to have
poisoned 8. ’A., p. 190, killed by a
band of the old paiks, p. 191.

Hisdm Khan, Vazir of Sultan ‘Ala-ud-
din, remonstrates with the latter,
p. 330; at his instigation one of the
brothers of Sultan ’Alad-ud-din’s
wife is killed, p. 331 ; is killed by 8.
Muhammad, p. 334.

Hisam-ud-din, sent to Gujrat; wanted
to revolt but was seized and sent to
Suitdn Kutb-ud-din M. Sh. by the
Amirs, p. 197,
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Hisdm-ud-din Malik, early life; joins
service of Bakhtiyar, p. 58; gives
tribute to Sultdan Shams-ud-din;
defeated by Malik Nasireud-din Mah-
mid and is slain, p. 59.

Horse Dakchauki, established by
Sultan ’Ala-ud-din, p. 183.

Humayin Khan Shahzada, devastates
the country round Dehli, p. 265;
defeated by Abu Bakr Shah’s army,
p- 265; sent by S. Muhammad Shah
against' A. B. 8., p. 269.

Husain Sultan, at the invitation of the
Zamindars comes with an army
to attack Sult8n Sikandar but is
defeated, p. 363.

I

Ibrahim, pious king, p. 32; treaty
with the Saljukians; conquers many
towns in India; death, p. 33.

Ibrahim Lodi SultAn, son of Sultén
Sikandar Lodi made Sultan (see also
note 2, p. 392); separates Jaunpir
and gives it to Shahzada Jalal Khan
(see also note 1, p. 393); sends for
Sh. J. Kh. who does not come, p.
394; adopts hostile measures and
asks the amirs of Jaunpiir not to
render allegiance to Sh. J. Khan;
attempts to make himself popular,
p. 395; determines to crush Sh. J.
Kh. who had got A’zam Humayin
Sarwani to befriend him, p. 397 ; but
A’. H. deserts Sh., J. Kh. and joins
the Sult@n, p. 398; besieges Sh. J.
Kh. at Kalpi and takes it, p. 399 ;
attends to the government, becomes
angry with Mian Bhudah and im-
prisons him, p. 400; sends A‘zam H.
8. to conquer Gwaliar; the outer
fort of Badalgarh is blown up and
taken, p. 402; loses all faith in the
amirs, who then rebel against him;
but are defeated by his adherents,
p. 404; revolt of Bahadur Khan,
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son of Darya Khan Luh#ni in
Behar, p. 406 ; Babar invades India.
Sultdn Ibrahim defeated in the
vicinity of Pénipat and slain, p.
407.

JTbréhim Shah Sharqi Sultan, succeeds
after the death of his brother
Mubarak Shah 8harqi; Sultan
Mahmiid Shah goes over to his
army ; returns to Jaunpir, p. 284 ;
recovers Kanouj, p. 287; takes
Sambal, p. 288 ; battle between him
and Sultdn Mubarak Shah, p. 309;
warfare between him and Sultan
Hoshang Malwi, p. 321; takes pos-
session of some parganas, p. 327.

Ikhtiar-ud-din Altunia Malik, governor
of Tabarhinda; marries Sultan
Razia ; defeated and slain along with
her, p. 77.

Igbal Khan, formerly known as Mallu,
enters into agreement with Nasrat
Shah; attacks Nasrat Sh&h who
escapes to Firozd@bad, p. 277; puts
Mugqarrab Khan to death and treats
Sultan Mahmiid Shah as a puppet ;

" attacks Tatar Khan; acquires great
power, p. 278 ; opposes Amir Taimdr
Gurgan, but is routed and escapes to
Gujrat, p. 280; Nasrat Shah collects
a force and sends Shahab Khan
against him, p. 281; kills Shahab
Khan and takes possession of Dehli,
p. 281-82; takes possession of the
country round Dehli; the rest of
the country in the possession of
different nobles; marches against
Bianah, and defeats Shams Khan
and then marches towards Kaithar,
p. 282; marches against Mubarak
S8hah 8harqi; the latter meets him,
and after two months they come
to terms, p. 283; welcomes Sultén
Mahmiid 8hah and places him in
the Humdayin palace, p. 284; be-
sieges Qwalidr; again marches to
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Gwaéliar, fights a battle with Biram .
Deo in front of Dholpiir and de-
feats him and returns to Dehli;
unsucocessfully besieges Sultdn Mah.
mid, p. 285; marches towards
8amanah; fights a battle with Khizr
Khan and being taken prisoner is
put to death, p. 286.

¢Izz-ud-din Balban Malik, ascends the
throne; amirs object and place
Sultan ¢ Ala-ud-din Ma’siid Shah on
the throne, p. 81.

’1zz-ud-din Muhammad, noble of Bakh-

tiyar Khilji; sent to Jajnagar; per-
forms mourning rites for Bakhtiyar
Khilji, p. 55.

Jaipal, ruler of Hindustan; attacks

Sabuktigin ; sues for peace; breaks
the engagement ; meets Sabuktigin
again ; is defeated in the battle of
Lamaghan, p. 3; meets Sultén
Mahmiid, in the 2nd invasion of
India; is defeated ; made prisoner
p. b. .

Jelal Khan Lodi, Son of Mahmid
Khan Lodi, (see also note 4, p. 376),
governor of Kalpi; p. 376; ordered
by Sultan Sikandar to go in advance
and begin the siege of Narwar;
shows his army to 8. 8. and thereby
excites his envy; ordered to be
seized and put in chains and im-
prisoned in Uditnagar, p. 377.

Jalal Khan Shahzadah, son of Sultan
Sikandar Lodi, becomes Sultan of
Jaunpiir, p. 393; sent for by Sultan
Ibrahim, but does not come, p. 394 ;
8. I. adopts hostile measures, and
asks the amirs of Jaunplr not to
render allegiance to him, p. 395; goes
from Jaunpiir 4o Kalpi, p. 396. goes
to 'Azam Humdayiin Sarwéni at
Kalinjar, p. 396 ; *A. H. 8. joins him
and they attack Sa’ld Khan, gover-
nor of Oudh, 397, 8. 1. marches
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against them; ‘A H.S. separ-
ates from 8. J. Kh.,, p. 398; S. J.
besieges him at Kalpi and captures,
ete. ; reaches the neighbourhood of
Agra; wants in revenge of Kalpi to
ravage Agra; Malik Adam softens
him with sweet words; agrees to
suspend the sack of Agra, p. 399;
gives up the paraphernalia of royal-
ty, p. 399; Sultdn Ibrahim wants
to kill him; takes shelter with the
Raja of Gwaliar, p. 400.
Jalal-ud-din Khalji Sultan, ascends the
throne, p. 132 ; founds new city ; his
piety, patience, modesty and justice,
p- 183 ; makes Kilu Khari his capital ;
puts down the rebellion of Malik
Jhaju, nephew of Sultdn Balban, p.
134, 135; treats the prisoners
with kindness, p. 136 ; makes 'Ala.
ud-din (afterwards Sultén 'Ala-ud-
din) feudatory of Karah ; assumes
the title of ¢‘the warrior of God,”
p. 139 ; renounces the title later on;
Sultan orders Sidi Maulah, s darvish,
to be burnt alive, is dissuaded from
carrying it out ; Sidi Maulah slain
by a Kalandar; marches against
Rantambor, p. 142; Mughals in-
vade India; negotiations; some
Mughals settle at QGhidspir and
become Musalmans, are called
nau-Muslim Neo-Moslems, p. 143 ;
defeats Ram Deo, ruler of Deogir ;
starts for Gwaliar ; receives report
of ‘Ala-ud-din’s victory ; doubts
about ‘Ala-ud-din’s attitude, p. 145;
believes in ‘Ala-ud-din’s good faith ;
returns to Dehli, p. 147; ‘Ala-ud-din
deceives him and prepares an ex-
pedition to Lakhnauti; sends an
affectionate letter to ‘Ala-ud-din,
but his emissaries find that the latter
is hostile; ‘Ala-ud-dIn determines on
his expedition to Lakhnauti, p. 148;
arrives at Karah ; Almas Beg de-
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ceives Sultédn and detaches him from
his army and personal attendants,
p. 149; meets ‘Ala-ud-din, p. 150 ; is
wounded and his head is cut off,
p. 150-51.

Jam, ruler of Thatha, entrenches him-
self and later submits to Sultdin
Firoz Shah, p. 249.

Jamaél-ud-din Yakut, Abyssinian Lord
of the stables under 8. Razia, killed
by Turki nobles, p. 77.

Jasrat, son of Shaikha Khokhar ; be-
sieges Kalaniir and defeats Malik
Sikandar, p. 310-11, makes peace
with Bahlol Lodi and gives him the
hope of becoming Sulté@n of Dehli,
p. 328.

Jats, meet Mahmiid with 4000 (or 8000)
boats to fight him but are drowned
and cut to pieces by the former, p.
16. .

Jhaju Malik, nephew of Sultan Balban;
rebels against Sultan Jalal-ud-din
Khalji, p. 134 ; is taken prisoner but
is treated with kindness by 8.J.K,,
p- 136.

Juman Mulla, Sultén Sikandar Lodi
imprisons him, p. 375. (See note 2
also).

Jina Khan, governor of Shamsabad

under Sultan Mahmiid Sharqgi Sultan;

Bahlol Lodi orders him to march

out of Shamsabad as previously ar-

ranged, p. 342; S.B.L. takes Shams-
abad from him and makes it over

to Ray Karan, p. 346.

K

Kabek, a muggél invader ; fights with
the army of Dehli and is killed
p- 179,

Kaikhusru, grandson of S. Ghias-ud-
din Balban sent to Multan by 8.
G. B, p. 118; appointed successor ;
after the death of 8. G. B. sent to



420

Multan by Malik-ul-Umra, p. 119;
assassinated, p. 121.

Kaikubad Sultan, see Mu’izz-ud-din
Kaikubad Sultan.

Kamal-ud-din Malik, sent by 8. Kutb-
ud-din Mubarak Shah to Gujrat to
put down revolts, p. 193; killed,
p. 194.

Kanya Paik, rebels against S. M.
Tughlaq Shah near Arangal, p. 224.

Khan-i-Jahdn, Jinan or Khubéan
Shah, eldest son of Khan-i-Jahan,
succeeds his father and receives the
title of Kh#n-i-Jahan, is Vazir for
twenty years, but towards the end of
S. F. Shah’s reign acquires undue
influence over him; plots against
Shah-zadah, Muhemmad Khan's
friends; his plot is reported to the
Sultan by the Shah-zadah ; attacked
by the Shah-zadah, p. 2562; takes
refuge with Kuka Chauhan Zamin-
d&r of Miwat, p. 253 ; sent by Kuka
Chauhan to Sikandar Khan, is put
to death, pp. 253-54,

Khan of Khalj, fights with Sultan
Nasir-ud-din Kabajah, p. 48 ; see also
note 1.

Khizr Khan, eldest son of Sultan ’Ala-
ud-din declared to be the heir-ap-
parent ; sent to Gwaliar by his father
at the instigation of Malik Naib
Kafur, p. 189.

Khizr Khan, comes with others and
renders homage to Taimiir, p. 2813
Taimiir makes over Multdn and
Dibalpiir to him, p. 281; defeats
Taghi Khan Turk, p. 283; fights
with Iqbal Khan, takes him prisoner
and puts him to death, p. 286;
becomes Sultan under the title of
Rayat 'Ali Khizr Khan (see under
Kh. Kh. Rayat ’Ali).

Khizr Khan, Rayat 'Ali, son of Malik
Sulaiman ; parentage and early his-
tory ; made governor of Multan by

i
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Sultan Firoz Shah, p. 292; sends
Taj-ul-Mulk to Badaiin and Kaithar
to punish the rebels of the country,
p. 2903; T-ul-M. reduces the rebels
and returns to Dehli, p. 294; a
horde of Turks take possession of
Sirhind ; sends Zirak Khan against
them ; rebellion of Tiighan and some
Turks, p. 205. Tighan submits and
agrees to pay tribute, p. 296; sends
T-ul-M. against the Raja of Kaithar,
p. 296; advances himself, p. 296;
some nobles conspire against him;
puts the conspirators to death and
returns to Dehli; sends Malik Sultan
Shah Bahr&m Lodi who defeats a
man who calls himself Sarang
Khan and revolts in the'hills of Baj-
warah, p. 297; sends Khair-ud-din
against Tighan, p. 298; marches
against the rebels of Miwat and then
goes to Gwaliar to pillage the
country, p. 299 ; dies, p. 299.

Sheikh@ Khokhar, defeated by Sarang
Khén, p. 273; Taimir seizes him
and pillages and sacks Lahore,
p. 281; becomes powerful by defeat-
ing and plundering the army of
Sultan ¢Ali Badshdah of Kashmir
and resolves to seize Dehli, overruns
the country round Ludhian& and
besieges Jalandhar, p. 300 ; besieges
Sirhind, p. 301 ; is pursued by Sultén
Mubarak Shah, p. 302; collects army
and-comes to Lahore, p. 302; returns
to KalanGr and then to the hills,
p. 303; overruns the country of
Dibalpiir, p. 305; again rebels;
comes near Jalandhar, and suddenly
attacks ' Malik Sikandar, defeats
him and takes him prisoner; be-
sieges Lahore, p. 315; abandons the
siege of Lahore, p. 316,

Khokhars, p. 64.

Khusru Amir, author of Kiran-us-
Sa’dain, p. 123.
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Khusru Khan, a young Parwari of
Gujrat, made Kh. Kh. and vazir, p.
192; sent in command of an expedi-
tion to Ma’abar, p. 195; his pro-
ceedings there; tries to set up an
independent authority there, p. 198;
other amirs hasten to Dehli to give
information of this, but he forestalls
them, and gets the Sult@n to punish
them, pp. 198-99; collects his coun-
trymen to help him in his projected
rebellion; his confederates murder
the Sultén, p. 203; has the Khutba
read in his own name and ascends
the throne taking the title of Sultan
Nasir-ud-din, p. 204; tries to gain
over Ghazl Malik and his son Malik
F. Juna to his side, p. 205, but failing
to do so, sends an army against them ;
but Gh. M. defeats it and advances
to Dehli, p. 206; Kh. Kh. comes out
of Dehli and gives battle but is
defeated, p. 207 : he is captured and
brought before Gh. M. and is exe-
cuted, p. 207.

Khusru Malik, last of the Sultans of
(thaznin, who had settled in Lahore ;
gives himself up to dissipation; is
sent to Ghaznin by Sultdn Mu’izz-
ud-din Muhammad S&m, is put to
death, p. 35.

Khusru Shah, attacked by ’Ala-ud-din
Husain Ghiiri; comes to Lahore,
goes back to Ghaznin but returns to
Lahore, and dies there in 566 A.H.,
p. 36.

Kiran-us-Sa’dain, poem by Amir
Khusru, descriptive of meeting bet-
ween Bughra Khan and Sultén
Mu'iz-ud-din Kaikubad, p. 123.

Kuka Chauhaén, zamindar of Miwat;
Khan-i-Jahan takes refuge with
him; sends him to Sikandar Khan,
pp. 253-64.

Kulchandra, ruler of Mah&wan, on
the Jumna about 20 Karohs from
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Agra, p. 10; attempts to escape but
being pursued by Mahmiid’s army
stabs and kills himself, pp. 10-11.

Kutb-ud-din, one of the slaves of
8. M. M. 8. Gh., left by the latter
at Kuhram, p. 39; makes Dehli
his capital; takes Thankir (modern
Bignah), (Gwaliar and Badaiin;
defeats R&i Bhim Deo of Gujrat,
p. 40; early life, p. 42; made an
amir; made Sultain by Sultén
Ghiés-ud-din, p. 43 ; very charitable ;
called Kutb-ud-din lak-bakhsh ; hos-
tility between him and T&j-ud-din
(ruler of Ghaznin), p. 44; death from
a fall from horse when playing
chaugan, p. 45.

Kutlugh Khan, step-father of Sultan
Nasir-ud-din Mahmiid ; shows hosti-
lity, p. 91; is invited to Dehli by &
number of people there; they are
dispersed by order of the Sultan in
accordance with the advice of
Ulugh Khan-i-Balban and Kutlugh
Khén on coming to Dehli finds
them all gone, pp. 91-92.

Kutlagh Khwajah, a Mughal, invades
Hindustan and encamps near Dehli,
p. 168. ‘Ala-ud-din meets him, Zafar
Khan in command of the right wing
of the Dehli army defeats the
Mughals and pursues them for a
long distance, p. 159.

L
Lakhmania or Lakhman Sen, last Sen
King of Bengal, escapes when
Bakhtiyar Khilji arrives in Nudia,
p. 51 M
Maghis-ud-din Qazi, of Bi&nah, ques-
tions put to him by Sultan ‘Ala-ud-
din, and his replies, pp. 170-73;
rewarded by the Sultén, p. 173.
Mahmiid, Sultdn Sabuktigin, receives
robe of honour from Al-Kadir-Billah,
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Caliph of Baghdad, p. 4; lst in-
vasion of Hindustan; again invades
Hindustan; defeats Jaipdl; takes
him prisoper; goes to Bahinda,
(see also note 3); 3rd invasion of
Hindustan ; passes through Mnitan
and encamps at Bhatiah, p. 5.;
attacks Bahira (the Raja of Bhatiah)
who retires and stabs himself ; wants
to take Dadd (ruler of Multan) by
surprise ; Anandpal opposes him in
his journey to Multan, but is de-
feated and retires to the mountains
of Kashmir; Daid agrees to pay
him tribute and to follow the true
religion ; pursues Sukhpal and im-
prisons him ; invades India and
defeats Anandpal, p. 6; goes to
Bhimnagar (see also note 2); in-
vades and takes the rest of Multan ;
invades Thanessar ; son of Jaipal
offers 50 elephants on his leaving
him alone (see also note 2) ; rejects
the offer and plunders Thanessar,
p. 7; envoy comes from ruler of
Egypt : drives out the envoy : in-
vades Nandana in the Balnath hills ;
people in the fort surrender and
he takes away all the treasures ;
advances towards Kashmir and
piunders it, p. 8; invades Kashmir
and besieges Lohkot, but has to
abandon the siege, p. 9; invades
Kanouj, and Korah, its ruler sub-
mits ; he advances to Baran (see
also note 5); garrison pays tribute,
p. 10; comes to Mah&wan on the
Jumna, and captures and plunders
it, pp. 10-11 ; Kulchandra the ruler
of Maha&wan attempts to escape but
being pursued by Mahmiid’s troops
stabs and kills himself, pp. 10-11;
advances to Maturah; destroys
the city and the temples, p. 11;
invades India to punish Nand& (see
aleo note 1), p. 12; Naro JaipAl

meets him near the Jumna to pre-
vent his getting to Nanda ; defeats
Naro Jaipdl’s army; advances to-
wards the Kingdom of Nanda ruler
of Kilinjar ; Nanda collects an im-
mense army but finally flies away
p. 13; invades Kashmir and again
besieges Lohkot but abandons
the siege; invades Lahore and
Bakrah, p. 13 ; invades the country
of Nanda; besieges Gwaliar; ac-
cepts offer of tribute; besieges
Kalanjar ; Nand& offers him 30
elephants, p. 14 ; exchange of civility
between Mahmiid and Nanda, p. 14;
invades Somnath, reaches the city
of Nahrwala Patan ; breaks the idol
of Somnath, p. 15; marches through
desert to avoid Param Deo, pp. 15-
16 ; suffers great privations; again
invades to punish the J&ts; ad-
vances towards Multan ; constructs
fleet of 1,400 boats ; Jats meet him
with 4,000 (or 8,000) boats; Jats
drowned and cut to pieces, p. 16 ;
attacked with hectic fever and
dies, p. 17 (see also note 2).

Mahmiid Hasan Malik, sent against

Shaikh ’Ali by Sultdn Mab&arak Shah
who makes Multan and Sindh over
to him, p. 305,

Mahmid Khilji Sultan, Badshah of

Malwah, summoned by the Miwati
A!&irs comes to Dehli; battle
between Muhammad Sha&h and his
amirs and proposal of peace, pp.
327-28 ; turns back on hearing the
advance of Sultdn Ahmed Gujrati
towards Mandu ; Malik Bahlol Lodi
attacks his retiring army, p. 328,

Mahmiid Shah Sultdn, youngest son

of Sultan Muhammad 8hah ; ascends
the' throne p. 272; makes over
Jaunpir, to. Khwajah Sarwar with
the title of Sultan-ush-Sharq, pp.
272.73; sends Sareng Khan to
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Dibalpiir to suppress disturbances
created by Sheikha Khokhar, p.
273 ; marches towards Gwaliar and
Bianah but returns owing to a
quarrel between S’adat Kh. and
Mugarrab Khan; M. Khén revolts
and besieges the city ; Mahmiid Shah
goes over to M. Kh., p. 274-275;
becomes a puppet in the hands of
Iqb8l Khan, p. 278 ; goes towards
Gujrat when Taim@r invades India,
pP. 280; returns from Gujrat to
Dhar and later to Dehli, p. 283-
284; is placed in the Humayin
palace by Iqbal Khan, p. 284 ; goes
over to Sultdn Ibrahim Sharqi’s
army ; comes to Kanouj and expels
the Sharql governor and takes
possession, p. 284 ; summoned by
the amirs at Dehli from Kanouj ;
-again ascends the throne; marches
towards J. aunpiir ; peace concluded,
p. 287; marches to Baran, takes
it and marches to Sambal and takes
it, p. 288, besieges the citadel of
Siri and takes possession of the
towns of Doab, p. 200 ; dies, pp.
200-91.

Mahmiid S8harqgi Sult&n, the amirs of
Sultan ’Ala-ud-din summon him and
he arrives in Dehli in 8566 a.n., with
a large army and besieges Dehli, p.
340; again comes to attack Sultan
Bahlol Lodi; peace settled, p. 341;
some of his camels etc., are captured
by Sultdin Bahlol Lodi’s troops;
sends Fateh Khan Harawi to attack
Sultan B. L.; Qutb Khan Lodi calls
upon Darya Khidn Lodi to desert
and he does so and Fateh Khén is
defeated, p. 340; retires to Jaun-
piir, p. 341; comes again to attack
8. B. L. ; dies, p. 342.
Malik-Ul-Umra, (Fakbr-ud-din Kotwal)
directed by 8. Ghi&s-ud-din Balban
to make the latter's grandson, Kai

Khusru his successor; sends Kai
Khusru to Multan and makes Kai-
kubad another grandson of 8. G. B.
the Sultan with the title of Sultan
Mu’izz-ud-din Kaikubad, p. 119;
tries to turn his adopted son Malik
Nizém-ud-din from his evil designs,
p- 122;

Malkah-i-Jahan, mother of §. M. T.
8h. ; death, p. 223.

Mallér Deo, R&ja of Dhor samundar,
taken prisoner by Malik Naib Kafar
Hazar-dinari, p. 184,

Mangu Khan, son of Sultdn ’Ala-ud-
din, killed by the Baraos, p. 204.

Mas’iid bin Ibrahim, nothing known
about him but see note 2, p. 33.

Mas’did Shahid Sipah Salar, p. 227.

Mawar-un-Nahr, name of place, p. 23.

Mubarak Shah Sultan, is made Sultan,
p- 283; son of Rayat-i-’Ali Khizr
Khan, p. 299; rebellion of Sheikha
Khokhar, who had become powerful
by defeating and plundering the
army of Sultan ’Ali, badshah of
Kashmir and had resolved to seize
Dehli, p. 300; marches towards
Sirhind, p. 301; pursues Sh. Kh.
into the hills; returns to Lahorse;
rebuilds the fortification, p. 302;
826 goes to' Kaithar; pillages the
country of the Rathors who submit;
returns to Dehli, p. 304; sends
Malik Mahmiid Hasan against Shailh
’Ali, making Multan and Sindh over
to him, p. 305; advances against
Alp Khién, p. 306; Amir Khan
agrees to pay tribute, p. 305-306;
goes to Gwiliar; receives tribute
from Alp Kh#n; returns to Dehli;
Miwatians revolt; plunders and
devastates Miwat and returns to
Dehli; again marches towards
Miwat, p. 806; sends Malik Mubariz
to put down rebellion of Muhammad
Khan; marches in person to BiAnah,
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p. 308 ; disturbances in Miwat, p. 310,
goes to Gwaliar via Biinah and then
to Hatk@nat and defeats Ray Hanu,
p. 311 ; death of Saiyad Salim; con-
fers titles on his sons, p. 312, starts
towards Tabarhindah and sends
Zirak Ithan, etc., to besiege Tabar-
hindah, p. 312; returns to Dehli
leaving Islam Khan and others to
carry on the siege, p. 313; sends a
number of amirs to help ’Imad-ul-
mulk, p. 314; marches towards
Lahore and Multan and sends Malik
Sarwar in advance, p. 316; marches
to Miwat, p. 317. The inhabitants
submit, p. 318; marches to Sama-
nah; sends men in pursuit of Sheikh
’Ali, who escapes, p. 319: receives
tribute from Muzaffar Khén, Shaikh
’Ali’s nephew, pp. 319-20; founds the
city of Mubédrakabad; news of the
vietory of Tabarhindah, p. 321; is
killed, pp. 321-22.

Mubarak Shah, Sultdn Kutb-ud-din,
son of Sultdn 'Ala-ud-din Khalji;
makes a young Parwiri vazir, p. 192;
good deeds; rules made by S.'A.
abrogated; becomes dissipated; sends
Malik Kamail-ud-din to Gujrat to
puts down revolts, p. 193 ; sends Ain-
ul-Mulk Multani and brings the pro-
vince into order; marches to Deogir
against Harpal Deo, son-in-law of
Ram Deo who had taken possession
of that place; takes Deogir and
makes Harpil Deo prisoner and puts
him to death, p. 194; Marhatta

country brought under subjection;

makes Khusru Khan commander of
the army and sends him to Ma’abar;
Malik Asad-ud-din conspires to
murder him; conspiracy betrayed
by one of the conspirators, Malik
Asad-ud-din and his brothers put to
death; sends Shadi Khan to Gwaliar
to put Khizr Khan, Shadi Khan and

Malik 8hihab-ud-din to death; be-
haves ill towards Shaikh Nizam-ud-
din Aulia, p. 195; orders execution
of Zafar Khan, feudatory of Gujrab
and of 8hahin, p. 196; sends Hisam-
ud-din brother of Khusru Khan to
Gujrat; Hisam-ud-din wants to re-
volt, but is seized by the amirs and
sent to him; releases Khusru Khan
and honours him, p. 197; sends
Malik Wahid-ud-din Kureishi to
Gujrat and introduces rule and order
there; Malik Yaklakhi rebels; is
seized and punished ; Malik ’Ain-ul-
Mulk Multani made governor of
Deogir; Malik Wahid-ud-din made
Vazir, p. 197; sides with Kh. Kh. and
punishes the amirs, p. 199 ; plot of
Kh. Kh. to kill him; hands over the
keys of the palace to Kh. Kh., p.
200; killed, p. 203.

Mubarak Shah Sharqi, Iqbal Khan
marches against him, p. 283; dies
and his brother Sultan Ibrahim
succeeds, p. 284.

Mufarrah Sultani Malik, receives the

- title of Farhat-ul-Mulk; made
governor of Gujrat, p. 250; puts
Sikandar Khan to death with the
help of the Amirs of Gujrat, p. 254,
his rebellion and tyranny, p. 269.

Mughal Targhi, invades Hindustan,
and encamps near Dehli, p. 173;
goes away without any apparent
Cause, p. 174.

Muhammad (Khan) Shahzadah, (after-
wards became Sultan Muhammad
Shah) son of Sultdn Firoz Shah;
plot of Khan-i-Jahan against his
friends; reports to Sultan Firoz
Shah about the plot of K.i-J;
attacks K.i-J, p. 252; ascends the
throne, p. 253 ; the troops of Sultén
Firoz Sha&h rebel against him,
P- 264; fighting between his troops
and that of 8. F, 8., p. 2564 ; retires to
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the Sarmur hills, p. 25656; pursued
by 8. F. 8.’s army, p. 261; Amirs of
hundreds kill Sultan Shah Khushdil
and gend his head to him; comes
to Samdnah and sits on the throne
a 2nd time; arrives at the palace of
Jah&nnum8, p. 263; defeated by
A. B. 8h. ; returns to the Doab ; some
of F. Sh.’s amirs join him; again
defeated by Abu Bakr Shah;
marched a 2nd time towards Dehli
but is defeated at Kundli; p. 264;
orders massacre of S. F. Sh.’s slaves,
p. 265 ; evades A. B. Sh. who marches
towards Jalesar with a large army,
goes to Dehli, p. 265; takes up his
abode in the Humayiin palace; goes
back to Jalesar p. 266; comes back
to Dehli and again ascends the
throne, p. 267 ; orders K. Sh.’s slaves
to leave Dehli; orders massacre of
those who could not leave Dehli, p.
268; sends Humayiin Khan and
others against A. B. Sh.; comes to
Kotlah and A. B. Sh. and Bahadur
Nahir surrender ; rebellion of M. Sul-
t@ni, and of the Zamindars of the
Doab, p. 269 ; suppressed and their
fort is demolished, p. 270 ; rebellion
of Islam Khan who is punished; re-
volt of the head men of the Doab
Rajputs, p. 270; death, p. 271.
Muhammad Khéan, rebels; takes
Bianah; Malik Mubiriz is sent
against him by Sultan Mubarak
Shah; goes to Sultdin Ibrahim
Sharqi, p. 308.

Muhammad Khan, grandson of Sultan
Nasir-ud-din Malwi; seeks Sultan
Sikandar Lodi’s protection, p. 379;
becomes feudatory of S. S. L., p. 380.
Muhammad Shah Sult@n, his paren-
tage; ascends the throne; hostile
attitude of Malik Sarwar (Sarwar-ul-
Mulk), p. 322; Sarwar-ul-Mulk and
his partisans attempt to murder him

but the former is killed by his
friends, p. 325; travels towards
Multan, p. 326; makes pilgrimage
to the shrines of the Shaikhs of
Multén and then returns to Dehli;
news of disturbances from vari-
ous quarters; Rays of Gwaliar with-
hold payment of revenue; indolent
and careless, p. 327; Miwati amirs
summon Sultdin Mahmid Khilji of
Malwah, the latter comes to Dehli,
battle with S. M. Khilji’s amirs, and
proposal of peace, p. 327-328;
marches towards Samanah, makes
over Dibalpiir and Lahore to Malik
Bahlol, sends him against Jasrat
Khokhar ; returns to Dehli, p. 328;
death, p. 329. Certain incidents
connected with him narrated in the
history of the reign of Sultan Bahlol
Lodi. At the instigation of Sultan
Bahlol Lodi puts Hisam Khan to
death and makes Hamid Khan
vazir; dies and Sultén ’Ala-ud-din
succeeds him, p. 334.

Muhammad Sultan, son of Sultan
Ghids-ud-din Balban; sent by his
father to Multdn to check the
Mughals, p. 103; sends messengers
to Shaikh Sa’di in Shiraz ; Mughals
invade again and he is killed in
a battle with them, p. 104: elegy
written by Khwaja Hasan, p. 113.

Muhtasib Nabasa Shah, placed on the
throne by Haji Moula, p. 166; killed
by Hamid-ud-din Amir K@, p. 167.

Mu’izz-ud-din Sultdn, Muhammad Sam
Ghuri commonly called Muhammad
Ghuri, repeatedly attacks Ghaznin ;
marches against Lahore, takes
Khusru Malik to Ghaznin and puts
him to death, p. 35 ; conquers Mult&n
and Uchch; marches towards
Gujrat; is defeated by Rai Bhim
Deo, returns to QGhaznin, p. 36;
invades Lahore again; plunders the
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country and founds Sialkot, p. 37;
again invades Hindustan and takes
Sarhind and makes it over to
Zia-ud-din Tukali; Pithora (Prithvi
Raj) advances to meet him, p. 38;
defeated at the great battle at
Tardin, p. 38-39; retires to Ghaznin;
invades India again, 2nd battle of
Tarédin, defeats, takes prisoner and
kills Pithora ; plunders Ajmir ; leaves
Kutb-ud-din at Kuhram, p. 39;
advances towards Kannouj, defeats
Rai Jaichand; invades Khwarizm,
p. 40; chastises Khokhars and
when returning is killed, p. 41 (see
also note 1, p. 41).

Mu‘izgz-ud-din Bahram Shah Sultén,
proclaimed emperor, p. 77; has
Malik Ikhtiar-ud-din assassinated ;
conspiracy of amirs, p. 78; dis-
closed by one of the conspirators;
conspirators  punished, p. 79;
Mughals besiege Lahore; governor
escapes but Lahore is devastated
p. 80; rebel nobles besiege Dehli;
imprisoned and executed, p. 81.

Mu'izz-ud-din Kaikubad Sult@n, sent
to Lakhnauti ; made Sultéan with the
title of 8. M. K.: he gives himself
up to pleasure, p. 119-120; lays the
foundation of a castle and garden
at Kilokheri; Malik Nizam-ud-din
wants to become emperor himself,
p- 120; gets Kaikhusru assassinated,
p 121; orders Malik Nizam-ud-din to
kill the Mughal amirs, p. 121; re-
ceives letters from his father Bughra
Khan, p, 122; meets his father at
Audh, p. 123; account of the meet-
ing, pp. 123, 124; farewell advice of
his father Bughra Khan (Sultan
Nasir-ud-din), p, 124; for some
days follows his father’s advice,

. p- 127; is tempted and after a
time surrenders himself to a beauti-
ful courtesan, p. 128; becomes ill,

p. 120; wants to remove Malix
Niz&m-ud-din; advises his attend-
ants to poison M. N. which was
done; becomes paralysed; his in-
fans son is placed on the throne,
p. 130; disturbances; killed in the
castle of Kilu Khari, p. 131.
Mujahid Khan, Sultan Sikandar impri-
sons him, p. 375-376. )
Mugqarrab Khan, revolts against Sultan
Mahmiid Shah who besieges the city,
but later goes over to him, p. 274-
275 ; killed by Igbal Khan, p. 278,
Muzaffar Khan Amir, nephew ' of
Shaikp ’Ali, left in the fort of Shur
by the former, p. 319; makes peace
with Sultan Mubdrak Shah and
gives him his daughter, p. 319-320.

N

Nanda, probably Ganda the Chanda
Raja of Kalinjar: 8. Mahmud of
Ghazni invades India to punish
him, for having slain the Raja of
Kannouj who had submitted to him
(see also note 1 p. 12): Naro Jaipal
encamps in front of M.’s army on
the bank of the Jumna, but is
defeated ; Mahmiid advances towards
Nanda’s kingdom; N. collects an
immense army but finally escapes
with a few followers, p. 12; offers
Mahmiid 30 elephants, p. 14; ex-
change of civility between him and
Mabmiid, p. 14-15.

Nasrat Khan, sent with Ulugh Khan
to conquer Rantambor; is killed, p.
163.

Nasrat Shah, ascende the thronme at
Firozab#d with the title of Nasir-
ud-din Nasrat Shah, p. 276; agree-
ment with Iqbal Khan ; escapes to
Fir’ozﬁbﬁd, p- 277; collects a force
and sends Shah&h Khan against
Iqbal Khén, p. 281 ; retires to Miwkt¢,
p. 282,
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Nagir-ud-din Mahmad Malik, son of
Sultdn Shams-ud-din, defeats and
kills Malik Hisam-ud-din (Sultaén
(Ghiés-ud-din of Bengal), p. 59; same
as Nasir-ud-din Sultén, below.

Nasir-ud-din Mahmad Sult@n, ascends
the throne, p. 84; makes Malik
(thifs-ud-din Balban vazir; his ad-
ministration, p. 85; Malik 1zz-ud-din
Balban rebels but submits ; marches
against Raja Jahar Deo of Gwaliar
and defeats him and takes the fort
of Nirwar (Narwar), p. 88 conquers
Tabarhindah, Uchch and Multéan,
p- 89; marches towards the foot
hills of Bijnor (see also note 1, p.
90) ; revolt of some amirs- marches
to Hansi to meet the amirs; peace
established, p. 90; hostility of
Kutlugh Khan, his step-father, and
others; sends Ulugh Khan-i-Balban
to put down the rebellion, p. 91;
disperses the people belonging to
the hostile party ; Mughals come to
Uchch and Multdn but retire;
private habits, p. 92; death, p. 93.

Nasir-ud-din Sultan, title taken by
Khusru Khéan (see under Khusru
Khan), p. 204.

Nasir-ud-din Sult@n, ruler of Lakh-
nauti, makes his submission to
Sultan (Ghids-ud-din Tughlak Shéah,
p.- 213: sent back to Lakhnauti,
p- 214,

Nasir-ud-din Sultan, eldest son of
Sultan Shams-ud-din Altamsh; made
governor of Audh by his father; de-
feats and takes Sultan Ghi&s-ud-din
Khalji prisoner and kills him, p. 66 ;
dies, p. 67.

Nésir-ud-din Kabajah Sultan, one of
the slaves of 8. M. M. 8. Gh., early
career, p. 47; made feudatory of
Uchch ; after the death of Sultén
Kutb-ud-din takes possession of all
the country as far as the Sarsuti;

great men of Khura@san, Ghir and
Ghaznin after the overthrow of these
kingdoms by Chengiz Khan en-
tered his service; Mughals besieges
Multan; war with the Khan of
Khalj, p. 48.

Neo Moslem, conspiracy of, discover-
ed; all of them ordered to be slain,
p. 184,

Nizam-ud-din Aulia Shaikh, very pious
and learned man, p. 183 and p. 185.

Nizam-ud-din Malik, wants to become
emperor, p. 120; gets order for the '
slaughter of the Mughal Amirs,
p. 121; requested by Malik-ul-Umra
to turn from his evil designs, p. 122;
poisoned by 8. M.’s attendants,
p. 130.

Nushiba, name of a person supposed
to be a mistress of Alexandar the
Great, p. 248.

P

Param Deo, one of the most powerful
Rajas of Hindustan, p. 15;
8. Mahmiid of (thaznin avoids him
when returning from Somnath
p. 15-16.

Parwiris also called Bardos. p. 199,
200, 201, 203 and 204 (see Baraos).
Pir Muhammad Mirza, grandson of
Taimdr; p. 276; besieges Uchch;
besieges and Multan,

p- 277.

Pithora (Prithviraj), advances to meet
Sultan Mu'izz-ud-din, p. 38, besieges
Sarhind : takes it after negotiations ;
defeated, taken prisoner and slain,
p. 39.

captures

Q

Qutb Khan Lodi, advises Daryd Khan
to desert Sultan Mahmid, p. 340.

R
Rai Bhim Deo, ruler of Nahrwéla, in
Gujrat defeats 8. Mu’izz ud-din
~ M. 8. Gh., who returns to Ghaznin,
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p. 36; Kut-ub-ud-din defeats him,
p- 40.

Rai of Kamrud, besieges Bakhtiyar
Khilji, p. £4.

Rai Rudar Deo, offers riches to
Ulugh Khan which is not accepted,
p. 211, sent to Dehli, p. 213.

Rai 8ar Bin, Rajah of Sankrah; fled,
p. 247.

Raja Jahar Deo, R&ja of Gwaliar
defeated by Sultdn Nasir-ud-din
Mabmid, and the fort of Nirwar
taken from him, p. 88.

Ram Deo, ruler of Deogir. defeated
by Malik ‘Ala-ud-din Khalji, p. 145.

Ray Hanu Behti, defeated by Sultan
Mubarak Shah, p. 311-312.

Ray Karan, p. 342, 343 and 346.

Ray of Jdjnagar, escapes to Tilang;
begs for peace and sends presents to
Sultan Firoz Shah, p. 247; sends
tribute to Khwajah Sarwar, p. 273;

Ray Sal Bahan, Ray of Patna; Sultan
Sikandar asks for one of his daugh-
ters, and at his refusal devastates
and pillages the country, p. 365.

Razia Sultén, early history ; made heir
by Sultan Shams-ud-din Altamsh
p 74; ascends the throne ; certain
amirs show hostility to her ; brings
about dissension among them, p.
75 ; sends Kutb-ud-din Hasan to
relieve the garrison of Rantambor,
p. 76 ; Malik ‘Izz-ud-din revolts ;
marches to Tabarhindah ; attacked
by Turki nobles who kill Jamal-ud-
din Yakut ; is imprisoned ; Bahram
Shah proclaimed emperor ; marries
M.I. Altinia and marches to Dehli,
is defeated ; collects new forces ;
is again defeated and slain along
with Altiinia, p. 77.

Rudar Deo, Ruler of Arangal makes
submission to Sultdn ‘Ala-ud-din’s
army ; gives much trea.silre, ete., and
promises to send the former annual

Index.

tribute, p. 182. Ulugh Khan sent to
attack him by Sulta&n (jhias-ud-din
Tughlak Shah; shuts himself up,
sues for peace ; prayer refused, p.
211; S. (Gh. Tugh. again sends U.
Kh. who takes the fort and sends
R.D. to Dehli, p. 213.

Rukn-ud-din Ibrahim, son of Jaldl-ud-
din khalji placed on the throne by his
mother, p. 152: goes towards Multan,
p. 153; ‘Ala-ud-din sends army
against him ; surrenders ; is blinded
and kept prisoner at Hansi, p. 155.

Rukn-ud-din Jandah, his plot against
Abu Bakr Shah ; is put to death by
the former, p. 263.

S

Saldi, Mughal; takes possession of
Siwistén, defeated by Zafar Khan
and sent prisoner to Dehli, p. 158.

Saljukians, trouble with Farrukhzad,
p. 32 ; treaty with Ibrahim, p. 33.

Sultan Sanjar, comes to (thaznin to
help one of the brothers of Arslan
Shah, p. 33; defeats Arslan Shah
who retires to Hindustan; places
Bahram Shah on the throne at
Ghaznin, p. 34.

Sarang Khan, sent to Dibalpar by
Sultdn Mahmiid Shah to suppress
the disturbances created by Shaikh&
Khokhar, defeats Shaikha Khokhar
and takes possession of Lahore, p.
293; hostility between him and
Khizr Khan of Multan ; seizes
Multan ; attacks Ghalib Khan, gov-
ernor of Samanah; defeated by
Ghalib Khan, p. 276, rebels against
Rayat 'Ali Khizr Kbén, p. 207.

Sa’id Sarsari Haji, comes from Egypt
with farman of the Abbasi Caliph,
p. 228.

Sarwar Malik, sent by Sultdn Mubarak
Shah in advance to Lahore, p. 318 ;
sent to attack Faulad, p. 317;
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assumes hostile attitude, against
Muhammad Shah, p. 322, attempts
to kill him but is killed himself,
p. 325.

Sarwar Khwajah, Jaunpir, i.e., coun-
try from Kanouj to Behar, made
over to him by Sultan Muhammad
Shah, with the title of Sultan-ush-
Sharq p. 272-273 ; subjugates the
Zamindars and receives tribute from
the Ray of Jajnagar and the Badshah
of Lakhnouti, p. 273.

Shahab Khan, sent against Igbal Khan
by Nasrat Shah, p. 281, is killed by
Igbal Khan who takes possession of
Dehli, p. 281 and 282.

Shahab-ud-din, son of Sultan Nasir-
ud-din the ruler of Malwa ; quarrels
with his father and comes to the
court of Sultan Sikandar, but the
negotiations did not result in any-
thing, p. 378.

Shah Khushdil Sultén, governor of
Samanah ; is killed by the amirs
of hundreds and his head is sent
to Shahzéda Muhammad Shah,
p. 263.

Shams-ud-din Altamsh Sultan, origi-
nally Malik Altamsh, a slave and
son-in-law of Sultan Kutb-ud-din,
takes possession of Dehli, defeats
Aram Shah, p. 61, early history, p.
62 ; brought to Dehli, and sold to
Sultan Kutb-ud-din ;
of Gwaliar, Baran and Badain,
p- 63; aids Sultan Muizz-ud-din
Sam against the Khokhars ; made
Amir-ul-umra ; after the death of
Sultan Kutb-ud-din assumes the
title of Shams-ud-din p. 64; defeats
Sultan Taj-ud-din and keeps him
prisoner in Badaiin where he dies ;
takes Uchoh, p. 65 ; attacks and de-
feats Sultin Ghiés-ud-din of Bengal
and brings him under subjection ;
makes his eldest son governor of

made amir
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Audh, p. 68 ; captures Rantambar,
p. 66 ; attacks and takes possession
of Mandwar (see also note, p. 67),
marches to Lakhnauti, quells dis-
turbance and makes °‘Izz-ul-mulk
Malik ’Ala-ud-din Khani governor
of Lakhnauti, p. 68, besieges and
captures Gwaliar (see also note
2) p. 68; invades Malwah and con-
quers Bhilsa and Ujain, p. 68;
marches against Multan, falls ill and
dies on his return to Dehli, p. 69.

Shir Khén, governor of Sunam,
Lahore and Dibalpiir, keeps the
Mughals in check; dies, p. 102.

Sidi Maulah, a darwesh, p. 140;
ordered by Sultan Jaldl-ud-din
Khalji to be burnt alive, but he is
later dissuaded; killed by a Kalander,
p. 142.

Sikandar Khan, puts Khan-i-Jahan
who was surrendered by Kuka
Chauhian, to death, p. 253-254;
killed by Malik Mufarrah and the
Amirs of Gujrat, p. 254.

Sikandar Malik, governor of Lahore,
attacks Jasrat and is defeated, p. 310-
311; defeated and taken prisoner
by Sheikha Khokhar, p. 315.

Sultan Sikandar, of Bengal, takes
shelter in Ekdalah; Ekdalah is be-
sieged by Sultdn Firoz Shah; sub-
mits and agrees to pay tribute to
the former, p. 247.

Sultén Sikandar Lodi, son of Sultén
Bahlol Lodi; ascends the throne
at Jalali, p. 355; marches against
his brother 'Alam Khan at Rapri;
’Alam Kh. fled to ’Isd Khan in
Patiali; sends Isma’el Khaén to
Barbak Shah of Jaunpiir; goes
to attack Barbak Shah who goes
from Jaunpir to Kanouj, p. 357;
defeats Barbak Shah and places him
again on the Sharqgi throne, but
takes away some of his parganas;
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makes a progress through his terri-
tories, p. 358; besieges Bianah and
takes it; revolt of the Zamindars of
Jaunpiir and the Bachgotis (see also
note 2); Josi Piak (see also notes 4
and 5), p. 369; marches towards
Jaunpiir; B. 8h. comes to Dalmau
to meet him; marches to Kahtar
and defeats the Zamindars, p. 360;
B. Sh. is seized and is brought, p.
361 ; expedition towards the country
of Patna, p. 362; great mortality
in his army ; Sultan Husain attacks
him; defeats S. H.; takes Behar,
p. 363; marches towards Tirhut;
goes on a pilgrimage to the tomb
of Shaikh Sharf Muniri and then
advances against Sultan ’'Ala-ud-din
B&dshah of Bangalah ; makes treaty
with him, p. 364; scarcity of grain,
remits the collection of an alms
rate, p. 365; asks for one of the
daughters of Rdy Salbahan, Ray
of Patna, and as the latter refuses,
pillages and devastates his country,
p. 365; attempts to take B&ndhii-
garh, is unable to do so, goes back
to Jaunpiir, p. 365-366; disputes
among the amirs ; suspicious of some
of them, p. 366; conspiracy of the
amirs to put Fateh Khan on the
throne; goes to Sambal; p. 367;
story of Laudhan Brédhman, p. 368;
Laudhan refuses to accept Islam
and is put to death, p. 369; 'Alam
Khan and other governors are
ordered to capture Dholpir; en-
camps on the bank of the Asi
(Mendaki) and stays there for two
monshs, p. 370-371 ; much sickness
in the camp; Rai of Gwaliar submits ;
starts for the conquest of MundrBel ;
garrison surrenders, p. 371; demo-
lishes temples and plunders the
ecountry ; earthquake; marches to
Gujrat encamps on the bank of the

Chambal, p. 372; starts on an ex
pedition of war of religion and
plunder, p. 373; suddenly attacked
by R. of G., is defeated ; returns to
Agra; marches towards the fort of
Uditnagar; quarrels with Jalal
Khan the gov., p. 374; besieges
Uditnagar, heroic defence by the
garrison, imprisons Mulla Juman,
and Mujahid Khan for taking bribes
from the Raja of Uditnagar for
turning him away from it, p. 376-
376; great scarcity of water and
many deaths on the return journey
to Agra; marches to capture the
fort of Narwar in Malwah, p. 376;
sends order to Jaldl Khan Lodi,
governor of Kalpi to go in advance
and begin the siege; J. K. shows
his army to him, p. 377, imprisons
Jalal Khan, p. 377; Narwar surren-
ders: Shahdb-ud-din, the son of
Sultan Nasir-ud-din of Malwa comes
to his court having quarrelled with
his father but the negotiations
result in nothing; erects another
fort round Narwar, p. 378; returns
to Agra; orders the arrest of Ahmad
Khan for becoming a pervert to
Hinduism ; Muhammad Khan grand-
son of 8. Nasir-ud-din Malwi seeks
his protection, p. 379 ; Muhammad
Khin, is made jagirdar of Chanderi ;
ruler of Nagor becomes a feuda-
tory; Agra becomes the capital,
p. 380; Bahjat Khan, governor of
Chanderi renounces his allegiance
to Sultdn Mahmiid Malwi and be-
comes & subject of 8. 85.; makes
a distribution of jdgirs, p. 381
takes possession of Chanderi, p.
382; hypocrisy of ’Ali Khan; re.
moves’ A. K. from the governorship
of Suf Suir, p. 383 ; death ; apprecia-
tion of his character, p. 384; acoes-
sible to the people; Qod-fearing,
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p. 385; Zealous or very bigoted,
p. 388; very well informed about
the condition of the people, p. 388;
morning and evening reports from
all armies on the march, p. 388;
an anecdote about the sharpness
of his intellect, p. 389; an anecdote
of Mian Bhudabh, p, 391.

Sukbpal, imprisoned by Mahmiid and
died in captivity, p. 6.

T

Taj-ud-din Yeldiiz Sultan, one of the
slaves of S. M. Muhammad S&m
(3hUrl early account, p. 45; ruler
in Ghaznin, p. 46; advances into
Hindustan and is taken prisoner by
Shams-ud-din Altamsh, P. 47 ; kept
prisoner at Badaiin, where he dies,
p. 65.

Taim@ir Gurgdn Amir arrives at
Multan; takes Bhatnir; overruns
SamAnah; comes to the” Doab,
takes 50,000 people captive and
kills a great number; encamps at
Firozabad, p. 279; Igbal Khan
opposes him, but is routed and
oscapes to* Baran, p. 280; orders
massacre of the inhabitants of Dehli,
p. 280; Khizr Khah and others
render homage, p. 281: returns
along the foot of the Sivalik hills,
p- 281; gseizes Sheikha Khokar,
pillages and sacks Lahore; makes
Multan and Dibalp@ir over to Khizr
Khan, p. 281. -

Tatar Khan, sent by Sultan Ghias-ud-
din Tughlaq Shah, p. 213; brings
Sultin Bah&dur Shah of Sunargam
with much booty to the Sultan,

. p. 213-214.

Tughan, rebels, p. 285; slays Sarang
treacherously ; rebels, and Khair-
ud-din is sent against him by Khizr
Khan, p. 298.

Tughlaqg Shdh Muhammad Sultdn,
(see Ulugh Khan).

Tughlaq Shah Sultdn, son of Fateh
Khan; made heir by Sultan Firoz
Shah, p. 255; ascends the throne, .
790; sends Sultan Muhammed
Tughlaq Shih in pursuit of Sultan
Mubiammad Shah; army returns,
p. 261; drowns himself in luxury
and pleasures; Malik Rukn-ud-din
and other'rebels attack him and he
is killed, p. 262.

Tughral, ruler of lLakhnauti revolts
against Sultan (th. Balban; defeats
his troops; defeats another army
sent by him, p. 108 ; retires towards
Jajnagar; pursued by S. G. Balban;
disappears, p. 109; is pursued and
slain, p. 110.

Tughral, receives summons from Amir
Maudiid, page 29; treacherously
attacks and kills ’Abd-ur-rashid;
ascends the throne but is killed
soon after, p. 32.

Turkmans, measures taken by Amir
Mas’ud against them p. 21; agree-
ment with the former p. 24; trouble
with Amir Mas’ud, p. 24; trouble .
with Amir Maudiad, p. 28.

U

Ubaid, poet, spreads false report of
the death of Sultdn Ghias-ud-din,
p. 212.

Ulugh Khan, (Sultan Muhammad
Tughlaq Shah) governor of S&manah
sent by 8. *Ala-ud-din Khalji to con-
quer Rantambor, p. 163; sent to
Arangal ; arrives at Deogir, ravages
Tilang, besieges Arangal, Rai Rudar
Deo offers riches, offers not accepted.
vigorous exertions to capture the
citadel, p. 211; starts for Deogir,
reassembles his troops at Deogir,
returns to Dehli, p. 212; again sent
to Arangal; arrives in Tilang and
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seizes the fort of Bidar, marches to
Jajnagar, p. 213; erects a pavilion
at Afghanpiir; meets Sultdn Ghias-
ud-din Tughlag Shah who is killed
by the falling of the roof of the pavi-
lion. Did he compass his father’s
death or was it accidental ? p. 214;
ascends the throne; rejoicings;
character—vain ambition; strictly
religious, p. 215; severe, unjust
and cruel; very liberal; his liber-
ality to the nobles and also to men
of learning and skill, great ability
and judgment, eloquence, p. 216;
preference of ratiocinative over
traditional learning; great reverence
for the Abbasi Caliph; conquers
Gujrat, Malwah, Deogir, Tilang,
Kampila, Dhor Samundar, Ma’abar,
Tirhut, Lakhnauti, Satgdon and
Soné@rgam. p. 217: collects revenue
strictly ; treasury full inspite of ex-
cessive lavishness ; old rules abolish-
ed and new rules made, p. 217;
subjects ruined; whole populations
put to the sword; rebellions; in-
creases rents of lands in the Doab by
10% ; drought and famine; makes
Deogir his capital and calls it
Daulatabad, p. 218; aspires to
universal conquest; issues copper
coins to pay his large army ; copper
tangahs brought to the treasury to
be exchanged for gold .and silver
tangahs, p. 219; plans conquest of
Khurésan and 'Irdq; and of Hima-
chal mountains; army destroyed in
the mountains, p. 220; rebellions
of Bahram Abih, in Multan; kills
Bahram in battle; Deogir ruined
and desolated, returns to Dehli; the
Doab desolated on account of exac-
tions; goes to Baran to hunt, orders
the country to be pillaged and the
people to be slain; rebellion in
Bangglah, p. 221; engaged in ravag-
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ing the country round Kanouj;
revolt of Hasan in Ma'abar; Sultén
starts towards Ma’'abar, p. 222;
famine in Malwah; Sultan returns
to Dehli from Deogir, p. 223; his
mother dies; Shahu AfghAn, rebels
near Multan, p. 223; endeavours to
increase cultivation ; revolt of Mun-
dahirs, Chauh@ns, Bahtians and
Minahs in Sunam and Samana; des-
troys their fortifications, brings their
leaders to Dehli and settles them
there; vainly attempts to extend
cultivation, p. 224; resides at Sarg-
dwari; four insurrections, p. 225:
gsends for the amirs and advances to
Kanouj, p. 226 ; battle near Kanouj;
’Ain-ul-Mulk’s army defeated and
nearly all slain; pardons and hon-
ours ’Ain-ul-Mulk ; goes from Bangar
Mau to Bahraich and makes pilgrim-
age to Sipah Salar Ma'sud Shahid’s
shrine, p. 227; returns to Dehli,
p- 227; renders homage to the
Abbasi Caliph in Egypt: orders the
Caliph’s name to be impressed on
the coin instead of his own, p. 228;
further measures to improve cultiva-
tion all unsuccessful, p. 229-230;
divides country into circles of thirty
Karohs; dismisses old officers and
appoints new officers, p. 230;
orders revenue collected to be kept
at Dharagarh; sends ’Aziz Khamar
whe belonged to the meaner class
to govern M&lwa; confers honour
on some of the lowest classes of
people, p. 231-232; news of the
pillage of the royal.revenue and
horses from Malik Makbil by Amir
Sadehs of Gujrat; marches to
Gujrat, p. 232; *Talks with Zia-i-
Barni about punishment, p. 233;
recovers the revenue of Baroch and
Kambayat and the entire province
of Gujrat, p. 234; Fresh rebellions;
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marches from Baroch to Deogir;
defeats the rebels, p. 235; goes back
to Baroch and then to Kambayat;
attacked by Taghi; defeats him,
sends men in pursuit of him, p. 236-
237; puts down rebellion; remains
at Nahrwala; engaged with the
settlement of the affairs of Gujrat
and the capture of Karnal (Juna-
garh) p. 237-238; falls ill; re-covers
and starts from Gondal, p. 238;
Altiin Bahadur joins him with five
thousand Mughals;
ously ill, dies, p. 239.

becomes seri-

w

Wahid-ud-din Kureishi Malik, sent to
Gujrat as Governor, introduces rule
and order there; made Vazir, with
the title of Taj-ul-Mulk, p. 197;
again made Vazir by Khusru Khan,
p- 205.

Y

Yaklakhi Malik, rebellion, seized with
his confederates and is punished by
Sultédn Kutb-ud-din M.Sh, p. 197,
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VA

Zafar Khan, sent by S. ’Ala-ud-din
to Multan against 8. Jaldl-ud-din
Khalji’s son, p. 155; Re-conquers
Siwistan after it had been conquered
by Saldi, a Mughal invader, p. 158;
attacks and defeats the Mughal
army under Kutlugh Khwijah, is
killed after pursuing them a long
distance. His great bravery p. 159.

Zafar Khén, feudatory of Gujrat;
ordered to be executed by Sultdn
K.M.Sh, p. 196.

Zain-ud-din Qa&zi, attempts unsuccess-
fully to warn Sultan Kutb-ud-din of
the plot of Khusru Khéan, p. 201:
is stabbed, p. 203.

Zia-ud-din Tukali, or Tulaki; Sultan
Mu’izz-ud-din makes over Sarhind
to him after conquering it, p. 38.

Zirak Khan, sent by Rayat 'Ali Khizr
Khan against the Turks who had
seized Sarhind, p. 296; they submit
and agroee to pay tribute, p. 296.

Zulqarnain Sikandar, story of coming
to Nagarkot, p. 248, (see also note
1, p. 248).
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GEOGRAPHICAL NAMES
IN THE FIRST VOLUME

OF THE

TABAQAT-I-AKBARI.

A
Afghanpur, Place 3 Karohs
Tughlagabad, p. 214.
Agra, p. 374, 376, 379, 380, 399.
Ajmir, p. 39,
Arangal, capital of Telang p. 182, 211,

from

name changed to Sultanpir, p. 213.
Asi (river, also called Menduki), p.
370.
Audh, p. 123.

Badaiin, on a tributary of the Ganges
about half way between Muradabad
and Kanouj, p. 63, 65, 293, 330, 331,
339, 341, 348.

Baghdad, p. 4.

Bahinda (identified by Major Raverty
with Bathinda in Patidla territory),
P. 6.

Bahraich, in Oudh, p. 227.

Bakrah, p. 13.

Balkh, p. 19, 23, 26.

Balnath Hills, p. 8 (again mentioned
in the account of Bahar’s expedi-
tion).

B#indhiigarh, in Panna, p. 365 (see
also notes 3 and 5).

Bangalah, p. 100, 221.

Bangar Mau, Ferry on the Ganges,
p. 227.

Baran, p. 10, the modern Buland
Shahr, p. 63 (see also note 4), 280,
288,

Behar, p. 50, 100, 272, 353, 363.

Benares, p. 247.

Bhadawar, district S.E. of Agra,
inhabited by daring robbers who
maintained their independence till
Akbar’s time, p. 350 (also note 3).

Bhatiah, identified with Bathinda in
Patiala territory, p. 5 (see also n. 3).

Bhatnir, on the river Cagar in Raj-
putana, p. 279,

Bhatwarah, name doubtful, not far
from Dehli, p. 347.

Bhilsa, in Malwa, p 68.

Bhimnagar, old name of Nagarkot in
Kangra, p. 6 (No. 2).

Biah (river), p. 318.

Bianah (formerly called Thankir,
Agra formerly included in it), p. 40
(n. 2), 49, 282, 306, 310, 311, 359.

Bidar, in the Deccan, p. 213.

Bijnor, p. 90.

(o]

Chambal (river), p. 372.

Chanderi. in Malwa, p. 381, 382.

Chitor, Capital of Marvar or Udaipfir,
p. 173, b

Dalmau, opposite to Karra on the
other side of the Gan'ges, p. 360.

Dehli, p. 69, 74, 81, 112, 147, 173, 174,
179, 198, 206, 206, 212, 213, 214,
221- 23, 227, 247, 265, 267-68, 280,
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282, 285, 287, 295, 297, 300, 304, 3086,
327-30, 333, 334, 340, 346, 347.

Deogir, name changed to Daulatabad
by Sultan Muhammad Tughlaq, p.
143, 181, 194, 197, 211, 212, 217, 218,
221.

Dhar, p. 206, 305-06.

Dholpiir, about half-way between
Agra and Gwaliar, p. 285, 370.

Dhor Samundar (Duir Samudra), p.
184, 217,

Dibalpur, in the Punjab, p. 208, 273,
281, 305, 319, 328, 332, 334, 340,

Doab, country between the Ganges
and the Jumna, p. 221, 264, 269-70,
279.

Daulatabad, name given to Deogir by
S. Muhammad Tughlaq, p. 218.

E
aypt, p. 8, 228.
Ekdalah, near Pandua in Bengal, p.
247.
F
Firoz&bad, p. 277.
G
Ghaznin, p. 2, 18, 19, 20, 21, 25, 31,
35, 36, 39, 44, 40, 48,
Ghiir, p. 25, 36, 48.
Gondal, p. 238.
Gour, in the Maldah district in Bengal,
p. 51.
Gujrat, p. 40, 98, 157, 193, 196-97,
217, 250, 254, 280, 372.
Gwaliar, p. 14, 49, 63, 68, 145, 285,
2909, 306, 310-11, 351.

H
Hansi, p. 22, 39.
Hatkant, chief town of Bhadéwar S.E.
of Agra, p. 311, 350 (also note. 3).
Himachal (a name of the Himalaya
Mountains), p. 220.

Hindustan, p. 3, 5-6, 13, 38, 47, 156,
158, 335.

Hirat, p. 19,

Index.

I
‘Iraq, p 220.
Itawah, in the Doab S8.B. of Agra,
p. 260-251, 346, 347, 351.

J

Jahannuma (palace in Dehli), p. 263.

Jajnagar (in Orissa), p. 55, 247.

Jalali, p. 355.

Jalandhar, p. 300, 315.

Jalesar, p. 265-66.

Jarnmahmur, p. 1566 (also note 1).

Jaunpiir, p. 100, 247, 272, 284, 287,
330, 341, 343, 35253, 357, 360, 348,
393, 396.

Jhain, p. 164,

Josi Piyak or Prak, probably Prayag
ov Allahabad, p. 3569 (also note 4).

K

Kabul, p. 30, 305, 315.

Kahtar, now known as Rohilkhund,
p. 360,

Kaithar, p. 251, 282, 293, 206, 304.

Kalanjar, also called Kalinjar, p. 14.

Kalanar, p. 303,

Kalpi, short distance from the right
bank of the Jumna half-way between
Agra and Allahabad, p. 353, 376,
396, 399,

Kambayat, in Gujrat, p, 157.

Kampila, p. 217.

Kannouj, p. 10, 40. See also Kanouj.

Kanouj, p. 226, 227, 284, 287-88, 344,
352,367,

Karah, on the Ganges close to Manik-
pir, p. 137, 149.

Karnal, known as Jun#garh, p. 238,

Kashmir, p. 9, 13, 20, 300.

Khurasan, p. 33, 48, 220.

Ig:wsﬁzm, p. 40. .

Kilukhari, in Dehli made the capital
by &8ultan Jaldl-ud-din Khalji, p.
131, 134.

Kotlah, or Kotlah-i-Bahadur Nahir,
p. 269.
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Kuhrém, old name of Peshawar, p. 39,
43,
Kundli, p. 264.

Lahore, p. 13, 33, 37, 80, 101, 273, 281,
302, 315, 316, 318-19. ’

Lakhnauti, p. 50, 51, 68, 83, 109, 119,
148, 213, 214, 217, 379.

Lamaghén, p. 3.

Lohkot, probably old name of Lahore,
p.9,13.

Lidhigna, on the left bank of the
Sutlej near its junction with the
road from Dehli to Lahore, p. 300.

M

Ma‘abar, probably old name of Mala-
bar, p. 184, 195, 197, 217, 222,

Mahanadi (river), p. 247.

Mahawan, near Agra, p. 10, 11.

Mahobah, district near Karah 54 miles
south of Hamirpiir, p. 252 (and
note 3).

Malwah, p. 98, 217, 223, 376, 378.

Mandd, in Gujrat, p. 328.

Maturah (Mathura and Muttra), p. 11.

Merv, p. 25.

Mirat, p. 40, 269.

Miwat, the country of the Meos, of
which Alwar was the chief town,
p. 253, 299, 3086, 310, 317.

Multan, 5, 6, 7, 16, 26, 36, 48, 89, 93,
103, 118, 119, 153, 221, 223, 276, 2171,
281, 305, 315, 325, 327, 340, 346.

Mundrael, p. 371.

Muner, old name of Monghyr, p. 50.

Nagarkot, p. 248.

Nagor, on the road from Ajmir to
Bikanir, p. 88, 380. -

Nahrwalsh, in Gujrat, p. 167.

Nahrwala Paten, same as Nahrwalah, ‘

p. 165.

Nalira, near Dehli, p. 340.

Nandenah, situated among the Bal.
nath hills, p. 8.
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Narwar, in Malwa, p. 370, 378.
Nirwar, same as Narwar, p. 88.
Nishapur, in Central Asia, p, 19, 24.

P
Panduah, in the Malda distriet in
Bengal, p. 247.
Patiali, p. 357.
Patna, p. 362, 365.
Punjab, p. 73.

Rantambor, strong fort in Central
India, p. 66, 76, 142, 163, 165, 167.

s

Samanah, a Sarkar in the Punjab,
p. 107, 263, 279, 333.

Samana, same as Samanah, p. 224.

Sambal, about 30 miles S.W. of
Muradabad, p. 288, 367.

Sanipat, name of a fort, p. 22.

Sankrah, p. 247.

Sargdwari, on the Ganges, p. 225.

Sarhind, separated from Sarkar
Samanadh by Sultan Firoz Shah,
p. 38, 248, 295, 301.

Sarsati, a fort in one of the Kashmir
valleys, p. 20.

Sarsuti (Saraswati), a city on the bank
of Saraswati, p, 39, n. 2.

Sarsuti (Sarasvati), a river, p. 48,

Satgdom, in the Hughly district in
Bengal, p. 217.

Sialkot, p. 37.

Sindh, p. 305.

Sirhind, same as Sarhind, p. 334.

Sir1, near Dehli, p. 174.

Siwistan (8ind), p. 158.

Somnéth, great temple in Gujrat, p.
15.

Sondrgam in Bengal, p. 217.

Sonhar, p. 350.

Sui Suir in Malwa, p. 383.

Sultdnpur, new name given to Arangal
by Sultan Ghias-ud-din Tughlak
Shah, p. 213. )
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Sunam, chief town of S&mana, p. 107,
224,

Syamkot, probably mistake for Sialkot
(see note 1), p. 31.

T

Tabarhindah, p. 77, 89, 312, 321.

Talambah, situated at the junotion of
the Jhilam and Chen®b rivers, p.
279, 316.

Taréin, on the bank of the Sarsuti,
7 Karohs from Thaneswar now
known as Tardwan, p. 39.

Thanessar, about 40 miles S. of
Ambala on the road from Lahore
to Dehli, p. 7,

Thatha, in Sindh, p. 249.

Tibbet, p. 52.

Tilang, country along the W. shore
of the Bay of Bengal, p. 211, 217,
247.

Tirhut, p. 217, 364.

Tughlakabad, fort founded by Sultam
Ghias-ud-din Tughlalg, p. 211, 214,

Turkistan, p. 52.

u

Ucheh, p. 36, 48, 85, 84, 89, 93.

Uchh, same as Uchch, short distance
from the left bank of the Chinab
above its junction with the Indus,
p. 2717. '

Uditnagar, p. 374, 375, 377.

Ujain or Ujjain, in Malwa, p. 68,

A
Zabh, p. 19.
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